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PRBPAEGS.

Panis has undergone so many and such imporiant alterae
tions, as to astonish even the resident, in his comparison of
what the capital was at a very recent period with what it is
at the present moment. In order to keep pace with such ra-
pid improvements, it has been the practice of the Publishers
of this Paris GuipE annually to effect a careful verification
of the whole, and thus present to the public a correct descrip-
tion of all the institutions, public monuments, and improve-
menis both of the metropolis and of its vicinity.

Since 1860, when the communes lying within the fortifica-
tions were annexed to the capital, this revision has become
more necessary than it was before. The large thoroughfares,
pierced through the most crowded quarters of the old city,
have become a new and prominent feature and must hence-
forth be chosen as the starting-points of our different walks,
or at least be introduced so as to lead to some monument
worthy of attention: on the other hand, the walks them-
selves must be so arranged as not to become a source of
fatigue instead of enjoyment. To meet these different re-
quirements, the map of Paris has been carefully studied,
‘he city itself walked through in every direction, many a
circuitous route, formerly dictated by the administra-
tive division of Paris, exchanged for a shorter and more
dircct one, the newly annexed communes described in
two additional walks, and a quantity of obsolete matter
expunged, in order to make room for the description of the
new improvements without increasing the book to an incon-
venient size. In so doing, however, the editors have not lost
sight of the interests of the antiquarian; whatever remains of
old Paris worthy of note has been sedulously preserved, and
every spot of historical interest pointed out, and often illus-
trated with curious anecdotes.

This rapid sketch of the labour which has been expended
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upon the present work will suffice 1o show that it aims at a
higher distinction than its humble title, in the common accept-
ance of the term, denotes, and that it is in reality a condensed
repertory of the history, statistics, and art of the capital of
France, far superior, therefore, to all the other French and
English Guides in existence, which are quite unworthy
of the matter they treat of. In the present book there
will be found collected an immense quantity of valuable and
interesting information, hooks of the first authority having
been consulted on the history and antiquitics of Paris; while
personal observation has supplied with great aceuracy the ac-
count of all that now meets the eye in the metropolis. In the
collection of this information, and in the annual correction
of the work, neitler time nor expense has been spared, and, by
availing themselves of the valuahle services of Mr. Quthwaite.
the engraver, the publishers have heen enabled to embellisk
the work with accurate and well-designed plates.

The plan adopted in this volume is calculated to save the
visitor much useless expenditure of time and exerlion. What-
ever relates to the institulions and gencral slatistics of Paris
has been put intothe First Part, entitled General Information;
while every other object of interest is described in twenty
walks, which, while equal in number lo the arrondissements
or municipal sections of Paris, are nevertheless arranged ir-
respectively of thosedivisions, which would be inconvenient
for the purpose of visiting the capital. Thestranger, after study-
ing his map of Paris with care, is supposed to go through
these walks, inspecling their contents in the order in
which they are arranged in this work, or omitling some,
according to his taste and inclination. By so doing he
will see every thing in a comparatively short space of time,
and will pass over nothing that is really worthy of being ex-
amined by the tourist. By a reference to the Index, where
everything is carefully classified, the reader may see, at one
glance, the whole of any particular class of things of wlich
he may be in search.

The Publishers trust that the conscientious care which has
guided them in the publication of this volume will obtain the
approbation of the visitor. Any correction which may suggest
itself to the reader will be gladly received.

Paris is one of the great centres not only of French but of
continental intellect ; from its prolific press the most valuable
publications are constantly issuing; it takes the lead in scien-
tific research and discovery, and has every claim to be con-
ridered a magnificent and wonderful city. Its superb and
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beautiful collections of ancient and modern art are, with an ad-
mirable spirit 6f generous liberality, thrown gratuitously open
not only to natives, but particularly and at all seasons to fo-
reigners. In every branch of knowledge lectures are delivered
gratis by the most eminent professors, and the traveller who
has paid the least attention to the fine arts becomes, on arriv-
ing in Paris, in some measure identified with them; even the
puliic amusements of the capital tend to the improvement of
the mind, and the advancement of civilization.

The metropolis is naturally salubrious, and the purity of its
atmosphere may be at once ascertained by viewing it from an
elevated situation. How unlike the view from the top of St.
Paul’s in London, with its canopy of fogs and clouds, and its
sickly sunbeams! There, every building is blackened with
smoke, and the eye looks down upon darkening vapours and
mists; but if Paris be seen from the towers of Notre Dame, the
Pantheon, the Arc de Triomphe de I'Etoile, the heights of
Montmartre, or the cemetery of Pére La Chaise, the panorama
is complete; there is no indistinctness or confusion in the pro-
spect ; every palace, church, and public edifice stands distinctly
before the eye, and, interspersed with the foliage of the gardens
and the boulevards, the whole forms a prospect at once grand
snd beautiful. It need hardly be added that this lively me-
tropolis is the most attractive emporium of pleasure and litera-
ture in the world, and, at the same time, the cheapest for the
advantages it presents—circumstances which render it the ge-
neral rendezvous for all the nations of the globe.

In order fully to appreciate the treasures of art and industry
for which this capital is so renowned, a residence of several
months will hardly suffice. But, asmany persons visit Paris
for only a few days, and are therefore only able to take a
bird’s-eye view of the remarkable sights it contains, the fol-
lowing list of important places, arranged by days on which
they can be visited, and with reference to the page of the
Guide at which they are described, cannct fail to be acceptable.

DIARY OF PLACES THAT OUHT 70 BE SBEN BY A STRANGER,

SUNDAY.—The Louvre and its Museums, from 10 to 4 with
passport or 12 to & without (p. 159).—Palace of the Tuileries, (p.
148; ticket).—Triumphal Arch of the Carrousel (p.153).—Column
of the Place Venddme (p. 477 ; fee.)—Obelisk of Luxor (p. 180).
~Champs Elysées (p. 183).—Palace of Elysée-Napoléon, (p. 197).
—Triumphal Arch de I'Etoile (p. 192; feel.—Chapel of St. Ferdi-
nand, from 10 fo 5 (p. 194; fee).—Chapelle Expiatoire (p. 203 ;
fee).—~Church of the Madeleine (p. 200).
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MONDAY.—Hotel des luvalides, (fee), and Tomb of Napo+
leon from 12 to 8 (p. 339).—Church of St. Sulpice (p. 370)
—Church of St. Germain des Prés (p. 335).—Ecole des Beaux
Arts (p. 363; fee).—Palais de Justice and Sainte Chapelle, from
10 to 4 (p.298, 304; ticket).—Cathedralof Notre Dame (p.309; fee).

TUESDAY.—Artesian Well of Greuelle (p. 334).—Palace of the
Legislative Body (p. 325, fee).—Palais du Quai d'Orsay, from 10
to 4 (p. 322, fee).— The Mint, Muscum, 42 o 3 (public), coining,
1010 1 (p. 359, ticket).—Church of Notre Dame de Lorette (p. 216).

WEDNESDAY.—Palace of the Luxembourg, picture-gallery,
from 10 to 4 (p. 374).—Hotel de Cluny, from 12 to & (p. 385).—
Pantheon (p. 400, fee).—Church of St. Etienne du Mont (p. 405).

THURSDAY.—Manufacture des Tabacs, from g0 to 12, (p.
331 ; card).—Musée d’Arti}lcrie, from 12 1o 4 (p. 352).—Holel
de Ville, from 12 to 4 (p. 284; ticket).—Imprimerie Impériale,
at 2, with ticket (p. 269).—Strasbourg Railway Terminus (p. 250).
~Church of St. Vincent dc Paule (p. 234).

FRIDAY.—Garden of Palais Royal (p. 209.)—Bibliothéque Im-
périale, from 10 to 3 (p. 221).—Exchange (p. 219).—Conserva-
toire des Arls et Métiers, from 10 to 4 (p. 256, 1 fr.).~—Abattoir
de Popincourt (p. 2176, fee). :

SATURDAY.—Garden of Plants ; Museums open from 11 to 2
(p. 427).—Gobelins Manufactory, from 2 to 4 (p. 411 ticket),—
Place du Trone (p. 278).—Columu of July (p. 282; fee).—Ceme-
tery of Pire Lachaise (p. 432).

EXCURSIONS.—Fontaineblcau, one day (p. 508; fee).—Ram-
bouillet, one day (p. 528 ; ficket).—Stvres Manufactory (ticket),
and St. Cloud, one day (pp. 548 and 529 ; fees).—Abbey of St.
Denis, one day (p. 536; fee).—Versailles, daily, Mondays ex-
cepled; see preface, p. viii. (p. 552).—Vincennes, Saturdays (p.
681 ; tickel).—Bois de Boulogne and Park of -Monceaux (after-
noon; p. 486 and preface, p. ix).

The stranger will do well, immediately on his arrival, to
write for permission to see the following places : viz., the
Hotel de Ville, to M. le Préfet de la Seine, 1lote]l de Ville.—
The Tuilerics, to M. le Général Commandant du Palais des
Tuileries ; the Palaces of Compiégne, Fontainebleau, Ram-
bouillet, Versailles, Petit Trianon, and St. Cloud (suown only
during the absence of their Majesties), and the Sainte
Chapelle, to Son Excellence M. le Ministre de la Maison de
UEmpereur et des Beaur Arts.—The Musée de Sévres,
specially mentioning also the work-shops or les ateliers, (see
?. 548), the exhbn}xon-rooms being open daily without tickets,
Sundays and holidays excepted) to M. I'Administrateur de
la Manufacture de Sévres—The Mint, to see the coining,
(the Museum, &e., being public on certain days, see p. 359),
to M. le Président de la Commission des Monnaies et Médail-
les, Hotel des Monnm‘es.—'The Observatory, (visible only
once a month), to M, le Directeur de I'Observatoire.~Vin-
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cennes, to M. le Commandant de I’ Artillerie du 1°F arron-
.dissement (Est), & Vincennes.—These letters must be sent
franked by post. The visitor will then receive the tickets in
two or three days. The following is the usual form of the
letter to be written :—

Monsieur (giving his title, &e¢.),

Jai 'honneur de vous prier (if to a Minister. de prier volre
Excellence) de vouloir bien me faire adresser un billet pour
(name number of persons), afin de visiler (insert name of places).
N'ayant que peu de jours & resler A Paris, il me serait {rés-
agréable de le posséder aussitdt que possible.

Veuillez recevoir, avec mes remerciments, assurance de la
haute considération avec laquelle j'ai Phonneur d’étre, Monsieur,

Votre trés humble serviteur,
(Sign name with address, very clearly written.

Should thestranger, as is sometimes the casc in consequence
of the negligence of some inferior functionary, not receive a
speedy reply to his letter, he will do well to call for it in per-
son at the proper office. To thisit may be added, that while
leave is rarely granted to visit the interior of the prisons, the
hospitals and other charitable institutions are thrown open, not
only for the inspection of professional men, but also for the
relief of the necessitous stranger, with a liberality that cannot
be too highly commended.

The visitor is strongly recommended, as a general reference,
to consult the article headed Siranger’s Diary, in the daily
English newspaper, Galignani’s Messenger, which is taken in
at all the principal cafés, restaurants, &c.. or may be sub-
scribed for by the day, week, fortnight, or month, and where
whatever is to be seen on the day of publication is always
mentioned, with all necessary information concerning it.

The stranger in Paris is also advised to attend high mass at
the cathedral of Notre Dame, or at the churches of St. Roch,
St. Eustache, or Notre Dame de Lorette. at 10 any Sunday
morning, if he would witness an imposing spectacle, and be
gratified with excellent music.

In consequence of the frequent errors which accur in the de-
livery of journals casually sent from Paris to England, it should
be known that Newspapers must bhe surrounded by a band of
paper on which the address is wrilten, and prepaid at the
principal post offices, at the rate of 8 centimes for each 40
grammes weight. If thrown in without being franked. they
would be charged like letters according to weight.

The stranger, on .arriving in' Daris, is often at a loss to
choose among the good things presented to his taste by the
cartes of the restaurants, some of which contain three to four
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hundred dishes. The following list of some of the best will
no doubt be well received by the gastronomic traveller :—

SOUPS (POTAGE).
A la bisque.—A la julienne.—Au macaroni.—Au riz.—A la
purée.—Purée aux crofifons.

MEATS (VIAXDE).

Beefsteak au beurre d’anchois.—Filet de beuf, au vin de Ma-
dére.—Fricandeau, sauce tomate.—Ris de veau piqué  la finan~
ciére.—Ris de veau A la poulette.—Téte de veau en matelotte.
—Téte de veau en tortue.—Cotelette de mouton a la Soubise.
—Cotelette de mouton sautée aux iruffes.—Filet mignon,—
Rognons, au vin de Champagne.

POULTRY (VOLAILLE).

Poulet & la Marengo.—Poulet en fricassée.—Poulet 2 la tar-
tare.—Poulet en Mayonnaise.—Poulet sauté aux champignons.
—Supréme de volaille.—Coquille a la financiére.—Croquettes de
volaille.—Salade de volaille & la Mayonnaise.—RagoQit 3 1a fi=
nanciére.—Foie gras en caisse.

GAME (GIBIER). *
Perdreau en salmis aux truffes.—Perdreau rdti.—Caille a la
financidre.—Caille rotie.

PASTRY (PATISSERIE).
Vol-au-vent 3 la financidre.—Vol-au-vent de riz de veau
aux truffes.—Vol-au-vent de turbot i la béchamelle.—Vol-au-
vent de fllet de volaille aux truffes.—Paté de foie gras. )

FISH (PeIssON).

Turbot, sauce aux huitres.—Turhot, sauce aux capres.—Sau-
mon, sauce aux cipres.—Saumon A la Genevoise.—Truite en
Mayonnaise.—Eperlan au gratin.—Eperlan frit.—Sole au gra-
tin.—Sole & 1a Normande.—Filet de Sole & la maitre d’'hdtel.
—Matelotte de carpe et d’anguille.—Anguille 3 la tartare.—Bé-
chamelle de poisson.—Ecrevisses 3 la Bordelaise.

SIDE-DISHES (ENTREMETS).
. Coquille aux champignons.—Macaroni au gratin.—~Choux-
fleurs au Parmesan.—Omelefte aux fines herbes.—Artichauts
a la barigoule.—Artichauts frits.

SWEET DITTO (ENTREMETS AU SUCRE).

Beignets de pomme.—Beignets d’abricots.—Omelette soufllée.
Omelette aux confitures.—Charlotte de pomme.—Charlotte aux
confitures.—Charlotte russe.—Charlotte aux fraises.—Croquettes
de riz.—Abricots & la Condé.—Crolites au Madére.~Meringue
aux confitures.—Meringue glacée.

WINES (Vins).

RED. B.uryundy. — Beaune. — Pomard. — Nuits. — Volnay. —
Chambertin. — Romanée. — Hermitage.—Cdte-ROtie. — Claret.—
Chéteau-Margaux.-—Mouton.—-Laffitte.—-Médoc.—Pichon .—
WHITE. Chablis.—Meursault.—Saint-Peray.—Hermitage.—Sau~
terne.—Champagne.—SWEET WinEs. Lunel.—Frontignan.
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L LIQUEURS. :

Eau-de-vie. ~Kirsch. — Anisette. —Cura¢ao. — Marasquin.—
Absinthe.—Créme de Moka.—Noyau.—Créme de Café.—Huile
de Vanille.—~Huile de Rose.—Liqueurs des Iles.

As the portions served at the restaurants are very copious,
parties of two or more persons will do well to take portions
only for half their number, viz., one.portion for two persons,
two for four, &c. :

The visitor in Paris who is inclined to go to a boarding-house
should be very careful to choose one of respectability ; and we
caution the stranger against a kind of establishment that is
apt to deceive foreigners, and which has become very prevalent
in this capital since the abolition by law of public gaming-
houses. Many persons have opened tables-d’hdte and board-
ing-houses, under cover of which card-playing to a considerable
extent is carried on in the evening, and the unwary visitor
. may be easily inveigled to play, and to lose sums to a large
" amount. They are frequented by persons of both sexes, of
fashionable exterior, but of very indifferent character.

The facilities of introduction and of social intercourse which
Paris affords to distinguished strangers far exceed those of any
other capital. A presentation at Court must of course be
sought through the usual medium, that of the ambassador of
the country to which the applicant may belong, and a court-
dress is requisite to be admitted to balls or receplions at
the Tuileries. Generally, however, the stranger in Paris
will find that the greater part of the resident families in
fashionable, official, or professional life, ‘and not a few of
the foreign, domiciled for a longer or shorter lime, receive,
from the commencement to the close of the winter season,
once a-week, in the evening, between the hours of nine
and twelve. Most of the eminent savants and men of let-
ters, chief librarians, and directors of the great literary and
scientific institutions' of the capital, have likewise their
soirées. In addition to these there are numberless private
balls and occasional parties, to which personal respecta-
bility and suitable acquaintance ensure easy access. 'What we
may call more public and advantageous, are the evening recep-
tions of the Ministers of State, the presidents of the Senate
and Legislative Body, the ecclesiastical dignitaries, the chiefs of
the national guard, the prefect of the Seine, the higher munici-
pal functionaries, and even the directors and principal artistes
of the first theatres. 1In the course of a month the prominent
persons of every department of political, literary, and fashion-
able life may be seen at the various sosrées, so as to content
the curiosity of a well-bred stranger of liberal tastes and active
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social habits. The host does not spontaneously serve as in3
troducer ; considering the multitude of foreigners circulating,
the task would indeed be impossible ; but a request suffices for
the formation of a cursory acquaintance, which is often im-
proved into an agreeable intimacy. At these assemblages long
visits and long ‘“ talks” are not bon ton; as it is the custom to
attend several the sameevening. Thename of the guestis usually
announced at the door of the salon ; after a salutation of- the
hosts, movement within and exit are entirely free. Whoever
wishes to be presented at the soirée of a Minister does best to
seck the auspices of the diplomatic representative of his coun-
try, who ushers the élite only, and with a discrimination uni-
versally expected. The foreign legations and agents, and the
superior officers, in full uniform, along with strangers of rank,
and natives and envoys from all regions in costume, who fre-
quentthem, produceanexceedingly dazzling and diversified effect.
A refined and amiable courtesy marks the deportment of
all the entertainers. The number of Jadies that figure at the
Ministerial soirées is comparatively small ; yet most of the fe-
male members of the Ministers’ famiilies appear ‘also. Little
conversation, however, takes place; a passing bow, or a few
sentences from a familiar acquaintance, is the most that polite-
ness or gallantry can bestow on these occasions. The public
halls of a benevolent nature afford opportunity, at the cost
of ten or {wenty francs a ticket, of sceing the haut tom of
French and foreign society.

The professional reader will find in the chapter on Medical
Institutions the most ample information, now so frequently
required by foreigners, more especially by the English and
Americans. :

Ample information will likewise be found respecting births,
deaths, marriages, wills, trade-marks, and patents.

The following few remarks on the best mode of visiting the
Environs of Paris may be uvseful to the stranger.

Persons visiting Versailles should leave Paris not later than
9 a.m. and proceed by the Versailles and Meudon railroad (left
bank), Boulevard MNontparnasse, the station of which at
Versailles is the nearest to the palace. This will allow of a
cursory glance being taken of the exterior of the palace, and
at 11 o’clock, .the time of opening the doors, visitors can enter
al once and inspect the interior without being annoyed by the
crowd. Those provided with special tickets, obtained as de-
scribed at p. v., may claim the services of a separate attendant
to view the reserved apartments, and will thus be spared the
annoyance of being shown through them hurriedly in batches
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of from thirty to forty persons. The same may be said of the
Trianons, which should not be visited on the same day as Ver-
sailles, if they would be enjoyed. The stranger may return
to Paris by the Versailles and St. Cloud railroad (right bank),
by which means two magnificent views of Paris and the
‘neighbouring country will be obtained, one from the south by
the former railroad, the other from the west and northwest by the
latter. The-museum of Versailles is closed on Mondays.

Since the opening of the Lyons railroad, a visit to Fontaine-
bleau may be performed with ease. The stranger, leaving
Paris by the first train, or the second, direct train, will be
there by 9 to 11 o’clock (1.) Themagnificent palace, more his-
toric in its decorations than Versailles, and with its park and
gardens forming altogether the finest sight of thekind in France,
may then be fully inspected. If the visitor be not afraid of a

. little fatigue, he will have time encugh to hire a carriage for a
drive of a few hours to the more picturesque points of the fa-
mous forest, full of romantic beauties and rocky scenery,
which would well employ another day, if it could bespared.

Many other delightful excursions may be made in the envi-
rons of Paris, a great number of which are now easily accom-
plished by the existing railroads. Thus the Chartres line
passes through Rambouillet, famed for its chateau and park ;
through Gaillardon, with its old historical Donjon ; Maintenon,
remarkable for the splendid chateau and park of the Duc de
Noailles, with the adjoining aqueduct; and Chartres, cele-
brated for its beautiful cathedral and valuable library, con-
taining upwards of 1000 ‘manuscripts, both of which may
be seen 1n one day.—The Versailles railroad (right bank)
passes through the villages of Suresne, Puteaux, St. Cloud,
and Sevres. The Auteuil branch offers a convenient mode
of conveyance to the Bois de Boulogne; the station of
the Avenue de I'Impératrice is the best for that purpose. (See
P- 486.)—The Versailles railroad (left bank), by Meudon,
Bellevue. — The St. Germain line touches at Nanterre,
Rueil, and Chatou, where the adjoining Park of Vésinet offers
charming walks. At this station vehicles may be found for
Bougival, Marly, and the wood of La Celle.— The Rouenline
touches at Poissy, Meulan, and Mantes.—The Northern passes
through St. Denis, a town not to be on any account omitted,
and Enghien-les-Bains, from which place omnibuses go to
Montmorency, the forest of which is highly pictaresque ;

(1) The Indicateur des Chemins de Fer, which gives the hours of
departure of the railway trains of all the lines may be had for
8 few sous at all the omnibus offices.



2 GENERAL INFORMATION.

having his visiting-card stamped by a functionary appointed
for the purpose at the port or frontier. This formality, how-
ever, is almost unnecessary. (1.) )

RQUTES TO PARIS.—The following is a list of the various
routes from the coast to Paris, all by railway.

I. Carals TO PARIS in 8 to 10 hours, by Arras and Amiens.

II. BouLOGNE TO PARis in 6 to 8 hours. (Fine church at
Abbeville, and Cathedral at Amiens.)

1Il. HAVRE TO PARIs, in 5 to 7 hours, passing through
Rouen. (Cathedral of St. Quen, statue of Joan of Arc, Museuin,
Bridge, Quays, &c., are well worth stopping one day at Rouen.)

1V. DierpE TO PARIS, through Rouen, in 5 to 7 hours.

V. 0sTEND To PARIS, by Brussels, Lille, &e., in 12 to 13 hours.,

CONVEYANCES. — Correct information respecting these
may he obtained at the railroad and packet offices in London.
The Dover, Folkestone, Southampton, and Brighton trains leave
several times a-day to meet the packets. The best routes to
Parie for rapidity are by the morning or evening mail-post
trains, by Dover and Calais in 11 howrs; for day travelling,
Folkestone and Boulogne ; and for scenery, but with a longer
80 passage, Southampton to Havre, or Newhaven to Dieppe.

StEAM PAackeTs.—Packets leave London-bridge for Calais
and Boulogne, almost daily, especially in summer. Packets
shart daily from Dover and Folkestone ; from Newhaven to
Dieppe, and Southampton to Iavre several times a-week.
Feom Southampton boats go to the Chapnel islands, ‘St.
Malo, &c.

PubLic Coacues.— Diligences carry about 15 passengers,
amd contain several kinds of places. Al luggage above 40lb.
to 50lb. per head is charged. The day, hour, and seat, are
marked on the receipt. For information apply to the Messa-
gerses Finpériales, 28, rue Notre-Dame des Victoires ; and 130,
pue St. Honoré, and to the coach-offices (see p. 592°*.)

Posmine.—To travel by post, a livre de poste, price * fr.,
containing. all requisite information, should be procured. Fee
o the postilion, 2 fr. per myriametre (about ¢ % miles), if he
bas behaved well; legally, 1 fr. Carriages may be hired for

eys from the postinasters at about 12 fr. per diem.

RAILROADS.—Eleven of these, having stations in Paris, are
in operation; viz.: 1. The St. Germain railroad, 124, rue St.
Lasare, the first railway opened (1837.—I1. The Rouen rail-
»oad, 9, rue d’Amsterdam, continued to Havre, with a branch

)ﬁl;:at ge‘u‘ &hfmll\umber gfo olrrivah and departures of British
' vere as lollows .—RBoulogne, 104,392; Calais, 77
A n‘“v.‘ S0037 Y0, 230,606, s 53925 Calaly, 77,2054
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to DiegPe.-—m. The Versailles railroad on the northern
bank of the Seine, 124, rue St. Lazare, communicating
with St. Cloud and intermediate places. —IV. The Western
railroad, . boulevard Montparnasse, leading to Cherbourg by
Versailles and Rennes.—V. The Orleans railroad, rue Neuve
de la Gare (near the Jardin des Plantes), through Nantes,
Mordeaux and Bayonne, with branches to Limoges and
Toulouse.—VI. The Sceaux and Orsay railroad, boulevard St.
Jacques, on the Arnoux system (see p. 547.)—VII. The Nor-
thern railroad, 24, rue de Dunkerque, connecting Paris with
the Belgian frontier by Amiens and Valenciennes, It has
branches to Soissons, St. Quentin, Boulogne, and Calais.—
VIII. The Strasbourg railroad, place de Strasbourg (boule-
vard of that name).—IX. The Lyons railroad, boulevard Mazas,
touching at Fontainebleau.—X. The Corbesl railroad, a
branch of the preceding.—XI. The Vincennes railroad,
a short suburban line, opened in 1859. Besides these,
there is the Chemin de fer de Ceinture, or railway round
Paris. (1) Notices of the fares and hours of departure, may be
obtained gratis at the respective stations (2). Connecting om-
nibuses for these railways may be found at different points
of Paris (3), :

STEAM-BOATS start from the Quai near the Pont Royal
in summer, for Sévres and St. Cloud, several times a day, and
from the Quai de la Gréve, for Melun and Montereau.

MUNICIPAL DIVISION OF PARIS.—The stranger, on his
arrival in Paris, should not neglect acquiring, by the study

(1) This railway has stations for passengers as well as goods
at Auteuil, and at all the above-railway lines, which it crosses.
It passes over the Pont Napoléen, beyond Bercy, and is now
being continued on the left bank. Its length on the right bank
is 30,000 meires (19 miles). It has cost 22,000,000 fr.

(2) In France the reserved compartments in all passenger
trains are severally marked ¢ Post-office,” *‘ For ladies only,”
¢ For smokers,” or simply ‘‘ Reserved.” No persons except
thoze entitled so to do arc allowed to enter such compartments.

(3) The length of all the railroads of France working in 1863
was 10,016 kilometres; their receipts were 648,263,000 fr. They
annually pay 45 millions of francs taxes. Capital invested 4,350
millions of francs, 750 of which are paid by Government. The
number of persons attached to the working of tailways in
Prance is 70,000 ; the rolling stock comprises 3,151 engines and
tenders, 7,000 carriages, and 60,000 trucks, etc. The annual
number of passengers is about 1,400 millions. The loss of life
by acocidents is 4 in 4,935,555 passengers; wounds, 1 fo 496,531.
By diligenos the ratios were respectively 4 in 353,468, and 4in
28,874,
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of his map, a general idea of the 20 arrondissements and 80

quarters into which the capital
following is a list:—

18T. LOUVRE.

4. St. Germain I'Auxerrois,—
2. Halles.—3, Palais Royal.—aA.
Place Venddme.

2p. BOURSE.

5. Gaillon.—6. Vivienne.—7.
Mail.—8. Bonne Nouvelle.

3p. TEMPLE.

9. Aris et Métiers.~—10. En~
fants Rouges.—44. Archives.—
41. Ste. Avoie.

4TH. HOTEL-DE-VILLE.
43.St. Merri.—14. St. Gervais.
=15, Arsenal.—16. Notre Dame,
5TH. PANTHEON.

47. St. Victor.—18. Jardin des
Plantes,—19.Val de Grice. - 20.
Sorbonne.

6TH. LUXEMBOURG.

21, Monnaie.—22. Odéon.—
93, Notre-Dame des Champs.—
24. St. Germain des Prés,

7TH. PALAIS BOURBON.
~ 25,5t Thomas d’Aquin.—26.

Invalides.—27. Ecole militaire,
—28. Gros-Caillou.

8TH. ELVSEE.

29. Champs Elysées. — 30.
Faubourg du Roule.—31. Made~
leine.—32. Europe.

. '9TH. OPERA.

33. St. Georges.—34, Chaus-
sée d’Antin,—35. Faub. Mont-
martre.—36. Rochechouart.
40TH. ENCLOS ST. LAURENT.

87. St. Vincent de Paul.—3s.
Porte S{. Denis.—39. Porte St.
Martin,—40. HOpital St. Louis._

is divided, and of which the

11TH. POPINCOURT.

43. Folie-Méricourt.—43. St.
Ambroise. — 43, Roquette, — 44,
Ste. Marguerite.

12TH. REUVILLY.

45. Bel Air.—A6, Picpus.—47.
Bercy.—48. Quinze-Vingts.

13T, GOBELINS.

49, Salpétriere.—50. Gare.—
51. Maison Blanche.~52. Crou-
lebarbe.

14TH. OBSERVATOIRE.

83, Montparnasse.—54. Santé.
— 35. Petit-Montrouge. — 56.
Plaisance. '

15TH. VAUGIRARD,

57. St. Lambert.—58. Necker.
—59. Grenelle,—60. Javel.

16TH. PAssY.

61. Autenil.—62. La Muette,
~63. Porle Dauphine.—64, Des
Bassins.

17. BATIGNOLLES MONCEAUX.

65. Ternes.—66. Plaine Mon-
ceaux.— 67, Balignolles, — 68.
Epinettes.

18TH. BUTTE MONTMARTRE.

69. Grandes Carriéres. — 70.
Clignancourt.—~71. Goutte d’Or.
~—172. La Chapelle.

19TH. BUTTES CHAUMONT

73. La Villette.—74. Pont de
Flandre.— 75. Amérique,—176.
Combat.

20TH. MENILMONTANT,

77. Belleville,—78. St. Far-

geau.—79. Pére-Lachaise, — 80.

Charonne.

CARRIAGES, HACKNEY-COACHES—Voitures de grande

remsse (glass coaches) may be hired by the day or month,
at from 25 to 30 fr. a-day, or from 500 to 600 fr. a-month.
They will go a certain distance out of Paris, but must be back
:ﬁn' before midnight, (unless agreed upon; and with a small
tional charge alad is given to go behind the carriage.
There are also voitures sous remise, or de régie, which
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go much quicker, and may be hired by the drive, not ex-
ceeding 15 minutes at 1 fr. 50 c. ; exceeding 15 minutes, 2 fr ;
and per hour, 2 fr. 25 ¢, Some are better than the hackney~
coaches called voitures de place, which are to be found at
the coach-stands in the streets. The fares for the latter are
as follows, the time being reckoned from the station : —

‘Witmix Paris. THE Daive. Pea Houn,

v | 0124 st I | Bt |
3 e r 10c. ifr. . .
Carriages holding ftour persons. Afr. 000, $fr. 200, |Afr.90c,

7 am. in winter.] = THE Dmve

" ” CREY

night to
z::::::‘:oldfns fo 6 a.m. in summer. 2tr. 250
ur persons. r. 25¢,
» " two re " 2r. 00c. 21r. 50c.

Lucoace : One package, 25¢. ; two, 50¢. ; three or more, 75c,
BEYOND ToE FORTIFICATIONS ©

From Oct. 1st to March 31st, from 6 a,m: to 10 p.m, -
o, ApriltoSept.oth " o omidnigbi } 2r. 50c; por hour.

Return empty, ifr. extra,

It is customary to give the driver a small gratuity, of
from 3 to 10 sous, according to time. (1)

When it is intended to take the carriage by the hour, the
driver must be told so beforehand, else he can demand the price
of a *“ course ” for each stoppage. The traveller should show
the driver the time by his watch, or by the clocks set up, for
the public convenience, in the inspectors’ boxes, at the
different stands throughout the capital. After the first hour,
the time abave the full hour is paid in propertion.—
The driver is bound to give a printed card with his number,
which it is well to_preserve, in case of forgetting anything in
the coach. (2) All vehicles are numbered both within and
without; and, in case of accident or insolence, redress can al-
ways be had by writing one’s complaint in a register kept at
all the cab-stands for the purpose.

(1) There are no police-regulations concerning fares for
drives beyond the fortifications after 7 p.m. in winter and 9
p.m. in summer; and in the latter case, the return of the
empty carriage must be paid as far as the gates, in proportion
to the time in going.

The cabriolels or voitures de remise are numbered with small
red figurces, the voitures and cabriolets de place on the contrary with
larger yellow ones. Since 1833, nearly all these vehicles have
become the property of one company. Every morning the over-
seer of the stand inspects them, o ascertain if they are in a fit
state for service. The fare is stuck up inside for the information
of the public. Impositions of the driver are severely punished.

(2) Rewards are given yearly to such drivers as have shown



6 GENERAL INFORMATION.

There are also vehicles for the environs. Those which go to
St. Cloud, Versailles, and St. Germain, start from the Rue
de Rivoli. For starting-places, see page 592.% (1.)

OMNIBUSES.—There are 31 lines of omnibuses (2) in
Paris, which ply from 8 a.m. to 11 p.m. They convey
about 80 millions of passengers per annum, for 6 sous inside,
and 3 on the impériale, or top. They stop at different offices
or bureaux on their way, to take up passengers, and set down
those who have claimed a check, called correspondance, de-
Jivered gratis by the ¢“cad,” for the purpose of deviating from
the direct line. In the following list the capital letter denotes
the line, the rest its extremities and the offices where the
omnibus may be waited for :

A.—DPalais Royal, Auteuil—Along the quays and the Cours la Relne.

AB.—Place de la Bourse, Passy.—Place de la Madeleine ; 417, Rue du Fau-
bourg St. Honoré.

AC.—Cours la Reine, Petite Villette.— 15, Rue Royale St. llon., 2, Rue Bleue.

the greatest honesty in restoring to the owners articles of value
left in their carriages. Fifty-two drivers were rewarded in
1864, the value of articles restored amounted to 495,174 fr. in-
cluding bank noles and gold and silver coin. There is an office at
the Prefecture where they are received from the Commissaries
of Pnlice with whom they have been deposited by the finders ;
and upon due identification they are restored o the owners.

(4) The number of public carriages authorised by the police
is 7548, thus classed :—Hackney-coaches and cabriolets, 3000 ;
voitures de remise, 2598; omnibuscs, 880 ; glass-coaches, hired
by the month, 1,400.—The Compagnie des Voitures pays the City
865 fr. per carriage, and for its licence or patente 50,488 fr.,
making an annual total of about 2,000,000 fr. A voiture de place
produces on an average 13 fr. 85 c¢. per day. The expense of
maintaining 85 offices for the superintendence of {he various
stands is 112,200 fr. The number of vehicles circulating in the
streets is slated at 60,259, including 27,938 public and pri-
vale carriages, all taxed at the rate of 60 fr. for four-wheeled,
and 40 Ir, for two-wheeled vehicles; and of persons circu-
lating daily in the former, 200,000. The number of horses
in Paris is stated at 114,000. The first carriage which appeared
in France was that of Isabella of Bavaria, in 41403, at the time of
her entry into Paris.

(2) The new charter of the omnibus company, by which it
has the monopoly of those vehicles, expires in 1910. 1t pays the
City 1,000,000 fr. for the right of driving 500 omnibuses.
Whenever the dividends of the Company exceed 70 fr. per share
of 300 fr., the City ghares the surplus with the Company.
It is hound to.keep special omnibuses for the conveyance
of workmen at {he option of the municipality ; and, when
required, to furnish 30 carts for the removal of ice or snow, or
conveyance of sand to put down on the public way.
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AD.—Chateau d’eau, Pont de PAlma.—Place du Chatolet ; Place Deuphine ;
78, Rue St. Dominique.

AE.—Place des Arts et Métiers, Vincennes.—78, Bonlevard #a Tempis,
Place du Trone. Correspondence with E.

AF.—Parc de M x, Panthéon—Place de 1a Madeleine ; 15, Rue Royale
St, Honor¢ ; Cours la Reine, Correspondence with AB, E, and A.

AG.—Strasburg Railway, Montrouge.—Place du (:hitelet, Pont St. Michel
Correspondence with G.

B.—Chaillot, Strasburg Railway.—96. Avenue des Champs Elysées (15, Rue
Royale: Place de la Madeleine ; Versailles terminus; 78, Rue $t, Lazare;
Nolre Dame de Joretle ; 2, Rue Bleue.

C.—Louvre, Courbevoie.—Rue du Louvre; place du Palais Royal; Avetiwe
des Champs Elysées, corner of Rue de Berry.

D.—Ternes, Fillesdu Calvaire.—417, Faubonrg St. Honoré ; 45, Rue Royale;
Place de la Madelcine; 158, Rue St. Honora,

E.—Madeleine, Bastille.—Along the Boulevards. Correspondence with D.

F.—Monceaux, Bastille.—Versailles terminus ; Place de 1a Madeleine ; Rue
Catinat; 36, Ruc Rambuteau.

G.—Balignolles-Monceaux, Jardin des Plantes.—Place du Palals Royal ; 78,
Rue St. Lazare ; Place du Chatelet.

IL.—Clichy, Odé¢on.—9, Rue Bourdaloue; 8, Boulevard des itellens; Place
du Palais Royal; 10, Place StL. Sulpice.

l.~Montmartre, ‘ialle aux Vins.—Place Cadet, Place de la Bourse, Rue
Croix des Petits=Champs, Place Dauphi Correspond X

J.—Place Pigalle, la Glaciére.—Place du Chdtelet; 2, Pont St. Michel 3
44, Rue Soufflot.

K.—Collége de France, La Chapelle.—~Porte St. Denis, Place du Chatelet;
Pont St. Michel. Correspondence with E

L.--Place St. Sulpice, Villette.—Pont St. Michol; Porte St. Martin. Core
respondence with E.

M.—Les Ternes, Belleville, Boulevards Extérieurs.—Correspondence with
HandJ.

N.—Belleville, Place des Victoires.—78, Boulevard du Temple ; Porte St
Martin; Porte St. Denis ; Rue Catinat. Correspondence with E.

0.—Ménilmontant, Chaussée du Maine.—Rue de Rivoli (Hotel de Ville);
Place du Chéitelet; Place St. Sulpice. Correspondence with E,

P.—Charonné*(for Pére La Chaise), Place d'ltalic.—Place de 1a Bastilly,
Correspondence with E, ¥, AE, Q, R, Sand Z.

Q.—Palais Royal, Tronc.—Rue du Louvre; Place du Chitelet; Place de la
Bastille. Correspondenee with E. .

R.—St. Philippe du Roule, Boulevard Charenton.—45, Rue Royale; Rue da
Louvre; Place de la Bastille,

S.—Louvre, Berey.—Rue du Louvre ; Place de la Baslille,

T.—Place Cadet, Garve d’Ivry.—Porte St. Denis ; 36, Rue Rambuteau ; Pont
Louis Plulippe ; Quai de la Tonrnelle.

U.—Pointe St. Eustache, Bicétre.—Place du Chitelet, Halle aux Vins
Corvrespondence with G.

V..-Maige, Chemwin de Fer du Nord.—55, Rue de Sévres; Croix Rouge:
Place Dauphine ; Rue du Louvre.

X.—Place du lavre, Vaugirard.—Place du PalaisRoyal; 69, Rue de Greaelie
st. Germain ; 55, Rue de Seévres,

Y.—Grenelle, Porte St. Martin.—Corner of Rue de VFglise; Place du
Palais Royal.

7.—Grenelle, Bastille.—69, Rue de Grenelle; 10, Place St. Sulpice; Halle
aux Vins.

POST OFFICE.—The General Post-office is in the rue Jean
Jacques Roussean ; the branch offices are divided into bureans
principawr, as those at 24, ruc de Seze ; 4, Place dela Bourse ;
at the Corps Legislatif, and at the Luxembourg, etc.; and into
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bureauw supplémentaires, as those at 3, rue de I’Echelle;
75, Faubourg St. Honoré; at 3, rue de Chaillot; at 30, rue
de Londres; at the Lyons, Orleans, and Northern railway
stations, etc. There are also receiving boxes, boftes auwm
lettres, at tobacconists’ shops, elc., in every part of the town.

Unregistered letters are in time for the evening mail at the
boftes, till 50’clock, at the bureaux principauxtill a quarter to
6 o’clock: at the Bourse, and at the head office till 6 o’clock.
For Lyons, Marseilles, and Algeria, till 7, at the Lyons rail-
way station. For Orleans, Tours, Bordeaux, and the Py-
renees, lill 8, at the Orleans railway station. For Rouen,
Havre, Dieppe, till 9 at the boites; till 10, at the bureau at
24, rue de Seze, and till half-past 10 at 30, rue de Londres.

There is also -a morning mail for the Departments and
for Belgium, Holland, Prussia, and Baden, for which
letters posted at the loftes by half-past 11 o’clock, at the
bureaux ’p'rincipau.zs by noon, and at the head office by half-
past 12 o’clock, arein time. (1) For England and the Northern
railway they are in time if posted as follows :—

Morning mail.g Evening Mail.

At the Letter-boxes, before 9 pan. 5 pm.
" llurca:;x . " ) p.m. 5% p.a.
. Hotel des Postes
»  4,Place dele Bourse } ” A% a.m. ¢ pm.
» Northern Railway ,, 6% a.m. 7 pam.

Letters leaving London at- 7 a.m. arc delivered in Paris at
about 7 p.m.; and by the evening mail at 9 am. There
is no arrival on Monday morning from England. (2)

Letters may be posted after 6 p.m. at the Central Office, or
at 4, Place de la Bourse, on paying an extra tax of 20 c.
within the first quarter of an hour, of 40 c. within the second,
or of 60 c. after that time until the closing of the mail-bags.
At 28, Place de la Madeleine, and 11, rue St. Lazare, the
time is calculated from a quarter before six,

The English government boats which leave Marseilles on
the 5th, 12th, 20th, and 28th of every month, take the mails
for Malta, Alexandria, Aden, the East Indies, the Indian Ar-
chipelago, and China. That of the 28th also takes the mails
for Australia. French boats also start from Marseilles every
Thursday to Malta, every other Sunday to Malta and Alex-
andria, and every Saturday for Constantinople. Letters for

(1) By contracts with the different railway companies, there
are now two (and to some places more) general posts a-day, for
many places distant 450 kilométres (280 miles) and more from
Paris. The carriages destined for the service of the post accom-
modats clerks and sorters, who do their work while travelling.

(2) Letters for London put into the Post-oftice in Paris on Sa-
turday are delivered on Monday, with those put in on Sunday.
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these departures shonld be posted in Paris two days pre-
viously ; but for the English steamers letters posted at the
head office are in time until 9 % a.m., of the 4th, 11th, 19th,
and 27th of cach month. When for Aden and other parts
beyond, they should be marked ‘“voie de Suez (1). Letters
golng through England must be marked ‘“voie d’Angleterre,”
and ““ by private ship,” if that is the intention, and be posted
in Paris 2 days before the departure from England.

Letters are - franked, cither by putting on stamps of
sufticient value, or else by having them weighed at the
post-oftice, to avoid mistake. (2) A letter posted with in-
sufficient stamps for a foreign country goes as unpaid if the
prepayment for that countiry is optional, and if not, is thrown
into the dead letter office. Letters for England only pay the
difference between the value of the stamps and the postage.

Letters are registered (chargées) for any part of France,
and for those foreign countries o which the franking is op-
tional.  Inland letters pay four sous extra; for foreign
countrics they pay double postage. These letlers must be
prepaid and must have five seals thus placed, so as ‘
to make it impossible to open any part, and be pre- " o<
sented at a post-office. A receipt is given for them, ¥ -
and in case of loss 50 francs are allowed.

Paris letlers for Paris (3) pay, if prepaid, 2 sous for under
15 grammes, 4 sous for under 30 grammes, elc., and 5 cent.
more if not prepaid. There arc 7 deliveries per day, letters
arriving from 3 to 4 hours after being posted (4).

. Newspapers, periodicals, and other works in print must be
secured with strips of paper called bandes, so as not to cover
more than one-third of the surface, and to allow of their
being easily removed to examine the contents. If they con- -
tain anything in writing except the direction, they are
charged as letters by weight. They must be prepaid, delivered
at the office, and, for the evening mail, before 2 o’clock.

The following table shows the rates of postage™ for various
countries, for letiers and newspapers. To the countries

(1) The French Post-office refuses letiers to hot climates closed
with sealing wax, since it makes the lelters stick together, and
renders the addresses illegible.

(2) Patterns of goods, photographs. and business papers, un~
sealed,-are charged for England at 30c. per 120 grammes, or under.

(3) This seriice, begun in 1760, is called La Petite Poste.

(4) The total number of French post-offices was 4,500 in 1863.
The total number of post-oflice funclionaries throughout all
France is upwards of 30,000, including 25,000 letter carriers.
The number of the latter in Paris is 1200,
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marked with an asterisk all letters must be prepaid; to the
others franking is optional for common letters, but lettres
chargées, or money lelters, as also newspapers, must in all
cases be prepaid. The latter are charged according to weight,
the lowest. being 40 grammes. For Turkey, the Papal States,
the Ionian Islands, Austria, and Saxony, the weight allowed
for the price marked is 45 grammes. For larger size or
weight the prices here given must be proportionally increased.
SINGLE LETTERS, |NEWSPAPERS

Un- always
COUNTRIES. Franked.| ¢onied.| prepaid.
c. f. ¢ c.

30 4
80 8
0 12
90 12
80 12
90 10

60 |10,8,10, 6
40 8

France, Algeria, and Corsica (1) .
Great Britain, Malta . . . . .
British N. America, WestIndies . .
India, Aden, West Australia . . .
China®, United States, South Australia®
Denmark (1) .- 0 o o o o
Belgium (1), Spain, Bavaria (1), ‘
Italy (1) . . .
Switzerland . . . . . . . .
Alexandria 1), Constantinopic (1}, vin ;

5

Marscilles o . o . o s 50 8
Turkey (1)* to Austrlan frontier . 60 60 10
Sweden, Papal Stateg, Ionian 1slands (1) 0 0 | 10, 20,15
Portugal®, via Bordeaux . . 60 60 8
Austria (1), Venice (1) o . . . . 60 80 10
Greece . . . . . . e 20 20 8
Russia (1), Poland (1) . . . 10 19 10
Baden . e . . 80 40

COCRHODMO © 0 O O00SCOS™
>
=
CORMOOMG M D O OOOmOD
>

e e e 10
Saxony, Prussia (1),F'rench Cotonies (1) 50 60 | 10, 10,12
For most countries the unit of weight is 7% grammes;
equal to 5 pennyweights English, or to a franc and a half in
silver ; for other countries (sce note 1) the unitis 10 grammes.
Postage stamps in France are of 5 colours; green, for 1
sou, used for newspapers and visiting cards. Bistre, for 2
sous, for letters within Pavis. Blue, for 4 sous, for inland
Jetters.  Orange, for 8 sous, and red, for 16 sous. The
can be used indiscriminately to make up the value rcquire(i,.
They are sold at all the post-offices, receiving-boxes, and
tobacconists. (2)
In registering and franking at a post-office, the letter must

(1) Here the unit of weight is 10 grammes. In France
the double letter, weighing 20 grammes, costs 40¢., bul from 20
(o 100 grammes the charge is only soc.

(2) The last published receipts of the Posl-ofliice for fiftcen
years give the following resulis : —

4841 | 42,034,850 fr. || 4854 | 53.707,833 fr. ]] 4859 | 58,308,000 fr.
1850 | 3,550,004 ,, || 1855 | 54,040,756 ,, || 1860 1,940,000 ,,
1851 | 49,307,434 ,, || 1876 | 55,843,228 ,, || 4861 | 56,600,000

1852 | 46,000,523 ,, || 1857 | 56,030,835 ,, | 4862 | 65,765,000 ,,
1853 | 49,360,043 ,, |l 4858 | 54,664,000 ,, 1803 | 67,633,300 ,,

In 1821, the receipls were only 24,000,000 fr. Uniform postage



APARTMENTS, HOTELS, ETC. 11

be presented from 1 to 2 hours earlier. Such letters for
England cost double. . Money orders are given by one post-
office on any other in France. The charge is 1 per cent.,
with 50 c. far stamp duty. Orders for less than 200 fr, are
cashed at sight. . :

A forcigner may have his letters directed to him poste res-
tante. The Paris poste restante is open from 8 a. m. to 7
p. m. except on Sundays and festivals, when it closes at 5
p- m. Onthe party’s showing his passpert or card, the letter
will be delivered ; but the best way is to have them addressed
to the care of a friend, or some established house. Letters mis~
addresscd or unclaimed (fombées en rebut) remain at the Bureau
des Réclamations ; after 4 months they are opened, and
cither destroyed or rcturned to the address of the writer.

TELEGRAPHS.—There are now 29 offices in Paris. Those
at the Home-office and 12, Place de la Bourse are open all
night. Of the others, the principal are:—the Central Post-
office, rue Jean Jacques Rousseau ; the Northern and Orleans
railway-stations; the Custom-house ; the Hotel de Louvre, rue
de Rivoli ; the Grand Hotel, Boulevard des Capucines ;
No. -47, Boulevard de Sebastopol, Rive Gauche ; No. 67,
Avenue des Champs Elysées; No. 18, Rue St. DPierre,
Passy. The charge for a dispatch from one quarter of Paris
to another is 1fr. for 20 words, address included, and 10
cent. for every additional five words. A dispatch of 20 words
from an office in the department of the Scine to one in the
Seine-et-Oise costs 1 fr. 50 cent., and 15 cent. extra for every
additional five words. (1).

APARTMENTS, HOTELS, Erc.—Furnished apartments in
private houses are fewer than in London, being supplied in
Paris by private hotels, or maisons meublées, which contain
every kind of lodging, from complete apartments for families,
including separate kitchens, to a single bed-room. Here the
traveller enjoys the most perfect freedom from prying notice.

began in 1849. Since then, aboul 90 per cent of the letters are
prepaid, instead of ten as before. The tolal sum paid for the
transmission of periodicals is about 6,500,000 fr. The number
of letters conveyed by the post throughout France was, in

4840 | 458,268,000 || 4855 | 212,385,000 | 4859 | 259,450,000
4850 | 159,500,000 | 4855 | 283,547,600 |1 4860 | 273,200,000
4851 | 465,100,000 || 4856 | 252,044,873 | 1861 | 274,000,000
1852 | 181,000,000 || 1857 | 252,021,042 [ 41862 | 283,000,000
4853 | 185,542,000 1l 4858 1 253,231,000 | 1863 | 200,001,000

(1) The receipts for private dispatches amounted in 1863 fo
5,315,000 francs. The mean time of Paris is now telegraphed
from the Observatory to the Hotel de Ville, and thence to the
principal public clocks. There are at present in France 100,000
kilometros (62,500 miles) of telegraphic lines, and 1,300 etations,
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It is not usual, nor is it advantageous, to go to a matson
meublée for a stay of a few days. Of hotels there is a great
abundance in Paris, from the most luxurious down to those of
the very humblest description. Lodgings may be hired by
the night, week, or month ; the price ought always to be
agreed on beforehand, even for a single night; the price
of a bed-room for one night varies from 2 fo 5 fr. (1) There
are numerous boarding-houses at different charges, both French
and English (see p. 89). Unfurnished apartments may be
taken per quarter, and furniture purchased cheap at second-
hand shops, or hired from upholsterers. Good hotels are
gencrally provided with a table d’héte, which the traveller
will find a better plan than sending for a dinner to a reslaurant
or traiteur. Apartments may be had by the day, week, or
month ; breakfasts are served in the coffee-room or in private
apartments, and visitors may dine at the table-d’héte or in
their own rooms. A list contains the charge for every article,
servants, etc. Such hotels forward letters, and procure in-
formation of every kind with great regularit{. Couriers,
interpreters, and return-carriages may also be had there.
Among the Dbest hotels in Paris we may mention Meurice's,
228, Rue de Rivoli ; the Hotel du Louvre, Place du Palais
Royal (see p. 210) ; the Grand Hétel, Boulevard des Capucines
(sce p. 214); and as family hotels, the Hdtel Bristol, Place
Vendome, Lawson’s Bedford IHotel, rue de I’Arcade, and
Hitel des Deur Mondes, rue ’Antin.—See also DIRECTORY.
SERVANTS.—In almost every furnished hotel there are ser-
vants who may be hired by the month, fortnight, week, or day.
The charge is 5 or ¢ francs a-day, as they board themselves.
They are called valets-de-place; they will be found invalu-
able to the stranger who desires to visit all the curiosities of
the capital, and to examinc those numerous localities of Paris,
celebrated for the historical events extending from the middle
ages down to the last revolution. A well-informed guide can
still point out highly interesting traces of the olden tiwe,
and save the visitor much time and trouble.
INTERPRETERS.—There are in Paris interpreters of every
language, also offices kept by sworn translators.
COMMISSIONNAIRES.—Porters, under this name, and
wearing a numbered brass plate, are found at the corners
of all principal streets. Lellers or parccls may be safely
cutrusted to them; their charges vary from 10 to 40 sous.
RESTAURATEURS AND TRAITEURS.—These rank among

(t) The average number of hotels and furnished houses in Pa=
ris, is 5,000, affording accommodation to 70,000 persons.
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the inost striking establishments of the capital. (1) Nothing is
more common than for a great part of the Parisian community,
including ladies and persons of the first distinction, to dine
occasionally at a restaurateur’s. In fact, Paris nowhere pre-
sents a scene more elegant than one of the splendid saloons of a
first-rate restaurateur, fitted up in a style of the highest taste’
and luxury, and crowded with a brilliant company of both
sexes, If in summer, the traveller ought to select the Boule-
vards, and bespeak a table at one of the windows, thus
adding to the pleasures of the palate the sight of one of the
most animated panoramas Europe can afford; for the evening
scene of the Boulevards in this fashionable part of Paris, with
its well-dressed crowds, seated in groups or promenading, its
verdant trees, and its thousand lights, forms a most enchant-
ing picture. Restaurants have rooms called cabinets de
soctété, in which a party may dine in private. Besides
the principal restaurateurs, where the dinner is d la carte,
there are other houses where dinners are served for a fixed
sum, from 2 francs, including wine. In most parts of Paris,
a dinner may be had for 40, 35, and even 30 sous. The last
of these prices will procure soup, 2 dishes at choice, a dessert,
bread, and a- modicum of wine. Traiteurs, or petty restaura-
teurs, send out dishes, or dinners ready drcssed[: to order. A
family in lodgings, had better bargain with the traiteur for
a number of dishes at a certain hour. After dinner Parisians
go to acafé, to take a demi-tasse of cofice, and a pefit verre
deliqueur, instead of sitting over their wine. For a list of the
best dishes, see Preface. The principal restaurants are Trois
Fréres Provencaux, (Palais Royal,) Maison Dorée, and Café
Anglais, boulevard des Italiens. See DIRECTORY,
CAFES.—The first café in Paris was established by an Ar-
menian in 1697, and was greatly frequented. These establish-
ments multiplied rapidly under Louis XV., and became cele-
brated as the favourite resort of distinguished individuals. At
present they are to be found in every quarter, and justly rank
among the most remarkable features of this capital, being -
usually decorated with unrivalled costliness and splendour. It
is difficult to fancy anything more tastefully brilliant than
the coffee-rooms on the western boulevards, and other fashion-

(4) Formerly privileged persons alone could keep eatling-
houses in Paris; but in 1765 a cook prepared a room for re-
freshments, placing over the door the following parody of a
passage in Scripture : ‘“ Venite ad me omnes qui stomacho Jabo-
ratis, et ego RESTAURABO v0s.” This attempt was successful, and
since 1789, these establishments have increased every year, and
are now {0 be found in all parts-of Paris.
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able parts of the town. When lighted up at night, the effect,
whether seen from within or without, is perfectly dazzling.
Chairs and amall tables are placed outside, where both sexes
enjoy the cool of the evening, and witness the animated scene
around them; while within you see yourself reflected by mir-
rors, remarkable for their size and number; you find yourself
hewildered with the blaze of light, amidst the confused glitter
of gilding, painting, and glass. Nearly all these places furnish
coffee, chocolate, tea, ices, liqueurs, &e., and d¢jeuners & lu
fourchette, either hot or cold; but dinners and suppers are
generally to be had only at the restaurateurs’. Estami-
nets, or smoking rooms, are not of course eligible places for
ladies. The cafés most in repute are the Café Riche and
Café Cardinal, boulevard des Italiens, and Café de la Banque,

des Victoires. For size and splendour of decoration the
Grand Café Parisien, on the Boulevard St. Martin, the Café
du Globe, and the Café du XIXe Siécle, on the Boulevard de
Strasbourg, are worth seeing, but the public frequenting them
is not select. For a list of other cafés, se¢ DIRECTORY.

READING-ROOMS AND CIRCULATING LIBRARIES.—There
are many establishments of this kind in Paris; but the most
eligible ahd most frequented by Frenchmen and foreign-
ers, particularly Englishmen and Americans, is that of Messrs.

alignani and Co., No. 224, rue d¢ Rivoli, which is conducted
on a most extensive scale.  The tables are covered with all the
European, Indian, and American periodicals worthy of
notice. Ladies also frequent these rooms. The admission is
by the day, week, or month. The Circulating Library is
conspicuous for its excellent selection and great number of
volumes. The subscription is by the week, fortnight or month.

CERCLES.—These arc clubs like those of London; but
fow foreiguers belong to them, owing to their short stay in
Paris. The best are: the French Jockey Club, Beulevard
des Capucines ; the Aneien Cercle, 16, boulevard Mout-
martre ; Cercle des Arts, 22, rue de Choiseul; Cercle
de PUnion, 11, Boulevard de la Madeleine; Cercle du
Commerce, &, rue Lepelleticr; Cercle Agricole, 29, quai
Voltaire ; the Cercle Inipérial, under the presidency of Prince
Murat, 5, rue Champs Elysces ; the Cercle des Chemins de Fer,
22, rue Michodicre ; and des Deux Mondes, 30, rue Grammont,
Chess-players frequent the Café de la Régence, 161, Rue St.
Honoré.

MONETARY SYSTEM.—Accounts are kept in France in
francs, .each of 10 decimes or 100 centimes. The modern gold
coins are pieces of 100 fr., 50 fr., 20 fr., 10 fr., and 5 fr.,
commonly called * pibceg de cent framcs,” *“de cipquante
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francs,” ¢ de vingt francs,” (napoleons,) ‘ de dix francs,” ¢ de
cing francs.” The silver coins are 5 fr. (piece de cent sous),
2 fr. (picce de quarante sous), t fr. (piece de vingt sous,)
v%fr. (picce de dix sous), and pieces of 20 centimes.
The copper coins are % sous, 1 sou, and 2 and 1
centime. (1) In the monetary system of France, (2)
Jie coins, if accurately minted, may serve also as weights.
Thus, 1ofr. in copper (new coimage), 200 in standard silver,
or 3100 in standard gold, weigh 1 kilogramme; the piece
of 1{r. weighs 5 grammes, and any other piece in the same
proportion, The notes issued by the Bank of France are
of 50, 100, 200, 500, 1000, and 5000 fr., convertible
into silver at the Bauk, at par, except 2 sous for the bag;
or, at a small charge into silver or gold, at the money-
changers’ shops. (3) In reckoning for 25 sous they say
1 fr. 25 ¢.; for 30 sous, 1 fr. 50 c., and so on. The gold
and silver coins of France contain 1-10th alloy. The value
of the pound sterling, which is 25 fr. at par, is given in the
followin®' table :—

(1) All the copper money of France, amounting to 51,541,006f.,
and weighing 4,860,461 kilos., has been recoined since 1852,
The new coin conlain 95 parts of copper, 4 of tin, and 1 of zine.

(2) Before 17935 accounts were kept in livres, of 20 sous, or 240
deniers; the terms livres and franes for many years were used
indiscriniinately, although go of the olil livres were worth about
81 fr. of the present coin. The double louis was raled at 48 livres ;
the simple louis al 24 livres; Lhe large crown-piece, or écu, at
6 : and the small one, or petit écu, at three livres. There were
also pieces of 30 and of 15 sous, of basc metal. There are mints
at Bordeaux, Lille, Lyons, Marseilles, Rouen, and Strasbourg,
all under the authority of the ¢ Commission des Monnaies.”

(3) The gold coin in France is nowat par. The specie in cir=
culation in TFrance in the time of Colbert, in 1661, was
600,000,000 Iv.; in 1708 il was 800,000,000 fr., and in 1754,
4,600,000,000 fr,

The following is an official statement of the gold and silver
coin struck in France from 1795 to 1863 :

Gold. ’ Silver.
1st Republic . . . . fr. 106,237,255 fr.
18t Empire . . . 528,024,440 887,830,055
Louis XVIIL Lo Lowis Philippe 653,164,780 3,004,279,764
2d Republic (1848-1851) . 412,873,340 449,809,786
2d Empire (1852-1863) 4,146,236,478 498,727,975

Totals :  5,745,209,038 4,946,884,835 ~

The cost of coinage is fixed at 6 fr. 70 ¢. per kilo. for gold, at
1 fr. 50 c. for silver, and at 4 fr. 89 ¢, for copper.
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WEIGHTS, MEASURES, &c¢.—Before the first Révolution
the poids de marc was the standard weight in France. The
boisseau was the corn-measure, the pinte the measure for li-
guids, the pied, or foot, the unit of length, from which were

erived the lieue, or league, and the to:se, or fathom. Since
1795 the metrical or decimal system has been introduced,
and confirmed by a special law, which came into operation
on the 1st of January, 1840; but although parties using the
old weights and mcasures are now liable to prosecution, they
are still pertinaciously adhered to in several parts of the
country.—The ten-millionth part of the spherical distance of
the Pole from the Equator is called a métre, and adopted as
the unit of length (1); its square and cube are taken as stan-
dards of surface, capacity, and solidity, and the weight of a
cube of distilled water, at the temperature of 4° centigrade
(39.2° Fahr,), having its side equal to the hundredth part
of a metre, is the unit of weight. (2) :

The following tables will be found useful in converting the
old or new French weights and measures into English ones,
and vice versa.

SYSTEMATIC NAMES. FRENCH VALUE. ENGLISH VALUE.
Measures of length,
Myriameéire. .. 10,000 meétres........ 6.2138 miled,
Kilométre. ... 1,000 métres......... 1093.633 yards.
5-8ths of a miles
Décameétre. ... 1o melres........... 10.93633 yards.
Métre. ...... Fundamental unit of 1.093633 yard, or
weights and measures. 39,371 inches.
Décimeétre. ... 1-1oth of a métre. .. ... $.937079 inches.
Centimétre ... 1-100th of a mdtre. .... 0.393708 ==
Millimétre. ... 1-1000th of a métre. ... 0,03937 —

(1) The length of the quadrant of the terrestrial meridian was
ascerlained by Delambre and Mechain, by measuring an
nr;: of the meridian between the parallels of Dunkirk and Bar-
celona.

(2) There was also a mixed system between the new and old,’
called the systéme usuel, having the métre as the standard, but
wiih binary divisions. As this has also been aholished by law,
we need only mention that the toise usuelle (of 2 métres) equale
led 6% feet English, and the aune 3 feet 11% inches English,
with their several subdivisions into inches and lines. The boise
seau usuel was % hectolitre, or 0.35474 bushel English. The i§
tron was 2 1-19 English pints. Apothecaries used to compound
by the systéme usuel, and diamonds were weighed by carats, each
of 2.01 décigrammes, or 3 1-10 grains, English. The old pound
weight of France, still spoken of, but now never used, was 1 1b.
1 oz 10 dr. English and the quinlal métrique, now in use, is
1 cwt. 3 grs. 24 1b, 8 oz,

2
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SEATENATIC NAWES. FRENCH VALUE. ENGLISH VALUE.
Superficial Measures.

tare .. ..., 10,000 square matres. .. 2.471143 acres.
cesssess 100 - ... 0.098845 rood.
mre. R | _ ... 1.1960338q yd (1)
Measures of Capacity.
Kilolitre. . . . . . 1 cubic métre, or 1000 cu- 220.09668 gal.

hje décimeétres.

Hertolitre. . . . . 100 cubic décimétres. ... 22.00967 gallons.
trg .. ... 10 cubic décimetres. .. .. 2.20097 —

tré. ..,.... 1 cubic décimeétre...... 0.220097 gallon,
0ri.760773 pint.
Décilitee. . . ... 1-toth eubic décimetre. . . 0.17608 pint.

Measures of Solidity.

sescsess 1cublcmedire ..... ... 35.31658 c. feet.
Décistere. . . ... 1-10th cubicmetre ..... 8$.53166 c. feet.
Weights.
Millier. . .. .... 1000Kkil,, or 1 French ton. 19.7 cwt.
Quintal....... 100kilogrammes...... 1.97 ewt.

Kilegramme. ... 1,000grammes;weightoft1 2.6793 1b. troy
cubicdécimétre of water. or 2.2046 1b,

avoirdupoie.
Heglogramme . . . 100 grammes . .. .... . 3.2 ounces troy.
Mrmme ... 10 grammes. ........ 6.43 penny-

weights troy.

Gramme. ... ... Weight of 1 cubic centi- 15.433 gr. troy.
métre of water.

Décigramme. . . . . t-toth of gramune. . ... 1.5433 gr. troy.

Centigramme. ... 1-100th of gramme. ... 0.15433¢gr. troy.

Milligramme, . ... t-1,000th of gramme. .. 0.01544gr. troy.

It may assist the memory to observe that the terms for
myultiplying are Greek; and those for diyiding, Latin.
VALUE OF OLD FRENCH WEIGHTS AND MEASURES.
4 l{ore : 2 marcs; 16 0z.; 128 gros; 9216 grains; 0,4895 ki. /g.;
1555 gr. English.
uid : 12 seliers; 144 boisseaux; 18.72 hectolitres; 53.124
nglish bushels,
4 @ymid : 144 quarts; 288 pintes; 268.128 litres; 70.8192 English
qllons.

L] tbo( s 12 inches; 144 lines; 1728 paiuis; 0.32484 meélres;
32.1893 inches English;

i, qyne dg Paris : 1.1888 milre; 46.85 Eng. inches.
89 : 6 Freach foetl; 1,049 mdlre; 6.395 Egg. fect.
l : 2 miles Fr.; 2000 toises; 2 nnh.a, 1 furlong, 28 pol. kng-

(1) The square yard is 0.836097 of a square melre.
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ENGLISH TROY WEIGHT IN GRAMMES.

Grain (1-24th of pennyweight) . . 0.065 gramme.
Pennyweight (1-20th of ounce). . . 1.555 —_

Ounce (1-12th of pound troy). . . 31,103 grammes.
Imperial pound troy. « .« « . 0.373238 kilogramme.

FRENCH FEET INTO ENGLISH FEET AND INCHES. (1)

Fr. Eni. Fr. _ English | Fr. English Fr. English’

Inch. Inch.|Feet. Feet. Inch.|Fect. Feet. Inches, |Feet. Feet, Inches.
1 1.07] 1 1 0.79] 10 10 7.89] 100 106 6.91
2 2.13] 2 2 1.58) 20 21 3.78{ 200 213 1.84
3 3.20f 3 3 2.37] 30 31 11.68( 300 319 8.76
4 4.26] 4 4 3.16] 40 42 7.57| 400 426  3.68
5 5.33] 5 5 3.95] 50 53 3.46| 500 532 - 10.59
6 6.40| 6 6 4.74] 60 63 11.35| 700 146 0.42
7 7.461 7 7  5.52| 70 T4 7.24| 900 959 2.27
9 9.59| 8 8 6.31{ 80 85 3.14(1,000 1,065 9.19
11 11.72] 9 9 *7.10] 90 95 14.0312,000 2,131 6.36

FRENCH METRES INTO ENGLIS{t FEET AND INCHES.
Met. F. Inch.|Mét. F. Inch. jMét. F. Inch.| Mét.  Feet. Inch.

0.01 0 0.394/0.75 2 4.532] 10 382 9.708] 500 1640 5 395
0.05 0 1.970f1 3 3.371] 20 65 7.416] 1000' 3280 10.790
0.10 0 3.937(2 6 6.741) 30 98 5.124| 1609.31 5280 1 mile.
0.20 0 7.874|3 9 10.112] 40 131 2.832] 4000* 13123 7.160
0.25 0 9.844]4 13 1.483] 50 164 0.539] 5000 16404 5.950
0.50 1 6.68815 16 4.854}100 328 1.079]10000% 32808 11.900

(') One kilométre, (%) One league. (*) One myriamétre.
FRENCH KILOMETRES AND MYRIAMETRES INTO ENGLISH MILES, &e.
Kilom. English Miles. Furlongs. Yds.[Kilom. English Miles. Furlongs. Yds.

1 0 4 213 8 4 7 164
2. 1 1 206[ 9 5 4 157
3 1 6 199 1myria. 6 1 156
4 2 3 192 2 — 12 3 92
5 3 0 1850 3 — 18 [ 10
[ 3 5 178 4 —~ 24 6 160
1 4 3 1711 5 — 31 0 90

FRENCH LIEUES DE POSTE INTO ENGLISH MILES AND YARDS.
.Mls. Yds. | L.Mls. Yds. JL. Mls. Yds. [L. Mis, Yds.

2 743.061| 6 14 938.366/20 48 781.221] 70 169 974.275
4 1486.122] 7 16 1681.427]30 72 1171.832] 80 193 1364.886
7 469.183| 8 19 664.488|40 96 1562.443| 90 217 1755.496
9 1212.244] 9 21 1407.549|50 121 193.053/100 242 886.107
12 195.305140 24 390.610[60 145 583.664)200 484 772.214

C N R

(1) To reduce French toises into English feet and inches, re-
duce the toises into French feet at 6 feet per toise, and then ap-
ply the above table. An aune de Paris i3 3.658 French feet, 3
feet 10.69 inches English, and 1.188 French mélres. A métre
s 3.0784 French feet.”



20 GENERAL INFORMATION.

In the following six tables the tens, hundreds, &c., are
found by carrying the decimal point one place further to the
right for the tens, two for the hundreds, &c. The intermediate
numbers are found by addition. Thus 356 hectolitres will be
found to amount to 979.4296 bushels.

FRENCH KILOGRAMMES INTO ENGLISH POUNDS (A4voirdupois).

Kilog. Eng. pds. Kilog. Eng. pds.|Kilog. Eng.pds.| Kilog. Eng. pds.
1 2.2046 4 8.8184 7 15.4322 10 22.0464
2 4.4092 5 11.0230 8 17.6368 100 220.4642
3 6.6138 6 13.2276 9 19.8414] 1,000 2204.6428

FRENCH POUNDS INTO ENGLISH POUNDS (Avm‘rdupot's).
Pounds. Pounds. Pounds. Pounds.

Fr, Eng Fr. Eng. | Fr. Eng. Fr. Eng.

1 1.0792 4 4.3167 7 7.5541 . 1o 10.7716

2 2.1583 5 5.3958 8 8.6333 100 107.7164

3 3.2375 6 6.4750 9 9.7125 1,000 1077.1644
FRENCH LITRES INTO ENGLISH GALLONS.

Lit.  Gall. Lit.  Gall Lit.  Gall. Lit. Gall.

1 0.2201 4 0.8804 7 1.5407 10 2.2010
2 0.4402 5 1.1005 8 1.7608 100 22.0097
‘3 0.6603 6 1.3206 9 1.9809 1,000 220.0967
FRENCH HECTOLITRES INTC ENGLISH BUSHELS.
flect. Bush. jHect. Bush. |Hect. Bush. Hect. Bush,
t 2.7512] 4 11.0048) 7  19.2584 10 27.5120
2 5.5024] 5 13.7560} 8 22.0087 100 275.1208
3 8.2536] 6 16.5072] 9  24.7609] 1,000 2751.2085
FRENCH ARPENS INTO ENGLISH ACRES.

Arp. Acres. | Arp. Acres. | Arp.  Acres. Arp. Acres.
1 1.0430 4 4.1721 17 7.3012 10 10.4303
2 2.0861 5 5.2151 8 8.3442 100 104.3026
3 3.1291 6 6.2581 9 9.3872 1,000 1043.0262

FRENCH HECTARES INTO ENGLISH ACRES.

Hect. Acres. [Hect. Acres. |Hect. Acres. Hect. Acros.
1 24711} 4 9.8846] 7 17.2980 10 24.7114
2 4.9423] 5 12,3557| 8 19.7691 100 247.1143
3 7.4134] 6 14.8268] 9 22.2403 1,000 2471.1430

In the French and English barometrical scales,
704 millimdtres equal 26 Fr. inches or 27.7 Eng. in. nearly.

731 — 27 — 28.8 -—
756 - 28 — 29.8 —
179 — 29 — 30.7 -

In the thermometrical scales, the freezing point, marked 320 in
Fahrenheit’s scale, is marked o° in the Centigrade, or French
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scale, and in Réaumur’s. The boiling point, which is 212¢ in
Fahrenheit’s, is 100° in the Centigrade, and 80° in Réaumur’s
scale, The range between Fahrenheit's freezing and boiling
points being therefore 180°, it follows that 5o Centigrade==
9° Fahrenheit==4° Réaumur.

A number of Centigrade or Réaumur’s degrees having by
‘his rule been changed into Fahrenheit’s, 32° must be added
to the result for all temperatures above- freezing point; the
result must be subtracted from 327, for those below.

CENTIGRADE AND REAUMUR'S THERMOMETRIC SCALES TURNED INTO
FAHRENHEIT'S. :

C. R. F.|C. R. F. [C. R. F. | Cc R F
100 80.0 212.0[69 55.2 156.2[38 30.4 100.4] 7 5.6 44.6
99 79.2 210.2/68 54.4 154.4|37 20.6 98.6] 6 4.8 42.8
98 78.4 208.4[67 53.6 152.6[36 28.8 96.8] 5 4.0 41.0
97 77.6 206.6[66 52.8 150.8[35 28.0 95.0] 4 3.2 39.2
96 76.8 204.8|65 52.0 149.0{34 27.2 93.2] 3 2.4 387.4
95 76.0 203.0/64 51.2 147.2{33 26.4 91.4] 2 1.6 35.6
94 75.2 201.2|63 50.4 145.4]32 25.6 89.6] 1 0.8 33.8
93 74.4 199.4/62 49.6 143.6[31 24.8 87.8] o 0.0 32.0
92 73.6 197.6[61 48.8 141.8/30 24.0 86.0|]— 1 — 0.8  30.2
91 72.8 195.8[60 48.0 140.0|29 23.2 . 84.2|]— 2 — 1.6 28.4
90 72.0 194.0{59 47.2 138.2/28 22.4 82.4/— 3 — 2.4  26.6
89 71.2 192.2|58 46.4 136.4|27 21.6 80.6|]— 4 — 3.2 24.8
88 70.4 190.4|57 45.6 134.6/26 20.8 78.8/]— 5 — 4.0 23.0
87 69.6 188.6[56 44.8 132.8/25 20.0 77.0|— 6 — 4.8 21.2
86 68.8 186.8[55 44.0 131.0/24 19.2 75.2|— 7 — 5.6 19.4
85 68.0 185.0|54 43.2 129.2|23 18.4 73.4|— 8 — 6.4 17.6
84 67.2 183.2(53 42.4 127.422 17.6 71.6]— 9 — 7.2 15.8
83 66.4 181.4[52 41.6 123.6/21 16.8 69.8|—10 — 8.0 14.0
82 65.6 179.6/51 40.8 123.8/20 16.0 68.0|—11 — 8.8 12.2
81 64.8 177.8[50 40.0 122.0[19 15.2 66.2|—12 — 9.6 10.4
80 64.0 176.0[49 39.2 120.2[18 14.4 64.4]—13 —10.4 8.6
79 63.2 174.2]|48 38.4 118.4/17 13.6 62.6]—14 —11.2 6.8
78 62.4 172.4|47 37.6 116.6/16 12.8 60.8|—15 —12.0 5.0
77 61.6 170.646 36.8 114.8/15 12.0 59.0|—16 —12.8 3.2
76 60.8 168.8[45 36.0 113.0[14 11.2 57.2]—17 —13.6 1.4
75 60.0 167.0[44 35.2 111.2[13 10.4 55.4}—18 —14.4 0.4
74 59.2 165.2[43 34.4 109.4[12 9.6 53.6]/—10 —15.2 — 0.9
73 58.4 163.4|42 33.6 107.6/11 8.8 51.8|—20 —16.0 — 4.0
72 57.6 161.6[41 32.8 105.8/10 8.0 50.0|—21 —16.8 — 5.8
71 56.8 159.8[40 32.0 104.0] 9 7.2 48.2|—22 —(7.6 — 7.6
70 56.0 158.0]39 31.2 102.2] 8 6.4 46.41—23 —18.4 — 9.4

DUTIES ON ARTICLES IMPORTED INTO ENGLAND.—
Regulations as to Passengers’ Luggage :—As soon as all
the luggage is landed, passengers are called in according to
the list forwarded by the captain. Passengers must see that
iy names are properly inserted in the list. A passenger
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having a small carpet bag is allowed to take it on shore
after examnation by the officers who come on board. AN
merchandize brought with luggage is liable to seizure untess
duly reported as such by the captain of the vessel.—Caution :
If any person, on being questioned by an officer, whether he
or she has any foreign goods upon his or her person, or in his
or her possession, deny the same, and any be discovered, such
shall be forfeited, and such person forfeit treble the vahue of such
goods. False declarations subject parties to a fine of £100.
Under the present system of free trade, scarcely anything that
is likely to form part of a tourist’s luggage is liable to duty.
The only duties of the new tariff worth recording (and to

which Five per cent. must be

Books printed priorto 1801, free.

~— French or German, printed in
or since 1801, free.

—ndmitied undertreaties of in-
ternational copyright, or if of|
or from any Brilish posses-
sion, free.

Any books wherein the copyright
shall be subsisting, first printed in
the United Kingdom, and reprinted
in any other country, are pro-
hibited to be Imported into the Bri-
tish possessions, provided the pro-
prictor of such copyright shall have
given duc notice to the Customs.

Foreign books and maps having once
lnld duty, ar been purchased in Eng-
and, are delivered free, on a declara-
tion being made.

Brandy. See Spirits.

Cards, playing, per-
packs, 158,

Cigars, see Tobacco.

Clocks and watches, free.

— or watches of any metal, im-|
pressed with any mark or
slamp, appearing to be or to
represent any legal Brjtish
assay, mark, or stamp, orpur-
porling, by any mark or ap-
pearance, {0 be the manufac-
ture of the Uniled Kingdom,
prohibited.

Cologne-water, each flask, 30
not morethan a gallon, sd.
Confectionary of sugar, bon-

bons, &c., the 1b., 2d.
Liqueurs. See Spirits.
Paper hangings, painted or
stained paper or flock-paper,
per cwt., 148,

dozen

for private use,

added) are the following:—

Letter paper, per cwt., 168.
Plate of gold, the oz., troy, 17s.
— of silver, do., 18, 6d.

— battered, free.

Plums, dried, 7s. per cwt.

[Prints and drawings, plain or

coloured, 168. per cwt.

— admitted under treaties of
international copyright, 158,
per cwt.

Drawings exccuted by travellers
are free, on satisfac-
tory proof. The above duties are in-
dependent of the quality.

Spirits, or strong waters, not
being sweetened or mixed
with any article, 8o that the
degree of strenglh thereof
cannot be ascertained by
Sykes’s Hydrometer, for every
gallon of the strength of proof
by such Hydrometer, and so
in proportion for any greater
or Jess strength of ;1 of, and
for any greater or less quan-
tity than a gallon, viz.:—

Brandy, per gal. o0 10 5
Geneva, do., . 0105
Rum,. ef and from
any foreign coun-
try being that of its
production . .
— from any other

country . 01035
Tafla, of and from

any colony in

0102

France . . .0 102
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Other spirits, being sweetened]Varnish, contalning utfy quan:
or mixed so thal the degree| ity of wine or apitits, 12s.
of strength cannot be ascer~| per gallon.

la‘ined as aforesaid, per gal.,{\vine containing 45 per cent.

148, !
- f‘p;erfume(‘li to he uneld as4per— g:%elr‘il:\‘zgrg;gygg?: &5;:‘2:
mery on er gal,, 14s. P -
il Fmtdlmesnetysre| L Seemed 1 be mised
fed When less han 'a. pint; or half as such, ged withduty
— of all countries, making less

a pint of eau de Cologne, or other cor-
dial waler, or any medicated or-per-
than 18 degrees of Sykes's

fumned spirits or liqueurs.
Tobaceo unmanufac-

N Hydromeler, per gal.
'""’['rl’ per“],b. 0 3 of_ djo., making ;)ﬁ dgg 3 : :
— snuff,per 1h. 0 6 0 . R *
—(-ignrs’. .. .0 9 0 —do., malu.ng d0deg. 02 o
— stalks and flour of, and snuff{— do., making 45 deg. o 9 14
I;av?rk, nrohimt.edd. loss th - il'idmportle:} iln bottles,
uties are received upon less thani  and containing less
31b. of cigars,bmt greater quantity "
requires a el.,‘ilﬁ('\‘lll.“ {h {he Board of| than 40 deg. .02 §

Customs to he admitted.

DUTIES oN ARTICLES IMPORTED FROM ENGLAND INTO
France.—Extracted from the new official tariff :

Plate and jewellery for the use of travellers, f{ree, if net
exceeding the weight of 5 hectogrammes. Parties going to
reside in France, and wishing to take their furniture, linen,
plate, &c., mustapply to theDirector-General, at Paris, sending
a statement of the articles, and, if admitted, generally pay 1o
per cent. on the value. Numerous other articles, lately abso-
lutely prohibited, even when a part of passengers’ luggage,
are now admitted, and are charged with a duty of 30 to 33
per cent. The same favour is extended to portions, or whole
pieces which have not or have scarcely been made up. In
those cases, the condition and supposed intentions of such passen-
gers as may have brought them are taken into consideration.
According to the Customs’ regulations, every thing that is
new, or not used, either made or not made up, must he de-. .
clared before the examination of the luggage, under penalties
of seizure and fine. But the officers generally tax those things
not duly declared, or give them back for re-exportation.

The regulations as to passengers’ luggage are much the same
as on Janding in England.

Beer, ale, or porier, 2 fr. the[(Boots and shoes, 10 per cent. ad
hectolitre (about 100 hottles),| valorem,

in addition to the internal fax.
Books, in dead or foreign lan-
guages printed in England,
free.
Booksin French, printed abroad,
150 fr. (£6) per 100 kilos.

Boxes, carved wood and ivory,
10 per cent. ad valorem.

Bronze, manufactured, 25 fr.
per 100 kil.

Calicoes, bleached, 30 par vent.
ad valorem per 400 kil.
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- do., unbleached, 15 do.

— do., dyed, 25 cent. ahove 15
per cent. do.

Cards, prohibited,

Carpets, 15 per cent. ad valorem.

Carriages, 10 per cent. ad val,

Cheese, hard, to fr. (8s.) per 100
kil.

— do., soft, 6 fr. (4s.10d.) do.

Clocks, 5 per cent. ad valorem,

Coal, 1 fr. 20 c. per ton.

Cotton manufactures. See Cali-
coes.

Earthenware, fine, 20 per cent.
ad val.

Embroidery, 10 per cent.ad val.

Engravings,lithographed prints,
maps, charts, &c., 300 fr. per
100 kils.; or £6 per cwt.

Frames, (picture,) 10 per cent.

Turniture ofallsorts,10per cent.

Glass, for domeslic use, 10 per
cent. ad val,

Gloves, 10 per cent. ad val.

Horses, 25 fr. (£1).

— Colts, 15 fr. (128.)

Hardware, iron, for domestic
use, 17 per cent. ad val.

- do., cutlery, 20 do.

— do., copper, brass, or bronze,
2§ do.

Jewels, set in gold, 5 fr. (4s.)
per kil.

Lace, cotton or linen, 5 per cent.

Lace, silk, free.

Linen, for personal or house-
hold use, free, unless in large
quantity; in such case a per-
mit must be obtained from
fhe Director of the Customs.

GENERAL INFORMATION.

Liquors 150 fr. (£6) per hecto-
litre (100 bottles).

Musical instruments, 10 percent.
ad val,

Optical and mathematical in-
struments, 10 per cent. ad val.

Paper, white or ruled for music,
150 fr. (£6) per 100 kil.

P];Ie,new orused, 5 fr. (4s.) per

il.

Plated ware, 1 fr. per kil.

Porcelain, 10 per cent, ad val.

Silk goods, all silk, free.

— figured, or brocaded, 15 per
cent. ad val,

— ditto, with gold and silver,
12fr. (98. 84 ) per kil.

— mixed with thread,
per kil.

Skins, varnished or morocco,
250 fr. per 100 kil

— otherwise prepared, 30 fr.
per 100 kil. -

Steam-engines, for machinery,
40 fr. per 100 kil

— for locomotives, 45 fr. per
100 Kkil.

— for ships, 28fr. (22s.) per do.

Tea, from China, 1fr. 50c. (1s.
3d.) per kil.

— from the Baltic and Black Sea,
2 fr. 50 c. (28. 1d.) per ditto.
— from other places, 5 fr. (4s.)
— from England, 9fr. (7s. 3d.)

per kil. .
Wine, by sea, port, 35 fr. (€1 8s.)
per hectolitre, (100 bottles.),
—sherry, madeira, malaga, &e.,
109 fr. (£4) per ditto.

3 fr.

Woollens, 15 percent. ad « .

CRAPPRR T,

PRYSIGAL STATISTICS.

_ GEOGRAPHICAL SITUATION.—The Observatory of Paris
ia situaled in 48° 50" 49" north lat., and 20 20' 15" east long.

from Greenwich; height above

the level of the sea, 199 feet.
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The longest day is 16 hrs. 7 min., and the shortest 8 hrs.
10 min. Its distance from the following capitals is : —

From. Hours. Miles. From. Hours., Miles.

Amsterdam. . . 16 298 (Madrid.. . . . 72 775
Berlin. . . . . 32 593 |Milan. .. 471 518
Brussels. . . . 6 189 |Munich . . . . 36 460
Constantinople. . 288 1574 |Naples. . . . . 108 t148

oresden. . . . 34 630 |Rome. . . . . 96 925

Frankfort. . . . 18 339 (Stockholm . , . 96 1141
Geneva. . . . 28 315 |St. Petershurg. . 107 1425
Hamburg. . . . 3t 535 |Turin., . . . . 32 438
Lishon. . .-. . 84 1104 |Venice. . . . . 54 593

London . . . . 1t 254 |Vienma . . . . 60 678

The circumference of Paris which, since the {st of January,
1860, cxtends to the fortifications, is 33,678 metres, (of
which 9,405 are on the left bank) or 21 mﬂcs its area is
78,020, 000 square meétres, or 19,280 acres. It measures
8,900 métres, or 9,700 yards, from North to South, and
11,300 métres, or 12,317 yards, from East to West. (1)

CLIMATE.—The maximum average heat is 34° Centigrade;
in 1802 it rose to 37°. The average maximum of cold is 90
below zero; in 1795 it fell to 22°. The mean temperature is
13%° above .zero. The greatest height of the barometer is 28%
inches, the least 27 % inches, and the mcan 28 inches. The
average quantity of rain per annum is 20% cubic inches per
square inch. The prevailing winds are S.W. and.N.E. The
climate is variable, but not unfavourable to health ; snow does
not lie long, and fogs are not frequent.

GEOLOGICAL CONSTITUTION.—The cily lies in a vast
plain, 60 meétres aliove the level of the sea, and watered by
the Scine. The Paris basin, which has the great chalk forma-
tion for its lowest stratum (-xposed by natural denudations,
comprises the following geological beds in an ascending order :
—plastic clay; marine limestone (calcaire grossier, building-
stone); siliceous limestone (fresh-water); gypseous strata alter-
nating with marls, full of fossil remains and freshwater shells;
sands; mill-stone beds; and gravel. Two of the strata of
the general series are famous in commerce—one for furnishing
the stone of which Paris is built, the other for the fine gypsum,
from which the Plaster of P(ms is made. (2) This plain, though
not barren, is not remarkable for an exuberant fertility ; the
manure, lxowever furnished by the capital supplies any natural

(1) The surface of the who]c department of the Seine com=
prises 47,000 heclares.
(2) See Cuvier, and G. Cuvier and Brongniarl.
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deflciency of the soil, and the lighter species of grain, vegetables,
fruit trees, and vines, flourish here in perfection. (1)

RIVERS.—The Seine, which traverses the capital from S.E.
to N.W., rises in the forest of Chanceaux,-2 leagues from St.
Seine, in the department of the Cote-d’Or. 1t receives, besides
smallér streams, the waters of the Yonne, the Aube, and the
Marne, before it enters Paris; and beyond it after collecting
the tributary streams of the Oise, the Eure, and other smaller
rivers, falls into the ocean between Havre and Honfleur. The
direct distance from its source to its mouth is 70 leagues. In
the interior of Paris its length is about 2 leagues. Its breadth
at the Pont d’Austerlitz is about 166 métres, at the Pont Neuf
263 metres, and at the Pont d’léna 136 metres. The mean
velocity of the water is 20 inches per second. In summer
the Seine is very low, and often fordable; during the winter
it rises high, and flows with much impetuosity. When the
river rises more than 6 metres above iis hed, parts of the
town and adjacent country are liable to be inundated.

The Seine communicates with the Loire by the canals of
Briare and Orleans; with the Saone by the canal de Bour-
gogne ; and with the Somme and the Scheldt by the canal of St.
Quentin. Modern improvements in ship-building now’ enable
sea-going steamers to reach the ports of the Seine al Paris. The
navigation is impeded when the waters are unusually low or
high, or when the thermometer falls to 10° below zero, at which
temperature the river freezes. In its course through Paris
the Seine now forms two islands. The Ile St. Louts, ahout
1,800 feet long, has been built on since the time of Louis XIII.
The other, the original scat of Paris, is still called the Ile de
la Cité; it formerly terminated at the rue de Harlay, but was
enlarged under Henry IV., by annexing two small islands to it.

The little stream of the Bicvre, or the Gobelins, as it is
sometimes called, rises between Bouriers and Guyencourt, near
Versailles, and, after a course of about 8 leagues, falls into the
Seine above the Jardin des Plantes; it is not navigable, nor
i8 its water wholesome to drink. Several mills are worked by
it, and it is excellent for dyeing and tanning; it also serves as
a city drain, and has its bed lined with masonry.

(1) ‘The last official returns of the area, cultivation, &e., of
the department of the Seine are as follows :—area, 24 square
leagues. Arable land, 72,558 acres; meadow land, 3,811 acres;
vineyards, 4,876 acres; woods, 3,344 acres; waste lands, 615
acres; forest land, 5,663 acres; roads and public ways, 6,543
acres (their length is 150 miles); houses, 47,804; mills, 77;
manufactories, 450; proprietors, 67,918. The annual cost of
keeping the roads ofthe department in repair is about 350,00 fr.
The value of land in all France is 88,744,000,000fr.
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CANALS.—The canals on the north of Paris are all branches
of the same undertaking for bringing the waters .of the river
Ourcq to the capital. Projected in 1799, the works were not
completed until 1830. They convey water to a spacious basin
for the supply of the inhabitants, as also for a navigable canal
from the Seine at St. Denis to the basin, and from the basin
to the Scine at the Arsenal. The branches of these works go
by the names of the Canal de U'Ourcq, Bassin de la Villette,
Canal St. Martin, Gare del Arsenal, and Canal St. Denis. (1)

The Canal de I'Ourcq joins the Oureq beyond Mareuil, 10
leagues from Paris, and, after collecting divers streams, falls
into the Bassin de la Villette. 1t furnishes 13,500 inches,
or 260,820 cubic metres every 24 hours, for the locks
on the two canals St. Denis and St. Martin, and for the sup-
ply to the public fountains, markets, and houses. The de-
clivity is 8 feet per 1000, the fall 1 foot per minute ; length
24 leagues; hreadth between Mareuil and Lizy 31 feet; thence
to the Bassin de la Villetle 11 feet. It cost 25,000,000 fr.

The Bassin de la Villette, beyond the Boulevard of that name,
hegun in 1806, and finished imr 1809, forms a parallelogram of
740 yards by 77, and receives the waters of the Canal de
I’Ourcq at the northern extremify. It supplies water to the
Aqueduc de Ccinture and the Canal St. Martin.

‘The Canal St. Martin is 3,467 yards by 7, and connects
the basin with the Gare de I’Arsenal, Place de la Bastille and
is now partly arched over. It cost 14,200,000 fr.

The Gare de I Arsenal, in part formed of the moat of the
Bastille, is 651 yards by 64. It can receive upwards of 80
barges, leaving the middle clear for a passage.

The Canal St. Denis begins near St. Denis, where the small
river Rouillon emplies itsclf into the Seine, and terminates at
the Canal de I’Oureq, 900 yards beyond the Bassin de la Vil-
lette. Tts length is 7,333 yards. It cost 8,000,000 frs.

AQUEDUCTS.—Aqueduc d’ Arcueil. The Romans erected an
aqueduct over a valley, south of Paris, for the conveyance of
water to the Palais des Thermes, from Rongis, at 4 leagues
distance. Part of this ancient construction, consisting of two
arches substantially built, still exists, near the modern aque-
duct at Arcueil, which was built after the designs of Des-
bresses, and finished in 1624. This magnificent” aqueduct
extends across the valley of Arcueil upon 25 arches, 72 feet in
height. Its total length, from Arcueil to the reservoir near
the Observatory, is 18,200 yards. The river genera]ly flows

(1) Since 4849 the works for bringing water to Paris and dis=
tributing it, have cost 80 millions of francs.
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through two of the central arches. It supplies 36,000 hogs-
heads daily, distributed to 16 fountains, besides those of the
Luxembourg, Garden of Plants, and scveral hospitals.
To see the interior apply to the keeper at Arcueil.

The Aqueduc de Ceinture extends from the western angle of
the Bassin dc la Villette as far as Monceaux, bounding "Paris on
the north. Its length is 10,300 yards. The first of its 5
branches supplies the Boulevard St. Martin, the Place Royale,
and the March¢ des Innocents; the 2d, the faubourgs Mont-
martre and Poissonnicre, with the Palais Royal; the 3d,
the Chaussée d’Antin; the 4th, the Champs Elysées, Tuileries,
Place de la Concorde, Invalides, and Ecole Militaire.

Aqueduc de Belleville.—This aqueduct was built under
Philip Augustus. The first reservoir is situated upon the
most elevated point of Belleville. At the Barricre de Menil-
montant ig another reservoir, whence the water is distributed
to the adjoining parts of Paris. It supplies 432 hogsheads.

Aqueduc de St. Gervais or de Romainville.—1t conducls
water into areservoir in the village of Pré St. Gervais, whence
it is conveyed to Paris by pipes. It existed in the time of St.
Louis. Supply, 648 hogsheads daily.

ARTESIAN WELLS.—Of these there are two, viz., that of
Grenelle (see p. 334) and that of Passy (see p. 191). Others
are now being bored at Montmartre, La Chapelle, and at the
top of the Butte aux Cailles, near the Gobelins.

FOUNTAINS.—The necessity of constructing numerous
fountains in Paris, is owing to the rocky soil on which it is
built, which renders springs extremely rare. (i) The pur-
chase of water is an ordinary article of domestic expense,
and the cily has new fountains or pipes opened almost every
day. There are atpresent 35 monumental and 88 plain foun-
tains, besides 2,053 bornes-fontaines, or water-plugs, which
are turned on daily, for 3 hours, to purify the streets, More-
over, the City distributes water to 393 state or muncipal . ;-
tablishments, and to 7388 private individuals. The total length
of water-pipes laid down is 312,700 metres, or 195 miles.

RESERVOIRS.—There are nine great reservoirs in Paris,
viz. at: 9, rue Racine; 111, rue Vaugirard; 16, rue dela

(1) In the 15th cenfury there were only 12 public fountains,
and under Francis I. not more than 16, supplying only 1 inch
of water, though the population amounted to 300,000 inhabi-
tants. Under Henry IV. and Louis XIIl. 14 new fountains were
made. Under Louis XV., when the population was 600,000,
the pumbs at the Pont Neuf and the Pont Notre Dame (now de-
molished) were the principal sources of supply, and furnished
from 60 to 100 inchcs daily. The Pompe & fex at Cha'ilot. anl
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Vieille Estrapade ; inrue Cassini, near the Observatory ; adjoin-
ing the Strasbourg railway-station, and in the newly-annexed
communes of Monceaux, Montmartre, Belleville, and Passy (1).

BRIDGES.—The bridges at Paris have little ascent, owing
to the elevation of the quays above the river. There are 25
bridges over the Seine, of which 2 are suspension bridges, 4
of jron and stone, 1 of wood, and the rest of stone. Their
names, with the date of their construction are marked on black
slabs at each end. For descriptions of them see the Walks.

QUAYS.—The banks of the Seine are skirted with spacious

uays, forming two lines of road. The most ancient, the Quai

es Augusting, dates from 1312, and the Quai de la Mégisserie,
from 1369. Under Louis XIII. and XIV. some progress was
made in the construction of quays in the Ile de la Cité, and Ile
St. Louis.” Napoleon I. extended and improved them con-
siderably. The banks of the Seine now display about 1t
miles of quays unequalled by any city in Europe. The longest
are the Quai d’Orsay, 3,123 metres, and the Quai de Valmy,
3,171 metres. They form large terraces, with macadamised
carriage-ways and foot-pavements, skirted with trees, lighted
with gas and furnished at intervals with benches, thus forming
most agreeable promenades. Abreuvoirs, or watering-places
for horses, are visible in many parts.

PORTS OR WHARFS.—The principal are the Port de la
Rapée, for wine and fire-wood ; aux Tuiles, for tiles, bricks,
slates, &c.; St. Nicolas, for merchandise from Rouen ; d’Or-
say, for wine, stone, &c. ; des Invalides and Austerlitz, for
fire-wood.—The wood is brought down the river either in
floats or barges ; the latter bring the best. Charcoal is sold

that at Gros Caillou aftcrwards supplied 320 additional inches.
The water that will pass through an inch conduit (un pouce
de fontainier) in 24 hours, is 19 cubic métres, or 19,000 lilres.
At present Paris daily receives 104,000 cubic metres of water
from the Canal de I’Ourcq; 40,800 from the Seine; 4,600 from
Arcueil ; 900 from the Artesian well of Grenelle, 6,200 from that
of Pagsy, and 300 from the Sources du Nord, which are springs on
the northern side of the Paris basin. The length of the main
pipes distributing this quantity is 70,000 metires ; the secondary
pipes form together a length of 242,000 metres. A new and im-
mense aqueduct will shortly bring water to Paris from the Somme
Soude and Dhuys in Champagne, yielding 40,000 cubic metres in
24 hours. The cost is estimated at 38 millions of francs.

(1) TheCity receives 5 fr. annually for the daily supply of one
hectolitre of water from the Canal de 1'Ourcq, and 10 fr. for that
supplied from the Seine, Arcueil, and the Artesian well of Gre-
nelle. The total sums received for this item amounted in 1862
to 2,094,320 fr. The quantily of water used daily is 15,400,000
gallons. Seine water is the best.

MAWADR e as o
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on board boats that lie off the Pont des Arts, lle de 1a Cité, Ile
St. Louis, and along the Canal de I’Oureq. (1)

STREETS AND HOUSES, ‘&c.—Since the annexation of
the suburban communes there are now in Paris 76 avenues;
92 boulevards; 49 chemins de ronde, forming the military
road parallel to the line of fortifications; 176 blind alleys ;
244 squares ; 47 quays; 1,898 streets; 230 passages, gal-
leries, or courts; 140 cités ; and 127 small roads, making
together a total of 2,922 public or private lines of communi-
cation. The number of houses is 90,000, and of shops
800,000. The total length of foot pavement, or trottoirs,
is at present 1,300 kilometres, or 812 miles. (2) The
proprietors of houscs are bound to scrape, paint, or white-
wash the fronts of their houses once at least every ten
years. No rubbish is allowed to be thrown into the streets ex-
cept at night or early in the morning; and every proprietor
is bound to sweep his half of the road, in front of his walls,
every morning, and in the summer to water it.

The stone used for paving the streets and squares is a com-
pact sandstone, found on the outskirts of the Paris Basin. The
footways are parlly made with the lavas and basalts of Vol-

(1) From ihe departments above Paris, aboul 12,000 hoats
arrive annually with fruit, hay, corn, flour, tiles, bricks, wine,
flax, paving-stones, &e¢.; besides about 5,000 floats of fimber,
fire-wood, and charcoal. Havre and Rouen send yearly about
600 boats with glass, cider, wine, brandy, salt, foreign corn, &ec.

(2) Streets were first paved under Philip Augustus. The fol-
lowing table shows the inerease of pavements since 1280.

Years. Length. Surface. Cost,

1280 35,000 mel. 178,000 8¢q. metl. 1 fr.per sq.m.
1638 160,000 848,000 I3

1700 270,000 1,672,000 5

1800 350,000 2,500,000 7

1820 380,000 2,755,000 8

1862 710,000 8,937,000 10

The following is the length of a few of the principal streets:
—rue de l'Universilé, 2,417 metres; Vaugirard, 2,143; St. Jo-
minique, 2,439; Boulevart de Sébastopol 3,000; Grenelle St.
Germain, 2,251 ; Rivoli, 3,146 ; Boulevard du Prince Eugéne,
2,800 métres. From the Arc de 'Etoile to the Place du Trone,
8,000 metres along the Boulevards. The sweeping the streels
of Paris costs the City 1,500,000 fr. a-year; the contractors
clear 500,000 fr. by the sale of the rubbish, which, after having
rotted in pits, iz sold at the rate of 3 and 5 fr. per cubic meatre,
and produces ahout 3,500,000 fr. ! The number of scavengers
in Paris I8 2500, divided into four legions, of three battalions
each, or 36 companies of four sections each. The cost to the
City for paving and sweeping the streets is about 9,820,000 fr. per
annum ; foot-pavements, %00,000 fr.; numbering houses and
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vig, in Auvergne, and partly with a mixture of asphaltum and
gravel, which, being poured in a hot fluid state on a level
plastered surface, hardens immediately, and will endure great
wear and tear. The cost of lava flagging is about 13 fr. per
square meétre; that of bitumen flagging is 8 fr. Wood pave-
ment has been tried in Paris, but without success. (1)

It was not till 1728 that the useful plan was adopted of placing
+he names of streets in a conspicuous situation ; and the names
then given to them remained unchangedtill 1789. At present
the quarter and number of the arrondissement are marked on
the same lava.slab which bears the name of the street in
white letters on a blue ground. Great regularity is observed
in the numbering of houses. In the streets parallel to the Seine
the numbers follow the course of the river; in those perpendi-
cular to it or nearly so, the lowest number begins at the ex-
tremity nearest the Seine. In either case the even numbers are
to the right, and the odd ones to the left of the visitor follow-
ing the course of the river, or turning away from it.

Before Louis XVI., Paris was lighted during only nine months
of the year, and then only in the absence of moonlight. That
monarch decreed its continuance during the whole year. Before
gas was introduced the city was lighted by lamps suspended
from ropes hung across the streets. (2) :

PRIVATE EDIFICES.—The vast improvements which
have been in progress for the last ten years have con-

names of streets, 80,000 fr. From 4830 to the present fime,
104 new streets-have been opened in Paris. The number of
houses demolished since 4852is 3,734 ; the new ones buill since
the same period amount {o 10,769.

(1) The cost of paving-stones is 470fr. per thousand, and
that of laying them down from 10 to 12 fr. per square métre.
The boulevards, quays, and some of the principal sireets, which
are macadamised, cost 500,000 fr. annually in repairs. The
watering of strcets coslts 114,000 fr. per annum.

(2) The lighting of Paris, in its present extent, is effected by
25,515 gas-burners. Oil-lamps are now confined {o the extreme
oulskirts of the capital. During 6 months, all the lamps are
lighted, and during the other ¢ months, a certain number for
part of the night. - The gas is furnished by a company chartered
for 50 years, commencing from 1856, which furnishes 30,000,000
cubic mefres of gas per ann. at the rate of 15¢. per cubic metre
to the Cily and Government, and of 30 c. te private persons.
The number of gas-burners in private establishments is 358,000.
No gas-works ave allowed in the interior of Paris. The Com-
pany pays 200,000 fr. a-year to the Cily for the space occupied
by the pipes. At the expiration of the charter, all the pipes and
accessories revert to the City on payment of a sum of 2,000,000fr.
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siderably reduced the number of old historical build-
ings for which Paris was so remavkable.  The oldest
parts of Paris, in the immediate neighbourhood of Notre
Dame, and on the banks of the Seinc facing the Ile dela
Cité, still contain many houses that belonged to the bourgeoisie
of the 13th and 14th centuries. The most remarkable of the
royal and noble mansions of the middle ages are the Hdlels de
Sens, and de Cluny. The Hotels de Lamoignon, de Sully,
and de Carnavalet, may be quoted as fine specimens of the
Italian taste which prevailed under Henry IV. Under
Louis XIV., the magnificence of the court, and the increased
extravagance of the nobility, led to the erection of many of
the finest amongst thie old hotels of the faubourg St. Germain.
The other residences of that quarter date from Louis XV., or
the early years of his unfortunate successor. A check was
given to all progress in architecture by the revolution of 1789,
till the accession of Napoleon 1., who contributed by his example
to the revival of the taste for clegant mansions. But the prin-
eipal improvements in building have been effected since 1830 ;
and in most of the edifices of this period the connoisseur will
meet with some tasteful application of the Italian or Gothic
styles. Theé new strects abound with instances of the kind.
PALACES. (1)—The kings of France changed the place of
their central residence at almost each of the grand distinctive
epochs of the national history. On the cessation of the Roman
sway in Gaul, the Palais des Thermes was in all probability
the residence of the chief magistrate of the country ; and about
the end of the 1oth century the Palais de Justice became the
seat of royalty. Of the former a Hall of Baths alone exists;
but the Sainte Chapelle may give an idea of the splendour
that prevailedin the construction of the second. From the time of
St. Louis, Vincennes, the Bastille, aud the Old Louvre became
successively the residences of the sovereign. The two latter
have entirely disappeared; the first, though greatly muti-
lated, still retains some of its feudal terrors as well as mag-
nificence. The present Louvre, and the colossal additions it
has received to unite it with the Tuileries, now form one of
the most altractive features of the metropolis. The central part
of the Tuileries comes next in order of antiquity; and then
the eastern part of the Long Gallery that connects it with the
Louvre, In historical associations the Palace of the Tuileries
rivals; while in scenes of slaughter and mournful recollection,
it surpasses, the great monument of the age of Louis XIV., Ver-
sailles. The Luxembourg is the best specimen extant of the
reign of Louis XIII. Next to this comes the Palais Royal,

(1) For descriptions of all these edifices, see Indea.
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which has replaced an edifice of nearly the same date as the
Luxembourg ; and the late Palais Bourbon, now appropriated
to theuse of the Legislative Body. Both edifices have a strong
claim upon the attention of the stranger, having been long the
respective residences of the families of Orleans and Condé.
The Palais de U'Elysée Napoléon must not be omitted, since
“he interest it derives from history is now enhanced by its
having been the official residence of the present Emperor,
when President of the Republic. If to this list be added the
chateaux near Paris, belonging to the State, such as Versailles,
Les Trianons, St. Germain, Compiégne, Fontainebleau,
Meudon, and St.aCloud, the magnificence of the ancient court
of France will in some degree be understood.
CHURCHES.—Of these St. GGermain des Prés is the most
valuable relic of the Romanesque style of architecture now re-
maining in Paris. Of the Early Pointed style Notre Dame is
the great type ; and, both from its size and numerous historical
recollections, the cathedral church takes the lead of all others.
There are hardly any specimens of the early Flamboyant style
remaining. St. Séverin and St. Germain I’ Auxerrois belong
to its middle period (1400—1500); St. Gervais and St. Merre,
with the still remaining tower of St. Jacques de la Boucherie,
to its latter period (1500—1550). The style of the Renaissance
des Arts has a most magnificent and perfect illustration in St¢.
Eustache, and a curious one in St. Etienne du Mont. Of the
churches built in the Italian or Palladian style, the earliest
is St. Paul et St. Louis, which is one of the most beautiful edi-
fices of the reign of Louis XIIl. The age of Louis XIV. has its
ecclesiastical architecture represented by the churches and
domes of the Val de Grdce and the Invalides, the latter being
of its kind the chef-d’ceuvre of that magnificent epoch. The
church of St. Sulpice is the only large specimen of the style of
sacred architecture under Louis XV. The Panthéon, or Church
of St. Genevieve, exemplifies theskill of French architects under
Louis XVI. This edifice by its associations points rather to the
times of the first republic. The era of the first empire pro-
duced the designs for the Madeleine ; the honour of finishing that
classic pile belongs to Louis Philippe. As to the accessory
decorations of churches, the splendid paintings of the dome of
the Invalides, the pictures and altars of Notre Dame and St.
Etienne du Mont, with the pictures of Ste. Marguerite and
St. Nicolas des Champs, are particularly worthy of notice.
The interiors of the Madeleine and St. V¥ncent e Paule are
the best specimens of the decorative taste of the present day.
The churches of St. Roch, St. Eustache, and Notre Dame
de Lorette are celebrated for their music, and on high festivals
3
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sre much crowded. Notre Bame, St. Sulpice, and St.
Etienne du Mont, are also much frequented. All the Catholic
places of worship in Paris are open from an early hour in
the morning till 5 or 6 in the evening ; on Sundays and festi-
vals, persons using chairs pay 2 sous for each.

PUBLIC BUILDINGS.—The Hotels of the Ministers are in
general splendid residences, and contain all the offices, &c.,
connected with the functions of cach ministerial depariment.
The Hotel of the Minister of Finance is the largest, and is situ-
ated the ncarest to the Tuileries ; the others”are in the Faubourg
St. Germain, or in the Place Vendome, and that of Foreign
Affairs on the Quay d’Orsay. Soldiers moust guard at each.

Of the residences of the Forelqgn Ministers, the largest and
most sumptuous is that of the British Ambassador.

The finest of the municipal buildings of Paris is the Hétel de
Ville, where the Prefect of the department resides, and the se-
veral offices dependent upon him are located, and councils held.
It is the centre of the municipal jurisdiction of the depart-
ment, while the Prefecture of Police is the centre for all mat-
ters relating to public order, health, and security.

The Palais de Justice unites within its precincts the supreme
civil jurisdiction of the State, the Cour de Cassation, the Cour
@’ Appel, the Tribunal de Premiére Instance, and the Tribunal
de golice Municipale. The new and richly decorated build-
ings of the Tribunal of Commerce stands opposite. Law
societies, such as the Temple, &c., in London, do not exist in
Paris; and, although many lawyers reside near the Palais
de Justice, there is no particular place of abode for them as a
professional body.

The Mint, or Hdtel des Monnaies, is a building of ele-
gant design ; the Record-office, or Hdtel des Archives, and
the Imperial Printing-office, were once princely residences.

Most of the principal bankers are established in thé vicinity
of the Exchange, or Bourse, the most remarkable of the com-
mercial buildings.

The edifices connected with literature and science are aostly
on the southern side of the river, situated within, or grouped
around, the ancient University. Such are the Observatory;
and, in the immediate vicinity of the Pantheon, the buildings
of the old University : the Sorbonne, and others now occupied
by the Ecole Polytechnique, and two of the Imperial Lyceums.
The corps d'élite of science and literature, united in the Institut,
holds its meetings on the spot where the ancient Collége des
Quatre Nations stood.  Of the scholastic establishments one
of the most prominent on many accounts is the Sorbonne.
The great establishment of the Jardin des Plantes lies to the
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east of the Pantheon, in a less frequented quarter of the town,
and boasts some of the completest museums of Natural History
in Europe. The chief literary establishment on the northern
side is the Bibliothéque Impériale, the richest collection of
books and manuscripts, perhaps, on the Continent. These
edifices, and the relics of the once powerful University of Paris,
with its 30 colleges, some of which are still traceable, are all
of high interest to the anli;uar .

The Arc de Triomphe de VEtoile, and the columns of the
Place Vendéme, the Bastille, and the Trone, are the most pro
minent and interesting of those monuments which are purely
ornamental.

The military tendencies of the French nation are peculiarly
conspicuous in the capital. The visitor cannot fail to be
struck with the vastness and solidity of the ForTiFicaTiONS
which encircle Paris. The idea of fortifying the city origi-
nated with Napoleon, but it was not carried out until 1841,
when 140,000,000 fr. were granted for the purpose. The en-
ceinte, consisting of 94 fronts of 355 metres, with a ditch of
the average depth of 6 metres, and a breadth of from 18 to 50
metres; has 65 entrances, viz., b1 gates, 10 passages for
railways, and 4 posterns. The walls average 12 metres to
the crest of the parapet. Seventeen casemaled detached forts,
presenting 93 fronts, defend the approaches (1), and are con-
nected by a series of strategical roads.

Within Paris, the most remarkable military cdifices are the
casernes, or barracks, most of which were erected in 1780
by Marshal Biron. The principal one, the Ecole Militaire,is
one of the most admired buildings of the reign of Louis XV.
Of those recently built, the most remarkable are the Caserne
Napoleon, behind the 1lotel-de-Ville, the Caserne du Prince
Eugéne, Boulevard St. Martin, and that of the Rue de la
Banque. The military hospital of the Val de Grdce is placed
in what was once the most richly-adorned convent of Paris ;
and the Hétel des Invalides, is a splendid and colossal pile of
building.

The charitable buildings of Paris are, on account of their
monastic origin, remarkable for their solidity and size. The

(1) They are :—Forts de Charenton, Nogent, Rosny, Noisy, Romain~-
ville, &’ Aubervilliers, de U'Est, Couronne du Nord, Forts de la Briche,
du Mont Valérien (the mostimposing of all), de Vanvres, d'Issy, Mont-
rouge, Bicétre, d’'Ivry ; Lunette de Stains ; Fort de Rouvray. Paris
and its forts are armed with 2,238 mortars, cannons, and how-
itzers ; 575 rampart guns, 200,000 muskets, 1,500 rocket-tubes,
2,700 gun carriages, calculated for a million of projectiles, in

all 9,129,000 kilos. ; 800,000 kilos. of lead, and 2,000,000 kilos.
of gunpowder.
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Hotel Dieu possesses no architectural beauty; the hospital of
the Salpéiriére is the most remarkable for its construction as
well as for its extent; the Hépital St. Louds is a picturesque
edifice of the time of Henry IV. Bicétre, though not within the
walls of the town, is yel essentially an institution of Paris.
These edifices are maintained, by public as well as private
funds, in a manner worthy of the nation to which they belong.

PLACES.—Every open space al the junction of streets, &c.,
of more than usual size, is termed a place. Some of them are
remarkable for their surrounding edifices, and a few for their
size. The principal are the Place de la Concorde, du Carrou-
sel, du Palais Royal, Venddme, des Victoires, Royale, &c.

SQUARES.—Paris now possesses eight squares laid out as
gardens, in the London style, but open to the public. They
cover in the aggregate an area of 8 acres. Chairs may be
hired there for 3 or 4 sous. The most remarkable are those
of St. Jucques de la Boucherie, the Temple, Ste. Clotilde, Place
Louvois, Place Montholon, and des Arts and Métiers.

THE BOULEVARDS.—About 1670, Paris ceased to be a
fortified city; the walls and towers were pulled down, and a
road made which took the name of Boulevard (bulwark), and
was planted with trees from the rue St. Antoine to the rue St.
Martin. A triumphal arch was erected on the site of the Porte
St. Denis, and the boulevard soon extended from the rue St.
Martin to the rue St. Honoré. The northern boulevards were
finished in 1704, those on the south in 1761.

The old boulevards, which, since the formation of those
skirting the new additions to Paris, are called Boulevards in-
térieurs,form two grand divisions, the Boulevard du Nord and
the Boulevard du Midi. The former is 5,067 metresin length,
and is subdivided into 12 parls, each distinguished by a par-
ticular name. (See Map.) The Bpulevard du Midi is 16,100
metres in length, and is divided into 7 parts. They are planted
with four rows of trees, forming a carriage-road with a double
walk on each side. (1) The Boulevard extérieur, finished in
1814, is also planted with trees, and divided intp several parts
named after the Marshals of the Empire. The northern boule-
vards are now the pride of Paris. Ouce its bulicark, they
have become its ornament. Their great extent, the dazzling
beauty, the luxury of the shops, the restaurants, the cafés, onor
near them ; the crowds of well-dressed persons who frequent

(1) The item of planting costs the City of Paris 40,000 fr. a-year.
The number of trees in the public gardens, walks, streets, &e., is
148,800. An openwork cast-iron plate encircles the foot of each
tree on the bitumen walks, to prevent the ground from being
trodden down.
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them; the glancing of lights among the trees; the sounds of
music; the incessant roll of carriages, all this forms a medley
of sights and sounds anything but unpleasing to the visitor who
walks the boulevards for the first time on a fine evening. The
Boulevard des ltaliens is the most fashionable part, and, in
fine weather, is densely crowded with ladies and gentlemen
seated on chairs hired for 2 or 3 sous cach. To the northern
boulevards must now be added the magnificent Boulevard de
Sébastopol, and others still under construction. Tho people
prefer the Boulevard du Temple, where puppet-shows, pan-
fomimes, rope-dancing, &c., are always rcady Lo amuse them;
and on Sunday ecvenings this spot resembles a fair. The
boulevards to the south being almost deserted, offer a striking
contrast to this lively picture.

PASSAGES.—These are a grand resort of all the loungers of
the town. The most remarkable are : the Passages des Pano-
ramas, Jouffroy, Verdeau, Vivienne, Colbert, Choiseul, De-
lorme, du Saumon, Véro-Dodat, des Princes, &c.

BAZAARS.—There are six of these of some note existing in
Paris. The best are the Bazars Montmartre and Jouffroy.

MARKETS, &c,—The first market-house in Paris was situ-
ated in the Cité, near the street still called rue du Marché Palu.
A market, called Marché de I’Apport, was afterwards beld near
the extremity of the rue St. Denis, till Louis VI. transferred it
to a piece of ground near the cemetery des Innocentz named
Champeaux, or Petit Champs. Philip Augustus established
two other markets near the same spot, and they took the name
of halles. Each class of dealers and every neighbouring town
had its particular halle. Francis I. caused all the halles to be
rebuilt, with pillars of stone opening into dark galleries. (1.) -
At present there are markets in"every part of the city ; the
most elegant being the Halles Centrales (see p. 243).—For the
principal markets, sec Index, under Marché and Halle. (1)
The dealers in the markel-places amount to nearly 9,000. (2)

BATHS, &c.— These were very common in the time of the
Romaus, as well as in the middle ages, when they were called
étuves ; their proprietors, the barbiers-étuvistes, forming a
corporate body. Under Louis XIII. and Louis XIV. they be-

(1) ‘A halle signifies a place wheregoods of any kind are sold
wholesale ; a marché is where commodities are purchased retail.
There are at present 22 of the former, and 24 of the latter,

(2) The kifchen gardens in the environs of Paris produce
50,000,¢00 fr. annually, and employ upwards of 50,000 persons.
There are also about 200 flower-gardensin and about Paris ; and
the sale of flowers, especially on great ball days, or similar occa-
sions, amounts to hetween 30,000 fr. and 30,000 fr. dally.
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came places of debauchery. There are now 200 bathing-estab-
lishments in Paris, which afford every kind of accommodation
at a low charge, and furnish on an average 2,500,000 baths
g‘er annum to the public, including mineral and vapour baths.

hey are formed of ranges of small rooms. The bains am-
bulants, or portable baths, are a great accommodation to the
public. There are also cheap hygienic baths for workmen,
under the direction of a society, which last year gave them
and their children upwards of 40,000 baths. Paris also con-
tains 174 Lavoirs, or public wash-houses, encouraged by the
City by a reduction of the water-rates in their favour. Ecoles de
Natation, or swimming-schools for hoth sexes, and baths of
every kind, are to be found during summer in floating esta-
blishments on the Seine, covered in, and fitted up with gal-
leries, bathing-rooms, plunging-bridges, &c. Net or wood-
work is placed at the boltom, which can be raised to the
surface on occasion. Men are always in attendance to give
instructions in swimming, and ropes and poles are in readi-
ness to prevent accidents. The price generally is 12 sous,
but there are some for the lower order of people, at 4 sous.

CEMETERIES.—Before the seventh century, the Parisians
buried their dead in the Roman fashion, without the city walls,
along the sides of the high roads. Interments were subsequently
allowed in churches and the contiguous ground, and, the city
increasing, the cemeteries became gradually inclosed within the
walls. At length, in 1790, the National Assembly prohibited
interments within churches and towns. During the reign of
Terror, men were buried without any ceremony or memorial
to mark the spot where thc¥ lay. Since 1811, the cemeteries
have been constituted nearly as they are at present.

Eight cemeteries now lic within Paris, in consequence of its
enlargement. Those which are most worthy of a visit
on account of the picturesque style in which they are laid
out, and the elegant monuments they contain, are “hose of
Pere Lachaise, Montmartre, and Mont Parnasse. On
Sundays and on All Souls’ Day, whole families of the
Parisians visit the graves of their relatives, and the ceme-
teries are crowded. Any person or company may be entrusted
with the erection and repair of the tombs, &c. The interments
take place with or without religious ceremonies, as the friends
of the deceased please. All requisite information may be had
at each of the cemeteries. (1) Chaplains are attached to the
-cemeteries for gratuitous service at the burials of the poor.

(1) There were formerly three kinds of graves in the cemete~
ries, namely : common graves (fosses ¢ e8), graves ded
for a cerlain period, and perpetual graves. The latter are now
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ABATTOIRS (SLAUGHTER-HOUSES).—To remove the
nuisances arising from the driving of cattle through the
streets, Napoleon in 1809 decreed the construction of five
public abattoirs # the extremities of the city, and the sup-
pression of the slaughter-houses in the central parts of Paris,
Of these establishments there only remain four at present, to
be pulled down as soon as the great new abattoir at La
Villette is completed (see p. 450). The still remaining
ones are those of Montmartre, Popincourt, Villejuif, and
Grenelle.  The abattoirs being finished in 1818, at an ex-
pense of 16,518,000 fr., they were opencd by order of the
police, and private slaughter-houses prohibited. Houses for
melting the tallow and drying the skins are attached to each
of these establishments, ‘and are placed at the disposal of
persons called fondeurs (melters), who must not be tallow-
chandlers. Strangers should visit one of these establishments
(see p. 276) (1). It is also in contemplation to establish a
catlle-market at La Villette, on the bank of the canal opposite
the new abattoir, and to suppress those of Sceaux and Poissy.

only granted on condition of parties giving up cerfain rights as
to space, allowed them by the Jaw as it slands. The ground is
usually hired for 5 vears or more, subject (o renewal. Up to
seven years of age 1 métre is sufticient for a grave; above that
2 méfres musl be purchased. Two bodies cannot be buried in
the same ground except the extent be 2 metres, and that there
be a vault constructed in it. 1n the fosses communes, 4% feet
deep, the poor are graluitously buried, in coffins placed close
fo but not upon each other. They are re-opened at the end
of 5 years. The monopoly of burials is granted to a company
under the litle of Entreprise des Pompes Funébres, subject 1o a
cerfain tariff. Funerals are distinguished. into 9 classes; the
lowest costing 18 fr. 75 c., including the religious ceremonies,
and the 1st elass 7181 franes. This last is bhut a rough esti-
male, for no exact maximum can be set down, as lhere are no
lcgal limits to funeral pomp. The chief office of 1he Enfreprise
des Pompes Funébres is at 40, Rue Alibert. There are besides
bhranches at all the Mairies, where inquiries respecting
forms, expenses, &c., will be answered. In cases of English
persons dying in Paris, applicationshould be made to the clerk of
any of the places of English worship, who will generally under-
take the management of the funeral. Government receives
from the Pompes Funébres 83% per cent. on the produce of
funeral ornaments, and 15 per cent. on articles furnished.

(1) The duty upon the animals slaughtered is included in
the octroi-duty paid on entering the abattoirs, and amounts to
twelve 1~3 centimes per kilogr. of meat. Since April 1858 the
butchers’ trade has heen thrown open. The country buichers
bring meat  to the markets of Paris on payment of a duty of
eleven 1-5 ¢, per kil. The cattle bought at Poissy or Sceaux ie
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COMMON SEWERS, &c.—The Seine and the Biévre in the
southern part of Paris, and the Seine and the rivulet of Menil-
montant in the northern part, were formerly the only recep-
tacles for rain-water, &c. The ditches round the city-walls
served as sewers. Vaulted sewers were first begun in 1671. (1)

The gutters, formerly in the middle of the streets, are now
mostly placed by the side of the foot-pavements. Closely
connected with the drainage of the town, is the system adopted
for removing the night-soil from the houses (see p. 451.)

CBALPTRR 1L,

SOCIAL STATISTICS.

POPULATION.—The following table shows the progressive
increase of the population of Paris within its new limits :—

Years, - Iropulation, Years. Population:
1202 215,861 1802 (war) 672,000
1553 260,000 1817 (peace) 713,000
17118 509,000 1856 1,174,346
1784 660,000 1861 (extension) 1,696,000

In 1862 the whole department of the Seine contained
1,953,660 souls, exclusive of sirangers. The number of

obliged to follow a fixed route fo Paris. Atthese cattle'markets
18 factors are appointed for receiving consigninents of catlle,
and selling them either by private conlract or by aunction, ac~
cording to order. They deposit 50,000 fr. caution money, and
receive one per cent. on their sales. A special factor is appointed
for the sale of pork. The fees fo the drivers are 10 c. per sheep,
70 ¢. per ox, and 1 {r. per call. The driver is responsible for the
death of the animals under his care. The slaughter-men atthe
abattoirs receive from 1 fr. to 1 fr. 50 ¢. for each animal, besides
the entrails, brains, and blood.

(1) The present systemn of sewers is far superior to any as yet
contrived. It consists of six main galleries, called collectors, 45
secondary ones opening into the former, and themselves fed by
a vast number of smaller ones. The right bank has theee of
these colleetors, which converge to a general collector under the
Rue Royale. The three collectors of the left bank also commu-
nicate with the latter by means of a syphon sunk under the bed
of the Seine ahove the Pont de la Concorde. The general col-
lector, which is 5 metres in height by 5.60 in breadth, and five
kilomefres and a half in length, carries all the sewage if receives
to a point below Asnitres. It is cleansed by four well-sized
boats provided with drop-planks in front, whereby such a head
of water is obtained as fo drive all the sediment, stones in-
cluded, to a distance of 100 metres. It takes 16 days {o cleanse
the whole extent. The aggregate length of allthe sewers already
built or under construction, is 460,000 metres.
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births in the capital for 1862 (last return) was 52,312 ; stillc
born children, 4,041 ; deaths, 42,185 ; marriages, 15,916.
Of the births, 26,505 were males, and 25,807 females ; 6,522
took place in hospitals, and 14,591 were illegitimate, of
which 3,506 were recognised by their parents. Of the deaths,
21,231 were males, and 20,954 females ; 29,950 died at their
homes, 11,142 in civil hospilals, 578 in military hospitals,
134 in prisons, 307 were deposited at the Morgue, and 2 exe-
cuted. In the department of the Seine the number of births
in the year 1860 was 58,042 ; deaths, 47,022 ; marriages,
17,459. (1)

Of the population of Paris nearly one-half are working people.
There are about 80,000 servants, and 100,000 paupers. Nearly
21,000 patients are always in the hospitals, and 4 times that
number pass through them in the course of the year. Found-
lings and old and infirm persons, are about 20,000 in all since
the annexation. The population of the prisons is about
5,000. (2)

The curious fact has been remarked that families constantly
residing in Paris soon become extinct. The effects of this mor-
tality have been observed to be more active upon males
than females.

REVENUE, TAXES, &c.—Paris, which before 1860, only

(1) The total population of France in 1801 was 27,349,000; in
1820it was 30,451,187 ; in 1831, 32,560,934 ; in 1844, 34,230,178;
in 1845, 35,401,761 ; in 1854, 35,783,059 ;in 1856, 36,039,364 ; and
in 1862, 37,382,225, The last account (1861) is as follows:

Legitimate. . . {g?!!: :2;:7?2} 887,578

Births . . .. {lllegitimate . {g“’r"li A XY
Total (G5 10 Loras) 956,875

Marriages . . . . .. ... et e e e e e s e .. 288,038
Deaths . . - . {Nenvies T 0101010 danasi) Tenes
R DR ror++4 BELLET

The annual average of suicides in France is 4,500, being 1 in
8,31t of the adult population. Suicides of males are to those of
femalesas 4 to 1. The mean duration of life in France is at pre-
seut 57.7 years; before 1719 it was but 28-75, showing an in-
crease of nearly 9 years in the average life of man in this coun-
try. See the ‘‘ Annuaire du Bureau des Longitudes.”

(2) The last census (1864) showed that there were in France
10,210,756 bachelors,and 9,487,541 spinsters; 928,724 widowers,
and 1,798,068 widows; and about 7,000,000 married couples.



42 GENERAL INFORMATION.

comprised the old city together with its faubourgs or suburbs,
has now absorbed the greater part of the 37 communes which
constituted its banlicue, or precincts and environs, which lie
within the fortifications. The receipts of Paris amounted in 1863
o 198,468,697 fr., and the expenditure to 192,342,178 fr (1).
The City contributes about 18,500,000 fr. towards the ex-
penses of the State, and nearly 5 millions of franes towards
those of the department of the Seine.  The contribution
fonciére, inobiliére, and des portes et fenélres (house, fur-
niture and window-taxes), produce about 20 millions of francs
annually ; the contribution des patentes (trade licenses), nearly
12 14 millions of francs.

Since 1851, the contribution personnelle has been .regu-
laled as follows: persons renting lodgings of less than
250 fr. a-year pay none, unless pateniés, or licensed to trade,
in which casc they pay 3 per cent on therent; from that sum
to 499 fr., 3 per cent. on the amount of the rent; 500 to
999 fr., b per cent. ; 1000 to 1499 fr., 7 per cent. ; and 1500
and upwards, 9 per cent. on the rent. The debt of the city
of Paris in 1862 amounted to 147,375,112 fr.

TARIFF OF THE O¢TROI OR ENTRANCE DuTiEs. —Per hecto-
litre : Wine in wood, 18 fr. ; do. in bottles, 25 fr.; brandy
and spirits, liqueurs, fruit in brandy, and scented spirits,
114 fr. h0c. ; perry and cider, 7 fr. 80¢. ; vinegar, verjuice,
&e¢., 10 fr.: beer brought to Paris, 3 fr. 80 c.; do. brewed
in Paris, 2 fr. 85 c.; (1) olive oil, 38 fr. ; other oils, 21 fr. ;
charcoal, 50c.—Per 100 kilogrammes : butcher’s meat
brought into Paris, 10 fr. 55 ¢. (2); ditlo from the abattoirs,
8 {r. 85 ¢. (3) ; sausages, hams, &c., 20{r. 70 ¢. ; coals, 60¢. ;

(1) Among the lfems of recelpls, in this year’s budgef, we find :
—Qctroi Duties, 78,000,000 fr.; Markel dues, 6,859,609 fr.; Public
Weights and Measures, 699,8051r.; Supply of Water, 2,094,520
fr.; Slaughter-houses, 2,447,335 fr.; Renls of Standings on Publie
Ways, 2,294,050 fr.; Dues on Burials, 278,565 fr.: Grants of Land
in Cemeleries, 1,422,585 fr.; Contributions of theState and others
for paving, lighting, ete., 7,555,767 fr.; Enirance to the Bourse
526,616 fr.; Dog-tax, 393,000 fr. Nighti-soil, 482,110 fr.

Among the items of expenditure were :(—Interest of Debl and
Sinhing Fund of the City, 8,077,462 fr.; Expenses of Collection,
Salaries, &c., 5,991,584 fr.; Primary Instruction, 2,219,132 fr.;
Publie Worship, 439,940 fr.; Nalional Guard and Military Service,
2,887,979 fr.; Repairs of Public Buildings, 1,223,077 fr.; Hospices
and Charitable Establishments, $,719,735 fr.; Promenades
and Works of Arl, 1,953,012 fr.; Establishments of Public
Instruction, 133,440 fr.; Public Festivals, 820.690 fr.; Ex-
penses of the Prefecture of Police, 12,181,985 fr.; New Public
Works, 26,100,561f. ¢ Lighting of streets, 3,089,600 fr.
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oats, 1 fr. 25 ¢.—Per stére: firewood, 2 fr. 50 c.—Per hun-
dred trusses of 5 kilog. each : dry hay, 5 fr. ; straw, 2 fr.

Every driver of articles subject to duly, is hound to make
declaration thereof at the burcau before he enters Paris ; to
show his way-hill to the officers, and pay the duties, upon
pain of a fine equal to the value of the articles in question.
Any article introdueed without being declared, or upon a false
declaration, is liable to be seized. The officers cannot use
the probing-iron in their examination of boxes, packages, &c.,
declared to contain goods that may suffer damage. No in-
dividual is exempt at the gate in his carriage, from inspection
or the duties. There are also octroi offices at the abattoirs for
cattle, at the railway-stations, and on the ports. The navi-
gation of the Seine, annually produces a net income of
1,500,000 fr. (4)

TRADE.—TFrom an official enquiry set on foot by the
Chamber of Commerce of Paris, it appears that the number of
trades in this city is 325, carried on by 65,000 masters,
205,000 workmen, and 112,800 women, besides 16,600 boys
and 7,700 girls. Men’s salaries vary from 3 to 6 fr. gene-
rally per day, only 8 per cent recciving more, and 14 per
cent earning under 3 fr. Women’s salaries average from €0
centimes to 3 {r. per day. Apprentices generally have board
and lodging, sometimes their washing, and in a few cases a
trifling salary. The chief trades are : those relating to dress,
which produce annually about 241 millions of francs ; those
of food and nonrishment, 227 millions ; architectural trades,

(1) Beer was drunk for the first time in Paris in 1428.

(2) In 1793, the oetroi duty on oxen was 15 fr. a-head 5 cows,
2 {r. 50 c.; calves, 3 fr.; sheep, 50 c. In 1815 these duties had
risen to 23 fr. 10 ¢., 13 fr. 20 ¢., 5 fr. 56 ., and 1 fr. 32 c.

(3) The differenceis owing to the droits d’abattage, ov tax for kill-
ing in the slaughter-houses of Paris, which is nol quite 2 cent.
per kilog. i

(4) The produee of the Indirect taxes for all France was :

n 1849 | 741,713,000 €r. ¢ 184 H0.000(1. ) 4850 1 4,09%,64%,000(r,
3850 | 738292000 ,, 185 001, 4850 | 073,712,000 ,,
185 | 737 843,000 ,, | 186 o] 4851 | 4000.566,000 |,
1852 | 804,335,000 |, | 4857 o | 4862 | 1,490,687.000. .,
1853 | 846,804,000 ., | 1858 | 1,090.728000) . | 1803 | 1,24%,377,000 ,,

Among the items of 1862 we find: Registration and Mortgage
dues, 331,438,000 fr.; Stamps, 73,072,000 fr.; Cusloms, Naviga-
tion, &e., 77,158,000 fr.; Salt-duly, 22,548,000 fr.; Foreign su-
gars, 48,312,000 fr.; French Colonial do., 45,761,000 {r.; Home-
grown ditto, 57,933,000 fr.; Potable liquors, 211,399,000 fr.;
Letters, and Duly on sending money, 68,162,000 {r.; Tobacco
Monopoly, 226,478,000 francs. The collection of taxes for all
France costs 151 millions of francs.
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145 millions ; furniture of every kind, 137 millions ; jewellery,
90 millions ; bronze trades, 20 millions ; minor trades, 20
millions ; hats, 16 millions, and gloves, 14 millions (1).

Of the manufactures existing in Paris, or its vicinity,
three belong to the government, viz., one, the Gobelins, for
tapestry and carpets ; onc for snufl' and tobacco ; and the third
for porcelain. The first of these does not sell its produce ; but
the sccond furnishes nearly a fifth of the snuff and tobacco
consumed in the country, the sale of which amounts to
140,000,000 fr. The third, at Sevres, is rather a laboratory
for useful experiments in the manufacture of porcelain ; its
sales, though very great, barely cover the expenses.

There are about 1,000 manufactories of haberdashery, and
141 of paper-hangings; the shawl trade counts 752 looms ; the
number of maisons de modes is 879 ; of ready-made clothes
shops, 225 ; slay-makers, 653 ; hatlers, 644 ; cabinet-makers,
1,915 ; carvers, 222 ; upholsterers, 519 ; house painters,
1,800 ; looking-glasses, 120 ; bronze and gilt work, 450.

The trade of Paris is distributed among the different arron-
dissements as follows :—The 1st, 8th, 16th, and 17th produce
together 102 millions of francs ; the 2d, 9th, 18th, and 19th,
177 milliens ; the 3d, 1oth, tith, 12th, and 20th employ
201,000 workmen and produce 663 millions. These arron-
dissements are the great quarters for furniture, paper-hangings
and breweries. The 4th arrondissemenl employs 62,000
workmen and produces 225 millions. The 5th and 13th em-
ploy 85,000 workmen and produce 155 millions. These are
the great rendezvous for tanners, brewers, and chiffonniers.
The -6th and 14th employ 19,000 workmen and produce 63
millions ; and the 7th and 15th, 10,000 workmen, 68
millions. We have here grouped the 20 arrondissements as
radiating from the Tuileries as a centre. The rag-collectors,
or chiffonniers, realize from 1 fr. 50c. to 21r.a day. Young
women in shops receive their food, washing, and lodging,
and are paid from 300 to 700 fr. per annum. The ordinary
expense of a journeyman is from 30 to 40 sous daily for

(1) The average yearly amount, calculated on the last sixteen
years, of the exports from Paris, is 430,000,000 fr. The number
of tradesmen’s licences annually issued in Paris is upwards of
65,000, producing 44 millions a-year. The capital invested in
all France in trades and manufactures now amounis {o 100,000
millions of francs, instead of 30,000 millions in 1830. France
has 150,000 large trade cstablishments, employing 1,500,000
operatives, in addition to 5,000,000 employed in minor trades,
and 300,000 steam horse-power, represeniing the labour of
40,000,000 of men,
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food, and from 7 to 10 fr. per month for lodging. (1) A great
part of the Paris workmen do no work on Monday or on Sun-
day afternoon. Their condition has been observed to improve
nearly in proportion as Savings’ Banks have increased. (See
these institutions at p. 130.)

CONSUMPTION .—The following is an average statement of
the consumption of Paris :—

Wine, 2,470,000 hectolitres (2); spirils, 106,000 h.; cider,’
80,000 h.; fine oil, 9,000 h.; vinegar, 36,000 h.; beer, 370,000 h.;
milk, 1,200,000 h.; syrups, 7,000 h.; orange~flower water,
4,000 h.; butchers’ meat, 106,000,000 kilogrammes; pork,
16,000,000 k.; hams, sausages, 1,800,000 k.; pies, prepared meats,
102,000 K.; cheese, 3,000,000 k.; bread, 300,000,000 k.; sea~fish,
11,000,000fr.; 0ysters, 2,500,000fr.; fresh-water fish,1,500,000fr. ;
pouliry and game, 21,000,000 fr.; bulter, 25,000,000 fr.; eggs.
12,000,000 fr.; grapes, 4,200,000 k.; pastry, 5,000,000 k.; su-
@ar, 7,500,000 k. ; jams, 920,000k.; ices, custards, 530,000 k.;
honey, 240,000 k. ; coffec, 3,000,000 k. ; chocolate, 4,000,000k.;
common fruit, 240,000,000 k.; melons, 1,000,000 fr.; oranges,
lemons, 2,000,000 k.; dried fruit, 4,000,000 k.; pine apples,
10.%00 k. ; greens, 450,000 000 k, ; pulse, 8,600,000 k.; truffles,
26,000 k.; salt, 11,000,000 k.; imustard, 270,000 Kk.; spices,
450,000 k.; mushrooms, 2,525,000 small baskets; chesnuts,
3,000 heet.;walnuts, 4,500 sacs ; hay, 18,000,000 bundles; straw,
26,000,000 bundles ; oats, 150,000,000Kk. ; ice, 8,500,000k, (3)

The ordinary consumption of Paris in grain and flour, sold
at the Halle au B¢, is estimated at 2,000 sacks, each weighing
159 kilogrammes, daily. The price of bread, no longer offi-
cially regulated by the authorities, varies with the price of flour,
but may be averaged at 3 sous a-pound for best quality. (4) In

(1) A sum of 3,000,000 fr., resulting from the confiscalion of
the Orleans property, had been sinee 1853 placed at the disposal
of the Minister of the Interior, in order to enier into arrange-
ments with capitalists for building houses for the working classes.
But this plan not succceding, the Emperor, in 1856, bought
18,000 square metres of ground on the Boulevard Mazas, where
such houses for persons of limited income have now been built.
Since 1862 Count de Madre has buill 86 houses hehind the
Hopital 81, Louis, in the rue St. Maur and the adjoining ground.
Each apartment, lel at 210 fr. a-year, consists of {two rooms and
a kitchen. There is no distraining for rent, nor is any claimed
beforehand, the insolvent lodger being only exposed to ejection,

(2) The vineyards of France are eslimated at 800,000 acres,
producing 40 millions of hectolitres of wine (value 500 millions
of fr.), which pay an octroi-duty of 0 millions of fr., besides
120 millions of francs to the State.

(3) The cost of the consumption of Paris is estimated at
500,000,000 fr.

(#) Since 1863, the baking trade has been thrown open, but
this is only a provisional measure adopted by way of experiment.
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the winter of 1846-1847 it was as dear as 6 sous. (i)
The greatest number of .oxen for the Paris markets are
brought from the departments of Calvados, Maine-et-Loire,
Eure, Manche, Orne, Vendée, and llaute-Vienne ; their price -
varies from 300 to 600 fr. a-hcad. Cows come from the
districts of Maine, Normandy, Beauce, and Brie ; their value is
from 190 to 450 fr. Calves come from Auvergne and Nor-
mandy, but are bought up by the dealers of Pontoise, and
there fattened for the capital ; their average value is from 75
to 120 fr. Sheep are sent in the greatest numbers from the
Seine-ct-Oise, Indre, Marne, Orne, and Germany ; they sell from
25 to 30 fr. each. The capital employed in the purchase of
cattle for Paris last year was upwards of 47,000,000 fr. (2)

The annual sale of tobacco in Paris is estimated at 1,000,000
kilogrammes ; hard wood (boés dur), about 500,000 steres ;
white wood (bois blanc), 200,000 sleres ; charcoal, 3,500,000
hectolitres ; and coal, 430,000,000 hectolitres.

CRAPTBR 112,
HISTORICAL NOTICE OF PARIS.

THE origin of Paris and of its founders is involved in great
obscurity. A wandering tribe obtained permission of the Se-
nones, at a remole period, to settle upon the banks of the
Seine. They built huts upon the island now called la Cité,
which served as a natural fortress to prolect their property
from the neighbouring tribes.  To their stronghold they gave
the name of Lutetia (3), and to themselves that of Parisii. (4)

Upon the conquest of Gaul by Julius Ceesar, he found the

(1) According to an official statistical return, the prices of
bread and meal during the last 150 years (from 1709 to 1859)
have been as follows : — Bread : 1700 to 1765 {he average price
of the pound loaf was 1 sou 6 den.; 1763 {0 1812, 2 80 .8;
1812 10 1846, 3 sous; and from 1846 lo 1853, 4 sous.—Meat ;
1700 10 1773 the average price of one pound was 5 sous;
1763, L0 1812, 9 sous; from 1812 10 1846, 11 sous; from 1845 to
1838, 18 sous. The average yearly produclion of corn in all
France is 8,046,000,000 kil.; consumption: 7,900,000,000 kilos.

(2) By order of the Minister of the Interior, a book, called
Stud-book Frangais, for the rezistration of the short-horned or
Durham race of caftle, is published regularly.

(8) Lutetia, from loutou-lesi, dwelling of the waters. Sequana,
Seine, from séach, devious, and an, water, river; from avainn,

(4) Parisii—probably from the Celtic bar or par, a frontier.
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Parisii one of the 64 tribes of the Gallic confederation, whose
chief town was Lutetia. Two bridges established communi-
cations with the opposite banks of the Scine, which were
covered with extensive marshes or gloomy forests, and the in-
habitants, who were remarkably fieree, supported themselves
chiefly by hunting and fishing. Under the dominion of the
Romans, this tribe remained in the same state of insignificance
as beforc; their progress in civilisation was slow, and even
wie worship of the Roman gods with difficulty superseded the
human sacrifices of the Druids. Soine antiquarian remains
dug up from bencath the choir of the Cathedral of Notre
Dame, and which are now deposited in the remaining
vault of the Palais des Thermes, lead to the conclusion that
temples were erected there to Jupiter and Mercury. In
the year 54 B. C., Casar convoked at Lutetia an assembly of
the nations of Gaul. In the general rebellion of the Gallic na-
tions, in the following year, Lutetia was burnt by the Gauls to
prevent its falling into the-hands of the Romans; but it sub-
sequently came into their power with the rest of Gaul,
The Roman laws and a municipal government were gradually
introduced, and,the city was called Lutetia Parisiorum.
During the next three centuries the place is hardly noticed.
The emperor Julian, between A.D. 358 and A.D. 360, remodelled
the government of Gaul, gave stability to the Roman laws, and
equalized the privileges of the various towns. Lutetia changed
its name to Parisii, obtained political franchises, and the dig-
nity of a city. The trade of Paris was in the hands of a trad-
ing company, called Naute Parisiaci, which ecxisted long
after the fall of the Romans. For 500 years of Roman do-
mination, Paris was the residence of a prefect. A palace
was erecled in the Cité for municipal purposes, and another on
the south bank of the Seine, remains of which may still be
seen. An arena was formed upon the declivity of the hill of
St. Victor, and a cemetery near where the Lycée St. Louis now
stands ; an aqueducl was constructed from Chaillot, remains
of which were discovered in the last century in the Place de la
Concorde and the DPalais Royal; and a second aqueduct, to
convey the waters of Arcueil to the Palais des Thermes. Con-
stantine and Constantius visited the capital of the Gauls; Ju-
lian passed three winters in it; Valentinian issued several
laws here, which are published in his code; and Gratian, his
son, lost a battle under its walls, which cost him the empire.
According to a legend of the monks of St. Denis, the gospel
was first preached at Paris, about the year 250, by St. Denis
the Areopagite, who suffered martyrdom at Montmartre. As
early as the reign of Valentinian I. a chapel dedicated to
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St. Stephen was erected on the srot where Jupiter was wor«
shipped, and where the cathedral of Notre Dame now stands.
In 406, Gaul suffered greatly from the incursions of hordes
of barbarians from the north. In 445, the Sicambri, of the
league of the Franks, crossing the Rhine, made themselves
masters of the citics situated on its banks, and, marching thence
to Paris, stormed it. The Roman government, however, still
lingered on in Gaul, in the last stage of existence, when Chil-
deric, king of Tournay, having died in 481, his son Clodovech,
or Clovis, in 486 marched against the Roman general Siagrius,
whom he routed ; and, extending his conquests by degrees, he
made himself master of Paris, in 494 or 496. Here he mar-
ried Clotilde, embraced Christianity, and built a church to St.
Peter and St. Paul, but which shortly after was dedicated to
Ste. Genevieve, who died in his reign. At this period the island
was surrounded by walls with gates and towers. Childebert
built the abbey of St. Germain des Prés and church of St.
Germain I’Auxerrois. The walls built by Clovis existed until
Louis VI., in order to defend himsclf from his feudal lords,
protected the faubourgs on the north and south by a wall.
Under the kings of the Merovingian dynasty, which lasted
256 years, the arts, laws, and literature, introduced by the
Romans into Gaul, fell into decay. Few of the princes of the
second or Carlovingian dynasty resided at Paris. Charlemagne
afforded powerful protection to letters and the sciences, and did
more for the establishment of the monarchical authority than
any of his predecessors, but, under his feeble successors, Paris
became the private patrimony of hereditary counts. In 845
the Normans, attracted by the wealth of the churches and con-
vents, made a descent upon Paris; they sacked and burned it
in 857, and again besieged it in 885. After appealing in vain
to Charles le Chauve for succour, the Parisians, by their own
efforts, seconded by the valour of Count Eudes, or Odo, com-
pelled the enemy, at the end of two years, to raise the siege.
Charles was then deposed, and the crown given to Eues, in
whose family it became hereditary in the person of Hugues Ca-
pet, elected king in 987. In the first year of his reign he be-
gan the palace which now bears the name of Palais de Justice.
The inhabitants commenced building in all directions; and so
great was the increasc of the city that it was divided into four
quarters, whence the term quartier, to express a division of
Paris. At that period, however, the city was not very large,
as ten men sufficed to collect the taxes. The duties of the
narthern gate, situated at the intersection of the rue St. Mar-
tin with the new rue de Rivoli, produced, under Louis le Gros,
only 12 fr a-year (600 fr. present money). This monarch re-
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built the Louvre, which existed as early as ‘the time of Dago-
bert. Bishop Maurice de Sully began thé foundations of Notre
Dame, the first stone of which was laid in 1163, by Po
Alexander III.; and the Templars erected a palace upon the
spot where the Marché du Temple is situated. Under the
early reigns of the third dynasty, many privileges were con-
ferred upon the Parisians. A royal prévot administered jus-
dce in the king's name, and a prevotl des marchands watched
over the municipal interest. The schools of Paris became
celebrated, and in the 14th century colleges were founded.

Philip Augustus built several churches and the tower of the
Louvre of that time ; he caused streets to be paved, and for-
tified the city with a wall and turrets, which, beginning on
the right bank above the Pont des Arts, and proceeding
northward as far as the rue Grenier St. Lazare, ended on the
Quai des Ormes ; on the left bank it commenced near the pre~
sent site of the Palais de I'Institut, and, after running south-
ward to the rue des Fossés St. Jacques, took an easterly direc-
tion, and ended at the Quai de la Tournelle. Theriver was bar-
red by a heavy chain fastened to piles, and supported byboats.-
Paris then formed three divisions, la Cité, in the centre ; la Ville,
on the North ; and I'Université, on the south of the river. In

1250, ltobert Sorbon founded his schools in the quarter still
called de 1a Sorbonne, which was also named le pays latin.
Under St. Louis many vexatious customs were abolished, a
better system of jurisprudence introduced, and many religious
and commercial institutions established. A body of munici-
pal troops was formed, and a night patrol organized. An hos-
pital for the blind, a school of surgery, and a body of notaries
were instituted. Philippe le Hardi improved the streets and
‘highways ; and Philippe le Bel established several courts of
justice. During the captivity of King John in England, Paris
was agitated by the faction of the Maillotins, headed by Etienne
Marcel, prévot des marchands, and instigated by Charles le
Mauvais. Marcel was however slain by his own partisans,
-and the Dauphin quelled the revolt.

» Under Charles V., the faubourgs being much extended and
‘in danger from the incursions of the English, new ditches and
walls were begun in 1367, and completed in sixteen years.
During this period the Bastille and the Palais des Tournelles
were built, and the Louvre repaired and enlarged. Paris was
‘then divided into 16 quarters, and contained 1084 acres of
ground. Charles V. was succeeded in 1330 by Charles VI.,
who became insane in 1392, and died in 1422. During this
disastrous reign, the revenues of the state were squandered
4in the struggle between the dukes of Orleans and Bourgogne ;

4
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the factions of the Bourguignons and Armagnacs distracted the
country, and the English occupied Paris in 1421. The Pont
St. Michel was built in 1384, and the Pont Notre Dame in
1414. Under Charles VII. the English were driven from Pa-
ris, in 1436 ; and the Greek langzuage was taught for the first
time in the University, which coatained 25,000 students. Un-
der him and the succeeding monarch, Paris was desolated by
famine, the plague, and by wolves, to such a degree, that in
1466 the malefactors of all countries were invited thither as
a sanctuary, with a view of repeopling the capital. Notwith-
standing the dreadful mortality, the population, under Louis
XI., amounted to 300,000 souls, and the space comprised
within the walls was 1100 acres. In 1470 prinling was in-
troduced, and the post-office established. Francis 1. gave a
new aspect to Paris. The old castle of the Louvre, an as-
semblage of towers and heavy walls, was demolished, and a
ce commenced on its site. Several churches were rebuilt,
a royal college for gratuitous instruction in the sciences and
learned languages was founded, hetter communications opened
between the different parts of the city, the fortifications en-
larged and repaired, and the rebuilding of the Faubourg St.
Germain, ruined during the preceding wars, commenced. In
1533, the Hotel de Ville was begun, the Quai de la Tournelle
was formed in 1552, the Place Maubert in 1558, and the pa-
lace and garden of the Tuileries in 1563. About the same
time the Arsenal was constructed. Under Henry II. the col-
lege of Ste. Barbe was endowed, a protestant church established
in defiance of his persecutions, and the coius of the realm bore
for the first timne the effigy of the king. The wars of religion,
and their disastrous consequences, among which the Massacre
of St. Bartholomew was the most conspicuous, arrested for a
while the progress of letters and the fine arts, until Henry IV.,
having restored peace to the kingdom, turned his attention to
plans for promoting his subjects’ happiness and embellishing
the capital. During his reign the Pont Neuf was finit hed, the
hospital of St. Louis founded ; the Place Royale, the rue Dau-
phine and the neighbouring quays, were laid out; great
additions were made to the palace of the Tuileries, and the
gallery which joins it to the Louvre was partly constructed.
Under Louis XIIl., the Palais Cardinal, now Palais Royal,
was begun by Richelien, and the Luxembourg by Marie de
Medicis ; the Cours la Reine was planted ; the quays and bridges
of the Ile St. Louis constructed ; magnificent hotels arose in
the Faubourg St. Germain; the college, afterwards called
Louis le Grand, the Académie Royale, and the Garden of
Plants, were founded ; the Faubourg St. Honoré became united
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with the villages of Roule and Ville-I'Evéque, and the Faubourg

“Saint Antoine, with Popincourt and Reuilly.

Louis XIV. completed the projects of Ilenry 1V. and Louis
XIII. More than cighty new streets were opened, and most of
the old ones improved and embellished. The Place Vendome
and Place des Victoires were formed. Thirty-three churches
were erected, many of the quays were faced with stone, and
a new one formed; and, for the greater convenience of the
courts of justice, the Grand Chitelet was crected. The Hotel
des Invalides, a foundling hospital, the Observatory, the co-
lonnade of the Louvre, and the Pont Royal were completed,
and the Champs Elysées planted.  The Tuileries were enlarged,
and the present garden laid out. The College Mazarin, now
the Palais de I'Institut, was founded, as also the manufactory
of the Gobelins. The old city gales were superseded by
triumphal arches, of which those of St. Denis and St. Martin
remain; and the boulevards became promenades.

Paris under Louis XV. occupied a space of 3342 acres.
Among the improvements of this reign are some of the sump-
tuous hotels of the Faubourgs St. Germain and St. Honoré, the
Palais Bourbon, now the palace of the Legislative Body, the
church of Ste. Genevicve, (the Pantheon,) the Place de la Con-
corde, the manufactory of porcelain at Sevres, the southern
houlevards, and several fountains, among which that of the
rue de Grenelle, by Bouchardon. Another foundling hospital
was established, tie Ecole Militaire, the Hotel des Monnaies,
Collége de France, fagades of St. Sulpice and St. Eustache
were built, and the Garden of Plants was enlarged.

Louis XYI. continued the church of Ste. Geneviéve, com-
menced that of the Madeleine, built St. Philippe du Roule, and
several others. Ile also repaired the Palais de Justice, and
founded or enlarged several charitable institutions. The Thédtre
Frangais, the French, Italian, and Comic opera-houses, and
other theatres, arose in quick succession. The old markets
were enlarged, and new ones formed. Slcam-engines were
established on the banks ef the Seine, to accelerate the distri-
bution of water to different quarters of the city; the Pont de
la Concorde formed a communication between the Faubourg
St. Honoré and that of St. Germain, and the octroi-wall and
barriers were built (seep. 278). The new boulevards and the
villages of Chaillot, lc Roule, and Monceaux, were enclosed
within Paris, thus adding 8,560 acres lo its area, and the
galleries of the Palais Royal, furnished wih shops of- every kind,
gave the Parisians an idea of the bazaars of the East.

The local history of Paris during the first revolation is in
fact the history of the revolution itself. We need therefore
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hardly advert to the taking of the Bastille on-July 14, 1789,
or the erection of the guillotine on the Place Louis XV., now
Dlace de la Concorde. Many monuments of the middle ages
were demolished in that eventful time, and the fine arts threat-
ened with destruction. But under the Directory the museum
of the Louvre was opened, and under Napoleon I. Paris as-
sumed more than its former splendour. The Place du Car-
rousel was cleared of the unsightly buildings which stood in
front of the palace; the northern gallery connecting the Louvre
with the Tuileries was begun ; the garden of the Tuileries
cmbellished ; the magnificent rue de Rivoli commenced ; the
rue Castiglione, connecting the latter with the Place Vendome,
rue de la Paix, Boulevards and Chaussée d’Antin, was de-
signed and executed ; a new and spacious market formed on
the site of the convent des Jacobins, near the rue St. Honoré ;
another near the abbey of St. Martin des Champs, and a third
mear St. Germain dés Prés ; three handsome bridges were built :
and new quays formed on cach bank of the river. The Canal
.de ’Ourcq was opened, and, in the hasin made at the barricre
de la Villelte, a junction was effected between it and the Canals
.of St. Denis and St. Martin, while an ample supply of water
was thus afforded to the capital. The Ilace de la Bastille,
intersected by the latter canal, was begun, and near it a vast
sgranary of rescrve was constructed.  The Bank of France was
.established in the Hotel de Toulouse, and a magnificent Bourse
.or Exchange begun. Fifteen new fountains were erected in
.different parts of the city, and several wide streets and spacious
imarkets were opened.  The palace and garden of the Luxem-
hourg were improved and cnlarged, and the column of the
Place Vendome erected. Three great cemeteries were formed
‘without the barricrs ; and five public slaughter-houses, called
.abattoirs, were constructed at the extremities of the faabourgs.
‘The churches devastated during the revolution of 1789 were
wepaired aud embellished. More than £4,000,000 wc-e ex-
ipended on these works and improvements in 12 years.
Paris was taken on the 30th March, 1814, by the allied
frces under the command of Prince Schwarzenberg, after a
gallant defence by the garrison, supported by the National
Guard, and the students of the Polytechnic and Vetcrinary
Schools. On the 31st the allied sovercigns made their entry, a
capitulation havieg been signed with the authorities of the city.
Louis XVIII., on higyrestoration, extended the town, com-
pleted the canals; constructed the Chamber of Deputies, three
bridges, and several barriers ; erected statues of the kings of
Frande in different places; built a chapel in the Temple,
another in the rue d’Anjou, and a third on the site where the
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Duc de Berri was assassinated (see p. 221). Several mar-
kets and hospitals were finished or enlarged, the works at the
Entrep0t des Vins and Grenier de Réserve resumed, and the
lighting and cleansing of the city much improved.

Under Charles X. the architectural alterations of Paris were
chiefly of an ecclesiastical character. The church of St. Ger-
main des Prés was restored ; the Madeleine progressed ; at Gros
Caillou the church of St. Pierre was erected ; and other new
churches rose from their foundations. Three new bridges were
built ; many of the Passages that now embellish Paris were
begun, and the suburbs continucd to increase rapidly.

The people of France, dissatisfied with the return of the
Bourbons through the aid of foreign bayonets, were not about
this time very warmly attached to the reigning dynasty. The
imprudent acts of the Villele and Polignac ministries increased
their dissatisfaction, till the famous ordinances of July gave the
signal for a general outbreak at Paris. During the 27th, 28th,
and 29th of July 1830, upwards of four thousand barricades
were raised, and after an obstinate resistance on the part of the
Swiss Guards and the Gendarmerie, commanded by Marshal
Marmont, Charles X. was dethroned, and the younger branch
called to the throne by the people in the person of Louis Phi-
lippe. Under the reign of that prince, the garder and Palace
of the Tuileries were much altered, some of the quays widened,
those on the north planted, and several new bridges built.
A’ great number of handsome new streets were opened, the
Hotel de Ville was quadrupled in size, the Madelcine, the
churches of Notre Dame de Lorette, St. Vincenl de Paule,
and St. Denis, were finished ; the Place de la Concorde was
completely remodelled, and the Obelisk of Luxor reared in its
centre ; the Triumphal Arch at the Barritre de I'Etoile was
completed, as were the magnificent palaces of the Quai d’Orsay
and of the Fine Arts.  Vast works were undertaken for the
drainage of the streets ; gas was generally introduced through-
out the town ; and health and comfort were more consulted
in the improved construction of private edifices. (1)

(1) The following showsihe area of Paris al different periods :.

Hectares.
Cnder Julius Cesar.. . . . B.C. 56 15
»  Philip Augustus. . AD. 1211 253
»  Charles V1. . . 1383 439
» Henry Ill. . 1581 483
»  Louis XIII. . 1634 568

1686 4,104
141 1,337
1848 3,524
1860 7,802

» Louis XIV. . .
» Louis XV. . .,
»  Louis Philippe

»  Napoleon liI.

e & 4 e s e o e
e % s e s e e
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Such was the state of apparent prosperity in the capital of
France in the beginning of 1848, when political errors brought
about the memorable revolution of February. The sudden
change from royalty to a commonwealth generated a series
of public misfortunes, which put a stop to all improvement ;
ami) the greatest cfforts on the part of the authorities were
hardly equal to the task of satisfying the cravings of a host of
starving workmen, by employing them in the demolition of
some hundred decayed houses near the church of St. Eustache.

In 1849, the ravages committed by the cholera at last roused
the republican government to-the conviction that the health
of the metropolis required the execution of great works of
public utility. It therefore agreed to share with the city of
Paris the expense of prolonging the rue de Rivoli; the new
halles, now one of the ornaments of Paris, were also com-
menced, and many a filthy street was effaced from the map.

The events of Dec. 2d, 1851, which caused the overthrow
of the Constitution of 1848, and the proclamation of the Em-
pire on the same day of the following year, mark the com-
mencement of an era of improvements, such as neither Paris,
nor any other capital of Europe ever witnessed before. The
rue de Rivoli has been extended lo the rue St. Antoine ; the
works of the Louvre and Place du Carrousel, commenced in
1852, arc all completed; the Boulevards de Sebastopol, de
Malesherbes, and du Prince Eugene have been opened ; therail-
way round Paris constructed, and extensive embellishments exe-
cuted in the Bois de Boulogne and in that of Vincennes ; the
rue des Ecoles connects the principal establishments of pub-
lic instruction, the central market has been opened to traffic,
and Paris has bceen extended to the fortifications. Other
works of bewildering magnitude are begun, and a few years
hence Paris will have undergone such changes as were never
effected in so short a time in any capital of Europe. (1)

(1) The following are the principal sums laid out du-ing the
Empire in improving and beautifying Paris: Junction of the
Louvre and the Tuileries, up to 1858, 62,500,000 fr. ; repairs of
historical monuments, 2,170,000 fr.; Palace of the Elysée,
1,400,000 fr.; Boulevard de Strashourg, 3,149,000 fr.; Boule-
vard de Sebastopol (right bank), 23,500,000 fr.; Monument to
Marshal Ney, 50,000 fr.; Hippodrome of Longehamp, 1,500,000fr.;
Tomb of Napoleon 1., 865,000 fr.; Hotel of {the Ministry of Fo-
reign Aflairs, 4,500,000 fr. ; constructions on the lle des Cygnes,
428,000 fr.: Palais de Vindustrie, 14,880,000 fr. Boulevard de
Sebastopol (left bank), 12,500,000 fr.; Ponts des Invalides,
d’léna, and d’Arcole, 4,250,000fr. ; Cathedral of Paris, 3,500,000fr.
barracks, 7,850,000 fr.; grand works (law of 1858), 60,000,000 fr.
New Opera, 22,000,000 fr. ; total, 225,042,000 fr.
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The following table of the Kings of France, with the dates
of their accession, and commencing with the first monarch
of the second or Carlovingian race, will be found useful.

AD. A.D,
Pepin . . . .+ . 752{Charles V. Le Sage . . 1364
Charlemagne. . . . 768|Charles VI. « . 1380
Louis 1. Le Débonnaire. .  814|Charles VII. .. . 1422
Charles 11, Le Chavve. . 840|Louis XI. . . . . 1461
Louis 11. Le Béque. . . 877{Charles VIII. . . . 1483

Louis III. and Carloman. 879|LouwisXII. . . . . 1498

Charles Le Gros (regent) .  8s84|FrancisI. . . . . 1515
Eudes. v« o« .+ sss|llenryll. . . . . 1547
Charles III. LeSimple . 898 (Francis1l. .. 1559
Raoul. . . . . . 923{Charles IX. . . 1560
Louis IV. d'Outremer. . 936 |Henry III. . . 1574

Lothaire. . . . . 9s4({Henrylv. . . . 1589
Louis V. .« « + 986|Louis XIIl. Le Juste . . 1610

Huogh Capet. . .« . 987|Louis X1V, Le Grand. . 1643
Robhert. .« « .« 996lLouisXV. . ., . . 171b
ilenry I. .« « . 1031]Louis XVI. s e e 1774
Philippe 1. . . . toe6o|States-General. . . 1789
Louis VI. Le Gros. . . 1tog|Constiluent Assembly. . 1789
Louis VII. Le Jeune. . . 1137|Legislative Assembly. . 1791
Philippe 1l. Auguste. . 1180|Republicand Convention. 1792
Louis V1II. . . . 1223]|Reign of Terror. . . 1793
Louis 1X. St. Louis. . 1226(Directory: . . . . 17¢5
Philippe 111. Le Hardi. . 1270|Consulate. . . . . 1799
Philippe 1V. Le Bel. . 1285|Napoleon, Emperor . . 1804
Louis X. Le Hutin, . . 132ti|Louis XVIIL Restored. . 1814
Philippe V. Le Long. . 1316|Charles X. ... 1825
Gharles 1V, Le Bel. . . 1322{Louis Philippe. . . 1830
Philippe V1. De Valois. . 132s|Republic, — L. Napcleon. 1848
Jean, Le Bon. . . 1350 |Napoleon IIl. Emperor. . 1852

The following is a list of the most remarkable spots in
Paris, all mentioned in their respective places. (See Index.)

Places of Historical Note.—House where the illustrious
Corncille died.—Spot where the Duc de Berri was assassinated.
—Rue St. Honoré, where Henry IV. was murdered.—House
wherein Moli¢re died.—Scene of Ficschi’s Infernal Machine.
—Street where the Connétable Clisson was waylaid.—Tomb
of Lafayette.—Tomb of Boileau.—Mlotcl where Voltaire died.
—House where Marat was assassinated by Charlotte Corday.
—Burial-place of James I1.—Spot where Marshal Ney was shot.
—O0ld house where Gabrielle, the mistress of Henry 1V., lived.

Scenes of Popular Disturbances. The Champ de Mars.—
Elysée Napoleon.—Place de la Concorde.—Church of St. Roch.
—Tuileries.—Place du Carrousel.—Corner of rues St. Honoré
and Richelieu.—Palais Royal.—Place des Victoires.—Louvre,
—Pont des Arts,—St. Germain I’Auxerrois,—~Church of St.
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Merri.—Rue Transnonain, now rue Beaubourg.—Marché des
Innocents.—Hotel de Ville.—Pont d’Arcole.—Notre Dame.—
Site of Archhishop’s Palace.—Palais de Justice.—Temple.—
Place de la Bastille.—Faubourg St. Antoine.—Porte St. Mar-
tin.—Porte St, Denis.—Faubourg St. Marceau.—Convent des
Dames Carmélites.—Barracks of rue Babylone.

QRAPTER 1V,

GOVERNMENT, CIVIL, MILITARY, AND JUDICIAL.

By the Senatus-consultum of Nov. 7th, and the subsequent
decree of Dec. 2, 1852, the Imperial dignity has been revived
in the person of Louis Napoleon Bonaparte, (1) now Napoleon
11I., who, on Jan. 29, 1853, married the present Empress
Eugenia, Countess of Teba, (2) daughter to Count de Montijo,
senator and grandee of Spain. The throne descends to the issue
of the Emperor, (3) and, in default, to that of the late Prince
Jorome, hisuncle.(4) The membersof the Imperial family having
a right to succeed to the throne, are styled French princes ;
the first-born of the Emperor has the title of Iinperial Prince.

The EMPEROR governs the country constitutionally, con-
jointly with a Senate, a Legislative Body, and a Council of
State. As far as the exccutive is concerned, he enjoys all the
prerogatives pertaining toroyalty. Ile exercises paternal power
over all the members of the Imperial family. He appoints the
senators and presides at the sittingsboth of the Senateand Coun-
cil of State whenever he thinks fit. His civil list comprises the
dotation of the Crown, which is fixed by a Senatus-consultum
at the commencement of every reign (it amounts at present to
25 millions of francs), and all the palaces, museums, libraries,
and jewels belonging to the State, and which he cannot
alienate without the sanction of a law. His private domain
consists of whatever property he may acquire by purchase
or inheritance, during his reign.—The princes and priacesses
of the Imperial family enjoy an annual dotation of 1,500,000fr.

SENATE.—The Senate is the guardian and interpreter of
the Constitution, and regulates all matters which the latter has

(1) Born on the 20th of April, 1808.

2) Born on the 5th of May, 1826,

53) Napoléon Eugéne Louis Jean Joseph, Prince Impérial of
France, born March 16th, 1856.

(4) Prince Napoleon Joseph Charles Paul, son to Prince
Jerome, was born on the oth of Sept. 1822 ; and on the 30th
Jan. 1859, was married to Princess Clotilde of Sardinia, born on
the 2d of March 4843. Their son, Napoleon Victor Jerome
Frederic, was born on July 18th, 1862,
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not specially provided for. It may refuse its sanction to laws
contrary to the Constitution, or endangering the safety of the
country. It may propose modifications of the Constitution,,
provided they be not at variance with its fundamental prin-
ciples, in which case they must be submitted to the universal
suffrage of the people. It takes cognizance of petitions.
The number of Senators is about 170, including the
French princes, who hecome members of it from the age:
of 18, the French Cardinals, and the Marshals and'
Admirals of France. The Senators are named for life,,
and receive a dotation of 30,000 fr. per annum. The Em~
peror appoints the President and vice-presidents of the Senate ;,
their functions last one year. The sittings of this body are:
not public. The members of the Senate are divided by lot:
into five bureauw. Each bureau examines the measures laid:
before the Senate, and elects one of its members to sit in a
commission for the further consideration of the measure im
question, after which the commission names a reporter. The:
Senate may, however, decide on a measure without referring:
it to the bureaux. It only pronounces on the expediency of
the promulgation of any bill, either proceeding directly from
the Government, or previously voted by the Legislative Body,
and cannot therefore amend it; but it may amend Senatus~
consultums, either proposed by the Emperor, or originating
from a Senator. The latter, to be taken into consideration,,
must have been authorised by three at lecast of the five
bureaux. No amendment can be taken into consideratiom
unless supported by 5 members. Any Senator may move the:
presentation of a report to the Emperor on some subject of
great national interest. To pass a measure, there must be an:
absolute majority of the members of the Senate present, pro~
vided they exceed one-third of the whole body. To be dis-
cussed, a modification of the Constitution requires the signa~
tures of ten Scnators, if the motion originates with a Senator..
In all debates, the Government is represented either by
Ministers without portfolio, or by Councillors of State:
appointed by special decree. There is no secret ballot.
Besides the President, there is also a Grand Référendaire
for the administration of the funds and other matters relating,
to the internal organization of the Senate.

'LEGISLATIVE BODY.—It consists of 283 members, elected
by universal suffrage, in the proportion of one member for
every 32,400 electors. The Legislative Body votes or re-
jects the bills presented to it, and the taxes. At its debates the
Government is represented as in the Senate. Its annual
scssions last three months. Its members are distributed by
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lot into nine bureaux for the preliminary consideration of
legislative measures. Each bureau elects its own president
and secretaries for one month. The burcaux name commis-
saries for the further consideration of the bills before the
Tlouse, and proceed in every respeet like the burcaux of the
Scnate.  No amendment can be adopted without the previous
consent of the Council of State ; but the Legislative Body may
send three of its members to the Council of State to support
its amendments.  The debates at the sittings of the Legislative
Body first turn on the bill as a whole, and then on the
separate articles. The vole is public. The President and
vice-presidents of the Legislative Body are named fora year by
the Emperor.  No minister can be a member of the Legislative
Body. No petition can be addressed to it. The Emperor
conyokes, adjourns and dissolves it; in which latter case a
new one must he convoked within 6 months. The sittings
of the Legislative Body are public. Each deputy is named
for 6 years, receiving 2,500 fr. per month during the session.
The Emperor opens the session with a speech from the
Throne addressed both to the Senate and Legislative Body,
ecach of which (since 1861) subsequently discusses and votes
an address in reply.  The debates in both Houses are re-
porled by stenographers, and delivered to the daily news-
papers, which have the choice cither of reproducing the
whole, or a part relating to the same subject in extenso, or
else of publishing a short summary sent by the Presidents.
COUNCIL OF STATE.—This body, the members of which
are named by the Emperor, and revocable by him, frames
the bills to he presented to the Legislative Body, under
the guidance of the Emperor 3 as also all regulations of public
administration, Il solves all diflficultics which may arise in
adminjstrative matters.  The Emperor or a president or vice-
president appointed by him presides. It supports the dis-
cussion of the bills presented by the Government to the Senate
and Legislative Body. The French princes and the ininisters
have the right of sitting and voting in the Council of State,
but the former only after the age of 18, and with the
Emperor’s consent.  The number of ordinary councillors
is now forty-four; their salary is 25,000 fr. There are
besides ordinary  Councillors not attached to any particular
seetion, the number of whom is at present seventeen ; seven
extraordinary councillors ; forty Masters of Requests, divided
into two classes of twenty cach, and eighty auditors, divided
into two classes of forty cach. A Secretary-General, is attached -
to the Council of State. For the better dispatch of business,
the Council of State is divided into six sections, namely, the
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section of Legislation, Justice, and Foreign Affairs; the section
of Disputed Affairs; that of the Interior, Public Instruction,
and Worship ; that of Public Works, Agriculture, and Com-
merce ; that of War and the Marine, Algeria and the Colonies ;
and that of Finance. Each section is presided over by a
Councillor of State, appointed by the Emperor.

COUNCIL OF MINISTERS.—This Council is composed of the
Minister of State and the cight heads of the different state de-
partmenmts. It is presided either by the Emperor, or by the
Minister of Justice and Keeper of the Scals. The Council
takes cognizance of administrative legislation, of all that con-
cerns the general inlernal and external policy, the safety of
the Emopire, and the maintenance of the Imperial autho'ri?'.
The ministers arc only responsible to the Emperor in so far
as their department is concerned.  The salary of each
minister is 100,000 fr. The .

MINISTER OF STATE corresponds in the name of the
Government with the Senate, the Legislative Body, and the
Council of State; he countersigns the decrees for the nomi-
nation of ministers, presidents of the Senate and Legislative
Body, Senators, &e¢.; and supports the hills proposed by Go-
vernment in the debates of the Legislative Body.  The
Archives, theatres, and encouragements to men of letters and
science, are under his authority.  Residence aud office, Place
du Carrousel.

MINISTER OF THE IMPERIAL HOUSENOLD AND THE
FINE ARTS.—The hnperial Palaces, Public Monuments, Mu-
seums, and Schools of Fine Arls are under his control.

MINISTER OF FOREIGN AFFAIRS.—1lis department em-
braces correspondence with forcign powers, all political and
commercial trealies, conventions, &c. (1) Residence and office,
130, ruc de I'Université (sce p. 330.) The offices for passports
are open daily, holidays excepled, from 11 to 4.

MINISTER OF WAR.—The dutics of this minister compre-
hend all that relates to the army, and all military esta-
blishments.  Residence and office, 86, rue St. Dominique.

MINISTER OF TIE MARINE AND COLONIES.—Ile su-
perintends all that relates to the navy, mililary ports, and
Colonies.  Residence and office, 2, rue Royale. To this
department is attached avaluablelibrary of charts, maps, cte.,
kept at 13, rue de PUniversité.

MINISTER OF FINANCE.—The taxes, national debt, sinking

(1) This department is divided into four Seclions or Directions :
the Political, the Commercial, the Financial, and (hal of the
Archives. The commercial direction has 28 consuls-general,
87 consuls, and 775 inferior agents under its control.
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fund, customs, post-office, mint, forests, national domains,
and Government manufactories, are under his direction. The
residence and offices are at 234, rue de Rivoli, where in~
formation about this department is to be had daily, from
10 to 2.

MINISTER OF THE INTERIOR.—The duty of this Minister
is to correspond with the prefects, and all officers atlached
to the internal government of the State, to execute the laws
of elections, to attend to the organization of the national and
‘municipal guards, &c. The Direction de Streté Générale,
annexed to this department, has the supreme control over the
police of the Empire (see p.71.) Residence and offices,
Place Beauveau, Faubourg St. Homoré, and 103, Rue de
Grenelle St. Germain, where the Central Telegraph and a few
other offices still remain.

MINISTER OF JUSTICE AND PUBLIC WORSHIP.—
To this Minister all judges, law officers, &c., are subordinate.
Letters of pardon, naturalization, &c., are granted by him.
The direction of the Imperial printing-office also falls within
his jurisdiction, and he regulates all matters connected with
Public Worship. Residence and offices, 13, Place Vendome.
The Chancelleric de France, belonging to his department, is
at 36, rue Neuve du Luxembourg.

MINISTER OF PUBLIC INSTRUCTION.—This Minister
superintends the University of France, schools, the Institut
of France, and various other scientific and literary societies,
public libraries and muscums, &c. Ie is also President of
the Committee for publishing whatever relates to the monu-
ments, arts, or history of France. Ilis residence is at 110,
rue de Grenelle St. Germain.

MINISTER OF AGRICULTURE, COMMERCE, AND PUB-
LIC WORKS.—This department comprises the regulations
affecting the customs and commerce, trading companies,
patents, weights, and measures, agriculture, fairs, markets,
veterinary establishments, &c., as also the supeivision of
bridges and roads, railways, mines, &c. Residence and of-
fices, 62, Rue St. Dominigue St. Germain.

All the ministerial offices are open to claimants and peti-
tioners, having previously inscribed their names on a list kept
for the purpose, on Thursdays from 2 to 4. An audience of a
Minister must be applied for in writing. Official receptions '
are announced in the Moniteur. The persons employed are
2,380, receiving 6,500,000 francs annually. (1) Every mi-
nistry has a library, relating to its department.

(1) The number of functionaries in all France is officially
stated as follows :~Justice, 11,053 ; Foreign Affairs, 740 ; Pub~
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IMPERIAL HOUSEHOLD.~—It is regulated by the Minister
of that department aided by a Council of the chief officers of
the palace, and consists of a grand almoner, 2 almoners, a
vicar-general, 4 chaplains, an ecclesiastical master of cere-
monies, a grand marshal and 4 prefects of the palace, a
governor of the Tuilerics, Louvre, and Elysée, one of St.
Cloud, a grand chamberlain, 11 chamberlains, a private
_ secretary, a grand equerry, 14 equerries, a grand veneur and

7 other officers of the chase, a grand master of cercmonies

and 6 assistant-masters, 2 treasurers, 25 physicians and sur-
geons, a minister of the military household, an adjutant-
general, 16 aides-de-camp, and other minor officers.—The
Empress’s houschold comprises a grand mistress of the palace,
a lady of honour and {2 ladies of the palace ; a lady reader,
3 chamberlains, 2 equerries, &c.—The Prince Imperial has a
governess and 2 assistanl-governesses. —Prince Napoleon’s
household consists of 2 chamberlains, 1 secretary, 4 aides-
de-camp, &c.; Her Imperial Highness Princess Clotilda, the
Prince’s consort, and daughter to the King of Italy, has a
lady of honour and 3 assistant ladies, and two chamberlains.
—Princess Matilda has a private secretary, a chevalier
d’honneur, a lady of honour and two assistant ladies.
ORDRE DE LA LEGION D’HONNEUR.—The Order of the
Legion of Honour was instituted by a law of 29 Floréal,
an 10 (1802), and remodelled in 1852, for the recompense of
civil and military merit, or length of public service. The order
is administered by a grand chancellor, who keeps the seal, and is
assisted by a secretary-general and a council of ten members.
The Emperor is the Grand Master of the Legion,which consists
of chevaliers, officers, commanders, grand-officers, and grand-
crosses—all nominated for life. The number of chevaliers is
unlimited. Foreigners are admitted to the Order, but take no
oath. The decoration of the Legion is a star, with (ive double
rays, surmounted by a crown. The centre of the star con-
tains the cffigy of Napoleon, encircled with leaves of oak and
laurel, with the legend, “ Napoléon, Empereur des Franca.:
On the reverse is the eagle, with the words, ‘“ Honneur et Pa-
trie.” In time of peace to be admitted in the order ‘‘ twenty
years distinguished services in civil or military functions” are
required. In time of war acts of valour and serious wounds ;
-and in time of peace, extraordinary and valuable services of
any kind may be rewarded with admission or promotion.
All officers, non-commissioned officers, and men of the army
lic Instruction, 50,000; Interior, 344,000; Agriculture, Com-
‘merce, and Public Works, 10,000; War, 30,000; Marine,
13,000 ; Finance, 76,000 ; total, 534,800, cxclusive of servants.
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and navy in active service, nominated or promoted in the
Legion since the decree of 22d of January, in the year 1852,
receive aunually—as Members 250 fr., Officers 500 fr., Com-
manders 1,000 fr., Grand Officers 2,000 fr., Grand Crosses
3,000 fr. Pensionsof the same amount are granted to all mi-
litary and naval officers, members of the Legion of Honour,
placed in retirement after 224 January, 1852. Every sub-
officer or soldier created before 1814, receives 250 fr. per
annum, and the other members according to their rank. The
quality of member may be forfeited on the same grounds as
that of French citizen. (1)

Besides this Order, there is a medal since 1852 for private
soldiers, with an annual pension of 100 fr. It is also given
to Marshals and Generals, but without the pension. There is
also the St. Helena medal, instituted in 1857 for the survivors
of the Grande Armée of the first Empire.

Attached to the Order are the establishments for the educa-
tion of the daughters, nieces, and sisters of the members..
(see p. 103.) The Grand Chancellor resides in the hotel of
the Order, in the rue de Lille, where the offices also are.

BUDGET.—The public expenditure for 1865 is estimated at
1,797,265,790 fr. (2), the Ways and Means at 1,799,801,062
francs, showing a surplus of 2,535,272 fr.

PUBLIC DEBT.—The funded debt now stands as follows,
exclusive of pensions and temporary loans for public works :

4vpercent. . . . . . . 39,273,109 fr. interest.
4perecent. . . . . . . 472,386 —
3percent. . . . . . . 368,007,986 —_
Sipking Fund . . . . . . 118,022,745 —

Total 523,776,226 —

NAVY.—According to the budget of 1865, the navy of
France consists of 214 vessels afloat, manned by 50,096 sailors

(1) At the end of 1863, the Legion was composed of ~0 grand-
crosses, 260 grand offiicers, 1,254 commanders, 5,131 ofticers, and
50,300 chevaliers. Among the foreign members are 44 crowned
heads and princes of royal blood, exclusive of the Emperor and
Imperial princes. No French subject is allowed to wear foreign
decorations, unless duly authorised by Government.

(2) This sum is equivalent to £71,890,632. The chiefitems
are: Imperial Houschold and Fine Arts, 12,314,200 fr. ; dotations,
45,746,915 fr.; Legion of Honour, 16,776,109 fr.; Ministry of
State, 3,112,400 fr.; Juslice, 33,156,810 fr.; Foreign Affairs,
12,617,200 fr.; Public Instruction, 19,281,121 fr.; Public Wor-
ship, 47,829,986 fr. ; Interior, 51,925,845 fr. ; Agriculture, Com-
maree, and Public Works, 71,820,753 fr.; War, 370,082,620 fr.;
Marine, 153,242,332 fr.; Finances, 983,819,901 fr.
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and marines (1). Of these, 81 are screw-steamers, including 12
screw line-of-battle ships, 69 screw-steamers of other deno-
minations, 57 paddle-frigates and other vessels, and 50
sailing-ships. There are besides advice-boats, transports, &c.

MILITARY ESTABLISHMENT.—The force of the French
army is calculated for 1865 at 243,611 infantry, 59,673
cavalry, 37,803 artillery, 7,309 engineers, 5,655 drivers, and
648 veterans, forming a total of 354,699 men, including
28,547 men of all arms, forming the Garde Impériale. The
number of horses is 85,705, including 15,896 for Algeria.
There are 10 Marshals of France, 90 Generals of Division, and
160 Generals of Brigade (2).

The garrison of Paris is now about 30,000 men.—General
Staff, 7, Plac: Vendome. Court Martial, 37, ruc du
Cherche-Midi.  The Emperor’s body-guard, called Cent
Gardes a Cheval, consists of a lieutenant-colonel, and 221
men, officers included. The Garde Impériale consists of
8 regiments of infantry (3 of grenadiers, 4 of voltizeurs, 1
of zouaves,) and a battalion of chasseurs; 6 regiments of
cavalry, one of gendarmes (foot), and a squadron of mounted
gendarmes; 16 batleries of artillery, 2 companies of drivers,
and 2 of engineers. In field service and ceremonies, these
troops have precedence over all, except the Cent Gardes (3).

NaTiONAL GuARrD.—By a decree of January 11, 1852, all
Frenchmen between 25 and 50 are liable to serve in the na-
tional guard. It is under the control of the mayors, sous-
prefets, prefets, and the Minister of the Interior. Al officers,

(1) There are 2 admirals, 17 vice-admirals, 30 rear-admirals,
130 captains of men of war, 270 caplains of frigates, 750 lieu~
tenants, and 600 mates in the French navy.

(2) The value of the stores of the War department amount to
612 millions of francs,

(3) To do away with the frauds commitled by private compa-
nies engaging to find sabstitufes for conseripts, the Dotation has
been founded by the present Emperor.  On payment of 2,300 fr.
to this fund, or 500 fr. for each year, or fraction of a year, the
military authorities undertake to find a subslitute. Young men
not belonging 1o the army are permitied {fo make investments in
this fund, so as o collect sufficient capital fo huy themselves off
when (hey are of age for the conseripfion.  Officers and privates
may also invest and receive 3% per cent. interest. The receipts
of this fund from 1855 1o 1862 were: From young conseripfs,
352,778,900; from soldiers serving, 49,618,356 fr.; interest on
rente, 37,327,930 {r. ; additional interest by the Caisse des Depots
and Consignations, 4,474,487 fr.; donations and legacies,
16,795 fr.; sundries, 289,501 fr.; total, 444,505,969 fr. The
general total of expenses amounts 1o 430,405,150 fr. The num=
ber of re-enlisted soldiers was 159,700 in Jan. 1864.
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from the lieutenants upwards, are named by the Emperor;
the lower grades are under the nomination of the majors or
<chefs de bataillon. The legions, or battalions may be dis-
solved and re-organised at will by the Government. At present
the national guard of Paris, including the banlieue, is composed
of 52 battalions of foot, and six squadrons of cavalry, amount-
ing in all to about 40,000 men. The staff of the national
guard of Paris is at No. 22, Place Vendome. (1) The chargesto
the city for rent, guard-houses, staff, musicians, clerks, &c.,
are about 900,000 fr. The artillery of the national guard,
‘which was disbanded in 1832, was reorganised in March 1848,
but again disbanded after the disturbance of June 13, 1849.

GENDARMERIE.—This force, which is under the orders of
the Prefect of Police, is composed of 2 legions, 1 for Paris,
and 1 for the department of the Seine. Itis composed of 4,441
officers, sub-officers, and privates, including 613 horse, and
is entrusted with the maintenance of public tranquility. (2)

GARDE DE PARis.—This is a section of the police force
wunder the orders of the Minister of War, and comprising 2,892
‘en, 663 of whom are cavalry.

SERGENTS DE VILLE.—These are the municipal police, and
«organised somewhat on the London system. (3)

SaPeURs PoMPIERS.—The hattalion of soldier firemen con-
wists of 1,298 privates and officers under a chef de bataillon.
A portion are on duty every evening at the theatres, &c. This
«corps is under the control of the Minister of War ; but in case
«of fires, it obeys the orders of the Prefect of Police. (4)

-(1) In March 1848, the national gnard amounted to 241,884 men.

(2) The whole Gendarmerie of France is composed of twenty-
®seven legions.

(5) The force comprises : One commissary of police, head of the
sarvice, salary 12,000 ir. ; one deputy, with 8,000 fr.. and a sub-
«hief, with 3,500 {r., but which may be increased to 5.000 fr. ;
20 clerks, from 4,000 fr. to 2,700 fr.; 4 inspectors- zeneral,
6,000 fr. ; 32 ofliciers de paix, from 3,000 {r. 1o 6,000 ; 16 prin-
«ipal inspectors, 2,500 fr.; 78 brigadiers, 1,800 fr.; 427 sub-
Dbrigadiers, 1,600 fr.; 3,676 sergens de ville, from 1,200 fr. to
4,500 fr.; 321 auxiliaries, 3 fr. a-day; one head physician,
3,500 fr.; and 12 other medical men, 4,600 fr. In all, 4,590
police agents, being an increase of 1,017 since the annexation of
‘the banlieue. Therc are also 26 agents attached o the service
of control at the Prefecture of Police. These wear a metal badge
ander their coats, to prove their quality.

(8) The sapeurs pompiers are efficient soldiers no less than ac-
tive firemen, and are carefully drilled and trained in gymnastics.
Medals are annually awarded to such as have distinguished them-
selwes by their exertions and good conduct. The annaal cost to
the State of the Sapsurs-Pompiers is 575,390 fr.
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COURTS, TRIBUNALS, &c.—The Minister of Justice is the
supreme head of all the judicial courts in the State and their
officers (see p. 60).

Hicu CoURT OF JUSTICE.—This Court, established in virtue
of art. 54 of the Constifution of January 1852, judges, with-
out appeal or remedy by cassation, the persons accused of
crimes or conspiracies against the Emperor and the security of
the State. It cannot take cognizance of any case without a spe~
cial decree of the Emperor. It is composed of a Chambre des
mises en accusation, a Chambre de Jugement, and a high
jury composed of 36 members of the Councils-general of the
departments. Each chamber is composed of 5 judges and 2
deputy-judges, annually appointed by the Emperor.

COURT OF CASSATION, Palais de Justice.—There is but one
Court of Cassation for the whole empire. It is the supreme
Court of Appeal on all points of law only, and its power is
confined to annulling the decisions of the courts appealed
from. When, therefore, a cause comes by appeal before the
Court of Cassation, it is not at once determined there, but
sent down for decision to another court of the same degree with
that from which it has come. The time allowed for appeal, in
civil matters, is three months; in criminal matters, and breach
of police regulations, only three days.

The Court of Cassation is composed of a president, 3 vice-
presidents, and 45 counsellors. It is divided into 3 chambers,
of requests, of civil, and criminal appeal. In civil cases
the appeal first comes before the Chambre des Requétes,
where the appellant only -is heard; and if admitted by that
chamber, it passes to the Chambre ‘Civile. Attached to it
are a procureur-impérial, 6 avocats-généraux, a chief registrar,
besides 4 under-registrars. A college o1 60 advocates has the
exclusive right of pleading in this court. The 2 eivil sections
have a vacation, from September 1 to November 1, but the
criminal section always continues sitting.

Cour pes Compres, Palais ‘du Quai d'Orsay.—This court
is the next in rank to that- of Cassation. It consists of a
chief president, 3 presidents; and 18 masters of accounts,
who form the chambers; there are. besides 84 consejllers ré-
férendaires, who examine the accourits and report thereon, 20.
auditors, a procureur-général, and a registrar. .It is divided
info 3 sections or chambers, whose jurisdiction extends over
the whole receipts and expenditure of the country. - .

CoUR IMPERIALE DE PARTs, Palais de Justice.~This is one of -
the twenty-seven courts of appeal in France. It hears ap-
peals from the Tribunals of First Instance and of Commerce of
Paris and of six of the surrounding departments. The court is

. [
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composed of afirst president, six presidents, and 59 councillors,
and attached to it are a procureur-impérial, six advocates-
genersl, 11 deputy advocates-general, and a registrar. It is
divided into six chambers, four of which are for the trial of
appeals in civil cases, one for the appeals from the Tribunal
de Police Correctinnelle, and one which sits in private and
déliberates on the criminal charges relerred to it by the
Chambire da Consetl of the Tribunal of First Instance, dis-
missing the charze or direeling the inise en accusation before
the Courd’ 4ssise,  The latter is composed of a president and
four assessors, appointed by the Keeper of the Seals from
among the councillors of the Cour Impériale, and is for the
trial of the more sevious offences, entailing the punishment of
death, hard labour, cte.  The Court of Assize cannot try
withoul the intervention of a jury, except in cases of default.
1t is the only court in which trial by jury prevails (1). It sits
daily from 9 till 12, holidays excepted.

TRIRUNAL DE PREMIERE INSTANCE PE LA SEINE, DPalais de
Justice, — A Court of original jurisdiction, to which all
causes are first taken, except those only assigned to the juge
de paix, and the Tribunal de Commerce. 1t decides without
appeal in actions relating lo the person or to personal property,
to the amount of 1,500 fr., and in real actions, where the
rent is not more than 60 fr. It hears also appeals from juges
de paix. I comprises in ils jurisdiction the whole of the
department of the Seine, and consists of 1 president, 8 vice-
presidents, 65 judges, among whom are 18 examining jndges,
12 supplementary judges, a procureur-impérial, 23 deputy
procurcars, t chief registrar, and 42 sworn registrars, It is
divided into 16 chambers, 5 of which take cognisance of civil
matters, 2 of cases of correctional police, one of civil and
criminal cases judeed in the Chanibre du Consedl, avd one of
cagses of expropristion.  The court sits every day exeept
Sundays and Mondays.  Vacation from Sept. 1 to Nov. 1. (2)

TrisUNAL BE ComMerck, at the Exchange.—The judges of
this court are heads of mercantile houses. elected for two years

(1) In 1s62 the Courts of Assize thronghout all Franee heard
3906 eases, ineluding: offences against the person, 1762; and
crimes against property, 2145,  Of these, burglary comprised
1544, The number of acensed was in alf 4,990, of whom 2088
were charged with offenees againgt the person.

(2) The number of c¢ivil law-suils registered in 1862 for ail
France was 151,280; the number of cases heard, 68,875;
of the others, 29,351 were judged by default, and 31,395 ami~
cably seftled. Besidesthese, 46,365 sentences were pronounced
&n cases of seizures of landed property, expropriations of ground

f publie utility, ete,
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in an assembly of commercants notables, or influential mer-
chants. The list of these merchants is drawn up by the pre-
fect, and approved by the Minister of the Inlerior. It cannot
contain less than 25 members in a provincial town of 15,000
iahabitants ; but in Paris, and other large towns it must con-
tain at least one member more for every additional thousand.
No one can be elecied a judge under the age of 30, nor unless
he be a merchant of at least 5 years’ slanding.  The tribunal
is composed of a president, 14 judges, and (6 deputy judges.
It has a registrar, 6 under-registrars, and 4 huissiers; also 10
gardes du commerce, who arrest persors for debt. (1)

TRIBUNAL OF SiNeLE POLICE, Palais de Justice.- ~The justices
of the peace sit herein rotation, and decide upow ... breach of
police regulations where the penalty does not excod five days’
imprisonment, or a fincofl 15 fr. A commissary of police acts
as counsel for the prosecution.  Parties may appeal to the
Tribunal de Premicre Instance.

Juces pE Parx.—There is one for cach of the twenty Ar-
rondissements of Paris.  Their jurisdiction is three-fold.
They form what is called a Bureau de Conciliation, to under-
stand which it is necessary to bear in mind thal uo action
can be brought until the complaining party has summoned
the defendant before the juge de paix, whese duly it is to
try to effect a resonciliation.  They bave jurisdiction without
appeal when the ground of action does not exceed {00 fr.
in value, and jurisdiction subject to appeal in all personal
actions to the value of 200 fr., and in actions between landlords
of hotels and lodging-house keepers and travellers and tenants,
for hotel expenses and loss or damage of effects, ctc. They
decide without appeal 1o 100 fr., and with appeal to 1,500 fr.
They sit at the mairie of cach arrondissement (see p. 71).

ApvocaTes.—The order of advocates comprises 900 mem-
bers.. They have a burcau for gratnitous advice to the poor,
open on Saturdays, from 1 till 4, at the Palais de Justice.

AvouEs.—The avouds, 210 in number, are licentiates in
civil law, and act as solicitors and attorneys ; in certain cases
they have the right of pleading; and are subject to a chamber
of discipline. They lake the oath of an advocate.

Notaries.—The number of Paris Notaries, who exercise
their profession within the jurisdiction of the court ¢! appeal, is

(1) In lbe year ending June 30, 1662, the numicr of cases
brought before the Tribunal of Commerce was 75,130 ; of which
43,570 were judged by default, and 21,302 were pleaded ; 5,604
were scliled by conciliation, 3,882 were wilhdrawn, and {he re-
mainderslill pending. During the same year there were formed
1,284 commercial or joint-stock companies, representing capital
to the amount of 74,756,000 fr. Number of bankrupteies: 1,773,
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122; they draw up wills, leases, mortgages, title-deeds of es-
tates, and other deeds 5 they give security to the government,
and, on retirement or death, their places can be sold. Their cham-
ber of discipline meels at 1, Place du Chatelet, ever?' Friday.

HuissiErs.—These offieers, 150 in number, fulfil the duties
of sheriff’s oflicers, altached to the different iribunals, and their
services are required in protesting bills, &e.

Comyisssires Prisevrs  (appraisers and  auctioneers).—
Their nomber in Paris is fixed at 80. They have the ex-
clusive privilege of appraising and selling by auction, and are
under the jurisdiction of the Procurcur Impérial. =

CONsEILS DES Prun'nouMEes, or Councils of Arbitrators. (1)
—These councils are inslituted for the purpose of amicably
seltling disputes abont wages, &c., between masters and their
dependants, in order principally lo _obviate strikes and other
irvegularitics. By the law of 1853, the councils of prud’-

hommes are composed of maeters and foremen of a certain

trade, clected by their peers. Masters, being French subjects,
aged 25 or upwards, of 5 years” standing, and 3 ycars’ domi-
cile within the jurisdiction of the Council,- are electors for the
master-prad’hommes 5 foremen and workmen, under the same
circamstances, are clectors for the foremen prud’hommes.  All
electors azed 30 and upwards, and skilled in reading and
wriling, are eligible.  'The masters and foremen are equally
bhalanced in the couneil, which must cousist of 6 members at
Teast.  One half of the council is renewed every second year.
Their presidents and viee-presidents are named by the Empe-
ror, and may be seleeted from among persons that are not
oligible as menbers. . They remain 3 years in office, hut may
be confirmed anew.” The different trades of Paris have heen
divided into four.clagses, namely, the melal trades, . weav-
ing, chemical preparations, and articles of Paris mrnufac-
ture.  These councils decide the most iniricate questions with
speed by the custom of the trade, generally to the satisfaction
of hoth parties.  These questions relate to counterfeits, indem-
nities, appreaticeships, the condition of children working in

factories, hours of labour, and wages. * The judgments. of the’

Conscils de Prad*hommes are without appeal for sums not ex-
_ceeding 200 fr. ; if above that 'sum, an appeal lies to the
Tribunal * ‘of *Commerce.  The - Emperor may dissolve
(1) Avbilration in mafteri-of trade dateés in Fiance from very
“early times.” Prud’hommes were named by the king, fora speci-
fled time; or permanenily, to exercise vigilance over cerfain
manufactures, to fix prices, &c. - In tertain maritime Mdficts
the fishermen used annually to elect Prud’hommes to examine
their accounts and settle their differences.

[5S
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the councils at any time. They meet at No. (8, rue
de la Douane. (1) .

CIVIL ADMINISTRATION OF PARIS.—Offices at the Ilotel
de Ville, open from 10 to 5. The Prefect of the Scine is the
chief municipal authority in the capital. Besides the duties
common to the other prefects of the empire, he exercises nearly
all the functions of an English mayor. He superintends all
public works, establishments, churches, sireels and public
ways, barracks, excise dutics, markets, hospitals, benevolent
institutions, direct taxes, public fétes, Chamber of Commerce,
and domains of the State within the departmment.  He alse pre-
sents to the munisipal council the estimales for the coming
year., Under him is a Council of Prefecture, composed of 5
members, and a sccrelary-general, with a municepal and dee
partmental Commission composed of 68 members, provision-
ally named by the government. The membars of this com-
mission are also members of the Council-general of the de-
partment, which comprises 8 members more for the arrondis-
sements of Sceaux and St Denis.  The members of cach
arrondissement form ils municipal couneil, and as such are
subject to the control of the council-gencral.

COMMUNAL AND DEPARTMENTAL ADMINISTRATION.—Under
this head are comprised four principal divisions. The First
Division has a burcau for legalizations, palents, translations
of foreign documents, sales, purchases and salarics; one for
clementary schools, boarding-schools for young ladics, the
salles d’asile for infancy, ouvroirs, (see p. 103) learned socie-
ties, the City library, and religious affairs ; (2) a third for
commerce and statistics, the Bourse, joint-slock companies,
Prud’hommes, and the Chambher of Connmerce (see p. 107); a
fourth bureau for the organization of the National Guard,
houses of corrcetion, barracks for the Gendarnicrie, Sapeurs-
Pompiers, &e.. also guard-houses, recruiting, &e.; and a (ifth
for public festivals, &c.—The Second Division comprises a

(1) The numher of cases annually brought before these coun-
cils averages 4,000, about Iwo thirds of which relate to wages.
They are gencrally seltled by eonciliation; the judgiments rare
amount fo more than a hundred, and appeals seldom occur.

(2) The Comité Central d'Instruction Primairve is composed of a
president, vice-president, 2 seeretaries, all the members of the
municipal commission who de in Paris, and 9 members he=
sides, among whom are the senior mayor and the senior curale
of Paris, the Grand Rabbi, and 2 pastors of {he Lutheran and Rew
formed Churches. This commitlee has the inspection of all pri=
mary schoolg, and nominales or revohes communal masters.
Besides this, there is a committcee of primary instruetion in each
of the 20 arrondissements, under the presidency of the mayor,
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bureau for inscription and delivery of deeds, the archives of
the civil department, the installation of municipal couneils,
the nomination of maires in the communes of more than 6060
inhabitants, presentation of candidates for various functions
and the Legion of Honour, statistics, administration of rural
communes, expenses of the mairies, sale and purchase of land,
burials and verifications of deaths; a second burcau has the
direction of the octroi, public weights and measures, the
letting of stands in the streets and public walks, coach-stands,
slaughter-houses, and the butchers’ trade.  The third bureau
superintends the hospitals and asylums of the Scine ; the Mont
de Piété, foundlings, lunatics, wet-nurses, vaccination, ton-
tines, and encouragement to charitable institutions. The fourth
burcau is devoted to mortgage inscriptions, national property,
fisheries, national pension list, sale of unclaimed articles found
in the streets, expenses of prosecution under the game-laws, &e.
The fifth has the compilation -of the electoral and jury lists,
the division of electoral colleges, the verification and publica-
tion of the results of clections of Deputies to the Legisla-
tive Body, of members of councils-general, mayors, &c.
—The Third Division has a bureau for the maintenance of
canals and rivers, roads, bridges, railways, mills, manufacto-
ries, and cleanliness of streets; a sécond burean for the canals
of the Qurcq, St. Denis, and St. Martin; for hydraulic ma-
chines, distribution of water and gas, fountains, sewers, street-
pavements, foot-paths, and planiations; a third for the direc-
tion of the plan of ‘Paris, the widening of streets, expropria-
tions, the naming of streets, numbering of houses, and expenses
relating to these various subjects; and a fourth bureau com-
prising the exccution of public works ; the granting permissions
for building, regulations relating thereto, huilding and repair-
ing the Tiotel de Ville, churches, prisens, and colleges, slaughter-
houses, markets, the Palais de Justice, and the cemeteries of
Paris.—The Fourth Division has a burcan for the collection and
imposition of the taxes, &e. ; another for the verification of the
lists of tax-payers, the reduction of taxes, &e. 5 a third for the
compilation of the budget of the department, pensions, accounts
of the treasurers of benevolent institutions and the octroi ;and
a fourth for the liquidation of cxpenses ordered by the Prefect,
orders for payment, and accounts of the department.

The offices of the Treasurer of the City of Paris are at the
Hotel de Ville.—The financial service of the Department of the
Scine is conducted by the following administrations: —Direction
de l’Enreg{strmwm et des Domaines, rue Neuve de la Banque.
—Direction des Contributions Directes, 9, rue Poulletier, e
St. Louis. The Administration of the Customs, 2, rue de
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Luxembourg.—Direction of Indsrect Taxes, 12, rue Duphot,
—Direction des Droits d’Octroi, at the Hotel de Ville.—
Recette Centrale du Département, 24, rue Mont-Thabor.—
Direction de la Poste aux Chevaux, 2, rue Pigale.

To each of the arrondisseinents of St. Denis and Sceaux there
is a sub-prefecl, with a Conseil d’ Arrondissement.

Matries.—Each of the 20 arrondissements of Paris (see their
list at p. 4) is headed by a mayor and one or two deputy
mayors, whose principal functions relate to births, marriages,
and deaths. The prefect of the department is the head mayor.
The offices of the mairies are open daily {rom 9 till 4, except
on Sundays and holidays. The mayors or deputy mayors sit
every day from 12 ill 2.

TiMBRE IMPERIAL.—Bureaux for the distribution of stamped
paper are established in the different quarters of Paris, besides
the central office, 9, rue Neuve de la Bangue.

ELEcTORS.— The electoral law of February 2, 1852,
gives the right of suffrage to every Yrenchman born, or
foreigner naturalized, of the age of 21 and upwards, on condi-
tion of a 6 months’ residence in the commune in which he is
to vote. Persons who have suffered condemnation for crimes
and certain offences specified by law are ‘excluded. Soldiers
only vote when present in the commune to which they be-
long. Electors of the age of 25 and upwardsare cligible to the
Legislative Body. The department of the Seine is divided
into 9 electoral circumseriplions, each of which returns a
member. The number of electors inscribed is about 340,000.

Jurors.—By the law of 1853, a juror must be 30 years of
age at least, and in the full enjoyment of his civil and political
rights. The high functionaries of the state and those belong-
ing to the police or customs’ department, ecclesiastics, school-
masters, domestics, illiterate persons, and such as have under-
gone certain condemnations, are excluded from the jury-list.
Septuagenarians and workmen are exempted. The annual jury-
list of the department of the Scine contains 2000 jurors. Per-
sons refusing or neglecting to serve on the jury are liableto a
fine of from 200 to 500 fr.

ADMINISTRATION OF THE POLICE.—DPREFECTURE DE
Porice, rue du Harlay, Quai des Orfevres. — Offices open
every day from 9 till 4. The Bureuu de Sireté is open night
and day. The authority of the prefect extends over the whole
of the department of the Seine, the district of St. Cloud, Sevres,
and Meudon, in the department of the Seine-et-Oise, and mar-
ket of Poissy. He is under the authority of the minister of
the Interivr. e is president of a Conseil de Salubrité,
composed of 20 members, all physicians, surgeons, or chemists,
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specially entrusted with the superintendence of the samur{ re-
gulations of the capital, the cleanliness of streets, markets,
sewers, &c. It holds its sittings every other Friday at the
Prefecture (1). The Secrétariat-Général has a bureau for trans-
lations of documents, legalization of the signatures of the princi-
pal functionaries of the Police-department, statutes of joint-stock
companies, statistics, and nomination and discharge of police-
officials. A second bureau has the management of the Garde
de Paris and Sapeurs-Pompiers, the surveillance of theatres,
and public balls, societies, hawkers, bill-stickers, public festivals,
apprehension of deserters, smugglers, and control over socielies
of mutual assistance. Lastly, a third bureau is entrusted with
the reprinting of ordonnances, the restoration of articles lost or
seized, and the treasury of the Prefecture. Besides the Secré-
tariat-Général, there are 2 divisions, the first of which has a bu-
reau for the detective service, repression of vagrancy, and
classification of the sentences of the criminal courts; a second
bureau for passports, permis de séjour, licences for fire-arms,
furnished hotels, livrets of servants and workmen, &c. ; a third
for prisons; a fourth bureau for prosecution of persons ar-
rested on an order from departmental authoritics, liberated
convicts, or persons to be sent to an hospital; a fifth bu-
reau for licences to prostitutes, the surveillance over maisons
de tolérance, the scarch after persons who have disappeared
from their homes, the Mont de Piété, public sales, strikes among
workmen, suicides, accidental deaths, lotteries, and gaming-
houses, lastly, a sixth for the insane, children abandoned by
their J)arents, orphans, nurses, and maisons de santé.—The
second Division has a bureau for the inspection of markets,
&ec., the deposits of grain by bakers, the bread-assize, the de-
struction of unwholesome victuals exposed for sale, the Bourse,
brokers and workmen of the halles, the verification of weights
and measures, the surveillance of ports, canals, floating uanu-
factories on the river, steamers, wine and coal-merchants. A
second bureau is for the demolition of houses, and for other
works to be executed in the streets, the emptying of sewers,
the numbering of houses, public thoroughfares, pedlars and
itinerant venders. The third has the surveillance of the clean-
ing, watering, and lighting of streets, sewers, aqueducts, and
fountains, public carriages and wagons. The fourth and last is
for dangerous or noisome establishments, breweries, locomo-
tives, fireworks, public health in general, exhumation of bodies,
cemeteries, and the hours of labour in manufactories.—The
Garde de Paris and Sapeurs Pompiers, in cases of fire, are un-

(1) There is & Comits de Salubrits Publique in each arrondisse~
ment, connected with the Conseil,
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der the Prefectof Police. -Duringthe night the sergents de ville
patrol the streets every half hour. They are also stationed at
the theatres, concert and ball-rooms. (1)

Connected with the Police are the following :

Commissaires de Police.—In each of the eighty quartiers
of Paris resides a commissary of police, who superintends
its cleanliness and lighting; takes cognizance of misdemeanors;
makes the first examination of crimes and offences; delivers
certificates to obtain passports upon the attestation of two
householders. The commissaries are in continual communica-
tion with the people, and attend to the complaints they may
have to make. Their residence is known at night by a square
lantern of red glass hung at the door.

Bureau de Vérification des Poids et Mesures, rue de la
Coutellerie.—New weights and measures are stamped at this
office hefore they can be used in commerce; and inspectors
verify every year those in use by tradesmen,

Secours aux Noyés et Asphywxiés.—Witnesses of accidents
on the Seine and elsewhere are hound to afford the first aid,
and to call the ncarest physician or surgeon, or lo make it
known to the ncarest military post or commissary of police. A
reward of 25 fr. is given to any one who gels to shore a drown-
ing person, if restored to life; and 15 fr. in case of death.
About eighty sets of apparatus for restoring suspended anima-
tion are deposited on the banks of the Seine (2).

La Morgue, behind Notre Dame.—This is a place in which
the bodies of unknown persons who have met with acci-
dental death are deposited for three days. They are laid
upon inclined slabs of black marble, twelve in number, open
to the inspection of the public, in order that they may be re-
cognized by those interested in their fate. Their clothes are
hung up near them, as an additional means of recognition.
If not claimed, they are buried at the public expense. The
hodies are separated from the public by glass screens.

PRISONS. —1t was not until 1670 that improvements were
introduced into the prisons of Paris, Under Louis XVI,

(1) The expenses of the Prefecture of Police amount to abhout
42,000,000 fr. The central administration comprises 280 empleyés.
Of the 80 commissarics of Police, 24 receive 6000 francs a-year,
the rest 5,400 francs a-year.

(2) The number of medals given in 1863 for acts of humanity
in saving pevsons from drowning or-otherwise was 1,212, viz., 39
gold and 1,173 silver. The number of persons saved was 940.
In 1862 (last return) the number of bodies expused was 307,
viz., 256 men,and 51 women. The Morgue (from morgucr, to
scrutinisej, was formerly a police-prison in the Pelit Chitelet.
{see p,307 n.) The annual average of suicides in France is 2,600.
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M. de Malesherbes ated lanatics and political offendere
from - criminals ; other improvemenis econtemplated by .
M. Necker were interrupted by the Revolution. On Sept. 29,
1791, a law was passed which established houses d’arrét, of
justice, and delention. All other prisons were prohibited, and
mildness towards the prisoners was enjoined. The execution
of the measure was scarcely begun, when the system of
terror filled the prisons with those who ought to have been for
ever strangers to them. The 9th Thermidor put an end to that
state of things; and public opinion loudly demanded a echange
in the system. In 1795, by a decrec of the Convention, sepa-
rate prisons were appointed for the different classes of offenders,
and the penal code enacted. The improvement of the prisons
has since occupied the attention of the municipality of Paris and
of the government; and the new buildings now produce satis-
factory results. All the prisous of Paris are annually visited by
a Commission selected from among the members of the Coan~
cil-General. The conveyance of prisoners from one dépot fo
another is performed by mcans of cellular vehicles, and the
disgusting chafne, traversing the country slowly with felons
to the hulks (galéres), is now abolished.

The prisons of Paris under the jurisdiction of the Prefect of
Police are 8 in number, viz. for persons under accusatioa or
under trial; debt; political offences and offences liable to only
{ year’s imprisonment ; for those condemned to death or to the
hulks; juvenile criminals; and females. Besides these there is
1 mailitary prison, under the jurisdiction of the Minister of
War. In most of the penal prisons the criminals are allowed
books and writing-materials; (1) they are bound to observe the
religious duties of their respective creeds ; meals are in common;
work is obligatory, but permission may be obtained to exercise
a particular trade.  They may receive visits from their famil2s.
Men receive 750 gr. (1% 1b.) of bread a-day ; women 700 gr. (2)
For permission to visit any of the prisons, application must be
made by letter to M. le Préfet de Police, & la Préfecture. Itis,
however, but rarely granted (3). .

(1) Most of the prisons have libraries for the prisoners.

{(2) The daily supply of bread to all the prisons amounts lo
700 kilogs. of white, and 3,400 kilogs. of hrown bread.

(3) There are in France 385 prisons (maisons d'arvél), and 23
maisons centrales ; they are occupied by about 71,000 individuals;
about 22,000 falling to the share of the maisons centrales.
There i8 at present but one bagne, wherce forgats or convicts
are kept; viz., at Toulon; all the others have bheen gra-
dually cleared, and the convicts sent to the penal settle-
ment at Cayenne. The work done by the prisoners in the
maisons centrales amounts to ahout 4,000,000 fr., of whieh
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A prison, important hoth for its size and its historical agso-
ciations, LA FORCE, (see p. 273,) has been replaced by the

PrisoN MopiLE, or NouveLLE Forck, boulev Mazas,
opposite the Lyons railroad. This .prison is constructed
on the well-known cellular system. A semicircular building
forms a centre, to which converge six large wings, each com
sisting of a ground floor and two stories of 70 cells each ; se
that every wing contains 210 cells, and the whole structurq
1260. A round hall of observation occupies the central body,
and communicates with the long internal corridors which in
each wing separate the two rows of cells frorn one another.
In this rotunda is the altar, of white marble, placed on a cir-
cular platform supported by 8 Doric columns. Around the
frieze is the following inscription: Gaudium erit in ceelo su-
per uno peccatore penitentiam agente, quam super nongs
yinta novem justis qui non indigent parnitentia. From this
altar, which is approached by a bridge communicating with the
lower gallery which runs around the circular hall, the keeper
may survey at a glance the 6 galleries which extend from i
as from a centre. Each gallery has 2 wooden balconies esta-
blishing a communication with the cells of each story, and cen-
necied with one another by bridges. The warders in the
galleries may communicate with the rotunda by speaking-tubes
fixed in the walls. Every cell has a bed, gas-burner and water-
closet, and communicates with an apparatus intended both for
ventilation and the distribution of warm air. When a prisoner
is in want of something, he pullsat an iron knob, which causes
an iron blade to project outside, on seeing which, the warder
stationed in the gallery immediately attends to him. The door
of each cell has a small opening closed by a shutter, from
which food is passed into the cell at meal-times. The warder
may, besides, by turning a knob, open unobserved a small
hole in the deor, through which he may see what the prisoner
is about. Besides these ordinary cells, there are cells of pu-
nishment in each gallery, where unruly prisoners are shut up
with nothing but a straw-mattress, in total darkness. Each
cell is about 12 feet long by 6 in breadth. There is a parlosr
for each gallery on the ground floor, where persons who have
oblained permission from the prefecture may converse with
about onc-fourth by women. The women are employed in
needle-work, glove, fringe, and lace-making, &c. ; the men in
tailoring, shoe-making, cabinet-making, ctc. The produce of
prison lubour in the department of the Seine amounts to
about 500,000 fr., the gain per day being from 1 fr. 5e. to afr.
1 4 e, The general average is 44 1j2 ¢c. The produce iy divided
equally between the prisoners and the administration ; the latier
concedes its part to contractors fora certain sum daily.
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the prisoner they call for. These parloirs contain 7 stalls
each, with iron grates, where the prisoners are introduced
without the possibility of seeing or communicating with one
another ; opposite these are 7 cells for the visitors, also grated ;
a keeper walks between these lLwo rows during the conversa-
tion, so that no paper or other suspicious article can change
hands. There are also a guard-room, a cantine where prisoners,
by means of the keeper, may buy what food they like be-
sides the prison-fare, a dispensary for medicines, and rooms
for overseers in the upper stories, all contiguous with the cen-
tral rotunda. In the cellars is the large apparatus for calefac-
tion and ventilation, consisting of 6 large stoves in which a
constant fire is kept up, thus distributing warmth through
pipes in winter, and producing a draught in summer through
the central chimney, which carries off the impure air from
all the cells. Railways run all along these cellars under the
galleries, communicating with the kitchens, which are in a
court apart from the prison. The rations are contained in tin
saucepans, 18 of which fill an iron salver fitting in a wooden
frame upon wheels. Each frame, holding 12 of these salvers,
is, when full, wheeled on the railway to the bottom of a gal-
lery, whence it is drawn up by pulleys to the upper stories, and
the contents distributed to the prisoners by the warders. In
the yards between the wings are the préaux, circular enclo-
sures divided by walls into 20 small courts communicating
with a central building, so contrived that the prisoners may
cach enter their court for the sake of exercise without bheing
seen by the others. Each court is closed in front by an iron
railing, and has a shed for bad weather. A warder stationed
in the central building may survey them all. Every prisoner
has an hour’s airing here daily. A cheminde ronde runs all
around the prison ; sentinels are placed there at intervals. e
gas-apparatus consists of three gasometers of 150 cubic metres
cach. There are 1460 gas-burners in the establishment. In
another part of the chemin de ronde is the dead-house, and
further on a yard containing the guard-house for 100 men, and
another in which is the sick-ward. Here the prisoners live in
common. The walls facing the rue Mazas and the first court
are piereed with loop-holes intended for the defence of the prison
in case of a popular outbreak. This prison is reserved solely
for persons awaiting trial. 1Its annual costis about 95,000 fr.

Ma1soN D’ARRET DES MADELONNETTES, 12, rue des Fontaines,
soon to be transferred to the rue de la Santé (see p. 415).—
This building formerly belonged to the Filles de la Made-
letne, nuns who devoted themselves to the reclaiming of aban-
doned women. Since 1789 it has been used, first, as a prisou
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- for females, and, on their removal to St. Lazare, as a tempo-
rary prison for men and boys. Its present population is
about 600, and consists both of condemned criminals and per-
sons awailing trial. The adult prisoners sleep together in
wards of from 20 to 60 beds; they pass the day in the préau,
or prison-yard, where they also take their meals. In the
centre of this yard is a covered reservoir of water, where they
are allowed to wash themselves. There are several trades car-
ried on here, such as shoe-making, tailoring, stitching, weav-
ing, &c., (sce p. 255.) The yard and wardsfor boys are in a
scparate part of the building. The juvenile prisoners, who
are sent here for vagrancy, theft, &c., are organized on a
military plan ; the best behaved become corporals and serjeants,
They stay here till they are 21, unless their friends claim
them. They are faught to read and write, and obliged to
work at a trade ; they earn 20 centimes a-day, which they
reccive on leaving the prison. DPolitical prisoners are some-
times sent here, and put with the boys as a favour. Theparlosr
is similar to that of the Prison Mazas. The chapel is plain.
During religious service the men are scparated from the
boys. 1ts annual costis abeut 30,000 fr. .

DEépoT DPE LA PREFECTURE DE POLICE.—This prison, owing
to the demolition of the Prefecture of Police, 18 situated in
one of the provisional buildings of the rue du Harlay. It
is a place of temporary confinement, where persons arrested
are detained 24 hours and then either set at liberty or sent
to one of the other prisons. The ward on the ground-floor is
reserved for prostitutes, who generally are released after a few
-hours’ confinement, théir only {ault being disorderly behaviour.
There are cells for the insane, who are not kept there more
than 12 hours at the utmost, as a medical man attends twice
"a-day'to decide whether or not they be in a state to require being
sent to an asylum. Some. of the cells are called prisons de-
pistole, for such as are willing to pay for them. Thereis alsoa
room set, apart for the children of prisoners, or such as have
heen”found lost or abandoned: --The distribution for meals’
‘is effected as, follows < a keeper stands before the door, from
whieh.one prisoner at a time emerges with.a bowl in his hand,
" .whiere lte-receives his portion, and -immediately passes into an
adjoining room to cat. In the mean time the common prison
left empty is eleaned; and aty the next meal the prisoners by
‘the same’ pracess return to their dld quarters. The floating
population of this place..amounts on an_ average to 230 in-
dividuals; the mean ¥ntrances and - exits pér day being 120.

The CONCIERGERIE, in the Palais de Justice, is used as a
depot for prisoners during their trial, and sometimes for no-
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torieus offenders before their committal. For the historical
asvociations connected with this prison, and its description, (see
p: 802.) It costs 25,000 fr. annually.

MILITARY PRisoN, 38, rué du Cherche Midi.—This prison
veplaces the old Prison de I'Abbaye, which stood at the
‘torner of the rue Ste. Marguerile, and was formerly a house of
votreetion within the jurisdiction of the Abbaye of St. Germain
des Prés. (1) The new building serves as a house of arrest for
military offences (sec p. 381). To visit this prison apply to
the Ministet of War, but permission is seldom granted.

Prison ¥oR DEBTORS, 70, rue de Clichy.—This prison is of
plain construction, airy, and well situated ; it holds from 300
t0 400 persons, and costs 30,000 fr. yearly. (2)

Str. PELAGIE, rue du Puits I’'Hermite.—This prison, formerly
a oonvent of nuns, suppressed at the revolution of 1789, was
aflorwards converled into a prison for debtors. It has for
some years been appropriated to persons condemned to im-
prisonment for not more than a year, or awaiting trial, and to

ilical offenders, sentenced {o short terms of confinement.

e tnternal arrangement of the prison has thevefore been much’
ix:groved. Political offenders are kept apart from the rest,

are at liberty to occupy themselves as they please. DPri-
séners receive soup and boiled meat twice a-week. They are
not obliged to work, but mnay if they choose. There are three
courts, one of which is set apart for political offenders.
About 530 persons are generally confined here. The buildings
are large and airy. Iis cost to the city is 40,000 fr.

BT. LAZARE, 107, rue du Faulourg St. Denis.—This was the
aacient convent of the Lazarists ; but it is row converted into
a general prison for females committed for trial, or condemned
to imprisonment for terms not exceeding one year. The Mai-
oon Centrale, to which they are sent for longer periods, is ~t
Clermont. This prisen is divided into three sections, altogether
distimct from each other ; the first contains, 1, criminals com-
mitted for trial ; 2, those who are undergoing a sentence of im-
grisonment ; 3, children under 16 years of age. The second
wottion is devoted to prostitutes condemned to short impri-
somiment for offences against sanitary or other regulations of
the police. Thereis an infirmary for each section. The children

(12 The horrors which took place there during the Revolution
P 1780 gave the Abbaye a featful interest. It was one of the
WMt prisons entered by the bands of assassins in September 1192,
A mock tribanal here sat upon each victim, whence they were
dismissed to'the hands of the furious mob who were waiting with-
out, h_ghwhom they were all mercilessly massacred.

. (®) The anhual number of debtors sent here ranges between 430
and 500, The population averages 410.
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are locked up at night in separate cells, where they are strictly
watehed b n&mﬂ:so'; galleries extending all along them, which
have windows opening upon them, but protected by bars and
Jattices. The number of these cells is 200 ; there are besides
sther cells in an unwholesome part of the building, which
are only had recourse to in cases of extreme necessity. - The
other sections have dormitories of various sizes. There are
also pistole cells here, containing from 2 to 3 beds, where
prisoners able to pay 25 or 32 sous for every ten days ipay

- enjoy a little more comfort. The infirmary of the prostitates
contains 340 beds, distributed into 17 wards. The prisoners
of each section pass the day in difterent halls, mot unlike
school-rooms. A sister of St. Joseph, 40 of whom attend this
prison, presides at an elevated desk, and strict silence is en-
forced during the hours of labour (see p. 74.) The prisoners
receive one quarter of their carnings daily, and another
quarter on leaving the prison. The children are taught to
read and write ; in case of ill-behaviour, they are punished b
being exeluded from the class for a short period, and this
punishment is found extremely effectual. The refectory is on
the ground-floor, and consists of a hall, the ceiling of which
18 supported by nine columns. Here the prisoners awaiting
trial, the condemned prisoners, and the prostitutes that are
not confined in the infirmary take their meals at different
hours. The cantine, where prisoncrs may buy any humble
dainties they may fancy, furnishes part of the prison
revenue. The diet conmsists of hall a litre of broth, with
two-fifths of pulse or vegetables; on Sundays and Thursdays
each prisoner has 125 grammes of meat. A chemin de ronde
surrounds the building. The prison has its own bakehouse ;
the loaves weigh 700 grammes each, that being the daily ra-
tion.- The chapel comsists of a nave and galleries capable
of containing 900 persons. The number of prisoners is from
900 to 1,100, the annual movement of the population of this
prison is about 10,000, and the cost 70,000 fr. (see p. 238.)

DEPOT pES CONDAMNES, or Nouvcau Bicétre, rue de la Ro-
quette.—This prison is intended as a temporary place of
vonfinement, rarely exceeding six months, for eriminals econ-
demned to hard labour or transportation. It consists of a
ite of buildings surrounding a large quadrangular court 180 ft.
150 ft., three stories high ; the lower of which is occupied

by workshops, &o., the two upper by the prisoners’ cells.
The greater -part of the western side. is aliotted to the lodgings
of the director and other officers, the general linen store, &c.
In this side, too, is the entrance, the porter's lodge, corps-de-
garde, &e. A smell court, adted to the eastern side, is sur-
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rounded by a commodious chapel and an infirmary containing
36 beds. A court, in which surveillants and sentinels constantly
keep guard, surrounds.the whole ; each prisoner has a separate
room, in which he is locked at night ; and there are cachots,
or dark chambers, for refractory prisoners, as well as three
condemned cells for prisoners under sentence of death. There
is a fountain in the middle of the great court. The average
number of prisoners is 400, Prisoners condemned for crimes
comparatively minor importance may, by applying to the
inister of the Interior, obtain permission to pass the time of
their sentence in this prison, on conditiop of paying 60 cen-
times a-day, or 219 francs a-year, to the State. During
their stay in the prison, the convicts are generally ebliged to
work at a trade (see p. 74). Theconvicts are paid by the piece ;
Government takes one-half 6f their earnings for prison
expenses ; of the rest, they receive one half every Saturday,
and the remainder on their discharge. But, owing to the limited
number of irades pursued in the establishment, few of the
convicls here are set to the trade they have been brought up to;
80 that they are generally obliged lo learn a new one. Nor
i there always work sufficient for all the inmates, as that
depends upon the demand in the markets ; owing to this cir-
cumstance, there are often upwards of 250 men without
work, who lounge in the yard, or trowd in winter to the
chauffoir, a large heated room on the ground-floor. Every
prisoner who has employment works ten hours a-day, but is
allowed. two hours’ exercise in the open air. The prison diet
consists.of 1% Ib. of coarse but wholesome bread per day; a-

- broth soup in the morning, and another soup: of ‘some kind of
- pulse for dinner, excépt twice a-week, when a piece of boile:]
meat is given instead. The distribution is effected with great
regularity ; the provisions are brought into each warc, and
each man. on hearing his name called, steps forward and re-
. ceives his share. - The relations or friends of the pri-
-somers are admitted to see them in-the parivir on Sundays
and Thursdays from 11 to 3..(see p. 76)." The prison ‘is
guarded by a detachment of - 34 soldiers, and 18 keepers or
survetllants-are attached to it. This building may be looked
upon as a model, both as regards solidity and sanitary ¢ondi-
tions. 1t wps designed by M. Gau, built in the short space of
18 months, and.cost .1,245,000 fr. Its annual cost is 35,000 fr.
__ Ma1son CENTRALE D’EDUCATION CORRECTIONNELLE, or Prison
des. Jeunes Détenus.—This prison, immediately- ‘opposite the
last-named oné, is constructed upon the cellular principle,
and has the Tlppearance of a feudal castle. It was planned by
M. Lebas, and consists of a hexagonal pile, with circular tur-
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fels at the angles, from each of which wihgs comgdge to a
circular one in the centre. Six courts are thus inclosed, all of
which are built on precisely the same model. The interior ar-
rangement does not differ materially from that of the Prison
Mazas (see p. 75). Each story contains 95 separate cham-
bers, 7 ft. square by 8% ft. high, with a window looking into
the court, and a door opening into a passage. This prison is in-
tended for such male offenders under the age of 16 as have been
declared by the tribunal incapableofjudgment ; they are thensub-
jected to correctional education for a certain time, not exceeding
their 20th year. Even beforesentence young offendersare brought
here and subjected to the severe regulations of the prison. If
the parents or relations of the culprit declare themselves
answerable for his future good behaviour, he is released and
delivered into their hands notwithstanding the sentence (1). The
prisoner is perpetually confined to his cell, except when he is
taken to the chapel to hear mass, or to the parloir, to converse
with his friends. His cell is both his workshop and bed-room.
He rises at 6, makes his bed, washes himself, says his prayers,
and breakfasts. He works from 7 to 9, and from 10 to 3;
his dinner is then brought to him, and at 4 he resumes his
work till 6 p.m. From 6 to 8, he reads and writes, A mo-
nitor stands in the passage, and dictates in a loud voice, 8o as
to be heard in all the cells under his control, the small grated
window in the door of each cell being left open for the pur-
pose. Such is the monotonous- life the young convict leads
from day to day, till his time expires. When the weather
allows of it, he has an hour’s walk alone in one of the six prin-
cipal courts, or in one of the small ones which have been added
for this purpose. Thus 40 prisoners may take exercise at a time,
without seeing each other. The name of the prisoner is unknown
even to the overseer, who can only distinguish each individual
by the number which is fixed above the door of the cell.
Twelve trades are taught here by 24 teachers, who instruct
the prisoners in carving, tailoring, shoe-making, button-mak-
ing, joinery, turning, and working metals. The prisoner earns

(1) A late report: “publishied ry—the' Mimister of-the- Inteffer,
shows that in 1837 there were in France 1,334 young prisoners ;
in 1842, 2,172; in 18417, 4,216; in 1852, 6,443; and in 1837,
9,364. This remarkable increase is out of all proportion, and it
may be questioned whether children cught to be subjected to
prison discipline. Whilst some departments have only furnished
a contingent of five or six to this melancholy list, the Seine has
supplied 1,219 young offenders ; and whilst the ordinary expense
of a prisoner amounts to 60 centimes per day, that of a young

prisoner, owing 1o the greater expense of the establishment, ex-
ceeds 8oc.
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a certain sum per day, but is kept in ulter ignorance of the
amount. His account is kept at the office with minute regu-
larity, and on leaving the prison he receives the sum due to
him., On the eastern side of the prison are the director’s
house and apartments for other functionaries ; on the western
i8 the infirmary. The average number of prisoners is 500,
and their annual cost 32,000 fr.

Connecled with this prison and that of St. Lazare are the
two following benevolent institutions :—

SOCIETE pE PATRONAGE DES JEUNES LIBERES DE LA SEINE.—
This excellent institution, founded in 1833, is intended for the
management of young prisoners while in confinement at the
Maison Centrale, and for observing their conduct after the expi-
ration of their punistament. Each member has one or more young
prisoners under his own especial care, and whose patron he is.
The liberatod prisoner is hound apprentice lo a trade, and the
society assist the family in maintaining him if their means are
imsufficient. Every individual costs the society on an average
80 fr. a-year. Themost gratifying effects have already resulted
from the efforts of this snciety, which is also assisted by govern-
ment. The conduct of the prisoners is greatly improved, and
the number of cases of recommittal diminished from 75 to 7
por cenl. The government allows the society 70 centimes per
.day for each prisoner libcrated before the expiration of his time,
but only during the rewmaining period of his sentence, being
the same allowance as that given to a colony at Mettray, near
Tours, (1) for young offenders sent thither from prison, and
employed in mechanical and agricultural work. An annual
meeting for the distribution of prizes for good conduet, &ec., is
"held at the lotel de Ville, and a report is published every year.
The secretary’s office is at 9, rue Meziéres,

The other association is called Société de Patronage pour les
Jeunes Filles libérdes et délaissces, 89, Rue de Vaugirard.
The City pays 4000 fr. a-year to each of these two sc .ieties,
and 4,500 fr. to the colony at Meltray.

LAWS OF FRANCE AFFECTING BRITISH RESIDENTS.

Binrns. --The Freneh Jaw requires, in case of Foreign as of
Prench parents, that within three days every birth he declared 1o
the mayor of the arrondisscment, and the child faken to the
mayor's officer and produced to the officer who registers the
birth. The father, or in his absence the midwife or medical
man who atteuded the Lirth muast make the declaration. Two
witnesses, men or women, are besides necessary fo sign the re-

(1) This adniivable colony reccives voung offenders not older than 17, from
the ditferent prisons ol France, on condition that the thme still remaining of
their sentence he not less than 3 vears. Being sent to Mceltray is considered

boon. The colony consists of {2 farm-houses enclosing a _square space of

rotmd ; each house contains 2 family of from 20 to 30 Individitals, ender the
care of a chef; their pursuits are agricuitural.
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gister. Parties nol complying with these regulations are liable
to finc and imprisonment. The entry in the register is legal
evidence in England of the birth. A c¢hild born in France of
foreign parents is entitled to all the rights of a Frenchman, on
his claiming them within a year after his majority. (1)
MARRIAGES.—A marriage in a foreign country belween British
subjects is valid in England cither when it has been solemnized
tn the house or chapel of the British ambassador by a minister
of the Church of England, or as a general rule when the parties
have married in Ihe form established in the country in which
the marriage is celebrated, and it is valid by the laws of that
country; or, lastly, sinee the recent statute of 12 and 13 Vietoria,
chap. 68, when the mirriage has been celebraled before a
British Consul, who has been duly authorized for that purpose.
For a marriage in the Ambassador’s house or chapel no noli¢e
or previous residence is necessary. The parlies intending to
marry al the Embassy in (his cily are required fo make oath or
declaration hiefore the consul to the effeet that they are of
age, or tha! the proper conseni has heen obtained, and that
there is no lawlul impediment fo the marriage. To marry
according {o French law, publicalion of (he marriage is (wice
made by {he mayer of the commune of each of the parties, with
an interval of cight days between each publication. A civil cere-
mony is celehrated by the mayor of the commune in which ene
of the paries has lived for six months. The parlics must pro-
duce the certificales of their birth or bapiism, or, if notto behad,
adeclavation of scven persons made before the juge de paix of
the date and place of birth of the party, and the consent of
their parents properly authehticated; and, if they are dead,
certificates of their hurial and the consent of the grandfather
and grandmother, il living. When the man is upwards of 25,
and the woman upwards of 21, it is sufficient fo show that the
parents have been applicd to for their consent in the manner
required by the French law.—To marry at a Brilish Consulate
in France both the parties must have dwelt within ifs district not
iess than one calendar month, next preceding when nolice is
given by one of them to the Consul of (he intended marriage.
A copy of the nofice is suspended at the Consulate. The Consul
may granta license for a marriage. When the marriage is by
license, both partics have (o make oath or declare that thereis
no impediment {o their marriage, that both have had for one
calendar month previously their usual plaees of abode within
the district of (he Consul, and (hat the proper consent has been
obtained in ecase of either of fhem being a minor. At the end
of 7 days, when a license has been obtained, or otherwise at
the end of 21 days from the notice so given, the marriage may
he solemnized, in presence of the Consul, ateording to the form
of the Chyrch of ¥ngland, or according to any other religious
form, or, as a civil ceremony, and by the Consul himself, as the
parties desire. The fees arc : for entering and suspending nolice,
(1) Births and deaths are also registered at the C

late, when ted,
on pn{ment of 4s. 6d., but this does not relieve the partles from the duty
of registering them in the office of the mavor.
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108.; for every marriage solemnized by licenee, 208, ; without
licence, 108. For (he attendance of the Consul at the marriage
when by license 20s.

DEATHS.—In case of death, a declaration {hereof should im-
mediately he made at the mairie by the relatives or fricnds of
the deceased, or by the person al whose house the death took
place. The body is then visited hy a physician appointed by
the mayor fo ascertain the caases of dissolution, and cannot be
inlerred without authorisation from him, nor until 24 hours
afler the dececase, except in cases otherwise provided for by the
regulations of the police.  The hurial takes place two days
after the death, I the heirs or residuary legatees, or any of
them are minors or absent, the juge de paix can place his seals
on lthe papers and cffeets of the deccased.  The seals may also
be required by any person intene credifors or legatees.
1 a will is found e juge de paix délivers it-to the president of
the tribunal, by whom it is deposited with a notary publie.

WiLLs.—\Wills disposing of veal property in England must,
whether made there or abroad, be in the English form, namely,
signed by (he testafor, or by another person in his presence by
his direction, and allested in his presence by {wo witnesses.
For personal property in Enuland, the English resident abroad
mst likewise follow Hie Engiish Iurm unless he has established
his domicite or permanent abode {as distinguished from mere
femporary residencel in a foreign country, and then to be valid
in the Enulish conrls his will must be \’dll(] by the law of the
country of his domicile.  In French law every will made in
Feance in the Freneh form, is valid, and according o the opi-
nion of some, the French form is necessary {o the validity in
fhe French couris.of every will made in France.  Greal caution
is thus vequizite in making a will. - With regard to the valid
disposal of property by will and to the devolution of property
in case of intestaey, for house or landed property in Francze,
the Feeneh aw, and when in England, fhe English law is al-
ways followed.  For personal property the law of the country
in which the deceased had npis domicile is followed. 1t appeags
to be =till a question in the Frenel courls whether a foreigner
by =etfling permanently in France places his personal ro-
perly under the Freneh law in these respeets, when he is
neitlier naturalized. nor authorized by the government to estab-
Tish his dowmicile in Pranee,  The French law restraing the
power of disposing of property by deed or will, A testator having
one legitimale child may dispose of nol more than hdlf of his pro-
perty 5 if two children, @ thivd part; if more than two children, a
I’mu'll\parl onty witl beaf his dispe The right of each child is
sed on his death by his s ity. The testator's power of
(llspmxn'r of his property is alxo restrieled when he leaves rela-
tions in the aseending line, neither can he give to a natural child
more than the law allols to him upon an intéstacy. Natural
children, when the issue of adultery from the father or mother
being married to another person, or of incest, are incapable of
faking under a will. In default of a will, all the children inherit
alike, without distinction of sex orage; the natural children when
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recognised, also inheriting, but only, in case there ave legitimaie
children, for one-third ofllw share lh(‘v woulil have Inka-n if legi-
tlma(e,.’md for one-half of such share if the deceased left a parent
or brothers, or sisters.  Differently from the English law again,
representation is admitted for collaterals in favour of lhe ssue
of brothers or sisters only. In the case of the failure of legifi=
mate heirs, the property p‘\s\vwn(m-l\ to the recognised nafural
children, and failing .~uvh to the surviving busband er wife of
the deceased.

SUCCESSION OR LEGACY=DUTY.—This duty iz pavahle {o the
French governient in respe«t of all prupulv teft in Franee by
foreigners, whether they were residing in Franee or nol at the
time of their decease, and though the same property may be
charged with a gimilar duty in the country to which he belongs,
The duty is as follows:—For the hushand or wife of the de-
ceased, 3 per eent. ; for persons in the ascending o descendimg
line, 4 per cent. For brothers or sisters, uneles or aunts, ne=-
phews and nicces 6 12 per cent.  For grand-uneles, grand-aunts,
crand-nephe and grand-nieces, and cousins-geringn, 7 per
cent. Forrelations heyond the 4th and up to the 120h degree,
v per cent., and for stranzers in blood, 9 per cenl, Incase of
a life interest the Jife tenant pays one-half of the duly, and the
reversioner the whole :luty.  To the above rates izt be added
two-tenths of the amount of Lhe duty. sl extabdislod 22 a war
duly. Theduty must h paid within 6 nrontis frem the
In default of whire I, a further sum equal o one-haii of lho
duly becomes payable.

RESIDENCE, D03
France are bound o ohserve all and reculations for the
maintenanee of public order or dy; hul the eivil cows
ercise no jurisdiction over matlers in dispute beiween for
when they are not domiciled in France.  This rule is,
liable 1o a greal many exeeplic sine of conmmerc
transactions, or when the subjects ieidiv
inFranee, and is departed fromin favour of French il who

an citehefore the Frenchcourts Heeving the provess atihe tar of
the Procureur Impériali even foreizuersnot living ml we, and
though the cause of action arose in another country., voblaina
complete domicile and the enjoyment of all s Freneh-
man, apart from political right
to fix his domicile is necessar
from arrest in {he same ¢
give security for cosls, ane
the French courls, efe. The Lhiperey v oapplica=
tions for naturalizalion; it can only be granted afler cn-
quiry inlo the character of the foreizner and on the Gavourable
reporl of the Couneil of State. The applicant must have ohe
tained ptrmnilon to fix his domicilein France, and have resided
fen years in the country subsequently Lo this permission. But
such residence for one year will be sufticient for foreizners who
have reandered the ('ouuh'y greal serviee, or who have brouzht

- 1o it either a useful discovery or dislinguished lalenfs, or wlho
have opened great establishments in it.  Until naturalization, a

i1
anded property

ser before
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foreigner may be ordered by the Minister of the Inierior Lo lgave
the country, without assigning a reason.

ARREST FOR DEBT.—Foreigners who have not been authorised
by the Government {o establish their domicile in Franee,
are liable 1o arrest on a judgment recovered against them
at the suit of a French creditor, whether the Frenchman is
the original credilor, or has become so by indorsement of a
bill of exchange or promissory note, for not less than sse fr.;
they may also be arrcstod before judgment and without notice
by order of the President of the tribunal, given on application
of such Y¥rench credifor, unless they can show that they possess
in France a commercial establishment, or real property of suffi-
cient value. The length- of imprisonment, when the debt
has been confracted in the course of trade, or arises on a bill
of exchange, is limited to 3 months, for a sum under 500fr.,
10 6 months for under 1000 fr., to 9 months for under 1500 fr.,
and {o a year when the sum does not amount to 2000 fr. The
imprisonment is not to exceed 3 years for a sum of 6000 fr. or up-
wards.  When the debl is not of the nature ahove described the
Iength of the imprisonment is to be fixed by the judgment, and
must be from gix months to five years. Arrest must not {ake
place before sunrise nor affer sunset; nor on holidays; ner in
any house whatever, even in the domicile of the debtor, if en-
france is refused, unless authorised by the Juge de Paix, whe
must in such case accompany the officer. .The prisoner may
demand to be taken to the President of the Tribunal de Premiére
Instance, who will deeide as an arbitrator.—The keeper of the
prison, on receiving the prisoner, must enfer in the register the
judziment which authorises the arrest. This must also certify
the deposit of at least one month’s prison allowance by the
creditor, who must ajways make this deposit beforehand. A
debtor may ohtain his liberation by the payment of a third of the
amount and costs, and giving for the remainder a surety accepted
by the creditor, or approved by the Court ; by the default of the
ereditor to deposit one month’s prison allowance, fixed at sofr.;
or hy the prisoner having entered his 7oth year. 1n case of non-
payment of prison-allowance, the debtor is entitled {o a~ order
of the court for his release, provided he apply before the money
is paid; and he cannot again he arrested by the creditor, except
on payment of all costs incurred by the former in ohtaining his
liheration, with a deposit of 6 months’ allowance in advance, in
the hands of the prison-keeper.

BiLLS OF EXCHANGE.—By the law of France all endorsements
upon hills of exchange, &ec., are required to be special. Unless
a bill of exchange is payable to order it cannot be negotiated.
The holder of a bill of exchange protested for non-payment may,
upon procuring the order of a judge, distrain {he goods and
chattels of the drawer, the acceptor, and the indorsers; which,
when so faken, are deposited in the hands of justice to answer
the amount of the debt. Actions upon bills of exchange are li-
mited to 5 years from the date of the protest, or from the last
procecdings upon it ; but different and frequently contradictory
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opinions have heen hel® by judges respesting the interpretation
of the law of 1832, and of certain clauses of the code regarding
hills of exchange, and all questions corcerning ‘¢ debt.”

AMBASSADORS, CoNsULS, &e.—By the law of nations, the hotel
of an ambassador is considered as forming part of the territory
of the natien which he represents. This, however, does not
i.avalidate theright of a child of a foreigner, born within the pre-
cinets of the hotel, {o become a French subjecl on its coming
of age. The ambassador is privileged from ail ¢ivil and eriminal
proceedings, and so are his servants, secrefaries, &e.; hut the
same privilege does not apply to a consul. Thedutiez of a consul
arevery extensive: he has to watch over the commercialinterests
of his nation; 1o protect his countrymen who may be in distress,
and in some cases o exercise judicial authorily over (hem. 1n
Paris it is addde io the embassy,and the ofliceisin thesamehotel.

CorYRIGHT.—By the French law the authors of works of
literature, and composers, painters, engravers, &e., enjoy the
sole property and disposal of their worhs, during their own lives;
1o their widows for life, if entitled to it under the marriage-con-
tract; to the children of the author for 20 years from his decease,
or from the decease of the survivor of him and his widow, if
the latter takes a life-interest; to the author’s other heirs or
assignees (if he leaves no children) for 10 years from his decease.
The copyright is possessed by dramalic authors during life,
and by their families or heirs for 5 years afler. The imporiation
into France of works originating there, and pirated in a foreign
country, is a misdemeanor. Authors may dispose ef their
property to another person, who then becomes entitled to the
same rights. English authors have since 1852 equal rights
with French aulhors, on deposiling within 3 months afler pub-
lication 2 copies of their works al the Minisiry of the Interior,
and registering a prfoper declaration. _

PATENTS.—To 1ake out a palent in France all that is required
is the payment in advance of too fr. per annum during the term
of the patent, and the patentee can al any {ime discontinue the
payment, if hie finds his patent unproductive, which in that case’
becomies public property. The non-payment of the annual sum
of 100 fr. within the exaet-period allowed immediately annuls
the patent right.  Patents of importalion are no longer ¢ranted,
bnt a patentee in a foreign country, and he only, can take out a
patent for the same object in France, either in person or by an
agent in-Paris duly authorized by him. *Axthere is no ohligation
to continue the payments if theinvention should prove unprofit-
able, palents are generally taken out for the full term of 15
years. When, however, a patent for the srame invention exists
in a foreign country, il will be good in Irance no longer than
for the term that remains on the original. A patent is lost if
not worked in France within two years from its date, or during
any two congecutive years within the term granted, unless suf-
ficient cause be shown to justify this neglect. Full information
on the subject of patents may be had by applying t¢ Mr. Row-
land, patent agent, 224, Rue de Rivoli,
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TrADE MARkS.—The recent treaty of cdmmerce places British
subjects on an equal footing with the French with respect to re-
dress in France for the usurpation or fraudulent imitation of
their irade marks. . .

GAME.—Permission to carry a gun (port d'armes) may be ob-
tained at any prefecture ; it costs 25 fr., and is valid for only
1 year. The sportsman should always carry it about him, since
any authorised guard may always demand to see it; and, if not
produced, a summons before a tribunal may be made, which
will be attended with expense. Sporting must not be on an-
other’s property without leave, and on no uninclosed property
out of the season, which is generally from 1st Sept. to 1st March.

FIsHING.—Every person i3 allowed to fish with the line only,
the spawning-season excepted, in all rivers, canals, and navigable
streams belonging {o government, and in all dependencies of
such streams, &c., where a fishing-boat can pass. Every person
fishing in private waters, without permission of the owner, is
liable to a fine of from 20 {r. lo 100 {r., besides damages.

NATIONAL GUARD.—Foreigners who have not been authorised
by the Government 1o establish their domicile in France, are nok
liable fo serve in the national guard.

PASSPORT, PERMIT OF RESIDENCE.—Persons travelling withouf
& passporl are liable to be arrested and put into prison unless
they can find a person domiciled in {he canfon to answer for
them. The authorities are at liberly to detain them for a month,
or to set them free and provide them with a passport to continue
their journey. Forging or altering, or using a forged or altered
passport, is punishable with imprisonment from 1 (0 5 years.
Taking a passport in ap assumed name, or assisting in procuring
such a passport for another, is punishable with imprisonment °
from 3 months to 1 year. A police regulation for 1851 requires:
that every foreigner arriving in the depariment of the Scine:
with the intention of residing, or carrying on husiness, within
it, shall apply at the Prefeclure of Police for a permis de scjour..
This does not apply to British, Belgian, or Dutich subjects tra—
velling for pleasure or business (see p. 1.).

INNKEEPERS and masters of hotels, in France, are responsible
for the property brought into their house by a traveller and
for all robheries committed by servants or strangers, except in
the case of an armed or superior force, or where the property,
being of a very considerable value, was not shown to them, or
the existence of it mentioned when the traveller came to the
hotel, especially if any negligence as to locking-up, &e., ean
be shown against the owner. Their responsibility holds gno
even if the traveller laaves the key in the lock of his door during
the night, bec:ause he has aright to count upon the same security
as if he were *.n his own house ; but not so if he leaves the key in
during the d: 1y, bagause that is held to be an act of imprudence.
Innkeepers a nd persons letting furnished lodgings may detain
the eoffects of * a Jadger in case of non-payment, except the clothes
actually in 1 yg0 ; they cannot appropriate the effects of a deceased
or departed , gyest, but must obtain the authority of the Tribunal
le Premit /0 Instance to sell sufiicient to satisfy their claim.
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SERVANTS, if hired by the day, are paid accordingly, and dis—
missed at pleasure ; those hired by the year are paid by the ea-
lendar month, and are entitled to eight days’ warning or wages
on being dismissed, but must, if required. serve the eight days
When the servant’ gives warning, or demands to be dismissed,.
the eight days are not payablc unless the master requires the:
service of the party during that period. The masler is in all
cages helieved on ailirmation as to the amount and paywent of
wages (see p. 12.) '

APARTMENTS.—An apartment taken furnished at so mach per
week or month is presumed in the absence of written proof (o the
contrary, 1o be taken by the week or month, and nolice {o quit
can only he given for the end of a current week or month and
hefore the latter half of it begins, failing which the tenancy con-
tinues to the end of the following week or month. When,
however, the apartment is faken for a specific period, and (here
is written proof of it, no nolice is necessary. If the tenant
remains and is alowed lo remain in possession beyond the
time, the tenaney continues at the same rent. The rent is paid
in advance. When there is no written agreement {o the con-
frary an apartwent in Paris taken unfurnished is taken by the
quarter or terme: The rent is paid at the end of each quarter.
Notice 1o quil must he given 6 wceks hefore the end of a quar—
fer for a rent under 400 fr. ayear,and when ahove thatsum the
notice must be given before the commencement of that quarter,
Strietly, and for giving notice, the quarfer Legins on the 4st of
January, of April, of tuly, and of October, but for the payment
of rent and for coming in and going out, and when ihe rent
is above 400 fr.-it begins on the 15th of these months. During
the last quarler the fenant is bound to show the apartment at
proper hours to persons applying to see il. The notice to guit
should be accepted in writing by the landlord or given through
i huissier. The death of the tenant does not put an end to
the tenancy. In the absence of any wriling and until possession
has been taken, the party denying the fenancy is believed on
his oath. For the amount of the rent and its payment the evi-
dence of the landlord is preferred to that of the tenant, but
the latter can call for a valuation. The ténant is hound to de-
liver up the apartment in the same condition in which the
inventory or état des lieur described it to he, and if no such
inventory was made he is presumed to have received il in a”
good state of tenantable repair, and he is bound 1o restore it
aceordingly wilhout any allowance for nalural wear ang tear;
he is not responsible for the effects of time or for any other,
damage which happened-from causes beyond his control, or
which he can prove fo have existed before he entered. He is
liable for damage by fire, unless he can prove that the fire
broke out in another apartment, or that il could not have
broken out in his own, or that it arose from bad construction or
from force majeure.
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FORM OF A LEASE,

Je —~, propritéaire (or) principal locaiaire de — maison, la love & M.
— (ori lone & M. ——, — appartement, au —— étage, dans Tadite maisop
(dem'fbiz them accurately), pour —— ées, qui ont & courir
de —— (the day) pour — prix (amount) payable & (fime of payment), et sous
toutes les obligations hnposées aux locataires et réglées par le Code eivil.

Et moi ( the lessee) je prends 1a présente location comme et ainsi- quelle est
cl-dessus stipulée. Fait double enire nous, & —, le ——, mil- huit cent
sojxantg —~—, . (Signatures.)

EBAPTRR V.

PUBLIC INSTITUTIONS.

INSTITUT DE FRANCE.—The National Convention, by a
decree of 1793, abolished all the literary and scientifie societies,
denominated académies, established under Louis XII. and
Louis X1V., and. the arts and sciences seemed condemned to
oblivien. After the fall of Robespierre, however, the Con-
vention appointed a committee for the preservation of the
monuments ‘of France, created the Polytechnic school, opened
the colleges, founded the Conservaltoire de Musique, Conservatoire
des Arts et Métiers, &c., and by a decree of Oct. 26, 1795 (3d
Brumaire, an 111.), established the /nstitut, to replace the acade-
mies, and the Direclory appointed a number of members, whom
they authorised to elect others. The Institute was divided into
three classes; 1. physical and mathematical sciences; 2. moral
and political sciences; 3. literature and the fine arts. Bona-
parte, who was elected a member of the first class (Dec. 25th
1797), having become Consul, divided the Institute into four
classes (1803): (. physical and mathematical sciences; 2.
French language and literature ; 3. ancienthistory andlit-~ature ;
4.the finearts. In 1816, Louis XVIII. changed the four classes into
four academies, viz. 1. the Académie Francaise; 2. the Académse
Royale des Inscriptions et Belles-Lettres; 3. the Académie
Rogale des Sciences ; 4. the Académie Royale des Beauax-Arts,
and some of the most celebrated members being dismissed,
others were substituted by royal nomination, and the acade-
mies taken under the special protection of the king. In 1832,
a fifth Académse, under the name of Académie des Sciences
Morales et Politiques, was added. The funds common to
all the academies are managed by a committee of 10 members,
two from each academy, presided by the Minister of Publie
Instruction. The nominations to vacant places are balloted
for in each academy, subject however to the approval of the
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Emperor. The members of one academy are eligible to alt the
others. Each receives a salary of 1500 fr. Every time a
member attends, he receives a silver counter to denote that he
was present; non-attendance during the year exposes to a
fine, and permanent absence, without sufficient cause, to ex-
pulsion. Each academy has its special rules and funds. The
library, &c., are common to all. Their annual meetings are
held as follows.—Académie Frangaise, the first Thursday in
May ;—Académie des Inscriptions et Belles-Lettres, the first
Friday in July ; — Académic des Sciences, last Monday in Ja-
nuary ; — Académie des Beaux Arts, first Saturday in Oe-
tober ;—Académie des Sciences Morales et Politiques, the first
Saturday in January. A general annual sitting of all the acade-
mies is held in August. The Institute comprises 223 members,
besides 7 secretaries, 35 free academicians, who receive no
salary, 31 associates, and 225. correspondents.

The Académie Frangaise consists of 40 members; this see-
tion is specially charged with the composition of the Dictionary,
and the extension and purification of the language. It adju
an annual prize of 2000 fr. for poetry or cloquence, besides
two annual prizes founded by M. Monthyon, one for the work
most uscful to public morals, and another for some distin-
guished act of virtue displayed by a poor native of France; it
likewise awards a prize cach year, given by M. Gobert, of
10,000 fr., for the most cloquent work on French history, and
accords a grataity of 1,500 fr. every alternate year, the gift of
Count Maillé de la Tour Landry, to some deserving but indigent
young man of letters. Private meetings on Thursdays at 3 p.m.

The Académie des Inscriptions et Belles-Letires is composed
of 40 members, and 10 free academicians, hesides foreign as-
sociates and correspondents. The learned languages, antiqui-
ties, and monuments, the translation of Greek, Latin, and Ori-
ental works into the French language, and the formation of
archaological collections, are within their sphere. (1) This
academy awards an annual prizg of 2,000 fr. for the most learn-
ed work on French History, and another for numismatics,
founded by M. d’Auteroche. It further awards 3 medals of
500 fr, each for the best works on French antiquities, and a
prize founded by M. Gobert. It meets on Fridays at 3 p.m.,

(1) This Academy publishes—1. Ses Mémoires, 410 ; 2. Les Mé-
moires qui lui sont présentés par divers savants, 4lo; 3. Les
Notices des Manuscrils, 410; 4. Les Mémoires sur les Anliguités
de la France, 4to; 5. L’histoire litiéraire de la France, 4lo;
6. Collection des Histoires de France, folio ; 7. Les Chartes et Po-
cuments relatifs & Histoire de France, et les Letires des rois de
France, folio ; 8. Le Catalogue des Chartes, folio.
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The Academie des Sciences contains 65 members (including
the two secretaries), 10 free academicians, and 8 foreign asso-
ciates, hesides correspondents, It is divided into 11 sections,
as follows :—geometry, 6 members; mechanics, 6; astronomy,
6; geography and navigationi, 3; general natural philosophy,
6; chemistry, 6; mineralogy, 6; botany, 6; rural economy
and the veterinary art, 6 ;.anatomy and zoology, 6; medicine
and surgery, 6. This academy awards a considcrable num-
ber of prizes, of from 500 fr. to 3,000 fr., for essays on given
subjects. Among the founders of these prizes M. de Monthyon
stands first. A prize of 20,000 {r., towards which the Em-
peror contributes one-half, is open to competition for the ap-
plication of the regeneralion of bhone to surgery ; and.a sum
of 100,000 fr. has been left by the late M. Bréant for the dis -
coverer of a specific remedy for the Asiatic cholera. Until
this prize be awarded, the interest of the capital may be ap-
plied annually as a reward to those who have approached
nearest to the solution of the problem (1). Public meetings
every Monday, at 3 p.m.

The Académie des Beaux-Arts is composed of 41 members,
including the perpetual secretary, and 10 free academicians,
besides associates. It is divided into five sections, viz. paint-
ing, 14 members ; sculpture, 8 ; architecture, 8; engraving, 4 ;
musical composition, 6. Meetings every Saturday at 3 p.m.

The Académie des Sciences Morales et Politiques, restored
by an ordonnance of Louis Philippe (Oct. 26, 1832), is, since
April, 1855, composed of 40 academicians, divided into ¢ sec-
tions : — philosophy ; moral philosophy; legislation, public
law and jurisprudence; political economy and statistics ; his-
tory and the philosophy of history ; and lastly, a new section
of 10 members, under the title of ¢ Political, Administrative, .
and Financial Section.”” At least one annual prize is given.
This academy has 5 free academicians and also 5 foreig 1 as-
sociates, among whom are Lord Brougham and Mr. M'Cul-
loch. It meets on Saturdays, at-noon.

A perpelual sccretary is attached to each academy, except to
that of sciences, which has two.

BUREAU DES LONGITUDES.—This society, formed in
1795, for the discovery of methods for the more accurate de-
termination of longitudes at sea, and for the improvement of
navigation bK means of astronomical observations, holds its
meetings at the Observatory. By a decree of January, 1854,
it is composed of 9 titular members, viz.: 2 members. of the

(4) This Academy publishes—1.Compte-Rendu de ses Séances ;

2. Recueil de ses Mémoires ; 3. Recyeit de Mémoires des savants
étrangers & I’Académie,
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Academy of Sciences, 3 astronomers, 2 members belonging to
the department of the Navy, 1 belonging to the War depart-
ment, and 1 geographer. There are hesides 4 -assistant-
members, viz.: 1 member of the Academy of Sciences, 2
astronomers, and 1 member belonging to the Navy-office. To
these are added 3 artists. The Bureau compiles the Annuasre
des Longitudes and the yearly astronomical tables, called Con-
naissance des Temps, the latter being published at least 3 years
beforehand. It also devotes its attention to improvements in
astronomical instruments, the calculation of tides, and mag-
netic variations, &c¢. The

OBSERVATORY is a distinct establishment, under the
management of a director, 4 astronomers, a professor of na-
tural philosophy, and several assistant-astronomers and pupils.
The instruments, &c., are under the control of the director, who
publishes the observations made during the year, and corres-
ponds with the Minister of Public Instruction and with foreign
observatories. The observations of chronomelers, &c., are com-
municated to the mercantile navy. Director, M. Leverrier (1).

CONSEIL IMPERIAL DE L’INSTRUCTION PUBLIQUE.—
It is believed that Charlemagne was the founder of the Univer-
sity of Paris, so celebrated in the history of France. In 1789,
the 10 or 12 universities in France, and all its religious col-
leges, were suppressed, and no definite plan of public in-
struction adopted, until Napoleon I. established one im-
perial University, consisting of twenty-five academies,
for all France, under the direction of a council and a grand
master. Louis XVIII. abolished the latter, but kept up the aca-
demies. The council was afterwards re-established under the
title of Conseil Royal de I'Instruction Publique, and, in 1822,
the office of grand master was restored, and the minister of
Public Instruction invested with it. Since then, a decree of
March 9th 1852, has established a Supreme Council of
Public Instruction presided by the Minister of Public In-
struction, and composed of five bishops or archbishops,
three Senators, three Councillors of State, three members of
the Court of Cassation, thrce ministers belonging to the
Lutheran, Reformed and-Jewish creeds, five members of the
institute, cight inspectors-general, and twp heads of private
establishments of instruction. All the members are named

{1) This establishment now publishes the Bulletin de U Observa-
toire, containing the daily barometrical readings telegraphed
from the most imporlant points of the.coasts of France, with
remarks relating to the fore-casting of storms at sea. The Ob-
servatory communicales daily with Admiral Fitzroy’s department
in England for this purpose.
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the for one yoar. :The Supreme Céuncil assemnbles
ot hyait twite a-year. It gives its opihion on bills concerning
instruction, on regulations respecting examinations, &e.,
and has the control over all the Councils of Academies in France,
which are new 10, viz. Aix, Besancon, Bordeaux, Caen, Cler-
mont, Dijon, Douai, Grenoble, Lyon, Montpellier, Nancy, Pa-
ris, Poitiers, Remnes, Strashourg, and Toulouse. Every de-
partment has a departmental Council of Public Instruction un-
der the presidence of the prefect. All the academies have
lyceums (grammar-schools), colleges, and scheols of primary
instruction under their jurisdiction, and all have faculties either
of law, medicine, literature, or sciences. (1)

Public Instruction in France is distinguished into Insfruc-
tion Supérieure, comprising the faculties ; Instruction Secon-
duosre, comprising lyceums and communal colleges; and In-
struction Primaire, comprising clementary schools.” There
are 8 inspectors-general for the faculties, 6 for the establish-
ments of secondary, and two for those of primary instruction.

THE ACADEMY OF PARrIs possesses a library at the Sorbonne,
and consists of 5 faculties—Sciences, Letters, Theology, Law,
and Medicinie. The first three are established at the Sorbonne,
where the annual programmes of the lectures may be
ohtained. .

Setences.—To obtain the following degrees the candi-
@xte must be bachelier és lettres, or else undergo a
mevious trial, comsisting of a translation, both oral and

writing, from the Latin into French: Bachelier és
Sciences : logic, history, and geography ; pure and mixed
taathematics (arithmetic, geometry, trigonometry, conic sec-
tiens, surveying, levelling, projections, cosmography, mecha-
nies, and hydraulics); natural philosophy, ehemistry, soology,
animal physiology, botany, and geology ,—aM within .e limits
of the programmesof the imperial lyceums. Licenciééssciences
mathématiques : differential and integral calculus, mechanics,
and physical astronomy. Licenciééssciencesphysiques: ohernis-
try, physics, and minesalogy. Licencié és sciences naturelles :
botany, geology, zoology, and anatomy. To become a licen-
tiate, the degree of hachelor must have been taken, and two

{1) In France there are 6 facultics of catholic theology, esta-
blished at Paris, Rennes, Bordeaux, Lyons, Aix, and Toulouse; and
2 of protestant theology, at Strasburg and Montpellier. There
are ¢ facullies of law, al Paris, Caen, Dijon, Grenoble, Toulouse,
Alx, Poitiers, Rennes, and Strasburg. Three facullies of medi~
cine, at Paris, Momtpellier, and Strasburg. - Six facullies of
sciemoes and lettars, at Paris, Gaen, Dijon, Grenoble, Monipel-
lier, and Bordeaux. 5
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courses of the faculty must have been followed in the eame year.
és sciences ; candidates are required to sustain two
theses on the subjects of one of the 3 licentiates’ examinations.

Letters.—To obtain the degree of Bachelicr és lettres, the
candidale must be 16 at least, and undergo two examinations,
one in writing, and the other oral, on Greek, Latin, and
French authors, as also on questions of logic, - history
and geography, arithmetic, geomelry, and natural phi-
losophy. (1) Licencié és lettres: the candidale must be
a bachelor of one year’s standing, and have taken four
tnscriptions in the faeulty. The examinations, as above,
comsist of compositions in French, Latin, and Greek, and in
literary, philosophical, and historical questions. Docteur és
lettres, he must be a licentiate, and sustain two theses; one
in Latin, the other in French, on two distinct subjects within
the compass of the instruction given in the faculty, and at the
choice of the candidate. .

Theology : —Dogmatic theology, moral theology, sacred
scriptures, ecclesiastical law, sacred eloquence, and Hebrew.
The degrees of bavhelor, licentiate, and dootor, are also con-
forred in this faculty. (2)

The Faculty of Law is established at the Ecole de Droit,
Place du Panthéon. There are 18 professors who lecture on
the general introduetion to the study of law, the civil code, civil
and criminal procedure and criminal legislation, commercial
sode, administrative law, code Napoléon, comparative cri-
minal 1w and penal legislation ; law of nations, Roman
law, Pandects, history of Roman and French law. To be ad-
mitted to follow these courses, in order to become an avoué,
he must inscribe his name as a student; but to graduate
in this faculty he must hesides be bachelier és lettres.
Bachelier en droit : two examinations are necessary for
this degree, which is taken at the end of the second year ;
she first in the civil code and the institutes of Justinian ; the
second in the civil code, and the codes of procedure, penal
laws, and criminal process. Licencié en drott : a third year’s
study is requisite for this degree, and two examinations, one
in Roman law, the other in civil and commerocial codes, and

(1) See *“ Manuel du Baccalauréal &s Lettres.”

(2) By an ordonnance of Dec. 25, 1830, no one can be a pro-
fessor of theology without having taken the degree of doctor in
that faculty ; nor curale of a chicf town of a depariment, or any
higher functionary in the church, without being a tcentiate ; nor
etirale of a thief town of a canton without being bacheléer, unless
the functions of curate or ofilelating ininisterhave been performed
hy him fer 10 years.
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in administrative Jaw, besides a thesis. Dotteur en droit :
a fourth year is necessary for this degree ; two examinations
and a thesis consisting of two dissertations, oné of which
must be’'on Roman law.

The Faculty of Medicine, and everything relating*to that
science, is specially treated of in Chapter VII. (see p. 131).

The title of agrégé, which is independent of the usual de-
grees, is obtained after a most difficult examination by com-
petition, by such as aspire to a chair in the University. The
salaries of the professors vary from 2,000 fr. to 8,000fr. All
their lectures are public and gratuitous.

The number of students attending the faculties of the Uni-
'versity of Paris amounts to ahout 2,000, for law, 3,000 for
'medicine, and 1,500 for the sciences. Foreigners wishing to
follow the lectures of the faculties of law, letters, medicine, or
tthe sciences, arc admitted to take out their first inscription on
producing certificates required in_ their own countries for ad-
mission into faculties of the same order, if found to be equi-
walent to the French diploma of bachelier és lettres.

SCHOOLS Anp LYCEUMS.—CoLLEGE IMPERIAL DE FRANCE
1, Place Cambray, instituted in 1530 by Francois I.—At this
college 34 professors give public and gratuitous lectures on the
following subjects :—astronomy ; mathematics; general and
experimental philosophy ; medicine; chemistry ; natural his-
tory; comparative embryogeny ; natural, comparative, and
mational law ; history, political economy, archaology; Hebrew,
<Chaldee, Syriac, Arabic, Persian, Turkish, Chinese, Mantchou-
Tartar, and Sanscrit; Greek literature; Greek and Latin phi-
losophy; Latin eloquence} Latin poetry ; French literature of
the middle ages, as also modern ; literature of modern Europe;
Sclavonic literature, epigraphy and Roman antiquities.

Musig IMPERIAL D’HiSTOIRE NATURELLE, Jardin des Plantes,
—A collége or body of 17 professors gives lectures on natural
history ; palontology ; comparative physiology, anatomy and
matural history of man; comparative anatomy; general and
practical chemistry ; mineralogy ; geology ; botany ; vegetable
physiology ; rural bolany; cultivation of plants; physics
applied to natural history. There are 15 assistant preparers,
1 librarian, and other officers, besides 2 masters for instruc-
tion in drawing and painting flowers, and ‘an establishment
of painters of subjects of natural history (see p. 427.)

"CONSERVATOIRE DES ARTS ET METIERS, 292, rue St. Martin.—
This. establishment, especially intended for the technical edu-
cation of manufacturers, mechanics, and other workmen, con-
tains, according to the last regulations, 14 professorships of
practical and descriptive geometry ; natural philosophy and
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explanation of machines; agriculture; mechanics, economy,
and legislation, relating to manufactures; statistics, civil ar-
chitecture, drawing; practical chemistry, the ceramic arts,
practical agriculture, spinning and weaving, dying and print-
ing textile fabrics. There are also Sunday lectures on various
subjects (see p, 256.) All are gratuitous, and the expenses
supported by the State.

COLE NORMALE, 45, rue d’Ulm.— This institution, esta-
blished in 1808, is intended for the education of young men
who wish to become candidates for professorships. To be ad-
mitted, they must be belween the ages of 17 and 23, must
have taken the degrees of bachelier és léttres and bachelier és
sciences, and must have terminated their studies, philosophy
included, in a lyceum or in a collége communal de plein
exercice. ‘The course of education in this school lasts three
years ; but two additional years must be passed in a superior
division of the school to obtain the doctor’s degree, or be-
come an agrégé in a faculty. The establishment is admi-
nistered by 3 directors, under the control of the Minister of
Public Instruction. There are 18 professors and 80 pupils. (1)

Lycerns.—Since 1852, the lyceums or grammar-schools
comprise three divisions ; viz, an elementary one, one of gram-
mar, which all the pupils belong to until the age of 15, when
they must make their choice either to follow literature or the
sciences ; and another, called the superior division, where
both those branches are taught, and the pupils of the one have
nothing in common with those of the other, except certain
classes of secondary importance. The division of grammar
comprises the seven classes helow the second; the other, the
secqnd class, and those of rhetoric and philosophy. Theliterary
section of the upper division prepares pupils for the faculties
of letters and jurisprudence ; the scientific section prepares
them for the faculties of scicnces and medicine, the Polytechnic
and other special schools, and commercial pursuits. Pupils
must pass four years in the division of grammar, and three
in the upper one. The lyceums are visited once«a year at
least by inspectors. Each lyceum has a proviseur, or head
of the establishment, a censeur des éfudes, who has the dis-
cipline, a treasurer, and a chaplain. (2) In Paris, the terms for
boarders are : 1st division, 950 fr. ; 2d, 1050 fr.; 3d, 1150 fr.;
for outdoor pupils, 120 fr., 150 fr., and 200 fr. respectively,
and 60fr., 75fr., and 100 fr. for extraordinary classes. For the

(1) All towns possessing faculties have also normal schools for
providing the lyceums with masters and elementary teachers.
They are called Ecoles Normales Supérieures.

(2) The salaries for Paris are ae follows: — Proviseurs, 6,000

7
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higher mathematics the ch: are: boarders, 1500fr.; out-
door pupils, 250fr., extr classes, 120fr. Music, danc-
ing, &¢., are extra charges. The course of edication comprises
Greek, Latin, English, German, Spanish, and Italian ; philo-
sophy, physics, chemi'str(, mathematics, history and geo-
graphy. The study of living languages is enforced in the
sixth, fifth, and fourth classes ; it is optional in the higher ones.
Classes for industrial pursuits arc shortly to be added to the
Lyceums. There are in Paris five lyceums, between the pupils

which, and the lyceum of Versailles, there is a general com-
petition for prizés at the end of each scholastic year. To this
effect eight or ten pupils of each class who have most distin-
guished themselves are selected, and the adjudication of the
prizes is conducted with great pomp-at the Sorbonne, in the
presence of the whole corps universitaire.—The following is
a list of the imperia] lyceums : Lycée Louss le Grand, 123,
roe St. Jacques; 42 professors, comprising four lecturers on
the Arabic, Turkish, and Persian languages; 370 boarders,
and 500 day-scholars.—Lycée Napoléon (formerly Henry IV.),
rue Clovis; 18 professors, 350 boarders.—Lycée St. Lours, 94,
Boulevard de Sebastopol (left bank) ; 50 professors, 400
boarders, and 500 day-scholars.-—Lycée Charlemagne, 120,
rue St. Antoine; 40 professors, 800 day-pupils.—Lycée
Bonaparte, 65, rue Caumartin; 33 professors and 1,100 day-
pngils (1).

- Of the private establishments of a similar nature, the follow -
ing arc the most considerable : Collége Stanislas, 22, rue
Notre Dame des Champs; 30 professors, and 200 boarders.
Collége Ste. Barbe, place du Panthéon, which, including an
establishment dependent from it at Fontenay aux Roses, has
100 professors and 1,000 boarders and day-scholars, The Col-
lége "des Irlandais, 5, rue des Irlandais, is an endowed
Catholic institution for young Irish priests. (see p. 424.)

SPECIAL SCHOOLS.—Besides the colleges before mentioned,
there are various schools for special purposes founded in Paris,
mostly by government, and thereforc known under the

fr.; censeurs, 5,000 fr. (both having lodging and firing besides);
Brofenors, 4st class, 4,500 fr.; 3nd, 4,000 fr.; 8rd, 3,500 fr.

epuly+professors, 161 class, 1,800 fr.; 2d, 1,200 fr. Tothese fixed
salaries must be added the ceentuel, consisting of a portion of
the clear proftts of the lyceums of Paris and Versailles taken
collectively and divided among the functionaries, The minimum
of the éventuel guaraateed by the state is 80o Ir., but in Pgris it
has now been fixed at 3,000 fr.

{i) Besides the government schools, there are also many pri-
vate establishmentsof the kind, Last year, there were inFrance
835 private schools of secondary Instruction under laymen, and
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name of Ecoles du Gouvernement ; of theso we subg::n a list,

Beote POLYTRCENIQUE, rue Descartes, Montagne Ste. Gene-
vidve.—A decros of the National Convention, dated March 11,
1794, created an Ecole Centrale, which, by a decree of Sept. 1,
1795, took the name of Ecole Polytechnique. It was com-

le.cly re-organised in 1852. The object of this justly-cele-
gn institution is to form pupils for the artillery, the staff,
engineering, the marine service, bridges and highways, min-
ing, telegraphs, and other departments. Pupils are admitted
from the age of 16 to 20. Soldiers having served two years
are admitted until the age of 25. They must be French by
birth, or naturalized, and free from physical defects. Every
candidates for admission undergo a strict examination
m Paris and the departments, The terms are 1,000 fr. a-year,
exclusive of books and equipments. The affairs of the school
are under the superintendence of a council and an adminis-
trator. The period allowed for study is two years. The
number of pupils is 260, with 20 tgrofessors. Strangers not
admitted without permission from the Minister of War (1). It
possesses a library of 26,000 volumes (see p. 410).

EcoLe IMPERIALE DES PONTS ET CHAUSSEES, 28, rue des
Saints Péres.—This school, placed under the authority of the
Minister of Public Works, consists of ahout 100 pupils, taken
from the Ecole Polytechnique, who receive instruction in what-
ever concerns the different branches of civil engineering. Fo-
reigners are allowed to follow thelectures, onreceivingan author-
isation from the Minister of Public Works, which must be ap-
plied for hy the respective ambassador. It has 15 professors.

EcoLe p'ETAT-MAJOR, 138, rue de Grenelle.—Pupils for the
staff service are received here, selected by competition from
among the sub-lieutenants of the army and the pupils of the
Polytechnic School, and the Military School of St. Cyr.
After 2 years’ study they may be appointed to lieutenancies
of the staff, after which they are drafted inlo the regi-
ments of the line. There are 75 pupils and 15 professors.

EcoLe pES Mines, 30, rue d’Enfer.—This establishment,
erected in 1783, is under the control of the Minister of Public

256 condweted by members of tho clergy, besides 123 ecclesi-
astical seminaries, There are nine monastic bodies possessing
83 eslablishments of secondary instruction ; of these the Jesuits
have 1{ and the Maristes 13, The number of pupils in these 53
establishments is 5283 ; the_other ecclesiastical schools comprise
15,950 pupils ; the lay schools, 42,465 ; the 74 lyceums, 31,000,
and the 283 communal colleges now in existence, 29,000. Total,
exclusive of seminaries, 123,600 pupils.

(1) The fullest information on this remarkable instifution will
be found in the publication called ¢ Programms des Etudes.”
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Works, and intended for the study of mineralogy, geology,
mining, &c., for which purpose it possesses a considerable
collection of minerals, and a scientific library. At its
head is a Conseil des Mines, composed of 8 inspectors,
which directs all affairs relating to mining operations. Gra-
tuitous lectures are given in geology and Inineralogy during
six months, commencing Nov. 15. Thereare : 1, the éléves
tngénieurs, taken from the Polytechnic School ; 2. foreign
pupils, admitted by competition as day-scholars. The library
1§ public from 10 to 3, holidays excepted.

EcoLe pEs CHARTES, at the Palais des Archives, rue du
Chaume.—This institution was founded by Louis XVIII., for
encouraging the study of the ancient manuscripts contained in
the different libraries, and the dépots of the archives of the
kingdom. Three professors and four assistant-prefessors give
lectures daily on paleeography, and the art of decyphering do-
cuments, The number of pupils is unlimited ; to be admitted the
candidate must have the degree of bachelor, and undergo an
examination ; his age must not be under 18, nor exceed 25.
The establishment is open daily from 10 to 4 ; it possesses an
elegant lecture-room for 100 pupils, and a small library with
desks. where students are at liberty to study between lectures.
The students who distinguish themselves receive 600 francs
annually, from the Minister of Public Instruction, until they
obtain places as professors of the school, assistants of the
Académie des Inscriptions, or librarians.

EcoLE DES LANGUES ORIENTALES VIVANTES, at the Biblio-
théque Impériale, No. 8, rue Néuve des Petits Champs.—Here
9 professors lecture publicly and gratuitously on the following
languages :—Pure and Vulgar Arabic, Persian, Turkish, Arme-
nian, Modern Greek and Greek paleography, Hindoostanee and
its dialects, Vulgar Chinese, Malay, and Javanese.

EcoLE DES BEAUX ARTS, 14, rue Bonaparte.—This scaool,
which is under the control of the Minister of the Interior,
is divided into 3 sections, painting, sculpture, and archi-
tecture. Lectures are given gratuitously by 8 professors.
Annual prizes are distributed ; the first prizes entitle the
successful candidate to study at Rome at the expense of the
State (see p. 365).

EcoLE IMPERIALE GRATUITE DE DESSIN, DE MATHEMATIQUE,
ET DE SCULPTURE D’ORNEMENT, 5, rue de 'Ecole de Médecine.
For the instruction of artisans in drawing and architecture,
geometry, arithmetic, mensuration, timber-cutting, &c.

EcoLE IMPERIALE, SPECIALE, ET GRATUITE PE DESSIN, 7,
rue de Dupuytren.—Young women here learn figure, land-
scape, flowers, &c., for manual professions. :
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EcoLE CENTRALE DES ARTS ET MANUFACTURES, 1, rue des
Coutures St. Gervais, founded in 1828, and established on the
plan of the old Ecole Polytechnique, for young men intending
to become civil engineers, directors of manufactorics, builders,
&-. Itdoes not admit pupils under 16 ; candidates must pas.
an examination in arithmetic, algebra, geometry, and mathe-
matical drawing. The terms are 800 fr. per annum.

EcoLE SUPERIEURE DU COMMERCE, 24, rue St. Pierre Popin-
court.—Founded in 1820 by the late Casimir Périer, and by
Messrs. Chaptal, Ternaux, and Laffitte. The pupils here re-
ceive a practical commercial education, at an expense for board
and tuition varying between 1,200and 1,400 fr. a-year.

EcoLE DE LA CHAMBRE DU COMMERCE.—A somewhat si-
milar establishment to the proceeding one, opened in 1863
in the Avenue Trudaine under the superintendence of the
Chamber of Commerce. The number of pupils is 400, chiefly
children of the working classes, who here receive a business
education at a low charge. - The studies comprise modern
languages, mathematics, natural philosophy, drawing, natural
history, and geography. In the evening there are lectures for
adults. The building comprises four class-rooms, three amphi-
theatres for lectures, a gallery of natural history, and a library.

CONSERVATOIRE DE MUSIQUE ET DE-DECLAMATION LYRIQUE,
{5, faubourg Poissonniére.— Founded for the gratuitous
instruction of young persons of both sexes in singing, music,
and declamation. There are 10 bourses of 1,000 fr. founded
by the City and the Government for as many hoarders. Out-
door pupils are admitted after passing an examination, and
must have attained the age of-10 for the piano or other in-
struments, of 15 for declamation, and ‘of 16 for singing.
Theirnumber is 600 ; amusjcal library, of 8,000 volumes, public
from 10 to 3, is attached to this establishment ( see p. 231.)

CoLLEGES MoNicipAux.—There are three of these establish-
ments, belonging to the City of Paris; the Collége Rollin,
42, rue des .Postes; ‘Which affords the instruction necessary
for the University ; the Collége Chaptal, 29, rue Blénche,
intended for commercial education, and in which Frenchk
and foreign languages, history, geography, mathematics and
the natural sciences, chemistry; mechanics, the study of un--
wrought materials, technology, surveying, perspective, and
singing, form the sibjects-of. instruction ; and lastly, the Col-
lége Turgot; opposite the Synagogue, rue Neuve St. Laurent,
affording a somewhat inferior degree of -instruction. .The
Collége Chaptal alone admits boarders at 1,000 fr. a-year,
everything included. Out-door pupils pay 200 fr., or (50fr., -
if only the higher branches be required.
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INSTITUTIONS, PENsions.—These establichments are . equi-
valent to academies and boarding-schools in England, but
under the control of Government. In Paris there are 50 in~
stilutions or preparatory schools for the lyceums, and 240
pensions. The number of institutions for young ladies is about
200, and of pensions 150." There are many more such esta~
blishments in the rest of the department of the Seine, besides
smaller schools, which in Paris and ils vicinity amount to
more than 500. (8ee DIRECTORY.) .

EcoLEs PRIMAIRES SUPERIEURES DE LA VILLE DE PARIS.—
The name of these schools indicates their object. They form
the fourth class under the direction of the Imperial Council of
Public Instruction. There are two for boys, and one for girls.

ApuLT ScmoOLs.—There are in Paris 80 schools or classes
for adults, containing 14,000 pupils. The I::m receive
gratuitous instruction in reading, writing, ari ic, gram-
mar, drawing, geometry, vocal music, &c., every eveming
from 8 till 10, 8o as not to interfere with their avocations.

OuvRroirs.—These are useful establishments kept up by the
administration of hospitals for furnishing work te young girls;
there are 1 or.more in each arrondissement ; their total number
is 30, and the children frequenting them are 1,600. Their
cost, including the adult schools, is 632,125 fr. per annum.

Of the Ecoles Primaires for children, there gre,.for boys, &2
lay communal schools, and 57 coaducted by the Fréres des
Ecoles Chrétiennes, (see p. 114) ; for girls, 50 of the former,
and 53 under the guidance of the Sceurs de St. Vincent de
Paule. The total number of pupils is about 200,000. The
cxpense of all the Ecoles Primsires to the municipality is
about 2,300,000 fr. (1) annually. Children are ndnnttedf!a-
the age of 6 to thatof 15. Elementary singing is taught i~ ali
these schools. The salaries of the masters are 1,800 fr.; the
mistresses 1,600 fr. per aunam ; besides a house, or 300 fr.
for rent. Their salaries are increased every & years by
200 fr., till the total increase amounts to ¢09 &r. If they
hold an evening class for adulls, they are paid in addition
10 fr. annually per pupil (2).

ECOLES SPECIALES DE DEssIN.~Of these achools there are
7 for males, and 2 for females, maintained by the City of Paris,

%l) Under the Restoration it was oniy 7¢,000 fr.

9) The Cily has provided a school for children of the Jewish
persuasion In the Marché des Blanes Manteanx. The total htum-
ber of children frequenting the primary schools of Paris last year
was 45,361, The Ecoles Pritaires for ail France, according to the
last returns, were 82,138, oomiprising 37,808 sohools for boys
under the direction of laymen, with 2,445,420 pupils; 3334 do.
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SALLES D’ASLE, or Infant Schools.—There are 47 such,
lishments ; they receive during the day about 8,000
children of both sexes. Their annual expense is about 200,000
froacs. Infants arereceived till their sixth year (1). The Salles
Q’Asile are under the protection of the Empress, who awards
medals to the directrosses that distinguish themselves by their
exertions in the execution of their duties. Her Majesty also
presides over a central Committee of Patronage, of 27 members,
mostly ladies of rank, appointed for the propagation of those
institutions. The same illustrious lady is also, in virtue of a
decree of Nov. 1865, protectress of
‘The MaIsON IMPERIALE DE ST. DENIs and its hranch estab-
lishments, now colldctively known as the Maisons Im-
périales Napoléon, devoted to the instruction of the daugh-
ters, sisters, and nieces of members of the Legion of Ho-
nour. Thisinstitution was originally established by Napoleon I.
in the Chiteau of Ecoueu, under the superintendence of
Madame Campan, and has been rendered illustrious by the
peculiar favour of the Emperor, who often visited it; by
the Letters and the enlightened cares of its excellent gover-
ness; and by the numbers of accomplished women who have
received their education within its walls. Since 1815 it has
been fixed in the vast buildings of the confiscated Abbey of St.
Denis, and according to the latest regulations,isthus constituted.
The Grand Chancellor of the Legion presents the Lady Super-
intendent of the cstablishment to the Emperor for appoint-
ment, and names the other ladies by his own authority.
All pupils are nominated by the Grand Chancellor. The esta-
blishment consists of a lady superintendent, an inspectress,
3 directresses, a treasurer, ¢ ladies dignitaries; 12 ladies
of the 1st class, 33 ladies of the 2nd class, 20 novices, be-
sides candidates for the noviciate, and 500 pupils, of whom
400 are taught gratuitously, the remainder at the expense of
their families. The superintendent, dignitarics, and governing
members of the institution wear a decoration consisting of
a four-branched enamelled cross, and retiring pensions are al-
lowed them. Ahighly finished education is given to the pupils;
and the young ladies who are brought up here receive all the

kep! hy the elergy, with 428,008 pupils; 43,494 for girls, di-
recled by lay women, with 604,257 pupils; and 13,191 do. kept
by nuns, with 4,059,966 pupils. The expense of communal
schools was 9,017,427 fr., and the votes of councils-general for
maintaining them amounted to 4,231,608 fr.
(1) The most authentic accounts of the institutions for public
. instruction in France are to be found in the ¢ Almanach de I’Uni-
versité,” and in the ¢ Reports” of the prefect of the department.
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advantages that can result from a well-matured. system of col-
legiate instruction, aided by eminent professors of the fine arts
and music. 3 almoners and a large medical staff are attached
to the service of the establishment. The rules of the house are
exceedingly strict, without being severe ; all the members of
it wear the same uniform, black dresses, black bonnets and
gloves, with aprons and collars; all dine together, and are
subjected to almost military disci line. Frequent examinations
take place, and prizes are awarded according to merit. Per-
mission to visit the cstablishment is granted by the Grand
Chancellor on a written application.

Two succursal houses, belonging to this institution, are esta-
blished, one at Ecouen, with 200 puplls, the second with 300
pupils, at the Maison "des Loges, at St. Germain. They are
superintended by the Congrégation de la Mére de Dieu, an order
of nuns. The number of gratuitous admissions in these three
establishments is 800, but boarders may be admitted at 900 fr.
a year. None but daughtcrs of officers not below the rank of
captain are admitted at St. Denis; at the branch establish
ments even the daughters of privates are admitted. Pro-
testants are excluded. All the dignitaries and teachers have
been brought up in the establishment.

Ecoves p’EQuiTATION.—The Dest are at 12, rue Duphot and
42, faubourg Montmartre.

(IYMNASE 55, Avenue Montaigne, Champs Flysces —At this
institution, conducted by M. Triat, instruction is given to
pupils of both sexes in gymnastic exercises. It is very \vell
attended, and the public are admitted at 4 and 8 p.m

PUBLIC MUSEUMS.—For these sec Indéx under Musée
Galerie, and Cabinet (1). --

PRIVATE . MUSEUMS.—The followmg private collections
arg visible by apphication in writing :—Ancient and Modern

Art: Count d'Espagnac, 27, tue de Clichy ;-M. Lacaze, 118, . .

rue du Cherché Midi. (Sundays, from 10 to 2.)—Antiqu."ies:
Count Pourtalés, 7, rue Tronchet (apply by -letter hetween
Dec. 1 and May 1)—Pmntmqs by Living Masters : Mm¢:
Paturle, 21, rue du Paradis-Poisgonniére. (In - winter - ~oily,’
apply by letter)—Antzqumes and .Cuyriosities: ‘M. D'Yvon,
20,rue.de la -Chaise. — Numismatics: — M. R in, 12, Tue -
Vivienne (from 12 to 5).—Herbaries - —M. Ad.nen de Jussmu,
at the Garden of Plants.

"The following are only accessible upon prpper mtroductlon g
Paintings :—Baron James Rothichild, 19,.rae Laffitte ; M..De.

C(a) Within the last {hirteen years upwards of 28,000 different-
articles have been added o the various cotlectlonl ofAuyri%r{
Egyptian, Greek, and Roman antiquities.
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Rothschild, 40, rue Taitbout; Marquis of Hertford, 2, rue Laf-
fitte ; Marquls Maison, 24, rue Neuve des Capncmes M.
Dagnan, 35, rue St. George’s (Swiss scenery.)

PUBLIC LIBRARIES.—This city possesses many valuable
libraries, for ‘which, see Index, under the head Bibliothéques.

PRIVATE LIBRARIES.—There are several attached to the
different public offices and institutions ; but cannot be visited
without a permission granted for some special object. Thus
every ministry has one relating to its peculiar department ; the
Cour de Cassation has one of 30,000 volumes ; the Depol de
la Marine comprises 25,000; the Home Office has one of
22,000 ; and the Ecole Polylcchmque the Ecole des Ponts
et (‘haussees, the Séminaire St: Sulpice, and the Observatoire,
have each their particular one of about 20,000 volumes.

PERIODICAL EXHIBITIONS.—Of these the most important
are—the periodical Exhibitions of Nalional Industry, which,
are held in the Palais de U'Industrie (see p. 184), the annual
Exhibition of the works of Living Artists (see p. 184,) (1) and
the annual Horticultural Exhibitions. (see p. 106).

LITERARY AND SCIENTIFIC SOCIETIES.—The names of
most of these denote their object. In the following list those

marked with an asterisk publish periodicals, or apply funds
towards the advancement of human knowledge.

SOCIETE FRANGAISE D'ARCHEOLOGIE, 44, Rue Bonaparte —Founded
in 1805 ; devotes itself fo the history zmd antiquities of the Gauls
and French down {o fthe 16th century ; 60 resident members, and
nunwirous correspondents. Meets on 9th, 19th, and 29th of each
month. :

SOCIETE D> L'HISTOIRE DE FRANCE."—Mects on sst Momrday of every
month, at the "Archives® Impériales. 1t publishes original
documents-on the History of France, pn:vlous 10 1789, ° N

SOCIETE LITTERAIRE . POLONAISE, 6, quai d’Orléans.—Founded
in 1833, under the auspices of ihe late Prinog Adam Czarlo-
ryski. It meets oncea week, and possesses a library of 50, ooo
volumes, which is puhhc (see p."319.)

InsTITUT HISTORIQUE," 42, pue Sl. ‘Guillaume.—Holds an annual
conference, whebein matlers of histery are .discussed and prizes
ar¢ awirded. Public and-gratuilous lectures.

INSTLMUT, nAFQO;, 22, Place Venddme.—Founded in 1838, to
promotd the mhﬁs;\tmn and colonisation of Africa.

SOCIETE ‘pE ‘GEQGRABYIE,” 3; rue Christine. ~Founded in 1821.
Annual- subscription, 36 fr. This society possesses a lxhrary,
conlaining valuable geogmphncal collections, and many cunous
objects»presented to it-by trnvellem.

(1) The nrst e‘xmhthon of the kind occurred in 16995 that of
1855 was (lre 78th..” There -were 2 under Louis XIV., 24 under
Louis XV., ¢ under Louis XV1., 8 under the.. first’ Republic;- i
under the Emplre, 6 arder the Restoration,"and 29 since 1830,
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SociETé pgs GENS DE LETTRES,” 14, Cité Trévise.—To secure
rights of literary and scientific authorship ; meets every Monday.

SOCIETE DES BIBLIOPHILES, Holel de Lauzun, 17, quai d’Anjou.

- -Prints very scarce or inedited works.

ATHENEE DES ARTS, SCIENCES, BELLES LETTRES, ET IndUsTRIE,
Hbtel de Ville.—Founded in 1792. Afthe annual public meetings in
May, prizes are adjudged for useful inventions and improvements,
The ordinary sittings on Mondays; literary and musical soirées
every three months.

SOCIETE DES ENFANTS D'APOLLON, 8, rue Neuve Bréda —Holds an
annual mecting, devoted to music and poetry.

SociETE DU CAVEAU.—This sociely was founded in 4737 by Piron,
Créblllon junior, and Collé, and met at that period in a tavern
called Cavenu, in the Carrefour de Bussy. Duclos, Bernard, Mon-
crif, Helvétius, and Rameau, were successively members of it.
The members meet twice a-month to cultivate lyrical poetry, and
on the first Friday of every month at 248, rue St. Honoré, for the
pleasures of the table.

ComiTE CENTRAL DES ARTISTES, for the promotion of the ﬂne arts
and affording assistance 1o poor artists, meets at the Hdtel de Vilie
on the 15t and 3d Friday of every month.

SOCIETE DES AMIS DES ARTS.'—Its object is 10 encourage the fine
arts by purchasing original painlings, statues, drawings, engrav-
ings, &¢., by living hrtists of the French school. The objects of
art purchased during the year are exhibited,at the Louvre, and
distribuled among the shareholders by means of a lottery. Such
shareholders as do not gain prizes are entitled to a proof engrav-
ing. Eightly proofs hefore letlers are drawn of every engraving
and distributed by lottery among the shareholders.

SOCIETE LIBRE DES BEAUA-ARTS.—Meefs al the'Hotel de Ville on
18t and 3d Tuesday of the month. Public sitting in May.

SOCIETE DES AMIS DES SCIENCES, 44, rue de Bonaparte. Founded
in 1856, by the late Baron Thénard, for the relief of the widows
and orphans of men of science. It already possesses a capital
of 130,000fr.

SoctETE PHILOTECHNIQUE, 21, Rue de Valois, Palais Royal.—
Holds public bhalf-yearly meetings, at which papers are 1 adg
muste performed, and pictures, designs, or sculpture exhibited.

BOCIETE ENTOMOLOGIQUE, ai the Hoitel de Ville.—Meets on 2d and
4th Wednesday of every month.

SOCIETE PRILOMATIQUE,” 8, Tue d’Anjou Dauphine.—Next o the
Institute, the most seientific body in Paris; 60 members.

- BoCIETE GFOLOGIQUE DE FRAXCE, 39, rue de Fleurus, It meets
on the 18t and 3d Monday of every month. 1ihasa good library,
In the same house s the

SOCIETE METEOROLOGIQUE DE FRANCE.

SOCIETE IMPERIALE ET CENTRALE D'AGRICULTURE, SOCIETE BOTA-
NIQUE, and SOCIETE IMPERIALE ET CENTRALE D'HORTICULTURE,’ 84,
rue de Grenelle St. Germain.—These three societies, which are
under the protection of the Emperor, occupy the same premises,
They possess a valudble library of 8,000 volumes, and annually
organise flower and agricultural shows in the Champs Elysées.
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BodniT THPERIALE ZOOLOGIQUE D'ACCLIMATATION, 19, rue de
Lille. —Por the introduction of useful breeds of animals into
Yrance.—Founded in 1854. 1t was founded by the laie Isidore
Geoffroy St. Hilaire, and counts upwards of 1,000 membets.
Public sitling in May, at the Hotel de Ville (See p. 493.)

SOGIETE POUR L’ENCOURAGEMENT DE L'INDUSTRIE NATIONALE," 44,
rue Bobaparte.«~~Thissoclety has erected at its own cost the builde
ing it now occupies. Since 1804, it has expended 500,000 {r. in prizes.
1t has a collection of models to which visitors are admitted on a?ply-
ing to the director between 40 and 4. The President is M,
Dumas.

ACADEMIE NAYIONALE AGRICOLE, MANUFACTURIERE ET COMMER-
CIALE," 81, rue Louis & Grand.—Meets at the Hotel de Vills
on the 3d Wednesday of every month; awards prizes and me-
dals. In the same house is the

SOCIETE DE STATISTIQUE UNIVERSELLE.

BocIETE DU MAGNETISME, Rue 8t. Honoré, 123, Place d’Aligre.—
Holds a gratuitous public sitting on 4st Thursday of each month,
at which experiments in animal magnetism are performed.

Besides these there are numerous other societies in the ca-
pital, full information respecting the objects and constitution
of which may be obtained at the addresses annéxed to them.
The following are the principal :—Société des Instituteurs et
Institutrices, at the'Hotel de Ville.—Société Asiateque, 8, Quai
Malaquais. It publishes the Journal Asiatique.—Socidtd
pour UInstruction Elémentaive, 3, Quai Malaquais.—Sociétd
des Architectes, 3, Quai Malaquais.—Académie des Arts ot
Métiers, at the Hotel de Ville.—Société Académique Induss
triells et Artistique, 8, rue de Valois.

FREEMASONS.—This is the only secret society in France not
forbidden by law. It is administered by the Grand Orient of
France, which has its oflices and holds its sittings at No. 16,
rue Cadet. It has upwards of five hundred ateliers under
its authority in France, the French Colonies, and for%n
parts. Generel or seclional meetings take place once a-month,
Visiting brethren having the dogtee of Master ‘are admitted to
thesn. The private meetings of the Rit Ecossass are held on
Tuesdays, Wednesdays and Fridays at 7 p.m., at 35, ruede
Grenelle 8t. Honoré., Freemasons are admitted on presenting
their diplomas. Grand Master, Marshal Magnan.

COMMERCIAL ESTABLISHMENTS.-~THE CHAMBER oF CoM-
MERCE consists of the prefect of the department and 21 bankers
ormerchants, 5 of whom are elected annually by the patented
merchauts of Paris, who have carried on business in it for one
year atleast. They communicate with the government upon
comametcial affairs, superintend buildings connected with trade,
attend to the ezecution of the laws against smugpling, &e.
They meet at No. 2, Place de la Bourse, every Wednesday.
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The EXCHANGE is open daily from 12 till 3 for sale of public
securities, and till 5 for other transactions. Sixty agents de
change, sixty courtiers de commerce, and eight cour-
tiers d’assurance, named by the government, are alone autho-
rised to transact public busigess here. The sale of
Stock, railroad shares, bills of exchange, &c., belongs exclu-
sively to the agents de change, but bills are allowed by tole-
rance to be negotiated by brokers. The courtiers de commerce
certify the price of gold and silver, fix the price of merchandize,
rates of freight, 8&c. The courtiers d’assurance fix the rates of
insurances, &c. The legal price of public effects and goods is
fixed daily at the closc of Change by the agents de change and
courtiers, and registered by the Commissaire (see p. 219).

BANK OF FRANCE, rue de la Vrillicre.—This institution was
formed in 1803, by a law which gave it the exclusive privilege
of issuing notes payable to the bearer at sight, until 1867. Its
chatter was renewed in 1857, extending its duration to Dec.
31st, 1897. Since 1848, the independent banks of the
departments have become mere branch-banks of the Bank of
France. It also has a branch-bank at Algiers. It is directed
by a governor, 2 deputy governors, 15 regents, 3 censors, and
a council, composed of twelve members, which superintends
the discounts. The governor presides over the council of re-
gency, and every year a gencral council, composed of 200 of
the largest shareholders, audits the accounts. The operations
of the Bank consist in discounting bills of exchange or to order,
at dates not exceeding threc months, stamped and gua-
ranteed by at least three signaturcs of merchants or vthers of
undo,ubteg credit ; in advancing. money on government bills,
of fixed dates; on bullion or foreign gold, silyer coin, and
public securilies ; in keeping an account for voluntary deposits
of every kind, government securitics national and foreign,
shares, - contrdcts, ‘bends of every kipd, bills of exchange,
other bills, and all engagements to order or to bearer, gold
and silver bars, national and foreign coin, and diamonds, with
a charge for keeping, -according to. the value of the deposit
which cannot exceed an eighth of one per cent. for every, period
of six months and under; in undertaking to .recover the pay
ment-of bills for individuals and public establishments having
accounts current with the Bank, and in making payments for
them to. the amount of the sums entrusted. ' -Open from 9 to 4
daily, except Sundaysand festivals, for the exchange of hills-
againstspecie:and for discounting. 'To be admitied to dis-
count, and to have a running account at the bank, a‘request
must-be made in writing to the governor, accompaniéd by the
certificate of three well-known persons. The usufruct of bank
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shares may be ceded, but the fee-simple may. still be disposed
of. The shares may be smmobilisées, that is, converted into
real property, by a declaration of the proprietor. The capital
of the Bank, which at first consisted of 45 millions of francs,
is now represented by 182,000 shares of 1,000 fr. each,
exclusive of the reserve fund. The interest on the original
price of these shares, which varies commonly from 12 to 15
per cent., can never be under 6 per cent.  The lowest rate of
discount since 1852 has becn 3 per cent., and the highest 9.
The notes of the Bank are of 5,000 fr., 1,000 fr., 500 fr.,
100 fr., and 50 fr. The notes in circulation represent 800
millions of fr. ; the specie and bullion in reserve amount to
about 400 millionsof fr. The accounts are made up, verified,
and submitted to the governor every evening, and a
balance-sheet is published once a mouth (1). This estab-
lishment comprises a printing-office for its private use
(sce p: 230).

CAISSE I’AMORTISSEMENT, ET CAISSE DES DEPOTS ET CONSI-
GNATIONS, 56, rue de Lille.—These two establishments, botlr
under the control of the Government, are administered by a
committee, composed of the governor of the Bank of France,
the president of the Chamber of Commerce, a director of
the Ministry of Finance, and four members appointed by
the Emperor from among the members of the Senate, the
Council of State, ‘the Legislative Body, and the Cour des
Comptes. The Caisse d’Amortisscment conducts all operations
telative to the reduction, of the public debt of the country. -
The Caisse des Dépots et Consignations, which is open from:
10 a.m. to 2 p.m., receives all moneys deposited in it in con-
sequence of legal awards, and other public proceedings, or by
any public functionaries, for which it allows interest at the
rate of 4% per cent. per annum after the money has been
deposited 10 days. No interest is paid for less than 30 days,
and 10 days’ notice must” be given in order to withdraw
the capital. Private individuals may also deposit money here
on the same terms. During the legislative session the president

(1) The following tabular stalemeni shows the amount of busi -
ness transacted hy the Bank of France for the last five years : —

. ) Bills Discounted
Year Central Barik DepartmentalBanks| by Central Bank

1859 12,599,555,610 fr.|3,566,99 3,437 fr.|1,661,658,110 fr.
1860 |2,408,710,8%0 ,, |3,934,856,314 ,, |1,759,677,835 ,,
1861 |2,744,784,523 ,, |3,811,911.500 ,, |2,136,305,921 .,
1862 13,618,327,257 ,, {4,165,472,540 ,, |2,278,792,782 ,,
1863 |3,347,462,896 ,, 14,194,813,200 ,, 12,455,160,200 ,,
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of the commission makes a report, which is published, (1)
Connected with the foregoing establishment, are the Dotation
de ' Armée (see p. 63n), and the _

Carsse DES RETRAITES POUR LA VIEILLESSE, instituted by a
law of June 18, 1850 Its capital consists of voluntary con-
tributions of 5 fr. at least by persons of any age from three
years upwards. Foreigners enjoyin%ecivil rights are admitted
to contribute. Every contribution bears 4% per cent. com-
pound interest. The capital contributed is reimbursed in
toto at the contributor’s death to his heirs, provided he has
notified his intention to that effect at the time of his first pay-
ment. At the age of 50 and upwards, the contributor may,
two years after the first payment, claim an aunuity, not
exceeding 1,500 fr. Every contributor receives a livret, where
his accounts with the establishment are registered. The Caisse
des Retraites i8 conducted by a permanent committee, of
which the Minister of Agriculture and Commerce is president,
All the sums it receives are employed in buying rentes. (2)

CoMPTOIR NATIONAL D’ESCOMPTE, rue Bergére, 14.—This
establishment, created by the Provisional Government in 1848,
to meet the commercial crisis of that period, has been found
so useful, that its charter has been prolonged to 1887. It is
under the management of a director, an assistant director, a
Board of 15 administrators, and three censors. There is also
& Consesl d’Escompte, composed of tridesmen named by the
Board. Capital, 40,000,000 francs. The operations of the
Comptoir d'Escompte, which, since 1854, is under the
authority of the Minister of Finance, consist : 1. in dis-
ocounting bills with two signatures and falling due within 180
days, provided they b upon Paris or towns possessing a branch
of the Bank of France; 2. in discounting bills upon other towns
of the departments or foreign parts, bearing two signatures and
falling due within 65 days; 3. in opening accounts to private
persons depositing their capital, which bears 2 per cent. inte-
rest. It also discounts receipts of goods deposited in the ge-
neral warchouses of the State, in accordance with the decree
of March 21, 1848. (3) The present rate of discount is 4 per

(1) The following is the account of the Caisse for 1863: Re-
celpts, 1,856,172,098 fr.; payments, 1,233,241,067 fr. ; in hand,
Dec. 31st, 422,925,030 fr. ‘

(2) The receipts of the Caisse des Retraites amounted in 4865 to
8,308,022 fr.; the disbursements to 1,977,200 fr., leaving a
balance in hand. Dec, 31st, of 6,330,822 {r. The retraites of all
the functionaries of the State are now become a separate source
of revenue, to provide for a Civil Service Superannuation Fund.

(8) The scarcity of money was g0 great at that time, that the
Provigional Government had recourse to the expedient of gpen-
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cent.* There are also in Paris five Sous-Comptoirs de Ga-
rantie, for asman{partioulu trades, connected with this esta-
blishment. ‘They have been opened by joint-stock companies,
for the of endorsing commercial bills for discount at
the Comptoir d’Escompte. The capital of each sous-Comptoir
is 100,000 fr. at the least, and is deposited at the Comptoir
d’Escompte in guarantee of payment. (1)

CREDIT FONCIER DE FRANCE, 19, rue Neuve des Capucines.—
A joint-stock company, authorised in 1852, for the purpose of
invésting money upon mortgage throughout France on the fol-
lowing principles, viz. :—The property to be unshackled by
previous mortgages ; the loan not to exceed one-half of the
real value ; maximum interest 5 per cent. ; the mortgage ex-
tinguishable by an annual payment of from 1 to 2 per cent.
Another annual charge to cover the ordinary expenses of the
company, which may issue bonds of 100 fr. and upwards,
payable to bearer or otherwise, up to the amount of the loans
effected, bearing interest, and to be withdrawn from circula-
tion in the same proportion as the loans are reimbursed. If
a mortgager fail to pay his annuity, his property is liable to
sequestration and sale by public auction. The company is
under the authority of the Minister of Finance, and cannot
turn its capital to other purposes. It is bound to extend its
loans to the amount of 200 millions of francs, the.State con-
tributing 10 millions thereto. Its Board of Directors consists
of a governor and two sub-governors named by the Emperor,
and 15 members, including three receivers-genersl of the
taxes. It has 26 branch establishments in the departments. (2)

SocifTE GENERALE DU CrEvIT MOBILIER, 15, Place Ven-
dome, authorised in 1852. This company buys up public
bonds, shares, or scrip in railway undertakings, canals, mines,
&c. ; issues ils own bonds to the amount employed in such
purchases ; sells, raises mopey upon, or exchanges the bonds,
shares, &c., in its possession ; makes tenders for public loans;
lends on public bonds, shares, &c. ; opens running accounts
on such deposits ; calls in moneys for other companies, pays
their dividends, &c. Il never engages in time hargains or in

ing the warehouses of the State to tradesmen, that they might
there deposit their goods, which they had no prospect of selling
al the time. Receipts were given, upon which they raised money
by loan at the Comptoir d'Escompte. This system still continues.

(1) During the year ending June 30, 1863, the Comptoir d'Es-
compte discounted 892,469 bills, to the amount of 605,030,270 fr.
The central Comptoir delivered 680 receipts for deposited goods,
to the amount of 75,832,057 fr. Dividend: 8 fr. 40 c. per cent.

(2) The number of loans contracted with this Company up to
Jan. 1st, 1864, was 5,549, and amounied to 362,187,414 fr.
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Missionaries are instructed here in the Asiatic languages, and
in whatever may fit them for the missions in the East.

Séminaire du St. Esprit, 30, rue des Postes.—The pupils
are destined for missions tq the French colonies.

Institut des Frércs-des Ecoles Chréliennes, 27, rue Gudinot.
- ~It has a noviciate for the teachers of the Ecoles Chrétiennes.
There are in Paris 10 establishments and 80 classes.

Caisse Dsocésaine.—This fund is destined to afford pensions
to aged or infirm priests, and to grant allowances to young
men destitute of fortune who devote themselves to the ecclesias-
tical state, to enable them to prosecute their studies.

PROTESTANT CHURCHES. — The Reformed and Lutheran
Churches owe their legal establishment and support from the
state to the law promulgated by the First Consul in 1802,
which, with some changes introduced by a decree of the Pre-
sident of the Republic in 1852, coutinues in force to the pre-
sent time. Like the Catholic Church, they are hoth under the
control of the state. The appointment and removal of pastors
must be confirmed by the governmeni. To the Council of
State belongs the decision of all questions ariging out of
aoty done in the exercise of their functions, whilst with regard
to the assembly representing the whole community, the mem-

hers are either chosen by the government or their delibera-
tions confined to matfers authorized by the law, and permis-
sion is necessary.to the publication of their resolutions.

Reformed or Calvinist.—The government of this church
is entrusted to boards of presbyters, local consistories, and to
a central couucil. A board of presbyters elected by the whole
eongregation of each church, and presided over by the pastor,
admimisters its affairs under the authority of the consistory.
Thero is a consistory for every 6,000 persons, who form a
consistorial district, but the board of presbyters of the church
at the chief town of the district is (with the addition ~f the
pastor and a lay member from the other churches), itself the
consistory, and hence this is called the consistorial church. A
consistory often embraces several churches within its juris-
diction. It generally represents a large church together with
ihe smaller oues in its - vicinity. The duties of consistories
are of a purely local character ; they manage the funds of the
ohurches under their care and vots subscriptions forincreasing
the stipends of pastors, for repairs, &c.. They appoint the
pastors on the preseutation of the board of -presbyters of the
church in question. Above the consistories stood the synods,
hmmpmed ofot de&;t:i froz ﬁvo‘d:onshtorieni,o:nd asnmbm ling

prosence eot of the department, for inquiring into
a1} matters connocted with the faith and government of the
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church, but om acceunt of seme practical difficulties they
have fallen into disuse. The genmeral synod is omitted
altegether in the law of 1802. Te supply the want of a body
representing the whole of the reformed church, a central
council of 15 persons, chosen from the principal members of
‘he community has been created. The council acts for the
reformed churches in all its dealiags with the government ; and
takés cognizance of all questions of general intereat with which
it naay be entrusted, either by the government or by churches.
The refarmed church has a faculty at Montauban, and is com-
posecd of 105 consistories, 1045 | of worship, and 1139
sohosls. Its churches in Paris are: 'Oratoire, 157, rue St.
Hawowd ; la Visstation de Ste. Marss, 216, rue St. Antoine;
le Pentémont, 106, rae de Grenelle St. Germain; a chapel at
38, Boulevard extérieur, Batignolles Monceaux, and a new
chapel in the rue do Madame. The pastors are seven. The
M. Athianase Coquere] is of the number.
theran.—The Lutheran Church has the same boards of
and local comsistories as the Reformed Church.
Over these a Directory of 5 persons, 3 of whom are chosen
by the government and 2 by the superior consistory, admi-
naster the nﬂn:'e of the eh,rmh: l;g‘;-‘l;émly; they have the
intment of the pastors.’ i y appoints also the pro-
z::n of the seminary amé:college belonging to the Lutheran
oommuanity, and owerlooks the teaching and discipline at
these establishmenia. On their presentatiom the government
ecelesiastical inepectors, whose duty it is to visit the
and see lo their good order. The Superior Consis-
toey is formed, 1st, of two delegates from each inspection.
(There is am inspection for every five consisterial churches,
the members of the inspection being the pastor and an elder
dmbdmz::.)ﬂ 2, of &awmh@ecm;vad, of
a_professor 0 SCIMMATY ; 4 president of the
directory, and a lay member chosen by the government. The
consisiony is ' once x yeas, bo hear the report of
the divectory on the affirsof the ehurch. The consistory has
aleo within its prevince the maintenance of the constitution
and disciplime of the ehurch, the issue of regulations for the
intarnad gowernmeond of the church, the approval of béoks and
formulipeies. for wee im warship or teaching. The superior con-
sistory sits: a2 Strasburg, but 18 represented in its communica~
tions with the governmens by the camsistory of Paris. The
Latiseran , has & semsinary and college at Strasburg, 44
cemsistories, 403 of worship, and 609 schools.—In Paris

itpelmrches mpe: Bw-%mm:mems
Billotivs, $o,700 des Bi (sewmwusin Fronch sod Germen
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and a chapel, 147, rue du Temple. These churches have to-
gether 5 pastors. Schools with chapels annexed are at 74, rue
St. Maur, faubourg du Temple, and at 19, rue Neuve Ste.
Genevieve.—The following are not paid by the state :

Church of England.—The clcrg%' of this church is composed
of the chaplain to the embassy, and 3 ministers. The episcepal
chapels are : 5, rue d’Aguesseau, Faubourg St. Honoré, the
Marbeeuf Chapel, 10 bis, Avenue Marbeeuf, Champs Elysées,
and 17, rue de la Madeleine.—Preshyterian service (Church of
Scotland), at the Chapel of the Orataire, 160, rue de Rivoli.—
Congregational Chapel, 23, rue Royale St. Honoré.—Wesleyan
Church, 4, ruc Roquepine; Boulevard Malesherbes.—Suwiss
Church, 357, ruc St. Honor¢.—The Protestant American
Chapel, 21, rue de Berry, is open to Evangelical Chris-
tians of all nations and denominations.—American Epis-
copal Church, 7, Rue de la Paix. For hours of divine ser-
vice, see Stranger’s Diary, in every Saturday’s Galignani’s
Messenger. .

The Free Church, or Union des Eglises Evangéliques,
holds the same doctrines as those of the Reformed Church.
To preserve ils independence it refuscs the support of the
state. The church is active in spreading Protestantism and in
providing uew places of worship ; in doing which it has met
with the opposition of the civil authorities, under the provi-
sions of Art. 291 of the Penal Code. The pastors are ap-
pointed hy the consistorics. Synods are held at intervals, in
which the members, lay and clerical, discuss the affairs of
the church and decide on admitting new churches into the
union. The Chapelles Evangéliques Réformées, at 54, rue
de Provence, 180, ruc du Faubourg St. Honoré, and 29, rue
Chabrol, belong to this community.

Protestant Schools.—There are several communal and other
schools of various Protestant persuasions in Paris. The rin-
cipal are at 38, ruc Madame; au Pentémont, rue de Grenelle
St. Germain ; 39, rue des Ecuries d’Artois ; 95, rue de Reuilly ;
and 6, passage Colbert. As regards the wealthier classes,
youths receive a Protestant education, when desired, at all the
Iycées and colleges ; and for young ladies, the Protestant com-
munity have provided a series of educational lectures by emi-
nent professors, under the title of Cours Gradués pour les jeunes
demoiselles Protestantes, at 19 bis, rue de la Chaussée d’Antin.

English Free Schools, for boys and girls, 119, rue du Fau-
bourg St. Honoré.—Under the patronage of -the British Am-.
bassador, and the management of a committee of Engli
clergymen and residents. The children of the English working
classes here receive a moral and religious training, and the ele-
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ments of useful knowledge. About 150 children are under the
care of three teachers, at an annual expense of 10,000 fr.,
obtained from the voluntary contributions of English and Ame-
rican visitors. Connected with these schools is an Asylum for
destitute English and American orphans.  Open daily, Thurs-
days excepted, from 9 till 4. Contributions received by
Messrs. de Rothschild, Callaghan, and Galignani.

The following are other Protestant religious institutions :—

Société Biblique Protestante de Paris, 5, rue des Beaux
Arts.—The object is to spread the Holy Scriptures, without note
or commentary, in the versions received and used in Protestant
churches. It holds an annual public meeting.

Société pour UInstruction primairve parmi les Protestants
de France, 3, rue de I’Oratoire St. Honoré, instituted in 1830,

Société des Missions Evangéliques chez les peuples non
chrétiens, formed in 1832; at Passy, 21, rue Franklin.

Socéété des Traités religieux, 47, rue de Clichy.

Société Evangélique de France, 47, rue de Clichy.

Société Biblique ?ranpa[se el élrangére, 54, rue de Clichy.

This last socicly and the Société E‘l‘(l?l!]éli(l‘ul' e France,
are connected with the Free Church. The Société Evangé-
fique maintains catechists, ministers, and schoolmasters, in
different parts of France. It assists the free churches which
are not yet able to maintain themselves, and communicates,
ihrough delegates, with the government.

GREEK Cnurch.—Rue de la Croix, faubourg St. Honoré.
(See p. 205.) ,

ARMENIAN PERSUASION.—Séminaire des Moines Arméniens
Mékétairistes de St. Lazare de Venise, 12, rue Monsieur.

JEwisn PERsuasioN.—The ministers of this creed are paid
by the State.” A central Consistory, headed by the Grand
Rabbi of Paris, exercises jurisdiction over the other Consistories
throughout France in matters relating “to religion. There are
two synagogues in Paris, one at 15, rue Notre Dame de Na -
zareth (German rite), and another at 23, rue Lamartine (Por-
tuguese rite). A central Rabbinical school is cstablished at
Metz, for aspirants to the priesthood. (1)

(1) The total number of Catholic c¢lergy in France is about
49,000, comprising 17 archbishops, 70 bishops, 193 vicars—-gene-
ral, 717 canons, 3,522 .curés, and 31,493 priests of éylises suc—
cursales, 20 chaplains for the ten cemeteries of Paris, 8,949 vicars
in the small communes, and 8,500 theological students. The
archbighop of Paris has 50,000 fr., the others, 20,000 fr. each, and
bishops 15,000 fr. The 6 bishops or archbishops who are car-
dinals, receive 10,000 fr. hesides. Moreover, 23 bishops, residing
in large and expensive centres of population, receive an addition
©f 72,000 fr. amongst themn. The indemnities allowed for diocesan
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CHARITABLE INSTITUTIONS.—HosrivaLs. ~Numeérous -
tablishments existed in Paris at a very early period ; but the
object of their founders was greatly , and their te-
venues directed to other purposes. From the time of Philip
Augustus to the revolution of 1789, nothing could exceed the
maladministration, wretchedness, and consequent mortality,
which prevailed in these abodes of human suffering. In 1768,
owing to the deplorable state of the Hdtel Dieu, the construc-
tion of four new hospitals wes ordained ; but the profligacy
of the minister Calonne, the low state of the finances, and the
events which preceded the revolution, caused several millions of
the hospital fund to be dissipated. By a decres of the Conveution,
July, 16, 1793, part of the patients of the hospitals of Paris
meh-m‘amdmtomnvenhor mmmgmu

me national property. By decrees super-
intendence of the hospitals was in sixteen members of
the National Conveution, two new hospitals were establish-
ed, and the number of beds in those already existing ocousi-
derably augmented. By a decree of Jan. 10, 1849, every-

visits, 8¢., amount to 173,500 fr. a-year. The total expense of the
87 sees is estimated at 1,652,500 fr. per anpum. The salaries of
vicars-general and canons vary from 2,500 to 4,500 fr.; those of
curés from 1,200 to 2,400 fr. Since 1802, a sum of 55,000 Ir.
is allowed for pensions to retired curés. The number of
convents for nuns of different orders is about 3,000, and the
number of nunsabout 24,000 ; there arsalso in France coavents
of Trappists, Carthusians, Capuchins, and Benedictines, besides
the priests of St. Sulpice and 2,000 Jesuits. The total cost of the
catholic clergy in France is estimated at 47,000,000 fr.—Of the mi-
nisters of other persuasions there are 519 Calvinists, of whom 90
are presidents of Consistories ; 263 Lutherans, of whom & are in-
spectors, and 31 presidents of Consistories. The salaries ¢ . pfo-
testant ministers vary from 1,600 to 3,000 Tr., according o the
number of parishioners. The protestant seminaries are besides
endowed with 3o purses of 400 fr. each, and 60 half purses of
200 fr. The Church of England has at least 40 ministers in
France. Last year twenty-one new Protestant churches were in-
augurated throughout all France. The expense of the Protestant
worship amounts to 1,542,036 fr. The Jewish creed eounts 65 Rab-
bins and 62 officiating ministers : the expenses amount to
208,500 fr. Thereare 86 ministers of other denominations.  The
number of Roman Catholics in France is 35,931,082 ; Calvinists,
480,507; Lutherans, 967,828; Jews, 13,0783 and other creeds,
80,000. In 1789 the totdl number of scclesiastics was 114,000,
including 19,000 regular clergy, and 32,000 auns. Their revenuss
amounted to 72 millions of francs, and the tithe to 7¢ millions,
giving a total of 142 millions. The sum expended for Roman
Catholic missions is 3,880,000fr. a-yaar, and the receipts, from
subscriptions and other sources, 3,579,000 fr.
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thing relating to public charity has' been- placed under the
Administration Générale de I Assistance Publique a Paris,
It is under the control of the Minister of the Interior, and s
.aanaged by a director and a Conseil de Surveillance of 20
members, presided by the prefects of the Seine and of Police.
The medical treatinent administered in the hospitals of Paris,
and other particulars, will be found amply described under
the head of MEDICAL INSTITUTIONS (see p. 131.) (1)

Hospices.—Under this name are understood in France
certain establishments not unlike English alms-houscs. The
following description will fully explain their peculiar nature.

Hospice des Ménages, at Issy (see p. 519)—Is appropriated
to aged persons of both sexes, married or widowed, who have
resided in Paris, or the department of the Seiné, for two years,
and contains 428 rooms for married couples, 454 for widowers
and widows, and 430 for unmarried people. The best cham-
bers are reserved for couples of from 60 to 70, who can give
3,200 fr. for admission-; the remainder are for couples entirely
destitute of resources, one of whom must be 70 and the other
at least 60 years of age. The chambers for widows and wi-
dowers are granted to those who are 60 years old at least,
have been married 20 years, and can gay 1,600 fr. on ad-
mission. Each inmate is required to bring a bedstead, two
mattresses, a bolster, two blankets, two pair of sheets, two
chairs, and a chest of drawers. Each receives a pound and a
half of bread per day, and half a pound of raw meat per
day ; the sum of 3 fr. every ten days; and 2 stéres of wood
and two vores of charcoal a-year. The new buildings, which
are well worth a visit, have cost 4,446,065 fr.; they com-
prise a laundry, wash-house, baths, a vast court laid out a8
a garden and intersected by three avenues of lime trees, and
six other courts ; refectories, a reading-room, and a library.
The present librarian, M. Estienne, descends in a direct line
from the celebrated printers of that mamec. Physician, Dr.
Potain. '

Villa de la Réunion, formerly Institution de Sainte
Périne, 4, Place Ste. Génévieve, Auteuil.—Removed
hither from the Abbaye de Ste, Périne at Chaillot, sup-
pressed in 1790, and now demolished. This asylum
was founded in 1806 by M. Ducltaila, for persons of
both sexes over 60 years of age, of small income. The Em-
{rm Joséphine was a great benefactress to it. The number is
imite] to 193, and the vacancies by removal or death average

(1) Last year, the hospitals of Paris received legacies and
donations to' the amount of 190,064 fr. in cash, renfes, goods,
and landed property. -
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50 annually. Admission is either on a specific payment, or
the annual sum of 700 fr. (i) There-are.several pavilions.
and a chapel, situated in a beautiful park. Each member has.
a room and dressing-room to himself. The Sceurs de la Sa-
gesse have the care of the inmates. ry o -

Maison de Retraite, or Hospice de La Rochefoucauld, route
d’Orléans, No. 15.—This house, now chiefly devoted to the
reception of old servants of the hospitals, was originally es -
tablished for 12 soldiers, and 12 ecclesiastics, The present
buildings were erected in 1802 by Antoine. Persons who
are 60 and upwards pay 200 fr. a-year, and those that are
infirm, 250 fr. Infirm persons of small fortune, upwards
of 20 yeprs of age, may treat for admission by pa(i'ing down,
according to their age, &c., a sum which gradually rises
from 700 to 3,600 fr. The number of beds is 246. Dr.
Triboulet.and the Sceurs de Charité attend this institulion.

Hospice Devillas, at Issy (see p. 519), founded in 1835 by
a Protestant of that name, for persons of either sex of the age
of 70 or.upwards. The number of inmates is 35; four-fifths, ac-
cording to the founder’s will, must be catholics.

Hospice Leprince, 187, rue St. Dominique, au Gros Caillou.
-—This hospice was founded in 1819, in execution of the willk
of M. Leprince. It contains 10 beds for old men, and 10 for
women. The Seurs de Charité attend patients.

Hospice des Enfants Assistés, 74, rue d’Enfer, founded io
1640 by St. Vincent of Paule, for the reception of foundlings.
For a child to be reccived at this hospice a certificate of
its abandonment must be produced, signed by a commissary
of police. (2) The commissary is bound to admonish the
mother or party abandoning’ the child, and to procure for
them assistance from the hospital fund, in case of their con-
senting to retain and support the child themselves. Every
encouragement is given to those who relinquish the idea of

(1) Inquiries instituted by the Academy of Sciences estabiish
the singular fact, that the mortality of the inmates is greatest
during the first four years of abode; being the 1st year in the
proportion of 24 to 100, and in the 4th of 9 to 100 ; owing pro-
bably to the fatigue and disease in which they arrive, so that
they do not profit xoon enough by the quiel life they lead.

(2) At Paris, and in seyeral parts of France, boxes called foura
are established, which revolve on a pivot, and, on a bell being
rung, are turned round by the persons inside to receive any
child that may have been deposited inif, without attempting to
asceriain the parents. The abolition of this humane custom in
many departments has caused infanticide to become very fre-
quent in those parts, the average annual number of such cases.
having risen from 104 to 196. As for indirect infanticide before
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abandoning their offspring, and consent to support them ag
home. Of the children received in the hospital, those that are:
healthy are put out to nurse in the country, those that are:
sickly are retained at the hospital as long as requisite. Nurses.
from the country, of good character, arrive daily at the hospitalt
in search of employment of this nature, and receive from 4 fr..
to 8 fr. a-month for each child, according to its age. They-
are kept here a few days, and leave after their charges are:
assigned to them ; care being taken to assign the children to
nurses living as far as possible from their birth-places. After-
two years. of age, the nurse may give the child up, when, if no»
other nurse can be found for it, it is transferred to the orpham
department. The number of deaths is about 18 per cent. The:
number of beds in this hospital is 597. The number of chidrem
placed out at ‘nurse in the country last year was 3,245. The
total expense of thisinstitution for the same year amounted to,
2,126,380 fr. The physician is Dr. Labric; surgeon, Dr.
Depaul. The internal arrangements of this hospital are:
admirable. The children are first placed inh a general
reception-room, called La Créche, where they are visited
in the morning by the physicians, and assigned to the dif-
ferent infirmaries. These are four in number: for medicali
cases; for surgical cases; for measles; and for ophthalmic:
cases. In each of these rooms, as well as in the Créche,.
cradles are placed round the walls in rows, and several nurses:
are constantly ecmployed in attending to them. An inclinedi
bed is placed in front of the fire, on which the children who
require it are laid, and chairs are ranged in a warm corner, im

hirth, the number has doubled in most departments; in the:
Charente, Basses Alpes, &c., it has trebled, and risen to four
and five times ifs amount in the Hérault, Morbihan, Orne, and,
Maine et Loire. The number of foundling-hospitals was 226 im
1832 : at present only 152 remain in all France. Agriculturak
colonies for foundlings and orphans have since been established
in several departments; they are al present 17 in number. The
yearly average number of foundlings maintained at the Paris
hospilal, calculated upon the last 18 years, is 4400. 1t was 6154
in 1854. The Administration of Public Assistance has lately
done much towards the education of foundlings. At the
age of 12, the boys are bound apprentices to some trade, at the:
expense of the Adminisiration, which has, also, by contracts.
with cestain private schools, provided a kind of penal establish-.
ments for refractory individuals at Montagny (Sadne et Loire),,
Varaignes (Dordogne), anddither places. The director of a work--
ing asylum at Vaugirard likewise receives about 20 young girls:
whose conduct is open to reproach. £ portion of 148 fr. isaward

ed by the administration to female foundlings when they marry,
provided their conduct has been unexceptionable throughout..
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which children of sufficient age and strength sit part of the
day. Every thing is conducted with great care, vigilance, and
attention to the comforls of the inmates.

The Hospice des Orphelins, founded in 1669 for girls, but,
in 1809, opened to boys also, forms but a section of the pre-
ceding one. Children whose parents are dead, or whose parents
certify that they have not the mecans of supporting them, are
received from the ages of 2 to 12, by order of the Prefect of
Police. Poor persons falling ill, and being obliged to go to an
hospital, may send their children until they arc themselves
cured and able to return to their occupations. Persons con-
demnod to imprisonment have the same facility. They are
all educated in reading, writing, and arithmetic, and are placed
out in trades, when the period of their residence is expired,
which is at the ageof 21. The institution has been successful
in preducing useful members of socicty. Children under 15
falling iil in this hospice are transferred to the Hdpital des
Enfants Malades, if older they are sent to other hospitals.

Both this and the preceding cstablishment are under the
superintendence of the Scrurs de St. Vincent de Paule, or
Sceurs de Charité, Friends or strangers admitted on Mondays
and Tuesdays from 12 to 4 (seep. 517.) .

Hospice des Incurables (Hommes), 68, rue Popincourt, was
founded in 1653 by St. Vincent of Paule. The number of beds
i8 497. About 30 of the old men work for their own benefit.
It formerly contained children, but these are now sent to
Arras, wheroe, if their health admits of it, they learn trades.
Physician, Dr. Gallard ; Sceurs de Charité attend. The in-
mates arc under no unnecessary restraint, and may receive
visitors daily from {1 to 3.

Hospice des Incurables (Femmes), 42, rue de Stvres.—In
this institution therc are 63¢ heds for women, 70 for children,
and 15 apartments or rooms for the persons employed. Vi-
sitors are admitted on Tuesdays at 4 p.m. The physician is
Dr. Empis, the Sccurs de Charité atiend (see p. 346).

Hospice des Quinze-Vingls, 28, rue de Charenton, for the re-
ception of adult blind persons. The number of families livi
here is 300; the blind are received with their families, a:g
cncouraged to marry, if single. In a few instances both
husband and wife are blind. None are admitted but those
both blind and indigent, and such are received here from any
part of France. Each blind pe if unmarried, receives
474 fr. 50 c. a-year, including 1% ID. of bread daily ; if mar-
ried 584 fr., and for every child of his, 54 fr. more; they are
lodged gratuitously. The children arc sent to a pr&m;r{
school; and an asylum is instituted for them in the hospital,
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whers boys and girls remain till 14.- Their apprentice-fees are
paid by the establishment. Those children that are blind are
sont to the Institution Impériale des Jeumes Aveugles (set
p. 335). There are besides 600 out-door pensioners attached
to it, divided into three classes, who receive respoctiv
00 fr., 150 fr., and 200fr. per ann. Physician, Dr. Delaffore.
Admission daily from 12 to 3 (see p. 283.)

Infirmerie de Marve Thérése, 116, ruc-d’Enfer.—This hos-
pice, founded by the Viscountess de Chateaubriand, in 1819,
derives its name from the Duchess d’Angouléme, who became
its patroness. The persons received here are sick ecclesiastics,
natives or foreigners. The house contains 50 beds, but the
inmates having moved in respectable society, the furniture,
linen, food, 8:c., are greatly superior to what are generally
found in establishments of the kind. Physician, M. Charpen-
tier. The inmates are attended by the Seeurs de St. Vinoent
de Paule. The infirmary is supported by voluntary contei-
butions, and is under the control of the Archbishop of Paris.

Maison Eugéne Napoléon, near the Place du Tréne, founded
in 1866 by the Empress Eugénie, for the education of youn,
workwomen. It contains at present about 100 pupd's. nﬁ
maintained free of expense. Visitors are not admitted. Phy-
siclan, Dr. Seyer.

Orphelinat du Prince Impérial.—At the time the Prince
Impetial was born, a committee was spontaneously formed
for the purpose of collecting subscriptions for a magnificent
present to the Empress. Her Majesty, however, in accepting
the gift, declared her intention of applying it to a charitable
foundation. The Emperor increased the fund by an annual
contribution of 30,000 fr., and thus the Orphelinat was
oreated. Its object is to relieve poor orphans, and give them
a suitable education by placing them as boarders in some
Yonest families, binding them apprentices to some trade, &c.
As the original subscribers chiefly belonged to the department
of the Seine, the orphans belonging to the latter are preferred.
The average sum paid for the board and lodging of an orphan
is 220 fr. The number of orphans inscribed in 1864 was
372. The institution, which has already a fixed annual in-
come of 46,800 fr., receives every year numerous donations
from private persons; it is under the management of a perma-
nent committee, of which the Minister of the Interior is president.

Société du Prince Impérial pour les Préts de I'Enfance au
Trava:l. ‘This society, founded by the Empress in 1862,
collects donations of ten centimes per week from children,
with & view to employ the capital thus raised in loans to ar-
tizans and labourers of established honesty who may be in
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want of funds to purchase tools, materials, seeds, anything
in short requisite to carry on their trade or business. Tho
fiest funds proceeded from liberal donations made by all the
dignitaries and functionaries of the State as well as by private
individuals. Any person contributing at once a sum of 100
francs, and 10 francs annually besides, becomes a founder ;
those who contribute an annual sum only, are members.
Six hundred lady patronesses superintend the society, with the
co-operation of a supreme comimittec. The funds at the dis-
posal of the society amounted in April, 1864 to 1,698,489 fr.

Maison Hospitaliére d’Enghien, 12, rue Picpus, is a small
hospice called after the unfortunate duke whose name it bears.
It was founded by his mother, the Duchess de Bourbon, in
1819, and after her death was supported by Madame Adé-
laide. The situation is airy, and the utmost cleanliness and
order prevail in the establishment. It contains 50 - beds, of
which 18 are for women, 12 for old men, permanently resid-
ing there, and 20 for convalescents. The Sceurs de St. Vin-
cent de Paule altend. Physician, M. Renault (sce p. 279.)

Asile Ste. Anne, 44, Avenue duRoule, for 120 aged females,
22 of whom are maintained gratuitously on application by their
curés, The others pay a small annual sum.

Besides these, there are the Asile Lambrechts, at Courhevoie ;
the Hospice St. Michel, at St. Mandé, for 12 septuagenarians,
a Blind Asylum for girls at Vaugirard, conducted by the
Saeurs Aveugles de St. Paul, and the Hospice de la Recon-
naissance, at Pelit-Létang, in the communc of Garches, con-
taining 316 beds for workmen belonging to certain specified
trades, and being upwards of 60 ycars of age (see p. 536.)

See also the Salpétriére, or Hépital de la Vieillesse ( p. 440),
the Institution des Jeunes Aveugles (p. 335), and the Insti-
tution des Sourds Muets (p. 420).

Asile de la Providence, Chaussée des Martyrs, No. 13,—
This institution was founded in 1804 by M. and Mada.ne Mi-
cault de la Vieuville. It offers a retreat to old persons of 60 and
upwards, at the cost of 700 fr. each per annum. The Société
de la Providence (see below) contributes to the maintenance of
this establishment; the Ministry of the Interior also pays
10,000 fr. per annum, and has the right of nomination to_16
gratuitous places. A few of the pensioners pay only 600 fr.
At present the number of inmates is 72.  The director is ap-
pointed by the Minister of the Interior. For the Imperial
Asile de Vincennes, and that of Vesinet, see pp. 546, 587.

CHARITABLE SoCIETIES. — Société de la Providence. —It
gives out-door relief to poor familics and blind persons, pro-
cures poor children a Christian education, besides teaching
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them a trade, and contributes to the maintenance of the Asile
de la Providence by an annual payment of 6,000 fr.

Société de la Morale Chrétienne, 12, rue St. Guillaume.—
This society, founded in 1821, principally by the Duke de La-
rochefoucauld Liancourt, has for its object the protection of
orphans during their apprenticeship, the aid of poor working
people, the gratuitous defence of prisoners, and the protection
o1 liberated convicts, by procuring them work. The society
exercises a strict superintendence over those it protects.

Société de St. I'}:mcois de Regis.—Founded in 1826 and
under the direction of the Archbishop of Paris. It promotes
marriage among poor people living in unlawful intercourse,
and contributes to the legitimizing of their offspring.

Société Centrale d’Education et d Assistance pour les
Sourds-Muets en France.—Founded in 1850 by the Deaf and
Dumb Institution of Paris. It procures the Deaf and Dumb
the advantages of instruction; binds them apprentice, affords
them assistance, and aids them in their old age. President,
M. Dufaure. Honorary presidents, the Prefect of the Seine and
the Archbishop of Paris. There is also an Asile des Sourdes-
Muettes, 33, rue Neave Ste. Genevieve, maintained by twelve
charitable ladies, under the direction of Mlle. Vivier.

Société Tutélaire et Paternelle des Orphelins.—Founded
in 1850, under the patronage of the Archbishop of Paris., It
affords protection to orphans, and sends them to the Colonies
Agricoles of France to learn agriculture. .

Sociétéde Charité Maternelle, 17 6, rue Montmartre.—Forty-
eight ladies compose the council of administration, and distribute
assistance in the different arrondissements, to aid poor women
in childbed, and encourage them to nurse their children. (1)

Société Philanthropique, 12, rue du Grand Chantier.—
Founded in 1780, under the patrongge of Louis XVI. The
funds are for distributing food to the indigent, advice and me-
dicine to the sick, and for assisting charitable establishments.
They have 10 public kitchens, called fourneaux, open 6 months
of the year, to distribute cheap provisions to the poor, to
whom bons of the value of 2 sous are gratuitously given,
enabling them to get dishes of 3 sous value upon payment of
1 sou. Charitable persons may buy these bons at 10 fr. a-
hundred, for distribution to the needy. (2)

Société Protestante de Prévoyance et de Secours Mutuels,

(1) The Empress having, on her marriage, sent 100,000 francs
to this society, her Majesty is now perpetual president of all such
societies. The number of women relieved in 1863 was 2,467,

(2) Cheap kitchens, much on the same plan, have now been
established in various parts of Paris under the patronage of their
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¢rom 8 a. . % 3 in the evening. (1) The Government and
the City contribuse about 7000 francs annually towards the
support of the Créches. Each mother pays 20 ‘centimes per
«day to the nurses. Medical and every other necessary attend-
:ance is provided. The Creche St. Philippe, 182, faubourg St.
.Honoré, receives 60 children daily. Visitors are admitted.
Direction Générale des Nourrices, 18, ruc Ste. Apolline,
“This establishment, attached to the Central Administration
«of Hospitals, procures respectable wet-nursesfor families. The
City pays 31,000 fr. annually towards its support.
ureaux de Bienfaisance et Secours ¢ Domicile.—In each
of the 20 arrondissements there is, under the superintendence
of the Prefect of the Seine and the General Commission of Pub-
Jic Assistance, a bureau to afford relief, gratuitous advice, and
imedicine to the aged, infirm, and indigent, at their own
‘homes. An infirmary is attached to each bureau. The relief
veonsists of bread, meat, firing, and clothing; besides which
.amonthly allowance of 3 fr. is given to those who are affected
«with palsy in two limbs; 5 fr. to those who are blind, and
:those who are upwards of 75 years old; and 8fr. to those who
-are turned 80. Each hureau consists of the mayor (who is pre-
«sident ex-officio), the deputy-mayors, the rector of the parish,
- curates, and protestant ministers; 12 managers, chosen by
the Minister of the Interior ; and the commissaries for the poor,
. and Dames de Charité. whose number is fixed. by the bureau. (2)
- Qut-door medical relief is afforded to the indigent of every ar-
1rondissement, by 159 medical men appointed for the purpose.
SociiTES DE SECOURS MUTUELS ENTRE OUVRIERS.—There
: are 73 of these benefit societies, comprising about 14,000 mem-
i bers, under the patronage of the municipality, and 281 others,
«comprising 35,373 members. The most ancient, St. 4nne,
+dates from 1694. (3) Members of the liberal professions have
: also similar societies called Associations de Prévoyance.

(1) The Créches of the Seine last year received 2,300 children.

(2) Thefollowing is the official statement of the poor relieved
‘in Paris during 4862, being the last return published, the total
«expense amounting {o 4,421,129 fr.:—Number of families,
-84,5%9 ; men, 22,114; wofen, 34,677 ; boys, 24,459 ; girls,
199,538 ; total, 100,488. The largest numbers were those of the
.toth, 44th, 12th, and 13th arrondissements. The poor in all
IFrance are about 8 per cent. of the population.

(3) OnJan. 18t, 1863, there were 4,582henefll societies through-
«out all France, comprising 639,044 members. Their aggregate re-
:gerve-fund amounted to 30,766,244 fr. Atpresent 4,677 societies
thave accounts open at the Caisse des Retraites (see p. 110), to the
amount of 5,313,845 fr., to which must be added a subven-
tlon of the state amounting to 781,494 fr.
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ADMINISTRATION bU MonT DE PIETE, 18, rue des Blancs
Manteaux, and 7, rue du Paradis, au Marais.—This establish-
ment which, by a decree of March 1852, is under the autho-
rity of the Prefect of the Seine, and the Minister of the Inte-
rior, is managed by a Director named by the latter, and a
Council presided over by the Prefect, and composed besides of
e Prefect of Police, 3 members of the Municipal Council, 3
of the Conseil de UAssistance Publique, and 3 citizens of
Paris, all named by the Minister of the Interior. The Mont
de Piété was created in 1777 for the benefit of the hogpitals.
It enjoys the exclusive privilege of lending upon moveables,
four-fifths of the valuc of gold and silver articles, and two-
thirds of the value of other cffects. provided no loan exceed
10,000 fr. at the central, or 500{r. at the branch establish-
ments. The interest for money which it borrows varies ac-
cording to the times ; it is generally 4 per cent.; the lowest
rate at which it hasever borrowed was 2}, per cent. The in-
terest to the public upon pledges used to be 12 per cent; it is
now reduced to 9, or ¥ per cent. for 15 days, being the shortest
term on which it can be lent after the lapse of the first month,
the interest of which must be paid entire, even though theloan
last but a few days. The pledges of the day before are brought
every morning from the offices of the different comimnission-
naires to the warehouses of the central establishment, or to
its two succursales. A caisse d’d-comples enables borrowers
to refund by instalments the sums advanced ; even t fr. is
received. Parlies must be known and be house-holders,
or produce a passport or papers en rigle, otherwise they
cannot pledge any article. About 3000 are pledged daily.
Loans are effected from 9 to 4, and articles are redcemed from
9 to2. After a year, or rather 14 months, the effects, if the
duplicate be not renewed by paying the interest due upon it,
are liable to be sold by auction, and the surplus paid to the
borrower, on application within three years from the date of
the duplicate, after which time the surplus is given to the
Administration de I Assistance Publique. The Mont de Piété
has two principal branches in Paris : one in the rue Bonaparte,
and the other in the rue de la Roquette ; also 20 auxiliary
offices, where articles may be pledged at the same rate as at
the former. There are besides 19 commissionaires in different
quarters of the town to receive articles in pledge for the Mont
de Piété : they take an extra 2 per cent. for the firstloan, 2 per
cent. more for every renewal, 1 per cent. on redeeming, or 1
m cent. more for cashing the surplus in case the ?L%e has

n sold. (1) All the appraiscrs are conjointly responsible for

(1) The yearly average of the operations of the Mont de Piété
]
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the valug set upon the articles. The Mont de Piété is insured
for 6,000,000 fr. ; the succursales for 2,000,000 fr. (1)
gavings Bank (Caisse d’Epargne et de Préveyance),
founded in 1818 ; has its central office at 9, rue Coq Héron (2),
and 19 branch effices at the Mairies, those of the 1st and 2d
grrondissements excepted, open on Sundays and Mondays, be-
sides 5 more in the neighbouring:communes. The adininis-
tration is gratuitously conductod by a board of twenty-five
directors; the salarics of clerks and other expenses of the
establishment are covered by 20,0001r. of rentes on the
State, possessed by the Savings Bank; and by a deduc-
tion of from % to 1 per cent. from the inierest pay-
able to the holders. Deposits of from 1 fr. to 300 fr. are
received at a time, and inscribed in a livret given to the
depositor, who is not allowed to have more than onc in his
own name. The rate of interest for the cnsuing year is fixed
by the council of directors in the month of December; it is

for the last 15 years, according to officlal documents, is as fol-
Jows : Articles pledged, 1,985,500; amount of loans, 38,282,900 fr.;
suerage eum lent upof each article, 19 fr. 28 c.; articles on
which the duplicate has been renewed, 387,370 ; the amount of
Yoan they vepresent, 9,805,000 fr.; average sum per article,
24 1r. 70 o. ; arlicles definilively redeemed, 1,435,900 ; suins re-
caived, 26,999,386y fr.; average sum per article, 18 fr. 80 c¢.;
articles sold, 129,890 ; amount clcarcd by sale, 2,996,220 r.; ¢x-
penses of administration, 1,107,879 fr.; tolal of receipls,
1,677,023 fr.; tolal of expenditure, 1,343,955 fr. Balancein favour
of the Mont de Piété, 233,068 fr. The average number of articles
delivered to the Police on suspicion of theft is 391, representing
lgans to the amount of 8,555 fr.  The Mont de Pisté employs
300 persons, whose salaries amount to 501,200 francs.

(4) There arc 45 Mants de Piélé in France, of which five lend
gratuitously. Before 1789, there were only 22 in operation. Last

ar the number of pledyges was 3,400,087, representing a value
z?n,gn,?al fr. 20 c.; Paris alone doing more business in ad-
vancing money than all the rest put together. One half of the
loans vary fromn 1 fr. to 5 fr., and scarcely {wo-thirds reach
1efr,; anly about 700 are above 1,000 fr.,and 30 abave 5,000 fr.

(ai This establishment suffered to such an extent from the

valution of 1848, that it was scarcely expected to survive the
shock. The danger, however, was averted through the timely
interference and support of the National Assembly. The follow-
ing table shows its progress during five years :—

Years Receipts No. of Depos. Payments To Holders
T

1958 (94,914,408 r.| 252,768 119,526,169 fr,/ 90,525

1§59 }26,496,948 ,, | 252,156 26,612,062 ,, 83,128

4000 |85,132,6%0 ,, | 264,447 21,184,834 ,, 87,851

4801 0,876,083 ,, { 357,447 22,176,223 ,, | 95,801
_4B0R N33 085,83 ,, | 846,185 131,320,074 ,, | 94,281
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at present 4% per cent. Not more than 1000 fr. ean be held
by the same person ; beyond that sum, the bank at once invests
as much of it as will ensure 10 fr. interest, in the renies or
stocks. It will do the same upon demand with any inferior
sum, provided it be sufficient to ensure 10 fr. interest. The
delay between the demand and the reimbursement of any deposit
must not exceed 12 days. -There are in France 444 of tirese
establishments. All tho money received, which here, as in the
departments, mostly belongs to workmen and servants, is paid
over to the Caisse des Dépdts et Consignations.

CBAPTRR W1,

MEDICAL INSTITUTIONS.

Tue high reputation of the French Schools of Medicine, and
the advantages which they offer to the student, attract so
many foreigners to France that we shall here put together, for
the convenience of our professional readers, all that relates to
them and to the hospitals and medical societies of Paris.

1. PUBLIC SCHOOLS.—Paris has one of the three French
faculties or superior schools of medicine, the others being at
Montpellier and Strasbourg. Each of them confers degrees
which enable the recipicnt to practise in every part of France.
There are also preparatory or secondary scheols of medicine
at Lyons, Bordeaux, Dijon, Toulouse, Caen, Rouen, arnd other
towns where most of the studies required for the profession
may be followed. The faculty of Paris is composed of the
doyen, or senior professor, 28 professors appointed by the
government, and 29 professeurs agréyés, appointed by coms
[)elition, anl who lecture and examine in the absence of

he professors. Foreigners are admitted as students and to
take degrees in the French schools. To enter for this pur-
pose the student must have attained his 18th year, and pro-
duce the certifigate of his birth duly legalised, and, if a minor,
the eonsent of his father or guardian for the step he is taking,
He must likewise be furnished with a certificate of his per-
sonal respectability (bonne vie et meurs), and if he is a minor
and his father or guardian does not live in the town, he must
find a surety. A course of study of four years is prescribed
before the student can be admitted to examination for the
degree of Doctor .of Medicine, or of Medicine and Surgery.
The sl:)éllent must enter i;lh N:g:mber, Whve;(h the scholastic
year hegins.  On lodging the above papers wifh the secretar

of the faculty, together with a diploma of bacheh‘mb-lomecy,
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he cnters his name, etc., in a register kept for that purpose,
and is given a carte d'inscription. He renews his inscription
every quarter, until he has taken out sixteen inscriptions.
When this last inscription expires, viz., at the end of the
fourth year, he can go in for the final examinations (examens
de réception). By the end of the third year, if he has not
done so before, the forcign as well as the French student,
must produce the diploma of bachelier-s-sciences in the
French University, for which he is examined in physics, che-
mistry, and natural history. The cost of this diploma is 50
fr. He has likewise to pass an examination in July of the
first, second, and third scholastic years, on the subjects of
study of those years ; failing in any of which and in another
trial in November, he cannot prescnt himself again for cxa-
mination, nor take out another inscription till after the lapse
of ayear. In the third year the student must attend the
practice of a hospital. In the degree there are five examina-
tions, and after them the thesis. The subjects of examina-
tion are detailed in the printed regulations. The last is
practical. Two cases in the hospitals are selected, on which
the diagnosis, prognosis, and treatment are expected to be
given. The candidates are examined in French, vive voce,
and one after the other in the alphabetical orderof their names
for three-quarters of an hour at each cxamination. The
thesis is a printed dissertation on a subject sclected by the
student, anc a discussion, viva voce, in support of it and on
fourteen questions drawn by lot corresponding to the fourteen
branches of medical science taught in the schools. In the
degree of Doctor in Surgery, a farther examination is under-
gone. In case of rejection another trial is generally allowed
at the end of three months.

The fees paid in the French faculties aro fixed by law,
viz. : —sixteen inscriptions at 30 fr., 480 fr.; three annual
examinations (30 fr.), 90 fr.; five final, ditto (50 fr.), .50 fr.;
five certificats d’aptitude (40fr.) 200 fr.; thesis, 100 fr.; another
certificat d'aptitude, 4o fr.; diploma, 100 fr.; total, 1260 fr.
(1) Theexpense of a medical education in Paris is thus trifling
compared with that of the British schools. All the lectures at
the Ecole de Médecine, and most of those at the Ecole Pratique,
(of which below) are public and gratuitous; nor is any pay-
ment made for hospital attendance. The library of the Ecole
de Médecine, containing upwards of 30,000 volumes, and its
excellent Museum of comparative anatomy, are daily open to
students, except from Sept. 1 to Nov. 1. Gratuitous lectures

(1) The number of inscriptions taken at the commencement
of the scholastic year 1661-1863, was 1,131.
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are also given at the Jardin des Plantes, the Collége de France,
and the Sorbonne, on general science and subjects relating
to medicine. (1) :

The Ecole Pratique d’Anatomie is a kind of supplementary
school, composed of 150 stadents. Fifty new students are
yearly admitted by competition, and an equal number leave
tue school at the same time, after 3 years’ study. It is here
and at the establishment of Clamart that the dissections are
performed. For these, including a proper supply of subjects
during the whole scason, a payment of 30 fr. is expected
from guch students as do not belong to the Ecole Pratique.
Many ofthecourses at the Ecole Pratique are gratuitous ; for others
a small fee, from 10 fr. to 30 fr., is required. Annual prizes
are given at this school to the amount of 1680 fr. The sub-
jects treated of at this school vary frequently, as they depend
on the choice of the professors, who, although authorised, are
mostly agrégés who have not yet obtained a regular chair;
their lectures are therefore private undertakings. They may
at present be stated as follows:—Anatomy and surgical patho-
logy, by Batailhé; general pathology and therapeutics, by
Axcnfeld ; midwifery, by Joulin and Tarnier ; syphilio-
graphy, by Clerc; operative medicine, by Lefort; surgical
anatomy, {y Guyon and Panas; diseases of the chest, b
Mandl; physiology, by Liégeois; mental diseases, by Bail-
larger ; descriptive and physiological anatomy, and also her-
niary surgery, by Dupré; nervous disorders, by Sandras.
Courses on various subjects are also given by other gentlemen
at their own houses or private dispensaries ; on diseases of the
eye, by Sichel and Desmarres ; female diseases, by Elleaume ;
internal pathology, by Racle; external pathology, by Pean,
etc. But these lectures, as well as those at the Ecole pratique,
vary every year, and even every two or three months; and
the student will therefore do well to seek for information on

(1) The following is a list of the professorships, with the names
of the gentlemen holding them :—A4natomy, Jarjavay ; Patholo~
gicul Anatomy, Cruveilher ; Physiology, Longetl ; Medical Physics,
Gavarret; Hygienics, Bouchardat; Medical Chemistry, Wurtz;
Medical Pathology, Guillot and Monneret ; Surgical Pathology,
Denanvilliers, Gosselin; Operations and Bandages, Malgaigne ;
Medical Jurisprudence, Tardieu ; General Pathology and Therapeutics,
Andral; Therapeutics and Materia Medica, Grisolle ; Medical Natural
History, Baillon ; Pharmacoloyy, Regnaull; Clinical Surgery,
Jobert de Lamballe and Laugierat the Hotel-Dieu,Nélalon at the
Hdpital de Clinique, and Velpeau at the Charité ; Clinical Medi-
cine, Piorry and Bouillaud at La Charité, Rostan and Trousseau
al the Hotel-Dieu ; Clinical Obstetrics, P. Dubois at the Hopital de
Clinique ; Obstetrics and Diseases of Females and Children, Pajot ;
Comparative Medicine, Rayer ; Histology, Robin,
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the subject in the entrance-court of the Ecole Pratique, where
these and all other extraordinary courses of lectures are an-
nounced by regular bills. Clinical lectures are given at nearly
all the hospitals; thus Dr. Sée and Dr. Bouchut lecture on the
diseases of children at the Hopital des Enfans Malades, and at
the Hopital Ste. Eugénic ; on other diseases, Dr. Chassaignao
at the Hopital Lariboisicre, Dr. Cullerier at the Hopital du
Midi, etc. (See Hospitals). And at other hospitals private
lessons are given by the infernes (1) on percussion, ausculta-
tion, and the diagnosis of diseases.

The medical session commences early in November, and
fimishes in July. Many of the private courscs conlinue until
September ; dissections are not allowed in the summer, but
operative surgery is permitted. Many of the hospitals are open
to the students ; where tickets are required, as at the Iotel
Dieu, they may ho obtained on application al the bureau of
the hospital. For admission to the Hopital des Cliniques, a
ticket must be obtained from the bureau of the Faculty, at the
Ecole de Médecine. To visit the Lourcine, an hospital devoted
to the diseases peculiar to females, a special order is necessary,
and the number of students is limited. The principal hospital
for lying-in women in the rue du Port Royal is closed to every
one. In the hospitals the visits of the medical officers take
place at an carly hour, usually at 7 or 8 a.m.

A peculiar feature of the medical school of Paris is the
““concours.” Most of the appointments under the profes-
sorships, are determined by this test. A serics of subjects
is selected, on which the competitors are obliged to treat
both in writing and orally ; these are determined by lot;
each lesson is delivered in public and before the Faculty, and
it must occupy an hour. Each candidate must morcover
wrile a thesis on a subject sclected by the judges, and defend
it publicly against his opponents. The cuncours is a severe
trial, and this system is infinitely superior to that | arsued
in England, where ‘¢ preferment too often goes by favour,”

Great advantages are offered in the study of special patho-
logy, hospitals being set apart for patients afflicted with dis-
eases of the skin, those peculiar to infancy and old age, scro-
fula, caleulus, syphilis, and mental derangement ; and perhaps
in no other country will the student have equal opportunities
of observing these affections. A scason may indeed be well

(1) A certain number of students of medicine, surgery, and
pharmacy, varying from 30 to 40, are annually selected, afier a
concours, 10 attend the sick in the hospitals of Paris for the pur-
pose of practical instruction. They are called internes ; they re-
main in office for 3 years, and reeeive a yearly salary of 500 fr,
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spent in Paris at the Hospital St. Louis, one of the largest iu
Europe, chiefly dedicated to cutaneous and scrofulous dissases.-

Certificates of medical studies in a foreign faculty are taken
in France in deduction of those required for a degree amd
with regard to the degree of Bachelier-és-Sciences, if the
forcign student has obtained a similar degree in his own
country, he can apply to the Minister of Public Instruction
for a dispensation. The holder of a foreign diploma: wishing
to obtain a French diploma, has to submit to the examima-
tions established for that degree ; but the minister can relieve
him from the previous studies. (1)

Officiers de Santé.—These are an inferior class of medical
practitioners.  Before passing the examination of officier de
santé it is necessary to have taken out 12 inscriptions in a
faculty, which supposes three years of study, or fourteen
inscriptions in a preparatory school of medicine. The exa-
mination is cither at a faculty or at a preparatory school in
the presence of a professor of ‘a faculty. The examinations
take place in Sept. and Oct. They are three in number !
1. Anatomy ; 2. surgery and pharmacy ; 3. the clements of
medicine. Besides this the candidate has to write a disserts-
tion on a question of a practical naturc. The expense of ths
examination amounts in all to 580 fr. Officiers de santé can
only practise in the department where they have undergone
their examination. In order to practise in another, a new
examination is requisite.

Closely connected with the medical schaols, is the

MusiE DupuvTRrEN, 15, rue de PEcole de Médecine.~~This
museuin containg many curious and rare specimens, someé
probably unique. It is especially rich in diseased osseous
structures, and one or two of the Juxations are exceedingrlz
curious. The collection contains a heart in which the per
cardium is wanting, and the extraordinary case published by
Breschet, of the foetus within the substance of the walls of the
uterus. In the centre of the hall are numerous specimens of
diseases df the skin from various causes, modelled in papier-
maché, This museum is open to students daily, and to stran-
gers on application. Closed from Sept. 1 toNov. 1. (see p. 300.)

AMPHITHEATRE OF ANATOMY for the hospitals of Paris, 17,
rue du Fer & Moulin, on the site of the ancient burial-ground of
Clamart: 1t consists of well-ventilated galleries, one story

(1) Ithas been calculated that France had, in 1863, no less than
21,000 medical praetitioners, and 6,765 apothecaries. Paris has
1,584 doctors in meiicine, and 241 officiers-de-santé. Oh an
average, 1 medieal man for 750 inhabitants in Pavis, and one
for every 1000 in the departments,
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high, lighted from the roof, a muscum, a theatre for lectures,
and several small private rooms for dissections. Bodies are
removed hither from the hospitals; the number here and at
the Ecole Pratique exceeds 4,000 annually (sce p. 326.) Di-
rector, M. Serres, who lives at the Jardin des Plantes, and to
whom application must be made for admission to the lectures.

MepicAL BoTanicaL GARDEN.—For this see p. 382.

ECOLE ET MAISON D’ACCOUCHEMENT, 5, ruc du Port Royal.
—This school and hospital which occupies the buildings of
the Abbey of Port Royal, rendered famous by the Jesuits and
Pascal, was devoted to public uses in 1796. It contains in
all 416 beds, of which 322 are for patients, and 94 for pu-

ils, besides 80 cradles for infants. Women are received here
in their last month of pregnancy, but, in case of urgency or
distress, they may be admitted in their cighth month, on pro-
mising to take charge of their offspring. They arc attended
in their confinement by women, or, if need he, by the surgeons
of the institution; and, if their health admits of it, are re.
moved from the hospital on the tenth day after their confinc-
ment. If, notwithstanding the promise above-mentioned, a
woman refuses to take charge of her child, a commissary of
police is called in, who draws up the necessary declaration,
and the child is sent to the Hopital des Enfants Trouvés. If,
on the contrary, a woman takes her child home, she receives
a small sum of money, and a supply of clothing. Work of
different kinds is provided for the women received here.  The
mean term of a patient’s abode here is 18 days. Medical
students are exchlsed from this hospital, which 1s devoted to
the instruction of young women educating as midwives.
(Ecole pour les Eleves Sages-Femmes.) The average number
of pupils is 80, some of whom are maintained at their own
expense, others by different departments of France : oo fr.
a-year is the charge for board and instruction. After a course
of two years, the pupils are examined by a jury, com.posed
of the chief professor and the physicians of the hospilal, a
commissary of the Faculty of Medicine, and a comnrissary of
the Council-general of Hospitals, and are allowed to practise
on receiving a diploma. The number of licensed midwives in
Paris is 450. Strangers are not allowed to inspect the hospital.
The average number of patients reccived here is 4,000 : the
mortality is nearly 1 in {8. The average cost of a patient
is 2 fr. 25c. per day. Physician, Hervieux; surgeons,
Danyau and Béraud ; chief midwife, Mme. Alliot.

ECOLE DE PUARMACIE, 21, ruc de PArbaléte.—There are 1t
professors attached to this school, who lecture on pharmacy,
chemistry, natural history, and botany, Apothecarics are
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examined here before they can practise as such (see p. 414.)
This cstablishment has a botanical garden of its own. (1)
EcoLES IMPERIALES VETERINAIRES, ET BERGERIES IMPE-
RIALES.—The former are three in number, at Alfort near Paris,
at Lyons, and at Toulouse. The latter, for the breeding and
treatment of cattle, are at Rambouillet, Perpignan, La llaye,
Vaux (Vosges), and Mont Carmel (Pas-de-Calais),

1. HOSPITALS.—The civil hospitals of Paris are under
the direction of the Administration of Public Assistance (seo
p. 119.)  The military hospitals are under the authority of the
staff of the garrison of Paris. The Conseil de Surveillance
decides all administrative measures, and superintends the pro-
perty, accounts, ete. of the hospitals and hospices, The bu-
reaux of the administration are facing the Hotel de Ville and
the Scine (2).

In all cases of emergency the medical man upon duty at
any of the hospitals may ieceive a patient into his establish-
ment.  The head physicians also, at their morning consulta-
tions, may receive into their hospitals such patients as they
may think proper. Others may be admitted upon application at
the Bureaw Central &' Admission, opposite the cathedral of
Notre Dame. 'This is a board of 2 physicians and 6 surgeons,
who relieve each other by rotation.  From this body the
hospital surgeons and physicians are selected as vacancies
occur.  They indicate the particular hospital for the patient,
according to the nature of the complaint., Medical advice is
also given by the hoard to indigent persons, and children are
vaccinated here on Thursdays and Sundays at 11, This latter

(1} A superior school of pharmaey is attached to each of (he
three faculties of medicine of Paris, Montpellier, and Strashurg,
and a preparatory school to each of the preparatory schools of
medicine.  The superior seliools canfer the title of Pharmecien
and Herboriste de Premiére Classe, who can exercise their profes—
sion everywhere in Franee, A conrse of study is required of
candidates of three years in a superior school, and three and a
half years in a preparatory school of pharmacy, and three years
passed at a chemist's.  The expenses of this course, including
the examination and diploma, are 1,300 fr.  The degree of
Bachelier-¢s=Scicnces in the university is also required.  The pree
paratory as well as the higher schools; admil to the degree of
pharmacien and herboriste of the second class; the former after
passing six years in a pharmacy, and one year's sfudy in a supe~
vior, and a year and a half in a preparatory sehool. The expenses
for the pharmacien of this class are 460 fr., and for the herboriste
only 50 fr. They cannot practise heyond the limits of the depart-
ment in which they were examined without a fresh examinalion.

(2) It appears from the last general returns that the hospitals
and hospices of Paris support every year (in round numbers)
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operation also takes place every Tuesday at the mairies; t6
encourage this useful practice, three francs are paid fo the
patents for every child; and children not having undergone
the process are excluded from the free schools of Paris.

All the civil hospitals of Paris are divided into three classes
—1. General Hospitals, open to those complaints for which a
special hospital is not provided; of these the Hdtel Diew is
the principal ; 2. Special Hospitals, devoted to the sole treat-
ment of particular classes of disorders, as, for example, cu-
tancous, mental, &c.; and, 3. Hospices or Alms-houses. Those
under the direction of the Council General of Public Assistance
are twenty-six. Upwards of 40 millions of francs have been
expended since 1830 on the hospitals of Paris. (1)

In 1803 the population of Paris was 700,000, and the number
of beds in the hospitals 5,620; in 1851, only 7,337, with &
population of 1,100,000. (2) The total number of heds in
the hospitals and hospices is at present 19,602, all of iron.
All the hospitals have different wards for various diseases.

The reader will find all the necessary information toncerning
the hospices, at p. 119. We here subjoin a list of the hos-
pitals of Paris, divided inlo general and special (3.)

12,000 aged and infirm menand women, and yearly receive nearly
90,000 palients, 5,200 of whom are always under cure or care;
5,000 children are yearly received, and 14,000 are always out at
nurse in the country; soo are apprenliced yearly. Besides this
the directors grant relief yearly fo 50,000 indigent families.

(1) Thete arein France 1,333 hospitals or hospices, the property
ofwhich amountsto 408,254,771fr.1 nationalhospital for the blind
332,492 fr.; 7,599 bureaux de bicnfaisance, 13,557,836 Ir.; 46
monts de piété, the annual loans of which are 48,000,000 {r.; 39
nsylums for the deaf and dumb; 1 school for the blind, 156,699
francs; 144 foundling hospitals; 37 lunatic asylums receiving
4,826,168 fr.; and 1« Maison lmpériale at Charenton, 459,875 fr.,
making a total of 9,206 establishments, and an annual expen "iture
of 115,441,232 franes. .

(2) The following was the statistical condition of the above in-
slifutions for the year ending Dee. 31, 1862 (last return}.—General
and Special Hospitals.— Admissions, 60,700 medical, and 24,128
surgical cages. Cures, 52,824 medical, and 22,692 surgical cases.
Deaths, 7,959 medical, and 1,348 surgictl cases. Average num-
ber of days passed in the hospitals by mea 27°05 ; women, 41°80;
Loys, 48°40 3 girls, 56°55. Mortality, men, tin 1903 ; women, 1
in 16°15; boys, 1 in t1-21; girls, 1 in t1°61. The maximum of
beds occupied ocenrred in March and December ; the minimum In
July and August.— Hospices and Maisons de Retraite. — Admis-
sions, 6,683 ; exits, 5,326 ; deaths, 1,812,

(8) For chlidren labouring under scrofula the administration
has provided two branch hospitals; one at Forges (Seine-et-
Oise), the other at Berck-sur-Mér (Pas de Calais).
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GBNERAL HospitaLs.—Hdtel Dieu.—Consists of large build.
ings, separated by the southern branch of the river, divided
into wards for men and for women; there are also gardens for
convalescents.  The laboratory, pharmacy, laundry, &c., are
all on a large scale. The Hospital is composed of three detached
parts, connected by means of a covered bridge and a tunnel
passing under the quay to the new buildings erected in the
Enclos Saint Julien. The modern portion of the Hotel Dieu
in the Enclos Saint Julien contains 104 beds. The total num-
ber of beds here al present is 828. Thirty-three Augustinian
nuns attend. [n this house are reccived the wounded and
sick, with the exception of children, incurable and insane
persons, and those with culaneous or syphilitic diseases. Ly-
ing-in women are admitted only in cases of extreme necessity,
there being a special hospital for that class of patients. (Ses
p. 136.) The yearly average number of patients is 12,000, and
the mortality t in 18, Physicians: Drs. Barth, Guéneau
de Mussy, Heurteloup, Vigla, Grisolle, and Troussedu.
Surgeons : MM. Laugier, Maisonneuve, and Jobert de Lam-
balle. Professional men ought not to neglect visiting the

The financial condition of the Hospitals and Charitabie Institu-
fions dependent on the General Administration was as follows
for 1861: net receipts, 16,904,499 fr.; expenditure, 17,310,738
fr.; deficieney, 406,239 fr. The receipts included, among other
items, rents of land, houses, &e., 3,106,487 fr.; Inlerest of
capital lent to the Cily of Parig, 752,915 fr.; contributions of
theatres and places of amusement, 1,614,940 fr.; municipal
subvention for the Enfants Trouvés, 1,907,328 ; concessions of
burial-ground, 159,199 fr.

The expenses Included : General Hospitalg, 2,922,614 fr.; Spe~
cial Hospitals, 2,024,927fr.; Maison Impériale de Santé, 292,235 ¢.3
Maisons de Relraite, 585,897 fr.; Hospices, 3,909,868 fr.; Chari-
fable foundations, 560,598 fr. ; Buildings and repairs, 696,317 fr.;
Administration, including physicians, 2,055,548 fr.; Expenses
of colleetion, &e., 291,373 fr. The average cost of each patient
per diem was :—General Hospitals, 2 fr. 22 ¢.; Special Hospltals,
2 [r. 6 c.y Hospices, 1 fr. 34 ¢.; Maixons de Retraite, 1 fr. 34 c.

The chiel items of consumption in the hospitals and hospices
in 1861 were : Flour, 5,617,052 kil.; bread, 3,196,208 kil.; wine,
1,716,936 litres ; meat, 1,307,315 kil 5 bulter, 105,383 kil, 3 milk,
1,880,500 lilres. The tolal value of furniture and linen of every
deseription belonging to the hospilals and hospices of Paris is
about 10,500,000 fr., including 563 bathing-tubs.

All public places of amusement pay a tax of 8 per cent. on
their receipts towards the support of the hospitals; and a heavy
tax for their support is levied on every piece of ground pur -
chised for the'purpose of burial In the cemeteries. Private mu~
nificence also contributes largely fo their mainténance.
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Hotel Dieu, since it may be taken as a large model of the
others. (See p. 308.)

Hépital Lariboisiére, rue St. Vincent de Paule, a hospital
opened in 1854. Thesame classes of patients as are admitted
to the Iotel Dieu are received here. The number of beds is
634 ; twenty-four Dames de St. Augustin attend on the
patients.  Physicians: MM. Oulmont, Moissenet, Pidoux,
Duplay, Tardien, and Hérard. Surgeons : MM. Voillemier
and Chassaignac. (Sce p. 234.)

The Hapital de la Pitié, 1, rue Lacépéde, is a hospital an-
nexed to the Hotel Dieu.  The buildings are spacious, and contain
620 beds. The yearly average number of patients is 10,750 ; and
the mortality { in 11-50. Physicians: Drs. Marrotte, Béhier,
Matice, Sée, and Bernutz. Surgeons : MM. Michon and Gosselin.
Clinical lectures on Tuesdays, Thursdays and Saturdays, at
9 a.m. Twenty-five sisters of Ste. Marthe attend (see p. 426.)

Ilépital de la Charité, 45, rue Jacob. Clinical and medical
schoo{s have been established here. It contains 474 beds.
The same discases are treated as at the lotel Dien. The
Dames de St. Augustin attend upon the sick. The yearly
average of patients is 8,000, and the mortality 1 in 20.—Phy-
sicians : Drs, Pelletan, Beau, Nonat, and Gullot, Surgeons :
MM. Velpeau, Malgaigne. Clinical lectures by MM. Velpeau,
Piorry, and Bouilltud. (Scep. 355.)

Hdpital Beaujon, 208, rue du Faubourg St. Honoré. This
fine hospilal, spacious and airily situated, contains 416 beds.
The annual average of patients is 5100; the  mortality is 1
in 14. A new system of ventilation has been applied at this
hospital, which answers admirably. It is well worthy the at-
tention of all who are interested in the subject of hygiene.—
Physicians: Drs. Gubler, Fremy, Lailler, and Moutard-Martin.
Surgeons : MM. Morel-Lavallée and Huguier. Drs. Mahon
brothers for the treatment of the scurf. The patien*s are
attended by the Sceurs de Ste. Marthe (see p. 197.)

Hépital St. Antoine, 184, rue du Faubourg St. Antoine.—
The patients here are of the same class as those of the Hotel
Dicu, and are attended by 30 Scurs de Ste. Marthe. The
number of beds is 480. The average yearly number of patients
is 4,800, mortality 1 in 22. Physicians : Drs. Bernard,
Boucher de Laville-Jossy, Richard, Mesnet, and Woillez.
Surgeon: M. Jarjavay (sce p. 278.)

Hdpital Necker, 151, rue de Sevres.—Besides the cases of
gencral disease treated at this hospital, there are 7 beds for
mothers with infants at the breast, and two more, containing
12 beds, for calculary discase, under the care of Dr. Civiale,
who gives clinical lectures there on Saturdays from 9 o 11,
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The number of beds is 386. The yearly average number of
patients is 4800, and the mortality 1 in 17.—Physicians :
Drs. Delpech, Lasegue, Bouley, and Vernois. Surgeon: M.
Desormeaux. Twenty Sceurs de Charité attend (sce p. 337.)

Hdpital Cochin, 47, rue du Faubourg SL. Jacques. The
same cases are treated here as at the Hotel Dicu.  The num-
ber of beds is 119 ; and three Swurs de Ste. Marie d’Espérance
attend upon the patients. The annual average number of pa-
tients is 2,100, and the mortality 1 in 10.—Physician: Dr.
Chapotinde St. Laurcent. Surgeon © M. Guérin (scep. 415.)

SeeciaL llospiTans.—Hdépital St. Louis.—40, rue Bichat.
Though chiefly designed for the treatment of cutancous dis-
eases and scrofula, it receives also cases of acute disorders and
surgical cases. It had many patients during the cholera,
Male patients able to pay are received in a separate pavilion,
at the rate of 2 fr. a-day. In-door paticnts, who are able,
are encouraged to work in the garden at 1 sou per hour. 1t
contains 810 beds, the number ol in-door patients having con-
siderably diminished since the discovery of a new method for
curing the ilch, which is now performed in two hours. It has
a large bathing-establishment for in and oul-door patients,
and is justly cclebrated for its medicated and mincral baths,
particularly those of a sulphureous nature. There is also a
large vapour bath, admitting by distinct entrics cight patients
at the same time. Another, of a different construction, is
fitted up with douches, &ec. Upwards of 25,000 persons
annually avail themselves of the baths, and in a single year
180,000 have been served.  The average number of patienls

early is 9000, and the mortality 1 in 19. Gratuilous advice
15 given by the medical men to the poor.—Physicians : Drs.
Cazenave, Gibert, Bazin, Devergie, Hillairet and lardy, who
during certain months deliver clinical lectures on diseases of
the skin. Surgeons: MM. Denonvilliers and Richet. There
are also 10 ¢nternes for medicine, and 7 for pharmacy. The
Dames de St. Augustin attend. It has two clinical lecture-
rooms (seep. 251.)

Hdpital du Midi, 15, rue des Capucins St. Jacqucs.—This
hospital is exclusively reserved for male syphilitic patients. 1t
contains 336 beds, besides 21 for persons able to pay. All the
attendants are males. The annual average number of patients
is 3,300.—Physician : Dr. Puche. Surgeons+ MM. Cusco,
and Cuallerier. The clinical lectures of Dr. Ricord are very
celebrated. Gratuitous advice given to out-door patients from
9 to 10. Mortality 1 in 257 (see p. 415.)

Hépital Lourcine, 111, rue de Lourcine, reserved for female
syphiﬁuc patients,—Contains 276 beds, of which 226 are for
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adults, and 60 for children ; it is exceedingly well regulated.
The average number of patients in the year is 2000, and the
mortality 1 in 27. The nature of the diseases here treated
being such as to make medical men rather unwilling to under-
take the management of the patients, the Board of Health has
imposed upon every physician desirous of a place in an hos-
pital the obligation of passing some time in this, so that there
are continual changes among the medical men attached to it.
The actual physician is Dr. Goupil; surgeons, MM. Verneuil
and Richard Professional men easily obtain tickets.

Hépital des Cliniques de la Faculté de Médecine, Place de
I'Eoole de Médecine.—This hospital, containing 189 beds, is
appropriated to surgical diseases and midwifery. A course of
midwifery is given here to female aspirants to that profcssion,
who during their stay assist in the hospital. The average
_ pumber of accouchements i8 1000 a-year ; that of surgical
cases 600. This is the only hospital of the kind to which
students are admitted. Clinical lectures are given by the sur-

n and physician, Nélaton and Paul Dubois, the latter
lor obstetrics. Strangers are not admitted to these lectures
without a card, to be obtained at the bureau of the Faculty
of the School ¢f Medecine (see p. 393.)

Hépital des Enfants Malades, 149, rue de Stevres.—Ex-
clusively devoted to the diseases of children. The salubrity
of the air, and the neighbouring walks, contribute greatly to
the speedy convalescence of the young palients. Gymnastics
have been introduced here with great advantage. 1t contains
698 beds. The children are admitted from 2 to 15 years of age.
Gratuitous advice is also given tosick children in the neighbour-
hood. The average number of patients yearly is 3525, and the
mortality 1 in 38. Physicians : Drs. Bouvier, Roger, Blache,
and Racle. Surgeon : M. Giraldeés. The Dames de St. Thomas
de Villeneuve atlend on the patients (see p. 337.)

The Hdpital Ste. Eugénie, 89, rue de Charenton, established
in 1854, under the patronage of the Empress, for the reception
of sick children, contains 405 beds. Physicians: MM. Barthez,
Bergeron, Bouchut. Surgeon: M. Marjolin. Ten Dames de
8t. Augustin atlend the patients (see p. 283).

The Salpétriére, 47, Boulevard de 1'Hépital, which may be
ranked among the hospices, i3 an hospital for incurable, epi-
leptic, or lunatic female patients, and patients advanced in age.
It contains 5,204 beds, of which 2,917 only are occupied by
real patients, The physicians of this establishment are MM.
Trélat, Charcot, Richard, Vulpian, Mitivié, Lélut, Falret, and

Bulhr? Morean. Surgeon : M. Follin (see p. 440.)
The Mdpital Militaire du Val-de-Grdoe containg 1500 beds.
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~—Physicians : MM. Godelier, Lustreman, Champouillon, and
Mounier. Surgeon: M. Laveran (see p. 418,)

Connected with the hospitals are the following :

Boulangerie Généralz, 13, Place Scipion.—This is the ge-
neral bakehouse for all the hospitals (see p. 426.)

Cave Générale, 2, rue Notre Dame.—Here all the wines,
spirits, &c., used in the hospitals are delivered.

Pharmacie Centrale des Hopilaux et Hospices, 47, Quai
de la Tournelle.—A general dispensary, where medicines are
prepared by steam. ) -

Hopital St. Merri, Cloitre St. Merri, for poor patients of the
4th arrond. 1t contains 7 beds for men, and 7 for women.

The Jewish hospital recently erected by M. de Rothschild,
at 76, rue de Picpus, contains 100 beds in all, viz., 60 for
patients, and 40 for the old and disabled. Physician: Dr.
Brossard. Surgeon: Dr. Chonnow (see p. 279.)

There are also charitable societies for medical purposes,
such as the : Société nationale de Vaccine ; Société médicale
d’ Accouchement ; Soeiété médico-philanthropique; Maison
des saurs garde-malades; Société médicale du Temple, &e.

Besid:s hospitals, there are certain establishments called

Maisons br SANTE, which receive patients, who pay various
prices according to the accommodation they receive. They
are conducted generally by a medical man of reputation, who
boards, lodges, and attends the patients; they have gardens,
and some are agreeable places for sick people.  Rooms con-
taining a single or soveral beds may be had according to the
means of the patients; and persons condemned for polstical
offences, whose health would be endangered by the confinement
of a prison, are semetimes allowed to reside on their parole,
and on the responsibility of the direclar of the establishment,
in a Maison de Sunté. Persous confined for debt in any of
the prisons ¢f Paris may be transferred to a Maison de Santé ;
but the proprictor of the establishment is held responsible for
the full amount of the debt due should the prisoner cscape,
The Maison Impériale de Santé, 200, rue du Faubourg St.
Denis, the best establishment of the kind, receives patients
at from 4 fr. to 7 fr. per diem, opcrations and attendance in-
cluded. 1t contains 300 beds. The nuinber of patients ad-
milted annually is about 1600, and the average mortalily 1
in 7.—Physicians : Drs. Cazalis and Bourdon. Surgeon :
M. Demarquay. ~

JH. MEDICAL SOCIETIES.—The most impartant is the

dcadémie Impériale de Médecine, 39, rue des Saints Peres.
~—Previous to the revolution of 1789, there was an Academy
of Medicine and another of Surgery. The former was created
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in 1776, and the latter in 1731. Upon the formation of the
Institute, the Medical Academy was annexed to the class of
the scicnces. By an ordonnance of Dec. 20, 1820, the Aca-
demy was restored, and definitively organized by decrees in
1829 and 1835. The objecl of its institution is to reply lo
inquiries of the government relative Lo everything that concerns
the public health.  The number of its resident members, now
amouunting to 114, is to he reduced to 100 by extinction: so
that at present the Academy only nominates one member afler
three extinctions. It has besides 14 free members and 52
forcign associates, correspondents not included. The Academy
holds public sittings cvery Tuesday, at 3 o’clock.

Société- de Médecine de Paris.—This socicty devoles ils
attention to cpidemic diseases and the human constitution,
and keeps up a correspondence with physicians and scientific
men in France and foreign countries. I publishes the Revue
Médicale. Mects at the lotel de Ville, 1st and 3d Friday of
every month, at 3 p.M.

Société de Médecine Pratique.—For the study and cure of
epidemic discases. It meets at the Hotel de Ville, first
Thursday of every month. Gratuitous vaccination.

Société de Chirurgie, rue de I'Abbaye, No. 3.—Meets at
the Hotel de Ville, on Wednesdays, s 7 pow.

Société d'Observation, for the reading and discussion of
medical cases.—The meetings are at the Hotel Dieu, on Satur-
days, hut are not public.

Société Anatomique, one of the most interesting scientific
societies of Paris.—The most curious specimens of morbid
anatomy are brought to the society from the different hospitals.
Meetings on Thursdays, at the Ecole Pratique.

The Parisian Medical Society, established in 1837, consists
of English practitioners and students, as well as European
medical men.

German Medical Society, 24, rue de IEcole de Méuecine.
This society meets every Monday.

Société des Sciences Médicales. At the Hotel de Ville on
the 4th Friday of every month.

Besides these, there are also the Sociétés Médico-Pratique
and Mddecine Vétérinaire, at the Hotel de Ville; the Société
Médicale d’ Emulation, at the Ecole de Médecine: the Société
de Pharmacie, 21, rue de I'Arbalete; La Société Biologique,
at the Ecole Pratique ; and the Suciété d’Hydrologie Médicale,
for the study of mineral waters, 3, Quai Malaquais. More-
over, every arrondissement of Paris now possesses its medical
society.
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PART II.
DESCRIPTION OF PARIS IN WALKS.
FIRST WALK.,

This comprises part of the 1st arrondissement, containing

The PALAcE oF THE TUILERIES.—This palace occupies the
site of a rubbish-shoot and some tile-fields that existed in the
time of Charles VI. (1476), and had furnished Paris for four
centuries. (1) In 1518, Francis I. purchased a house erected
there by Des Essarts and De Villeroi, for his mother, Louise
de Savoie, who found the air of the royal residence, the Palais
des Tournelles in the Marais, unwholesome. In 1525 this
princess gave the Hotel des Tuileries to Jean Tiercelin, maitre
@’hotel to the Dauphin; it subsequently became the property
of Catherine de Medicis, who had the present edifice begun as
a residence for herself in 1564. P. Delorme and J. Bullant
crected the central pavilion, the two adjoining wings, and the
low pavilions by which they are terminated. Here her work
stopped, for heing alarmed by an astrological prediction bidding
her beware of St. Germain, and the Tuileries being in the
parish of St. Germain ’Auxerrois, she fixed her abode at the
Hotel de Soissons  Under Henry 1V, the palace was enlarged
by Ducerccau and Dupérac, who raised two other ranges of
building faced with composite pilasters, and erected loitly
pavilions at each end. This king also began the long gal-
lery along the quay. Louis XIV. caused Levau and d’Orbay
to complete it, and to add an attic to the central buildings ;
but he soon after neglected the works, and transferred his
court to Versailles, The Regent Duke of Orleans resided at
the Tuileries during the minority of Louis XV.; but from that
period till the forced return of Louis XVI., the families of
persons officially attached to the Court occupied it. This
palace is inscribed on almost every page of the history
of the first revolution. The mob entered it on June 20,
1792, and on Aug. 10 of the same year it was attacked
and the Swiss guards massacred. It was the official re-
sidence of the First Consul, and subsequently the imperial pa-
lace. In 1808 Napolcon began the northern gallery, to commu-

(1) The foundations of the old tile-kilns were discovered in
some excavations made in 1836.

10
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nicate with the Louvre. After the Restoration the Tuileries
continved to be the chief residence of the King and Royal Fa-
mily. After the revolutiog of 1830, when the people attacked
and v k the palace (July 29th), Lounis Philippe fixed his re-
sidexc¢ in it, and continued to inhabit it till the 24th of Fe-
bruary, 1848, when it was again invaded hy the people, and
the King made his escape. By a decree of the Provisional
Government, dated Feb. 26th, 1848, which was never pul into
execution, this palaee was to be thenceforth transformed into
an asylum for invalid workmen. During and after the insur-
regtion of June, it was used as an hospital for the wounded.
In 1849 the yearly exhibition of paintings was opened init. At
present it is the official residence of the Emperor.

Eaterior.—The extreme length of the facade is 330 yards,

its breadth 36. Owing to the ruinous state of the southern
ortion, ils complete reconstruction has heen commenced, nor
g it certain that the new edifices will he of the same design
as the old ones, The demolitions comprise the pavilion to-
wards the Seine, called Pavillon de Flore (1.) The other -
vilion in the rue de Rivoli, called Pavit/on Marsan, is soon
o share the same fate. Asto the other buildings, the columns
on the lower story of the central facade are lonic; on the
second Corinthian; on the third Composite. The buildings on
each side of the Pavillon de I’ Horloge consisted originally of a
long gallery to the south and the grand staircase to the north,
erected in place of a similar gallery in the time of Lounis XIV.
TPowards the garden, vaulted arcades extended in front of
these frora the central J)avilion, forming terraces on the top.
Interior.—It would be difficult, in the present state of the
palace, to give a correct idea of the interiar. The entrance
to Louis Philippe’s apartments was by the Pavillon de Flore.
The room in which the ex-King consented to his abdication (2),
and which was called the Grand Cabinet du Rot, still ~xists ;
but no portion of this side of the palace is now visible. These
gpartments were formerly occupied hy Marie Antoinette.

adame Adelaide, the Prince and Princess de Joinville, and

(1) During the demolitions, several Caps of Liberty ol 1793

were found behind the hangings.

(2; Some briet parliculars coneerning that memorable event
annot fail to interest the reader.  In the course of the night ot
ebruary 23d, barricades had been erecled in all the streets of

the metropolls. At 8 o’vlock in the marning, M. Emile de Girar-
dln, the chief edilor of the Presse, arrived at the Taileries, where
he found MM. Thiers, Odilon Barrot, de Rémusat, Duyergier de
Hauranue, and Lamoricicre, apparently unconscious of what was
going on. After a brief consultation, these gentlemen hastily
drew up a short proclamation announcing the formation of a
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their respective suites, lodged in the same pavilion. The
Pavillon Marsan at the northern end, with part of the
lateral gallery called the New Gallery of the Louvre, was
occupied by the Duchess of Orleans, the Comte de Paris,

Thiers-Barrot ministry, and the dissolution of the Chamber of
Deputies. M. de Girardin immcdiately took it {o the printing-
office of the Presse lo get il printed.  But the insurgents, when
they learned its contents, ridiculed il and would not allow it {o
be stuck on the walls. M. de Girardin then returned to the
Tuileries, and, having previously informed Marshal Bugeaud of
what had taken place, was admitled into the royal cabinet.
The King was in an arm-chair near the window ; MM. Thiers
and Rémusat were lcaning againsi the chimney-piece. “ What
is the matter, M. de Girardin?” asked the King.—*¢ Sire,” was
the answer, *“ your Majesty is losing most precious moments;
if a bold mecasure is not at once adopted, in an hour royalty
will be no more!” These words crcated great astonishment.
After a moment of desponding silence, the King said : ¢ What
is to be done?”’—* Your Majesty must abdicale,” answered
M. de Girardin.—** Abdicate?”—*¢ Yes, Sire, and confer the re-
gency on the Duchess of Orleans, for (ke Duke of Nemours
would not be accepted.”—¢ The King then rose and said :
‘¢ Gentlemen, do you wish me to mount on horsehach?”  This
was nol approved of; M. de Montpensier stepped forward and
urged the King to abdicate. The King replied : ¢“ I abdicate...”
—¢ And is the regeney of the Duchiess of Orleans aceepled?”
asked M. de Girardin. Al this moment the report of musketry
began to be more diglinctly heard; it became evident that the
Tuileries might soon he attacked. *¢ Go, go, M. de Girardin,”
exclaimed the King. M. de Girardin obeyed, and altempted to
rcach the office of the Presse, in order {o have a proclamation
printed with fhe greatest possible expedilion. But finding his
progress impeded by countless barricades and dense crowds of
armed people, he returned to the Tuileries. The enlrance was
thronged wilh persons who had repaired thither fo Iearn the
real state of affairs. He was recognized by a few, {o whom he
hurriedly communicated the important news of which he was
the bearer; whercapon they advised bim to draw up the pro-
clamation on the spot, which he did, and wrole several copies
of it, which were immediately passed from hand fo hand, and
despatched to be posted up. Al this time the Chaleau d’Eau,
on the Place du Palais Royal, was being defended against a large
number of insurgen(s by a handful of determined municipal
guards and a small detachment of troops. Although about 8,000
men, consisting of infantry, cavalry, and arlillery, were sfa-
tioned but a few steps off in the court of the Tuileries, no rein-
forcement was despatched to their assistance. Meanwhile the
King had sent for Marshal Bugeaud, who had been ready to take
the command of the cily a few hours previous ; but the marshal
told him frankly that the hour for repressing the insurrection
had gone by, In the dismay following such an announcement,
the Royal Family were alarmed by the increasing sound
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the Duke and Duchess of Montpensier, the Duke and
Duchess de Nemours, and the Duke and Duchess d’Aumale.
The upper stories and entresols contain apartments for attend-
ants, cte. At present the state apartments are the only portion
of the palace to which strangers are sometimes admitted with
a ticket (see p. iv.), but only when the Emperor is absent.
The stranger is conducted up a staircase situated between
the Pavillon de Marsan and the Paviilon de I'Horloge, called
the Escalier de la Chapelle, and which gives access to the
Antichambre de la Chapelle. Here the ceiling, brought from
Vincennes, where it adorned the slecping apartment of La
Reine Blanche, is worthy of notice, both for its antiquity and
elaborate workmanship. To the left on entering, a door opens
into the Foyer du Thédtre, which leads lo the Theatre, an
clegant saloon with a vaulted ceiling, supported by Tonic columns
all around, two tiers of boxes, and the pit. A range of much
smaller boxes runs immediately below the ceiling.  This thea-
tre, which is capable of accommodating 800 spectators, is used

of musketry. The defenders of the Chdteau d’Ean had just
been overcome, and the victorious multilude were approaching
the Tuileries. The palace might easily have been defended ;
but the King, informed of the partial defection of the National
Guards and of the {roops, who had quielly surrendered their
arms to the people, resolved nol fo resist, in the hope that
timely resignation might remove any opposition on the part of
the people to the accession of the Count of Paris to the throne.
He therefore gave orders not fo oppose any resistance o the peo-
ple. A few minutes afterwards the excited multitude penetrated
fnto theCourt. The King resolved upon flight, and the Monarchy
of 1830 was no more. A few random shots were fired from the
ranks of the insurgents, and shortly afterwards, the abode of
royalty was unresistingly invaded by the people, who were far
from expecting so eary a victory. While the splendid saloons
and chambers of the palace were thus receiving (not for the
first time) their revolutionary maslers, a far different scene was
proceeding in the Garden of the Tuileries. Persons stalioned
on the bhalconies of the rue de Rivoli, a few minutes before one
o’clock, could see a mournful procession, wending ifs way
along the southern terrace of the garden. The King, accom-
panicd by some National Guards on horseback and about 30 -
ficers in uniform, emerged from the western gate, lending his
right arm to the Queen. Beflhh were dressed in black, His suife
addressed the few persons on the Place de la Concorde with
the words : ¢ Une grande infortune!” Louis Philippe and his
consort, afler stopping a moment on the very spotl where 56
years before Louis XV1. had been beheaded, retraced their steps
to where two small black one-horse carriages were stationed.
Two very young children were in the first. The royal couple
entered the vehicles, and immediately set off at full gallop
along the quays in the direction of Saint Cloud, never fo return.
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as a supper-room when balls are given at court. Returning to
the Antichambre de la Chapelle, a door opposite to the former
leads to the Salle des travgai, or Salon J«: la Chapelle, from
which doors communicate with the state pew of the Chapel.
This and the following saloons are all decorated with gilt panel-
lings, arabesques, &c., upon a white ground. The Chapel,
which occupies the ground and first-floor, is plain, with a gal-
lery and ceiling resting upon Doric columns of stone and stucco.
The balustrade of the state-pew is decked with red velvet, cm-
broidered in gold. In this chapel there formerly stood a cele-
brated organ, which was destroyed during the revolution of
1789. Adjoining the Salle des travées is the Antichambre de
UEscalier d’Honneur, with a ceiling similar to that already
noticed in the other antechamber, and also brought from Vin-
cennes. The Escalier d’Honneur, leading straight down to
the ground floor of the Pavillon de I’ Horloge, is crowned with a
balustrade of bronze and polished steel. Its ceiling rests upon
Corinthian columns, which give it an appearance of grandeur
suitable to the palace. The antechamber gives access to the
Salle de la Paix, formerly Salle Louts Philippe. To those
who saw it in June, 1848, when filled with National Guards
taking a hurried nap on trusses of straw, with a mutilated
equestrian statue of Louis Philippe over the mantel-picee, the
contrast at present is magical. (1) This splendid hall, which is
used as aball room, is 140 fect long by 35 broad, and receives
light from ten windows looking into the court of the Tuile-
ries. Its ceiling is supported by couples of engaged columns
fluted, with ivy leaves for cablings, now gorgeously gilt.
Over the mantel-piece is an equestrian portrait of the present
Emperor, by Muller ; the:panels, corresponding to thewindows
opposite, are filled with immense mirrors. Two colossal
chandeliers, of crystal and gilt bronze, presented to Louis Phi-
lippe in 1842 by the King of Holland, flank the entrance from
the antechamber, while at the opposite end is placed a silver
statue of Peace, chiselled by Chaudet, which was voted to
Napoleon 1 by the City. of Paris after the peace of Amiens ; it
is flankéd by two marble columns supporting -antique busts.
The visitor now enters the Salle des Maréchaux, the splendour
of which can hardly be surpassed. It occupies the two upper

(1) After the 24th of Febroary, 1848, a numerous party of
émeutiers installed themselves in the palace with some Joose
girls, made free with the ex-King's wine-cellar and provisions,
and celebrated their orgies night and day in the most sump-
tuous aparimenis. The King and Queen’s bed-room was turned
into.a dining-room, and, cverything belonging to them was
made subservient o the will of those lords of the hour. They
were turned out by main force after the lapse of ten days.
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stories of the Pavillon de I’Horloge, and is crowned with a
fofty quadrangular ceiling, richly sculptured and painted,
round the base of which runs a gallery, supported by a hold
projecting cornice all around, except facing the windows,
where four colossal caryatides, copied from those by Jean Gou-
jon in the Louvre, and giit from head to foot, perform the of-
fice of supporters. - The names of the great battles fought un-
der the first Empire are inscribed on the walls over this gallery.
Below, the busts of distinguished generals and naval com-
manders stand all around against the walls, while the follow-
ing portraits of Marshals of France adorn the panels : Berthier,
Prince de Neufchatel; Joachim Murat; Moncey, Duc de
Concgliano ; Jourdan; Soult; Brune; Lannes, Duc de Monte-
bello; Mortier, Duc de Trévise; Ney, Prince de la Moscowa;
Davoust, Prince d’'Eckmuhl ; Kellerman, Duc de Valmy; and
Bessiére, Duc d’Ystrie. The furniture and curtains are green
velvet and gold. It is used as a ball room on state occasions.
A door communicates with a small but clegant apartment,
opening into the gallery which runs round the top of the
Escalier {’Honneur. From the Salle des Maréchaux the
visitor enters the Salon Blanc, formerly Salle d’ Attente, now
used as a cardroom. The decoration of the walls is, as usual,
gold on a white ground ; the furniture, green silk, damask,
and gold. The carpets of this and the next three rooms are of
Gobelins manufacture, and have cost 1,000,000fr. Next fol-
lows the Salon d’Apollon, containing a fine painting, by Mi-
gnard, of Apollo and the Muses. The ceiling represents Apollo
ushering in the day. From this we enter the Salle du Tréne,
a splendid apartment. The hangings are of dark red velvet of
Lyons manufacture, with palm leaves and wreaths wrought in
gold. The throne, facing the windows, is surmounted by a
can%py of the same, with the letter N in small medallions ;
the drapery depending from it is studded with bees e.nbroi-
dered in gold. The chair stands on a plinth, accessible by
three scmi-circular steps, and on the velvet drapery behind it
is an escutcheon with the imperial eagle encompassed by a
wreath, surmounted by a helmet with the imperial crown.
The sceptre and hand of justice form a cross intercepted by
the escutcheon. Next comes the Salon Louis X7V .. the furni-
ture of which is red damask and gold. Over the mantelpiece
is a portrait of Anne of Austria, with Louis XIV. and the Duke
of Orleans as children, by Mignard ; between the windows a
full length portrait of Louis XIV. in his 70th year ; and oppo-
site, Louis XIV. presenting his grandson, Philip V., to the
Grandees of Spain. The last of this suite of state rooms is the
Galerie de Diane, being the dining-room, 176 feet long by 32
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n breadth, a fine apartment of the time of Louis X1II. It has
six windows, the intervening spaces and the wall opposite
being filled with eight paintings by Mignard, representing my-
thological subjects. To the right of the entrance is a small
bronze equestrian statue of Lonis XIV. standing on a pedestal,
and at the opposite end is a fine table of Florenece mosaic
The curtains are of green damask. This dining-room is only
used on state occasions, when the guests assemble in the
Salle des Maréchaux. Behind these rooms is a suite looking
into the garden, which is inhabited by the Emperor, and is
not shown to visitors. Another suite of rooms, consisting of
an ante-chamber and three square saloons, has been lately added
by the architect, M. Lefuel, by building over an open terrace
looking out upon the garden, to which access is obtained by a
new slaircase, with elegant bannisters cast in bronze, then
gilt and platinised by voltaic agency. Of the three saloons,
the first is sea-green, the second rose-coloured, and the third
blue. On these delicate colours suitable subjects have been
executed in grisaille, and other pictorial ornaments introduced
by MM. Chaplin and Dubuffe. The chimney-piece of the green
saloon is of black marble, with delicate wreaths of gilt leaves
on its architrave. That of the rose-coloured saloon, the most
richly decorated of the three, is of lapis lazuli ; its jambs end
in reversed acanthus leaves, beautifully chiselled. A fee,
though strictly forbidden, is usually given to the domestic
that conducts the visitor.

GARDEN OF THE TUILERIES.—A street, called the rue des
Tuileries, formerly ran between the palace and the garden ;
but was suppressed in 1665, when Le Notre was entrusted
by Louis XIV. with the care of laying out the latter. Two
parallel terraces form its northern and southern boundaries
running from the extreme pavilions of the palace. Its length
i8 2256 feet, and its width 990 feet. The southern terrace is
the more elevated and wider of the two, and affords by far
the best view of the Seine and the palace, with which it is con-
nected by a subterrancan passage. That on the north is known
as the 7}e’rmsse des Feuillants, so called from a convent that
stood there before the revolution of 1789, Near it was the
Manége, or riding-school, where the National Assembly held
its sittings. A handsome iron railing, with gilt spearheads,
separates it from the ruc de Rivoli. The garden is bisected
throughout its whole length by a wide avenue, extendi
from the palace to a gale giving access 1o the Blace de la Con-
corde (see p. 179), and called Porte du Pont-tournant, from
a swing-bridge which existed there in 1789. This avenue is
met at right angles by a spacious gravelled walk; at a point
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occupied by a large circular basin. The portion of the
garden lying westward of this walk is open to the public at
all seasons ; that on the opposite side separated from the rest
by a sunken fence is the
Private Garden, which is only accessible to the public

when the court is out of town. In 1832 Louis Philippe en-
closed a narrow: slip of ground along the whole front of the
palace for a private garden, and this remained so until 1858,
when the Emperor caused it to be cnlarged to its present ex-
tent. It is crossed by a broad walk running parallel to the
palace, and skirting the old private garden ; the rest is laid
out in walks bordered with shrubs and flowers. Two smaller
basins and various statues, some being copies from the an-
tique, others exccuted by good masters, complete its decora-
tion. Skirting the sunken fence we find, commencing
from the side of the ruc de Rivoli, the celebrated antique
group of Laocoon, cast in bronze; Spartacus, by Foyatier ;
Theseus killing the Minotaur, by Ramey, jun. ; Themistocles,
by Lemaire; the Rape of Orythia, by Marsy and Flamen;
Time carrying away Truth ; Pericles, by Debay ; the Dying
Sparlan, by Cortot ; Phidias, by Pradier, all in marble ; and the
Listening Slave, cast in bronze, by the Kellers (1668), a copy
of the celebrated antique in the Gallery of Florénee.  Wilhin
the garden, and in a line parallel o the palace, are Apolln
Belvidere and Diana with the Hart, in bronze ; Lucretia and
Collatinus between, in white marble ; Venus Pudica, and
Antinous, in bronze ; and, between them, AEuncas bearing An-
chises and leading Ascanius, in marble.  There are besides,
around the hasins, four statues representing Vonus and Sylvan
Nymphs; in front of the palace, two Shepherds, besides four
Lions, and the Infant Hercules stifling two serpents, all in
white marble. The entrance to the private garden from
the quays- is aderned with' two sphynxes of white murble,
brought from Sebastopol.  Several elezant marble vases are
interspersed throughout the garden. The

. Public Garden, commencing from the large basin men-
tioned above, comptises twa large flower gardens, followed by
two groves of fine chesnut trees, clms, planes, and Jimes,
skirting the principal avenue and bordering on a large octa-
gonal basin facing the Yorte du Pont-Tournant. This part
also is laid out in flower gardens; the side favoured with a
southern.expos-are, known by the nameof La Petile Provence,
is in winter th e favourite resort of children and clderly people
of both sexes, who come here either for exercise or repose and
warmth. F fights of steps and rising paths lead up to tho
Lerraces v grlovking the Place de la Concorde; the southern
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one, ecnnected with the private garden, is not always open to
the public; it contaius a spacious orangery, and has bridges
over the two public passages opening upon the quays. The
northern terrace, occupied with embowered seats, and anewly-
built Tennis-court, and commanding an excellent view of the
Place de la Concorde and Champs Elysées (see p. 183). forms
part of the Terrasse des Feuillants, bordering on the Allée
des Orangers, so called from the orange trees which are placed
here in summer. It extends to, and partly skirts the Private
Garden, and is adorned on that side with a statue of Hercules
holding a Pigmy, by Bosio, cast in bronze by Carbonneau ;
at the opposite extremity stands a marble statue of Meleager.
This alley with the adjoining terrace is (he most fashionable
and delightful promenade of Paris, hoth in summer and in
winler ; during the sunny hours of the latter, and in the cool
evenings of the former scason, all the gayest of the capitat
are to be found here, sitting on chairs, which are let out at
two and three sous  a-piece, walking or conversing; or
listening 1o the bands of music that play here in summer.  On
Sunday afternoons, the crowd, if not so select, is much more
numerous, and the alley of orange trees frequently forms a
compact mass, presenting every variely and colour of dress
whith happen to be the fashion of the hour.

In cach of the two groves is a hemicyele of white marble,
with a small enclosure in front, laid out as a garden, having
stalues of Atalanta and  Hippomenes at the corners, and
others representing Spring and - Autwun in the centre.  These
hemicyeles, called Carrés & Atalante, were construeted in
1793 by the Convention after the desizns of Robespierre. They
were intended as seals for the areopagus of old men who were
to preside over the floral games dedicated to youth.  There is a
great deal of good sculpluie in this part of“ the garden.  The
piers of the western entrance are graced with two spiriled
groups, broughthither {from Marly : one of Mercury, the other
of Famie, on winged steeds, by Coysevox. At the corners of
the western terraces there are 1wo colossal marble lions, copies
from the antique.  On the same terrices on either side of the
entrance are the nine Muses, and Apollo ;5 and below, four mas-
terly groups inmarble, viz., from north o south, 1, the Tiber,
by Bourdol ; 2. the Lom'.m(ll!wl,oir(-l.hy Vaucleve: 3, the Seine
and Marne, J»y Coustou ; 4, the Nile, by Bourdot. On either side
of the central grove, on the opposite side of e hasin, we remark
twastatues of Bac ('hlla, a Vestal by Legros, termini representing
the 4 Seasons, annibal, by Slaedtz, Supm Africanus, by (‘ous-
tou, and Cornelia.  In the southern grove is a cepy in marble
of the well-known boar, of which the Grecian original is
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Ereserved in the Gallery of Florenice, where another copy in
ronze by Tacca adorns the Mercato Nuovo. At the easterh
extrcmity of the groves are statues of the Diane ¢ la Biche,
the Capitoline Flora, Julius Casar, and the Farnesian Hercules.

The walk which separates the private from the public gar-
den, forms a public passage from the rue de Rivoli to the
quay, through a gateway passing under the southern
terrace, and bridged over. Another passage extends from the
entrance opposite the Rue de Castiglione to the new

PoNT DE SOLFERINO, an iron bridge of three arches, the piers
of which bear the names of the victorics won in the last Italian
campaign; it is 492 feet long by 65 % in width, and has cost
1,170,000 francs. (1)

The garden is open from 7 in the morning till dusk in win-
ter, and till 9 in ‘summer. It is then cleared by beat of drum.

On leaving the garden by the quay, the visitor will find
to his left one of the entrances to the PLACE pu CARROUSEL.
Before entering it, he should observe the immense length of the

SOUTHERN GALLERY OF THE LOUVRE, which was com-
menced under Charles 1IX. by Ducercean, built as far as
the central pavilion, called Pavillon Lesdiguiéres, by Hen-
ry 1V., and continued to the Tuileries by Louis XIV. The
carlicr or eastern portion, terminating at the above-mentioned
pavilion, partakes of the style of the Renaissance, with rus-
ticated Tuscan pilasters supporting a range of mezzanini,
above which are the windows of the celebrated gallery of

amntings. The whole of this portion is elaborately and most
autifully sculptured. The western portion is now in course
of reconstruction. We may now enter the

PLACE pu CArRrOustL, which derives its name from a great
tournament held by Louis XIV.in 1662. Thespacious COURT
of THE TUILERIES, separated from the square by an clc-ant iron
railing with three entrances, two of which are adorned with
statues of Victory, Pcace, History, and France, communicates
by arched gateways with the Rue de Rivoli on the north (2),

§1) A new street is to be opened in a line with the bridge, in-
sulaling the Palace of the Legion of Honour (see p. 324).

(2) Thir court was principally formed by Napoleon 1. Where
the iron rails stand there were rows of houses and sheds before
the revolution of 1789 ; and this circumstance materially facili-
tated the altack on the palace by the mob on August 10, 1792.
Napoleon used to review his troops in this vast court. During
and for some time after the insurrection of June, 1848, as also
after the events of December, 1851, troops were stationed here,
and the court hore the appearance of & camp. The troops who
mounit guard at the Tuileries are inspected-here daily in fine
weathey, at about 12 0’clock, with music.
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and the Quai du Louvre on the south (1). Before the central
gate of the railing stands the

TrivmpnaL Arch, erected by order of Napoleon in 1806,
under the direction of Percier and Fontaine, at a cost of
1,400,000 fr. 1t is 60 feet by 20 at the base, and 45 feet
high, and consists of a central and two smaller lateral arches,
intersected by transversal arches of cqual height. Eight Co-
rinthian columns of red Languedoc marble, with bases and
capitals of bronze, adorned with eagles, support the entab-
lature. The attic is surmounted by a figare of Victory in a
triumphal car and four bronze horses, modelled by Bosio from
the original, brought from the Piazza of St. Mark at Venice,
but restored by the Allies in 1815. Over cach column, stands a
marble figure of a soldier of Napoleon’s army, in the uniform of
the several corps, and over cach of the smaller archways is a
marble bas-relief representing memorable events of the cam-
paign of 1805. (2) The following inscriptions sufficicntly
explain the subjects: Fronting the Louvre,

“L'armée frafgaise, embarquée i Boulogne, menagait 1'Angleterre.
Une trofsivine coalitlon éclate suv e continent.  Les Frangais volunt de
1'Océnn au Danube. La Bavitre est délivrée; I'armde autrichienne prison-
nitre u Uln, Napoléon entre dans Vienne. 1l triomphe 3 Austerlitz,”

On the northern side,
‘* Maitre des Etats de son ennewmi, Napoléon les lui rend. 11 signe la

paix le 25 décemvre 1805, dans la capitale de la Ilongrie, occupée par
son armée victoriense,”
Frounting the Tuileries,

‘¢ A 1a voix du vaingueur d'Austerlitz, 1'empire d’Allemagne tombe; la
Confédération du Rhin commence ; les royaumes de Baviere et de Wur-
temberg sont créés; Venlse est réunie & ln couronne de fer; 1'italie en-
titre se range sons les lois de son libérateur.”

On the southern side,

**Honneur it la Grande Armdée, victorieuse b Austerlitz, en Moravie, le
2 décembre 1805, jour anniversalre du couronnement de Napoléon.”

The southern gallery of the Louvre, outside the Court of
the Tuileries, viewed from this side, presents a series of seg-
mental and triangular pediments, resting on Corinthian pilasters,
and charged with various devices; but the new portion lying
within the Court differs from it, and projects considerably.
The same system is to be adopted on the northern side, built
by Napolcon 1. as far as the Puvillon de Rohan, which is op-
posite to, and the counterpart of, the Pavillon Lesdiguiéres.
The Place du Carrousel has four principal issues, leading re-
speclively to the Rue de Richelieu and the Rue de I'Echelle on

(1) It was at the inner corner of this entrance {hat Alibaud
posted himself on June 25, 1836, fo fire at Louis Philippe.

(2) During the Restoration these bas-reliefs were exchanged
for suhjects taken from the campaign of the Duke d’Angouléme
in Spain, 1823. The former were, however, restored ih 1880.
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the northern side, and to the quays on the other. At the
two pavilions above mentioned commence the huildings of the

NEw Lotuvee.—It had often been in contemplation to purge
the space etween the Tuileries and the Old -Louvre of the
mean-looking houses and unseemly sheds, many of which
were still visible as late as 1850. The elder Napoleon was
the first to grapple with the abomination, by making room for
the northern gallery; and the architect Fontaine prepared
designs for the union of the two palaces. Political events
prevented the execution of this splendid project under the
First Empire and the reign of Louis Philippe. In 1848, the
last document signed by the Provisional Government was a
decree for the completion of the Louvre, and new plans were
presented to the Legislative Assembly in 1849, by MM. Vis-
conli and Trélat, but without suceess. Up fo that time,
upwards of fifty different plans had been presented by various
cminent architeels, whose chief aim was to conceal the defect
of parailelism existing between the two palaces. At length,
in 1852, the present Emperor, then President of the Republic,
deereed a sum of 25,000,000fr. for the purpose. The first
stone of the new edifices was laid on the 25th of July of
that year, and the works commenced by M. Visconti, who,
on his death, in 1853, was succceded by M. Lefuel.  The
rapid completion of this and other vast public works, is one
of the most remarkable facts of modern times.

The general plan of the New Louvre comprises two vast
lateral piles of buildings, projecting at right angles from the
southern and northern gallerics respectively, so as to form the
castern boundary of the Place du Carrousel; then turning into
the Place Nupoléon 1., where they present on each side a
frontage of 180 metres, interrupted by three sumptuous pavi-
lions. (1) The space between the two corner pavilions is 125
metres.  The defect of parallclism above alluded to is effectu-
ally masked by two octagonal gardens (2) enclosed with
clegant iron railings, occupying the central space, muchin the
slyle of the London squares. “These gardens are to be adorned
with equestrian statues of Louis XIV. and Napoleon 1. The
old galleries and the pavilions are connected by spacious ar-
caded porticos, claborately sculptured, fronted with Corin-
thian columus, closed with balustrades, and surmounted by
terraces on a level with the first story, which are decorated
with statues of the most illustrious men of France by 53

(1) They.are named as follows: Northern side, Pavillons Tar-
gol, Richelien, Colbert southern, Mollien, Denon, Daru.

(2) Here slood the Hdtel de Rambouillet, and other houses « f
the nobility which flourished under Louis XIV.; and on the
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of the best French artists (1). The pavilions are fronted with
coupled Corinthian columns supporting Composite ones, sur-
mounted by groups of genii. The front of the Old Louvre
has been made to barmonize with the new wings; its central
pavilion called the Pavillon de U'Horloge, now bears the
name of Sully. Its gateway is flanked with two Corinthian
columns of red marble. The northern side bears the follow-
ing inscriptions: —
*¢1541. Frangois I. commence le Louvre.
1564. Catherine de Médicis commence les Tuileries,”
On the southern we see:
*+1852—-1857, Napoléon 11I. réunit les Tuileries au Louvre.”

All the pediments of these pavilions are enriched with the most
complicated allegorical sculpture, and supported by caryatides.
The triangular pediments of the central pavilions contain the
following subjects in- alto-rilievo: Pavillon Denon, Napoleon
HI., surrounded by Agriculture, Industry, Commerce, and the
Fine Arts; Pavillon Richelicu: France distributing crowns to
the most worthy of her children; Pavillon Sully : Napoleon
1. crowned by Glory and the Arts.  The second stories of the
intermediate buildings are plain; the roofs between the pavi-
lions are fronted with balustrades adorned with groups of
genii, emblematical of Agriculture, Science, War, the Seasons

site of the southern building was ihe chureh of St. Thomas
du Louvre, builtin 1187 by Robert, Count of Dreux. On the 15th
of October, 1739, the roof suddenly gave way during divine ser-
vice, causing great loss of life. It was subsequently ceded {o (he
Protestants, who afterwards exchanged it for the Oraloire.

(1) Thefollowing isalistof themin theorderin which they stand,
commencing from the Pavillon de Rohan: Lafontaine, B. Pascal,
Mézeray, Molicre, Boileau, Fénélon, Larochefoucault, and P. Cor-
neille.  On the north side of the Place Napolcéon 11, 1sl section :
Grégoire de Tours, Rabelais, Malherbes, Abailard, Colbert, Mi=
zarin, Buffon, Froissart, J. J. Rousseau, and Montesquicu. - 2d
sect.: Mathicu Molé, Turgot, St. Bernard, Labruyeére, Suger, De
Thou, Bourdaloue, Racine, Voltaire, and Bossuet. From the
Pavillon Colbert to the Pavillon Sully: Condoreet, Denis Papin,
Sully, Vauban, Lavoisier, Lalande, Louvois, St. Simon, Joinville,
Fléchier, Ph. de Commines, Amyof, Mignard, Massillon, Ducer-
ceau. From the FavillonSully to the Pavillon Daru: Cl. Lovrain,
Grétry, Regnard, Jacques Cour, Marigny, A. Chenier, Keller,
Coysevox, J. Cousin, Lendlre, Clodion, G. Pilon, Gabriel, J. Le-
paulre. South wing from the Louvre, 1st sect.: L'Hopilal, Le-
mereier, Descartes, A. Paré, Richelieu, Montaigne, Houdon, Du-
pérac, J. de Brosse, Cassini ; 2d sect.: Daguesseau, Mansarl,
Poussin, Audran, J. Sarrazin, Coustou, Lesueur, C. Perraull, Ph.
de Champagne, and Puget. On the Carrousel, from the Pavilion
Mollien: Pierre Lescot, Bullant, Lebrun, Chambiche, Bruant,
Delorme, B. de Palissy, and Rigault.
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m (1). The interior construction is ramarkable for its solidity
safety from fire, all the roofing and flooring resting upon
iron framework. Each of the two wings we have described
contains two courts. Those of the southern wing ave entered
from the quay, those of the other from the Rue de Rivoli.
The first story of the building which intervenes between the
two courts of the latter contains the Libraryof the Louvre. (see
p. 176.) The ground floor of the southern wing contains the
IMPERIAL StraBLks. —The buildings, which are in the
Italian style, comprise the Cour Caulaincourt and the Cour
Visconti, hoth accessible from the quay through handsomely
carved oaken gates. On the left of the former is the first
stahle, divided into 14 stalls for saddle horses. Adjoining, is
a second which contains ten boxes, and a place for washing,.
Gas:lamps are suspended from the ceiling, and cocks supply
the water required for use. The stalls are of carved oak, the
racks of bronze, and the chains of steel. One of the horses
i8 Buckingham, which the Emperor rode at Magenta ; another
Ajax, which was his charger at Solferino. There are also
Perceval, Hamillon, and Ploughboy, the Emperor’s favourite
hunters. Cuningham also has ils stall there, a horse which
the Emperor gave to the King of Italy, and which, at the end
of the war was returned to his Majesty, the King of Sardinia
saying that he could not find any morc valuable present to
ere. The gallery-after the washing place is 300 feet long
y 14 wide. It hasarow of stalls on either side, and accom-
modates 82 horses. Among the horses is the fine carriage
one Orphée, which has survived the fourteen wounds it re-
ceived hefore the Opera-house in January, 1858, when its
companion was killed. The ground-floor of the two other
sides of the parallelogram is fitted up as coach-houses, harness-
rooms, etc. In the former are 12 ordinary state carriages,
and on the west side 50 of different kinds (2). On the first
floor is a riding-school, to which the horses ascend by a gentle
slope. For tickets to visil the stables, apply to M. le Général
Fleury, Premier Ecuycr deS. M. V Empereur, at the Tuileries.
On the first story of the transversal building separating the
two courts is the Salle des Etats, for the reception of the great
bodies of the State; it communicates with the picture gallery

(1) The sculptures have required the combined effor(s of 53
artists. The number of subjects executed is 261; the cxpense,
4,643,400 fr. The total cost amounts to 36,000,000 fr. Therpace
eovered and enclosed by the new buildings is 60,000 metres,
and, with the Tuileries and old Louvre, nearly 60 acres English.

(2) The most elegant is the state carriage. The body is almost
entirely of plate glass; it is lined with white satin covered
with gold bees, and the straps and cerds are of gold lace. The
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(seq p. 166). It was herethat the ceremony of inaugurating the
New Louvre took place, on the t4th Aug., 1857, five years
after the commencement of the work. The rest contains
rooms for the domestics, barracks for the Cent Gardes, ete.
All the chimney- flues are of iron, and imbedded in concrele.

At a distance of about 300 feet mcasured diagonally from
the Pavillon de Rohan, Cadoudal’s infernal machine, intended
to destroy Napoleon I., on his way to the opera, then situated
in the Place Richelieu, exploded Dec. 24, 1800. (1)

On leaving the Place du Carrousel through one of the nor-
thern issues, the visitor will cbtain a view of the whole extent
of the old and new edifices, and remark the tasteful and
well-studied transition which each section presents from the
most simple to the most elaborate style of architecture. The
Pavillon de Rohan, with its 8 elegant niches and slatues (2), and
the front of the New Louvre will especially claim his attention.

A few steps eastward brings the visitor to

The OLD LouvRe.—A castle which existed on the site of this
palace is said to have been used as a hunting-seat by Dagobert,
the woods then extending over the actual site of northern Paris
down to the water’s edge. Philip Augustus, in 1200, formed
it into a stronghold, and used it as a state prison. 1t was
not enclosed within the walls of Paris until 1367 and 1383.
Charles V. made many additions to the castle ; the Royal Li-
brary was kept there ; also the various officers of state and
foreign prinoes visiting Paris were lodged init. Francis I. began
the present building in 1528, and erected the southern hall
of the western side of the court, as it now exists, after the de-
signs of Pierre Lescot. His son Henry II. continued and extended
this plan, completing the whole of the western front, now
called the Vieuw Louvre and the wing containing the Ga-
lepie d’4pollon.  The sculptures were entrusted to the di-
border round the roof of the carriage is bronze finely chased and
gilt, and forms ciphers and crowns mixed with laurel and oak
leaves ; a gill cagle is at each corner. This carriage cost 90,000
fe. ‘the imperial stud altogether is composed of from 300 to 320
horses--saddle, carriage, and post horses; and they are now
distrihuted at the Louvre, at the Imperial stables on the Quai
@'Orsny (see p. 332, in the rue de Monceaux, and at St. Cloud.
The carriages, 180 in number, are kept at the Louvre and Quai
g'Qrsay. Other slate carriages are al Trianon, (sec pp. 497 and
577.) The number of coachmen and grooms exceeds 300,

() The event oceurred in the rue St. Nicaise, a street which
no longer exists, but which exiended into the present Place du
Carrpusel. The house called the Hotel de Nantes, close to which
the infernal machine had heen placed, was pulled down in 4854.

(%) Thosg of Spult, Desaix, Ney, and Marcegu, 1g the right; and
of Hoche, Masséna, Lannes, and Kléber, to the lel?.
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rection of Jean Goujon, and other great artists of the day.
Henry 1V, made some additions to this part of the building at
the time of commencing the Long Gallery ; and during the reign
of Louis XIII. the central pavilion of the western side was
added to the erections of Lescot by Lemercier, who also
Huilt all the lower part of the northern front. Louis X1V., at
the suggestion of Colbert, decided upon completing this palace,
and a public competition of architects was opened to furnish
designs for the new building. A physician, Claude Perrault,
was the successful competitor, but, some distrust of his abilities
arising at court, Bernini, who constructed the porticosin front
of St. Peter’s at Rome, was sent for from Italy, and his plans
were adopted.  Louis XIV. laid the first stone of the cast-
ern front; but for some reason Bernini was soon sent
back to Italy, loaded with presents and a pension, while Per-
rault, to the honour of France and of Colbert, was allowed in
1666 Lo carry his original design into exccution. e built the
castern front, and that towards the river; but the caprice of
the King put a stop to the works, and diverted the treasure
of the country to the building of Versailles.  Until 1802
the greater part of the Louvre remained without a roof,
and the whole seemed to be destined to fall into ruin.
Napoleon, however, resumed the works, and under him
the Louvre was finished, and the surrounding streets and
places cleared. Hs internal arrangements were principally
effected by Charles X. and Louis Philippe.  Charles IX. inhabited
the old Louvre, and, as is well known, lired from its windows
looking towards the quay and river on the viclims of the St.
Barthélemy. (1) Henry 11, lenry 1V., and Louis XIII. also
resided here, as well as the unfortunate English queen, Hen-
rietta, widow of Charles 1. Louis XV., during part of his mi-
nority, inhabited the Louvre ; but since then it has been ¢ voted
to the reception of the various museums of the fine arts, and
has occasionally heen used for great ceremonices of state. (2)
The castern front of the Louvre is one of the finest pieces of
architecture of any age. The grand colonnade is composed of
28 coupled Corinthian columns, fronting a wide gallery. The
basement story affords an admirable contrast by its simplicity 5
and the projeeting masses in the centre, and at cither end of the

(1) A windew, with a balecony on the first floor, is often shown
as that from whieh he fired ; but this must he a mistake, as that
part of the huilding was not constructed till long after {he year
1572, the date of that most perlidious massacre.

(2) It was altacked by the people, July 28 and 29, 1830,
and obstinately defended by the Swiss guards. The dead were
buried in front of the eastern fagade, but aflerwards removed
{o the Column of July.
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facade, fronted with pilasters, and pierced with large windows,
complete the grand features of this side. The central mass of
the building, forming the gateway, is crowned by a pediment,
the raking cornices of which are each of a single piece, 52 feet
«n length and 3 in thickness. This pediment contains a bas-
relief, executed by Lemot in 1811; and over the grand door-
way is another by Cartellier, of the same date. The gates
themselves, made by order of Napoleon, are of magnificently-
worked bronze. (1) The southern front, also the work of
Claude Perrault, though not so bold, is very fine. It is deco-
rated with forty Corinthian pilasters, and, like the castern, has
a richly-adorned pediment over the central compartment.
The northern front consists of a central and two lateral pa-
vilions projecting from the main body with few but tasteful
ornaments. In the court, the general features of the ground
floor arc a range of circular arcades, separated by Corinthian
pilasters, and under each arch is a lofty window. = Most of the
intermediate niches are now adorned with marble statues by
modern maslers, representing Sappho, Circe, Sculpture, the
Renaissance, Abundance, Glory, cte. The design of the first
story consists of windows richly dressed, separated by Compo-
site pilasters. The upper story of the western front has the
windows richly enchased with sculptured groups, trophies, etc.
‘The Pavillon de Sully, is surmounted by a quadrangular
dome, resting upon colossal caryatides Dy Sarrazin. The
sculptures of the wings are by P’aolo Poncio and Jean Goujon;
those of the northern pediments are modern. The central
gateways were sculptured by Lesueur, Ramey, and Coustou.
Perrault formed the designs of these three sides, each of which
is 408 feet, the whole forming a perfect square.

The court of the Louvre is one of the finest in Europe with
respect to decoration and proportion. It is now laid out in
bitumen bordered with beds of ivy and shrubs, surrounded
with a low railing, and lighted by 24 bronze gas lamps. (2)

A small garden on the south-western side is called the
Garden of the Infanta, from the Spanish Princess who came
into France, in 1721, to marry Louis XV. The wall of the

(1) The dimensions of this front are :—length, 525 feet; height,
85 feet; width of central compartment, 88 feet; width of ex-
treme compariments, 75 feel; height of basement story, 35 feet;
height of columns, 1o diameters and a half, or 38 fect nearly.
The entablature takes up nearly 10 feet of the entire heighl,

(2) An equestrian statue of the Duke of Orleans stood here
before the revolution of 1848. It wasthen removed 1o Versailles,
and on the empty pedestal were written the following words:—

** Aux Citoyens deParis morts pour la liberté, la République reconnaissante,
23, 24 Fé\'riei' 18487 re publ qu“ e
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Galerie & Apollon which overlooks it, has been sculptared by
M. Cavelier. Similar gardens run all round the palace, ending
at the new wing facing the rue de Rivoli, and are public.

Interior.—Almost all the interior of this palace is devoted to
the museums collectively known under the name of Musées
Impériaux, for which it is so celebrated. The description of
the various gallerics will be found in the order in which they
oceur to a visitor makiug the circuit of the palace. Owing,
however, to the improvements now in progress, some slight
variation in the order may occasionally take place.

The museums are cutered al a door under the gateway of
the Pavillon de I'Horloge.  On the ground-floor is the

Musée des Antiques. This museum commences with the
Salle des Caryatides, a splendid hall, occupyng the whole
ground floor of the southern half of the Vieux Louvre. It
derives its name from four colossal caryatides, by Jcan Gou-
jon, supporting a gallery, al its northern end ; they are reckoned
among the chefs-d’cuvre of that master, and copics of them ave
to be seen in the Salle des Maréchaux at the Tuileries ( see
p. 149.) Above the gallery is the copy of a bas-relief by Ben-
venuto Cellini, originally sculptured for a fountain at Fon-
tainebleau, and representing Diana (see p. 175.) At the
further end of the hall stands the Cupid and the Centaur, a
well - known antique. Next follows a suite of apartments
consisting of two distinct parallel series, being part of the old
pile of the Louvre as-it existed in the time of Charles V., from
1364 to 1380, and when inhabited by his consort, Jeaune de
Bourbon. The walls areincrusted with rich marbles, At the
farthest end, bhefore a colossal statue of Melpomene, is a fine
mosaic pavement in compartments, the central one antigue,
representing Viclory, the others modern, representing the
Nile, the Po, the Dauube, and the Dnieper. Clc e by, to
the left, is the Venus Victrie of Milo.  To the right of this
suite is the Salle d¢ Diane, with the beautiful antique group
of Diana with the Hart in the centre ; the pedestal adorned
with valuable antique bas-reliefs. The ceiling and tympans of
the arches are painied with subjects relating to Diana. Next
follows the Rotunda, the ceiling of which represents Prometheus
givinglifetoman by the aidof the heavenly fire. Ierewe sec the
bust of Caracalla, recently found at Drama, near Philippi, and
presented to the Louvre by M. de St. Sauveur. The adjoining
rooms were once occupied by Anne of Austria. Their ceilingsare
adorned with sculptured compartments, and fresco paintings,
by Meynier, Mauzaisse, and Barthélemy ; they successively
represent : 1st, Justinian delivering his code of laws to Rome;
2dly, various mythological subjects relating to Apollo and
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Diana ; 3dly, Minerva displaying the olive-branch as the fruit
of Victory; 4thly, various passages of the early history of
Rome ; 5thly, allegorical paintings of Prudence and other
virlues, A great profusion of marble columns and incrusta-
.dons on the walls is visible throughoul. Among the other
precious antiques in this portion of the museum we may men-
tion the Venus Victrix, the Lycian Apollo, and Bacchus.
This greal collection of antiques dates from 1797, and in
1803 was opened to the public under the title of the Musée
Napoléon; it then contained, like the gallery of paint-
ings, all the richest spoils of Italy, but which were res-
tored in 1815 by the allies to their original owners. The pre-
sent collection consists of 240 statucs; 230 busts; 215 bas-
reliefs; and 235 vases, altars, &c.: in all 920 objects. (1)

On retracing our steps, and mounting the stairs, we find in
the passage a glass case containing the implements used in
laying the tirst stone of the new Louvre (sce p. 156.) Here
also we see various busts and statues, and the entrance to the

Salle des Bronzes, once the Chapel of Henry 1V., and now
adorned with a magnificent pair of gates of wrought iron,
brought from the Chitean de Maisons. This spacious hall
now contains a portion of the Collection Campana, purchased
from the Papal Government, and now arranged in various
parts of the Louvre, uuder the name of Musée Napoléon 111,
It comprises 11,835 articles, of which the metal portion only,
of Greek and Roman origin, is displayed here, together with
various Roman antiquities found at Notre-Dame d’Alencon,
near Brissac (Maine el Loire). Two lateral presses contain
metal vessels, chandehiers, statuettes, knives and two-
pronged forks, and swords, helmets and other piecesof armour,
spear-heads, &c. The presses along the walls contain other
articles of the same nature, besides an oval bell, a Roman
sleelyard, lamps, &c. Colossal busts and statues, mostly of
bronze, are arranged round the room. Bul the most inte-
resting is the central sland, containiug the jewels, diadems,
and necklaces, chiefly of Etruscan manufacture (though some
are Greek or Roman), which excited so much admiration when
first exhibited. The perfection to which the goldsmiths art
had been brought by the Etruscans is most surprising ; their
solderings especially have attracted the atlention of the best
goldsmiths of Paris.

To our right a door gives access to the

(1) Complete catalogues of all the museums of the Louvre
may be had on the spot. The produce of their sale amounts
to upwards of 200,000 fr.; and more than 100,000 fr. are taken
at the door for depositing canes and umbrellas.
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Salle des Séances, a vast saloon of Corinthian architecture,
with a gallery running all round, and roofed with dulled
glass. 1t is sumptuously gilt, and now contains a portion of
the Musee Napoleon IIl., consisting of Etruscan bas-reliefs,
vases, and sarcophagi. Adjoining it, is the

Salle Henry 1., the ceiling of which, richly embossed, is
painted by Blondel in three compartments. The central one
represents Jupiter pronouncing judgment on the relative ad-
vantages of the creations of Neptune and Minerva ; the other
two compartments are allegorical of Commerce and War. The
Musee Napoleon I1L. is continued here.  Next to this is the

Salle des Sept Chemindes (1). The ceiling is beautifully
decorated with gilt arabesques on a white ground, and colossal
genii in stucco; ten medallions contain the busts of Gros,
David, Girodet, Gérard, Guérin, Percier, Prudhon, Chaudet, Gé-
ricault, and Granet, whose masterpieces are in this room.

A door to the right on entering opens into the

Salle des Bijoux, in which we find another and richer sec-
tion of the most valuable portion of the Campana collection,
viz., the Etruscan, Roman, and Greek jewelry, a considerable
proportion of which has been already noticed in speaking of
the Salle des Bronzes. Some specimens are of admirable exe-
cution. The ceiling of this room, painted by Mauzaisse, re-
presents Time pointing to the ruins caused by his progress.
Next to this is the

Salle Ronde, containing a finc mosaic pavement and exqui-
sitely sculptured white marble vase. . The ceiling, painted by
Couder and Stouf, represents, in the central compartment, the
faf of Icarus; in the four lateral compartments respectively :
Hercules suffocating Antaeus; Aolus mastering the Winds ;
Vulcan shewing Thetis the arms made for Achilles; and, lastly
Achilles invoking the aid of the Gods against the rive.-gods,
Scamander and Simois. A pair of beautiful gates of wrought
steel, which have been transported bhither from the palace of
Maisons, open into the '

Galerie d’ Apollon.—This was commenced under Charles IX.,
and completed under Henry 1V. by Chambiche, Fournier and
Plain. It was almost completely destroyed by fire on the
6th of February 1661 ; but was rebuilt that very year, the
ornamental part being entrusted to the hands of Errard, and
the paintings of the ceiling to Lebrun. The latler was after-
wards, however, appointed to direct the whole. Louis XIV,

(1) It was here Henry 1V. died, after being stabbed by Ra-
vaillac. At that time it was composed of several roomns, one
of which is marked in the 01d plans of the palace with {he words:
Chambre ot mourut Henry IV, :



MUSEUMS GOF THE LOUVRE. 165

having, in the interval, turned both his attention and his trea-
sures fo the palace of Versailles, the Galerie d’Apollon was
forgotten, and during the following century divided into apart-
ments, where the Royal Acadcmies, and especially that of
Sculpture and Painting, held their sittings. In 1747 and 1748
the paintings of several living artists were exhibited there ; in
1756 the gallery had become the studio of Vanloo ; andin 1787
it became a picture-gallery. In 1826 it was found necessary
to reconstruct the ceiling; but it was not until the sth
of June 1851, that this saloon was solemnly rc-opencd to
the public, under the auspices of the Emperor, then President
of the Republic. The Gallery is 184 feet in length and 28 feet in
breadth; it has 12 windows looking upon the Jardin de I'In-
fante, and a balcony commanding a beautiful view of the
Seine. Opposite each window is a door for the sake of sym-
metry; only the last towards the Seine is intended for use, and
gives access to the Salon Carré. The pancls of these doors
are charged with the attributes of the Arts and Sciences, Navi-
gation, cle. ; on the walls opposite the windows are seen in
- Gobelins tapestry, the portraits of Sarrazin, G. Pilon, M.
Anguier, Dupérac, Lebrun, J. Goujon, Lemercier, Romanelli,
Lendtre, and J. Bullant ; between the windows, those of P.
Lescot, Ducerceau, Poussin, Coysevox, Coustou, Ph. Delorme,
Mignard, &ec., artists who at various periods contri-
buted to the construction and decoration of the Louvre. Be-
tween the central windows we sce medallions with portraits
of Philippe Augusle and Francis I. The windows are
crowned with other allegorical figures, arabesques and
esculcheons. The walls are profusely gilt, and the vaulted
ceiling rests upon a frieze adorned with L’s and flcurs de lys.
It represents, at its merthern extremity, the Triumph of the
Earth, by Guichard, after the designs left by Lebrun; and
at the other, nearest the Seine, the Triumph of the Waters
.or of Amphitrite,- by Lebrun himsclf. The ‘other paintings
of. the vault are, beginning from-.the latter, as follows:
Aurofa on her car, in an octagonal compartment, painted by
- Lebrun, and re-painted by Muller ; Castor, or the Morning-Star,
in an oval compartment, painted in 1781 by Renou ; adjoining
.it, are two, lateral compartments representing Autumm, by
. Taraval (17 69) and Summer, by Duramean (1774). The great
“eentral ‘cornpartment contains the*Trjumph of Apollo, by Eu-
.gene. Delacroix. Next comes Evening, situated between Spring,
by Callet, and Winter, by Lagrenée junior. The lasi octa-
gonal . compartment représents Night. These compartments
. are interspersed  with-appropriaté emblems and arabesqiies ;
the lower part of the ceiling is adorned with medallions re-



166 FIRST WALK.

presenting the months, and with stuccos of the Muses, the signs
of the Zodiac, flowers, etc., executed under the direction of
Lebrun, by Girardon, Regnauldin, and the brothers Marsy.
This splendid gallery now eoutains a rare and costly collection
of enamels of Bernard de Palissy, vases of agate, jasper, and
other precious stones, curious articles of Japanese manufac-
ture, jewels, etc., arranged in three magnificent glass stands
along the middle, and in other stands and presses in the em-
brasures of the windows and opposite. Not the least remark-
able objects are the tables themselves supporting these stands,
on account of their beautiful carving of the time of Louis
XIV., as the escutcheons they bear, with three fleurs de lys,
and the motto, Nec pluribus impar, denote. One of them at
the furthest end is a fine specimen of Florentine mosaic.

A door Lo the right opens into the

Salon Carré, which immediately precedes the Long Gallery.
The ceiling is white and gold, with colossal caryatides in the
corners, and genii representing the Arts; the names of the
most celebraled artists are inscribed on the frieze. The choicest
specimens of the treasures for which the Louvre is so cele-
brated, are placed here, among which are the Feast of Cana
and Mary anointing the feet of Jesus, both by Paolo Veronese,
Charles I of England by Vandyck, and the Conception b
Murillo, bought in 1852, at the sale of Marshal Soult’s gal-
lery, for the sum of 615,300 {r. In the centre of the room
there is a horizontal painling in compartments by Hans Sebald
Beham, a Naremberg artist of the 16th century.

The Musde des Tubleawx des Ecoles Italiennes, Flamandes
et Frangaises occupies the Long Gallery, the exterior of which
has alrcady been described at page 155. It was 1322 feet in
length, and 42 in width ; but owing {o the demolitions in pro-
gress, it has provisionally lost one-third of its length. The
walls are encrusted with red marble to the height of about
three feet, the rest of their surface is entirely covercd with
pictures, divided into three schools, viz.: the French school,
660 ; the Flemish and German, 618; the Italian and Spanish,
558. Thethird compartment is almost wholly occupied by the
Galerie de Rubens, a precious collection of some of the most
admired works of that great artist. These master-picces,
which were in danger of perishing by the scaling off of the
paint, have now undergone a thorough restoration, and been
re-canvassed. None but the works of deceased masters are
admitted into this gallery, which was chiefly formed by Na-
poleon, and enriched with the master-pieces of Europe ; the
greater part were returned in 1815, but even now this gallery
is one of the finest in the world. To the right on entering, a



MUSEUMS OF THE LOUVRE. 167

suite of three mew galleries, connected by provisional pas-
sages, contains the works of the French painters of the 18th
and 19th centurics.  These galleries are lit by vast skylights
of dulled glass, and the coves of the ceilings arc decorated
with scrolls. containing the names of the most celebrated
artists. These galleries are also accessible by the

Salle des Etats, a hall 42 metres long, 21 wide, and 16
high. It is lighted by three rows of windows, the upper
range being circular. A gallery, supported on gilt columns,
runs round the greater part of it. On State occasions (see
p. 158.) the Throne is placed at the entrance to the gallery,
which is then closed. There is a tribune destined for the
Empress, the Imperial Princesses, and their suites. The
ceiling, by Muller, is divided into five compartments. In the
centre, Civilisation, raising a cross surrounded by a brilliant
aureola, enlightens the world. At her sides are Justice and
Force, the Genius of Law, and Philosophy. France, sur-
mounted by the Imperial cagle, is scated on a throne, and near
Ler arc Abundance and Generosity. Behind stands Prudence,
holding the national flag, protected by Vigilance and Patriot-
ism. Below are genii presenting vanquished Algeria to
France, and History writing the national annals. Further on
are genii presenting to the world Literature, Science, and the
Arts,  On the right side is Religion consecrating the authority
of kings, inspiring warriors with devotedness, consoling the
afflicted, and opening heaven to the dying. Near her is Joan
of Are, personifying female heroism ; Devotion, Charity, Mi-
sery secking refuge in God, Sorrow finding consolation in
prayer, tradition receiving the Iloly Scriptures from an angel,
and Sacred Music. The left side is devoted to Labour, Agri-
culture, Arts, Science, Poetry, Meditation, Manufactures, Com-
merce. Below is War, in the midst of a battle-field, and at
the other end are various symbols of Peace. Over the entrance
opposite the gallery is an equestrian statue of Charlemagne,
before which passes a triumphal procession, and over the other
is one of Napolcon I., surrounded by groups of veterans,
yeung men, and the Arls, depositing wreaths and branches of
palm at his feet. The figures in grisaille represent Justice,
Faith, the Army, the Navy, ctc.

Retracing our steps to theSalle des Sept Cheminées, adoor
to the right, oppusite, leads to anether part of the

Musée Napoléon I1I., containing another part of the Cam-
pana collection, and antiquities brought over from Syria by
M. Ernest Renan, from Maccdonia and Thessaly by M. Henzey,
and from the North of Asia Minor by M. Perrault. The de-
scription of these rooms is briefly as follows :—1st room :
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antique pottery from Judea, Cyprus, and Rhodes ; ceiling :
the presentation of Poussin by Cardinal Richelicu to Louis
XIII., by Alaux ; 2d : Etruscan and Roman pottery ; ceiling :
the battle of Ivry, by Steuben; 3d: painted vases of the
primitive period ; ceiling : Puget presenting his group of Milo
of Croton, now in the Musée de la Sculpture Moderne, to
Louis XIV. at Versailles, by Devéria ; 4th: tombs, sepulchral
lamps, urns, &c., in the centre the ‘‘ Lydian tomb’ in terra-
cotta ; ceiling : Francis 1., accompanied by his court, recciving
the paintings brought by Primaticcio fromItaly, by Fragonard ;
5th: Corinthian vases found at Ceeri in Etruria; ceiling : an
allegorical representation of the revival of the arts.in France,
and eight historical subjects from the time of Charles VIII. to
the death of Henry II., by Heim ; 6th : Vases found in Magna
Grieeia ; ceiling : Francis 1. kniglited by Bayard, by Fra-
gonard ; 7th : the same serics continued ; ceiling : Charlemagne
recciving the Bible from Alcuin, by Schnetz ; 8th: red vases
with painted subjects, Greek and Etruscan ; ceiling : Louis X1I,
proclaimed father of the people at the states-gencral of Tours
In 1506, by Drolling ; 9th: glass, masaics, frescoes from
Pompeii senl by the late Francis 1. of Naples ; ceiling : the expe-
dition to Egypt under the orders of Napoleon, by L. Coignet (1).
A suite parallel to this confains the old collection of Egyp-
tian, Greek, and Roman antiquities. It commences with the
Musée Egypticn, most of the anliquities in which are
the fruits of the French rescarches in Egypt. For articles
of domestic life, and for all minuter details, this is perhaps the
most complete collection in cxistence. Valuable - Egyptian
vases, human mummies and those of animals, some. MSS, in
finc .prescrvation, and paleltes on which the colours still re-
main, will be remarked. Sceds of various kinds, and even
fragments of bread, found in the tombs .of Egypt, are collected
here. Glass cases occupy the embrasures of the windows, con-
taining minute articles. Cloth of various kinds, brooms, . usical
instruments, walking-sticks, a crutch shod with iron, shoes,
toilet-cases, mirrors, needles, and elegant spoons, all of the
earlicr periods of Egypt, find a place in this most interesting
muscum. Here are also the weights. and- measures. of the
Phileterian system, mentioned in the Scriptures, and some cu-
rious Egyptian loadstones, nicely balanced, so as.to . answer
the purpose of a magnetic needle. The-ceiling of the first room
represents the Genius of France encouraging the arts, and tak-
ing Greece under her-protection, by Gros. . In that of the.2d,
is Pope Julius I, giving orders for the building of St. Peter’s
‘(1) On the ground-floor of this side-of the court are studios
not shown to visitors wilhout an order from the Director,
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to Bramante, Michael Angelo, and Raphael, by Horace Vernet.
The ceiling of the 3d represents Egypt saved by Joseph, by
Abel de Pujol. That of the 4th represents Study and Genius
aiding Greece in exploring Egypt, by Picot. Compartments in
other styles accompany these ceilings.

La Salle du Trone is next entered ; its magnificent ceiling is
divided into nine compartments, painted by Gros. Six of
these represent the busts of Pericles, Augustus, Leo X., Fran-
cis I., Louis XIV., and Charles X., with scrolls, bearing the
names of the celebrated writers of their age. The centre com-
partment represents Glory supported by Virtue, with scrolls
bearing the names of celebrated French statesmen, warriors,
and writers. .Inthe cighth is Truth, assisted by Time, receiv-
ing the. protection of Wisdom; in'the ninth, Victory holding
the reins of two fiery steeds ready to draw the chariot of Mars ;
Peace offers him a hridle, the emblem of moderation. The
ceiling rests on white marble Corinthian columns, with gilt
- capitals and bases; in the centre of the floor is a fine mosaic

encircling a pedestal which supports an Egyptian idol in black
marble. Several vases of clegant form may be scen in other
parts of the room. Wenow enter the

 Musée Grec et Romain.—llere wehave the serics of antiqui-

ties found in ancient Etruria and the south of Italy, but chiefly
in Greece. The collection oceupies four rooms, and is ex-
ceedingly choice. The visitor's attention will be attracted by the
unusual size of a great number of the vases, particularly those
on the marble tables, and to the high state of preservation of
most of them. The wealth and refinement of Ierculaneum
and Pompeii are represented here, and even most of the utensils
of domestic life may be.seen in these cases. A collection of
-glass vases, another of bronze instruments, .and another- of
camecos and gems, will not escape the visitor’s attention.  The
ceilings represents : ist room, Cybele, the Magna Mater,
protecling Stabie, Hereulaneum, Pompeii and Retina,. from
the fires of Vesuvius, by Picot ; 2d, the nymphs of Parthenope,
carrying their houschold gods to the banks of the Seine, under
the guidance of Mincerva, by Meynier ; 3d, presents Vesuvius-
receiving fire from Jupiter to consume Herculaneum, Pompeii
and Stabie, by lleim ; 4th, the apotheosis- of Homer, by Ingres.
On the mantel-piece of this room stands the bust of the late
" lamented architect Visconti, who furnished the designs for the
completion: of - the Louvre. . The - fast-mentioned room opens
into the Salle des Sept Cheminées. v
The visitor mustnow retrace his steps to the Musée Egyptien,
which Jeads to a Corinthian staircase at the south-castern angle of
the Gallery. Here he will find an entrance opening into the
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celebrated colonnade of Claude Perrault, and obtain an ad-
vantageous view of St.-Germain-I’Auxerrois ( see p. 238).
Another door on the same side gives access to the
Musée des Souverains, composed of five rooms, the three
first of which severally bear the names of Chambre d’Anne
&’ Autriche, Chambre d coucher de Henri IV, and Salon de
Henri IV, These rooms are cspecially remarkable for the
claborate carving and gilding which adorn the ceilings and
wainscoting. The first room contains a portrait of Louis XIII.,
by Philippe de Champagne, and a modern one of Anne
d’Autriche opposite.  The second room contains full-length
portraits of Henry 1V. and Maric de Medicis, and, in an alcove
exquisitely carved, where Ilenry 1V. used to sleep, there is a
statue of that prince in his childhood, by Bosio. In the third
room arc the altar and desks of a chapel of reception 6f the
Order of the Holy Ghost, with the mantles worn by the
knights, and other brilliant articles relating to the same. The
fourth room is called the Salle des Bourbons. A rectangular
compartment of the ceiling contains the arms of the Bourhons,
flanked with the initials of Louis XVIII. and Charles X.
On the coves arc medallions with the portraits of those
princes, and the legends, Trocadero and Alger, under each
respectively ; the walls display fleurs de lys on a blue
ground. In the centre of this room we perceive, under glass
cascs, the rich saddles and saddle-cloths used at the corona-
tions of Louis XVI. and Charles X., and in the presses around,
marked with the names of the kings whose reigns are repre-
sented here by some object of interest, we find the arm-chair
of King Dagobert, full suits of armour worn by Charles IX.,
Henry 1., (1) Henry 1II., Henry 1V., Francis II., Louis X1I1.,
and Louis X1V.; a splendid casket, presented to Annc
@’Autriche by Richelieu ; and the baptismal font used at the
baptism of St. Louis, Philip Augustus, and the Comte dc Paris.
1t is a silver basin, covered with handsome chasings. There are
also many other ohjects of great interest here, such as the sceptre
of Charlemagne, a chandelier and mirror presented to Marie
de Medicis by the Republic of Venice, both studded with
cameos and precious stones; a copy of the crown worn by
Louis XVI. at his coronation; his sword (without a hilt); a
shoe worn by Marie Antoinette ; the prayer-book of Charle-
magne, dated 780 ; his sword and spurs; the marriage sword

(1) That to the left is the one in which he was killed in
1559. The visor of the helmet being raised for air, (as the
day was hot and the exercise of the tournament faliguing,)
the tiliing spear of the Count de Montgommeri accidently hit
the king’s eye and entered his brain.
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of Henry IV., and other arms of historical interest. A beautiful
cabinet, which belonged to Marie Antoinctte, stands in the
left corner ; and a large casket, adorned with pastoral minia-
tures on white velvet, and bearing the cyphers of Louis XVI.
and Maric Antoinette, is to be seen in the adjoining
press. In a corner opposite is the sedan-chair of Louis
XV.; near the windows are the desks of Louis XVIIL
and Louis Philippe, the latter bearing marks of the fury
of the invaders of the Tuileries in 1848. Scveral articles
here displayed formed part of Prince Soltikoff's collection,
—The fifth room, called the Salle de I'Empereur, and
the loftiest of the suite, displays on its cciling, paintedin fresco,
the name of Napoleon, and numerous emblems expressive of
glory, the progress of the arts and sciences under his reign, &c.
The walls are studded with bees on a red ground. This room
exclusively contains articles relating to Napoleon 1., including
the full-dress clothes worn by him on state occasions; his
saddle, sword, gloves, etc.; his uniform which he wore at
Marengo ; his sword of First Consul, his horsc’s bridle-bit, the
hat he wore in the campaign of 1814, and the small round hat
which he wore at St. Helena, as well as the pocket-handker-
chief which he used when on his death-bed ; the Austrian uni-
form of the Duke de Reichstadt; a locket containing the hair of
Napoleon and of his son, and the flag kissed by Napoleon
when he bid adieu at Fontainebleau, and which had since then
remained in the possession of General Pelit. A small chalk
sketch of Napoleon 1. at the age of 16, signed ‘Cournoni,”
(1785) will be seen necar the entrance.

From this suite we enter three rooms called the

Musée de la Colonnade, where the paintings which formed
part of the Campana collection have now been arranged, con-
stituting the third section of the Musée Napoléon III. They
are 303 in number. and comprise scveral works of the earlier
painters, as well as some masterpieccs of the modern Italian
schools. .

Arriving at the north-cast staircase, we find to the left a
series of seven rooms, formerly occupicd by the Collection
Standish, bequeathed in 1838 to Louis Philippe by F. H.
Standish, Esq., of Duxbury Iall, Lancashire, but sold by
auction in 1850, together with one cilled the Galerie
Espagnole, in order to cover the liabilitics of the dethroned
King. Subsequently these rooms were devoted to en-
gravings, those especially the plates of which are the property
of the Louvre, from which, by the sale of copies, it derives
a considerable income. These rooms are now chiefly filled
with the curious and interesting
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Collection Sauvageot, thus called after a gentleman of that
name, a distinguished antiquarian, who left it by will to the
Louvre in 1856. The whole collcction is valued at amillion
of francs, exclusively of many articles which have been
added to it. The antechamber contains various statues and
groups cxecuted in terra-cotta after the manncr of Luca della
Robbia ; in the first room of the suite we find Italian crockery
of the same period and school, viz., plates, dishes, &c.,
adorned with painted figures.  This serics is continued in the
second room. In the third we find specimens of Bernard
Palissy’s carthenware. In this the various subjects and de-
vices are in relief. The fourth contaips valuable bronzes,
such as statuettes, embossed dishes, cups, &c., and a mosaic
by Fasolo, representing the Lion of Venice, besides two
bronze bas-reliefs in compartments, representing the Italian
campaigns of 1515 and 1544. In the tifth we see specimens
of Venctian glass, flasks, cups, beakers, &c. The sixth
room is devoted to carved wood, such as dclicate trinkets,
medallions, &e., of exquisitc workmanship ; and the seventh
chiefly contains carved ivory, including statuetics, dyptics,
furniture, &c., together with an altar-screen, all of ivory,
minutely carved in 69 compartments, representing subjects
taken from the New Testament.

With the eighth room, which contains chalk drawings by
various celebrated masters, commences the

Musée des Dessins, one of the most valuable and extensive
collections of works of this kind in existence, consisting of 14
rooms, and comprising 36,000 specimens of the great mas-
ters of all schools, of inestimable value to the professional
student, as well as to the connoisseur. Many precious speci-
mens of the pencils of the first masters of the Italian, Flemish,
French and Spanish schools are here exhibited. The visitor
will find ‘choice subjects duc to the talent of Toussin.
Lesueur, Claude Lorraine, Teniers, Rubens, Van Dyck, Albert
Durer; Rembrandt, .Cuyp, Holbein, &c. ; beautiful miniature
portraits of historical intercst, and other portraits, groups, and
views executed in peneil, indian ink, &c.” In the last five
roams the drawings are mostly arranged under glazed frames
on inclined desks. These rooms were formerly those reserved
for state }n’xrposes, and under Charles X. were used for the re-

" ception of the Chambers hefore the apening of the legislative
'session. " The first of the suite was formerly an antechamber,
and has no decorations; the second was the Salle des Confé-
rences ;- the ceiling, painted by Mauzaisse, represents Divine
- Wisdom giving laws to kings and legislators. - The eeiling of
the third, the Salle du Comité du €ontentieux, represents Law
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descending upon earth, by Drolling. The fourth is the Grande
Salle du Conseil, the ceiling of which, by Blondel, represents
France receiving the charter from Louis XVIII. Itis surrounded
by eight allegorical and as many historical compartments. The
fifth room, of the time of Henry II., has a richly decorated
seiling: Ilistory recording the events of the battle of Bou-
vines; it is surrounded with allegorical figures, by Blondel.
The Musée de la Marine occupies the second floor on the
northern side, and is approached by a small staircase leading
from the ante-room of the Collection Sauvageot ; it occupics a
suite of 11 rooms, and coutains models of vessels of all classes,
many equipped and armed. In the ist room is the model
of the country around Luxor, where the obelisk of the Place
de la Concorde formerly stood. This model gives an accurate
idea of the opcration of shipping the obelisk and of the machi-
nery used for the purpose (see p. 180). Another model shows
the operation of raising the obelisk on ifs pedestal in Paris.
Above this, on the wall, is an inscription, placed there by the
English residents in France, commemorating the heroic endur-
ance of Lieut. Bellot, of the ¥rench navy, who perished in the
Arctic expedition of 1853 sent in search of Sir J. Franklin.
Models of Brest, Lorient, Toulon, and Rochefort are in the 2d,
3d, 8th, and 11th rooms, exccuted on a large scale and with
great nicety. In the 2d is the model of the threc-decker Valmy,
executed in ivory agg ebony. In the 4th is the modecl of the
3-decker 1’Océan, six metres in length. In the 5th room is the
bell of Fort St. Jean d’Ulloa, pierced through with cannon-
shot. 'In the 6th is an obelisk decorated with the relics of
the ship of M. de La Pérouse, discovered and brought to France
by an Englishman, Capt. Dillon ; also the trunk of a tree,
found at Botany Bay, bearing the epitaph of one of La Pérouse’s
chaplains ; and in the 7th, in a glass press, is exhibited a let-
ter addressed by La Pérouse to one of his friends just before his
departure from Brest in 1785. On an adjoining stand is the
model of the Belle-Poule frigate, which brought over the re-
mains of Napoleon 1. from St. Ilelena in 1840. In the 9thisa
piece of ordnance, on the revolving principle, with 12 chambers,
and invented at Joigny in 1837. Ierc likewise is a large
model of a steam-engine, with others of fire-arms of cvery
calibre. Inthe 1oth arc geographical globes, sextants, and other
scientific instruments used in navigation. The 11th room con-
tains a beautiful model of the state galley of Louis XIV.; the
walls are decorated with the admirable gilt bas-reliefs which
ornamented the original. llerc is also a model of the gor-
geous man-of-war, the Louis XV. From this room we enter the
Musée Ethnographique, consisting of six rooms, the first of
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which contains, besides a beautiful model of the three-decker
Tage, a collection of weapons used by the nations of Central
Africa. In the second there are a few models of junks, canoes,
&c. The third contains an interesting collection of arms
and ornaments used by various nations inhabiting the
islands of the South Pacific Ocean, and the still compa-
ratively unexplored regions of North America. In the centre
of the room is a model of the celebrated temple of Jagganatha,
or Juggernaut, in India. The fourth, fifth, and sixth rooms,
to the left on entering, are specially devoted to Chinese art and
manufactures. Here we see a large chapel of carved wood,
containing a Goddess called Kang, besides other idols, altars,
various objects of worship, and household utensils. The spe-
cimens of Chinese porcelain arc numerous and elegant ; there
are besides a model of a Chinese burial, besides boxes, fur-
niture, paintings, amulets, coins, carved chessmen, dresses,
utensils, trinkets, &c. Most of these articles were partly-
brought over by M. de Lagrenée, and partly sent from Canton
in 1858 by Admiral Rigault de Genouilly. In a passage to
the right of the 3d room is the

Musée Ameéricain, containing objects of Peruvian and
Mexican origin, sent by M. Audrand, French Consul in Bolivia.
It consists of picces of sculpture, seals, woven stuffs, ete.,
showing the comparatively high civilisation of those nations
at the time of the Conquest.

Dassing to the gallerics on the groun® floor, the first we
find to our left on re-cntering the court, is the Musée de la
Sculpture Moderne. It is arranged in five halls, and is
remarkable for many master-pieces of the French school, to
which are added a few by foreign artists. The room to the
left, called the Salle Coyscvox, contains Marie Adelaide of
Savoy, as Diana, and a splendid tomb of Cardinal Mazarin.
In the Salle du Puget, is the celebrated Milo of Croton bv that
artist ; also a marble group representing Perseus dehvering
Andromeda, and a small bronze model of the equestrian statue
by Girardon, which formerly stood in the Placc Vendome ;
there is also a foot of the statue itself (see p. 177.) The Salle
des Coustou has statues of Louis XV., Maria Lescinska, Queen
of France, and four bas-reliefs in bronze, by Desjardins. In
the Salle de Iloudon we see Psyche, by Pajou; Diana in
bronze, by Houdon ; the bust of Buffon, by Pajou ; and that of
Madame Dubarry, by the same. The last, the Salle de
Chaudet, contains Love and Psyche, by Canova ; and the co-
lossal bust of Napoleon I. by Bartolini. :

Further on, in the north-eastern portion, is the

Galerie Assyrienne, consisting of six rooms, and .a ves-



MUSEUMS OF THE LOUVRE. 175

tibule on the northern ground floor, aud containing valuable
relics of Assyrian sculpture brought to light in the vicinity
of Nineveh, through the exertions of M. Boita, French consul
in Syria. Colossal winged bulls flank the doors of the second
room. The bas-rclicfs, which occupy the lateral walls, are
interesting as showing the costumes, weapons, and vessels
of the remotest ages, their clumsy rudders, and the manner in
which they were laden. The cuneiform inscriptions, taken
from the palaces of Sardanapalus, Nimrod, Taimanassac,
and Jchu, the small seals engraved on agate and jasper,
are worthy of attention. The third room contains Greck
haut-reliefs, and a vase discovered at Pergama. 'The vestibule
which follows is filled with plaster-casts from the Musée
des Platres. The sixth contains other antiquities from Niniveh,
and the seventh valuable specimens of Greek sculpture from the
Parthenon, Dclos, &c¢. In the south-caslern portion is the
-Galerie Egyptienne, a lofty hall filled with colossal Egyp-
tian statues, sphynxcs, bas-reliefs, paintings, and other curiosis
ties. The freshness of the colours of the paintings, which the
lapse of upwards of thirty centuries has been unable to efface,
is really surprising. The visitor will particularly remark the
bas-relicls which adorned the pedestal of the obelisk of Luxor.
The adjoining vestibule is filled with specimens of Egyptian
pottery, a figure of the sacred bull, &e., and the walls of the
contiguous staircase, which leads to the Musée des Souverains,
are adorned with five large copics of Egyptian paintings.
In the southern wing is the
Musée de la Sculpture de lu Renaissance, composed of 6
rooms. In the first, besides the casts of the lombs of Charles
and Mary de Bourgogne, the visitor will remark the cast of a
stupendous chimney-piece of the Salle du Sénat at Bruges, of
the most elaborate workmanship. The 2d room, called the
Salle Jean Goujon, contains specimens of sculpture by that
artist ; among which is his masterpiece, Diana de Poilicrs (the
favourite of Henry I1., who, at the age of 47, captivated the
youthful king) represented as Diana Venatrix. Wealso seea fine
group of four angels carved in wood by Germain Pilon.  Next
comes, to the left, the Salle des Anguier, where the most con-
spicuous object is the pyramidal monument to Henri de Longue-
ville. 1lere are also bronze statues of Louis XIII., Annc
(Autriche, and Louis XIV. in his boyhood, by Guillain, a
byonze statue of Fame, by Berthelot, and Francheville’s master-
piece, the four bronze figures, representing as many conquered
Nations, that formerly adorned the equestrian statue of Henri
1V., on the Pont Neuf. There are also some fragments of the
statue itself, which was of colossal dimensions (see p. 297.)
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Returning to the 2d room, we enter the Sulle de Jean de Douas,
better known as Giovanni di Bologna, containing his group
of Mercurx and Psyche in bronze, and the bronze bas-relief of
Diana with the stag by Benvenuto Cellini, which adorned the
Chateau d’Anet (see p. 366.) Herc is also a prisoner, exe-
cuted in marble by Michelangelo. On the walls are subjects
by Andrea and Luca della Robbia. The Salle de Michel
Colombe contains a beautiful alto-rilievo of white marble, by
that artist, representing St. George killing the dragon. There
is also a statue of Louis XIT. by Demugiano.

All these museums are open to the public on all days,
Mondays excepted, from 12 to 4 ; to artists daily, Sundays
and Mondays excepted, from 8 a.m. to 1 p.m. For permission
to study in the museums, apply by letter, post-paid, to
¢ Monsieur le Directeur des Musées, au palais du Louvre.”

The visitor, on leaving, should enter the

RUE bE Rivowrl, that vast artery connecting the utmost
limits of the Tuileries with the rue St. Antoine, a distance
of 3146 metres, (2 miles.) It runs through part of the
ground once occupied by the orchard of the convent of the
Feuillants, and by the celebrated Manége, or riding-school,
where a temporary building, erected in 1790, was succes-
sively occupied by the Constituent and Legislative Assem-
blies, the Convention, and the Council of Five Hundred.
This street was begun in 1802, and continued with a uniform
system of arcades to the northern pavilion of the Tuilerics,
thus opening the noble garden of the palace to public view on
the northern side. But the idea of continuing this splendid
street would, though often mooted, perhaps have never heen
carried out, had it not been for the revolution of 1848, which,
by the menacing prospect of serious danger to the State, roused
the Government of the day to provide work for the labouring
classes at any cost. The new rue, de Rivoli was dec. ied on;
the dark streets and filthy lanes which lay inits way fell under

thestroke of the pickaxe, and elegant houses sprang up as if
by enchantment. During the reign of the present Emperor,
the ruc de Rivoli has been prolonged beyond the Hotel de
Ville. The arcades extend as far as the rue du Louvre,
turning also into the Place du Palais Royal. This street
has cost a sum of 150 millions of francs, and caused the
demolition of upwards of 1,000 houses. As was the casc
with the old rue de Rivoli, the houses built with arcades in
the new one, have becn exempted from taxes for thirty years.

The principal pavilion of the New Louvre, facing the
Palais Royal, contains the '

BIBLIOTHEQUE DU LOUVRE—the Emperor’s private library,
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to visit which, apply by letter to Son Excellence le Grand
Maréchal du Palass, aux Tuileries. The stranger, on as-
cending a beautifully sculptured double-branched staircase,
will enter a suite consisting of two saloons connected by a
spacious gallery, with six recesses on each side, fitted up
with hookcases. The ceiling of the first saloon, painted by
Brune, represents the Muses ; that of the second, by Abel de
Pujol, the Arts and Sciences. Here is a collection of books
bequeathed to the Emperor by Mr. Mottley, an American.
Students may obtain permancnt entrance here.

Contlinuing westwards along the Rue de Rivoli, we find
opposite the Ruc Richelieu (1), the offices of the Ministére de
la Maison de PEmpercur, and at No. 192, near the Passage
Delorme, a house occupied in 1848 by Sobrier and his ad-
herents until the t5th of May, when they were forcibly dis-
banded. AtNo. 224, are the library and news-rooms of Messrs.
Galignani and Co., where the daily English newspaper, Galig-
nani’s Messenger, so well known throughout the Continent, is
published (see DikECTORY). Most of the houses in this street are
public hotels, among which is Meurice’s, No. 228, an estab-
lishment almost as well known as the rue de Rivoli itself.

The rue de Castiglione lcads to the octagonal

PLAcE VENDOME—of which the Rue de la Paix (2) forms
the only other outlet on the opposite side. The Place Ven-
dome, originally called Place des Conquétes, and then Place
Louis le Grand, was begun by Mansard, in 1699, Louis XIV,
having, at the suggestion of Louvois, purchased the hotel of
the Duc de Vendome, an illegitimate son of Henry 1V. and Ga-
brielle ’Estrées, which stood on this site. The buildings, ori-
ginally intended for the Royal Library, the Mint, &c., were
subsequently continued by the City of Paris, and finished by
the financier Law. They are uniformly Corinthian : the larger
sides of the octagon measure 450 feet, the smaller 420. In
the middle formerly stood a colossal equestrian statue of Louis
XIV., in bronze, by Girardin and Keller, erccted in 1669, but
demolished on August 10, 1792; the bronze figures that orna-
mented its base are to be seen in the Musée de la Renaissance.
The mutilated pedestal was replaced in 1806 by the

CoLONNE VENDOME, crected by Napoleon, to comme-

(1) At the corner of the rue de Richelieu and the rue St.
Honoré some soldiers of the Garde Royale made a desperate re-
sistance in the revolulion of 1830, and fell to a man.

(2) On the site of the rue de la Paix, originally rue Napoléon,
stood the large Convent of the Capucines, the greater portion of
which was. destroyed in 1789. In 1806 the street was formed
through the body of the convent.

41
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morate the suceess of his arms in the German campaign of 1805,
This column, 135 feet high, by 12 in diameler, is an imitation
of the pillar of Trajan at Rome, on a scale larger by one
twelfth. The pedestal, 21 feet in height, and 20 in breadth,
and the shaft are of slone, covered with bronze bas-reliefs,
cast out of 1,200 pieces of Russian and Austrian cannon,
weighing 360,0001hs., and representing the victories of the
French army. The bas-reliefs of the pedestal represent the
uniforms and weapons of the conquered troops. Four eagles,
weighing 500lbs. each, stand at the corners of the pedestal,
supporting wreaths of oak. The door, of massive bronze, is
decorated with crowns of oak, surmounted by an eagle ; above

is a bas-relief, representing two figures of Fame, supporting a

tablet, with the following inscription :

Neapolio Imp. Aug. Monumenium belli Germanici, Anno
MDCGGCV. Trimestri spatio, ductu suo, profligali, ex re capto,
Glorix excrcitus maximi dicavit.

The spiral bas-reliefs of the shaft display, in order, the prin-
cipal actions, from the departure of the troops from Boulogne
1o the battle of Austerlitz. The figures, 2,000 in number, are
three feet high ; the length of the scroll 840 fect; aspiral thread
divides the lines, and bears the names of the actions repre-
sented. The designs, by Bergeret, were executed by 31
sculptors, one of whom was Mme. Charpentier. Above the
capilal is a gallery, approached by a winding staircase of 176
steps. Upon the capital is this inscription :

Monument élevé i la gloire de la grande armée, par Napoléon
le Grand, commencé I¢ xxv aofit 1806, lerminé le xv aofit 1810,
sous la direction de D. V. Denon, MM. J. B. Lepére et L. Gon-
doin, architcetes.

The capital is surmounted by an acroterium, on which we see

a bronze statue, by Dumont, of Napoleon I. in a Romon cos-

tume and wearing the Imperial mantle. It is an exaci copy

of the first statue by Chaudet which stood here, and which
was melted down in 1814 to form part of the horse of Henry

IV., now on the Pont Neuf. The figure of Victory in the Em-

peror’s right hand is the same which was held by the original

statue (1). The column stands upon a plinth of polished granite,

surrounded by an iron railing. The total cost was 1,500,000

francs. The view of Paris and the environs from the gatlery

() During the Restoration a fleur-de-lys and a flag-staff oc-
cufied the place of the statue; but on the 28th of July, 1833, a
statue by Seurre, representing Napoleon 1. in his well-known
mifttary costume, was solemnly inaugurated in the presence of
Louis Philippe. This statue, 11 feet high, now siands on a pe-
destal in the centre of {he Rond-Point of Courbevoie. (See p. 507.)
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fs most interesting. To ascend it, apply to the guardian at
the door, who expects a small gratuity, and furnishes the
visitor with a lantern. The hours are from 10 to ¢ in sum-
mer, and 1 to 4 in winter.

THE FONTAINE DES CAPUCINS, at the corner of the rue Casti-
glione and rue St. Honoré, was erccled in 1671, and rebuilt in
1718. It bears the following inscription by Santeuil :

Tot loca sacra inler, pura est que labitur unda;
Hanc non impuro, quisquis es, ore hibas.

Six convents formerly stood here. Further west is the

EGLISE DE L’ASSOMPTION, 369, ruc St. Honoré.—This church,
formerly belonging to a convent of Dames de I’ Assomption,
now converted into barracks, was built by Errard in 1676.
It is circular, and surmounted by a dome 62 fect in diameter.
The style is Corinthian ; the cupola is painted in fresco by
Lafosse. It contains the Birth of the Virgin, by Suvée (1779),
and an Assumption, by Blondel. The church is a chapel of
case to the church of the Madeleine. .

The rue de Luxembourg leads to the HoTEL DES FiNANcES,
a vast building comprised between the rues de Rivoli, de Casli-
glione, du Mont Thabor, and de Luxembourg.

Further on, at the corner of the rue St. Florentin, is a large
and handsome mansion, formerly the residence of Prinee Tal-
leyrand, and purchased, after his death, by Baron Rothschild.
Before the revolution of 1789 it was the hotel of the Duchess de
I'Infantado. Alexanderl., Emperor of Russia, occupied itin 1814.

SECOND WALX.

This walk comprises the 16th arrondissement, with a fraction
of the 8th. The visitor will commence it by the

PLACE DE LA CONCORDE, or pE Louis XV., which was, till the
reign of that King, a waste, irregular space. After the peace
of Aix-la-Chapelle, the Municipality obtained leave of Louis XV.
1o form a square here, adorned with a statue in his honour.
The works, conducted after the designs of Gabriel, were not
finished until 1772. The squarc was octagonal, bounded by
balustraded fossés. -The two tine marble groups, by Coustou,
jun., representing restive horses checked by grooms, which
stand at the entrance of the Champs Elysées, were brought
hither from Marly in 1790, like their counterparts opposite,
by Coysevox, at the western entrance of the garden of the
Tuileries. In the middle stood a bronze equestrian statue
of Louis XV.,in a Roman costume, by Bouchardon. At the
four angles of the pedestal were marble statues of Peace,
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Prudence, Justice, and Strength (1). Tbe statue was destroyed
by order of the Legislative Assembly on the 11th of August
1792, and melted down into cannon and republican two-sous
pieces, while a large plaster figure of Liberty was placed on the
pedestal, in front of which was erected the guillotine, and the
place was called Place de la Révolution. By a decrec of 1800
il assumed the name of Place de la Concorde; both figure
and pedestal were removed, and a model of a column was
erccted in wood covered with painted canvas. Figures
representing the Departments surrounded the base. The com-
pletion of this was prevented by the wars of the Empire.
In 1814 the name of ¢ Place Louis XV.” was restored. Louis
XVIII. issued an ordonnance for re-erecting a statue of Louis
XV. Charles X. fixed the Rond Point of the Champs Elysées
as the proper place for this slatue, intending to erect that of
Louis XVI. on the Place Louis XV., to be called Place Louis
XVI. The events of 1830 caused it to remain in a neglected
state till 1836, when the works for its completion were begun.
In 1852, the fossés were filled up, and the carriage-ways wi-
dened. All the spaces for foot-passengers arc flagged with
bitumen. The square is enclosed with balustrades, terminating
in the basements of cight colossal statues of the chief provincial
citics, viz. Lille and Strasburg, by Pradier; Bordeaux and
Nantes, by Calhouet ; Marseilles and Brest, by Cortot; Rouen
and Lyons, by Petilot. Twemy rostral columns, hearing lamps,
arce placed along the balustrades, and 40 ornamental lamp-pests
border the carriage-ways. Inthe centreof the square stands the

OpELISK oF Luxor.—This magnificent relic of ancient Egypt
is one of two obelisks that stood in front of the great lemple of
Thebes, the modern Luxor, where they were erected, 1550
years before Christ, by Rhamses 1., of the 18th Egyptian dy-
nasty, better known in history as the great Sesostris. These
two monoliths were given by Mchemet Ali, Viceroy ¢. Egypt,
to the French government, in consideration of the advantages
conferred by France on Egyptin aiding to form the arsenal and
navalestablishment of Alexandria, but only one was removed (2).
This obelisk is formed of the finest red syenite, and covered

(1) The luxury and dissolute habifs of the court at that lime
gave rise to the following pasquinade :

0O 1a belle statue! 0 le bean piédestal!
Les vertus sont d pied, le vice est a cheval.

By asingular coincidence of dates, the idea of erecling this
royal stalue on the fulure Place de la Concorde, was conceived
on the 24th of February 1748, and the statue ilself reached the
square, afler 4 days’ hard labour, on the 24th of February 1763.
It was inaugurated on the 20th of June following.

(2) The operation of transporting this monolith to France, which
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on each face with three lines of hieroglyphic inscriptions com-
memorative of Sesostris; the middle lines being the most deeply
cut and most carefully finished. The number of characters is
1,600. A flaw which it had when first cut from the quarry
extends to one-third of ils height, but is not perceptible from
the ground. The Egyptians remedied this by inscrting two
wooden mortises under the inner surfaces. The apex has been
left in the rough state in which it was when found in Egypt.
The height of this monolith is 72 ft. 3 inches; its greatest
width at the base 7 ft. ¢ inches; at the top, 5 ft. 4 inches;
Its weight 500,000 pounds. (1) The pedestal on which it
stands is a single block of grey granite, from the quarries of
Laber, in Britanny, weighing 240,000 pounds, and 15 feet by
9 at the bottom and 8 at the top (2). On the northern face
of the pedestal are engraven gilt scclions of the machinery
used at Luxor in removing the monolith ; on the southern are
those used in Paris.  On the eastern side is this inscription :

Ludovicus Philippus I., Francorum Rex, ut antiquissimum ar=
tis Agypliace opus, idemque recenlis glorim ad Nilum armis
parte insigne monumentum Franciee ab ipsa Agypio donatam
posteritale prorogarcl, obeliscum Die XXv Aug. A. MDCCCXXXII.
Thebis Hecatompylis avectum naviq. ad id constructa intra men -
ses xiii. in Gallia perductum erigendum curavit. D. xxv. Ocfob.
A. MDCCCXXXVI. Anno reg. seplimo.

The inscription on the western side is as follows :

En présence du Roi Louis-Philippe Ler, cet obotlisque, trans-
porté de Lougsor en France, a ¢L¢ dressé sur ce piédestal par
M. Lebas, ingénieur, aux applaudissements d’un peuple im-
mense, le xxv octobre MDCCCXXXVI.

The entire cost of removal and erection was about two mil -
lions of francs. On either side of this vencrable monument are

The two Fountains of the Place de la Concorde, dedicated,
one to Maritime, the other to Fluvial, Navigation. They consist
each of a circular basin, 50 feet in diameter, out of which rise
two other smaller basins, the upper and smaller one being in-

it took three years (from 1831 o 1833) to complele, will be best
understood by inspecling the excellent model of the country
around Luxor in the Musée de la Marine al the Louvre, which
gives an exacl idea of the road made to the Nile, the vessel con-
structed at Toulon for the purpose, &c. (see p. 173). The erce~
tion of (he obelisk on the Place de 1a Concorde and the machinery
used {Ocl, 25th, 1836) is (ully represented by another model
close by. A box of cedar, conlaining medals struck in comme-
moration of the occasion, was placed under the obhelisk. '

(1) The obelisk of the Vatican at Rome weighs 900,000 1b.

(2) For a full description of this monument, sce No:ice Histo-
rique, Descriptive, et Archéologique sur U'Obélisque de Luwor,

,
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verted ; their diameters are 12 and 20 feet respectively. The
middle basin is supported by a cylindrical shaft, ornamented
with foliage, standing on a hexagonal base. Six figures nine
feet in height are seated around it, with their feet on the prows
of vessels, and separated from each other by spouting dol-
phins. Six larger dolphins, held by as many Tritons and
Nercids, sporting in the large and highly ornamented basin
below, spout water into the second one. The shaft of the in-
verted basin is surrounded by three upright figures of winged
children, standing on inverted shells, with swans by their sides
spouting water. In the Maritime fountain, the figures sup-
porting the second basin represent the Ocean and Mediterranean,
by Debay; the Genii of the Common and the Pearl Fisheries,
by Deshceufs; with those of the Coral and Shell Fisheries, by
Valois. The figures of the upper basin, representing the Genii
of Astronomy, Commerce, and Maritime Navigation, are by
Brian. In the Fluvial fountain, the lower figures are the
Rhine and the Rhone, by Jechter; the Genii of Flowers and
Fruits, by Lanno; of the Vintage and the Ilarvest, by Husson.
The upper figures, by Feucheres, are the Genii of Agriculture,
Manufactures, and Fluvial Navigation. The Tritons and Ne-
reids are by Moine, Elschouet, and Parfait. The lower basins
are of polished stone, and the remainder of each fountain is of
iron, bronzed by galvanism. The water of these fountains
comes from the Plaine de Monceaux (see p. 204.)

The Place de la Concorde forms a beautiful link between the
Tuileries and the Champs Elysées. On the north are two
palaces, between which the rue Royale opens a view of the
Madeleine; to the south are the Pont de la Concorde, and
the Legislative Palace, behind which is seen towering the
dome of the Invalides. The two edifices on the north side
are cach 288 fcet in length ; and the rue Royale, which
separates them, is 96 feet wide. In cach, the upper story,
flanked with projecting pavilions, is adorned with 12 Corin~
thian columns resting on a rusticated arcaded basement. These
structures were erected by Potain, after the designs of Gabriel.
The building nearest 1o the garden of the Tuileries was formerly
occupied as the Garde-Meuble de la Couronne. Under Napoleon,
it was appropriated to the residence and offices of the MINISTER
OF MARINE (see p. 59); who still inhabits it. The building on
the other side of the ruc Royale is inhabited by private
families. The events that have rendered the Place de la Con-
corde famous are so identified with it, that we shall mention
the principal onesin chronological order :—

May 30, {770.—During the rejoici in honour of the marriage of Louis
XVI., a fatal accident was caused, after a discharge of fireworks, by the peo-
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le taking & panic, in consequence of carriages driving among the crowd,

gnd rushing t%wards the rueg{oyale. where the groundsmd geeﬁ Proken Ui

for building; 1200 persons were trampled to death, and abont 2000 others

geriously injiured—an ominous commencement of nuptial honds, to bé cri-
clly severed by the guillotine ! X

JoLy 12, 1789.—A collision between Prince de Lambesc’s regiment and the
people became the signal for the destruction of the Bastille.

JAN. 21, 1793.—Louis X V1. suffered death on this Place, (1) where the fol-
lowing persons also subsequently perished by the guillotine: July 17, Char-
lotte Corday; Oct, 2, Brissortl and 29 of His colleagues* Oct. 16, Marie Antoi-
nette, consort of Louis XV1.; Nov. 14, Louis Philippe Joseph Egalit¢, Duke of
Orleans; March 24, 1794, the Hebertists, Maratists, and Orleanists; April 8,
the Dantonists, including Danton, Camiile Desmoulins, cte.* April 16, the
Atheists, composed of Chaunietite, Anacharsis Clootz, the wives of Camilio
Desmoulins, of Hébert, ete.; May 12, Elisabeth Marie 11éleénc of France, sister
of Louis XVI.: July 28, Robespierre and his brother, Dumas, L. Just, and
Couthon, members of the Cemmiltee of Public Safety, with sev
July 29. seventy members of the Commune de Paris: July 39, twelve
members, From Jan. 21, 1793, to May 3, 1795; more than 2800 persons were

executed here.

APRIL 10, 1814.—The Russians, Prussians, and Austrians were reviewed,
and Te Deum was sung at an altar on this Place.

FRa. 23, 1 848.—The first disturbances thal ushered in the memorable re-
volution of that year took place here,

FEs. 24, 1848.—Flight of Louis Philippe and his family by the western en-
trance of the Tuileries Garden.

Nov. 4, 1848.—The Constitution of the Republic was solemnly proclaimed
here, in the presence of the Constituent Assembly.

Tue Cuames Evvsées were formerly covered with small
detached houses and gardens, meadows, and arable land. In
1616, the queen mother, Marie de Médicis, caused three alleys
of trces to be planted, closed at the extremities by iron gates.
This promenade, intended exclusively for that princess and her
court, assumed the name of Cours la Reine, which it still re-
tains. It extends along the banks of the Seine, from which it
is separated by the high road leading to Versailles. On the
other side it was divided by ditches from a plain, with which
a communication was formed by a small stone bridge. In
1670, this plain, which extended to the village du Roule, was
by order of Colbert planted with trecs, interspersed with grass
plots. The new promenade was first called le Grand Cours,
and soon after Avenue des Champs Elysées. Madame de Pom-
padour, having become proprietor of the hotel now called
the Palais de I'Elysée Napoléon, caused Colbert’s plantation
to be cut down ; but after her dcath, in 1764, the ground was
replanted, several alleys formed, and restaurants and cafes
erected. From 1777 to 1780, the ChampsFlysées were the fash-
ionable promenade. A sequestered avenue in the neighhourhood
was called Allée des Veuves, from its being filled in the afternoon
with carriages of rich widows in mourning, who, being by
custom excluded from the public walks, used to congregate
here to relieve their sorrow. In 1814, a Cossack bivouac was
established in the Champs Elysées; and, in 1815, the English

(1) The scaffold for the execution of Louis X VI, was crected midway between

the centre of the place and the horses of Mariy; that for Marie Antoinette,
betwoen the centre and the gate of the Tuflerics.
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encamped there. In 1818, the walks of the Champs Elysées
were improved, and young trees planted to replace those de-
stroyed during the occupation. At this time an open space
called the Carré Marigny was cleared, affording a fine view of
the Hotel des Invalides. This spot is now occupied by the

PaLAls DE L’INDUSTRIE.—This palace was built in 1852-55
by a company for the purpose of imitating the noble example
set by England in 1851, when the first Universal Exhibition of
all nations was held ; and also to provide a permanent build-
ing for the quinquennial Exhibitions of the National Manufac-
tures of France (1). It has since been purchased by govern-
ment, and is used for exhibitions and agricultural shows. The
Imperial Commission for the great London Exhibition of 1862
had its offices here. The architect was M. Viel (2).

Exterior of the Palace.—The plan of the building is a vast
rectangle, with two projecting central and four corner pavi-

(1) The first Exhibition of the kind occurred in Paris on the
Champ de Mars in 1798. It lasted only a week, and only 110
exhibitors availed themselves of the opportunity. Another was
held in 1801, and hoasted 220 exhibitors; in 1802 there were
540. The fourth exhibition did not take place until 1806, when
there were 1122 exhibitors. They were then suspended until 1819,
and others were held in 1823 and 1827. From 1834 they be-
came quinquennial, their duration being fixed at two months.

(2) 1t was inaugurated on the 15th of May 1855, by tihe
opening of the Great Exhibition of the manufactures of all
nations, where England was represented by 2,600 exhibitors.
A vast supplementary building had to be erected along the
Quay, with other additions, in order to oblain the necessary
space of 1,168,463 square metres. The fotal number of exhibi-
tors was 25,000, and of rewards 6,841, exclusive of 224 Crosses
of the Legion of Honour, and 4,222 honourable mentions.

During the 198 days the Exhibition lasted, the number of
visitors was 4,533,464. The total receipts amounted to 2,94 ,668
fr. The Rotunda of the Panorama was reserved for the most
precious articles, and for the crown jewels. Of these, the finest
18 the Régent, purchased, in 1748, by Philippe II., Duke of Orleans;
It weighs 136 carats, and is valued at about 5,000,000 fr. The
precious stones of the State are 64,842 in number, weighing
18,751 carats, and worth 20,900,260fr. The crown has 5206
brilliants, 4146 rose-diamonds, and 59 saphirs, value 44,702,708 fr,
Next comes a sword with 41506 roses, valued at 264,165 fr.; a
clasp with 247 brilliants, value 273,149 fr.; a sword with 4376
brilliants, value 244,874 fr.; a clasp for a cloak, mounted with an
opal valued at 37,500 fr.; and 497 brilliants worth 30,605 fr.; and
a button for the hat, with 24 brilliants, worth 240,700 fr. Among
the articles for ladies are four head-dresses, value 1,465,163 fr.,
293,758 fr., 283,846 fr., and 130,820 fr.; a brilliant necklace worth
133,900 fr., and some wheat-ears valued at 194,475 fr,
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lions. The central pavilion facing the Avenue des Champs Ely-
sées contains the principal entrance, a lofty arch of forty-five
feet span, and measuring sixty feet from the ground to the key-
stone. It is flanked with coupled Corinthian columns, above
which rises an attic surmounted by a magnificent group, by
Robert, representing France in the act of awarding laurels to
Art and Manufacture. On either side of this group are genii
supporting escutcheons charged with the imperial arms and
initials. The frieze below, sculptured in relief by Desbceufs,
represents the Arts and Manufactures bringing their productions
to the exhibition ; under the cornice of the entablature are the
words : A U'Industrie et aux Arts. Two tigures of Fame, by
M. Dieboldt, adorn the spandrils of the arch. A propyleum
under the arch contains three doors, giving access to the inte-
rior, and surmounted by an arched window, decorated with a
group, in alto rilievo, by Vilain, representing Commerce, Agri-
culture, Manufacture, and Art, over which the imperial eagle
spreads out its wings. This principal entrance is flanked on
cither side by two tiers of large arched windows, which are
continued all round the building, numbering 598 in all. The
spandrils of the upper tier are adorned with escutcheons bear-
ing the names of various towns on bars traversant ; those of
the lower with medallions displaying the initials of the Empe-
ror and Empress, or portraits of eminent men. On the frieze
which intervenes between the tiers we read the names of Phi-
dias, Vitruvius, De Caus, Watt, Franklin, Monge, and other
celebrated men, in gilt letters. Fronting the principal facade
are two elegant fountains encircled with flower-beds, and the
ground towards the Seine, as indeed the whole of the Champs
Elysées, has also been laid out in pleasant walks and grass-plots.
Interior.—Except the outer walls, the main building,
simple in design, is entirely constructed of iron and roofed
with glass. A central rectangular nave, 35 metres inheight, with
a surface of 192 metres in length and 48 in breadth, is sur-
rounded by three aisles of an aggregate breadth of 30 metres,
and formed by four rows of iron columns, 288 in number, sup-
porting a spacious gallery 30 metres wide, transmitting light to
the ground-floor through rectangular skylights. This gallery,
to which a splendid three-hranched double-staircase in the
main central pavilion, and five other elegant staircases in the
corner and southern pavilions, give access, has 216 columns,
supporting the arched roofs both of the nave and aisles. The
central roof terminates in two vertical segments, containing
two stained glass paintings of indifferent execution, represent-
¥ing France convening all Nations to the Exhibition, and
Equity presiding over the Increase of Exchange,
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Facing the western extremity of this palace a building has
been erected by the city for the exhibition of panoramic views,
It covers a space of 1,750 square metres; the canvas new
exhibited, on which episodes of the Crimean war are exe-
cuted, is 1,680 metres in length.

The Avenue des Champs Elysées, with its foot-pavements in
bitumen, 12 fect wide, intersects the Champs Elysées ; its
length is a mile and a quarter. Bisecting the Avenue, is the
Rond Point, a circular space, surrounded by six basins embel-
lished with shrubs and flowers, from which the rues Montaigne
and Matignon branch out to the north, and the Allées d’Antin
and des Veuves (now called Avenue Montaigne)to the south,
intersecting the Cours la Reine. The Avenue de Marigny,
nearly opposite to the Palais de I'Industrie, leads to the Elysée
Napoléon (see p. 197.)

By far the most animated part of the Champs Elysées is the
Avenue des Champs Elysées, which is the favourite walk of
the gay Parisians. On Sundays and holidays in particular
the shopkeeper and workman may be scen here jostling the
lion of the boulevards, while aristocratic velvets and cashmere
shawls mect in close contact with humble merinos and coarse
tartans. Under the groves are toy and gingerbread stalls,
jeux de bagues, and other attractions for the rising generation ;
jugglers and itinerant tumblers attract a willing and ever-
changing crowd of spectators, while Punch squeaks his secular
jokes to his delighted juvenile audience. On sunny winter-
days, or ¢ool summer-evenings, numerous parties of all classes
arc seen, enjoying the lively spectacle before them, scated
on iron chairs hired for 3 or 4 sous, or on the wooden henches
placed at intervals on the sides of the avenue, while clegant
carriages roll in procession along the road. Handsome coffee-
houses, scattered among the trees on cither side, attract the
loiterer by their cheerful lights, varicd refreshments, and vocal
and instrumental music. In the northern grove is the Cirque
de U'Impérairice, devoled to feats of horsemanship; and facing
it, the Folies Marigny, a small theatre for vaudevilles, pan-
lomimes, ete. The former only open in summer. There are
several elegant fountains, some surrounded with flower-beds,
under each of the groves. The effect of the double line of lamps,
along the carriage-road, after dark is splendid. The Jar-
din Mabille, in the Avenuc Montaigne, and the Chdteau des
Fleurs, (1) near the Arc de I'Etoile, are somewhat like the
Cremorne Gardens. Beyond the Rond Point there is the

(1) It was right oppesile to this place, in the Avenue, that,
an odious attempt on the life of the present Emperor took®
place (April 28ih, 1855.) His Majesty was passing on horseback,
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splendid mansion of Count Lehon. The public fétes are
held in the Champs Elysées; (1) and here also takes place
the celebrated annual Promenade de Longchamp, on the Wed-
nesday, Thursday, and Friday of Passion Week, extending
ir‘o the Bois de Boulogne. The carriages, which on these
days are much more numerous, proceed in line up one side
of the Grande Allée, and down the other. (2)

The Avenue d'Antin leads to the Pont des Invalides.
In the Cours la Rejne to the right, we see a house displaying
decorations by Jean Goujon from a seat which Francis I.
built at Moret, near Fontainebleau, in 1527, for his sister Mar-
garet. It bears the following inscription :

Qui scit frenare linguam, sensumque domare,
Fortior est illo qui frangit viribus urbes.
Inst. 1528, et rest. 1826.

The frieze over the ground floor is adorned with bacchanalian
bas-reliefs, and with 7 medallions hearing the portraits of
Louis XII., Anne dc Bretagne, Francis II., Margueritc de Na-
varre, Henri II., Diane de Poitiers, and Francis 1. Numerous

when the assassin Pianori, alias Liverani, approached, as if 1o
present a petition, and, taking off his hat, drew a double-bar-
relled pistol from his bosom and discharged it at the Emperor.
Eye-wilnesses state thal His Majesty, withoul displaying the
slightest emotion, immediately furned his horse towards the
assassin, who was in the act of making his escape, and rode
after him, when Pianori was seized, while drawing another pis-
tol from his pockel, by a Corsican police-ofticer, named Ales-
sandri, and after a siruggle, during which the captor had 1o in-
flict a wound upon him with a poniard, was at length secured
by the aid of other people who had hastened to the spot.

(1) The City clears 50,000 fr. a-year from ihe rents paid for
the places of amuscment and refreshment. The owners of the
chairs let to the public pay 10,000 fr. a-year,

(2) In the Bois de Boulogne, an ahbey, called Abbaye de Long-
champ, was founded in 1261, by Isabella of France, sister of St.
Louis, of which little notice was (aken till {the middle of the
eighteenth century, when a melodious choir of nuns attracted
the attention of amaleurs. The church of the abbey was fre-
quented, and in Passion Week it became the fashion for the
haut ton {o attend it in stale. As the sums collecled were
very congiderable, and might be still further augmented, the
principal singers of the Opera were invited to assist in chaniing
the lamentations and Tenebre. This allraction however gra-
dually passed away, the church of Longchamp was deserted,
but the Parisian nobility still flocked to the Bois de Boulogne.
The early scenes of the revolution of 1789 suspended for a while
this annual pageant, until after the t1sth Brumaire, when the
promenade of Longchamp was resumer
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escutcheons adorn the other parts. Close to this is an elegant
hotel, belonging to Mme. Alboni, the celebrated singer. (1) -

The next object of interest we meet is the ’

PONT DE L’ALMA, finished in 1856 at a cost of 1,200,000
francs. It has three stone arches, and elegant bhalwstrades
Its piers are adorned with four sfatues, representing a zouave,
a soldier of the line, an artilleryman, and a chasseur ; the
two former by Dieboldt, and the latter by Arnaud.

Proceeding a few steps into the Avenue dc Montaigne oppo-
site, we see, at No. 20, Prince Soltikoff’s mansion, in the
taste of the middle ages, and at No. 18 .

PRINCE NAPOLEON’S PALACE, built in the style of the
house of Diomedes, at Pompeii, after the designs of M. Nor-
mand. It is fronted by an iron railing and flower-beds ; the
principal entrance is under a composite portico, with its frieze
displaying the initials of the Prince, encircled with palms and
roses. The narrow windows above the portico denote the
place of what in ancient times would have been the gyneceum.
Right and left stand the bronze statues of Achilles and Minerva.
On the floor of the portico is the figure of a dog, with
the motto Cave Canem! On eatering the vestibule we see
the Goddess Panthaa, painted on a pancl to the right of the
entrance of the atrium, and the Goddess Hygaia to the left,
under the form of a serpent. The lateral walls are painted
in fresco, in three compartments each, representing the seasons ;
the intermediate spaces and the fricze arc adorned with wreaths
tastefully interspersed with birds, animals, ctc., all borrowed
from the antique paintings of Pompeii. To the right of the
vestibule is the staircase. The atrium, or inner court, is rec-
tangular ; its sides running parallel to those of a central basin
of white marble, the émpluvium of the ancients. At the four
corners of this basin four composite columns support a rich en-
tablature running all round, and bordering a terracc above,
thus forming the compluvium, which, however, contrary to
the custom of the Ancients, is here glazed over. Benches of
white marble stand between the columns ; the floor here and
in the other rooms is paved with marble lozenges of three
colours, white, yellow, and biack. Opposite the entrance,
and bordering on the basin, stands the full-length statue of
Napoleon 1., by Guillaume; the busts of his brothers and
other relations are arranged along the walls. They are, be-
ginning from the right, 1, Jerome; 2, Catherine; 3, Marie

(1) A railway for omnibuses drawn by horses, and carrying
50 passengers, at a small charge, according to distance, extends
along the Cours la Reine, from the Place de la Concorde to the
Bois de Boulognc, St. Cloud and Versailles.
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Louise ; 4, Charles Bonaparte; 5, Letitia; 6, Joséphine ; 7,
Joseph; 8, Elise; 9, Lucien; 10, Louis; f1, Pauline; 12,
Caroline. Many of these busts are by Canova. They here
supply the place of the Majorum Species, or effigies of the
ancestors, among the ancients. The walls are covered with
frescoes, the subjects of which are borrowed from Hesiod’s
Theogonia, and are distributed insix compartments besides the
friezes. They represent the Revolt of the Titans, Nemesis, and
the Fates ; Phoebus ascending into the heavens on a car drawn
by four horses ; the Triumph of Neptune and Amphritrite ;
Zneas carrying his father Anchises ; the triumphs of Bacchus
and Ceres; Venus rising from the sca ; Minerva issuing from
the head of Jupiter ; Prometheus creating man ; Venus and
Cupid uniting Paris and Helen. All these paintings, as well as
those of the vestibule, are by M. Cornu. A door to the right
leads to the dining-room, ornamented in the Pompeian style ;
the door opposite, to the library; and that in front, to the
drawing-room, elegantly painted in imitation of rosso antico.
From this a glass-door opens into the Jardin d’hiver, an ele-
gant glazed room, communicating with the garden, and con-
taining, among other sculpture, a group representing the
three children of Prince Jerome, by Sola, and a statue of
Queen Catherine, Prince Napoleon’s mother, by Bosio. A
door to the right opens into a boudoir, containing the Prince’s
portrait, by Hébert. Adjoining is Princess Clotilda’s bed-
room, with sky-blue and yellow furniture. Next follows a
Turkish bath-room, preceded by a toilel-room, with Arabic
inscriptions. On the opposite side of the Jardin d’hiver are
the Drince’s study, with glass presses, containing several
antique curiositics ; the Salle de gymnastique, with fancy
arms, and a bath-room adjoining, with a large basin for
swimming in winter, and a marble statue of a nymph, by
Aiselin ; the Prince’s bed-room, and lastly, his picture gallery,
a fine room, containing many valuable and interesting pieces.
A fee, though not exacted, is expected. For tickets, apply to
the secretary of the Prince, at the Palais Royal.
Continuing along the Quai de Billy, we see at No. 4 the
PomMPE A FEU DE CHAILLOT, for supplying the lakes of the
Bois de Boulogne and various fountains with Seine water.
Erected in 1778, by Messrs. Périer, it now possesses a gi-
gantic reservoir having a surface of 6,000 square metres, and
a capacity of 25,000 cubic metres ; above which rise two other
basins resting on pillars, of a capacity of 1,200 cubic metres.
At Nos. 32-36, are the Subsistances Militaires, a general
kehouse and storehouse of provisions for the garrison. The
daily ration of bread to each soldier is 124lb. Further on is the
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PoNT DE JiNa.—This bridge, begun in 1806, after the de-
signs of M. Dillori, and under the direction of M. Lamandé,
was completed in 1813. It stands opposite the Ecole Mili-
taire, and forms a coramunication between the Quai de Billy
and the Champ de Mars (see p. 333). It consists of five ellip-
tical arches, and is 460 feot between the abulments. It has a
cornice, imitated from the temple of Mars at Rome, and wreaths
of laurel and oak, encircling the imperial eagle, adorn the
piers. Atthe extremities of the parapets are 4 colossal groups,
representing a Greek, a Roman, a Gaul, and an Arab, each
checking a spirited horse, executed respectively by MM. De-
vaulx, Daumas, Préault, and the lale M. Feucheres. (1)

The elevated plateau, on the hill side, opposite the Pont de
Jéna, called the Trocadero, once the garden of a convent, was
the intended site of a marble palace for the King of Rome. A
fine square, named after him, is to be formed here.

The visitor may here ascend the hill and turn to the right
into the rue des Batailles. Butif he be a determined pedes-
trian, he may enjoy a delightful walk by visiting

Passy, a charming village now annexed to Paris, and re-
markable for its salubrious air, extensive views and delight-
ful villas. A few steps along the Quay will bring him to No.
32, where a ferruginous spring, of some note, rises in a
garden. A large quantity of this water is bottled for sale.
The lane close by leads into the rue Basse, where Franklin re-
sided in 1788 ; a continuation of this street has received his
name. At Passy the famous Abbé Raynal died in 1796 ;
Piccini, the rival of Gluck, in 1803 ; and Bellini, the composer,
in* 1834. Lamartine, Rossini, and Mme. Grisi have built
houses here. Continuing westward, the stranger will find
Boulainvilliers, a village merged into Passy, and further on,

AUTEUIL, another pretty village annexed to Paris, studded
with villas like Passy. It was founded in the.7th centurv by
the inhabitants of a village called Némio, given to the Bishop
of Le Mans by Clotaire 1I. It was the favourite retreat of Ra-
cine, La Fontaine, Chapelle, Franklin, Helvétius, Cabanis,
Condorcet, Count Rumford, and other eminent men. An obe-
lisk on the square before the church commemorates the resi-
dence and death of the Chancellor d’Aguesseau. The church
itself is an old semi-Gothic pile ; it contains some old stained
glass and a good sepulchral bas-relief in white marble. Behind

gn) This bridge, which derives its name from the famous
battle, was threatened with destruction in 1814. At the inter-
eession of the Duke of Wellington it was spared, and ils. name
was changed to Pont des Fovalides. Since 4880 it has again re=
swmed its original one.
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the church, in the Place St. Génévieve, No. 4, is the Villa de
la Réunion (see p. 119). Molitre composed some of his
works in the street hard by, which has received his name ;
and continuing along the Grande Rue, we shall find the rue
Boileau, where No. .18 was inhabited by the great satirist.
Th. railroad round Paris here skirts the fortifications (1),
ending at the Auleuil terminus, surrounded by restaurants.
Taking a ticket for Passy, the visitor, on alighting, will see
the beautiful garden of the Chdteau de la Muette, once Crown
property, but now belonging to the widow of M. Erard, the
piano-forte manufacturer. To the right of the Railway-
station, at No. 15, is the office of the Director of the Public
‘Walks, where tickets may be obtained to visit the great hor-
ticultural establishment of the City, at 137, Avenue d Eylau.
This establishment, covering & space of 44,000 square metres,
contains 24 conservatories and 3,000 hotbeds, representing a
glazed surface of 10,000 sq. metres. Tlere all kinds of orna-
mental plants and trees for the public walks and gardens of
Paris are reared under the care of 50 workmen. It is well
worthy of a visit. The new Avenue de UEmpereur here
crosses the dvenue d'Eylau, where we find the
ARTESIAN WELL OF PAssv, commenced in 1855, under the
direction of M. Kind. 'Water was found on the 26th of May,
1861 ; but the work was persevered in until Sept. 24th, when
the supply at ouce rose to 5,000,000 gallons in 24 hours ;
it now yields 3,060,000 gallons, aund feeds the lakes of the
Rois de Boulogne conjointly with the Pompe de Chaillot. Its
waters are impregnated with iron and sulphur (see p. 334.)
The Avenue d'Eylau is skirted by various cheerful villas.
At a circular space with a fountain in the centre we find the
Hippodrome for equestrian performances (see p. 472), and a
small church built in the Lombard style. A number of
streets branch out from this Rond-point ; by one of these, the
rue des Bassins for instance, the stranger may descend into the
rue de Chaillot (2), where at No. 50 he will see the church of
ST. PIERRE DE CHAILLOT, the oldest part of which is the
choir, of the 15th century. It has five sides, and its ribs unite
in a sculptured pendant.. It is painled in the Byzantine style;
the windows are adorned with sacred subjects in modern stained
glass. The paintings in the aisles are the Flight to Egypt, by

(1) The large unfinished building bordering on this railway
is intended for a permanent Universal Exhibivion Palace.

(2) The village of Chaillot was anciently called Chail, (which
ancieni deeds translale by destructio arborwm,) and was declared
asuburb of Paris in 1659, under the name of Faubourg de la Con-
férence, The village formed part of the royal domains.
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Vignaud; Peter restoring Tabitha to life, by Smith ; the Adora-
tion of the Magi, by Gosse ; and St. Peter delivered from prison,
byDubusc. At the entrance of the choir are two angels in fresco
by Uesse ; over its arch, the Adoration of God, by Debay.

The CHAPEL MARBCEUF (Church of England), 10 bés, Avenue
Marbeeuf, opened in 1824, is a chaste specimen of the pointed
style. The interior consists of a nave, with an oaken gallery
on iron pillars. The chapel is well attended (see p. 116.)

The rue du Chemin de Versailles was called in 1848 the rue
du Banquet, from the ever-memeorable banquet prepared in
General Thiars’s grounds, on Feb. 22, and the prevention of
which ushered in the revolution of that, year.

THIRD WALX.

This comprises the eighth arrondissement, with a fraction of
the 17th. We may commence it with the Place de U'Etoile,
a vast circular space which bids fair to become in course of
time the most fashionable quarter. of Paris. It is partly sur-
rounded by a serics of elegant houses, of a uniform design,
and fronted with gardens, to be continued all round. Behind
these houses rumns a circular street, concentric with the
Place, with houses of more modest pretensions. From the
Place twelve magnificent avenues branch out in different di-
rections ; of these the principal are the Avenue des Champs
Elysées, already described, the Avenue de la Grande Armée
which continues it, the Avenue d'Eylau mentioned in the
Second Walk, and the Avenue de I'Impératrice, leading to
the Bois dc Boulogne (see p. 486). The others are still in
embryo, but will severally hear the names of Avenues du
Roi de Rome, de Jina, de UAlma, Josephine, ete. In the
centre of this magnificent spot rises the

Arc pE TrioMPHE DE L’EToILE.—The idea of this proud
monument originated with Napoleon, who decreed its erection
in 1806, and the first stone was laid on the 15th of August of
that year M. Chalgrin furnished the designs. (1) After the
death of Chalgrin in 1811, M. Goust continued his plans, but
in 1814 the works were entirely suspended, until, in 1823,
after the campaign of the Duke d’Angouléme in Spain, it was
determined to finish the arch in honour of his victories, and
Messrs. Huyot and Goust were charged with its completion.

(1) On the marriage of Napoleon 1. with Maria Louisa, and her
triumphal entry into the capital, there was an immense model

in wood and canvas of this arch temporarily erected and bril-
liantly illuminated.
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In 1828, the entablature was finished, but the whole was not
completed until July, 1836. The total cost was 10,432,800
francs, or £417,812. The monument consists of a vast
central arch, 9oft. in height by 45ft. in width, over which
rires a bold entablature and an attic. There is also a trans-
versal arch, 57ft. high and 25ft. wide ; the total height of the
structure is 152ft., its breadth and depth are 137ft. and 68ft.
respectively. The fronts of the building are towards the Champs
Elysées and Neuilly. Each pier of the principal fronts is orna-
mented with a projecting pedestal, supporting groups of
figures, in alto-rilievo. The spandrils and frieze are enriched
with reliefs, and the attic is divided into compartments with
circular shields, each inscribed with the name of some great
victory. The internal sides of all the piers are inscribed with
the names of 96 victories ; under the transversal arches with
the names of generals. The northern pier of theeastern front
bears a group, by Rude, rcpresenting the departure of the
army in 1792 : the Genius of War summons the nation to
arms. The dimensions of this and the other groups are in
total height 36ft., and each figure 18ft. The next group, by
Cortot, represents the triumph of 1810: Victory crowning
Napoleon. Fame surmounts the whole, and History records
his deeds; vanquished towns are at his feet. The groups of
the western front, both by Etex, represent: 1. the resistance
of the French nation to the invading armies in 1814 ; a young
man is seen defending his wife, his children, and his father ;
a warrior is falling slain from his horse; and the Genius of
the Future encourages them to action. 2. the peace of 1815
a warrior is seen sheathing his sword ; another is taming a
bull for purposes of agriculture, while a mother and children
are seated at their fect, and Minerva shedding over them her
protecting influcnce. (1) The most admired ornaments of
this arch are the alti-rilievi of the compartments above the
impost-cornice ; they are chiefly valuable as faithful repre-
sentations of the uniforms of the time. The southern
compartment of the eastern side represents the surrender
of Mustapha Pacha at the battle of Aboukir, by M. Seurre,
sen. The principal figures of these compartments are about
oft. high. The northern compartment of the same side
is filled with a group of the death of General Marceau, by M.
Lemaire. Above the arch and impost-cornice of the northern side
of the monument is the battle of Austerlitz, by Jechter. On
the western front, the northern alto-rilievo is the taking of
Alexandria, by Chaponniére. The other group is the p e
of the bridge of Arcola, by Feuchéres. On the southe::e:ige

(1) M. Etex was paid 140,000 fr. for the {wo groups !
13
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of the building is a representation of the battle of Jemmapes,
by Marocchetti. Behind General Dumouriez is a lportrait of
Louis Philipne, then Duc de Chartres. The figures of Fame in
the spandrils of the main arch on each side are by M, Pradier.
They are 18ft. in height. The frieze is occupied on the eistern,
and on half of the northern and southern sides, by the departure
of the armies: the deputics of the nation, grouped round the
altar of the country, distribute flags to the troops. There are
portraits of all the great characters of the epoch 1790-2, in-
cluded in this composition. The corresponding portions of the
frieze on the other sides of the building represent the return of
the armies, who offer the fruit of their victories to regener-
ated France. This long composition is the work of several
artists—Messrs. Brun, Laitié, Jacquot, Caillouctie, Seurre, and
Rude. The serics of shiclds, thirty in number, inscribed each
with a victory, on the attic above the entablature, begins with
Valmy, and ends with Ligny. The spandrils of the transversal
arches represent the infantry and cavalry of the French armies,
by Messrs. Bra and Valois respectively ; and on their interior
spandrils are the artillery and the marine, by Messrs. De Bay
and Searrc. The groups on the other arches represent the
conquests of the armies of the North, Last, West, and South;
the names of the Generals are placed beneath, numbering alto-
gether 384. Winding staircases in the two eastern piers
lcad to scveral halls; the last contains in one of the cross
vaults the following inscriplion - —

Ce monumenl, commencé en 1806, cn Phonneur de la Grande
Armée, longtemps inferrompu, conlinué en 1823 avec une dé-
dicace nouvelle, a é18 achevéen 1836, . . . . . . . .
qui I'a consacré & la gloire des Armées Francaises.

Before 1852, the blank contained these words : ¢“ Par le roi

Louis Philippe I'r.”

From the platform at the top of the arch one of th finest
views of Paris and its environs may be enjoyed. The total
 mumber of steps is 272.  The monument is open till dusk. A
" small fee is given by parties ascending to the top.

From the Arc de I’Etoile, the Avenue de la Grande Armée
leads to the Neuilly gate. Immediately outside the fortifica-
tions, on the left hand, is the Porte Maillot, one of the prin-
cipal entrances to the Bois de Boulogne (see p. 486), and at
No. 10, in the Route de la Révelte, opposite, is the

CHaPEL OF St. FERDINAND, the scene of the melancholy
death of the Duke of Orleans, on 13th July, 1842, (1)—The

{4) A brief notice of this sad event will not be deemed irre-
fevant in this place. The Duke left Paris in the foreneon, in a
light open carriage, with a postilion, intending to take leave of



CHAPELLE DE ST. .FERDINAND. 195

house in which the Duke expired, with some adjoining property,

ing purchased by the crown, Messrs. Lefranc and Fontaine, .
architects, erected on its site the present chapel, dedicated to
St. Ferdinand, which was begun on August 21, 1842, and
consecrated on July 11 following, in the presence of the royal
fawiily, by the Archbishop of Paris, the same who fell in the
insurrection of June 1848. The building, 50 feet long by
20 in height, is of stone, surmounted by a cross, and is in
the Lombard Gothic style, resembling an ancient mausoleum,
On the high altar is a Descent from the Cross, in marble, by
Triquetti. On the left is another altar, dedicated to St. Fer-
dinand, and corresponding to it on the right is a marble group
representing the Prince on his death-bed, and knecling at
his head is an angel in fervent supplication, as if imploring
the divine commiseration on the sufferer. The monogram MO
reveals that this beautiful ¢“ spirit” was the work of his deceased
sister, the Princess Marie, who little thought for whose tomb she
was executing it! The remainder of the group is by Triquetti,
after a drawing of M. Ary Scheffer. Underncath is a bas-relief
representing France leaning over a funereal urn, deploring her
great loss; the French ﬂagis at her feet. This monument stands
on the spot where the Prince breathed his last. -‘Three circular
windows corresponding to the sides of the cross represent respec-
tively Faith, Hope, and Charity, in stained glass. The
remaining 14 pointed windows represent, in stained glass
also, the patron saints of the different members of the Royal
family, viz. : in front St. Amelia and St. Ferdinand ; St. Louis
and St. Philip the Apostle; in thetransept to the right St. Helen
and St. Henry; in that to the left St. Rupert and St. Charles
Borromeo; in the nave to the right St. Francis of Assise, St.
Adelaide, and St. Raphael; to the left St. Anthony of Padua,
St. Rosalie, and St. Clement of Alexandria. Descending a few
the royal family at Neuilly, and then to proceed to the camp at
St. Omer. As he approached the Porte Maillot, the horses took
fright. The postilion seeming to lose his command over them,
the Duke called out, ¢ Are you master of your horses?’ ¢ Sir,
I guide them,” was the reply. After a few minutes the Duke
again said, ‘‘ I am afraid you cannot hold them.” The answer
was, ‘I cannot, Sir.” The Duke then endeavoured to get out
of the earriage, but, his feet becoming entangled in his eloak,
he was precipitated {o the ground, and his head was dread-
fully fractured. He was conveyed to the house of M. Lecordier,
a grocer, where at 10 minutes past 4 o’clock of the same after-
noon he hreathed his last, unconscious of the grief that sur-
rounded him, and apparently without pain. The royal family,
with the exception of the Queen of the Belgians, the Prinee de
Joinville, then at Naples, and the Duchess of Orleans, who was
at Plombiéres, wera witnesses of this heart-rending seens.
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steps behind the altar of the Virgin, the visitor will find himself
in the sacristy of the chapel. Low oaken presses and a confes-
sional of the simplest construction, a chair and prayer-desk co-
vered with black, and an ivory crucifix, form its only furni-
tare. Opposite the door is a picture of the size of life, by M.
C. Jacquand, representing the death scene. In the centre is the
Duke stretched on a bed, his head supported by the physicians;
his father is kneeling opposite, eyeing him with the stupor of
grief. The Queen and Princess Clementine are kneeling be-
side the bed, while the Dukes of Aumale and Montpen-
sier, Marshals Soult and Gerard, and the Curé of Neuilly
form an affecting group on the left. The other persons
present are Generals Atthalin, Gourgaud, de Rumigny, the
Duc Pasquier, M. Martin (du Nord), and M. Guizot. Dr.
Paquet is supporting the head of the patient. Next to him is
Dr. Destouches, remarkable for his resemblance to M. Thiers.
In front of the Chapel, and separated from it by an open
court, are four rooms, where the late royal family used to
meet, Of these, only one is visible now, the others being
inhabited by the priest entrusted with the service of the
Chapel. Here are seen a richly embroidered cushion ex-
pressly made for the consecration of the Chapel, and never
used since; a clock in a black marble case surmounted by an
urn, marking 10 minutes past four, the time of the Duke’s
death; and asecond clock surmounted by a bronze figure re-
presenting France leaning over a broken column in the attitude
of mourning; it marks 10 minutes to 12, the hour at which
the Prince fell. On the column are the initials F. P. 0., and
the date, July 13, 1842, Here is also a pirogue brought over
from Brazil by the Duc de Joinville, as a present to the Duc
@’Orléans ; it was bought in by order of his widow at the
sale of the Orleans property, A hemicycle of cypresses, facing
the court, is graced with a cedar-tree, brought from M .ount
Lebanon by the Duke of Orleans, then Duke of Chartres, and
transplanted here by his son, the Count of Paris. Admission
daily from 10 to 4; a fee is expected.

In the adjoining Avenue des Ternes, at the corner of the
rue d’Armaille, we find the EcLISE St. FERDINAND. The
fagade is in the Lombard style, with a square belfry ending
in a spire. The interior is Doric, and consists of a nave and
two aisles. Architect M. Lequeux.

Further down, a new circular fountain occupies the centre
of a square formed on the site of the old Barriére. At No.
157, rue du Faubourg St. Honoré, is the :

CHAPELLE DE BEAUJON,—erectedin 1780, by Nicholas Beau-
jon, receiver of the finances, who in 1784 founded the
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HopiTAL BeAUiON, No. 208, nearly opposite, for 24 or-
phans of the parish du Roule, 12 boys and 12 girls, endowing
it with 20,000 livres annually. The Convention converted
it into an hospital, under the name of Hopital du Roule.
Tie council-general of hospitals restored its former hame, but
not its primitive destination. The original building, constructed
after the designs of Girardin, is 96 feet in length towards the
street, by 144 in depth, and has a ground floor, with three
stories. ~Strangers may visit it daily from 2 to 4 (see p. 140).

At No. 21, rue de Berri, is the AMERICAN CHAPEL, a tasteful
Gothic building ; and, returning to the rue du Faubourg St.
Honoré, a few steps will bring him to the church of

St. PHILIPPE, built by Chalgrin in 1784. The front con-.
sists of 4 Doric columns crowned by a pediment, adorned with
a figure of Religion in alto-rilievo. In the interior, 164 feet
long by 78 in breadth, 16 Tonic colwnns separate the nave
from the aisles, and ¢ more enclose the choir, hehind which
is the chapel of the Virgin, painted by Jacquand, in com-
partments ({). The semi-cupola of the choir is adorned with
a fresco by M. Chasseriau, representing the Descent from the
Cross. The altar is of white marble, with bas-reliefs, by the
Abbé Roger, in three compartments, representing the Sacrifice
of Abraham, Jesus accepting the instruments of the Passion, and
the Entombment. On the sides are Moses, Aaron, St. Philip,
and St. James. The Martyrdom of St. James, by Degeorge,
and Matthew the Evangelist, by Leloir, are in the aisles.

At No. 24, rue de Courcelles, is the mansion of Princess
Matilda, lately the property of Queen Christina of Spain.

Further on, in the semicircular PLACE BEAUVEAU, is the
hotel of that name, occupied by the Home-office, and nearly
opposite, in the rue du Faubourg St. Honoré, 55, is the

PaLals DE L’ELYSEE NaroLEoN.—This hotel, constructed in
1718, after the designs of Molet, for the Count d’Evreux, was
afterwards purchased and occupied by Madame de Pompadour,
mistress of Louis XV. At her death Louis XV. bought it of
the Marquis de Marigny. In 1773,M. Beaujon, the banker, en-
larged and embellished it, after whose death the Duchess of

(1) The subjects are, beginning from the left :—1. The Adora-
tion of the Virgin; 2. Christ disputing in the Temple; 3. the
Holy Family; 4. the Visit to Elizabeth; 3. the Education of
Christ ; ¢. the Death of the Virgin; 7. Mater Dolorosa; 8.
* Wist ye not that 1 must be about my Father’s business>™
(Luke ii., 49); 9. the Flight into Egypt; 1o0. the Virgin the
Refuge of Sinmers. Each of these subjects is surmounted by an
angel with some altribnte, and the semi-cupola represents
Christ crowning the Virgin.
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* Bourbon purchased and occupied it till 1790. In 1792, it was
declared national property, and in the following year was used
as the government printing-office. In 1800 it wassold, and con-
verted into a place of public entertainment. Murat bought
itin 1804, and resided there until his departure for Naples,
when it again became the property of the government, and was

_a favourite residence of Napoleon I. In 1814 and 1815 it
was inhabited by the Emperor of Russia, and by the Duke of
Wellinglon. 'When Napolcon returned from Elba, he occupied
it until after the defcat of Waterloo. In 1816, Louis XVIII.

“gave it to the Duke de Berri, on whose assassination it de-

_scended 1o the Duke de Bordeaux, and now again belongs to
the State. It was the official residence of the present Emperor,
while President of the French Republic. This palace has lately
received important additions, and been completcly insulated
by the opening of a new strect on its eastern side, on the site
once occupied by Marshal Sébastiani’s palace. The Porte
d’Honneur, or entrance-gate facing the street, is flanked
by two side-doors, and adorned with eight Ionic columns
supporting. an arch with the Imperial arms. There are
five courts, of which the principal one, called the Cour
d’ Honneur, leads to the entrance of the palace, adorned
with a portico of four Doric columns, supporting a Corinthian
onc on the upper story. A broad flight of steps overspread
by a verandah, gives access to a vestibule containing a statue
of Apollo, and opening into the suite of apartments on the ground
floor, commencing with a dining-room 50 feet by 20, orna-
mented with Corinthian columns and pilasters richly gilt. The
walls of this apartment are painted by Dunouy with landscapes,
some of the tigures of which are by Vernet, and were executed
for Murat. The views represented are : the Pyramids of Egypt,
the passing of the Tiber, the Chateau de Benrad, on the Rhine,
near Dusseldorf, once occupied by Murat (the carriage in the
foreground contains Murat’s children), and a view of the cha-
teau de Neuilly, at that time also Murat’s property; a female
figure in the foreground is said to be a good portrait of Mme.
Murat, the sister of Napoleon. This room gives access to a
Ball-room of recent erection, in the new wing of the palace,
towards the Avenue de Marigny. It is of Corinthian archi-
tecture, with a coved ceiling, the corners of which are adorned
with eagles supporting escutcheons charged with the monogram
N.E. It has six lofty arched windows looking into the garden,
and corresponding to them, on the opposite wall, are as many
mirrors of equal size and form, while another colossal one-oc-
cupies the wall opposite to the entrance. Returning to the
Dining-room, a door to the left leads to the State-apartments.
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The Salle de Réception was used by Napoleon'I. as a council-
chamber. Adjoining is the Chambre de Napoléon I. This
was his favourite bed-room, where he last slept in Paris after
the hattle of Waterloo, Next comes the Salle des Souverains,
formerly the Salon de Travail, where Napoleon 1. signed his
Jast abdication. Here ler Majesty Queen Victoria partook of
a splendid collation on the 20th Aug. 1855. In a room ad-
joining is a record of the intermational festival given by the
Court of Aldermen in 1851. (1) Yrom the grand vestibule
the principal staircascleads to the apariments of the upper story,
which, under the able direction of M. Eugene Lacroix, the ar-
chitect of the palace, has become a gem of clegance and
splendour. In the first room the eminent landscape painter,
M. Gallier, has added some of his finest pieces of Italian
scenery to the landscapes of Houel, a distinguished painter of
the last century. The following saloons, progressively in-
creasing in richness and decoration, are now awaiting the ar-
tistical tapestry executing at the Gobelins, which is to fill their
gorgeous frames.  Irom the central saloon of this story, three
arcades afford a view of the charming scenery of the garden,
which is reflected like a well conceived picture in the large
mirrors covering the wall opposite.  All the pancls are richly
decorated with arabesques and garlands on a gold ground, en-
compassing figures of women and children, symbolising the
four seasons. These subjects, remarkable for heir graceful
attitudes, purity of outline, and suavily of colour and tinish,
are due to the gifted pencil of M. Gariot, who has surpassed
himself in the conscientious execulion of this work. In the
next saloon the same system of arabesques has been continued,
but softened down, so that they may harmonize with the
tapestry which is to occupy the panels. This suite of saloons
is terminated by a toilet-room, the walls of which arc covered
by a continuity of mirrors, on which M. Chaplin has cxecuted
various figures of goddesses disguised as shepherdesses, as aerial
as the ground on which they are painted, and the light scroll
work which encircles them. The decorative paintings are
by M. Godon, and M. Savreux’s ornamental sculpture pro-
fuscly decorates hoth the exterior and interior of the edifice.
The Salon des Quatre Saisons was arranged by Mme.
Murat, for the reception of her husband after one of his cam-
paigns. This was the Ded-room of the Empress Maria

(4) This was the Dépit des Cartes Géographiques of Napoleon 1.
The other rooms were the Petits Appartemenis, once occupied hy
the Due de Berri.  The Emperor Alexauder 1. slepl here during
the occupation of the Allies, and Ibrahkim Pasha inhabited these
apartments in 1846,
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Louisa, and here also was born the sister of the Duke of Bor-
deaux. Adjoining i8 a suite of rooms for the accommodation
of a dame d’honneur, &c. These were- the apartments inha-
bited in 1846 by the Prince de Salerno. The southern front
of the palace is composed of a central pavilion with four Ionic
columns on the basement story, and as many Corinthian ones
on the upper. The garden opens into the Avenue de Ma-
rigny. This palace is not visible for the present. At No. 5
in the rue d’Aguesseau, is

The EpiscoPAL CHURCH, for the usc of the British embassy
and residents.—Its style is Gothic; it consists of a nave, 50
feet high, and is lighted by stained windows at each end, and
by skylights. The altar is ornamented with a fine painting by
Annibal Carracci. This church was built in 1833, at theexpense
of Bishop Luscombe, then chaplain of the embassy, after a plan
of his own. It will hold a congregation of upwards of 800
persons (see p. 116).

At No. 41,in the rue du Faubourg St. Honoré, is the splendid
hotel of the Baroness Pontalba. Next to this is

The British EmBassy, No. 39, formerly the Hotel Borghese,
the residence of the Princess Pauline, sister of Bonaparte. 1t
was purchased by the British government soon after the peace
in 1814, and with its fine garden forms one of the most noble
residences of Paris. The British consular office is here.

No. 11 rue d’Anjou is the mairie of the 8th arrondissement.

At No. 37, we see the hotel lately built by the well known
capitalists, Messrs. Pereire. It is one of the most sumptuous
among the private edifices of the capital.

At No. 1, rue des Champs-Elysées, is the HOTEL DE LA
REVNIERE, once the residence of the famous M. Grimod, author
of the Almanach des Gourmands. It was long occupicd by the
Russian and Ottoman embassies; the Duke of Wellington also
resided here. The Cercle I'mpérial is now in it (seep. 14.)

At the western end of the Boulevards stands the church of

LA MapELEINE.—This is, since the beginning of the 13th
century, the fourth church erected on this site, called in former
times, from its vicinity to a suburban villa of the Bishops of
Paris, ¢ la Ville’Evéque.” The present magnificent structure
was commenced in 1764, by Constant d’Ivry, and continued
by Couture. The revolution of 1789 suspended the works
until Napoleon I. directed Vignon to complete it for a Teu:ple
of Glory. In 1815, Louis XVIII. restored it to its original
destination, and decreed that it should contain monuments
to Louis XVI., Marie Antoinette, Louis XVII., and Mademoiselle
Elisabeth. It was finished under Louis Philippe, by M. Huvé.
This edifice, the total cost of which amounted to 13,079,000fr,
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stands on an elevated basement 328 feet by 138, and is ap-
proached at each ecnd by a flight of 28 steps, extending
the whole length of the facade. Its form and propor-
lions ‘are Grecian. A colonnade of 52 Corinthian columms,
cach 49 feet high by 16% in circumference, surroundsit, 15
on each side, 14 in the southern portico and 8 in the northern.
In the walls, there are niches containing statues of saints. (1)
The whole entablature and the ceiling of the colonnade are
profusely enriched with elaborate sculpture. The pediment
of the southern f{ront contains an immense alto-rilievo by
Lemaire, 126 feet in length by 24 in height to the angle (2).
The northern portico is plain. The bronze doors, designed
by Triquetti, and cast by Messrs. Richard, Eck, and Du-
rand, are larger than those of the Baptistery of Florence, or
the Pantheon at Rome ; they measure 33 fect by 16%, and
display bas-relief illustrations of the ten commandments (3).

Interior.—On cntering the vestibule, Faith, Hope, and Cha-
rity are visible on the soffit of the arch. On the right is the
chapel for marriages, with the marriage of the Virgin, by
Pradier. On the left is the baptismal font, with a greup by
Rude, of Christ and St. John at the waters of the Jordan. The

(1) St. Philippe on the right, and St. Louis on {he left of the en-
trance, both by Nanfcuil. In the colonnade on the right; 4. the
Angel Gabriel, by Duret; 2: St. Bernard, by Husson ; 3. Ste. Thé-
reése, by Feuchdre ; 4. SL. Hilaire, by Huguenin ; 5. Ste. Céeile, by
Dumont; 6. St. Irénée, by Gourdel; 7. Ste. Adélaide, by Bosie,
nephew ; 8. St. Francgois de Sales, by Molchenet; 9. Ste. Hélene,
by Mercier; 10. St. Martin de Tours, by Grevenich; 44. Ste
Agathe, by Danfan, jun. ; 12. St. Grégoire, by Thérasse; 13, Ste.
Agnés, by Dusseigneur ; 44. St. Raphail, by Danlan, sen.  Facing
the rue Tronchet. 15. St. Luc, by Ramey; 46. SI. Jean, by the
same; 17. St. Mathieu, by Desprez; 48. St. Mare, by Lemaire.
In the colonnade on the left: 19. Guardian Angel, by Bra; 2o0.
Ste. Marguerite, by Caunois; 21. St. Jean Chrysosiéme, by Jee—
ther; 22. Ste. Geneviéve, by Debay, sen.; 23. Sl. Grégoire le
Grand, by Maindron ; 24. Ste. Jeanne de Valois, by Caillot; 28,
St. Jérome, by Lanno ; 26. Sle. Chrisline, hy Valcher; 27. St.
Ferdinand, by Jalay; 28. Sle. Elisabeth, by Calliouetic; 29, St.
Charles Borromée, by Jouffroy ; 30. Ste Anne, by Desheeufs ; 37.
St. Denis, by Debay, jun.; 32. St. Michel, by Raggi.

(2) In the centre is the figure of Christ, with Magdalen at his
feet; (o his right are the Angel of Mercy, Innocence, Faith,
I'!opo, and Charity. In the corner an angel greets the resuvrec-
tion of a blessed spirit. On the left of the Sovereign Judge the
Angel of Vengeance repcls Hatred, Unchastity, Hypocrisy, and
. Avarice ; a demon, precipitating into the abyss a damned spirit,
terminates the group on tbis side.

{3) Above, in the centre, is Moses commanding obedience to
the Tables ; on each side are the Lapidation of the Blasphemer,
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pulpit and the 12 confessionals along the chapels, richly carved
in oak and gilt, are decorated in the same taste as toe organ.
The church itself consists of a vast nave, laterally interrupted by
four pierson each side, fronted with lofty fluted Corinthian
columns supporting colossal arches, on which rest three cupolas
with skylights, and compartments gorgeously gill ; the corners
supported by figures of the Apestles in alto-rilicvo. The walls
of the church are incrusted with rich marbles. An Ionic
colonnade, supporting a gallery with a balustrade, runs between
the piers, and is continued around the choir; it is interrupted
under each arch by the pediment of a chapel with Corinthian
columns. Each chapelcontains the marble statue of its patron. (1)
A marble balustrade encompassing the interior of the church
separates it from these altars. The tympans of the lateral arches
contain paintings illustrative of the life of Magdalen (2). The
pavement is marble of different colours. On the ceiling of the
choir, which is semicircular, there is asplendid composition by
Zicgler, representing the csta! Ui-lnient and propagation of Chris-
tianity since the death of our Saviour (3). The wallsof the choir
are ornamented with paintings and arabesques by Raverat, on
a ground of gold. In the midst, approached by marble steps,
stands the high altar, richly sculptured, by Marocchetti. The
principal group represents Magdalen in an attitude of divine
rapture, borne to paradise on the wings of angels. Un a pe-
destal at each of the corners in front there kneels an archangel
in prayer. TFor these figures, 150,000 fr. were paid. Two
beautiful children support semicircular lateral stands on cach
side, and below the table of the altar is a bas-relief representing
the feast of Cana, by Moine. Behind the northern portico, and
concealed from view, is a peal of fixed bells.  The roof is con-
structed of iron and copper. In the undercroft is a chapel to
St. Francis Xavier, belonging to the fraternity of that name.
High mass is celebrated at 11 on Sundays and holidays

and the Prohibition of 1dolatry. Next follow, 3d. the Repose of
God on the Sabbath ; 4(h. Joshua punishing the thefl of Achan;
sth. the Curse of Noah ; 6th. Susanna; 7th. the Death of Abel;
8th. God reproaching Abimelech ; 9th. Nathan announcing to
David his Chastisement; 10th. Elijah reproaching Jezehel.

(1) Ste. Amélie, by Bra; Jesus Christ, by Daret; Ste. Clofilde,
by Barye, on the right: on the left, St. Vincent de Paule, by
Raggi; the Virgin, by Seurre; St. Augusiin, by Etex.

(2) The first to the right on entering represents the Preaching
of Christ and Conversion of Magdalen, by Schnetz; 2d. the Cru-
cifixion, by Bouchot ; 3d. Magdalen in the Desert, by Ahcl de
Pujol. On the left, 4si. the Supper of Bethany, with Magdalen
at the feet of Christ, by Couder ; 2d. the Angel announcing the
Resurrection, by Coignet ; 3d. the Death of Magdalen, by Signol.

(3) Magdalen is wafted before the throne of Christ, surrounded
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West of the Madeleine is the short but elegant Galerie de la
Madeleine; behind the church is a well-supplied market,
and on the esplanade east of the edifice a flower-market is held
on Tuesdays and Fridays. The rue Chauveau-la-Garde leads
to the splendid new thoroughfare, called the

BOULEVARD MALESHERBES,—inaugurated by the Emperor on
the 13th of August, 1861. It extends from the Place de la
Madeleine to the exterior Boulevard de Monceaux, thus opening
a direct communication with the 17th arrondissement. It
reaches in a direct line to the Place Laborde, where two
branches meet, one of which is as yet but imperfectly marked
out. Before reaching this point, the visitor will see, in the rue
Roquépine, at No. 4, the new Wesleyan Chapel (see p. 116),
a Gothic structure in the style of the 1isth century. The rue
Lavoisier, on the opposite side of the houlevard, leads to the

CHAPELLE EXPIATOIRE, the front of which faces the rue de
I'Arcade. This spot was formerly a burial-ground belonging to
the Madeleine, where Louis XVI. and his Queen were ob-
scurcly interred in 1793. The ground v.as bought by M.
Descloseaux, and converted into an orchard, in order to pro-
tect those precious remains from desecration ; and he is said to

by the Evangelists and Apostles, the Empcror Constantine, and
several saints. Next come the Crusades, with Urban II.,
Eugenius I11., St. Bernard, Peter the Hermit pressing on the ex-
pedilion ; then the dukes, counts, and barons of Christendom,
and an old man beneath, who devotes his three sons fo the
““holy cause.” St. Louis kneels near Magdalen ; then Godefroy
de Bouillon; Richard Cweur de Lion, Robert of Normandy, a
Constable de Montmorency; Dandolo, the ¢ blind old Doge;”
and next is Villchardouin, the historian of the Crusades. The
struggles of the Greeks to throw off the Mussulman yoke are
depicled by a Grecian warrior prostrate, and a group of his coun-
frymen pressing around the standard of the cross. On the Sa-
viour's left are some of the carly martyrs. Indistinetly seen
is the shadowy form of Ahasuerus, the wandering Jew. Below
are the warriors of Clovis, from whose aspeet a Druidess flies in
dismay. St. Remi bhaptlises Clovis, near whom is Ste. Clotilde,
Queen of France. Opposite St. Louis is Charlemagne, on whoma
cardinal confers the insigniaofthe empire ; an envoy of the caliph
Haroun-al-Raschid, attended by a guardian of Lhe holy sepul-
chre, presents him with ¢“ the keys,” and the robe of the Virgin.
Lower down is Pope Alexander 111., who laid the foundation of
Notre Dame, giving his benediction to Frederick Barbarossa
at Venice. Otho, Joan of Arc, Raphael, Michael Angelo, and
Dante, complete this side. In the centre is the convert Henry
1V. ; Louis XIlI. presenting his crown to the Virgin; and near
him Richelieu. Lastly, Napoleon l. receives the imperial erown
from the hands of Pius VIL ; ihe Bishop of Genoa and Cardinals
Caprara and Braschi unroll the concordat,
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have annually sent the Duchess of Angouléme a bouquet
gathered from the graves of her parents. At the Restoration,
the Royal ashes were transported with great pomp to St.
Denis ; the earth that had covered the coffins was preserved ;
the remains of the other victims of the Revolution, including
the Swiss Guards, were placed in two large graves, and the
present chapel erected by Louis XVIII. It bears the following
inscription :

Le Roi Louis XVIII. a élevé ce monument pour conserver les
licux ou les dépouilles mortelles du Roi Louis XVI et de la
Reine Marie-Antoinetle, transférées le 21 Janvier MDCCCXV. dans
la sépullure royale de St. Denis, ont reposé pendant XXI. ans.
11 a é1é achevé la deuxiéme année du régne du Roi Charles X.,
I’an de grice MDCCCXXVI.

The adjoining space is bordered with ivy, and has gates
in the rues d’Anjou, de la Madeleine, and de I’Arcade. The
outer vestibule leads by a flight of steps to a raised platform,
surrounded by a covered gallery on cach side, and by a chapel
at cach end, containing the remains of the old cemetery. Op-
posite stands the larger chapel, of the Doric order, in the form
of a cross, surmounted by a dome. Within are twostatues, of
Louis XVI. and Marie Antoinette, cach supported by an angel ;
on the pedestal of the former his will is inscribed in letters of
gold on a black marble slab; on that of the latter are extracts
of the queen’s last letter to Mme Elisabeth.  Around the chapel
are niches with magnificent candelabra, and over its vestibule
is a bas-rclicf representing the funeral procession to St. Denis.
The corners are adorned with allegorical bas-reliefs. Deneath
is a subterrancan chapel, where an altar of grey marble is
erected over the exact spot where Louis XVI. was buried ; and
in a corner, about 5 feet from it, is pointed out the original
resting-place of the queen. The vestry attached is for the use
of two clergymen, who perform mass here every day at 8 a.m.,
and on Sundays at 8 and 9. The architects were Percier and
Fontaine. A small fec is given by visitors to those who show it.

At No. 122, rue St. Lazare, is the Versailles, St. Germain,
Rouen, Ilavre, and Western railroad terminus. This is a large
handsome building, extending to the rue de Stockholm. A
spacious Doric vestibule, 144 feet long by 21 in breadth,
occupies the whole breadth of the building.

Behind the terminus is the Plaine de Monceaux, where
building is in active progress. Following the rue de la
Pépiniere westwards, we find vast barracks at the corner of
the Boulevard Malesherbes, and to the right, at the point of
bifurcation, where several new streets now meet, the church of

ST. AUGUSTIN, still in course of construction. The front,
which is Gothic, has three cntrances surmounted by a large
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circular window crowned with raking cornices forming a
gable; four octagonal towers rise above the transept. The
interior consists of a nave and two aisles, still unfinished ;
but a large underground chapel with a low arched ceiling has
already been opened to worship here, and is accessible by a
provisional passage.

Continuing along the boulevard, where the stranger will be
struck with the enormous cuttings which it has occasioned, he
will find to his left the rue de Valois, where a splendid man-
sion is in course of construction for the Italian Embassy. It
covers a spaee of 2,000 sq. metres, and will cost 2,040,000fr.
At the extremity of the Boulevard Malesherbes, we find the
eastern entrance of the

Park pE MonceAux.—In this park a palace was erected by

Carmontel in 1778, for the Duke of Orleans. The Convention
intended it for various establishments of public utility ; Na-
poleon I. presented it to Cambacéres, who gave it up again to
the Crown a few years later. In 1814 Louis XVIII. restored
it to the Duke of Orleans, but in 1852 it returned to the State,
and is now the property of the city, which, under the able
direction of M. Alphand, has entirely remodelled it, and opened
it to the public since Aug. 15th, 1861. Though still called a
park, it partakes more of the nature of a garden than the Bois
de Boulogne. Upwards of 100,000 rare shrubs and flowers
have been transplanted here, gracefully adorning the spacious
grass-plats and gravel-walks which characterize this beautiful
spot. It is intersected by two carriage-roads ; on the out-
skirts of the exterior boulevard we see an clegant rotunda
flanked by two entrances. Not far from this, there stands a
mock ruin, consisting of a Corinthian colonnade skirting the
banks of a miniature lake, called the Naumachie. From this
the water meanders across the park, forming two pretty islets,
and further on losing itself in a wild grotto. At onc point it
is spanned hy a stone bridge, rather too formal for the place.*
Here and there we see small ruins, broken columns, pyramids,
etc. The carriage ways are lighted at night by gas-lamps on
elegant bronze lamp-posts.
. Leaving this charming spot by the western entrance, front-
ing the Boulevard de Beaujon, one of those which starts from
the Arc de I'ftoile, and contains a large boarding school kept
by thé Dames du Sacré Coeur, we may turn to the right into
the rue de Chartres, and thence into the rue de la Croix,
Where we shall find the new

GREEK CHURCH, inaugurated on the 11th of September,
1861.—This brilliant edifice, constructed at a cost of
1,200,000 fr., the amount of voluntary contributions, col-
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lected by M. Vassilieff, almoner to the Russian Embassy at
Paris, among the richest families of St. Petersburg, is now -
one of the ornaments of the capital of France. The first stone
was laid March 3, 1860, by the Russian Ambassador, Count
Kisseleff. The plan of the edifice is square; it is flanked
with octagonal turrets at the angles, each topped with a
conical roof, similar to the larger one, which covers the main
body. Each of these cones ends in a piroid spire surmounted
by the Greek double cross with pendant chains. Thé whole
is elegantly sculptured and gilt. The porch is approached by
seven steps, and consists of a small cupola resting on pillars.
The interior is circular, with semi-circular recesses ; the
decorations are gorgeous. The paintings on the walls repre-
sent the Adoration of the Shepherds; the Sermon on the
Mount ; the Last Supper ; and the entry into Jerusalem. In
the central cupola, Christ imparting his blessing ; in the pen-
dentives, the Four Evangelists. The circular nave is sepa-
rated from the choir by the iconostas, a screen on which the
painter and decorator appear to have exhausted their talent ;
it presents, in compartments, the figures of Christ, the Virgin,
and other holy personages. Behind this is the picture of the
Saviour radiant with glory. This church is dedicated to the
Trinity and St. Alexander Newsky. M. Kouzmine, Imperial
architect at St. DPetersburg, has furnished the designs; M.
Strohm has directed the execution. This church is visible to the
public on Thursdays, from 2 to 4, and on Sundays from 2 to 6.

POURTH WALX,

This comprises parts of the 1st, 2d, and 9th arrondisse-
ments, The stranger may commence it by the

PavLals RovAL.—On the site of this palace formerly stood, in
the time of Charles VI., a hotel situated without the cit walls;
this was purchased and demolished by Cardinal de Richelieu,
who, in 1620-36, built the Palais Cardinal in its place, after
the designs of Lemercier. 1t had several courts, and contained
a theatre for 3000 spectators, magnificent galleries painted by
Philippe de Champagne, Vouet, &c., a second theatre for 500 per-
sons, and a splendid chapel. Large gardens in the rear co-
vered the rues de Valois, de Montpensier, and de Beaujolais.
The cardinal contemplated other buildings round the garden,
but the splendour of his design excited the jealousy of the king.
Shortly before his decease in 1642, the cardinal ;;esented it to
Louis XIII. On the death of Richelieu, the king removed to it,
aad from that period it assumed the name of Palaés Royal,
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After the death of Louis XIII. in 1643, Anne of Austria,
with the young king, Louis XIV., made it her abode during
the turbulent times of the Fronde. In 1692, it was ceded by
Louis XIV. to Philippe of Orleans, his nephew, as part of his
apanage on his marriage with Mlle. de Blois. The Regent Duke
of Crleans, on coming into posscssion of it, placed in the grand
gallery the valuable collection of pictures he had purchased in
various parts, and which, celebrated as the Orleans Gallery,
was sold during the troubles of the first Revolution, when the
greater part passed into England. Here, too, had been placed, by
Louis XIV., the well known collection of medals, and en-
graved gems, subsequently purchased by the Empress of Russia. »
The orgies of which this palace was the scene have been suffi-
ciently commemorated in the memoirs of the regency ; ‘during
the lifetime of the succecding duke they were discontinued, but
were again to a certain extent resumed under his successor,
Dbetter known as ““ Egalité.” In 1763, the theatre, built by the
cardinal, was destroyed by fire; and, on this occasion, the
entire front of the palace with jts two wings was rebuilt, as it
now stands, after the designs of Moreau. The debts of the duke
having become so enormous that he once meditated a declara-
tion of insolvency, it was determined, by the advice of the
brother of Mme. de Genlis, {o erect buildings with shops and
places of amusement, in the garden of the palace, as a means
of augmenting his revenue. These were begun in 1781, after
the designs of the architect Louis; the houses and arcades,
as they now stand, were finished in 1786. The plan succeeded.
During the carly part of the first Revolution the garden, then
replanted, became the place of resort of the most violent politi-
cians of the day ; here the tri-coloured cockade was first adopted,
and many of the holder measures of the popular party were
decided on. After the execution of the duke in 1793, his palace,
then called Palais Egalité, was confiscated, and soon con-
verted into sale-rooms, ball-rooms, cafés, ete. In 1795, a mi-
litary commission was established in it, and one of its halls
was afterwards fitted up for the Tribunate, with apartments
for the president and the two questors. It was then called
Palais du Tribunat, but re-assumed its original title under
Napoleon, who never lived there, but assigned a portion of it
to his brother Lucian, Prince of Canino, who occupied it some
time. In 1814, Louis Philippe, then Duke of Orleans, return-
ed to it, and, with the exception of the interval of the Hundred
Days, resided in it till 1831, making additions and improve-
ments, and fitting up the whole anew. Most of the houses sur-
rounding the garden had passed through several hands during
the revolution, so that but a small part reverted to him. The
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Palace was taken and devastated by the mob on 24th February,
1848, and in that and the following year, it hecame, under
the name of Palais National, the place of meeting of some of
the republican members of the Constituent Assembly (1). In
1850, 1851, and 1852, it was used for exhibitions.
Exterior.—The late Prince Jerome, on having this palace
assigned to him as a residence, fitted it up in the most
splendid style. It is now inhabited by Prince Napoleon,
and not visible to strangers. It consists of a court, entered
from the rue St. Honoré, by a Doric arcade and gateway.
«The principal staircase, designed by Desorgues, rises under a
lofty dome, and, branching off into two flights, is adorned with
a beautiful balustrade and railing of chiselled iron, by Corbin.
It leads to the principal vestibule, from which the visitor
emerges under the archway of the central building. On
the northern side is the principal building, and, on the eastern
and western, two wings projecting towards the street with
{edimenls sculptured by Pajou, and representing Prudence,
iberality, Justice and Power. The central compartment of
the northern side consists of a ground floor, first floor, and
attic, surmounted by a segmental pediment ; the other sides of
the court have only two stories. A regular gradation of the
Doric, lonic, and Corinthian orders is observed throughout. To
the left of the outer front is a secondary entrance, leading into
a by-court enclosed by the Galerie de Nemours. From the
first court a triple archway leads through the central building
to the second court. Here the facade, forming the southern
side, presents two projecting masses, with fluted fonic columns,
supporting an entablature with allegorical sculptures, and
surmounted by an attic. On the first floor are the state apart-
ments, and the castern and western sides of the court have
galleries underneath. The eastern gallery, called the Galerie
des Proues, still retains the naval ornaments denoting I "chelieu
as Grand Admiral. This gallery, the northern Galerie de la
Cour, and the Galerie de¢ Chartres to the west, are formed
by a Doric colonnade enclosing the court. Parallel and

(1) 1t was a sad spectacle to hehold the wreck of this palace
after the 24th of Feb., 1848. Whilst the work of devastation was
in progress some well-meaning persons had written the words
¢¢ Respectez les Tableaux ” with charcoal on the walls; bulun-
fortunately the salutary advice was completely disregarded. Of
the numecrous fine piclures which adorned the walls of the
palace scarcely a dozen were saved. The spirit of destruction
was carried so far on that memorable day, that on Feb. 14,
4850, there were twenty-five thousand kilogrammes of broken glass
and china, collected from the remnants of the furniture of the
Palais Royal, sold by order of the liquidators of the Jate Givil List.
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contiguous to the Galerie de la Cour is the Galerie d’Orléans,
300 feet long by 40 broad, on the site of the Galerie de Boss,
demolished in 1830. Itis a lofty hall, paved with marble and
and roofed with glass, extending between a double range of
£.ops, over which a double terrace, bordered with shrubs
vases, serves as a promenade to the inmates of the palace. The
Galerie de Chartres communicates with the Péristyle de Char-
tres, leading to the Thédtre Francais, formerly the private
property of the Dukes of Orleans. (See Theatres.)

In the western wing of the principal court was the private
library of Louis Philippe. It contained a valuable collection of
upwards of 600,000 engravings, classed by Louis Philippe’s
own hand, and filled 122 colossal folios, which perished in the
flames with the greater part of the library on February 24.

At 3, rue de Valois, was the Queen’s private library, which
was also completely destroyed on that eventful day.

The Garden, forming a rectangle of 700 feet by 300, and sur-
rounded by the Galeries Beaujolatis, Montpensier, Valois, and
du Jardin, is planted with rows of lime trees from end to end,
and two flower-gardens, separated by a circular basin of water,
with a fine jet d’eau. The garden was thus arranged in 1799 ;
it contains bronze copies of the Diane a la Biche of the Louvre,
and the Apollo Belvedere ; two modern statues in white marble,
one of a young man about to bathe, by d’Espercieux ; the other
of a boy struggling with a goat, by Lemoine; Ulysses on the
seashore, by Bra; and Eurydice stung by the snake, by Nan-
teuil, a fine copy in bronze, but more fitted for a gallery
than the place it now occupies. Near this statue is a solar
cannon, which is fired by the sun when it reaches the meridian,
and regulates the clocks of the Palais Royal. Within the garden
are 4 kiosks generally occupied by persons who let out jour-
nals to read at a sou each: and round them are to be found
at all hours of the day politicians of every caste and rank.
Under the lime trees are rows of chairs, occupied, during the
summer months, by crowds of loungers; and so great is the
profit arising from them, and from the privilege of supplying
frequenters of the garden with refreshments, that Government
glerives an annual rent of 38,000 fr., or £1520 from these two
items alone. The buildings that surround the garden are all of
uniform archilecture, and consist of two stories and an attic,
resting upon arcades, divided by fluted Composite pilasters,
which rise to the cornice above the second story. The shops
under the arcades are among the most elegant in Paris, ar-
ranged with the greatest taste, and, being chiefly devoted to
articles of luxury, produce a most brilliant effect. = On the first
floors are a great number of restaurauts, and here were fors

14
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merly the gambling-houses which rendered this place so cele-
brated. The stories above are eccupied by individuals of va-
rious professions. Under the arcades, at the corner of the Théa-
tre Francdis, is Chevet’s magasin de comestibles, well known
to epicures. In the Galeric Montpensier is the Café de Foy,
and in the Galerie Beaujolais are the .two restaurants of les
Trois Freres Provencaux, Véfour, and the Café de la Rotonde,
all unique in their kind. Under the Péristyle Beaujolats, to
the north-east, is the Café des Aveugles, a place of amusement
worthy of a visit by the curious traveller, as being a favourite
resort of the lower classes. It takes its name from a band of
blind musicians, who accempany singers in little vaudevilles.
A ““sanvage,” too, a celebrated drummer, performns here. In
the Péristyle Joinville, at the north-west corner, is the en-
trance to the Thédtre du Palais Royal, formerly - Montansier
(see Theatres), not to be confounded with the Thédire Fran-
cais, which also communicates, as has been observed, with
the Palais Royal. The best time for seeing this splendid
bazaar is in the evening, when the garden and avcades are bril-
liantly illuminated and full of people; the shops of the watch-
makers and jewellers will then particularly strike the visitor’s
eye, The Palais Royal has heen called, not without reason,
the Capital of Paris, and it certainly is more frequently entered
than any other space of equal dimensions in the city. To th¢
stranger it is particularly interesting from its historical associa-
tions. As early as Anne of Austria, the troubles of the Fronde
may be said to have commenced in it ; there Camille Desmou-
lins from one of the straw chairs harangued the populace on
the night of the famous charge of the Prince de Lambesc; the
club of the Jacobins was formed in it, as also that of the Ther-
midorians ; the Dantonists met at the Café de Foy, the Giron-
dists at the Café de Chartres. And still it is the same favourite
resort of politicians, idlers, and the little rentiers of the apital.

The immense building bordering the castern side of the
Place du Palais Royal (1) is the

HOTEL DU LOUVRE, built by a company on the plan of the
colossal hotels for which the United States are so celebrated.
It occupies a space of nearly two English acres, between the
rues St. Honore, de Rivoli, de Marengo, and the Place du Palais
Royal. 1t has three courts, one of which, the Cour d’Hon-

(4) Before 1848 thissquare was not one hall of ils present size,
and was hordered in front of the Palais Royal by a very hand-
some fountuin called the Chdleau d'Kau, erecled in 1719 by de
Cotte. 1t was here (he Garde Municipale made the last des-
perate resistance Lo the people on the 241h February 1848 ; it was
demolished by order of the Provisional Gavernment,
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neur, is roofed with glass. From the court an elegant
double-branched staircase gives access to an arcaded Corin-
thian gallery, 98 feet by 26, the ceiling of which is painted
with %lgures representing the twelve months, by Gosse and
R~rryas, and the Genii of Arts and Sciences, by Notlau and
Rubé. This gallery communicates with the dining-room, a
vast hall 131 feet by 42, with an altitude of 34 fect. The
ceiling is adorned with frescos representing the Four Seasons,
and the other decorations, as well as the hangings, curtains,
and furniture, are of the most gorgeous description. The ex-
hibitors of the Great Universal Exhibition gave a splendid
banquet here to Prince Napoleon on the 15th of October 1855.
The comforts contrived for the inmates of this establishment
are of a novel description. A large clock in the Cour
&’ Honmteur communicates the true time to all the bracket-
clocks throughout the house by means of electricity ; travellers’
baggage is conveyed from story to story by machinery ; dishes
are slid down hot fram the kitchen into trucks which, running
along a subterranean railway, transport them to a point where,
by another contrivance, they are safely hoisted up to the dining-
room ; the waiters are summoned by electric bells ; speaking-
tubes communicate with the offices, the laundry, cte., and
a constant supply of water, both hot and cold, is conveyed by
pipes to all the apartments at the command of the visitor.
Linen is washed and dried by steam ; baths and smoking-rooms
have also been provided. There is a tclegraph office here.

Proceeding westwards, along the ruc St. Honoré, the visitor
will perceive the new facade of the Theatre Francais, ad-
joining the Palais Royal (1).

Following the rue St. Honoré in a western direction, the rue
des Frondeurs will lead to the rue d’Argenteuil, where, at
No. 18, is the house in which Corneille died. 1t has a hust of *
the poet in the court-yard, with a black slab bearing this
motto, borrowed from the Cid :

Je ne dois qu’d moi seul foute ma renommeée.

Turning to the left into the rue St. Roch, we find, at the
corner of the rue St. Honoré, the church of

St. Rocu,—the first stone of which was laid by Louis
XIV. and Anne of Austria, in 1653; the architects were Le-

(1) During the career of Joan of Are, the walls of Paris ex—
tepded to the ground opposite to this theatre, but lately tra-
versed by a narrow street called the rue du Rempart. Here the
Maid of Orleans was severely wounded froma cross-bow while
trying the depth of the ditch with her lance during an assault.

he however would not retire, but continued till night to
dire®t the placing of the faggots by which it wasto be crossed.
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mercier and Do Coste. It is approached by a flight of steps,
extending the ‘whole breadth of the chgrch, and fambet?:s
as the theatre of many events during the several French re-
volutions. The mob crowded them to see Marie Antoinette
led to execution ; Bonaparte cleared them of that same mob
with caunon during the Directory ; in 1830 a stand was made
there against the gendarmerie of Charles X.; and in 1848, the
descendants of the votaries of the Goddess of Reason devoutly
ascended those steps to deposit in the church a crucifix found
in the palace of theTuileries. The front is Doricand Corinthian,
84 feet in breadth, and 91 in height. The church is cruciform
its total length is 405 feet, that of the choir 69, and its breadth
42; aisles with chapels run along each side. The interior
is Doric; the piers of the arches are incrusted with marble at
the base. Beside the entrance there is an inscription on marble,
placed there by Louis Philippe, in 1821, to the memory of Pierre
Corneille, who is buried here; another tablet records the
names of benefactors to the church, and of distinguished per-
sons buried there, whose tombs were destroyed in 1793 (1).
In the 5th chapel is & marble monument to the Abbé de I’Epée,
by Préault, erected at the expense of deaf and dumb persons
educated at his institution. A plain sarcophagus supports
his bust; the figures of two children are represented in the
act of raising their eyés towards him with an expression of
gratitude. The inscription is: — Viro admodum mirabilt,
sacerdoti de I'Epée, qui fecit exemplo Salvatoris mutos loqui,
cives Galli® hoc monumentum dedicarunt an. 1840. Natus

(1) The best works of art in the chapels of this church, be-
ginning from the left on entering, are—2d. chapel : A marble
group of the Baptiem of Christ, by Lemoine; on the walls,
Christ calling on John {0 baptize him, and the Saviour appearing
to his Disciples. 3d. St. Nicholas saving a ship at sea. ¢‘h. A
Descent from the Cross in plaster, by Bogino.—Transept :
St. Denis preaching, by Vien.—Chapel of St. Yincent de Paul :
paintings representing him assisting the poor, and his apo-
theosis; in the window, a small specimen of old stained
glass, representing the Saviour reading to the Virgin and
Joseph. Here begins the series of the stations of the Via Crucis,
consisting of bas~reliefs in plaster, continued along the church.
—Chapel of St. Joseph : the birth of Christ, by Tissier, and the
death of St. Joseph, in fresco, by Brune ; in the next, St. Fran-
cis de Sales, preaching, by Loyer; and the same helping a
wayfarer through the snow, by Scheffer ; in the following is St.
Charles Borromeo.—Lady Chapel, of an elliptical form, orna- -
mented with Corinthian pilasters, and surmounted by a dome
painted in fresco by Pierre. On the altar is a group in white
marble, by Anguier, which formerly decorated the altar ofithe
Val de Grice : the infant Jesus in the manger, with the Virgin
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an. 1712, mortuus an. 1789.—Near is a black marble tablet,
with the inscription:—A I'Abbé de l’Epée, les sourds-muets
suédois reconnaissants. 1845.—Opposite is the pulpit, with
statues of the Evangelists carved in oak ; an angel supports the
canopy. Following the aisle we enter the chapel of the Holy
Sacrament, magnificently decorated in representation of the
Holy of Holies of the Mosaic tabernacle; all the ornaments
of the Jewish ritual are placed here. In the windows are
Denis the Areopagite, and Denis Affre, Archbishop of Paris,
killed on the barricades in June, 1848. The cupola of St. Roch
has lately been painted by Roger, and an elegant tribune has
been fitted up here for the use of the Empress. It is the richest
church in Paris, and is celebrated for its music and singing.

Continuing westwards along the rue St. Honoré, wefind to
our right the rue du Marché St. Honoré, leading to the

MarcHE St. HONORE, opened in 1809, on the site of the Con-
vent des Jacobins, celebrated during the revolution of 1789,
The entrance fo the Club des Jacobins was the large arched
gate still visible in the rue St. Hyacinthe. The market is
now being rebuilt.

The rue Neuve des Petits Champs will lead, by the rue Mé-
hul, to the Thédtre Italien. (See Theatres.)

and Joseph kneeling ; it is a fine piece of sculpture. At the en-
trance to this chapel are two paintings : Jesus purging the Tem-
ple, by Thomas, and his recalling the daughter of Jairus to life,
by Delorme.—Chapel of the Calvary: a Crucifix, by Anguier,
that formerly stood over the altar of the Sorbonne ; close to it,
under a vaulted recess, is a Descent from the Cross, and in a
similar recess, on the other side, the'Virgin and St. John,
a group in plaster.—In the 1st chapel after that of the Virgin,
in the opposite aisle, are Christ preaching, and Mary Magdalen,
by Brisset ; 2d. the martyrdom of St. Catherine on the wheel,
and her apotheosis, by Brune; 3d. St. Agnes in prayer, and
her inspiration by the Holy Ghost, by Bohn; 4th. Ste. Clotilde
praying, and her Apotheosis, by Landelle.—Transept: an altar-
piece by Doyen, the Cure of the Mal des Ardents, in 1230,
through the intercession of Ste. Genevidve.—3th chapel: St,
Pefer preaching; Christ delivering the keys to St. Peter. ¢th.
Sorrow for the Departed, and Joy at the announcement of their
-resurrection in Heaven; 7th. Stephen disputing, and his Lapi-
dation, by Roux; also a marble monument to -the Duke de
Créqui; sth. the Resurrection of Christ, and the angel an-
nouncing that évent to the three holy women ; and menuments
to the infamous Cardinal Dubois, Mignard {he painter, Lendtre,
the designer of the gardens of Versailles, and the Count de Har-
court. The last chapel, which contains monuments fo Mauper~
tuis, the Duke, de Lesdiguidres, and the Maréchal d’Asfeld, is
also adorned with two frescos, by Quantin, representing the de~

parture and return of the Prodigal Son.
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Next to this, the Passage Choiseul, one of the handsomest
in Paris, will lead the visitor to the

FonTAINE Louis LE GRrAND, at the corner of rue de la Micho-
diére and rue du Port Mahon.—This pretty fountain, erected
in 1712, and rebuilt in 1828, is adorned with a figure striking
a dolphin with a trident. Two monolith basins, in the shape
of ancient tazze, receive the water. The capitals, &c., are
ornamented with sculptures of fish, shells, aquatic plants, etc.
The following was the inscription:—

Regnante Carolo X.

Pristinum fontem angustiore area jam amplificata, Communi
utilitati urbisque ornamento, ln majus resiituerunt preefectus
ot ediles Anno M.DCCC.XX.VIIIL.

but the first line of it was etfaced in 1830.

By the rue du Port Mahon we reach the Boulevard des
Capucines, opposite to the rue de la Chaussée d’Antin (1)
In this street lived Grimm in 1778, when he took young
Mozart into his house.

Continuing westwards along the boulevard, the visitor will
see, on the northern side, the new Grand Hétel,, vying in
size and grandeur with the Hdtel du Louvre already men-
tioned. The ground it occupics cost 8 millions of francs, and
the building and furniture 14 millions more., Adjoining are
the works in progress for a new

FRENCH OPERA-HOUSE, for which immense edifice see p.
464 n. .

(1) The nomenclature of this streel has undergone many
changes. It was at first called Chemin des Porcherons, being at
that time only a rugged road crossing the Prés des Porcherons,
an open space, the favourile resort of duellists and debauchees.
It was next named Chaussée Gaillon, on account of its proximity
to the Porte Gaillon ; afterwards rye de I’ Hdtel Diew, from its lead-
ing to a farm belonging to that hospital; subsequentl, on the
building of the Hbtel d’Antin it became the Chaussée ' Antin. In
1791 it received the name of rue Mirabeau, in memory of the ce-
lebrated revolutionary orator, who resided in it at the time of
his death, at No. 42. In 1793 it was called rue Montblanc, but at
the Restoration it resumed its name of Chaussés d'Antin. No. 62
standson the site of a small hotel inhabited by Josephine before
her marriage with Napoleon ; General Foy died there. The last
house on the right was the hotel of Cardinal Fesch. Necker also
lived in this slreet. To give an idea of the immense value of
ground here we may state that the Hotel Pillet-Will was lately
bought by the City for 2,100,000 fr., or at the rate of 630 fr. per
square metre. In 1675, the price of ground on that spot was
three sous per square toise, or four square metres, and in 1722,
when the Chaussée-d’Antin was transformed from a dirty lane
into a street, the square toise cost three livres. In 1769, the
price varied from eight to ten livres.
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Continuing westwards, we find, at the corner of tho rue
des Capucines, the spot where, on the night of the 23d Feb-
ruary, 1848, the eventful shot was fired, which led to the
overthrow of the monarchy. This site was occupied at the
time, and until September, 1853, by the Foreign Office, a
building erccted by the minister Bertin in the 18th century (1).
It was taken on the 13th Vendémiaire by General Bonaparte,
who, after inhabiting it for some years, gave the property to
Marshal Berthier, who sold it to the government in 1821,

At No. 85 in the rue Caumartin opposite, is the

Lycte BONAPARTE, formerly Collége Royal de Bourhon.—
The buildings in which this lyceum is established were erected
in 1781, after the designs of Brongniart, for a convent of Ca-
pucins. The front is 162 feet long by 42 in height. It consists
of a central door-way, with Doric columns resting on plinths
and sustaining an entablature, and of two pavilions at the ex-
tremities ; one of which is now

Tue CHURCH OF ST. Louis ’ANTIN, a plain Doric building,
with a nave and aisle, and a semicircular choir. The ceiling of
the choir is painted by Signol. The walls of the nave display
the 12 Apostles, painted in wax by Cornu and Bezart. There
are also the Agony of Christ, by Goyet ; and Christ at Emmaus,
by Dumas. In an urn in the baptismal chapel, is the heart
of Count de Choiseul, the Grecian traveller.

Further on, is the handsome Passage du Havre,

The rue Joubert to our right leads to the rue de la Victoire.
Here at No. 60 is the site of a house once inhabited by Napo-
leon and Joséphine (2). Returning to the Chaussée d’Antin and
turning to the right, we arrive at the rue de Clichy, at the

_corner of which the new

LISE DE kA TRINITE is nearly completed. It is 90 metres
in length by 30 in breadth. It isin the style of the Renais-
sance, with three entrances in front, surmounted by a rose-
window flanked with trilobate ones.

(1) The shop-front of Mr. Giroux's immense premises oc-
cupies the precise position of the gate of the old Foreign Office,
around which the soldiers stood on the night alluded to. The
rue St. Arnaud has been run across part of the ground.

(2) We here subjoin a brief notice of the different places at
which Napoleon I. resided in Paris from his first arrival up
fo the 1sth Brumaire, and the establishmenti of the Consu-
lar government.—Ecole Militaire : Bonaparte coming from the
military school of Brienne, was admitted here on the 19th Oc-
tober, 1784, and occupied a small room on the upper story of
the establishment.—Quai de Conti, No. 5. Here Bonaparte oc-
cupied a small* garret.—Hdtel de Metz, rue du Mail, from May {o
September 1792. Bonaparte, then a captain of artillery, was
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At No. 30 18 the College Municipal Chaptal (see p. 101),
and higher up, at No. 70, the Prison for Debtors (see p. 78.)
The rue Vintimille leads to the Place of that name, in the
centre of which is a pretty square, covering a space of 778
metres. In the rue de Calais, is the Chapelle de la Trinité,
* a plain building. The rue Percier leads into the rue Fontaine
St. Georges, where we find, at No. 30, a profusely sculptured
house in the style of the time of Francis I. The quarter crossed
by this street, and the rue Notre Dame de Lorette, has received
the name of Lz Nouvelle Athénes. The Place St. Georges,
with its fountain, richly sculptured edifices, and gardens, will
attract notice. No. 27 is the residence of M. Thiers. This
quarter is the favourite abode of artists, actresses, and femmes
galantes. Further down is the church of :
NoTRE DAME DE LORETTE.—This beautiful church was
commenced in 1823, after the designs of M. Le Bas. Its ex-

ordered to Paris to answer for some strong political opinions
he had expressed while he was in garrison at Valence.—Hdtel
des Droits de I’ Homme, rue du Mail, October, 1794. Bonaparte was
then general of artillery; his brother Louis and Junet accom-
panied him as aides-de-camp. They lodged together on the 4th
slory, at a rent of 27 livres in specie per month. His friendship
for Talma, which continued unabated to his death, commenced
in this house, 1o which the great actor resorted to give lessons
in declamation to ¢ La citoyenne Petit,” afterwardsMme. Talma.
—Rue de la Michodiére, No. 19. RBeing without employment in
very narrow circumstances, and unwilling to go 1o La Vendée
as a general of infantry, Bonaparte occupied a small lodging in
the upper story of this house.—IHdtel Mirabeau, rue du Dauphin,
1795. Bonaparte disgraced occupied himself in visiting the dif-
ferent members of the National Convention, o solicit employ-
ment. In this hotel he slept on the eve of the 13th Vendémiaire,
of that memorable day on which, having obtained the commana
of the troops through the favour of Barras, he defeated ** Jve
sections,” and opened his way to the appointment of ¢ General
in Chief of the Army of Italy.”—Hdtel de ba Colonnade, rue Neuve
des Capucines. Here Bonaparte installed. himself on the 13th
Vendémiaire, and remained during. the disarming.of * the
sections,” and here, on the sth March, 1796, was celebrated his
marriage with Josephine, widow of General Beauharnais, who had
perished on the scaffold.—Rue Chantereine, No. 60, ‘whither Bo-
naparte removed on his marriage with Jogephine. Thig hotel he
left ‘258t March, 1796, to assume the command of the army of
Italy, and on Deo. sth, 1797, returned {o it, preceded by 170,
standards, 5 50 pieoes of cannon, and 60,000,000fr. remitted to the -*
State; in b.onour of which the municipality voted that-the street
should be'ar the name of the ¢ rue de la Vicloire.” HereBona-
parte rec: sived his -appointment to the command of the expe-
dition fo Egypt; and from this hotel emanated those intrigues
which It 34 to the 16th Brumaire and his dictatorship,
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ternal dimensions are 204 feet by 96. A square campanile
crowns the roof of the choir. The porfico is composed of four
Corinthian columns, supporting a pediment, in which are sculp-
tur~d in alto-rilievo the Virgin and infant Saviour adored by
angels. On the frieze is the inscription :—BEATZE MARLE VIR-
GINI LAURETANE. Over the pediment are the figures of Faith,
Hope, and Charity. The principal entrance under the portico
is flanked by smaller ones at the extremities of the facade.
In the interior two rows of cight Ionic columns, to the right
and left, separate the nave from the aisles ; the choir terminates
in a hemicycle. Two more rows of columns separate the Ia-
teral chapels from the aisles; the ceilings are divided into com-
partments, richly sculptured and ornamented with roscttes, al}
highly coloured or profusely gilt. At the entrance of each aisle
is a semicircular chapel surmounted by a cupola; that on the
right being the baptistery, where several frescos, by Blondel,
represent the fall and the regeneration of man; in the cupola are
painted Intellizence, Innocence, Wisdom, and the Guardian
Angel, with the attributes of Baptism. At the other extremity
of this aisle is the chapel of the Holy Communion, painted by
Périn. It represents, over the door, Christ instituting the
Eucharist, and the same subject is variously illustrated in the
four compartments of the cupola. The walls are painted m
compartments, expressive of Faith, Hope, Charity, Truth, Ilos-
pitality, &c. The pendentives represent the birth of Christ,
his preaching, sufferings, and death. In the other aisle, the
first chapel is dedicated to the dead, with paintings, by Blondel,
of the Resurrection, the Sepulchre, and various scenes of death
at different stages. At the opposite extremity is the chapel of
‘he Virgin, by Périn, in a style similar to that of the Com-
munion, representing her as the Queen of the Martyrs,
the refuge of sinners, etc. The remaining chapels, three in
each aisle, are separated by partitions, with doors to com-
municate. Their wallsare covered with paintings, representing
passages from the lives of the saints to whom they are dedi-
cated {(1). Over the ¢olumns -and entablature of the nave are
8 beautiful frescos illustrative of the life of the Virgin, by
Dubois, Langlois, Vinchon, - Monvoisin, Dejuinnes, Grange,
Hesse, and Coutan. The choir is fitted up -with stalls ;-
‘a gilt:balustradé separates it from the rest of the nave, and
its- walls. are incrusted with rich marbles. The high altar -
s supported by columns of the Corinthian order, with

(1) They are due 1o the pencils. of - Hesse, Coutan, Alfred
Jobannot, Langlois, Caminade, Decaisnes, Dejuinnes, Deveria,
Sch.ne!z, Etex, Champmartin, Couder, Goyet, Mesdames Var-
colier, and Deherain.
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gilt bronze bases and capitals. Over the stalls are painted
the Presentation in the Temple, by Heim, and Jesus in the
Temple, by Drolling. The dome of the choir is adorned with
figures of the four Evangelists, by Delorme ; on the concave
ceiling behind the high altar is the Crowning of the Virgin, by
Picot, on a ground of gold. The cost of the church was about
1,800,000 fr. Service is performed here with much pomp,
and the singing is remarkably good.

Descending the rue Laffitte (1) we find at Nos, 21 and 23
the splendid hotels of Messrs. Rothschild. Nearly opposite is
the rue Rossini, crossing the rue Le Peletier, where the stranger
will remark the French Opera House (see p. 214 and Theatres,)
It was here the atrocious attempi upon the lives of the Em-
peror and Empress took place (2), Jan. 14th, i858. Further
on, 1n the rue Chauchat, is the

(1) This street was first called rue d'Artois, 1 hon “.r of the
Comte d’Artois. 1t was subsequently called rue Cerutt:, in me-
mory of the Abbé of that name, the editor of arevolutionary paper
called thé ‘¢ Feuille Villageoise,” and friend of Mirabeau and
Talleyrand. His house was the first in the street, where the
Maison Dorée now slands. The rue Gerutti extended no furiher
than the rue de Provence, and was terminated by a splendid
hotel and grounds successively oceupied by M. Thelusson, the
rich banker, and Murat. This was purchased by a tailor named
Berchut and demolished; on its site was buill the conlinuation
of the street and the church Noire Dame de Lorette. 1ln 1815
it became once more the rue d'Artois, but received its present
name in 1830 ; the hotel of M. Laffitte, at the corner of the rue de
Provence, having becn the centre of operations atthat period.

(2) As the Imperial carriage, escorted by a detachment of
Lancers, was approaching the Opera-house from the Boulevard,
three explosive shells were thrown on the pavement ju. ‘. before
the body of the carriage, and bursting inlo fragments spread
destruction around. One of the horses of the Imperial carringe
was killed on the spot, the other, being wounded, became un-
governahle, and broke the pole against the door-post of the ves-
tibule. The coachman and lackeys were all wounded; their
Majesties, as is well known, most providentially escaped unhurt.
One hundred and forty-one persons among the by-standers, in-
cluding several Lancers, were more or less severely wounded;
eight were either killed on the spof or died of their wounds.
The Imperial carriage was pierced with 43 holes made by the
fragments of the first shell only, and the windows of the houses
opposite were broken up 1o the fourth story. Their Majesties in
80 trying a moment evinced the greatest presence of mind, and
in company with the Duke of Saxe-Coburg, entered the theatre
to allay by their presence the universal alarm which prevailed.
Four persons, named Orsini, Pleri, Rudio, and Gomez, were sub-
sequently tried for the crime, and the two former executed.






1RO 1 OUTIOILS,

FOMMYIENNY IDED IDYITOCENGS . POUIVEANYT OIF (MECE CIRUVIMEILRIE.










LA POURSE. 29

Ecrise Evaxcfrigue oe A RfvEmprioN, a Lithetan
church ; it has a Doric portal, under a massive arch of ma-
sonry. The interior consists of a nave without aisles, ter-
minating in a hemicycle, and fitted up with pews and galleries.

At the corner of the rues Rossini and Drouot is a spacious
building, containing auction-rooms, and at No. 8, rue Drouot,
is the Mairie of the 9th arrondissement, established in the Hotel
Aguado. Continuing along the rue Grange Bateliére, we find
to the left the Passage Verdeau, and opposite, the Passage
Jouffroy, leading to the Boulevard Montmartre. This, and
the Passage des Panoramas, on the opposite side of the Boule-
vard, are the most brilliant Passages of Paris. Close to the
latter stands the pretty Thédtre des Variétés. (sec Theatres.)

The adjoining Boulevard des Italiens, formerly known by
the name of Boulevard de Gand (1), is remarkable for its ele-
gant shops and cafés. At the corner of the rue Laffitte we see
the Maison Doréde, occupicd by a well-known restaurant,
There are other restaurants and coffee-houses of note on this
Boulevard: such as Tortoni’s and the Café Riche. The two
Passages de I'Opéra, on the same Boulevard, deserve a visit.
In the rue Marivaux is the Opéra Comique (see Theatres.)

The stranger will pass hefore some fine houses at the top of
rue Richelicu, built on part of the site of the Hotel Frascati, a
celebrated gaming-house, and then pass, by the rue St. Mare,
into the rue Neuve Vivienne. The shops of this quarter display
great clegance and taste.

Descending the rue Vivienne, we arrive at the Place de la
Bourse, on the west side of which is the Thédire du Vaude-
ville (see Theatres). Opposite stands :

Tue EXxcHANGE, or LA Bourse.—Meetings of merchants
for the transactions of business were held regularly for the
first time in 1724, at the Hotel Mazarin, rue Neuve des Petits
Champs, the residence of Law, the financier. During the re-
volution of 1789 they were removed to the Church des Petits
Péres, then to the Palais Royal, and next to a temporary build-
ing in the rue Feydeau. The present building was erected
in 1808-1826, by Brongniart, on the site of the convent des
Filles St. Thomas. The Bourse is a parallelogram of 212 feet
by 126, and surrounded by 66 Corinthian columns, support-
ing an entablature and attic, and forming a peristyle, which is
approached by a flight of steps extending the whole length of
the western front. Over the entrance is inscribed :—BoURSE ET
TriBunaL vE CommERcE. Theroof of this edifice is entirely iron
and copper. At the corners of the edifice are four statues,

(1) Thus named, because frequented by the legitimists, during
Louis XVilIl.’s stay at Gand, ai the time of the Hundred Days.
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placed there in 1852, those facing the Vaudeville representing
Commerce, by Dumont, and Consular Justice, by Duret ; and
# those facing the rue Notre Dame des Victoires, Industry, by Pra-
dier, and Agriculture, by Seurre. The Salle de la Bourse in
the centre of the building, on the ground floor, where stock-
brekers and merchants meet, is 116 fect in length, by 76 in
breadth. It is Doric, and surrounded by two tiers of arcades,
the basement of which, as well as the sides of the hall, are of
marble. Below the upper cornice are inscribed in separate
medallions the names of the principal mercantile cities of the
world. Over the central arch is a clock, and opposite a dial-
plate marking the motions of a weather-vane outside. The
hall is lit from the roof, and a deeply-coved ceiling is covered
with admirable monochrome drawings, in 16 compartments, by
Abel dePujol and Meynier ; the figures are 10 feethigh. (1) The
pavement of this hall, which will contain 2000 persons, is en-
tirely of marble. At its eastern end is a circular space, called
the parquet, railed round exclusively for the stock-brokers ;
another railed space to the left is for their assesseurs, or assist-
ants. Behind this is a room wherethe stock-brokers assemble be-
fore business. To the right are the chambers of the committee and .
syndicate of the agents de change, and of the courtiers de com-
merce.  On the left a wide staircase leads first to the offices for
transfers, then to a spacious gallery, supported by Doric co-
lumns, and to the Hall of the Tribunal of Commerce. At the
opposite end is the Court of Bankruptey; its ceiling is vaulted-
and painted in grisaille by Abel de Pujol, in allegorical com,
partments, representing Trades, Commerce, &c. From the gal-
lery a corridor extends all round, and communicates with other
public offices ; this gallery commands the hest view of the in-
terior, and of the decorations of the ceiling. Admittance to
the Bourse is free (2), except for the fair sex, who a e not al-

(1) The subjects are :—O0n the left, Commercial France accept-
ing the Tribute of the four parte of the World—Europe—Asia—
the personificalion of the town of Nantes —that of Rouen. In
front, the city of Paris delivering the keys to the Genius 6f Com-
merce, and inviting Commercial Justice to enter the walls pre-
pared for her—thg personification of the town of Lille—that of
BordeauX. On the.right, the Union of Commerce and the Arts
giving birth to the prosperity of the State—the personifications
of Africa—~America—Lyons—Bayonne. Above the entrance ihe

- City of Paris receiving from the nymph of the Seine and the
Genius of the Ourcq the productions of Abundance—persenifica-
tions of Strasbourg—Marseilles. '

(2) Before November 22, 4864, an entrance-fee of one franc
Wwas exacted, a regulation which was put inforce in 1857. The
annual spbscription for daily admiftance between 42 and 3 was
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lowed to enter without a permission from M. le Commissaire
de la Bourse, it having been found that the habit of visiting
this Temple of Plutus engendered a passion for gambling
among them. By way of compensation, many ladies indulge
their propensity for money speculations by loitering outsfde
the railing, or under the fine chestnut trees of upwards of 50
years’ growth, lately planted at a great cost on the lateral
spaces which skirt the monument. The business hours are—
for money transactions, from 12 {o 3; for mercantile pur-
poses, from 3 to 5. The stranger should not omit paying a
visit to the Bourse between 12 and 3, the bustle and animation
among the speculators being a most curious sight, while the
din caused by the outrageous bawling of the stockbrokers is
absolutely bewildering. This splendid edifice cost 8,149,0001r.

At No. 2, Place de la Bourse, there is the CHAMBRER OF
COMMERCE, and in the same building the small but well selected
Bibliothéque du Commerce, open daily to the public, holidays
excepted, from 10 to 4. In the rue de Richelieu is the

PrAcE Louvois.—Here the French Opera-house formerly
stood; but after the assassination of the Duke de Berri at the
entrance of that theatre, in 1820, it was removed, and a sub-
scription raised, to which the municipality contributed, for ercct
ing an expiatory monument on the site. To this Louis XVIII.
withholding his sanction, it was commenced under Charles X.,
but the revolution of 1830 interfered with its completion,
and in 1835 the space was decorated with a fountain, at a
cost of about 100,000 fr. It is now an elegant square co-
vering 1776 sq. metres ; the fountain, designed by Visconti, con-
sists of an ample octagonal basin of stone, out of which rises a
stone pedestal, with 4 genii of cast-iron, coated with copper
by galvanism, riding on spouting dolphins, supporting a
patera edged with human heads pierced for the water, and
the signs of the zodiac. In the centre of this stand four
bronze caryatides, representing the Seine, the Loire, the
Saone, and the Garonne, supporting another patera with
leopards’ heads around the edge, surmounted by an amphora
adorned with four human heads, out of which the water flows,
and falls over the figures into the basins bencath.

The long edifice opposite, in course of reconstruction, is the

BiBLIOTHEQUE IMPERIALE.—From the introdudtion of Chris-
tianity into France to the time of St. Louis, the few books
existing in the kingdom belonged to the numerous convents
which had been successively established, and were confined to

150fr., and for beyond that hour 75 fr. The City derived an
anuual profit of 600,000 fr. from thesc taxes, but public opinion
Wwas 80 much against them that they were at length relinquished.
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cogl:? of the Bible, treatises of the fathers, canons, missals, and
a Greek and Latin authors. St. Louis caused copies ta be_
made of all these manuscripts, and had them arranged in a
room attached to the Sainte Chapelle. ~ This collection the king
bequeathed to several monasteries. From St. Louis to ki
John, we have no historical notice of any royal library; an
even that possessed by the latter monarch did not exceed eight
or ten volumes, Charles V., his successor, who patronized
literature, caused many works to be copied, and others to be
translated; with these, and some that were presented to him,
he formed a library, consisting of 910 volumes. They were
deposited in a tower of the Louvre, called la Tour de la Li-
brairie, and consisted of iifuminated missals and other religious
works, legends of miracles, lives of saints, and treatises upon
astrology, geomancy, and palmistry. To afford literary per-
sons an opportunity at all times of consulting this library, a
silver lamp was kept constantly burning. This collection was
partly dispersed under Charles VI. The remainder disappeared
under the regency of the Duke of Bedford, who purchased it
for 1200 livres, and sent the greater part to England. Louis XI,
collected the books scattered through the various royal palaces,
to which he added several other collections; and, printing
having been recently invented, he purchased copies of all the
books that were published. In 1496, Louis XII. caused the
library of the Louvre to be transported to Blois, and also added
to the collection the libraries of the Sforza and Visconti from
Pavia, Petrarch’s collection, and the cabinet of Gruthuse, a
Flemish gentleman. In 1544, Francis I. had the whole removed
to Fontainebleau, and the catalogue of that date gives, as the
total of the collection, 1890 volumes, amongst which were 900
printed volumes, and 38 or 39 Greek MSS., brought from
Naples and deposited at Blois by Lascaris. This monarch
added greatly to the royallibrary, and first began the formation
of its celebrated cabinet of medals. llenry II. decreed thata
bound copy on vellum of every book printed should be deposited
in the royal library. In 1527, by the confiscation of the effects
of the Connétable de Bourbon, the library was increased ; but
it suffered considerably from the Ligueurs, who carried off some
of the most valuable manuscripts. Catherine de Médicis be-
queathed to the royal library a collection of medals and many-
scripts which she had brought from Florence. In 1594, Henry
1V. ordered the library to be transferred from Fontainebleau to
Paris, and placed in the Collége de Clermont (now Lycée Louis
le Grand), which was left unoccupied by the Jesuits, recently
expelled from France. It was next transferréd to the convent
of the Cerdeliers, and under Louis XIII., when it consisted of
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16,746 volumes, ta a spacious house in the rue de la
Harpe. Louis XIV. increased the treasures of the royal
library considerably, and opened it to the public. In
1666, Colbert bought two houses adjoining his residence .
in the rue Vivienne, to which the books were removed.
This extensive collection, daily swelled by presents,
purchases, &c., contained at the death of Louis XIV.,in 1715,

. more than 70,000 volumes. Under the regency of the Duke of

Orleans, it was removed to the present hotel, formerly occu-
pied by Cardinal Mazarin (1). Upon the suppression of the
monasteries in 1789, all the books l)elon%ing to them were de-
posited in the library, then called Bibliothéque Nationale.
During the Consulate and first Empire it was enriched by
treasures from the Vatican and other famous librarics of Eu-

" rope. The occupation of Paris by the allied armies, in 1815,
. caused the greater part of these to be restored, and the Biblio-
. théque Impériale resumed its tille of Biblivthéque du Ros,
* which it again changed in 1848 for Bibliothéque Nationale,

and in 1852 to Bibliothéque Impériale. An annual grant is

; made by government for the purchase of books, manuscripts,

engravings, maps, and antiquities. By a decree of 1858, the
Bibliothéque Impérialeis divided into four departments : 1. The
library of printed works, maps, and geographical collections ;
2. The manuscripts, gencalogies, autographs, &c. ; 3. Medals,
antique gems, &c.; 4. Engravings. All these departments are |
under the control of a responsible director, and cach department
is superintended by a conservator and assistant conservator.
The length of the building is 540 feet, its breadth 130 ; its
total surface, including the courts, is 14,200 squarc metres.,
The principal court is partly laid out as a garden. That
portion of the edifice which skirts the rue Vivienne and rue
Neuve des Petits Champs has been rebuilt during the present
reign, and the rest of the building is now undergoing the same
process by sections, so that visitors are for the present excluded
from most parts of the establishment herein mentioned. (2)

(1) Cardinal Mazarin having married his niece Hortensia dc
Mancini, in 1661, lo the Duke de ia Meilleraie, constituted him
liis sole heir on condition that he would bear his arms and
name, On the death of the cardinal the palace was divided ;
fhal part towards the rue Richelieu came into the possession of
his nephew, the Marquis de Mancini, and was called Hotel de
Neters. The other part, facing the rue Neuve des Petits Champs,
fell (e the share of the Duke de Mazarin (de la Meilleraie), and
bore the name of Hotel de Mazarin, till 1719, when the Regent
bought and gave it to the India Company. The Exchange was
afterwards established there, and then the Treasury.

{#) The new galleries are entirely built of stone and iron.
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Library of Printed Works.—The number of volumies con-
tained in this section is estimated at 1,800,000, exclusive of
300,000 pamphlets. The total length of the shelvesis 28
kilometres ; but in consequence of the alterations the rooms
are how encumbered with temporary book-cases, placed frans-
versally ; the works are nevertheless arranged so as to be
conveniently found when called for. In the rooms of this
department we find the model in bronzed plaster of the admi-
rable statue of Voltaire, by Houdon, the original of which is in
the vestibule of the Théatre Francais. There is also a model
of the Egyptian Pyramids, with the surrounding country. Here
likewise are specimens of ancient ornamental bookbinding.
Among other curiosities, there are two models in porcelain,
brought from Canton, and presented to Louis XIV., of the
celebrated Porcelain Towers of China ; also a piece of sculpture
in bronze, executed in 1721, by Titon du Tillet, called the
“‘French Parnassus,” its summits and slopes covered with
figures in classic attire, representing the most celebrated
writers, cach occupying an elevation proportionate to his
merit. There are also busts of Jean Paul and Jerome Bignon,
and of Van Praet, and an Egyptian bust of porphyry. The

Collection of Maps and Globes is very curious and complete,
eontainieg about 300,000 maps, charts, views, &c. ; the topo-

hy of Paris alone occupies 56 large folio volumes. More
than 500 folios are filled with the plans, general views, and
details of every place of note, and there is a complete set of
civil, military, and marine maps and plans. In therooms are
tables and seats for students and amateurs. The

Collection of Manuscripls consists of about 125,000
wolumes, in Greek, Latin, Oriental, French, and other languages,
including 30,000 which relate to the history of France. The
catalogue of the manuscripts alone fills 24 volumes, “esides
ample sspplements to each. Many of the old bindings are very
costly, and most of them enriched with carvings of ivory, and
precious stones. The most remarkable room of all is a superb
gallery, which existed in-the time of Cardinal Mazarin. Its
length is 140 feet, and its breadth 22. The ceiling, painted in
{resco, by Romanelli, in 1651, represents various subjects of fa-
bulous history, in compartmerits. In this gallery arc preserved
wery valuable and curious manuscripts. Ameong themare: a
Latin manuscript of the VIth century, on papyrus ; the
manuseripts of Galileo ; letters from Henry IV. to Gabrielle
d’Esirées; the prayer-books of St. Louis and Anne of Bri-
tanny, and one which belonged in succession to Charles V.,
Charles IX., and Henry III., and bears their signatures, all
beautifully written on vellum, and richly illuminated; the
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manuscript of Telemachus, in Fenelon's own hand ; autograph
memoirs_of Louis XIV., &c. The mostancient manuscripts now
in this collection are some missals of the fifth century.
Among the foreign manuscripts are some Coptic, Persian, In-
dian, Arabic, Ethiopian, Chinese, Japanese, Armenian, Siamese,
&c., remarkable for their beauty. A collection of autogragh
letters, of HenryIV., Louis XVI., Turenne, Mme. de Maintenon,
Voltaire, Mme. de Sévigné, Racine, Moliere, Corneille, Boileau,
Delille, Bossuet, Mlle. de la Valli¢re, Franklin, Rousseau, Lord
Byron, Montesquicu, and the Golden Bull of the Emperor Fre-
deric II., with its seal (1220) are arranged under glass frames,
At the extremity of the gallery is a fac-simile of a record of the
year 781, in Chinese and Syriac, found at Canton in 1628,
giving an account of the arrival of Syrjan missionaries in
China, in the 7th and 8th centuries. The reading-room of the
manuscript department is open fo students daily (1). The
Cabinet of Medals and Antiques forms a distinguished part
of this noble establishment, and besides a valuable addition of
6,000 coins, transferred hither from the Musée Monétaire
(see p. 359) including 2,000 French coins, has lately received
a princely donation from the Duc de Luynes, consisting of
200,000 medals and coins, bronzes, engraved precious stones,
cameos, and other articles, both antique and of the Middle
Ages, valued ¢n toto at 1,400,000 fr. Many of them are
very rare, and some unique ; the series of Roman coins is
remarkable (2). At the revolution of 1789, all the an-
tiques in the treasuries of Sainte Chapelle and the Abbey
of St. Denis were added to this cabinet; it also includes
the superb collection of the Comte de Caylus. Among the
most remarkable relics here preserved there are two large
carved silver discs ; the lesser one, found in the Rhone near
Avignon, is improperly called the shield of Scipio ; the larger,
found in the Dauphiné, is called the shield of Hannibal; also
some curious diptychs carved in ivory, Indian chess-men, and
a Babylonian relic, being a large oval black marble carved
with cuneiform characters, besides a vast number of cameos,
seals, intaglios, curious abraxas, talismans, and oriental in-
scriptions, each with its plaster impression beside it. Some
of the glass stands contain modern cameos of beautiful execu-
lion, various curious objects found in the tomb of Childeric,
and a large cameo representing the apotheosis of Augustus;
two Etruscan vases, found at Agylla, and presented by Prince

(1) To procure a manuscript the number of the volume must
be given to the librarian.

(3) Visible on Tuesdays and Fridays, with tickets to be ob-
lained at the Secretary’s office.
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Torlonia to Louis Philippe (1). There are likewise full-length
})onraits of Louis XIV. and XVIII., some ancient busts, Chinese
urhiture, a bust of Barthélemy, and a few books on archeeology,
We trust that the reconstruction of the edifice will not involve
the loss of the valuable frescoes of Vanloo, Natoire, and
Roucher, which adorn the walls of the principal room con-
taining this precious collection. The former represent Apollo
and the Muses ;. the features of Louis XV. being easily recog-
nized in those of the god. A catalogue has been published.

The library also possesses the porphyry-bath of Clovis,
in which tradition represents him to have been baptised.
There is likewise a Bulletin published at Canton during
the first war with China, for the edification of the Chinese,
eontaining a most faithful account of the total destruction
of the English fleet by the Celestial junks, and of the cap-
ture and public execution of Commodore Bremer; it is
ornamented with a rude coloured  engraving of an Eng-
lish frigate and steamer. The

Collection of Engravings, which is opeh to students, is situ-
ated on the ground floor of the wing opposite the entrance.
About 1576, under the reign of Henry III., Claude Mangis,
Abbot of St. Ambrose and almoner to the Queen, first
conceived the idea of forming a cabinet of engravings. His
connection with Marie de Médicis putting him frequently
in communication with the Florentines, he enriched his
collection with the works of the hest Halian engravers.
Jean Delorme, physician to the Queen, having inherited
the collection of the abbot, added it to another col-
lection formed bﬂwthe Abbé de Merolles, both of which, being
ﬁurehased by Colbert in 1667, were placed in the rue Riche-
eu. The abbé’s collection comprised 440 volumes, containing
about 125,000 prints, and to- this were afterwards added other
acquisitions—that of Gaigniéres, in 1711; of Beringh n, in
1731 ; of Marshal d’Uxelles, in 1753 ; of Begon, in 1770 ; and
several others léss considerable. This collection now occupies
a splendid gallery, built by Mansard, the exact counterpart (the
frescos excepted) of the Gallery of Manuscripts-(see p. 224),
under which it is situated. It has eight windows ; the engrav-
(1) It is worlhy of observation that, during the pillage of the
revolutions, thjs Library, notwithstanding its valuable collee-
tion of gems, medals, coins, &c., was always respected; but
the thiaves of Paris were less scrupulous, and on Nov. 5, 1831,
the numismatic department was entered by night by twoe cenviets
named Fossard and Drouillet, and plundercd of 2 vast quantity
of valuable coins and medals.” A portion of them were
brought to light again in 1837, through the accidental arrest of
& notorions gang of thieves. '
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ings are arranged in commodious beok-cases, and there are
six tables with double desks for the convenience of stu-
dents, who are admitted on Monda;s, Wednesdays, Thursdays,
and Saturdays; on Tuesdays and Fridays it is, like the rest,
op.n to the public. It is preceded by a vestibule, hung with
epgravings in frames. The collection1s composed of 1,320,000
engravin s, contained in upwards of 9,600 volumes or port-
folios. The 15th century is represented by the works of 16
epgravers ; among which may be remarked an anonymous
piece, of the date 1400, as well as the productiows of Maso
Finiguerra, Martin Scheengauer, and lIsrael Van Mechen. The
engravers of the 16th century whose works are exhibited here
are 14 in number, comprising Albert Durer, Marc-Antony
Raimondi of Bologna, &c.; besides. a piece curious as being the
production of Jean Duvet, the first French engraver, born
in 1485. Fifty-one engravers, among whom are some of the
celebrated painters of Germany and Italy, as well as some
French engravers of merit, form the historical series for the
17th century, and their works include some magnificent plates
of the age of Louis XIV. The collection of the Chevalier
Hennin, relating to the history of France, was added i 1863.
This series comprises about 20,000 pieces, several of the
time of Henry IV. The series for the 18th and 19th cen-
turies are too numerous and-too well known to need de-
scription. Persons desirous of examining the volumes should
ask, in the schools of Italy, for the works of Michael Angelo,
Raphael, Titian, Correggio, the Carracci, and Guido ;—in
those of Germany, Albert Durer and Holbein ;—in those of the
Netherlands, Rembrandt, Rubens, and Van Dyck ;—in those
of France, Poussin, Le Brun, Le Sueur, and Rigaud. Amongst
the foreign engravers, the works of Raimondi, Hollar, Crispin
de Pus, Goltzius, Bloemart, and Romain de Hogue ; among the
French, those of Callot, Mellan, Silvestre, Nanteuil, Picart,
Le Clerc, Edelinck, Audran, Le Bas, Wille, Moreau, and Du-
lessis Bertaux. In natural history theré are many plates of
irds and plants, beautifully coloured, such as the pigeons of
Madame Knip, the birds of paradise of Levaillant, the flowers
of Prevost, the liliacee and roses of Redouté. The portraits,
to the number of 90,000, are divided in each country according
to the rank or profession of the individuals, and are classed in
chronological or alphabetical order. The series of the costumes
“of various countries and different ages cannot be viewed with-
out interest. The history of France fills 85 portfolios up to
1789, and 50 morchave been addedsince that time ; when com-
pletely classified, it will form a collection of 150 volumes. The
Reading-Room, for printed works, which is different from
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that of the manuscripts, is situated on the first floor of the
same wing (1). Tt is a long gallery, generally crowded by the
studious of all classes, among whom will be seen several ladies.
Tables occupy the centre. The visitors are obliged to provide
themselves with pens and paper. No conversation is permitted.
To procure books the title must be given in writing to one of
the librarians, together with the name and address of the
applicant. Literary persons well recommended are allowed
to have books out of the library; foreigners can also obtain
this favour, but only by an official application from their
ambassador. The gallery is heated in winter by means of
stoves in insulated cellars, and is open from 10 to 4 daily,
holidays excepted. In an adjoining room, called Salle dgs
Globes, are two immense copper globes nearly 12 feet in dia-
meter, and executed at Venice, by Pictro Coronelli, by order of
the Cardinal d’Estrées, who in 1683 presented them to Louis
XIV., to whom they were dedicated. The works are arranged
according to the system of Debure, a celebrated bibliophilist.
On the ground floor are modern folio editions, on vellum, &ec.,
or copies remarkable for the richness of their binding. (2)
Students are admitted from 10 to 4, daily, except on hohdays.

Continuing along the rue de Richelieu, the stranger will
perceive the elegant v

FoNTAINE MOLIERE—at the corner of the street of that name.
This fine monument was erected by public subscription te the
memory of the immortal Moliére, the greatest comic writer that
France ever produced. It consists of a niche with two detached
Corinthian columns on each side, surmounted by a semicircular
pediment, ornamented with sculpture and dramatic attributes.
A statue of Moliere, in bronze, is placed in the niche on a
semicircular pedestal, in a sitting posture, and in the attitude
of meditation. On each side of the statue, and in front « . the
columns, are allegorical figures with extended wings, repre-
senting, one the humorous, and the other the serious, character
of his plays, and in the act of raising up their eyes towards him,
They each bear ascroll, on which are inscribed in chronological
order all the pieces written by Moliére. The basement isrichly

1) The new reading-room, which is nearly completed, occu-
pies the southern side of the Court, and forins a large square
36 metres each way. It roofing is of iron, supported by 416
cast-iron pillars connected by arches, which divide the room
into three parts. The walls are lined with book-cases, and three
tiers of galleries run all round.

(2) The catalogue of the Bibliothdque Impériale is making
rapid progress. The first volume, relating to the History of Franee,
has been finished under the direction of M. Taschereau.
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sculptured, and at its foot is a semi-octagonal basin to receive
the water, which issues from three lions’ heads. The in-
scriptions are: A Moliére. Néd Paris, le 15 Janvier 1622,
et wiort d Paris le 17 Février 1673, with the year 1844 over
the niche. The monument is 50 feet high, by 20 wide, and
isin the style of the time of Louis X1V. 1tcost 452,000 fr. (1)

Nearly opposite, No. 34, stands the house in which Molicre
died, bearing the inscription : Moliére est mort dans cetie
maison, le 17 février 1673, a I'dge de 51 ans.

PIPTH WALKX.

" Commencing this walk, which extends over part of the 2d,
9th and 1oth arrondissements, by the rue Vivienne, we find
the fine Passages Vivienne and Colbert, which formed part of
the .hotel and gardens of ‘‘the great Colbert,” and lead
through the rue Neuve des Petits Champs to the

PLACE DES VICTOIRES,—a circular space, 240 feet in diame-
ter, formed in 1685, by order of the Duke de La Feuillade, and
designed by Mansard. The architecture conmsists of Ionic pi-
lasters, upon an arcaded basement. In the centre was a gilt
pedestrian statue of Louis XIV., in his coronation robes, crowned
by Victory, and treading a Cerberus beneath his feet; at the
corners of the pedestal, four bronze figures of enslaved nations
represented the power of the monarch. In 1790, these figures
were removed, and are now in the Louvre, with the bronze bas-
reliefs of the pedestal. The statue was destroyed ori Aug. 10,
1792, and the place called Place des Victoires Nationales. A
colossal bronze statue of Gen. Desaix was erected here in 1806,
but was taken down in 1814, and melted to form the statue of
Henry IV., now on the Pont Neuf. The present splendid
equestrian statue of Louis X1V., by Bosio, weighing 16,000 Ib.,
was inaugurated Aug. 25; 1822. The monarch is habited as a
Roman Emperor, though with the peruke of his own time, and
crowned with laurel. Two bas-reliefs on the pedestal repre-
sent the passage of the Rhine by Louis XIV. in 1672, and the
‘monarch distributing military decorations. .

(1) Its inauguration {ook place on the 15th of January, 1844.
The Prefect of the Seine depositéd a box -<containing a riedal
struck for the occasion, an account of the erection of the monu-
ment, the works of Molidre, and a history of his life. Four ora-
tions were delivered : by the Prefect of the City ; by the Director
of the Académie Frangaise; by ofié of the-comdany of the Co-
médie Frangaise ; and by the President of {lie Subscription Com-
mittee. Deputations from literary societies were dlso present.
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Fronting the rue de Catinat is the .

BANQUE DE FRAKCE, erected by Mansard, for the Duke de la
Vrilliere, in 1620, and purchased by the Count de Tou-
louse, a natural sen of Louis XIV., in 1713. At- the
time of the revolution it was occupied by the Duc de Pen-
thicvre and the Princess de Lamballe, son and grand-daughter
of the C8unt de Tounlouse. The national printing-office was
afterwards established in it, until it was appropriated to its
present use in 1812. Its spacious apartments were formerl
gorgeously decorated, and the ceiling of the Galerie Dorée still
displays some beautiful paintings, by Frangois Perrier. The
most remarkable part of the buildings are the cellars where
all the bullion is kept. They are only accessible by a single
winding staircase, admitting but one person at a time ; and
in case of alarm they can be inundated, or filled with me-
philic vapours, so as to suffocate anyone attempting to enter
them. This palace is now being considerably enlarged, om
the side of the late rue Baillif, now suppressed (see p: 108).

In the Place des Petits Peres, we find the

EcLisE pES PETITS PERES, or DE NOTRE DAME DES VICTOIRES.
—This church, erectedin 1656, after the designs of P. Lemuet,
stands on the site of one dedicated by Louis XIII. to Noire
Dame. des Victoires, in commemoration of his victories, and the
capture of La Rochelle, and served as the chapel to a com-
munity of bare-footed Augustin monks. (1) The form of the
edifice is a Roman cross; its length is 133 feet, its breadth 33,
and its height 56, The portal, built in 1739 by Cartaud, is
louic and Corinthian ; the interior is Ionic. The chief works
of art in this church are seven large pictures by Vanloo in the
choir, the central one representing Louis X1II. and Richelieu
thanking the Virgin for the fall of La Rochelle, and e six
remaining ones illustrating the principal passages in the life
of St. Augustin, viz., to the spectator’s right, his baptism, or-
dination, and death; and on the opposite side his preaching,
his disputation with the Donatists, and the removal of his
relics. The other remarkable paintings are a Presentation of
the Virgin in the Temple ; the Immaculate Conception, by
Lafontaine, an Assumption, by Lavergne, and a Mater Dolo-
rosa, by Lafon. In the third chapel after the transept is the
monument of the celebrated composer Lully; under the soffit
of the door leading to it are Latin distiches in his honour. In

(1) This community was called ‘ Petits Péres,” because two
of the most zealous for the establishment of their order In Pa-~
ris, who were men of small stature, being introduced into the
anlechamber of Henry 1V., the king said, * Qui sont ces potils

érea-141” from which time thev retained the name.
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the first ch:gel to the right there is a colossal statue of St.
Peter execuled in bronze. All the piers of the nave are covered
with votive tablets of whitc marble, of uniform size. During
the reyolution of 1789 this church was used as the Exchange.

The RUE NEUVE DE LA BANQUE, a street openedin 1847, form-
ing a communication between the Exchange and the Bank of
France, contaios, at No. 8, the new Mairie of the 2d arrondisse-
ment, erected on the site of the Convent des Petits Peres. Adjoin-
ing are the new barracks of the Garde de Paris, remarkable
for their castellated design. Over the entrances there are
four statues, representing Force, Prudence, Vigilance, and
Public Order. The ground-floor is loop-holed. Opposite is the

Horer pu TiMBRE or Stamp-Office, erected at a cost of
1,298,000 fr.—In the tympan of the pediment of the arched
entrance there is an escutcheon surmounted by the Gallic cock,
flanked by the fasces of the Republic, and by two lions cou=
chant, by Jacquemard. Below are two medallions by Ou-
diné, representing Law and Security, and between them the
inscription : Témbre Impérial. The southern building con-
tains the offices of the Direction des Domaines; the northern
those of the Direction de ULEnregistrement.

In the rue Notre Dame des Victoires, No. 28, is the immense
establishment of the Messageries Impériales, communicating
with rue Montmartre, where, at No. 144, we see the

MARCHE ST. Josern, built in 1813 and 1814. AtNo. 176 is the

Horew »’Uzits, built by Ledoux, the property of M. Delessert.
The entrance is Doric, and adorned with trophies.

A sharp conflict occurred on Feb. 24th, 1848, at the entrance
of rue du Faubourg Montmartre, between the people and Garde
Municipale. At No. 27, boulevard Poissonniére, is the Buzar
de U'Industrie, with an arched ceiling, painted in compartments
by Fossey, Papin and Guersant, with portraits of Jefferson,
TFulfon, Lavoisier, Poussin, Vaucanson, &c. The central com-
partment represents France protecting the Arts and Manufac-
tures. Near this, at No, 23, is .

HoteL pE MONTHOLON, a building of the Ionic order, now
occupied by an upholsterer. At No. 14 is the Maison du Pont
de Fer, with an iron bridge connecting the back buildings with
the front and boulevard. It is composed of shops, warehouses,
merchants’ counting-houses, and the Café Pierront.

At No. 15, rue du Faubourg Poissonicre, we find the

CONSERVATOIRE IMPERIAL DE MUSIQUE (see p. 101).—The
entrance is Ionic, and surmounted by statues of the Muses of
Tragedy and Music, and those of Sappho and Orpheus. In the
_court is a small Theatre, which is denominated the Salle des
Concerts, sometimes used for theatrical representations. This



2312 FIFTH WALK.

establishment possesses a valuable Colleotion of musical in-
struments, bought in 1861 by the Minister of State from M.
Clapisson, an eminent composer, who has been appointed
keeper of it. Some of these instruments are highly interesting,
There is a harpsichord, with two key-boards, bearing the date
of 1612, but being the work of several artists and different
riods. On the front is a painting by Teniers, and the inside
18 from the pencil of Paul Baille. There are also several very
valuable spinnets, particularly an ltalian one of the time of
Louis XIV., with ornaments in engraved amber, and garlands
of flowers and Cupids by Poussin. There is another of the
time of Francis I., in ebony, richly inlaid with ivory, and
bearing theinscription—Francisci di PortalopisVeronen. Opus,
1523 ; likewise, one of the 16th century, in marquetry,
having the corners of the key-board ornamented with carya-
tides in box, carved with exquisite fineness. There are also
several harps, one of which, of the time of Louis XVI., in
Martin’s varnish, belonged to the Princess de Lamballe, and
bears her name in the inside ; also, a lyre, painted by
Prudhon, which belonged to Garat, and bears his initials ;
several theorbos, in ebony andivory ; a number of guitars, in
tortoise-shell, ivory, and marz‘uetry; mandolines and man-
dores of all nations, &c. ; the collection of which has been made
with great patience and research, and which it would be per-
haps impossible to tind elsewhere. This collection is visible
on application to the porter.
In the adjoining rue Ste Cécile is the church of
SAINT EuGkNE, designed by M. Boileau. The front is
Gothic, occupying a breadth of 88 feet ; the height is 82 feet,
and thelength 131 feet. The interior consists of anave separated
from the aisles by rows of six slender columns, supporting the
groins of the roof, while spacious galleries, accessible by wind-
ing staircases at each end, run along the aisles. All the co-
lumns, groinings, and arches, are of iron, painted and Jilt in
the Byzantine style. The apsis, where the high altar stands; is
- pierced with three large tri-composed windows, with subijectsexe-
cuted in'stained glass, representing : 1. The Holy Supper ; 2. The
Ascension ; 3. Christ in the Garden of Gethsemane. Flanking
the apsis are lateral chapels, facing the aisles : the windows
represent, each in.six ‘compartments, in that .to the .right:
Passages .from the life of St. Eugerie; in thatto the left: Pas-~
sages from the life of the Virgin, by Ledoux. The subjects of
- the 14 lateral windows, best viewed from the galleries, com-
prise the chief incidents of our Saviour’s life (1) in stained

- (1) Left gallery on eiitering: 1. The Holy Family; 2. Siineon
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glass. Those on the ground-floor, by Séguin, form the series
of the Via Crucis.

The rue du Faubourg Poissonniere meets, close to the in-
fantry barracks at No. 82, the new

RUE LAFAYETTE, one of the longest thoroughfares of Paris,
ar.d now continued to the rue Laffitte. Following it to our
left, we arrive at the

SQuARE MONTHOLON, a new public garden, covering a space
of 4,807 square metres, and tastefully arranged with a grotto,
a cascade, and gravel-walks between beds of flowers and or-
namental shrubs.

A few steps further on we find the Place Cadet, where a
coffee-house commemorates by its name ‘¢ Aux Porcherons,” a
favourite place of resort of the lower ordérs in the last century.

At No. 23, rue Lamartine, there is a synagogue of the Por-
tuguese rite. The interior is plain.

In rue Rochechouart, (1) corner of rue Pétrelle, there is a
spacious building, called Cité Napoléon, originally built for
-workmen ; but the regulations of this establishment not being
to their taste, it was subsequently let out to different occu-
pants of all ranks (2).

In the Avenue Trudaine, now one of the finest in Paris,
stands the Abattoir de Montmartre (see p. 276) and nearly
opposite the new Ecole Commerciale, of simple but elegant
design, fronted by a spacious court (see p. 101).

The rue de Dunkerque, opposite, leads to the Place du Nord,
intersected by the new

BoULEVARD DE MAGENTA, which reaches northward to the
exterior Boulevard des Poissonniers, and is to meet the in-
terior Boulevards at the Chateau d’Eau.

blessing the infant Jesus; 3. The Adoration of the Magi; 4. An
Angel ministering to Jesus ; 5. Jesus aiding Joseph in his craft ;
6. Jesus disputing in the Temple; 7. St.John the Baptist preach-
ing. In the opposite gallery: 8. Christ delivering the Keys to
Petery 9. Christ calling Children' around him; 10. The Adul-
ttess; 11. Christ healing the Blind:; 12. Christ-conversing with
tre: Woman of Samaria; 13. Christ preaching on the Mount ;
and 14. Christ at the Feast of Cana, - .

-(1) Where the barridre of this name stood, a murderous comba
took place on June 25, 1848.. The insurgents had erected three
formidable barricades, outside the octroi wall, which they had
pierced with loop-holes. The National Guards of Rouen, who
had come {0 the succour of Paris, took this stronghold after an
obstinate struggle. : o

(2) Houses for workmen are building at La Chapelle, the
Batigndlles, Faubourg St. Antoine, Grenelle, and near the
Avenues Lowendal and Ségur. See also pp. 44n, 280, 546, 587,
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Turning into the rue St. Vincent de Paule to the left, we
perceive the
HopiTAL LARIBOISIERE, begun under Louis Philippe, and
named after Mme. Elisa Roy, Comtesse de Lariboisiere, who
at her death left 2,900,000 fr. for the erection of this hos-
pital, which, however, has cost 10,445,000 fr. The plan of this
vast and fine edifice, which covers a space of 51,873 metres, is
rectangular., A tasteful colonnade fronts a spacious court,
enclosed by eight uniform pavilions separated from one ano-
ther by smaller courts and gardens. Each pavilion has two
stories besides the ground floor, and fifteen windows in front.
The offices and lodgings of the officials occupy the two first
avilions ; the others contain the sick- wards, dispensary,
athing establishment, and laundry. The chapel, which
is Doric and [onic, is at the cnd of the court, facing the entrance.
It contains a splendid monument to the Countess, by Maroc-
chetti. ~ A sarcophagus of black marble is surmounted by a
group, composed of an angel supporting a dying man and a
distressed orphan. The monument is flanked by figures repre-
senting Maternal Solicitude, and the Repose of Old Age. An
arched portico runs all round the court. Jt was opened in
1853, and contains 612 beds. Admission on Thursdays and
Sundays from 1 to 3. Architect, M. Gauthier (see p. 140.)
At the opposite end of the same street stands the church of
St. VINCENT DE PAULE, which has its front and principal
entrance facing the place Lafayette. This structure, the firststone
of which was laid in 1824, was inaugurated on Oct. 27, 1844.
Exterior. — A broad flight of steps, flanked by graceful
elliptical carriage-ways, gives access to the building, which
forms a parallelogram externally 243 feet by 108, and
internally 198 feet by 102. Two lofty square towers, with
Corinthian pilasters at the angles, rise from each side of a
beautiful Ionic portico, crowned with a triangular ped’ nent,
with double ranges of fluted columns. In the field of the Ee-
diment is sculptured the figure of the patron saint, with Cha-
rity and Religion by his side, and sisters of Charity kneeling
before him, while compassionate females afford nourishment to
foundlings. The attic above has statues of the four Evangelists,
by MM. Valois, Foyatier, and Bruau. Statues of St. Paul and
St.John the Baptist are seen in the niches of the towers, each of
which has a dial-plate, one for the hours, and one for the day
of the month. The bronze gates of the principal entrance
represent in different compartments Christ and the apostles.
Interior. Over the principal entrance, the cornice and
jambs of which are profusely sculptured znd gilt, the visitor
ill observe the sprendid organ, by M. Cavallier, placed
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there in 1852, and a circular window, representing in stained
- St. Vincent de Paule surrounded by the Sisters of
harity. The body of the church is divided, by four eustyle
rows of eleven Ionic columns each, into a nave and four aisles;
tue side aisles are each separated by richly-gilt bronze railings
into four lateral chapels; similar railings line the intervals of
the columns throughout the church, and divide the nave from
the semi-circular choir, which is surmounted by a semi-cupola
ierced with a skylight, and supported by fourteen Ionic co-
umns. An arch 60 feetin height, richly sculptured on either
surface, gives access to it from the nave. The stalls of the
choir are richly carved in oak with figures of saints, and the
same taste is observable in the decorations of the pulpit and
other wooden furniture of the church. Sixteen gilt candelabra
of exquisite workmanship are placed along the stalls, and four
colossal ones with foliaged stems stand before the high altar,
which consists of an arch and pediment resting upon six clus-
tered and richly foliaged columns. The allar-piece is a Crucifix
of bronze, and the table of the altaris adorned with a bas-relief
of the Last Supper. Behind the choir is the Lady Chapel, with
abeautiful image of the Virgin and Saviour on stained glass in
the window. The lateral chapels also have stained windows,
severally representing, in the aisle to the right, St. Francis de
Sales, St. Elizabeth, St. Martin, and the Baptism of Christ; in
that to the left, the Saviour, St. Denis, Ste. Clotilde, and St.
Charles Borromeo. The chapels are covered with bays of
roofing, painted and gilt; and in keeping with these is the roof
_of the nave, supported by eleven plain triangular trusses, and
resting over the gallery of the nave, fronted by Corinthian
columns. The frieze is adorned with portraits of canonized
pontiffs; and groups of apostles, prophets, martyrs, fathers
of the Church, and holy women, painted by Flandrin. The
- semi-cupola of the choir, painted by Picot, represents the
Saviour, surrounded by Angels, with St. Vincent de Paule
at his feet. These works of art have cost the City 256,300fr,
Architects, MM. Lepére and Hittorf.

The PLACE LAFAYETTE, in front of this was the scene of a
bloody conflict in June 1848. Following the rue Lafayette
eastwards, we see, facing the Boulevard Denain, the new and
magnificent front of the

NorTHERN RAILwAY TERMINUS, leading to England and
Belgium. The facade, 180 metres in length, is composed of
two lofty corner-pavilions of Ionic design, connected by two-
storied Doric galleries with the main central pavilion, 38 metres
in height, and consisting of a lofty central arch and two
small lateral ones, crowned with two raking cornices forming
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a gable. Doric colonnades connect the piers of the arches.
Twenty-three statues adorn this front; the principal are:
Paris, by Cavelier, occupying the topmost point ; then Brus-
sels and St. Petersburg, by Jouffroy ; Amsterdam, by Guméry ;
Francfort, by Thomas ; London and Vienna, by Jaley ; Berlin,
by Péraud, and Cologne, by Morecau. The other statues,
by various eminent artists, represent Amiens, Lille, Beauvais,
Cambray, St. Quentin, Boulogne, Compicgne, Rouen, Arras,
Laon, Calais, Valenciennes, Dunkirk and Douai. Laterally,
the departure-gallery to the left, and the arrival-gallery to the
right, present a series of Tuscan pilasters, ending in pavilions
similar to the corner ones of the front. The surface covered
by this splendid terminus measures 40,000 square metres ;
the arrival and departure sheds in the centre are 70 metres in
breadth, and 230 in length.

Turning northward into the rue dn Faubourg St. Denis, we
see at No. 200 the

MaIsON IMPERIALE DE SANTE, (see p. 143). The pre-
sent edifice was built in 1858, to replace one further down.
it occupies 12,000 square metres of ground, and contains 300
beds, besides baths, gardens, &c.

At the junction of the rue du Faubourg St. Denis and the
Boulevard de Magenta, we find, at No. 107, the

PRISON ST. EAZARE, formerly a convent of the Lazarists,
or Priests of the Mission, now a prison for female offenders
(see p. 78, &c.) It was once a place of much cele-
brity, and in remote times the remains of the kings and
queens of France were conveyed to the convent of St. Lazare
previous to being transported to St. Denis. To see the interior
apply by letter to the Prefect of Police. Returning to the
boulevard by the rue du Faubourg St. Denis, we find the

PorTE ST. DENIs.—This triumphal arch, which stands
upon the site of the Porte St. Denis, built under Charles 1X.,
was erected by the City of Paris in 1672, after the designs of
Blondel, to. celebrate the rapid victories of Louis XIV.,
It is 72 feet in height; the principal arch is 25 feet wide,
and 43 in height, and in the piers are two arches, 5
feet in breadth by 10 in height. Over the lateral arches
are pyramids in relief rising to the entablature, and sur-
mounted by globes bearing fleurs-de-lis and crowps. Their
surfaces are sculptured with military trophies, and on those
towards the city are colossal allegorical figures of Holland and
the Rhine. Those towards the fanbourg have lions couchant
and trophies. Above the arch'is a bas-relief : Louis XIV. on
horseback, crossing the Rhine, at Tollhuis; on the- frieze, in
bronze letters : Lubovico MaGNo. The bas-relief of the oppe-
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site side represents the taking of Maestricht. In the spandrils
are figuresof Fame. On the north side is the inscription :
Quod frajectum ad Mosam XIII. diebus cepit.
Prefectus el Ediles poni ce. anno Domini MDCLXXIII,

To the south :

Quod diebus vix sexaginia Rhenum, Wahalim, Mosam, Isalam
superavit; subegit provincias tres, cepil urbes munitas qua-
draginta. Prefectus et £diles poni ce. anno Domini MDCLXXI1J,

The sculptures are by Michel Anguier. This monument, which

cost the City of Paris 500,000 fr., and is one of the finest

works of the age of Louis XIV., is famous for the sanguinary
contests which took place around it in July 1830, and the first

conflict which ushered in the insurrection of June 1848,
Turning westwards into the boulevard, we find the Bazaar

Bonne Nouvelle, a building for exhibitions and various per-

formances, and further on, the Gymnase Dramatique (see

Theatres). Crossing the boulevard, we find at the corner of

the rue de la Lune, the church of
NoTrE DAME DE BONNE NOUVELLE.—On this spot stood the

church of St. Barbara, erected in 1551, but destroyed during
the siege of Paris in the wars of the League, in 1593 ; it was
rebuilt in 1624. The tower of this second church is still
standing. The present church, rebuilt in 1825, has a Doric
pedimented front, and consists of a nave and two aisles sepa-
rated from it by arches resting upon Doric columns. The
choir is semicircular ; the works of art in this church are :

1. Chapel facing the left aisle ; the Assumption, and Christ

blessing little children, by Bourdon. 2d. St. Elizabeth of Hun-

gary praying ; 3d. The Virgin crushing the serpent ; her presen-
tation in the Temple. 4th. LadyChapel: tenfrescos by Hesse, re~
presenting the Annunciation, the Visit to St. Elizabeth, king

David, St. John, St. Joachim, St. Anne, St. Elizabeth, St. Za-

chary, St. John the Baptist, and St. Joseph. 5th. St. Vincent

de Paule preaching. 6th. The Apotheosis of St. Peter of Alcan-
tara. Over the door of the sacristy is a picture of Queen

Henrietta and Anne of Austria receiving the cross from an

angel ; and as a counterpart to this, over a similar door in the

western aisle, is Queen Henrietta, and St. Francis de Sales,
holding Louis XIII., still in his boyhood, by the hand, and
pointing to the church of St. Barbara. The other two
children by their side represent Elizabeth and Christine, sisters
to Louis XTII. These paintings are interesting as contemporary
compositions. In the chapels of the western aisle are Ste.

Ge{leviéve, St. Peter in vinculis, St. Nicholas, and St. Louis

assisting the wounded. Over the principal entrance is an En-

tombment, and, in a recess facing the western aisle, Ste. Ge-
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neviéve relieving the besieged Parisians, by Schnetz. Around
the choir are five paintings : the Holy Family, the Adoration
of the Shepherds, the Annunciation, the Adoration of the Magi,
and the Flight to Egypt. The frieze, by Pujol, represents
the Lord adored by the tribes of Israel.

SIZXTH WALX,

This walk, comprising the rest of the 1st and 2d arrondisse-
ments, may commence with

ST. GERMAIN L’AUXERROIS, parish church of the Palace of
the Tuileries,.—A church, founded on this spot by Childebert
in honour of St. Vincent, was'sacked and destroyed by the Nor-
mans in 886. In 998, King Robert rebuilt it, dedicated it to
St. Germain I’Auxerrois, and added a monastery to it, which
was subsequently endowed with a chapter and a school. The
community possessed the privilege of independent jurisdiction
until 1744, when the chapter was united to that of Notre
Dame. This parish, as it included the Louvre and the Tuile-
ries, was long considered-the royai parish, and the church was
frequently the object of the munificence of the crown. As
early as 1356, Etienne Marcel, Prevot des Marchands, stirred
up.his formidable insurrection within ils precincts. It was
from its belfry that the fatal signal was given and responded
to from the Palais (now de Justice) for the commencement of
the massacre on the eve of the Féte of St. Barthélemi, 23d
August, 1572 the bells of this church tolled during the whole
of that dreadful might. From a house that stood near its
cloisters, a shot was fired at the Admiral de Coligny, a short
time previous to that memorable tragedy. During the revolu-
tion of 1789, the edifice escaped with httle damage. On the
13th Pebruary, 1831, an attempt having been made to cele-
brate in it the anniversary of the death of the Duke de Berri, a
tumult arose, and everything within the church was destroyed.
(Sec p. 318) The church was then shut up, and remained so
till 1837, when it was repaired, and again restored to public
worship. - ‘

Exterior. The church is cruciform, with an octagonal
termination ; ithas a tower built in 1649. The principal front,
to the west, consists of a well-sculptured porch, with five rich
Gothic arches in front, the three central ones being higher than
the lateral oncs, and crowned with a foliated parapet ; the gabled
roof of the nave, flanked by two irregular turrets, rises behind.
This porch was erected in 1431-7, by Jean Gausel, at a cost
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of 960 livres ; the church itself dates from the regency of the
Duke of Bedford. The interior of the porch, painted in
fresco by Mottez, represents the chief teachers of the Christian
religion. In the central ogive, Christ on the Cross, sur-
rounded with saints. In that to the left, Christ preaching;
to the right, Christ on the Mount of Olives. Below are Mag-
dalen and the Virgin. The other ogives contain the four Evan-
gelists, the insiiration of the Apostles, and Jesusdisputing in the
Temple. The key-stones of the ceiling display the Last Supper,
and the Adoration of the Shepherds in bas-relief. On theinner
surfaces of the pilasters of the porch are figures in fresco of
Adam before nn({, after the Fall, Eve, Abel, Judas, Herodias,
Balthazar, and Absalom. All these figures, and the surrounding
decorations, are in the Byzantine style, being imitations, rather
too successful, of the decline of art.

Interior. The interior consists of a nave and choir with
double aisles. The aisle to the left is said to have been
built in 1564 ; the gallery of the communion in 1607, and
the high altar in 1612. Beginning from the right-hand aisle,
the works of art contained in this church are as followss 1st.
Chapel : Altarpiece, by Amaury Duval—Christ crowning the
Virgin surrounded by angels. Next to it, the Assumption.
Between the groins of the vault, cight angels., Windows :
containing fifteen saints on stained glass, and busts in the in-
tervals of the tracery. 2d. Right-hand transept: the Descent
from the Cross, a fresco by Guichard. Windows - the Assump-
tion, Christ disputing in the Temple, &c. In the centre of the
transept there is a holy-water basin in marble, surmounted by
an exquisitely-sculptured group of three children supporting a
cross, executed by M. Jouffroy from the design of the donor,
Mme. de Lamartine. 3d. Choir : Altar-picce, by Truclle : St.
Ambrose, St. Justin, and St. Jerome. Opposite : St. Germain
blessing St. Genevicve, by Pajou. Window : Christ between
Popes Leo and Gregory. 4th. Christ naming St. Peter his suc-
cessor, by Mottez. Window : St. Peter. 5th. Window: Christ
and his disciples. 6th. Door of the Sacristy, frescos by Mottez ;
below, St. Martin sharing his mantle with a poor man; above,
Christ, seated heside the Virgin, returns him his mantle ; the
Virgin is in the act of rewarding the widow who had given
her ‘mite to the poor. Over the door : St. Germain and Ste,
Geneviéve seated on a throne, receiving from the Curate of the
parish and a sister of Charity the church of St. Germain I’Au-
xerrois restored to worship. Beneath is the motto, Divino
cullui restitutum A. D. 1837. 7th. painted by Guichard,
- with passages of St. Landry’s life, encloses the remains of
that saint, the founder of the Hotel Dieu, and has two monu-
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ments in marble of the Chancellor Aligre and his brother. 8th,
painted by Guichard, contains an Entombment in bas-relief,
and a fine marble statue representing an angel in prayer.
9th. painted by Couder : the Birth and Death of the Saviour,
his Assumption, and the Glory of God. Window : chief pas-
sages of his Life. 10th. Window : St. Vincent and St. Ger-
main. 11th. Scenes from the Life of Ste. Genevieve, by Gi-
goux. 13th. St. Charles Borromeo visits the plague-stricken
at Milan; a Last Supper. Window: St. Charles. 14th. St.
Vincent de Paule affording relief to foundlings, by Truelle.
15th. Chapel of St. Louis : an ancientmonument of Tristan and
Charles de Rostaing with their statucs in marble, in the act of
prayer; the Assumption of the Virgin, by Degeorges. 16th.
Ste. Clotilde in the window. 17th. a remarkable ancient alto-
relievo in oak, representing the Passion in various compart-
ments. Window : a Mater Dolorosa in stained glass. Those
of the following chapels represent severally St. Mary Mag-
dalen, St. John the Baptist, and St. Michael, between figures
of angels. The window facing the left aisle represents Pope
Gregory VIL., Charlemagne, and Pepin. Both the transepts
have specimens of old stained glass in excellent preservation.

The ground in front of this church has been planted with
chesnut trees, while arichly sculptured Gothic belfry, consist-
ing of an octagonal tower with pinnacles, standing on a square
basement, is sitnated between the church and the

MAIRIE DU 1°° ARRONDISSEMENT.—This Mairie replacesone
Yocated in the rue du Chevalier du Guet, now demolished. (1)
The edifice, designed by M. Hittorff, is built in a mixed style,
80 as to form as much as possible a counterpart to the
church. Thus, it has a porch closely resembling that of
the latter, except that the arches are round instead of
pointed. It has also a gable flanked with two turrets, and,
like that of the church, adorned with a large rose- window.
On ils site there formerly stood an hotel called the Maison du
Doyenné, where Gabrielle d’Estrées, Duchess of Beaufort, and
Henry 1V.’s mistress, died, April 9th, 1599. :

The FONTAINE DE LA CROIX DU TRAHOIR, at the corner of
the rue de I'Arbre Sec, was erected under Francis I., and re-
built by Soufflot in 1775, Between the windows is a nymph,
by Jean Goujon. Turning to the left we find

(1) This street was so called because it contained the hotel of
the Chevalier du Guet, or chief of the night patrol, instituted as
early as 595, under Clotaire II., and at that time composed
of citizens, who undertook the duty by rotation, once in three
‘weeks. The Chevalier du Guet was generally a distinguished
mobleman. Before the house was a large common, adjoining
the old fortress of the Grand Chatelet. The rue des Fossés St.
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'The ORATOIRE.—This spacious churchwas built forthePrétres
de I'Oratoire, in 1621,by Lemercier ; but that community hav-
‘ing been suppressed at therevolution of 1789, it wasused for pub-
lic meetings of the quarter, until 1802, when it was ceded to
‘tue Protestants of the Confession of Geneva. The frontis Doric
and Corinthian ; the interior Corinthian, with an arched
ceiling. Service is performed here every Sunday in French.
'The eloquent M. Coquerel is one of the ministers ; the Rev. Mr.
Spurgeon preached here in Feb. 1860 to a large audience.

Nearly opposite, at 130, rue St. Honoré, there is a branch-
office of the Messageries Impériales, communicating with the
rue de Grenelle near the Passage Véro-Dodat, one of the
neatest in Paris.

The rue Mercier leads to the

HALLE Au BLE, a vast circular building, where the whole-
sale dealing in all sorts of grain and flour is carried on. In
the beginning of the 13th century the Hdtel de Nesle was
erected here by King Jean, who in 1232 made a present
of it to Louis IX., who in his turn ceded it to his mother,
Queen Blanche. In 1327 it became the property of Jean
de Luxembourg, king of Bohemia, and was called Hdtel
de Bohéme. In 1388 it belonged to Louis of Orleans, who, on
becoming king as Louis XII., converted it into a convent for
the Fifles Pénitentes. These were dispossessed of it by a
Bull from the Pope, to make way for a palace for Catherine de
Médicis, named the Hotel de la Reine. At her death it was
sold to Charles de Bourbon, son of the Prince de Condé, and

Germain I'Auxerrois was built upen the site entrenched by
the Normans when they besieged Paris in 885. It was here Ad-
miral Coligny was murdered on St. Bartholomew's Day, 4572,
The Hotel Montbazon, which slood at the northern corner of the
rue du Rouleand rue de Rivoli, then rue de Béthizy, was in after-
times inhabited by the beautiful Duchess de Montbazon, who was
loved so tenderly by the Abbé de Rancé, whom she admitled at all
times to her apartment by a secrcl staircase. The abbé having
heen absent on a journey of some weeks, returning to Paris,
hastened at once to the residence of the Duchess. He mounted
the staircase, opened with a private key the doors that lead to
her apartment, and, rushing into her salon, found—her head
Pplaced in a dish on the table, and several surgeons busily en-
gaged in embalming her bedy. The shocking spectacle had
such an effect upon him that he shut himself up for the
-rest of his days in the convent of La Trappe. The same house
was inhabited, in 1792, by the Marquis de Hurugues, the club-
bist and companion of Théroigne de Méricourt. The Hotel de
Ponthieu (now demolished) in the rue des Fossés St. Germain,
‘was the birth-place (in 1740) of Sophie Arnould, the witty ac-
Aress ; and in 4747 the painter Vanloo inhabited the same rooms.

16
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called the Hétel de Soissons, destroyed in 1748, The
present Halle was ‘built by Le Camus de Mesléres in 1767.
It is 120 feet in diameter, and its remarkable hemispherical
roof, constructed by Brunet, and resting on concentric circles
of iron, covered with copper, has a round skylight 31 feet in
diameter. An arcade of twenty-five arches passes round the
inner area; behind this arcade, under the double-vaulted roofs
supporting spacious galleries overhead, are piled the sacks
of flour; the centre contains sacks of grain. There are
here forty offices of flour and meal factors. The whole
can hold 30,000 sacks, but the average quantity is much
less. Two curious double staircases lead to the granaries
above, which are worth visiting to obtain a just idea
of the vastness of the place. The visitor, by placing himself
immediately under the centre of the skylight over the middle
area, and speaking loudly, will find a remarkable echo in the
building. At the southern part of the exterior is a Doric
column erected in 1572, by the famous Jean Bullant, for Ca-
therine de Médicis, whichis the only relic of the Hotel de Sois-
sons. Itis 95 feet in heighl, and was built for astrological
purposcs ; it contains a winding staircase, the lower part of
which leads to a small reservoir, belonging to the Fontame de
la Croix du Trahoir ; (see p. 240.) the upper part is accessible b
the Halle au Bl¢, but is uninteresting. An ingenious sun-dial},,
by Pingré, a canon of Ste, Geneviéve, is placed on its shaft,
and from the pedestal a fountain pours forth its waters.

The rue des Deux Ecus leads to an open space, lately occu-
pied by the Marché des Prouvasres. Here two of the pavilions
of the new Halles (see next page) have been erected, and two
more are to be built on the site of the rue de la Tonnellerie,
which is still tenanted by dealers in rags, old furniture, 8c.
This will lcad the stranger to the rue St. Honoré, where No.
3 is the house in front of which Henry IV. was assas ;inated
by Ravaillac. The street was exceedingly narrow at that time,
and the assassin, mounting on a spur-stone against the wall, was
able to reach the royal person. The bust of the monarch is on
a bracket in front of the house with the following inscription :

Henrici Magni recreat presentia cives
. Quos illi ®terno feedere junxit amor.

Turning into the rue de 1a Tonnellerie, No. 3, is a house erro-
neously said to have been erected on the site of that in which
Moliere was born(1). In the front of the houseis his bust with
an inscription to that effect. :

(1) The real birth-place of Molidre, according to the registers
of St. Germain I'Anxerrois, was at the caorner of the rue des
Viallles Etuves and rue St. Honoré. .
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This street leads to an immense area, the late site of the
Marché des Imnocents, once the cemetery of the church of
that name. The accumulation of human remains during 8 or
9 centuries in this ground had become so serious an evil that,
in 1786, they were all transferred to the Catacombs, and, the
soil being entirely renewed, a market was erected. This has
now been transformed into an elegant square, comprising a
surface of 2,058 square metres, laid out as a garden, mn the
centre of which stands the

FoNTAINE DES INNOCENTS.—This beautiful fountain, con-
structed by Pierre Lescot in 1551, at the corner of the rue
aux Fers, and sculptured by the celebrated Jean Goujon, who
was shot during the massacre of St. Bartholomew, while work-
ing at one of the figures, was removed to its present situation
in 1786. It originally consisted of only three sides ; the fourth,
or northern side, was added by Pajou at the time of its removal.
Four arches, the piers of which are faced with Corinthian
pilasters resting on pedestals, and crowned with a sculptured
frieze and attic, surmounted on each side by a pediment, sup-
port a small dome ; in the midst stands a vase, out of which the
water falls successively into six elliptical basins arranged
like stairs, and attached to each of the four sides of the base-
ment, which stands like an islet in the centre of a large cir-
cular basin on a level with the ground. The height is 42 feet.
The spaces between the pilasters are adorned with figures of
nymphs surmounted by the inscription—TFoNTIUM Nynpmis.
It is a valuable monument of the Renaissance des Aris.

At the western end of this place stands part of a long
building known by the name of Halle aux Draps, the roof
of which was destroyed by firein 1855. It is now used for
the sale of fruit by auction, but will soon be completely
pulled down. Close to this are the

NEw CENTRAL HALLEs, which have caused the dingy sheds
of the Marché des Innocents to disappear, and let the splendid
work of Pierre Lescot be seen in all its glory. The eight pa-
vilions erected here (1), have up to the present time cost.
25,073,167 fr. ; the loss on the operation with regard to the
previous demolitions is calculated at 68 per cent. of the cost.
Each pavilion is 120 feet by 100. Garden produce, fish,

(4) There is a ninth pavilion adjoining, but of a different
and much heavier design. 1t was originally intended to follow
that style throughout, but the dealers having complained to the
Emperor that the pavilion was too dark, the present construction
was ‘adopted, and this pavilion will be pulled down as soon as
those in course of erection are finished. At present butcher’s
meat is gold in it by auction.
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butter, cheese, fowls, game, and butcher’s meat, are now sold
here. The last pavilions to the west will border on the streets
encircling the Halle au BI¢, the axis of which exactly coincides
with that of the central street which bisects the Halles. The
eight existing pavilions are remarkable for lightness of design
and good ventlilation ; their roofs rest upon 300 cast iron co~
lumns, ten metres in height, and connected by dwar{-brick
walls. The rest of the space up to the arches is closed with
blinds of ground-glass plates encased at their extremities in
India rubber, to allow for dilatation. The flooring is partly
stone flagging and partly asphalt; the roofing is of zinc,
with large skylights over the carriage ways. The pavilions
for greens, butter, &c., are fitted up with neat stalls; that
for fish with marble slabs on cast-iron supports, with abun-
dance of water at command. There are eight electric clocks
over the principal arches, the apparatus being located in the
overseer's lodge of the south-eastern pavilion. The cellars un-
derground are worth seeing, and may be visited for a small
leer%:y applying at the overseer’s lodge of the pavilion nearest
the church of St. Eustache. The vaulting is of brick resting on
iron groins supported by 430 cast-iron pillars, forming a
curious perspective. Light is admitted through bulls’ eyes;
there arc wired cages for live poultry ; astone tank divided
into compartments by wired partitions, and provided with a
fountain, for the convenience of the fishmongers, and other
necessary contrivances for stowing away provisions and keeping
them fresh. Three parallel lines of tramways are to extend
from these cellars to a tunnel under the Boulevard de Sebas-
topol, which communicates with the Chemin de Fer de Ceinture.
By this means provisions will be conveyed to the'market in carts
drawn by horses, and by the same conveyance the rubbish
and sweepings of the marketsare cartedaway, being throwa in
through grated trapdoors.” Architects, MM. Baltard & Callet. (1)

The pavilions are surrounded by a broad foot-pavement
planted with trees. Fish is sold here wholesale from 3 to 9 in
summer, and from 4 to 9 in winter ; other articles from 6 to

{1) The total cost of these exiensive works is calculated at 12
anillions of francs, over and ahove the cost of 249 houses pulled
doewn to make room for them, which amounted to 27,000,000fr.
In the eight pavilions already built there have been employed
28,660 cubic metres of concrete, 2,704 tons of iron and cast iron,
:3,200,000 bricks, and 32,000 square metres of zine on the roof.
When the other pavilions shall be terminated, the total sur-
face of the halles, eomprising also the covered streets, will be
88,000 square metres ; the pavilions alone occupy 40,509. The
dealers pay 1 fr. per day to the city for fixed stalls, and 30c. for

temporary places.
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11 summer and from 7 to {1 in.winter. The Marché des Her-
boristes, for the sale of fresh medicinal herbs, is held on Wed-
nesdays and Saturdays. There is also the Marché au Pain,
daily supplied by bakers from the environs, who are allowed
to sell their bread here, on condition of its being cheaper than
the bread made and sold by the bakers of Paris. (1) This they
are enabled to do by the difference of the rent and general ex-
penses in the outskirts as compared with that within the walls. (2)

At the north-west corner of these markets is

St. EustacHE.—This church, begun in 1532, stands on the
site of a temple of Cybele. The facade, commenced by Mansard
de Jouyin 1754, being in the Italian style, harmonises very
badly with the interior, which is Gothic. Of the two square
towers designed for it, only one has been built in the Corin-
thian style, A new front, by MM. Baltard and Callet, is now
in contemplation for this church, which is also to be entirely
insulated.

Interior. The church is cruciform, and has a nave and
choir, with deuble aisles. The length is 318 fect; breadth at
the transepts 132 feet; height 90 feet. A triforium gal-
lery with paired arches runs below the large clerestory win-
dows of the naye, many of which are decorated with stained
glass. The keystones are all beautifully sculptured. Rose
windows of elaborate tracery adorn the transepts; and all the
fronts of the chapels have now been decorated in the Byzantine
style. In the 1st chapel, to the right on entering, is an inscription
on marble stating that the church was consecrated in 1637 (3).
The fine organ over the principal entrance, by Ducroquet, has

(1) Bread is sold in Paris by weight, and the price is fixed on
ihe 1st and 16th of the month by the Prefect of Police.

(2) The peasants and gardeners in the neighbourhood of Paris
arrive at the markels from midnight to 2 a.m., with their fruits
and vegetables, and from 4 till 8 wholesale dealing is carried
on. After that hour the retail dealers commence their {raffic.

(3) The following paintings in fresco adorn the chapels; 4lh
chapel : The Dream of Joseph, by Gourlier; 5ih. in the ogives,
the Father commiseraling the Sorrows of the Son, and the Spot-
less Lamb; on the wall below, the Son commiserating the Sor-
rows of Mankind, all by Magimel; right transept: St. John
the Evangelist, St. Mark, {he Entombment and Resurrection,
Temperance and Justice in medallions, all by Signol ; 6th. chapel,
the Adoration of the Heart of Jesus, and a Mater Dolorosa, by Lari-
viére; 7th, the Inspiration of St. Agnes, and her Martyrdom, by
Vauchelet ; sth. St. Anne devotingher daughter to the service of
God, and her death, by Lazergés; oth. some old frescoes, lately
revived, representing the Fall of the Angels, and St. Geneviéve
interceding for the City of Paris; toth. the Life and Apotheosis
of St. Andrew, by Pils; 11th, (an’issue to the Halles) illustra=
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cost 70,000 fr. Thehigh altar is of white marble, beautifully
sculptured. An elaborately open-worked parapet of marble
surrounds it, and connects some of the piers of the choir.
Many distinguished persons were buried here; among them
Voiture, Vaugelas, Lafosse, Homberg, Maréchal de la Feuil-
lade, Admiral de Tourville, Colbert, and Charles David, the
architect of the church, who died in 1650 aged 98. On high
festivals St. Eustache is thronged by amateurs of church music.

The Rues Coquilliere and Jean Jacques Rousseau lead to the

Hoter pEs PostEs (General Post Office), rue Jean Jac-
ques Rousseau, (1) —built by the Duke d'Epernon, and

tions of the virtue of Charity, by Lehmann; 12th. (with a stair-
case leading to the chapel of the catechists) Christ disputing in
ihe Temple, and blessing little children; flanking the deors,
St. Cafherine and St. Ursula; in the ogives, Religion and Cha-
rily ; a medallion with the Virgin, angels, &c. all by Signol ;
13(h. the Lady Chapel, inaugurated Aug. 15, 1858; it is one of
the most splendid in Paris ; the walls, columns, and arches being
all decorated in the Byzantine style. The three windows are
adorned with the figures of David, St. John the Evangelist, St.
Paul, St. Anne, St. Elizabeth, St. Zachary, St. John the Baptist,
Sl. Joseph, etc., in stain€d glass. The three magnificent frescoes
below, viz., the Virgin and Christ adored by angels; Prayer in
Adversily, and Happiness after Death, are by Couture; 14th.
passages in the life of St. Louis Gonzaga, by Bézard. The centre
of this chapel is occupied by a beautifal monument to Colbert.
This celebrated statesman is represented kneeling on a sarco-
phagus of black marble resting upon two plinths of the same
material, and flanked by two marble statues representing Fide-
lity and Abundance ; 15th. Miracles and Death of St. Peter the
Exorcist, by Delorme ; 16th. old frescoes revived, representing :
the Feast of Cana, Christ preaching, the Penitent Magdalen, the
Angel announcing the Resurrection ; 17th. old frescoes re ived:
the Virgin crushing the Serpent; her Presentation at the Tem-
ple, and St. John writing the Apocalypse; behind him stands
the Dragon with seven heads (Rev. xii.); 18th. passages in the
life of St. Geneviéve, by Pichon ; t9th, passages in the life of St.
Louis of France, his death, and apotheosis; left transept: Sts.
Maithew and Luke ; Christ bearing the Cross, and a Crucifixion ;
Divine Power apd Prudence in medallions, all by Signol.
Afler the transept, 21st: passages from the life of St. Eustace,
by Le Hénaff; 22d. Christ at Emmaus ; the Apotheosis of St. Mo-
nica; and an oil painting, by Descamps ; St. Monica presenting
St. Augustin to be ordained a priest; 23d: the Presentation of
the Virgin, the Flight into Egypt, the Carrying of the Cross, and
the Crucifixion, by Riesener; 24th, Christ delivering the keys
to Peter; Moses receiving the Tables; Christ healing the Sick,
and his Baptlism, by Marquis ; 25th, Adam and Eve driven from
Paradise; their labour; the Birth and Crucifixion of Jesus.
(1) Thisstreet was originally called rue Platridre, but in 1791
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considerably increased by Barthélemi d’Hervat, comptroller-
general of the finances, subsequently bore the name of d’Ar-
muaonville, till purchased by the government, in 1757, for the
General Post Office. The buildings have a handsome front
in the rue Coq Héron. (For postage, &c., see p. 7).

Turning to the left into the rue Montmartre, we find the
Passage du Saumon, famous for an insurrectionary fray in
1832. It leads to the rue Mentorgueil, where we find the
Halle aux Huitres, and close by, in the ruc Mauconseil, the
Halle aux Cuirs, built in 1784 on the sile of the Hotel de
Bourgogne, where the Confréres de la Passion (see p. 458)
used to give dramatic representations. This market is soon to
be transferred to the rue Mouffetard.

In the courtyard of No. 23, rue du Petit Lion, there is a
square tower partly masked by buildings. It formed part of
the Hotel de Bourgogne, the most sumptuous mansion of Paris
under Charles V1., and was built by Jean Sans Peur, after the
murder of his cousin the Duke of Orleans. Enlering the rue
St.. Denis (1), we see to our right, at No. 182, the church of

St. LEu ET ST. GiLES.—On this spot a chapel was erccted
in 1236, which, in 1617, became parochial. It was repaired
in 1320, and in 1611, the cheir was rebuilt. Georges Ca-
doudal, the conspirator under the Consulate, when pursued,
concealed himself in it for several days. This church is very
rich in velics ; it was the only one in which the priests ven-
tured to perform mass for the repose of the soul of the Princesse
de Lamballe, on the day of her horrible murder. A few days
after it was put up to auction as national property, and bought
for a trifling sum by two Jews, who converted it into a
warehouse for saltpetre. In 1802, when the churches were re-
opened for the Catholic religion, they let it for 3000 ir. a-year,
but subsequently increased the rent to 10,000 fr., which con-
tinued till 1813, when the City repurchased it for 209,312 fr.

the Municipal Body gave it the name ot J. J. Rousseau, who
occupied a small apartment on the fourth story at No. 10. s
primitive name was restored to it in 1816, but it has been
changed again 1o that of I. J. Rousseau since 1830.

(1) This street is one of the most ancient of Paris. According
1o an old legend, St. Denis marked it out with his footsteps while
walking with his head under hisarm to the place where he wished
to be buried. In 1197, it reached as far as the Rue Mauconseil,
and in 1594 it ended at the ramparts built by Francis 1., now the
boulevards. The Kings of France used 1o enter Paris on state=
oceagions by the Rue St. Denis, which was long the chicf street
of Paris. The bourgeoisie of this strect has always taken a great
part in the political troubles of the capital, from the accession of
Henry IV, down {o the insurrection of June.
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The front is gabled, and flanked by two square spired towers.
The interior consists of a nave and choir with aisles ; the ribs of
the nave spring from the capitals of clustered columns. In the
choir, the ribs unite in a highly-sculptured pendant boss.
Beneath the high altar there is a chapel comstructed by
the Knights of the Holy Sepulchre ; it consists-of 8 sepul-
chral Doric columns supporting a cupola pierced with a
skylight. In the aisle to the left on entering is the Chape}
of the Virgin; its walls are covered with numerous
slabs of white marble placed there as ex-voto’s by grateful
devotees. The paintings on the walls are : Christ healing the
Blind, by Colson ; an Annunciation, by Quantin; a Visitation,
by Lecomte; the Adultress, by Delaval, and a fine Madonna
and Infant of the Italian school. At the door of the sacristy is
a portrait of St. Francis de Sales, taken on his death-bed, by
Philippe de Champagne; and above, Christ on the Mount of
Olives. Next this is St. Charles Borromeo praying, by Dela-
val ; and below, a very ancient bas-relief, in wood, represent-
ing, in 3 compartments, the Kiss of Judas, the Flagellation, and
the Lord’s Supper. In the rightaisle we ind: St. Leu healing
an Infant, by Goyet; a Ste. Genevieve, and an Adoration of the
Shepherds. St. Leu heing considered a healer of the sick, the
kings of France, on their accession, used to visit this church
during nine days, 1o solicit health. A spacious baptismal and
two other chapels have been added in the .right aisle.
Proceeding northward, we find at No. 277, the Bains St.
Sauveur, and further on, the : -
ENTREPOT GENERAL DES GLACES, 313, rue St. Denis.—This
is a large plate-glass warehouse, which has replaced a royal
manufactory, suppressed in 1830. It belongs to two
companies, that of Montermé, and of Quirin and Cirey. (1)
The glass is cast at St. Gobain and at Cirey, near La Fere, and
polished at Chauny. It is then brought to Paristo be sivered
and sold. A glass 20 inches by 12 may be obtained for
about 8fr., while the largest may cost 10,000fr. Visitors
may see the operation of silvering, &¢., every day from9to 12,
on applying to the porter, to whom asmall fee should be given.
(1) The art of manufacturing mirrors was established in
France in 1634, and, in 4666, Colbert createl a royal manufac--
tory in the rue de Reuilly, Previous to that period, the finest
mirrors came from Venice, The glass employed in forming mir-
rors was dlown until 1688, when a Frenchman, named Thevart,
discovered the arl of casting it, which process was carried to a
high degree of perfection in 1688, by M. Lucas de Nchon;
the art of polishing waas invented by Rividre Dufresné. Under

Louis XVI. the largest glass made was 48 inches square. What
a contrast with those of our days ! :
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The rue du Caire higher up leads westward to the Place and
Passage’ du Caire; and the rue des Forges, to the left,
to the spot once known as the Cour des Miracles, the de-
scription of which will not be readily forgotten by the:
readers of Victor Hugo. Even up to the reign of Louis XIV.
it was the squalid receptacle of the most abandoned and de-
praved of Paris. The inmates had a slang of their-own called!
argot, still used by thieves, and were organized in bands. T
1667 this nuisance was partially suppressed. The site is now
a quiet commercial court, to which a glazed passage gives.
access. Some tradition is generally attached to the singular
names the older streets of this quarter bear (1).

SEVENTE WALX,

Tais comprises the rest of the foth, and part of the 4th
arrondissement. 'We may commence it with the

PoRTE ST. MARTIN.—This triumphal arch was buili i
1674, by Bullet, .a pupil of Blondel’s. It is £4 feet
wide, by an elevation of 54 feet, including the attic, the:
height of which is 11 feet. It is pierced by three arches ;
that in the centre is 15 feet wide by 30 in elevation;
the lateral arches are 8 in breadth by 16 in height. The
fronts display vermiculated rustics, and the spandrils are
adorned with bas-reliefs. Those towards the city represent the
taking of Besangon, and the defeat of the Triple Alliance,
those towards the faubourg the taking of Limbourg, and the
defeat of the Germans by Louis XIV. This prince is oddly re~
presented in the character of Hercules, with a large wig on, and
leaning on a club. Between the consoles of the entablature are:
military designs; in the centre is the sun, which Louis XIV.
took for hisemblem. On the southernattic is the inscription :

Ludovico Magno Vesontione Sequanisque bis caplis, et fractis.
Germanorum, Hispanorum, Batavorumque exercitibus Pref, et
Fdiles P, C, C. R. S. H. MDCLXXIV.

The northern one has the following:

Ludovico Magno, quod Limburgo caplo impotentes hostium.
minas ubique repressit. Pref. et £diles P. C. C. ann. R. S. H.,
MDCLXXYV.

Many a bloody encounter took place here in June, 1848.

A few steps to the east of this, is the Theatre dela Porte St.
Martin (see Theatres.)

Proceeding westwards, we find to our right the

(1) See HisTORY OF PARIS, 3 vols. Published by Galignani.,
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BOULEVARD DE STRASBOURG, opened in 1853, Several vast
and brilliant though not select coffee-houses, have sprung up
here, the most conspicuous of which is the Eldorado. (sce p.
474.) Higher up, to our right, is the church of

St. LAURENT,—built in 1429, and nearly rebuilt in 1595,
Its front, a mixture of the Doric and lonic, being out of keeping
with the rest of the building, which is Gothic, is now in course
of reconstruction. whereby the church, while it acquires ad-
ditional length, also contributes to the symmetry of the open
-space before it. In consequence of the works in progress
same of the pictures herein mentioned have been provisionally
removed. A tower with a small pointed turrct will be noticed
on the northern side. The interior is cruciform, with double
aisles and a circular choir, behind which is an elliptical Lady
Chapel. The key-stones of the ribs of the nave and transepts
are well-sculptured pendant masses of stone. The high altar,
by Lepautre, is profusely sculptured and decorated with
Corinthian columns of marble. The works of art in this
church are, beginning from the left on entering : st Chapel, St.
Vincent de Paule ; 2d. Byzantine allar-picee : the Adoration. bf
the Heart of Jesus ; above, Jésus, Mary, and Joseph ; opposite,
Christ commanding the Apostles to spread his word—all by Bre-
mond. The ceiling represents the four Evangelists, and busts
of angels in medallions. On one of the gilt key-stones is the
figure of St. Lawrence. Transept: St. Lawrence led to martyr-
dom, by Trézel. 3d. St. Vincent de Paule blessing the con-
gregation from the altar. 4th. The Lady Chapel is adorned
with coupled Tonic pilasters ; its cupola, painted in fresco, re-
presents the Martyrdom and Apotheosis of St. Lawrence,
Windows of the choir, cight sacred subjects representing the
Martyrdom of Ste. Apolline, that of St. Lawrence, &c. The
first ogive to the left represents the four evangelists and their
emblems, in fresco, by Galimard. Righl-hand aisle : 5th. The
Apotheosis of Ste. Genevieve, by Lancrenon. Transept: St.
Lawrence seized by the Guards, by Verdier. 6th. The Pre-
sentation in the Temple. 7th, St. Charles Borromeo relieving
the sick, by Laure, and Christ teaching.  8th.. The Baptismal
Chapel : Christ demanding Baptism, on canvass, by Brémond.
Mme. Le Gras, who, with St. Vincent de Paule, founded the
order of the Sisters of Charity, was buried here. -

Facing the Boulevard de Strasbourg, stands the

STRASBOURG RAiLwAY TErMINUS.—This splendid edifice
consists of four clegant pavilions, of two stories besides the
ground-floor, connected by arcades, thus forming, indepen-
dently of the¢ spacious court in front, an immense rectangle,
with a facade of 165 feet, and a length of 309. A supplemen-
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tary body, projecting at the back, makes the total length of the
building 410 feet. The portico connecting the front pavilions
is surmounted by a balustrade, behind which rises a magni-
ficent gabled arch, surmounted by a statue of Strasbourg,
and concealing the vaulted iron roof, which covers the arrival
and departure sheds, measuring 251 feet in breadth by 390
in length. A spacious propylaum, 60 feet by 18, gives access
to the sheds. The total height of the building to the summit
of the gable is 48 feet, and the total surface occupied by the
buildings is 558,000 square feet ; of which the covered sheds
alone take 98,190. The portico in front has 9 arches, on the
spandrils of which are sculptured the arms of the principal
towns which the line touchgs. "The gencral appearance of
the building is strikingly beautiful (see p. 3).

By the rue de Strasbousrg we enter the rue du Faubourg St.
Martin, whose wide and commodious foot pavements are
skirted with cast-iron - fountains, representing tritons and dol-
phins. At No. 8, ruc des Récollets, there is the new military
Hépital St. Martin, and crossing the canal, we find the

HériTAL ST. Louls, rue Bichat, No. 40.—An alms-house
or hospital existed here from very remote times, which was en-
larged by St. Louis. The present building, founded by Henry IV.
in 1602, was erected after the plans of the architect Villefaux. It
is a fine specimen of the architecture of that time, occupying a
quadrangle of 360 yards by 240, with 8 lofty pavilions in the
centre and angles. A spacious yard and gardens, with all the
requisite offices, enclosed by a wall and fosse, surround the
central edifice. Opposite the entrance 'in the first court is a
. statue of Monthyon. The wards are 144 fect in length by 24
' ir. breadth, and are 11 feet high on the ground floor, and from
20 to 25 on the upper. Adjoining is a small Gothic chapel,
the first stone of which was laid by Henry IV.; the frontis.
gabled, with niches displaying the statues of St. Louis and
St. Roch. Opposite is a gas apparatus for lighting the es-
tablishment, remarkable for being the first established in Paris.
Next is a vast wash-house, and a house for the Dames de St.
Augustin, 25 in number, who altend upon the sick. The hes-
pital, which is now receiving considerable improvements, is
said to have derived its name from having been originally
devoted to persons infected with the plague, of which St. Louis
died at Tunis, in 1270. -Strangers are admitted on Thursdays
and Sundays from 12 to 2 (sce p. 141).

In the opposite street we find the

ENTREPOT DES CHARGEMENTS, Where goods introduced into
Paris without paying the octroi duty are deposited by the
Owners, till the duty is paid. In the rue Alibert are the



252 SEVENTH WALK.

ENTREPRISE DES PoMPES FUNEBRES (see p. 39n.), and the
ENTREPOT DES SELS.—About 9,000,000 lb. of salt issue
hence for the annual consumption of Paris. Opposite, on the
southern bank of the canal, are the Docks Napoléon and the
" ENTREPOT DE LA COMPAGNIE DES DOUANES, Place des Ma-
rais.—This establishment, erected in 1834, by a joint-stock
company, for the reception of goods in bond, consists of a
spacious area bordering the Canal St. Martin, in which, be-
sides sheds, there are two warehouses 250 feet in length, with
a covered court between, for stowage. They are four
slories .high, and built of stone, with brick arches. Su-
gar, coffee, foreign wines, drugs, wool, cotton, &c., are
the principal goods stored here. they pay a moderate charge
for warehouse-room, and if not removed within three years are
sold to defray the expenses, the surplus being remitted to the
owners. Adjoining are the clerks’ offices, &c. For admission,
apply at the bureau, holidays excepted, from 9 to 4. The

DouaNE DE PARis is in the rue de la Douane, close by. A
double doorway leads into an arcaded court, with a glazed
roof, and medallions.on which are inscribed the names of
‘the principal commercial cities throughout the worlds Visitors
are admitted daily from 12 {o 4.

At No. 18, rue de la Douane, is the Conseil des Prud’hommes
(see p. 68). Adjoining it, is the Wauxhall, a public ball-room
{see p. 478), and the Entrepot des Glaces de Montlugon.

At No. 36, in the rue des Marais, is :

St. MARTIN, chapel-of-ease to St. Laurent, built in the By-
zantine style. The interior consists of a nave and two aisles,
‘without chapels. In the left-hand aisle are Ste. Genevitve en-
couraging the besieged, by Grenier ; St. Ireneus, bishop of
Lyons, receiving the slaves ransomed by his exertions, by
Reverchon ; St. Lawrence, by Cuny. In the opposite aisle:
St. Genevieve averting a storm by prayer, by Gre ider; St.
Peter, by Maurin; the Baptism of Christ, by Cuny.

At No. 20, rue du Chateau d’Eau, is the Salle Barthi-
lémy (see Balls), and at No. 43, a large market. The rue
de Lancry leads to the Boulevard St. Martin, where a
flower-market is held on Mondays and Thursdays. To the
right stands the Théatre de I’Ambigu, (see p. 468), and a few
steps to the left, the

CHATEAU D’EAu, an elegant fountain, designed by Girard,
and executed in 1811. It consists of four concentric basins,
receiving water from two elevated pater® which occupy the
centre, and from 8 lions of cast iron. This fountain cost
100,000 fr. Behind it stands the new edifice called the

CASERNE DU PRINCE EUGENE, occupying a space of 9,630
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square metres, with a front of 114 metrés. It has a central
and two lateral pavilions, and extends into the Faubourg du
Temple and rue de la Douane. It is built for 3,500 men.

East of this, lies the Boulevard du Temple, the northern side
of which was but lately occupied by several theatres, on the
spot where it meets the Boulevard du Prince Eugine. On
the opposite side there are various coffee-house, a café
chantant (see p. 474), a bazar, and the Théatre Dejazet.
Several severe conflicts took place in June, 1848, in the:
Faubourg heyond the Boulevards, which is otherwise uninte-
resling. At No. 42 stands a large house, which has replaced
a mean and small one, from an upper window of which
Fieschi discharged Liis Infernal Machine, on the 28th of July,
1835, with a design of taking the life of Louis Philippe, while
passing along the boulevards at the head of his staff, and by
which Marshal Mortier, Colonel Rieussec, and several other
persons, were killed, as well as a number wounded.

By the rue Charlot we reach the rue Vendome, where, at
No. 11, we find the Mairie of the 3rd arrondissement.

Entering the rue du Temple, we see the

MARCHE pu ViEUX LINGE, a market for old clothes and
stuffs, shoes, and tools ; and covering an area of 10,920 square
metres, valued at 3,500,000 fr. It has now been recon-
structed with iron pavyilions, on the plan of the new Halles,
containing 2,400 places, of 4 square metres each, for the
dealers. Itis 215 metres long by 60 in breadth. The con-
tractor is to receive the rents on paying-200,000 fr. a year
to the city for 50 years, after which the market is to become
the property of the latter. One of the pavilions is called
Carré de la Rotonde, from a round building which stood on
its site. The new stalls set up for the dealers are so elegant,
and the articles offered for sale so cleverly ¢‘ renovated,” that
the visitor will scarcely believe himself to be in an old clothes
market. It is well worth seeing. Adjoining the market there
is an elegant square, laid out as a garden, and 7,525 square
metres in surface. Here stood the last remnant of

TheTEMPLE (1) which formerly contained alarge square tower
flanked with four turrets, built in 1222. In that tower Louis
XVI. and his family Were imprisoned in 1792, and thence he

(1) The order of Templars, founded at Jerusalem in the 1iih
century, during the Crusades, consisted at first only of six monks,
and a grand master. They came to Europe from Palestine in
1128 to make proselytes, and in a short time became possessors
of a vast extent of ground in the Faubourg du Temple, where
they established the seat of their rule, and-exercised for more.
than two centuries a power, the prerogatives and abuses of which
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was led to the scaffold. Sir Sidney Smith, Toussaint Louver:
ture, Moreau, and Pichegru, were also confined there. In 1811
the tower was demolished. Before the revolution of 1789 the
Teraple consisted of two distinct parts, viz., the Temple pro-
perly so called, and the palace of the Grand Prior of the Order
of Malta, The former was private property, and consisted of
hotels, gardens, and dwelliugs for tradesmen, artists, and also
for debtors who took refuge at the Temple to avoid arrest. The
palace, which was pulled down in 1853, stood on the site of
the ancient Temple, but was built about 1566, by the grand
prior, Jacques de Souvré ; and the Chevalicr d’Orléans, after—
wards invested with that dignity, repaired it in 1721, The Duke
of Angouléme was the last grand prior of Malta. In 1812, the
building was repaired and embellished, with the design of
becoming a. resigenoe for the"Minister of Worship. At the
beginning of the Restoration Louis XVIII. disposeg of it in
favour of the Princess de Condé, abbess of Remiremont, who
placed there a convent and school of Benedictine nuns of the
Perpetual Adoration. The cvents of February, 1848, expelled
them from it to make room for the staff of the artillery of
the National Guard. Since then the ground has been trans-
formed into the above mentioned garden behind which the new

MAIRIE DU 3¢ ARRONDISSEMENT, Which is to replace that of
the rue Vendome, is in course of construction.

Nearly opposite, in the rue du Temple, is .

StE. ELISABETH,—once the chapel of a convent for nuns
called the Dames de Ste. Elisaheth, and now dedicated to St.
Elizabeth of Hungary. It was erected in 1628, The front con-~
sists of a basement story with fluted Doric pilasters, and an,upper
Ionic one supporting a sculptured segmental pediment. The in-
terior consists of a nave with Doric pilasters, and two aisles.
Beginning from the aisle to the left, the works of art hera.are,.
1st chapel : an Adoration of the Shepherds ; Christ p. saching.
to the peopls, and blessing little children, by Hesse ; Christ

monarchs were in a measure foreed to respect. The Temple was-
such a stronghold. that Louis IX., before setting out for the: Cru-
sades, had his treasure conveyed there, as did Philippe le Hardi
and Philippe le Bel. Their wealth, ireegularities, and turbulent
‘conduct at length induced Philippe le Bel, in 1312, to suppress
the order, putting many of them to the torture on a charge of
sorcery,.and seizing their lands. In 1314 Jacques de Molay,
and. Guy, brother of Robert dauphin of Auvergne, two of the
chiefs -of the order, were burned alive on the spot now occu-
pied. by the equestrian siatue of Henry IV. on the Pont Neuf.
Part of their wealth was assigned to ihe brethren of the order
of 8%, John of Jerusalem, afterwards called Knights of Malta,
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disputing in the Temple, by Lafon; 2d. The Virgin praying,
and the Merit of temd?ngi:hgr Sick, by Serrur; a mal?@igxnt
altar-piece by Blondel, representing St. Elizabeth depositing
her crown at the Saviour’s shrine. In the adjoining
recess : the kiss of Judas, by Fourau; 3d. The Publican
and the Pharisee, a fresco, by Gosse. In the aisle behind the
choir, four frescoes: 1. The seven sacraments of the Catholic
Church, by Jourdy ; 2. The virtue of Charity exemplified, by
Bézard ; 3. That of Hope, by Bohn ; 4. That of Faith, by Ro-
ger. Behind the high altar is the Lady Chapel, with six stained
windows, represeuting sacred subjects, by Mr. Jones, an Eng-
lishman. Here are the Adoration ef the Shepherds, and
the Sacrifice of Abraham. The wainscoting around the choir -
displays, in numerous compartments, the life of Our Savieur
carved in oak. First recess of the right-hand aisle, flanking
the window, King David, and the woman anointing Jesus, by
Roger; the intrados of the pointed arch is painted with medai-
lions containing cherubs ‘and other devices. . The following
recesses display : 1. Ste. Geneviéve, by Bézard; 2. A Mater
Dolorosa, by gézard ; 4. St. John baptizing Christ, by Périg-
non. The semi-cupola of the choir has a fine fresco by Alaux,
representing the apotheosis of Ste. Elisabeth.

In the rue du Verthois is the Ecole Municipale Turgot, a
school where children are brought up to trade and manufac-
tares, and opposite, at No. 18, 1s a door leading to

THE SYNAGOGUE (German rite), having ifs principal entrance
at 15, rue Notre Dame de Nazareth.—This temple was re-
paired in 1852. The interior is decorated in the Meorish
style; the galleries for the ladies rest upon cast-iron columns
supporting six arcades on each side, forming together the num-
ber of the tribes of Israel ; the Tabernacle is to the south ; its
fagade, of white marble, is approached by six steps of the
same material ; its interior is semi-circular. Before it is the
theba, or altar, having on one side two seats for the officiating
rabbins, and on the other the organ. The seats occupied by
the ladies of Baron Rothschild’s family arein the first gallery
to the right, close to the tabernacle. The Great Rabbin is M.
Ulmann; Service on Friday evening and Saturday morning;
the hour varies "according to the time of sunset.

The rue Volta touches the rue des Fontaines, where the
Prison des Madelonnettes will be seen at No. 12.  Turping
to the right into the rue Borda, we find

The MARCHE ST. MARTIN, a parallelogram of 300 feet by 180,
erected in 1811 in the enclosure of the abbey:of St. Martin des
Champs. The stalls, nearly 400, are arranged in two large
buildings. In the centre of the market is a fountain, consisting
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«f a basin sipported by three allegorical figures in bronze, ré-
jpresenting the genii of hunting, fishing, and agriculture ; and
‘opposite to this, a new fountain has been constructed. Near
ithe Marché St. Martin is a public promenade planted with trees.
/A bird-market is held heré on Sundays.

The rues Vaucanson and du Vert Bois lead hence into the
irue St. Martin, on the eastern side of which is the

FONTAINE ST. MARTIN.—This fountain is only remarkahis
tor being built against the only remaining round and spired
ttower that formed part of the walls of the ancient abbey of
:St. Martin des Champs, now transformed into the .

CONSERVATOIRE DES ARTSET METIERS, rue St. Martin, No. 292.
-=—=M. Gregoire, bishop of Blois, was the first who suggested
tthe idea of forming a national repository of machines, models,
+drawings, &c., for the improvement of machinery and imple-
iments connected with manufactures, agriculture, and other
ibranches of industry.. The formation of this establishment was
+ordained by a conventional decree in 1794, but it acquired
[little importance till 1798, when the three repositories of ma-
+chines existing at the Louvre, (1) the Hotel de Mortagne, rue de
«Charonne (2), and in the rue de I’Université (3), were established
iin the buildings of the ancient abbey of St. Martin des Champs,
:and all patentees were directed to deposit their inventions at
tthe Conservatoire des Arts et Métiers, which was authorised to
Jhave them published. In 1810, a gratuilous school of arts was
{formed, which, in 1817, was re-organised, and, in 1819 and
11836, received considerable additions. In 1838, a royal or-
«donnance established it on ils present footing (see p. 96).
¢Connected with it .axe two national schools of arts and trades
: at Chalons and Angers.

Exterior.—The building camprises part of the abbey and
«church of St. Martin des Champs, built in the 13th century by
i Pierre de Montreuil, the architect of the Sainte Chay lle, and
: now nearly all rebuilt. The church has a chaste Gothic front
ttowards the rue St. Martin, with a rose-window, buttresses,
;and a slender octagonal tower. Two large modern wings,
- fronting the rue St. Martin, are connected by an elegant arch-
*way, with a triangular pediment, profusely sculptured. The
«entablature towards the street is supported by two carya-
ttides, representing Art and Science. The frieze bears
tthe words : Agriculture, Commerce, Industrie. Towards
‘the court," the inscriptions, commemorate the inauguration of

> (1) These had been presented to theAcademy of Sciences by
IM. P. d’Ozambray. :

(2) 500 machines bequeathed to the State by ¥aucanson.

(3) Agricultural implements of all countries.
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the Abbey by Henry I. of France, in 1060 ; the institution of
the Conservatoire on the 19th Vendémiaire in the year III
(1794); its installation in 1798, and the erection of the new:
buildings from 18i5 to 1852. The principal court has a
cenwral Doric payilion in front, its entrance communitating
with the principal staircase, and is bounded to the left by a
wing containing the offices of the Administravion ; to the right,
by the refectory, now the library, also built by Pierre de Mon-
treuil. It is buttressed, and measures 42 metres by 7 ; its
windows are worthy of attention. .

Interior.— Ground-floor.—On descending the staircase be-
fore us, we find right and left a series of experimental ploughs,
and two passages filled with specimens of seeds from every
quarter of the globe, and fruits and roots beautifully executed
in marble, alabaster, and wax. Returning to the staircase,
we enter the vestibule, remarkable for its being so constructed
upon acoustic principles, as to convey a whisper diagonally
from one corner to the opposite one. The hall to our left on
entering contains weighing machines, together with a collec -
tion of the weights and measures of the principal countries of
the world. Further on, ascending a few steps, we enter five
rooms, belonging to the new wing, and containing specimens
of cast and sheet-iron, native plumbago, ores of copper, &c. ;
furnaces and 1podels of iron-works, besides beautiful lock-
smith’s work. ~Returning to the vestibule, we find opposite
another spacious hall, containing a large collection of joiners’
implements, beautiful turning lathes, and curious specimens of
turners’ work. The adjoining hall, called Salle des Fila-
tures (1) contains looms and spinning-machines of every de-
scription. :

We now come to a vestibule, which, to the left, opens into
a spacious gallery. filled with ploughs, harrows, models of
mills, &c.,anatomical pieces of the horse and other domestic
animals, executed in wax, and a collection of seeds and other

(1) This gallery has an -historical interesi, from the fact of
the 27 representatives of the Mountain assembling here on the
13th of June, 1849, when the demonstration against the expe-
dition to Rome was dispersed by General Changarnier in the
rue de la Paix. When the representatives of the Mountain
who were assembled at the time in the Palais Royal, were in-
formed of this, they placed themselves under the protection
of the artillerymen of the National Guard, and, escorted by
them, quitted thé' Palais Royal and proceeded to the Conserva-
toire .des Arts et Métiers, with the intention of overthrowing
the existing government, and establishing a provisional one.
They first assembled in the Petit Amphithéatre opposité to the
Salle des Filatuxgs, but afterwards adjourned to the latter.

Lk}



258 SEVENTH WALK.

articles refating to husbandry. The heads of oxen of different
breeds are fited to the walls. Some of the heavier machines
are visible under a shed in the adjoining garden, which is
not accessible to the public. Returning hence, the saine ves-
tibule ushers us into the interior of - :

The Church.—It has no aisles ; the roofing consists of tie-
beams, king-posts, and braces, which, with the rafters, are
neatly painted in the Byzantine style like the rest of the in-
terior. There are 8 ogive windows on each side, fitted up
with stained glass. Above the ogive opposite the principal
entrance we sce two medallions with figures of Agriculture
and Manufacture, painted in fresco. This vast hall is now
called the Dépdt des Modéles, and contains various hydraulic
machines, such as the hydraulic press, water-mills, Archime-
des’s serew, &c., besides planing and moulding-machines,
medels of iron,works, carts, trueks, etc. To the right, on
entering, there is a steam-engine, which, during the day, com-
municates motion by means of straps 1o most of the above-
mentioned contrivanees, while, on the opposite side, a large
Wwater-tank, 6 feet in breadth, in solid masonry, occupics
neatly the whole length of the nave, furnishing the water ne-
ocessary for the mills, cte. Above this, resting on pilasters 6
feet in height, is a narrow iron reservoir likewise extending the
whiole length of the nave for the display of the smaller ma-
chines, and the contrivances here exhibited for®raising water.

A lateral staircase leads hénce lo the -

(ﬁ?:r Story.—This consists of a long gallery, with a
paratlel suite of rooms behind, and other rooms at both cnds.
The main gallery is filled with models of steam and firc-cngines,
machinery for iron-foundries, models of roofing; patterns for
shawls, & model of the Danube steam-packet, severed amid-
ships to bring the engine-room into view, another of the 90-
guh ship Le Roi de Rome, a specimen of the shect-irc.1 used
iu the comstruction of the Great Eastern, ete. Alitile way
down the gallery, we find a room Lo our left, containing tele-
scopes and other astronomical instruments. Tweo large pho-
tographs of the moon will be remarked here. At the further
Their consultations, howcver, were soon interrupted by the
arrival of a detachmenlt of soldiers, leaving them no other al-
ternative but flighl. Some made theit escape through the
bhck-doors leading to the Marché, and many, among whom
Ledru-Rollin, Boichot, and Rattier, through the sixth of the
eight windows of this gallery (counting from the side of the
Mlb\ﬂel which look into the garden. The troops and National
@ddrds drrested a few stragglers, who, together with other per-
softs takéft tip on the following days, were tried before the
High Gdurt of Justice; conveked for the purpose &t Versailles.
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end of the long gallery we find & series of six rooms, the first
containing specimens of ormamental tiles, etc. The next four
comtain ns of large glass bells and cylinders, models of
lithographic presses, one of the hydraulic machine of Marly
(see p. 520), pumps, Archimedes’s screw, etc. ; a large glass-
sumr filed with Chinese tools and manufactures, and a si--
oilar one with Tunisian manufactures, and lastly, pottery and
glass ware. In the 5th there is a large table on which our
earth, accompanied by the moon are seen to travel by clock-
work round the sun. This and the following room are de-:
voted to optics and acoustics. On our return by the door to
our left we pereeive in the last room of this suite & beautifal

lain vase adorned with bas-reliefs from the antique.

The visitor must now enter the rooms which run parallel to
the main gallery, filed with illustrations of the intersections
of lines and surfaces, bridges, carpentry, compasses, locomo-
tives, pulleys, specimens of stereotype, furnaces, crystalliza-
tions, the model of an Indian pagoda, &c. Two rooms of the
adjoining wing are filled with instruments of natural philosephy,
such as air-pumps, barometers, a powerful electric machine
with an mmense battery, &c. The third room of this suite is
devoted to watchmaking; it contains all the instruments ased
in that profession; besides clocks, chronometers, &e¢. In the
centre of the main gallery a door opens upon the magnificent
double staircase, the principal one, which descends to the ves-
tibule. It is highly gratifying to an Englishman to find the
names of Maudslay, Watt, Stephenson, Taylor, Edwards,
&c., abounding in this museum. A catalogue may be had
on the spot. Crossing the court, we find to our left, in a nar-
row passage near the principal entrance, the deor of the

Library.—Fitted upin the most tastefulstyle. Itis hisected
by a line of seven lofty and slender columns, from each of
which spring cight ribs, expanding along the groins of the vauit.
To theleft is an elegant Gothic recess, with a groined head; a
projecting balustrade shows that it was formerly used by the
monks as a pulpit for reading during meals; at present it is
merely ornamental ; a secret staircase within the wall gives
aecess toit. The whole interior of the building is painted in
the Byzantine style ; the capitals and bases of the columns are
gilt. ~ The floor is boarded in the centre, but bordered with a-
sort of mosaic of glazed bricks of various colours. The book-
caged and furniture are of oak, and of Gothic design. The
ogives of the eastern wall, pow filled up, contain figures of
Cﬁ;mmt. istry, Natural Philosophy, Painting and the Plastic Art,
in fresca; in the roses above are busts of Art and Seience.

The Grand amd Petst Amphithédire, or lecture-pooms, are
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in a Doric court adjoining the church. The former is remarkable
for its elegance, size, comfort ; the benches rise gradually
from' the floor to an elevated gallery ; which is approached
by a staircase in the passage; there i another entrance to
the amphitheatre below. This room will contain about 300
persons. (1) The Petit Amphithéatre has little to recommend it.
The Conservatoire des Arts et Métiers is open gratui-
tously to the public on Sundays and Thursdays, from 10 to
&, and on all other days of the week, from 10 to 4, at the
charge of one franc. The Library contains 20,000 volumes,
on scientific subjects, and is open to students every day, Mon-
days excepted, from 10 to 3. On Mondays it is open to visi-
tors, with the museums, at the charge of one franc. The
lectures are -all public and gratuitous (see p. 97). A pro-
gramme of the days, &c., may be had at the Conservatoire.
In front of the Conservatoire the visitor will remark the
elegant square planted with full-grown trees, and covering a
surface of 4,145 sq. metres. It is surrounded with a balus-
trade of stone from St. Yllie, in the Jura, which takes a fine
plish ; ‘there are two basins adorned with bronze recumbent
stataes of Trade, Manufactures, the Fine Arts, and Agriculture.
To the left is the new Thédire de la Gatte (see Theatres).
Further down in the rue St. Martin is the chureh of
St. NicoLAas DES. CHAMPS,—built in the year 1119; it
became parochial in 1176. It was enlarged in 1420, and
in 1576 the choir and the chapels behind it were constructed.
The. western front is of 1420, and is in the purest pointed
style. .The western porch is adorned with eight statues of
saints and angels ; the southern one likewise deserves atten-
tion. The tower is square and buttressed. The interior con-
sists of a gothic nave and choir ; there are besides double
aisles, lateral chapels,. and a demi-transept towar’s the
south. - Talma was christened, and many distinguished
persons buried, here; amoug them, Budeeus, the restorer
of Greek literature in France ; the philosopher Gassendi ;
Henry and Adrien de Valois, historians ; and Mile.
Souderi. The high altar is Corinthian ; its altar-piece, by
Vouet, represents in the lower compartment, the Death of the
Virgin; and in the upper, her Assumption. Behind the
high altar is a chapel of the Holy Sacrament, enclosed by the
altar itself and the apsis. The altar-piece represents the Last
Supper. Beginning from the right aisle, the works of art in
the chapels are, 1st chapel : Christ bearing the Cross, by Cou-
-(1) Lectures on recent inventions, specially intended for the
instruction of workmen, are given here every Sunday; and on
Thursdays to the pupils of the ¢olleges and lyceums.
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tant.  2d. A Deliverance of the Souls from Purgatory, and
Christ on the Mount of Olives, by Rouget. 4th. Ste. Genevieve,
and St. Germain giving his blessing to Ste. Geneviéve, by
Jouy. sth. The Raising of Lazarus, by Souchon, and apainting
of St. Nicholas. 6th. A Circumcision: 7th. A Holy Family,
the Virgin being in the act of teaching the Saviour to read.
On the. ceiling are some old frescos, in a very dilapidated
state. 9th. The Apotheosis of St. Benedict, by Lesueur. 10th.
St. Martin curing a leper. 11th (the Lady Chapel, the vault of
which is tastefully groined). The Adoration of the Shepherds,
and the Repose after the Flight to Egypt, by Caminade. Over
the altar is a marble statue of the Virgin and Child, b

Delaistre. On the walls flanking the altar there are the Visi-
tation and the Annunciation, by Jonvaux. Opposite to this
chapel stands an altar with an altar-piece representing St.
Charles Borromeo administering the Sacrament to the plague-
stricken.  12th. St. Cecilia, by Landelle. 13th. A Descent
from the Cross. 14th. The Archangel crushing the Demon, and
Jaceb summoned to Egypt by Joseph. 15th. The head of St.
John the Baptist brought to Herodias. 16th. Three excellent
old paintings on wood, representing the Passion. 17th. A
Last Supper, and St. Elizabeth distributing alms. 18th. The
LastSupper, by Quantin. 19th. St. Stephen attending a sickman.
20th. St. Louisgiving alms, 22d. Christ descending upon earth.

EICHTHE WALK.

This comprises the 4th arrondissement and a fraction of the
3d. We will usher it in with the - -

BOULEVARD DE SEBASTOPOL, a continuation of the Boule-
vard de Strasbourg, opened throughout in April, 1858, and
now affords a direct communication between the Strasbourg
railway terminus and the Seine. Its continuation on the left
bank is also far advanced. The cost of this boulevard to the
city is stated at 81,000,000 fr. The section comprised be-
tween the rue Grenetat and Guérin Boisseau, occupies the
site of the Enclos de la Trinité, thus named after a hospital
built there in 1202 for the reception of pilgrims. The monks
of this establishment subsequentl;' let out the largest hall of
the building to the Confréres de la Passion (see p. 458). In
1536 the Parliament ordered a portion of the buildings to be
reserved for patients labouring under contagious diseasés, but
this decree was never enforced, and the establishment was at
length devoted to the education of poor children. Towards
the end of the 18th century the hospital was pulled dewn,
and houses fer the poorer classes were erected on the site.



882 BIGNTH WALX.

.- Lower down is the rue de Turbige, wivich {s to conneest the
Chitesu d'Eau (see p. 252) with the Pointe St. Eustache ; and
ﬁ%m’ is the hackentrb@mcl: togt.ﬁlz;‘:md Site; Gilles, with

e adjoining gresb ,.built inthe ic style (see p. 247).

Proceeding ownmr%odevud towards thetsyeine, wg see the

TOWER OF ST. JACQUES DE LA BOUCHERIE, erected in 1508-22.
~—This is the only part remaining of the church- of that name,
which was demolished in 1789. It was bought by the muni-
cipality, in 1836, for 250,000 fr., and has since cost upwards
of a million francs for repairs. This magnificent {ower was
formerly surmounted by a spire thirty feet high, and is at pre-
sent one of the purest relics of Gothic architecture extant. It
is square, with an engaged turcet at the north-western angle,
graceful pointed windows, elaborate tracery, niches with sta-
tucs of saints, and a perforated balustrade at the summit
adorned with thestatue of St. John the Baptist and the four
animals atfributed to the Evangelists. To bring the foot of
this tower to a level with the rue de Riveli, the soil had to
be lowered three metres, which brought o light several cusi-
ous relics, besides bones, the ground having formerly been

a churchyard.  This interesting structure now. occupies the
centre of an elegant square of 5,786 8. metres, Jaid out as a
garden, once intersected by the filthiest streets of the me-
tropolis, haunted by vendors of rags and old clothes.
The basement, which has been added to strengthen the tower,
is ascended by 14 sleps on both sides ; under the arch of the
ground-floor stands the statue of Pascal, who here performed
his first experiments to ascertain the weight of the atmosphere.
A winding staircase in the engaged turret of the north-western
angle leads to the top, and the trouble of mounting 294 steps
is amply repaid by the magnpificent view of Paris the tower
affords. To the north we see the splendid rue de Rivoli ex-
{ending below our feet in a mathematical line ; we o erlook
the Seine with its islands and Dbridges, the towers of Notre
Dame, the Louvre, on one side, and the Hotel de Ville on the
other, while Vincennes, the Pont Napoléon beyond Bercy, the
Mont Valérien, and Montmartre, lie far within the horizon, A
tolerable telescope is at the visitor’s disposal for a small gra-
tuity. The total height is 187 fect; the interior is hollow,
and may be seen from a circular aperture above. A small
fee is paid at the entrance. Adjoining this, is the

PLACE by CHATELET.—Here was the sitc of the Grand

Chatelet, the court of justice and prison of Paris during the
middle ages. The tribunal was suppressed at.the revolution
of 1789, and the building destroyed in 1802. The present
square presepts three sides of 320 feet, and, in the middle,
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contains a fountain erected in 1808 after the designs of M.
Bralle, the first monument erected in commemoration of the
victories of the Republic and the Empire. This fountain was
situated about 30 yards to the east of the spot it now occu-
pic.; in order to bring it into the centre of the new square, it
was, it March, 1858, removed to its present site, horizontally
as it stood, and then raised up perpendicularly, for the pur-
pose of building a new bhascment under it. (1) It now con-
sists of "a circular basin 20 feet in diameter, with a pedestal
and column in the centre, 58 feet. in clevation, in the form
of a palm-tree. Upon the pedestal are four statucs: Justice,
Strength, Prudence, and Vigilance, which join hands and
encircle the column. The shaft is intersected with bands of
gilt bronze, inscribed with the names of the principal victories
‘of Napoleon. The water issues from four cornucopie termi-
pating in fishes’ heads and from the mouths of four sphinxes ;
on two sides are eagles encircled by wreaths of laurel.  Above
the capital are heads representing the Winds, supporting a
globe, on which stands a gilt statue of Victory.

On either side of this Ilace, opposite to each other, stand
two new theatres, replacing those of the Boulevard du Temple
(sce Theatres), viz., ithe larzer one to the west, the Théatre
du Chdtelet ; the other, the Théatre Lyrique.

The Place du Chatelet is crossed by the Avenue Victoria,
to be continued to the Louvre. Fronting the Seine we see the

CHAMBER OF NOTARIES, an elegant new building, looking
both into the Boulevard and the rue St. Denis, and having its
principal entrance on the Place du Chatelet. It is three storiés
high, and of Doric and lonic design. Over the entrance are
the following inscriptions: *¢ 804, the Statutes of Charlemagne”
—1270, Edict of Louis 1X.”—1539, Ordinance of Francis I.”
—An I1. Law of 25 Ventose, Napoleon Bonaparte,”—all in-
teresting dates for the notarial hody. Large chesnut trees
of 50 years’ growth were planted, in 1858, in front of
this building and around the Fontaine du Palmier, mentioned
above. The Chamber of Notaries is designed for the sale of
landed property. It possesses a library, which is not public.

Ncar the corner of the Rue de Rivoli antl Rue St.Martin,
beyond the Tour St. Jacques, is .

S7. Mexei, originally a small chapel dedicated to St. Pierre-
des-Bois, near which St. Mederic or St. Merri died in 700.

(1) The operation was cffected by means of a strong scaffolding compesed
of'iron and wood, to the upper part of which strong pulleys were attached.
By means of these the whole mass, weighing 24,000 kilogrammes, was kept
suspended while the foundations were clcared away, and a platform, rovt:l’ed
Wwilh iron rails, was erranged below. The column, with the scaffolding
which surropnded it, was then sct in motion by four capsfans turned by 60

thoial forwirds

it
men.. The operation jasted 18 minutes. Another scaffolding was o
coustructed for the purpose of raising it to its new level.s
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In 1200, a church, built on its site, took for its patron St.
Merri, . whose relics it contained. The present edifice was be-
gun in 1520, and finished in 1612. The western front
is a beautiful specimen of the florid Gothic. The principal
entrance is pointed, and flanked by two buttresscs, adorned
with tracery, expanding in rich canopies below, forming heads
- of niches in which are placed the twelve Apostles. To the
north there is a beautiful octagonal turret, and to the south a
modern square ome. The interior is cruciform, with double
aisles. The transepts have fine rose windows, and in most
of the others there are excellent specimens of old stained glass,
interspersed with modern. The first chapel of the aisle to
the right on entering, erected in 1754, contains: St. Charles
Borromeo during the plague at Milan, by Colson; St. Chry-
sostom’s Vision of the Angels, by Péron ; “altar-piece, the Sa-
viour at Emmaus. On the piers of the arches are a Holy
Family, the portrait of St. Vincent de Paule, and St. Bernard
at the bed-side of a patient, by Roberts ; 2d chapel, a Mater
Dolorosa, by Mignard. Transept: St. Peter praying, by Vien
(1784) ; Christ at the well with the woman of Samaria, by
Restout, sen. 3d chapel: St. Martin sharing his cloak with
a poor man, by Burr, and St. Leonard, by Travier; 4th. the
Assumption, by Coxie ; 5th. St. Germain blessing Ste. Gene-
vieve, by Picot; 6th. St. Francis Xavier preaching to the
Indians, by Robert (1730), and a Descent from the Cross;
8th. the Virgin consoling the Afflicted; 9th. an Annunciation,
and a Descent from the Cross, by Colin de Vermont; also St.
Peter preaching, agood painting on wood ; 11th. the life of St.
John the Baptist, the Institution of Confession, the Adoration of
Saints, and the Holy Spirit descending upon the Apostles, frescoes
by Lehmann ; 12th. the Lifeof St. Philoméne, by Amaury Du-
val ; 13th. St. Mary of Egypt, by Chasseriau; 14th. the por-
trait of St. Vincent de Paule, and the same saint a slave i.. Afri-
ca, by Lépaulle; 15th. various passages of the life of Marie de
PIncarnation, by Cornu, viz., her reception by St. Francis de
Sales, her care of the wounded, and her death at Pontoise in
1618. Flanking the allar, figures in fresco of the Prophet Eli-
ah and St. Theresa. Transept : a large painting of a miracu-
ous_ discovery .of stolen church treasure by a curate of St.
“Merri, by Belle (1759); the miraculous Release of captives
at Melun by St. Merri, by Voiet; t6th chapel: a valuable
painting on wood,, of the 14th century ; on the panel of the
altar-table, Ste. Genevieve as a shepherdess; a wolf fawns
ulmu her; 17th. a Descent from the Cross, in marble, by
Slodtz. On the front piers of the choir are St. Charles Bor-
romeo praying, and the Virgin and Child, by Vanlop (1753).
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This church is remarkable for the obstinate resistance made in
it and the adjoining streets, in 1832, to Louis Philippe’s troops.-

Proceeding up the rue St. Martin, we find ourselves i a
quarter which still gives a good idea of what old Parfs was.
To the left is the rue Quincampoix, celebrated i the days of
the Financier Law as the place where - his votaries resorted to
gamble in his Mississippi shares. Suclr was the crowd in
this street, that it had to be closed with gates at both ends, in
order to admit none but the elect at certain hours. To the
right is the rue Beaubourg, onee rue Transnonain, where a
bloody conflict occurred between the people and the troops in
April, 1834.

This quarter contains some of the most remarkable old
hotels in Paris : among them we may mention the

HotEL DE ST, AIGNAN, 71, ruc du Temple, near the corner
of the rue Rambuteau, a Corinthian cdifice, now mutilated,

_built by Le Muct. On its site stood the house where the

Connétable Anne de Montmorency died of his wounds after
the battle of St. Denis, Nov. 12, 1567. Henry II. often re-
sided here ; and it was then called the Hotel de Montmorency.
Al the corner of therue du Chaume and Vielles Haudrieltes is the
" FONTAINE DE LA NAIADE, rebuilt in 1775, and aderned
with a finc bas-relief of a naiad lying among rushes, by Mignot.

In rue du Chaume, at No. 12, is the Gothic entrance to the

EcoLE IMPERIALE DES CHARTES ( see p. 100.) Thisentranceis
situated under the spired turrcts forming part of what formerly
was the palace of the Prince de Soubise, and is now the

PALAIS DES ARCHIVES DE L’EMPIRE, the entrance of which is
in the rue de Paradis.—The Hotel de Soubise was built upon
the site of a mansion belonging to the Connétable de Clisson ;
and, after passing through the family of the Guises, became the
property of the Rohans in 1697. The old building extends to a
great depth, and with its grands et petits appartements, as well
asthe gardens, constituted the proud residence of a family whose
motto was, “ Roi ne puis; Princene daigne; Rohar je suis.”
In the petits appartements is a window looking into, the rue du
Chaume, belonging to the boudoir of a Duchess de Guise, once
the owner of the palace, from whence it is said her lover pre-
cipitated himself into the street on the -approach of the Duke.
After the revolution of 1789, some families of noble ‘birth, who
had suffered Dby the times, were lodged here by order of Napo-
leon ; and in 1809 the whole edifice was consecrated to the pre-
servation of the archives of the nation. (1) This precious col-

(1) Charlémagne, in 813, ordered the first collection of docu~-
ments relating to the History of France tol:e made, directing thatit
should be preserved in the sovereign's palace. - Butit afterwards
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lection originated with the National Assemblyin 1789, and to
it were afterwards joined, besides all the acts and procés-ver-
baux of the legislature, the domanial and administrative ar-
chives, the charters and other documents of the monastic bodies,
public papers relating to the topography and statistics of the
country, as well as several other objects of value and rarity.
In 1810, 11, 12, all the riches of the archives of the countries
conquered by Napoleon were deposited here ; but these were
taken away by the allied troops after the fall of the Emperor.
The ancient nobility, also, on their return from emigration,
demanded and obtained their title-deeds, which had been se-
questrated during the revolulion. In the 15th century some
of the archives of the French monarchy were carried to
England, but during that period of confusion the most important
were preserved in the monasteries.

Exterior.—The building has four courts ; the first, the Cour
de Soubise, forms a semi-oval, laid out in small flower-
gardens, with a beautiful peristyle of coupled Corinthian co-
Jumns running all round, and abutling upon the principal
front, which consists of a central pavilion of two stories, and
wings of one story only, ornamented with coupled composite
columns, continued along the lower story of the pavilion, the
upper story of which displays coupled Corinthian columns
crowned with a pediment bearing recumbent statues, while
other statues adorn the wings. The Cour de Clisson adjoins
the western buildings, and gives access to the Ecole des
Chartes (see above). Next is the Cour de Guise, bounded on
its western side by the old buildings erected by that family in
continuation of those built by the Clissons, and which have
been saved from demolition by the present administration of
the establishment ; the buildings to the east are modern, and
are to be continued along the northern side of this court The
Cour de ' Administration lies to the east of the latter, and
contains, as its name denotes, the lodging of the Director-

became {he custom for the head of ihe Stale to carry the ar-
chives with him when he went {o war, and in 1194 Richard
Ceeur de Liop, having defeated Philip .Augustus at Belleforge,
took possession of them, (ogether with the royal seal. In 1220
the Chancellor Garin was charged to make not onlya collection,
but copies of all chariers then existing; and subsequently mo-
nasteries, churches, communes, and corporations made collcc-
tions of their archives. Up to the time of St. Louis the royal
archives of France were deposited in the Temple, but he caused
them to be removed to the Ste. Chapelle, where they remained
for some cenfurics. In 1782 there were in France 1,225 collec-
tlons of archives, and a selection of 50,000 documents was
made from them, and deposited in the Royal Library at Paris.
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Genoral and the sffices of the establishment. Besides 4his, a
ganden is attached to the apartments of the Director-General.

Interior.—The establishment, which is under the jurisdic-
tion of the Minister of State, is divided into four departments
or scotions, viz. : 1st, the sécrétariat ; 2dly, the historical sac-
tton, comprising old records and charters commencing from the
7th century, bulls, monastic and ecclesiastical records, others
relating to military religious orders, ancient schools and uni-
versities, genealogical matters, &c.— 3dly, the adminisiralive
section, comprising the proceedings of the ancient Council of
State and the Council of Lorraine, also royal ordonnances,
Jetters patent, &c. ; documents relating to the eonstitutional
Regime of 1791, the Convention, Executive- Directory, Con-
sulate, Empire, and Restoration, besides the contributions
from the departments of the Interior, Agriculture, Commerce,
and Public Works, Public Instruction and Worship; also the
records of the ancient Chamber of Accounts at Paris, and
documents relating to princely apanages, domains, nalional
property, scquestrations, confiscations, topographical maps,
and the division of France into departments.—4thly, the le-
gislative and judicial section, comprising laws, ordonnances,
cdicts, letters patent, imperial decrees, both manuscript and
printed ; anthentic copies and minutes of the Assembly of
Notables and National Assemblies, papers relating to repre-
sentalives sent on missions, and committees of the Convention
and other national assemblies, the Senate, Chamber of Peers,
Grand Chancellor’s office, Secretaries of the King, varions
‘councils, the Parlement de Paris, the Chatclet, various courts
and jurisdictions, extraordinary tribunals, Court of Peers, &e.,
and the contributions from the department of the Minister of
Justice. This immense mass of historical, administrative, and
judicial matter, which was found in 1861 to fill 500,000
volumes, hoxes (curtons), portfolios, and bundles, occupies
130 rooms, and has been arranged with the greatest precision
by the present administration, so that any document may, by
referring to a plan of the huilding, executed by order of the
late Director-General, be produced at a moment’s notice.
If all the cartons and wrappers were placed in a line, they
would measure 29,600 metres, upwards of 18 English miles.
Extensive improvements arc still in progress. The western
pavilion of the Cour de Guise containing a saloon dccorated
with paintings by Boucher and Natoire, has been thoroughly
repaired. We need not cnter into a minute description of the
other rooms, except one on he ?lstem first floor, whgre :‘he
visitor may see a curious original painting imagined ' e
desuits, of which emgravings exist, repmns%nun; a vmzl, il-
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lustrative of the dangers humanity, according to those fathers,
is exposed to from the machinations of the Evil-One. This is
here, from its having been used as evidence in the prosecution
of the Jesuits, which led to their suppression in 1773.  We
may now ascend the splendid staircase, giving access to
the Salle du Trésor-des Chartes, where, in a large vertical
frame, is a specimen of a collection of 15,000 casts possessed
by the establishment, of all the State seals from Childeric I.,
A.D. 457, down to the time of Louis Philippe, together with
those of the towns and communes of France. The oldest
record preserved here, and rarely shown to strangers, is a
deed of Clotaire II., A.D. 625, on papyrus, containing a
donation of lands to the Abbey of St. Denis. This decd was
for the first time decyphered, and a fac-simile made of it, in
1852 ; and fac-similes have been made of other ancient deeds
also_preserved here. Among the other interesting objects,
we may mention a model of the Bastille, cut out of a stone
of that fortress, various articles of apparel worn b{l Marie
Antoinette, the armoire de fer made by order of the National
Assembly in 1790, the golden secals of various Kings of
France, and the bulls of papal decrees, the keys of the Bas-
tille, the silver keys of Namur presented to Louis XIV., the
famous livre rouge found at Versailles, the wills of Louis
XVI. and Marie Antoinette, her last letter, the journal of Louis
XVI., the minute of the Droits de ’homme, the plate of the
Assignats, medals of the Empire, the standards of the métre,
gramme, and décagramme in platinum, autograph letters of
Napoleon I., and among them one written by him to Louis
XVIII., &c. In the adjoining room there are some excellent
paintings by Watteau. A valuable library of 15,000 volumes
s attached to the establishment. For admission apply by letter
(post-paid) to M. le Directeur Généraldes Archivcsse " Empire,
Palais des Archives. :

Behind the Hotel de Soubise, in the rue Charlot, is

St. FrANGOIS D’ASSISE, second district church of the seventh
arrondissement.—The exterior and interior are both plain. It
was the chapel of-a convent of Capuchins, founded in 1623.
1t consists of a nave, choir, and one aisle; the galleries opening
into the aisle, from whence the fraternity formerly heard
service, slill remain. It is remarkable for some good paint-
ings it contains, namely: Noah’s Sacrifice, by Trézel, St.
John the Baptist, by Franque, St. John writing the Apoca-
lypse, by Trezel, a Crucifixion, St. Louis visiting his so{)diers
sick of the plague, by Scheffer, St. Francois d’Assise before
Pope Innocent III., by Gaillot, the same saint before the sultan
of Egypt, by Lordon, and Christ at the Column, by Degeorges.
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Over the doors of the sacristy is the apotheosis of St.
Francis. At the entrance of the choir is, on the left
hand, a very remarkable kneeling figure of the patron saint,
in his raonastic dress, of grey marble ; the hands and head are
of white niarble. Opposite to it is one of St. Denis. Behind
the altarin the choir are several large paintings ; the best of
which are Christ appearing to St. Catherine, St. Francis re-
ceiving the stigmata of the Crucifixion, St. Charles Borromeo
at Milan, the Baptism of Christ, by Guerin, and the Communion
of St. Theresa. In the windows of the Lady Chapel are the
twelve Apostles in stained glass. )

At No. 87 in the rue Vieille du Temple is the

IMPRIMERIE IMPERIALE, formerly the PALAIS CARDINAL.—
This hotel, erected in 1712, was the property of the Cardinal
de Rohan, so famoas in the time of Louis XVI., and whose
intrigues brought so much urmeriied odium on the unfortunate
Marie Antoinette. In this hotel the scenes described by Mme.
Campan took place. The Imprimerie Royale was first esta-
blished by Louis XIII. in the Tuileries, and transferred to the
Gallery of the Louvre by Louis XIV. ; in 1792 a portion of it
was transferred to the Elysée Bourbon, under the name I'mpri-
merie du Bulletin des lois ; but in the year 1795 the whole
was established in the Hotel de Toulouse, or de Penthiévre, now
the Bank of France; it was finally transferred to the present
locality in 1809 (1). By a recent decree, this establish-
ment is now to be transferred to the new Louvre. Offi-
cial documents of every description are printed here,
for the government offices both of the capital and the
departments, besides the Bulletin des Lois, and a great
namber of Oriental works, for which there are per-
manent correctors. About 950 persons, including up-
wards of 300 women and 40 boys, are constantly employed
in this establishment for 10 hours daily. Compositors and
pressmen earn about 6 fr. a-day. After 30 years’ service
they are entiiled to a pension of 400 fr., and a certain small
Egl{;tion of their wages is deducted for a sick fund. The

kbinders earn about 3 fr. 50 c., and the women about
2 francs per diem. The establishment is under the manage-
ment of a director, and six chefs de service, who have nu-
merous clerks under them. In the centre of the first court is
a fine bronze statue of Guttenberg, cast on the same model as
that execated by David d’Angers for Strasburg. Its pedestal

(1) During the revolution of 1830,-the mob broke into -this
office, and among them printers from other establishments, who
destroyed the steam-presses, thinking thereby to enforce a re-
turn to hand-labour ; but in 1848 the establishmetit was spared.
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is idoimed: withy hes:rebiefs illustrating the progress of civilinas
tiga througly the art of printing. The %sml%m is condueted
t

hfo? i} the different branches conneeted with typography.
First is the type-foundry for alphabets of different languages, -
inclading the Chinese, Samnserit, Tartar, and the Assyrian

cimeiform characters. (1) Stereotyping is not practised in the
establishment. The compositors’ rooms come mext; about
150 men dre employed here. The hand-press room, consist-
ing of two parallel galleries meeting a transverse one at right
angles, contains eighty-eight presses, each requiring two
men. Upwards of 350,000 sheets are struck off daily by
these presses. The printing of the ace of clubs, of the kings,
queens, and knaves of cards, is also done here, this heing a go-
vérasiresit monopoly ; the number printed daily is about 12,000
packs, Card-manufacturers are allowed to print all the other
cetds themselves. A glazed partition separates this room from
the printing machines, of which there are 19, all worked. by
stesm ; the same engine at the same lime communicating mo-
tiohi fo 4 hydraulic press for pressing paper, the power it ex-
eftites amioanting to 800 tons. The hot steam is not lost, but
pesses into & drying machine, and helps to warm the establish-
neéed in winter. Adjoining the hand-press galleries is an-
other with 4 large lithographie presses; above is a gallery for
men, and another with f6 lithographic presses more.

The wvarious operations of sewing, binding, and wetting the
paper, as well as the ingenious contrivances for speedy con
veyanoe of bundles or packs, for cutting paper, ruling it, ete.,
are very interesting. On the ground-floor of an adjoining wing
is the form-room, an immense gallery filled with whole works-
in type, ready to be prifited off as may berequired. The forms
or tyg:eof government papers (about 20,000 at present) ave
kept for a long time after they are used. There is .50 &
simithy on the premises for repairs. The Imprimerie Impériale,
es an immense number of modern matrices, possesses

alo several typographical curiosities ; the most interesting is
thé Grec-du B‘:}, being a complete set of matrices of Greek
characters engraved by order of Francis I., and so perfect in
form, that the University of Cambridge applied for a foumt of
maﬁd t“!;e 16912. di'ghe oriental bt;oks, witl;I coloured marg-l'!lns,
md other splendid specimens of typography, upique in their
knd,'gnd which can scarcely be executed gsewhere, are also
deserving of remsark. When Pope Pius VII, visited the Print-

(4} There are the types here of 56 oriental tanguages, and 16

- omes'not using the Latin charscters. The latter exist

here in 46 ont forms and sives; 336 reams of paper, equi-
valomt 10 ¢  volumes, cans b sirtick off I & simale daY
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ing-Office, the Lord’s Prayer was printed and to
him in 150 languages ; and, before he returned to his carriagey
he reccived a copy of the collection ready bound. Thereis a
cabinet containing specimens of typography executed here, -
which, cven to a mere observer, is one.of the most gratifying
sights in Paris. The authors of works of real utility, the
printing of which could not remunerate private enterprise, may
obtain their being_printed here at the expense of government.
The receipts of this establishment are about 4,500,000 fr.; the
expenses 4,587,000 fr. Visible, on Thursdays at 2 p.m. pre-
cisely, with a ticket, for which apply by writing to M. ls
Directeur de I Fmprimerie Fmpériale.

At the corner of the rue des Francs-Bourgeois, there is am
elegant old turret, near which the murder of the Duke of
Orleans, only brother of Charles VI., on Nov. 20, 1407, was
perpetrated (1), an event which gave rise to the bloody feud
8o disastrous to France, and which led to its occupation by
the English. )

.At 7, rae de Paradis, or 16, rue des Blancs Manteaux, is a
large and well-designed edifice, the central establishment of
the Mont de Piété (see p. 129). At No. 12 is the church of

Norke Dame pES BLANCS MANTEAUX,—once the chapel
of a convent of mendicant friars, called the Blancs Manteauw,
from their dress, or the Serviteurs de la Vierge Marie, who
established themselves in 1258, In 1297, another mendicant
order, the Guilleitces, replaced them by order of the Pope
and, in 1618, these were united to a Benedictine order, and
the monastery and chapel were rebuilt. The Tuscan and
lonian fagade of the church of the Barnabites (see p. 307) has
new been adapted to this, which was the chapel of the old
convent. 'Within, its style is Corinthian. It consists of a
nave, with aisles, and a circular choir ; it has an arched ceiling
with lateral windows. The frieze is adorned with emblems of

(1) The Duke had heen supping with the Queen at the Hitel
Barbette, and was going to the Hotel St. Paul, on a pretended
summons from the King, brought by a person in the conspiracy
of the Duke of Burgundy. He was mounted on a mule, fol-
lowed by two equerries on-one horse, a page, and three foet-
men carrying flumbeaux. On arriving opposite a house, ealled
L’Image Notfre Dame, he was attacked by 18 armed men, headed .
by Raoul d’Octonville, 2 Norman gentleman. The equerries’
Lorse ran away withthem, and the buke was set upor by the band
crying : ‘¢ A mort!” ¢“ I amihe Duke of Orleans!” he exclaimed.
‘I is you whom we want,” replied the murderers, and at the
Same mqment a battle-axe cut off his bridle-hand. Several

| blews of swards amd: clubs succeeding each other, he fell to the
ground, but defended himself om his knees, parrying for same:
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the Jewish ritual, and with monograms of various saints,
Facing the aisle to the left, is Jesus washing the feet of the
Apostles, by Latil. On the wall of the aisle are three paint-
ings by Lafon ; viz. the Baptism of Christ, the Marriage of the
Virgin, and St. Benedict with St. Scholastica, his sister. There
are besides : the Miracle of the loaves and fishes by Andran
(1683) ; and the Feast of Cana. In the right aisle is the Arch-
angel crushing the Demon ; and Christ curing a possessed man,
by Frossé ; an Assumption, by Dejeanne (17%40); and an An-
nunciation., Facing the aisle is a beautiful Adoration of the
Shepherds, by Bralle ; and over the entrance is a large and
splendid picture of the death of St. Petronilla, of the school of
Guercino, This painting, one of the finest in any of the Pari-
sian churches, was given to the church on its restoration to
worship ; it came from Versailles. The pulpit, of modern
construction, deserves attention on account of its gorgeous
decoration in the style of Louis XV., and its inlaid work, re-
presenting, in various compartments, different Biblical sub-
jects. The canopy is adorned with figures of the Archangel
Michael and the four Evangelists.

At No. 16, in the rue des Billettes, we find

The LurtHERAN CuurcH (Les Carmes Billettes)—Built in
1745, after the designs of Claude, a Dominican, and belonged
to a body of Carmelite friars. In 1790 the convent was sup-
pressed, and in 1808 it was bought by the City of Paris, and
given to the Lutherans. In the vestry are several good pic-
tures, presented by General Rapp, and other Protestants. Ser-
vice is performed on Sundays, at 12 in Frengh, and at 2 in
German. Adjoining the church is & small court, surrounded
by a Gothic portico, helonging to the old monastery,

The rue Croix de la Bretonnerie leads to the

MARCHE DES BLANCS MANTEAUX, opened, in ({819, “n the
site of the convent des Filles Hospitalieres de St. Gervais.
It is flanked by a municipal primary school for Jews.
- At No. 47, rue Vieille du Temple, is
time the attacks with his arm. ‘¢ Qu’est ceci? Dol vient ceci?”’
he exclaimed from time to time. At length, a blow from a club
dashed out his brains. A man, whose face was covered with a
scarlet hood, came out of the house, and with a club struck the
dead body, saying, ¢ Eteignez tout; allons-nous-en; il est mort.”
They then set fire to the house in which they had been concealed,
and took to flight. The Duke of Burgundy a few days afterwards
fled from Paris, having confessed to the Duke de Berri that the
deed had been done by his order, because the Duke of Orleans
had placed the Duchess of Burgundy’s picture among those of his
mistresses. The Duke of Burgundy was afterwards assassinated
at the bridge of Montereau by the son of the Duke of Orleans.
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The HOTEL DE HOLLANDE (so called from being the Dutch
Ambassador’s in the reign of Louis XIV.), built by Cottard,
and once inhabited by Beaumarchais. On the walls round the
court may be seen four dials and some astronomical diagrams
faintly traced, with Latin inscriptions. In the first court, over
the gateway, is a bas-relief, the Finding of Romulus and Re-
mus ; on.the urn of the Tiber is the date 1660. o

No. 12 in the rue des Francs Bourgeois was the residence
of the Dukes.de Roguelaure, and No. 15 i8 an hotel of the
time of Henry IV. At the corner of the rue Pavée stands

The HOTEL DE LAMOIGNON, one of the most elegant of the resi-
dences of theoldnobility. Its frontis adorned with fine Corin-
thian pilasters, and in the pediments over the wings are shields
with stags”heads, the horns held by angels ; heads of hounds, &e¢.
A beautiful balcony in the northern wing, and a curious square
turref at the corner of the street, should be remarked.

In the rue Pavée were the Hétel de la Houze, and Hétels
de Gaucher, de Chdtillon, and d’Herbouville, or-de Savoisi.
Here stood also the prison of La Force, formerly the hotel of
the Duc de La Force, but converted into a prison 1n 1780, ( see
p. 75); it was demolished in 1851, and new streets opened on
its site. A new quarter has sprung up between the space once
occupied by the Marché St. Jean (1) and the rue Culture Ste.
Cathérine. Hereabout stood the house of Pierre de Craonm,
razed to the ground in consequence of his attack on the Con-
nétable de Clissonin 1392. In the Rue du Roi de Sicile, No.
32 was for some time inhabited by Gabrielle d'Estrées.

At No. 23, in the rue Culture Ste Catherine, is the

HOTEL DE CARNAVALET,.one of the most beautiful mansions

i of the 16th century ; now a boarding-school, and once the
residence of Madame de Sévigné, and the Countess de Grignan,
her daughter. It is aderned with some excellent sculpture
byJean Goujon ; it was bwiiin 1544 by Jean Bullant, architect,
The frontis decorated with coupled Ionic pilasters. The sculp-
tured gateway is by Jean Goujon, as well as the winged figure
on the key-stone, the two lions trampling on armour, several
medallion trophies, &c. In the court, the centre group is by
the same hand, and consists of Fame attended by two winged
messengers. The other sculptures areby artists of less note, but
are all above mediocrity. This hotel was once distinguished
above all others in Paris, as the favourite resort of wit, learn-
ing, and refinement. ‘The drawing-rooms of Madame de Sé-
vigné and her daughter, now transformed into dormitories, are

(1) 1t was formerly a cemetery, and used as a. place of exe-
cation. In 1535, a merchant, named Etienne de la Force, was
burnt alive here for heresy.

18
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stk shown, with the cabiwet immortalised by the Letters there

) ; and, in the garden, two sycamore trees planted in
b fime. The present possessor of the house, M. Verdot, takes
& pledsure in showing it to visitors; he possesses an original
portrait of Mme. de Sévigné, by Mignard, and has also written
a short history of the hetel. (1)

The rue Neuve Ste Catherine leads eastwards to the

PLACE RoYALE, once Place des Vosges (2), standing on the
site of the famous Pulais des Tournelles, so called from its
many turrets.. It decupied a great extent of ground; and
many of the neighbouring strects hear names which mark the
site of some of its gn'ncipal parts. It was in this palace that
the masquerade took plaece, which so nearly proved fatal to
Charles VI. ; and it wasin the great court that the toarnament
was held, in which Henry II., tilting with the Count de Mont-
gommeri, received a wound in the eye, of which he died.
(see p. 170n.) In consequence of this event, Catherine de Mé-
dieis caused the palace to be demolished in 1565, and the pre-
sent ‘“ place ” was begun in 1604, under Henry IV. Its
surface 18 15,350 square yards; the houses are all of red brick,
with stone quoins and high roofs; a wide but low arcade
runs round the square, which is adorned with fountains,
planted with trees, and surrounded with railings. An eques-
trian statae of Louis XIII., ereeted here by Richelieu in 1639,
was destroyed in 1792, but its place was supplied, in 1829,
by the present one, in white marble, by Dupaty and Cortot,
This was formerly the court end of the town; it is now’
chiefly inhabited by persons of limited income, who like large
and quiet apartments, at moderate rents.

Passing through the central archway on the northern side,

‘(1) In pulling down a house near this hotelin 1849, an old
worm-eaten box was found, containing some manuseripts of
the age.of Louis X1Ii., and attributed to Marion {Delorme, the
famous courtesan, under the Litle of Ma Confession. At thiecorner
of thig street Pierre de Craor, Chamberlain to the Duke of Or-
leans, afterwards assassinated by the Duke of Burgundy (sec
p. 273 n.), waylaid the Connétable de Clisson in 1592. )

(2) In the year VIII of Ahc Republic, the Consulate issued a
décree, by whieh the department which should be the first o re-
lieve the penury of the Treasury by paying its taxes should be
hénoured by having its name aflixed to one of the publicsquares
of the capital. The department of the Vosges having been fore-
most in obeying the summons, the Place Royale was in consc-
qgwence called Place des Vosges. = At the restoration in 1814 it re-
sumed its former name. Since that ti.ne, the Conseil-Général
de#s Vosges petitioned the government every year to have its own
mame réstored; this was doné immediately inFebruary 18486 ;
but the old name has been restored since August; 1853.
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we perceive, in the rue de la Chaussée des Minitnés, the spa-
cious barracks of the Gendarmerie, recently erected; and,
tarning to the left into the rue St. Gilles, we find ourselves
in the rue St. Louis. Here, at No. 40, is a convent of Fran-
ciscan nuns, and, at the corner of the rue Ste. Claude,

St. DENIS pU ST. SACREMENT.—Here there formerly stood
the chapel of a convent of nuns, demolished in 1828. The
present edifice has a projecting portico, of four Ionic columns,
supporting a pediment, with an alto-rilievo by Feucheres,
representing Faith, Hope, and Charity. The interior consists
of a nave and aisles with chapels at each extremity ; the semi-
circular - ceiling of the nave, sculptured in elegant compart-
ments, is supported by a range of eight Ionic columns on
either side. The choir, which is semicircular and crowned
by a semi-cupola, is painted in fresco, by Abel de Pujol ;
the subject in the cupola is the Trinity ; that of the frieze,
St. Denis preaching christianity to the pagan inhabitants of
Gsul. In the adjoining Lady Chapel, at the extremity of the
right-hand aisle, is alarge fresco by Court, representing the
Virgin consoling the afflicted. In the chapel opposite is the
Descent from the Cross, in fresco, by Delacroix. The chapels
of the left aisle have each a fresco; that next to the choir,
Christ at Emmaus, by Pieot; the one opposite, Christ calling
children around him, by Decaisne.

The rue des Filles du Calvaire, higher up, ends at the Bou-
levard of that mame. The circular building opposite is the
Cirque Napoléon, a kind of Astley’s (see Theatres.)

WINTE WALK,

This walk, comprising the t1th and t2th arrondissements,
be commenced from the splendid thoroughfare
LEVARD DU PRINCE EUGENE, inaugurated in Dec., 1862,
andl extending in a direct line from the Boulevard du Temple
to the Place du Trone (see p. 278). Elegant houses are
spriuging up here in every direction. At the point where it
mwets the rue St. Sébastien, it crosses the beautiful
BovLevaRp RiCHARD LENOIR, formed over the arched roof
of the Canal St. Martin.  Air shafts, protected by railings en-
cireding ornamental shrubs and- flowers, are pierced at inter-
vals through the vault, which measures 1,600 metres (one
mile) in length; all lined with trees. At the western end we
peresive from here tho mew stome bridge thrown across the
Qandl whees the archiod roof ceases. :
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Continuing along the Boulevard du Prince Eugéne, we find
in the rue St..Ambroise, ’

St. AMBROISE, chapel of ease to Ste. Marguerite, dating
from 1639, when it belonged to a convent of nuns called the
Annonciades. As apart of this church has been cut away,
and what remains of it is to be pulled down as soon as a new
one shall have been built further on, we need not describe it,
but merely state that it contains some good pictures. The
altar-piece represents St. Ambroise protecting an Arian from
persecution, by Vafflard. By a decree of the Civil Power of
the -20th Prairial in the year II, this church was devoted to the
worship of the Goddess of Reason, and the cellars were turned
into a wine and beer-shop. A revolutionary committee sat
in the porter’s lodge, now demolished.

Turning into the Avenue Parmentier, we find the

ABATTOIR DE POPINCOURT, or DE MENILMONTANT. It con-
sists of 23 piles of building, on a sloping ground, and within
a walled enclosure 645 feet by 570. To the right and left of
the central court, 438 feet in length by 291 in breadth, -are
four immense slaughter-houses.. They are each 141 feet long
by 96 broad, and include respectively a flagged court, on
each side of which are eight slaughter-houses for the use of
the butchers. Above- are spacious attics for drying the
skins and preparing the tallow; and to preserve coolness a
considerable projection has been given to the roofs. Behind
these slaughter-heuses are two ranges of sheds, containing
sheep-pens, and at the extremities are eight stables for about
400 oxen ; each of these buildings contains a loft for forage.
At the end there is a watering-place, and pens for cattle,
besides two detached buildings, each traversed hy a broad
corridor, which communicates with. four melting-houses, below
which are cellars, containing coolers. Beyond these, parallel
with the outer wall, are two buildings raised on cella.s, in
which the skins are kept, and near them, in front of the en-
trance, is a double reservoir for water, 228 feet in length, built
in solid masonry, and resting on arches which form stands for
carts. ' Thereis also a triperie, or building for washing and boil-
ing tripe and calves’ feet. Cattle and sheep, on entering Paris,
are immediately driven to one of the abattoirs, and there kept
at the cost of the butcher ; the meat is taken to the shops dur-
ing the night before 4. o’clock. a.m., and the men are not
allowed to appear in the streets of Paris in the clothes they
wear at the abattoirs. The slaughterings vary in amount here,
but may be estimated at the weekly average of 800 oxen,
300 cows, 600 calves, and 3,000 sheep. The establishment
is superintended by a resident inspector of police, and a
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market-inspector ; it gives employment and lodging, inde-
pendently of the butchers and their servants, tosﬂ officials
with-their families. The visitor will remark the cleanliness
which prevails. Strangers are readily admitted on application
at the porter’s lodge. A small fee is expected.

At the junction of the Avenue Parmentier with the Boule-
vard du Prince Eugene, stands the Mairie of the 11th arron-
dissement, now in course of construction, with a small orna-
mental grass plot before it, in front of which stands the

STATUE OF PRINCE EUGENE. of colossal size, by Dimont.
He is represented standing, with his head bare, and in a
general’s uniform. The front of the pedestal bears the inscrip-
tion: ¢“ Au Prince Eugéne Napoléon,” with the arms of the
Cily of Paris, and the motto: ‘“Fluctuat nee mergitur.” On
the back of the pedestal the words are engraved which the

-Prince wrotc in 1814 to the Emperor Alexander, declining the
overtures of the Allies. The remaining two sides are adorned
with eagles bearing laurels, and with the names of the battles
at which the Prince was present. i :

The Passage Richard Lenoir, and rue de Charonne Jlead to
the rue St. Bernard, where we see

STE. MARGUERITE,—originally a chapel, erected in 1625.
The interior is cruciform, with aisles. This church is rich in
pictures. In the right aisle there is St. Louis Visiting the
Sick ; in the Chapel of the Virgin, the Infancy of Jesus, and
aDescent from the Cross, by Lesueur ; a Salutation of Mary and
Elizabeth, by Suvée (1781); and two large paintings of St.
Vincent de Paule conversing with Anne of Austria, and
preaching, by Galloche and Restaut, forming part of -a series-
of pictures relating to that saint. Over the sacristy. door is
Moses in prayer before Israel ; and, next to it, the Virgin Mary
and Apostles invoking the Holy Ghost. Behind the high altar
is a fine alto-rilievo.of the Descent from the Cross, by Girardon,
in white mdrble. Next, in the left aisle, i$ the spacious chapel
des Ames du Purgatoire, built in 1765, ‘with a large painting .
on canvas representing the Delivery of Souls from Purgatory.
In the left transept are: St. Vincent d¢ Paule conversing with
St. Francis de Sales, by Restaut; the same preaching, by
Baptiste,. and his Apotheosis ; * Ste. Magdalen’s Vision of the -
Cross, by Vafflard. At the entrance of the nave are two plaster
groups, one ‘of Ste. Elizabeth giving alms, the other. of -the death
-of Ste. Magdalen, by Maindron, -- Above these are St. Louis in

'Eggxt rélieving thée plague-stricken crusaders.” Fhe pulpit. has
good bas-reliefs in oak. The rector of this church was the first
Catholic priest who broke the vow of celibacy at -the revolu-
tion of 1789, It is said that the unfortunate Dauphin, son of
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Lopis XVI., who was entrusted fo the care of a scobbler,
pamed Simon, whose ill treatment he did not long survive,
was buried in the cemetery of this church.

At No. 184, i the rue du Faubourg St. Anteine, is the

HorPITAL ST. ANTOINE, established in 1795 in the buildings
of the abbey of St. Antoine des Champs. Strangers are ad-
mitted on Thursdays and Sundays from 1 to 3 (seep. 140).

Higher up, at the corner of the rue de Picpus, stands the

MaisoN EuGENE NAPOLEON (see p. 423).—We may now
enter the adjoining -

PLACE DU TRONE, a circular space, planted with trees around.
The Jacobins used it as a supplementary place of execudion ; in
August, 1794, they immolated 59 of their victims here in one
day. Itisnow used for public festivalsfor this quarter of Paris ;
and fire-works, shows, games, &c., when given by Govera-
ment take place here as well as in the Champs Elysées. A
gingerbread fair is annually held here after Easter. (1) Be-
yond it, we perceive the two lofty Doric

COLUMNS OF THE PLACE pU TRONE, erected in 1788, and
finished in 1847. Above the bases are colossal figures in bas-
relief : those facing the outer boulevard, by Desheufs, represept
Peace and Vietory; those on the other side, by Simart, Industry
and Justice. Winding staircases lead to galleries crowning
the capitals, on each of which is an acroterium supporting a
colossal bronze statue ; onc represents St. Louis, by Etex, the
other Philip Augustus, by Dumont. A throne was erected
here, on which Louis XIV. received the homage of the City,
on his triumphal entry, Aug. 26th, 1660, whence its hame.
The two edifices right and left of the columns were the octroi-
buildings of the Barriéres of the old enclosure of Paris, built
by the Minister Calonne in 1786, and pulled down in 1860 (3).
They are good specimens of what the others were. TE- road
hence to Vincennes is wide, with a fine avenue.

Eight avenues, including thc Boulevard du Prince Eugene,

(n% A trinmphal arch is o be erected here to commemoraie
the Russian and Italian wars.

(2) The farmers-general, in order to increase the octroi duties,
prevailed on the minister Calonne to execute these works, not-
withstanding the opposition of the inhabitanis of Paris, which
gave rise to the following pun :

Le mur murant Paris rend Paris murmurant.
The old enclosure measured 29% miles in circumference, with
86 barriers. In May 4794, the entrance duties were abolished,
in consequence of which the barriers became uselggs. Under the
Directory, about the year V, a small duty was levied, and the
barriers were repaired. The produce of dutfes, being given
10 hospitals, ittook the name of octrol de dienfaisance. Napbleon 1.
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radiate from the centre of the Place du Trone, and two marg
are in contemplation for symmetry’s sake. Of those .new
existing, not the least important is the -

BoULEVARD Mazas, opened in 1853, and extending down to
the quays. King Dagobert had a palace in this neighbour-
hood, which was also inhabited in the 17th century by the
notorious Marquise de Brinvilliers.

Entering the rue de Picpus from this Boulevard, we find, at
No. 12, the hospital called Maison d’Enghien, (sce p. 124.)
and, lower down, at No. 35, an Augustine convent, now
occupied by the Dames du Sacré Coeur. Within the walls
of this establishment is the small private Cimetiire de Picpus,
containing the remains of several noble families, such as de
Noailles, de Grammont, de Montaigu, Rosambo, Lamoignon,
&c.; and Lafayette. In an adjomning spot repose several
victims “of the reign of terror. Visitors are admitted.

At No. 78 is a Jewish hospital, built by Baron James
Rothschild, and inaugurated on the 26th of May, 1852. Be-
sides the-common sick-wards provided for each sex, there are
in this hospital several rooms for peculiar complaints, - or for
patients who can afford to pay. There are baths on the
ground-floor, besides a laundry and dispensary. The estab-
lishment also has a spacious garden. The ventilation of the
wards is cxcellent. Strangers arc admitted on Wednesdays,
Thursdays, and Sundays from 1 to 4. The cost of this building
was 400,000 fr. Close to it is a Maison de retraite for aged
Israclites. Architect, M. Thierry.

A few steps along the outer Boulevards, skirting what for-
merly was the village of La Grandc Pinte, will bring us to the
rue de Reuilly, where at No. 36, we find the church of

St. ELo1, presenting a gabled front in the Lombard style.
It consists of a nave and two aisles with arched ceilings, all
elaborately painted in the Byzantine style. The choir is
painted in three compartments by Midy and Doerr, represent-
ing : 1. St. Eloi or Eligius as a smith ; 2. The same as Bishop
of Noyon, preaching ; 3. The same as Minister of King Dago-
~ bert. ~ At the extremity of the right aisle is the chapel of the
Virgin, and in the other aisle that of the Abbess St. Aurea re-
-ceiving the veil from St. Eloi. '

Crossing the Boulevard Mazas, we see extensive barracks,
occupying the site of the Royal looking-glass manufactory
erected by Colbert.

Descending the Boulevard Mazas, the visitor will perceive
injshed the octroi-wall, and considerably increased the duties.

On the river, at the eastern and wesiern extremities of the eity,
duties are levied by octroi-boats called pataches.
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arow of houses of simple design, 16 in number, built by the
Einperor for the accommodation of workmen at low rents.
They comprise 311 lodgings, and 36 shops and back-shops,
and will hold about 1,200 persons. Judging, however, from
the window-curtains of the first and second stories, the in-
mates would seem to belong to classes somewhat removed
from the level of those for whom the houses were intended.
Most of the apartments are composed of an ante-room, Kkit-
chen, dining-room, and one or two bed-rooms (1.) The
stranger will remark the activity with which building is car-
ried on in this quarter.

The rue Beauveau leads to the uninteresting Marché Beau-
veau, a kind of rag-fair. The Boulevard is crossed by the
viaduct of the Vincennes railway, parallel and close to which
the new Avenue de Vincennes extends to the new race-course
of that place, and to which it is the shortest road. Further
down, we find on our right the Prison Mazas (see p. 75), and
nearly opposite, the terminus of the . :

Lyons RaiLwavy—fronting the whole, length of the rue de
Bercy, from the Boulevard Mazas to rue Rambouillet. In the
centre of this extent a double flight of stairs gives access to
an immense terrace, 12 metres from the level of the street.
The whole terrace leading to it from the rue de Lyon, is 570
feet in length by 250 in breadth, and the total surface occu-
pied by the terminus is 550,000 square feet. Behind the
edifice there is another terrace, and carriage ways lead up
to both. A bold arch fronts the new rue de Lyon, which
opens into the Place de la Bastille.

- The rue de "Bercy leads to the exterior Boulevard of that
name, which reaches to the Seine, skirting the village of
BERCY, now annexed to Paris as part of the 12th arrondisse-
ment. This place is still the grgat wine-mart of Paris, but ae
trade is likely to be shifted elsewhere, when the full effect of the
annexation shall begin to be felt. The warehouses for wineextend
half a mile along the river. Wine can be left here in bond ; angd
the quay is at times quite covered with casks. At Bercy is the

PONT DE BERCY, or :DE, LA GARE, a ohain bridge. It cost .
750,000 fr. It is to be rebuilt of stone. Tl . -

Further up the river is the PoNT NAPOLEON, a new viaduct

-(1)- The Mumicipality intend giving the system of cités ouvritres
another faiv trial, notwithstanling ils previous bad success,
(éee p. 233.) A surface of 20,000 squaré meires, having a front
of sa.metres, is Lo be énclosed.in this faubourg; with houses
four- stories high, offering accommodation to' 16 families each:,
A pumber of rooms for single men, at 10 fr..a month, a bed, a
fal e anrd two chairs included, are also to bg provided. .
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over the Seine for the railway round Paris. There is here &
floating octroi-office moored on the river. Immediately within
the line of the outer Boulevard stands the great
DEPOT DES FOURRAGES, for the garrison of Paris, a hand-
some building, 300 feet long, and 4 stories high, with sheds 50
feet long, and 25 feet high, for straw, hay, &c.
The Quai de la Rapée crosses the Place and Boulevard Mazas.
Further on is the Boulevard de la Conwescarpe, skirling the
fine port or Gare du Canal St. Martin, and ending at the
PLACE DE LA BASTILLE.—The Bastille was attacked and cap~
tured by the people on the 14th of July, 1789. In May and
June of the following year it was demolished, in pursuance of
a decree of the National Assembly, and part of the materials
were employed in the construction of the Pont de la Concorde.
Its sile now forms fhe Place de la Bastille, part of the moat
having been converted into the port mentioned ahove. Here
it was, at the entrance of the Faubourg St. Antoine, that
the insurgents of Junc 1848 had erected thcir strongest bar-
ricade, which it required all the efforts of artillery to over-
throw. It was on this barricade that Monseigneur Denis
Affre, archbishop of Paris, met with his death, in atlempting
to persuade the insurgents to desist from their fratricidal
struggle. (1) In the centre of the place, the construction of a
fountain was begun, by order of Napoleon, but was afterwards
abandoned. (2) On the site of this fountain now stands the
(1) OnJune 25, 1848, the archbishop, justly grieved on account
of the bloody conflict which had been for the last three days
spreading desolation throughout the melropolis, proeceded,
with General Cavaignac’s consent, to the Place de 1a Bastille, and,
after obtaining from Gen. Péret anhour’s cessation of hostilities,
advanced towards the bharricade.preceded by a young man car—
‘rying a green branch before-him in token of peace. At his
approach,- the insurgenis stopped their fire, and appeared to
listen aftentively to the words of the apostle of peace, when,
by some unforlunate misunderstanding, the fire recommenced,
and.the archbishop was struck by a ball. Theinsurgents instantly
carried him to the hospice of the Quinze-Vingts, loudly declar-
ing that they were innocent of the act. The extraction of the
ball was impossible, and the high-minded prelate died on the
following day. Hislast words were: ¢ May my blood be.the
last spilt in civil wael” The Constituent Assembhly decreed that
2 monument should be erected to his memory in the cathedral
of Notre Dame: . - -~ - - - ° T L .
(2) According to the design presented-by Denon, an arch over
the Canal St. Martin 'was to bear a bronze élephant more ‘than.
72 feet high, including the tower on its back ; the watér was to
_issue from the frunk, and a staircase leading to the tower was
to-be eonstructed in one Of its legs. A small model of this ele-
phant is preserved at the Palais dcs Beaux Arts (see p. 365.)
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CoLumN or Jury, its pedestal standing immediately on a
hasement of white marble, supported by blocks of granite.
The foundations were laid by Louis Philippe, July 28, 1831.
On the western side of the pedestal is figured, in bold relief, a
lion passant, and underneath the following ipscription: |

A la gloire des Citoyens Francais, qui s’armérent et combat-
tirent pour la défense des libertés publiques dans les mémorables
journées des 27, 28, 29 Juillet 1830. ‘
On the opposite side is the date of the laws decreeing the mo-
nument, and the other two sides bear the dates of the 27th,
28th, and 29th July. At the corners of the pedestal is the
Gallic cock bearing an oaken wreath in its claws. The shaft
of the pillar is partly fluted, and partly encircled with bands
bearing lions’ heads, whose open mouths admit light and air
to the staircase within. Thespaces into which these bandsdivide
the column are filled with the names of 504 patriots killed
during the Three Days of 1830. The Corinthian capital, over
which is a railed gallery, is 16% fect wide, and ornamented
with lions’ heads, genii” bearing garlands, &c. Surmounting
the capital is a gilt globe, and on it stands a colossal figure,
gilt also, representing the ‘“Genius of Liberty,” in its right
hand is a torch, in its left a broken chain; it stands on one
foot, with wings expanded, asif in the act of taking flight.
‘The height of the column, which is of the Composite order,
is about 154 feet, the diameter 12 feet; weight of metal em-
ployed 163,283 lb.; it cost about 1,224,098 fr. Unlike the
column in the Place Vendome, the metallic cylinders of which
it is composed are not supported by masonry within; the
staircase, therefore, vibrates perceptibly to every blast of
wind. This monument was designed by Alavoine and exe-
cuted by M. Duc. It was inaugurated with great ceremony
on July 28, 1840, when the remains of the victims of .830
were deposited in the vaultsunderneath. Inthe marble base-
ment is a circular corridor, paved with white marble, relieved
with stars and crosses of black marble;, and lighted by win-
dows of stained glass. Descending a few steps, are the sepul-
chral vaults, secured by four cast-iron doors, ornamented with
rich tracery. Each vault contains a vast sarcophagus 14 yards
in length, 1 in width, and 1 deep. Most of the combatanls
who fell in Feb: 1848 were also transferred here. Around
the base of the pedestal is an enclosure flagged with marble,
and protected by a massive iron railing. '~ The throne of Louis
Philippe was burnt here by the mob on the 24th of Febru
1848. The view from the top of the column is very fine. A
small gratuity $o the keepers is expected.

The Place de la Bastille presents several points of interest.
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At the entrance of the rue St. Antoine there formerly stood
a triumphal arch, demolished in 1789. The corner-house,
No. 1, of the rue du Faubourg St. Antoine, was inhabited
by Pepin, who was executed as one of Fieschi’s accomplices
in his attempt against the life of Louis Philippe in 1835,
The fine boulevard formed over the Canal St. Martin (see p.
275) may here be taken in at one view ; the new terminus
of the Vincenncs railway, an elegant building, stands opposite,
and on another side the Boulevard Beaumarchais cominences
the series of the interior boulevards. Here, too, is the small
Theutre Beanmarchais (see p. 471), opposite the site of the
house where the celebrated dramatist lived.

Entering the rue de Charenton, we find at No. 28 the

Hospice pEs QuINZE-VINGTS.—This hospital for the blind
was founded by St. Louis in 1260, at the corner of the rue
St. Nicaise, and was removed to the Hétel des Mousquetaives
Noirs, in 1779, by Cardinal de Rohan. In 1789 part of its
property was confiscated, but was restoredin 1814 {seep. 122},

In the second court of the house adjoining, No. 26, is

St. ANTOINE, the chapel of the Hospice. It was builtin
1701, and annexed to the parish of Ste. Marguerite in 1802.
14 contains St. Louis receiving the Sacrament, by Gassies, the
Entombment of Christ, by Jollivet, a Descent from the Cross,
a Resurrection, in grisaille, and a good altar-piece of St. An-
thony performing the ceremony of marriage. Higher up is the

HoritaL STE. EUGENIE, a building formerly connected with
the establishment of the Enfants Assistés (see p. 120). It
was founded in 1660 by the hounty of M. Aligre and his lady,
and was afterwards used as a supplementary hospital annexed
to the Héiel Dieu, but is now devoted to the reception of sick
children, under the patronage of the Empress (see p. 142).
Strangers are admitted on Sundays and Thursdays from 12 to 3.
It has another, entrance in the rue du Faubourg St. Antoine, at
No. 124, opening into a court, at the further end of which is
the private chapel of the hospital, a cruciform building, of
Doric design, to which, however, the public are not admitted.

The RUE PE CHARENTON possesses a melancholy celebrity
from the massacre of several hundred protestants of all ages
and both sexes, Sept. 28, 1621. They were attacked and mur-
dered by a party of foot-men, pages, and porters, while
coming from a new protestant church they had had built at
Charenton. The perpetrators of this crime went unpunished.
The street at that time bore the name of ruc de Ja Planchette
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This lies within the 4th arrondissement, the most conspi-
cuous object of which is the

HoOTEL DE VILLE, Place de I'Hotel de Ville.—In the earliest
reigns of the third race, the meetings of the corps de ville or
municipality were held in a house called la Maison de la
Marchandise, situated in the Vallée de la Misere, west of the
Grand Chatelet. They subsequently met near the Place St.
Michel, in a honse called the Parlouer aux Bourgeois. In
1357 the municipality purchased, for 2880 livres de Paris, the
Maison de la Gréve, or Maison aux Piliers, which had for-
merly belonged to Philip Augustus, and was frequently the
abode of royalty. Upon the site of this the Iiotel de Ville was
erccled. The first stone was laid July 15, 1533, by Pierre de
Viole, prévot des marchands, but the works were afterwards
suspended, until 1549, when Dominic Boccadoro, of Cortona,
resumed them after a plan of his own (1). During the war of
the Fronde, and still more during the revolution of 1789, the
edifice was much damaged ; it was, however, preserved from
further dilapidation in 1801, by being converted into the seat of
the prefecture, and was repaired by Molinos. In 1837 it re-
ceived immense additions, so as to render it nearly four times
larger than it was before. The works were finished in 1841,

Exterior.—The Hotel de Ville consisied in 1628 of a beau-
tiful large building, in the style of the Renaissance, two stories
high, enclosing a single court, and having its western front
towards the Place de Gréve, with two.elevated pavilions at the
northern and southern extremitics, each flanked by an elezant
square overhanging tower. -The old buildings occupy the
centre of the present edifice, which has- cost 15,000,000 fr.
Each pavilion has a wide archway ; a range of windows with
pediments, between smal! Corintbian columns, lights the ground -
floor; above is a long range of plainer windows, and niches
filled with statues (2), the whole surmounted by a rich balus-
trade. In the centre of the roof rises a turreted belfry,
with a clock, by Lepaute, marking the time of the Obser-
vatory, communicated to it by electric wires. Over the

(4) The key-stone of a vault in the left portico of the central
court bears an inseription stating that Marinus de la Vallée un~ -
dertook the continuation of it in 1606,.and finished it in 162s.
Another inscription over the central gaie (inside) shows that the
central pavilion and belfry were.finished in 1608.

(2) Those facing the Place de I'Hdtel de Ville are—Southern pa-
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central door-way there is a bronze equestrian bas-relief of
Henry IV., replacing one destroyed in 1789. The northern and
southern facades are flanked by the extreme pavilions of the
riacipal and eastern fronts. The eastern fagade has 4 pavi-
ions, with a central body adorned with 14 detached Corin-
thian columns ; the intermediate pavilions have noble entrances,
with Doric vestibules leading into the
Courts.—This vast edifice comprises three courts, two late-
ral ones, of Corinthian and Composite architecture, and the
central and most ancient one, which is approached from the
western front by a flight of steps ; (1) an Ionic arcade runs all
around it; under it, to the left on entering, is a fine full-length
bronze statue of Louis XIV., by Coysevox, with bas-reliefs re-
presenting Charity and Divine Vengeance, and adjoining is a
flight of steps descending into the northern court. To the right
is a statue of Charlemagne. (2) The lucarnes of this court are
very beautiful and light. The western corners of the court are
flanked by two engaged circular towers ending in lucarnes
similar to the rest. The whole is roofed over with glass, and
is sumptuously decorated with stucco and gilding, besides
medallions in terra cotta, in the style of Luca della Robbia,
representing Art, Glory, Peace, etc. The most remarkable
object here is an clliptical double-branched staircase rising to
the first story. Originally a mere provisional construction
executed for the ball given to Queen Victoria on the 23d of
August, 1855, it has now been rebuilt of stone and decorated
with the most elaborate sculpture in the style of the Renais-
sance. Under the arches supporting the stairs, a fountain

vilion: Condorcet, Lafayetle, Colbert, Catinat, Moli¢re, Boileau,
Lavoisier, De La Reynie, and J. A. De Thou. Central part: Fro-
chot, S. Bailly, L. Turgot, Abbé de I’'Epée, Rollin, Mathieu Molé,
J. Aubry, Robert Etienne, F. Miron, Budé, Lallier, De Viole, Ju-
venal des Ursins, Sully, Landry, Aubriot, Boyleaux, Jean Goujon,
P. Lescot, Goslin, Philippe Delorme, De La Vacquerie, St. Vincent
de Paule, Lesueur, Lebrun, Mansard, Voyer d’Argenson, and Per-
rone. Northern pavilion: A. J. Gros, Buffon, A. de Harlay,
Monge, Monthyon, Voltaire, D’Alembert, A. Paré, and Papin. The
slatues on the aitics of the other sides represent Justice, Com-
merce, the Muses, &c.

(1) On the flight of stairs under this door-way, M. de Lamar-
tine cxposed his life with admirable courage on February 26,
1848, by declaring {o an infuriated mob, that, as long as he lived,
the red flag should not be the flag of France.

(2) Around the frieze of this court were marble tablets, inscribed
with the principal events of the life of Louis XIV. from 1659 to
1689, and circular compartments in the spandrils of the arches
were charged with the bas-relief portraits of several Prévots.
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cemposed of four genii supporting & tazzi delivers its water
into a spacious basin underneath, enlivened with genii in the
act of swimming, &e., executed in white marble. On State
oecasions, this basin is bordered with rare exotics, and the
splendid illumination and profuse decoration of this court
render it a delightful appendage of the ball-room (see p. 288).
The Salle du Trone.—The staircase to the right of the en-
trance-passage leads to the landing-place on the first story,
remarkable for a curiously ribbed vault, a monument of the
age of Henry II. From this the Salle des Huissiers opens into
the Salle du Trdnme, occupying the whole length of the old
portion of the building, a most magnificent apartment. Itis
94 feet by 36, with an altitude of 25 feet. The walls are
adorned with velvet hangings, trimmed with gold. Two vast
chimney-pieces, ornamented with recumbent statues of white
marble, sculptured under Henry IV. by Biard and Bedin, oc-
cupy the extremities. Over one of them are, richly executed,
the arms of the City, being gules, a ship argent. The square
compartments of the ceiling are charged with armorial bearings,
and over the doors are allegorical paintings of Justice, Pru-
dence, Lahour, and Concord. Opposite the windows are four
pdintings by Séchan, representing the personification of Paris
in the 5th, 12th, 17th, and 19th centuries. This Salle is used
for official banquets, and will conveniently hold 200 guests. (1)
Adjoining this are the Salle du Zodiaque, with carvings on
the wainsceting, by Jean Goujon, and the Salon du Vote,
with a ceiling painted by Schopin, representing the cities of
France accepting the present Empire by 7,500,000 votes.
These rooms are not public. A corridor to the right of the
staircase leads to the Salle du Conseil, now called Salon Vic-
toria, an elegant chamber, €6 feet by 37, with blue and gnld"
hangings, adorred with busts of Queen Victoria and the Prince
Consort, presented to the City by those august personages.
The 68 councillors meet here. We now come to the
tate Apartments.—From the same staircase, a Corinthian
ery, elegantly fitied up, leads to the landing-place of the
principal staircase of the River front, having three flights of
steps, supported by Ionic columns, and ornamented with bas-
reliefs by MM. Debau and Briou. Here is an equestrian statue

(1) The mosi interesting recollections are connected with this
fime monument of the 46th century. From the central window
Louis XVI. harangued the populace with the cap of liberty on his
head, and General Lafayette presented Louis Philippe to the
people in 1830. This is also the room where Robespierre held
his eouncil, and where he attempted to destroy himself on the
memorable 27tk of July, 119¢.
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of Henry IV., in bronze, a copy of that on the Pont Neuf, by
Lemot (1818). An antechamber with Flemish gilt leather
bangings commences the suite; it i$ only remarkable for a
bro..ze statue by Bosio of Henry IV. in {is youth. Next is
the Salle d’Introduction; ils frieze is painted in arabesques
by Court. The Salle de Jeu, adorned with blue silk
hangings, and a rich ceiling and frieze painted by Lachaise,
leads to the Salon des Arcades, a magnificent saloon, 70
feet by 40, and 22 feet in height, trisected by two rows
of three lofty arches each, and furnished in a style of the
most luxurious splendour. (1) Itis of the Corinthian order,
with gilt capitals and cornice; the central ceiling ornamented
with a large allegorical painting by Picot, representing Paris
rewarding the Muses and the attributes of art; in the back-
ground is an assemblyof the most eminent men of France.
This painting is surrounded by ten hexagonal compartments
charged with allegorical figures representing Theology, Me-
dicine, Mechanics, Agriculture, Law, Commerce, Natural Phi-
losophy, Chemistry, Justice, and Geometry. In the first sec-
tion of this splendid chamber the compartments of the ceiling
are charged with the signs of the Zodiac, and allegories of Night
and Day, by Schopin. The grounds of the arches of the doors
are painted with medallions, severally representing Francis I.
and Henry IV. The ceiling of the extreme section, by Vau-
chelet, is painted with genii holding scrolls with the names of
the most famous artists known; the two central compartments
represent Truth and Genius; the medallions over the doors here
contain Louis XIV. and Louis Philippe; the latter however is
considerably damaged. The walls are painted in elaborate ara-
besques. In the centre is a circular divan, in which is a gilt
pedestal of bronze, supporting the figures of Agriculture, Com-
merce, and the Fine Arts. Gilt vases and chandeliers of ex-
quisite workmanship adorn the mantel-pieces. It was here the
Provisional Government first installed itself in 1848. Beyond
this reom is that for refreshments, called the Salon de Café,
painted by Vauchelet. To it succeeds a spacious dining-room,
with an ornamental frieze, containing subjects a-ppertaining to
the chase, the fisheries, &c., by Jadin. It will hold 150
guests, The visitor is now ushered into the suite specially
destined for grand occasions, where he will remark a degree
of splendour and taste unequalled by any palace in Paris,
the Tuileries not excepted. The centre of this suite is
occupied by the Grande Galerie des Fétes, with three
(1) During the winter season the Prefect of the Seine gives some
splendid balls, invitations to which may be abtained threugh the
channel of the Ambassader, or of persons already. presented.
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spacious rooms at each end, a faint descrption of which
we will now attempt in their regular order:—1. Salon
Napoléon Ier. The ceiling and walls of this, as of all
the following rooms, are gorgeously gilt on a white ground ;
the order is Ionic, the furniture green damask interspersed with
bees. Over the mantelpiece is a full-length picture of Napo-
leon I. in bis coronation robes, by Girard. The central
space of the ceiling of this room is painted by M. Ingres, the
subject being the Apotheosis of Napoleon ; the compartments
represent the cities conquered by him.—2. First Salon des
Arts.  Rich Corinthian, with niches, containing mythological
statues. In the tympans over the entrances are Paintin%,
Poetry, and Music, frescos, by Landelle.—3. First Salle
des Prévits, to the left; so called from the busts of the
Prévots des Marchands which occupy the spaces between
the modillions of the cornice; the series, which begins
with Evreux, under St. Louis, in the year 1203, is continued
in another room of the same name, and ends with Trudaine,
1772. The ceiling is by Ricsener, and represents Repose after
Anarchy.—4. Grande Galeriedes Fétes. Thisimmense saloon,
separated from the first and second Salon des Arts by two trans-
werse arcades, the gilt cupolas of which support the orchestras,
has a magical effect. The spectator is bewildered by a profuse-
ness of decoration of every kind that baffles description. The
Corinthian columns, with their gilt bases and capitals, the deli-
cate sculpture and gilding of the compartments of the ceiling,
the coves, painted by Lehmann, representing, in their penden-
tives, man exercising his activity and talent overNature, Science,
and Art, illustrated by 180 full-sized figures in 56 groups, in-
dependently of the minor subjects over the windows, the rich
chandcliers and costly furniture, form a unique ensemhle of
taste and art. Each of its 26 lustres will hold 105 wax lights,
Communicating with this salle by open arches in the coves
of the ceiling, there is a gallery, decorated with equal minute-
ness, where, on festive nights, the guests may witness the
brilliant scene without mixing among the dancers below. In
the centre of the left-hand wall, threc doors open into—s5.
The Salle des Caryatides, a splendid Corinthian refreshment
room, with a gallery above, forming part of the one above
mentioned. Fourleen graceful caryatides support the ceiling,
gainted in perspective, by Cosse ; the tympans over the doors
elow, painted by Benouville, represent Agriculture, Abun-
dance, Astronomy, and the four Seasons. Two lonic pas-
sages, with elegant seats,  and running parallel to the Galerie
des Fétes, communicate with the staircase, thus procuring a
free circulation of air. Here a doorin the centre opens upon the
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double-branched staircase leading to the court (see p. 285).
I.et the visitor picture to himself this beautiful hall (for such
it rust be called,) illumined with floods of light streaming
from hundreds of tapers arranged in graceful symmetry around,
clustered in cornucopias held by Cupids; or crowning the
lustres depending from the ceiling ; elegant fountains playing
under the arch which supports the stairs, and forming minia-
ture cascades which, rushing through the artificial channels
Jeft between the costly flowers thickly planted around, find
their way into the grottos heneath, where lovely genii are seen
sporting in the cool waters, or peeping from behind the ever-
greens ; let him imagine this scene ingeniously diversified in
the other gorgeous apartments already described, the whole
enlivened by all the wealth, beauty, and fashion the capital
can muster, and he will come to the conviction that the fairy
dreams of the Arabian Nights may fall far short of reality. (1) At
the furthermost end of the Galerie des Fétes is—6. The second
Salon des Arts, being a counterpart of the one already de-
scribed at the other extremity. This gives access to—7.
Salon de la Pajx similar to the Salon Napoléon, painted by
M. Eugene Delacroix. The second Salon des Arts also commu-
nicates with—8. The second Salle des Prévdts, the ceiling of
which, painted by Muller, represents the communes of France
expressing their gratitude to Louis le Gros for breaking their
chains.—From this room, or from its counterpart on the oppo-
site side, the visitor descends by the superh double-branched
staircase, crowned with the galleries already mentioned, su;
porting its richly sculptured ceiling pierced with sk‘ylights( e
subjects of which, in stained glass, are allegorical of convi-
vial pleasures), into the Doric vestibule communicating with
the central court. The architect of these more than regal apart-
ments of the Civic Prince of Paris is M. Lesueur.

On the ground-floor, below the Galerie des Fétes, is a large
saloon of the Doric order, called the Salle St. Jean. Itis
used for civic purposes, public meetings of literary societies,
etc. The offices occupy the rest of the building. Underneath
are the kitchens, sufficient to provide a banquet for a thousand--
guests. The Hotel de Ville when completed, will contain
upwards of 500 statues, busts, and medallions. (2) Architects:

(1) Upwards of 7000 visitors have sometimes been admitted to
the City balls; the rooms, forming a circuit of upwards of half a
mile, require 9714 tapers, and 2389 gas-burners, for their full
complement of illumination. The present King of Italy was en-
tertained here in 1855; the Grand Duke Constaniine and the
King of Bavaria, in 1857.

(2) The offices occupy 474 rooms, The clerks number 448,
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MM. Godde and Lesusur. The apartments are visible on
Thursdays from 1 to 4, with a ticket to be had on application
by letter to M. le Préfet de la Seine. .

On the fourth story of the north-east side of the Hotel de
Ville, is the Bibliothéque de la Ville, established since June
18, 1847. Itoccupies three rooms, including the reading-room,
and three galleries, the largest of which is 120 feet long. It is
rich in scientific and commereial works, in foreign publications,
and works on the municipal history of the cities of France.
It also possesses, in a separate room, 6000 volumes of official
American publications, and 300 manuscript volumes of the
registers of the Parfement of Paris. The total number of vo-
Iumes is above 85,000. At the top of the staircase leading to
the upper gallery a head of Cybele, found in 1657 ncar the
church of St. Eustache, and evidently Roman, is worthy of
notice. Open daily, from 10 to 3, except on holidays.

THE PLACE DE L’HOTEL DE VILLE, formerly PLACE DE GREVE,
has been the scene of most of the public ‘‘ deeds of blood” that
have occurred in the capital. Once the place of execution for
criminals, it has also been stained with the blood of the
victiams of revolution. (1) Facing the Hotel de Ville on
this square there are two new buildings, designed by M.
Baltard : the northern one containing offices beloTing to the
Monicipality ; the southern one the offices of the Administra-
tion de l’hs;’sétmc; Publigue. '{xhese tl:wo edifices are exact
counterparts of each other ; they have three stories resting on
arcaded basements; all the roo);ing is of iron.

Behirnd the Hotel de Ville are two vast barracks; the larger,
oilled Caserne Napoléon, is built for 2,500 men, and is of an

' pentagonal foim ; its architecture is Ionie, and its
pedaments ave charged with eagles and trophies. It oecu-

ies 8,000 sq. metres, and is connected with the Hotel le Ville
Ky a subterramean passage. The other, Caserne d¢ Lobau, is
it counterpart, except in size, and containg 500 cavalry of
the Garde de Paris. Behind the former barracks the Mairie
of the 4th arrondissement is being erected ; opposite which
we s;sthhe chureh of ted in 4 entarged i
. El.vus,——%ura 1420, and enlarged in 1581.
Over the northern sisle of the choir rises a tower about 130
feet high, the lower part of which is of ancient, the upper of
modern, construction. The western front of St. Gervais was be-
gon iit 1616 by Desbrosses, Louis XIII. laying the first stone. It

#) Athong the petsors of note éxecated here may be mewtioned
Conhrétable de 8t. Pol, the Codnt de Montgomimert (se p. 470
n.), Marshal Marillac, Ravaillac, the Maréchale & Ancre, the Mar-
quist de Byiviftiess, Carfouche, and Damiens. On Mareh 47th,
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consists of three ranges of coupled columns, successively of
the Deric, Ionic, and Corinthian orders, with niches, con-
taining the statues of St. Protasius and St. Gervais, and crowned
with a gegmental pediment flanked with the statues of Moses
and St, John. The rest of the church is Gothic, and cruci-
form, with single aisles. The works of art in this church, be-
ginning from the right on entering, are: facing the aisle, a
copy of Rubens’s Descent from the Cross, which adorns the
Cathedral of Antwerp, by Morain ; 1st chapel: Ste. Philoméne,
by Smith ; threemedallions on cach side, with passages fromher
life. Aboveis a good Crucifixion. 2d. A curious picture, of the
17th century, of the Deliverance of Souls from Purgatory at the
intercession of St. Gervais. 3d. The statue of St. Catherine,
by Cortot, in marble ; a painting, by Vibert, of the Virgin
blessing France, and a St. Nicholas, also repeated in the win-
dow, in good old stained glass. 4th. South transept: the
Tongues of Fire; also St. Ambrose refusing entrance to
Theodosius, by Couder; statues of the Virgin, Religion
and Faith, by Rude. 5th. A fine Ecce Homo, by Rou-
get, and Christ giving St. Peter the Keys, by Jonquitres. The
stained glass in the window, representing the apostle Paul hefore
Festus, is by Pinaigrier. 6th. A tine Decapitation of St. John
the Baptist, in the style of Guercino. The glass in the window,
by Pinaigrier, represents the Judgment of Solomon. 7th. Ste.
Genevieve consoling an afflicted woman, and Jesus with Martha
and Mary, by Philippe de.Champagne. 8th. A monument to
Chancellor Letellier (1685), a sarcophagus of black marble,
supported by colossal white marble heads ; at the ends are
beautiful full-sized figures of Religion and Fortitude ; the chan-
cellor reclines on the sarcophagus, with a genius weeping at his
feet. There is also a spirited plaster Descent from the Cross, an
Ecce Homo, sculptured by Cortot, and the Good Samaritan,
painted by Forestier. 9th. The Lady Chapel hehind the apsis
of the choir is one of the most beautiful in Paris; the vaulting
ribs of its roof unite in two different points, from the
first of which they descend in a clustered pendant, and

1848, a monster manifestation took place here in support of the
Provisional Government,and on April 416th following an attempt
to overthrow that Government was foiled by the steady attilnde
of the National Guard. The new houses facing the Scine occupy
the site of many a historical building, among which we may
mention the Hdtel de Sicile or d’Anjou, inhabited in the 14th
century by Louis 1., quke of Anjou, and king of Naples, Sicily,
and Aragon; two hotels, the property of Jacques de Bourbon,
constable of France, and inhabited, in 1391, by Blanche de
Navarre; and a turreted house inhabited by Scarron and Mme.
de Mainfenon, on the site of the present Café de la Tourelle.
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from the other in an elaborate open-worked. crown, a
chef-d’ceavre both in design and workmanship. Around it
is an inscription, partly ancient, thus: parfaite en Uan
1417, peinte en 1842, The three front windows to the east
are filled with some rich specimens of stained glass by Pi-
naigrier, representing the histories of Ste. Anne and the Virgin.
A splendid Gothic altar of modern execution, adorned with a
statue of the Virgin, and four smaller statues of the Evangelists,
face the entrance. The decoration of the chapel is the conjoint
work of Messrs. Baltard, architect, and Delorme, painter ; 14 oil
paintings on the walls are by the latter ; those in the nave of
the chapel represent the epochs of happiness of the Virgin’s life ;
the Annunciation, Visitation, Maternity, and Assumption. In the
sanctuary of the chapel are the cight Christian virtues, Resig-
nation, Fortitude, Repentance, Justice, Charity, Hope, Truth,
and Humility. In the following vestibule, Jesus walking on
the Waves, by Dubusc. 10th chapel: St. Margaret of Scot-
land washing the feet of the poor, by Gassies; Moses smiting
therock, by Guichard. Adjoining it is the captivity of St. Peter,
by Heim. 11th. North transept : the Martyrdom of Ste. Juliette
and her son St. Cyr, by Heim ; also a picture by Albert Durer,
of the nine sufferings of Christ, dated 1500 ; it is concealed by
curtains, but is readily shown to visitors for a small fee. 12th.
Chyist at the Feast of Cana, by Jouvenet. Here, upon applica-
tion, the visitor is introduced into a private oratory, the wains-
coting of which is painted in the richest style by the elder
Francks, a Dutch master of the 16th century ; the subjects
comprise the whole history of our Saviour’s Life, Death, and
Resurrection.  14th. A model in wood of the aestern front
of the church, serving as an altar-piece ; 15th. the Bap-
tism of Christ, and the Fall of Man, by M. Caminade. In the
window are St. Johnthe Baptistand St. Nicholasinstai 2dglass,
bearing date 1620. Facing the aisle is an exhumation of St. Pet-
ronilla, by Guercino. The modern stained glass in the choir has
been executed after the designs of Eugene Delacroix. Above the
screen opposite the pulpit, is the Eternal Father surrounded by
angels, by Perugino. Paul Scarron, the husband of Mme. de
Maintenon, Philippe de Champagne, and many other distin-
guished persons, were buried in this church.

Striking into the rue de Jouy, east of this, the visitor will
bid adieu to the modern. rue de Rivoli to plunge into one of
the oldest quarters of Paris. (1) At No. 7, he will find the

(4) Most of the houses of this locality suffered greatly from the
. effects of artillery in the days of June 4848, the insurgents having

transformed this quarter into an all but impregnable stronghold
by the scientific arrangement of their barricades.
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Hoétel &’ Aumont, built by Mansard ; and further on the rue
Charlemagne, where, at No. 14, the Passage Charlemagne
crosses the court of the Hétel de Jassaud, or d’Aguesseau,
once the site of a pslace. An octagonal engaged tower of the
ti.ie of Francis I. is still to be seen in a corner of the court,
which has coupled Ionic pilasters running round, and some
ornaments indicating its former state.

This passage leads to the rue St. Antoine ; at No. 120, is the

LYCEE CHARLEMAGNE, the building of which belonged to the
college of Jesuits founded in 1582. Adjoining this we sec the
elegant church of e

St. PauL ET ST. Louls,—begun in 1627, on the sitc of a
chapel belonging to the adjoining convent of the Jesuits, founded
by Cardinal de Bourbon in 1582. It was finished in 1641,
aud Cardinal Richelieu performed the first mass in it in the
presence of Louis XIII. and his court. This magnificentfront
is approached by a flight of steps ; it is 144 feet high, and 72
broad at the base, and hasthree ranges of Corinthian and Com-
posite columns.  Interior.—This structure is cruciform, with
chapels on each side of the nave, communicating with each
other. Over the transepts of the church rises a lofty dome,
in the pendentives of which are sculptured figures of the evan-
gelists ; and, above, four figures in grisaille of Charlemagne,
Clovis, Robert, and St. Louis. A rich cornice and gallery
surmount the Corinthian pilasters which stand in front of
each picr. This church was pillaged of all its riches at the
revolution of 1789 ; but a profusion of marble is still to be
seen on the high altar, and round the door-ways; the rails,
too, which separate the high altar from the nave, are of black
and red marble. The works of art, beginning from the left on
entering, are, 1st chapel : a Holy Family. 2d.-St. Louis pray-
ing, by Besson. 3d. St. Mary Magdalen, by Lefebvre. 4th.
Christ. offering his Heart. "5th. Eastern transept: a black
marble-glab to the memory of ‘Bourdaloue, buried on the
‘spot. "Above the arches.are two paintings, viz., the Agony in .
the Garden, by Delacroix, and the Conversion of St. Paul, by
Chautard. 6th. A good Mater.Dolorosa in marble.” There are
four frescoes, by Decaisne, onthe walls of the choir, representing
the four evangelists. On the . piers of the arches opening into
the chair, on both sidés are black marble slabs with inscrip-
tions, showing that the hearts of -Louis XIII. and X1V. were
deposited here, and that Anne of Austria and the. Duke. Regent
of Orleans segverally caused - these inscriptions to be placed.
7th chapel (right side) : the statue of St, Vipcent de Payle. 8th. -
Western transept : Baintings of Moses an«# the brazen serpent,
and Louis XIII. 6ffering St. Louis the dedication of this church.
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9th. St. Isabelle, sisler of St. Louis, offering a church to the
Virgin, by Philippe de Champagne. 10th. St. Jerome, by Le-
febvre. 11th. St. Peter administering Baptism, by Latil, and
an excellent old Holy Family ; and 12th. The Baptism of
Christ. Beyond the church is the sacristy, containing some
good paintings, portraits of the successive curés of the church ;
and further on is the chapel of the catechists, ending in a cir-
cular recess, painted on a ground rendered impenetrable to
moisture, by Valbrun, representing Christ calling the children
unto him. The architect of this magnificent church was Father
Derrand, a Jesuit. : .

At No. 143, in the rue St. Antoine, is the

HoteL pE SuLLy.—This edifice is remarkable as the work
of Ducerccau, and the residence of the celebrated minister
whose name it bears. It is in good preservation, and s
court, which is large, is richly adorned with sculpture.

At No. 212, the boarding-school of M. Favard, is a good
specimen of the age of Heary IV. At No. 216 bis is -

La VisiTatioN, a small Calvinist church built by F. Man-
sard, in 1632, for the Dames de la Visitation.—The dome
rests on four arches, between which are Corinthian pilasters
crowned with a cornice. The porch is accessible by steps.
The interior is adorned with scroll work, wreaths of flowers,
&e., but contains no pietures. Fouquet was buried here in
1680. Service is performed here in French by the pastors of
the Oratoire, on Sundays and festivals, at 12%. The convent,
destroyed in the revolution of 1789, was very extensive.

The rue Castex and rue de la Cérisaie lead to the

Government Dépot des Poudres et Salpétres. Percussion
caps are manufactured here for the use of the army.

The rue Delorme leads hence to the

GRENIER DE RESERVE, situated on the Boulevard Bourden.
—This immense storehouse was begun by order of Napoleon,
in 1807, as a depot for the grain and flour required for four
months’ consumption of the city, and completed in 1816,
1t is 2,160 feet in length by 64 in breadth, and is 32
feet high. Beneath is a range of cellars, under which four
‘water-cuts were constructed for the purpose of turnihg mills,
Every baker in Paris is obliged to keep 20 full-sized sacks of
flour constantly deposited here, and may warchouse as much
in addition as he pleases, on payment of a moderate charge.
The building will contain 80,000 sacks; the cellars are used
as a supplementary entrepot for wine. For admission, apply at
the bureau, in the Place de I’Arsenal.

" On the adjoining Boulevard Bourdon a ham market or fair
is held every year just before Easter; it lasts three days.
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In the rue de Sully is >
The ARSENAL.—About 1396, a depot for artiflery nas busit
upon this spot, but was destroyed by an explosion in 1563.
Charles IX. reconstructed it on a larger scale. Henry 1V. in-
c.eased it, and created the office of grand-master of the artillery,
in favour of Sully. The valuable library, called Bibliothéque
de Paulmy, originally formed by the Marquis de Paulmy
d’Argenson, was deposited here; to this collection were
added that of the Duke de la Valliere, and several others,
when it took the title of Bibliothéque de I’Arsenal. During
the Restoration it was called Bibliothéque de Monsieur,
having been purchased by the Count d’Artois, afterwards
Charles X.; but since 1830 it has resumed its appellation
de UArsenal. The entrance is decorated with a fine haut-
rclief, representing Victory, by Dantan, sepior. This li-
brary is rich in history, foreign literature, and postry,
particularly in Italian works; and contains about 300,000
printed volumes, and 6,300 manuscripts, among which
are some beautiful missals, The ground floor is fitted up with
book-cases in two long galleries. The reading-room and first«
floor, were inhabited by Sully, and are shown to strangers
on application from 10 to 3. Most of the ceilings are carved,
and Sully’s private apartments are richly gilt and painted,
In one of the compartments is the portrait of Catherine de
Médicis; in another, the entrance of Henry IV. into Paris.
There are also marble husts of Henry IV. and Sully. The
library is publicfrom 10 10 3, except on Sundays and holidays.
Facing the Arsenal is a large building, containing bar-
racks for the Line ; it occupies the site of the ancient and
once magpificent  convent of the Célestins, whose church,
built by Charles V., contained a greater number of tombs of
illustrious personages than any in Paris. It was celebrated for
the chapelle d’Orléans, containing splendid mausoleums ap-
. propriated to the remains of the brother of Charles VI. and
the descendants of the house of Orléans-Longueville. Most of
the tombs of the chapel were transported by the patriotic archi-
tect, M. Lenoir, to the Musée des Monuments Frangais, rue
des Petits Augustins, and two remarkable ones are at the
Louvre in the Musée de la Sculpture Moderne. The mortal
remains of the Duchess of Bedford, daughter of Jean Sans Peur,

buried here in 1432, are now at St. Bénigne’s, at Dijon. (1)
The adjacent Quai Morland formerla gave access by a
wooden bridge to a small island called Ile Louviers containing

(1) During the demolition of part of the ancient church in May
1847, several tombs were discovered, one of which was that of
a daughter of King John of England, surnamed Lackland.
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wood yards. Here-vast store-houses for the city are in course
of construction. The Ile Louviers communicates with the Ile
St. Louis by the wooden Pont de I'Estacade.
At No. 6, Quai_des Celestins, Count Lavalette has partly
restored and partly rebuilt a splendid old hotel, the sculptures
of which, though chxeﬂy modern, are concewed in the taste
of the time of Francis 1., and are worthy of inspection.
At the corner of the rue St. Paul, No. 4, are a few re-
mains of the Hdtel de St. Paul, long a royal residence; the
greater part is of comparatively late date, and is now owupled
y a company for distributing through Paris the filtered water
of the Seine. In 3 long spacious-room-are placed four rows
of charcoal filters, receiving the water from the river, which is
drawn up by a steam-engme The clarified water thus obtained
is perfectly sweet and wholesome. Strangers are admitted.
At the corner of the rue des Lions, in the rue St, Paul, isa
small square turret of the age ‘of Henry IV. All the ground
between the rue St. Antoine, the moat of the Bastille, the ri-
yer, and the rue du Figuier, was formerly occupied by build-
ings which Charles V., in 1360-5, purchased and formed into
a palace, the above mentioned Hotel de St. Paul, so called
from its proXimity to the.church. Within the enclosure
were severaledifices, the names of which may still be traced in
some of the streets built on their site, such as the Hdtels de
Puteymuce, de Beautreillis, de Lyons, &c. This palace was
abandoned by the kings of France for the Palais des Tour-
nelles ; ard, in the 16th century, the buildings were sold.
By stnkmg into the rue des Barres, the visitor will sce be-
fore him, at No. 1, rue du Figuicr, the
. HOTEL DE Sst, onhe of the most mterestmv remains of the
- middle ages extant in France.—It waserected in the 15th cen-
tury, and formed part of the Hotel St. Paul ; Tristan-de
Salazar, “Archbishap of Sens, repaired it in 1581, and Carcinal
-Duprat,. Chancellor of Franee, enlarged it. conmderably ~Va-
“rious distinguished personages intiabited it at different.times ;
.among others, Lauis de.Bourbon, Cardinal de Guise, Bertrandi,
Keeper of the Seals, -and Cardinal “Duperon, The gateway,
is flanked by two overhanging peaked tuprets. High up, to
the-left, the visitor will-sée an- eight-poundér ball lodged in the
old grey wall ; underneath is ¢*28 Juillet, 1830.”- Th¢ win-
dows are curious ; -and there-is' a remar‘kahle turret in the
sopth-western corner of the: court: . In the rue de.I’Hofel e
Ville, to the left, i apother projécting turret, with quamlly-
orpamented wmdows. . “This hotel, a model of a- noble manamn
of its epoch, is still in good preservatlou
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. BLEVENTH WALK,

This walk comprises the islands, which lie partly in the
4th; and partly in the 6th arrondissement.

The Ile de la Cité was, until 1607, divided into three is-
lands, the two smaller ones being the Isle auw Treilles, which
commenced at the rue du Harlay, a street occupying the exact
site of the arm of the Seine which formed the separation ; and
the Isle ¢ la Gourdaine, beginning from ihe present carriage-
way. It was on the latter that the Templars were burnt,in 1314.
(see p. 253 n.) The present islaud is connected with the
quays on both sides by the

PoNT NEUF.~This bridge was begun by Ducerceau, under
Henry II., who laid the first stone on May 31, 1578, and was
finished in 1604, at Henry 1V.th's expense, under the direc-
tion of Marcband. Jt was reconstrocied and Jowered in 1852.
It consists of. two parts; the northern one contains seven cir-
cular arches, the sovihern one only five. - Its total length is
1020 feet, and its breadth 78; it has -semicircular recesses
with stone seats, and forty-lwo ornamental lamp-pests. .

On the square arca, at the junction of the two parts of
the bridge, a bronze statue of Henry 1IV. was erected by his
widow, Marie de Médicis. Her father, Cosmo de Médicis, had
sent her a bronze horse for this purpose, and a figure of the
king to suit it was cast in France. This statoe was destroyed
in 1792 ; and-on its site. Napoleon interded to ercct a magui-
ficent granite obelisk of the height of 200 feet, when the events
of 1814 putan end to the project. In 1818, the present statue,

. cast by order of Loyis XVill., and .paid for by public sub-
.scriplioh, was inaugurated with much ceremony. The model
was by Lemot, and the statue itself, formed out of several
others, including those of Napoleon and Desaix, was cast b
Piggiani. * Underneath the pedestal was placed a magnificent
corpy. of the Henriade of Voltaire. The height of this beau-
Jtiful statue is 14 feet, its -“weight 30,000 lb.; and it cost

- 337,860 fr, Thepedestal, of white marble, is+approached by
seven steps. of the same, running all round, and enclosed by
a railing. On the faces arethe following inscription : - -

- . Henrici Magni, patersio in-populu imo.natisgimi princlpis
sdcram "'emgieﬁf-c?vileb intie‘,r?gl.l;nizu?xli?g:,uia- in(illfgnan]t,e, dﬁj%e’-’
tam, post optatym Ludavici XVfll. reditum ex omnibus ordini-
hus cives @re collato restituernnt. Necnon et elogium cum effigie

- 8imul abolitum-lapidi rursus inscribi curaverunt. - D.D. die xxv.
miens,: Aug. M.D.CCC.XVIUL ' T
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Errico IV., Galliaram Imperatori Navar. R. Ludovicus XIII. Fi-
1ius ejus opus inchoatum et intermissum, pro dignitate pietalis
et imperii plenius et amplius absolvit. Emin. D. C. Richelius
commune votum populi promovit. Super illustr. viri De Bullion,
Boutillier P. erarii F. faciendum curaverunt M.D.C.XXXV, )
The latter existed on the pedestal of the old statue. The
lateral faces have two bronze bas-reliefs ; in one, Henry IV,
is seen commanding food to be distributed to the inhabitants
of Paris, who, during the siege of the capital, had taken refuge
in his camp; in the other, the king, entering as a conqueror,
stops in the Parvis de Notre Dame, and orders the prevot of
Paris to bear his message of peace to the inhabitants. Behind
the statue, a double-branched flight of stairs leads to a floating
bathing establishment, and a swimming-school (1).

From the middle of this bridge the stranger passes into the

PLACE DAUPHINE, formed in 1608, and named after the Dau-
phin, afterwards Louis XIII, Itis triangular; in the ceuntreis
a fountain, after the designs of Percier and Fontaine, crected in
1803, to the memory of General Desaix, who fell at the battle
of Marengo. The bust of the hero, crowned with laurel by the
allegorical figure of France, is placed ena circular basement.
The following inscriptions will be remarked :

Allez dire au Premier Consul que je meurs avec le regret de
n'avoir pas ‘assez fait pour la postérité.

Landan, Kehl, Weissenbourg, Malte, Chebreis, Embahé, les
Pyramides, Sediman, Samanhout, Kane, Thébes, Marengo, furent
les témoins de ses talents et de son courage. Les ennemis I'ap-
pelaient le juste ; ses soldats, comme ceux de Bayard, sans peur
et sans reproche; il vécut, il mourut pour sa patrie.

L. Ch. Ant. Desaix, né & Ayat, département du Puy-de-Ddme,
le XViI aot MDCCLVIIl; mort & Marengo le XXV prairial an VIH
de 1a République MDCCC. Ce monument lui fut élevé par des
amis de sa gloice et de sa vertu sous Je Consulat de Bomaparte,
Tan X de la République MDCCCII.

This ““place,” formerly the residence of the officers of the Par-
Jement, was the scene of some festivities under Louis XIV,

The Quai de 'Horloge, where new buildings for the Prefec-
ture of Police are mow in progress (2), leads to the Boulevard
de Sébastopol, where we see the imposing front of the

PapLais pE JusTice.—This vast edifice is nearly as old as
the Palais des Thermes, (sec p. 388,) and was used for public

(1) On the Pont Neuf there formerly stood the Pompe de la Sa-
maritaine, 80 called fram u hronge bas-relief on it, of Jesus and
the woman of Samarfa. It was buiit in 1604 to supply water to
the Tuileries and the Louvre, and demolished in 1815.

(2) The old hotel was adorned with fresco-portraits of the
provosts of the old corporations. These have been removed,
ar 8 will be replaced in the new constructions.”
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pu long before the invasion of the Franks, sines in 1764
a bas-relief, representing Mercury, apparently of the 4th cen-
tur{, was found during some excavations in a part of the
huilding facing the rue de la Barillerie, now the Boulevard.
On the same stone was the figure of a ship, being the well-
known symbol of Paris. The kings of France of the first race
‘resided in this palace, and those of the third, until about the
end of the 14th century ; Robert, son of Hugh Capet, made
considerable additions to it about the year 1000 ; it was en-
tively rebuilt by Philippe le Bel in 1313 ; Louis XI., Charles
VIH., and Louis XII., extended it, and Francis 1. made it his
residence in 1531, One of its principal halls, called Grande
Salle du Palais, now replaced by the Salle des Pas Perdus,
erected in 1622 by Desbrosses, was destroyed by fire in 1618,
There was an immense marble table there, which was used
for the royal banquets, and at certain periods of the year, it
performed the office of a stage, on which the clerks of the
palace, called Clercs de la Basoche, diverted the public with
satirical performances and farces. In 1776 a fire broke out
in the buildings adjoining the Sainte Chapelle, (see p. 304)
and completely destroyed them (1). '

Eaxtersor.—The front, facing the Boulevard de Sébastopol
(2), consists of a central body and two wings enclosing an ample
court, separated from the street by an iron railing, richly
wrought and gilt. The central body is decorated with four
Doric columns, supporting four colossal figures above the en-
tablature, which is crowned with an attic surmounted by a
lofty quadrangular dome. It receives access from a statel
flight of steps, occupying upwards of half the breadth of the
court, Fronting the Boulevard, the lateral wings have fagades
consisting of four Doric columns, resting upon bossaged
basements, and extend north and south, alsoforming the rue de
la Sainte Chapelle, thus enclosing a second court, which gives
access to the splendid edifice of that name, and to the Hdtel
de la Préfecture de Police, (see p. 304.) To the north the
style of the building gradually changes from the Italian to the
mixed Gothic of the 14th century, beginning with a bodx
crowned with two segmental pediments, flanked by smail

(1) Nearly the whole of this palace facing the Boulevard
and the Quai de I'Horloge has heen entirely rebuilt or under-
pinned. The whole sum expended on the Palais de Juslice in
the course of 12 ‘years is 22,000,000 fr. When compleied, the
buildings, including the Prefecture of Police, will be more than
a kilometre in circuit. The presenf architects are MM. Viollet~
Leduc and Daumet. i a

(2) Opposife $he Palace formerly siood the Gonvent of St
Barthélemy. i
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turrets, and ending with a buttressed wing executed according
to the original designs, which connects the palace with alarge
square tower, called La Tour de I'Horloge. (1) The design of
this wing is continued along the Quai de I’Horloge,; and termi-
nates at a round tower, called the Tour de “César, between
which and the adjoining Tour Bombée is the entrance to the
Conciergerie (see p. 302.) It was here the guillotine carts
used to receive the victims of the Reign of Terror. Further on
is a third round tower, crowned with battlements, called the
Tour d'Argent, connected with the former. This portion
also belongs to the Conciergerie. The rsplendid clock
which now adorns the side of the palace facing the Quas
aux Fleurs, was replaced there in 1852. (2) The figures
of Piety and Justice which flank the dial-plate, the caryatides
supporling the circular arch, and the angels supporting the
coat-of-arms which crowns the pediment, are by Germain
Pilon. It is profusely painted and gilt. In front of the prin-
cipal court of the Palace criminals used to undergo the pun-
ishment of the carcan, or pillory, which was abolished in 1848.
Interior.—On entering the vestibule, which is Doric, from
the principal court, the visitor will, at the further end to his
left, perceive a door which gives access to the upper portico
of the Sainte Chapelle (see p. 304.) An elegant passage starls
here at right angles from the vestibule, unfortunately masking
the beautiful porportions of that monument. The passage gives
access to the new buildings facing the Boulevard and rue de la
Sainte Chapelle, which contains the offices of the Procureur
Impérial and other functionaries, and to a staircase descending
to the ground-floor under an arch communicating with both
the principal and the second court.- Opposite ‘the principal
entrance in the vestibule a staircase leads to the Cour lImgé-
riale d’Appel, and-at the lower end; is the Salle des ®as
Perdus. This Salle, situated above what were the kitchens in
St. Louis’s time, gives access to the Atle des Tours, opposite
thie Seine, which contains several offices,of the Civil Tribunal,
angd to the Court of Cassation, the libraries, &c. It is Doric,
and ‘is. bisected by a line of lofty arcades, with a double- -
arched ceiliig. It is 216 feet by 84, and contains a fine mo-
nument by Dumont, erected in 1822, under one of the arches,

(1) The bell, called Tocsin- dw. Palais, now replaced in "this

tower, repeated. the signal from -St. Germain I'Auxerroig for the
massacre of St. Bartholoméw. = .. ' . .
“ '(2) Charles'V. Had it constructed in- 1307, it being the first large
clock-seen in Paris.. .He also appeinted a clever artisan, Henri
.de Vic, aGerman by birth, to regulate it.: The decoratiens were
finished in 1658, and repaired in 1683, under Louis X1V.
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to the memory of Malesherbes. It consists of a basement and
two Ionic columns, surmounted by a pediment, with his statue
bv Bosio, and the inscription :

Strenue semper fidelis regi suo, in solio veritatem, presidium

in carcere attulit.

Two statues, France and Fidelity, by Bosio, occupy the lateral
plinths. The panel of the basement contains a bas-relief by
Cortot : Louis XVI. in conference with the Counsel for his de-
fence. This, removed in 1830, was replaced in 1846.

Opposite this monument a passage, under a double-branched
staircase, leads to a glazed court, giving #cess to the chambers
of the Tribunal de Premiére Instance, the series of which is
completed in the upper gallery, accessible by the staircase
itself. All this part is new, and elegantly conceived ; in the
gallery are the busts of Le Camus, Argouges de Fleury, and
Augran d’Alleray, civil licutenants under the old régime ; and
those of Presidents Berthereaux, Try, and Moreau.

Returning to the Salle des Pas Perdus, a passage parallel
to it gives access to the Court of Assize by a double-branched
staircase; the ceiling of this Court is painted by Jean and Bon
Boullongne, but disfigured by iron bars required for its support.
The Procureur Impérial sits to the right of the judges ; the
jury are on the same side along the wall ; the prisoners’ bench
is opposite, each prisoner -having a gendarme by his side ; the.
counse] for the defence sit in front of this bench (1.) :

A passage between the branches of the staircase leads to
the. Cour d’Appel Correctionnelle ; and opposite the stair-
case is a long narrow passage, in the style of the times of
Francis I. At the end of this gallery is a statue of St. Louis,
standing against the wall of one of the towers, in which the
will of Louis XIV., immediately on its being received by
the Parliament, was enclosed in a recess, and bricked up,
in order that its execution might become impossible. A
smaller gallery to the left, at right angles with the former,
having over its entrance medallions of Charles V., Justinian,
Louis XIII., and Charlemagne, hasits panels filled with portraits
of the most eminent French lawyers, and leads to the Chambre
des Requéles, a large hall, with statues of Tronchet and
Portalis, and a painting representing the Roman Ambassadors
before the Areopagus of Athens. ’

The Court of Cassation holds its sittings in a spacious room,
built by St. Louis, and_afterwards used as a.throne-room.
At a later period the Grande Chambre of the Parlement used

(1) Persons desirous of witnessing a trial should go early to
find seats, else they will have to wait their turn at the bottom of
the staircase.
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te hold its sittings there. This court is &dorned with statues
of the Chancellors d’Aguesseau and I’Hopital, by Descine.
The other courts are very ordinary apartments.

The chief entrance-court gives access on the right to the

CONCIERGERIE, the most interesting part of the old' palace,
on account of its many melancholy associations relating to
the first French revolution. It was the prison of the royal
palace, and its name is derived from the concierge (keeper),
who was the chief of a jurisdiction called Bailliage du Palass,
had the title of baslli, and enjoyed several privileges. It has
at present a floating population of about 120 persons (see p.
77). From the entranee the’ visitor descends into a vesti-
bule divided into two aisles by a row of columns sup-
porting pointed arches. This was formerly the Salle
Gardes of Louis IX. - it has now been restored to its original
state. The last window to the right, situated between the
first two towers, fronts a dark passage where new parlosrs
have been constructed on the plan of those of the Prison
Mazas (see p. 76). The rest of the prison has been rebuilt on -
the cellular system, and contains 100 cells ; the court being
also divided into compartments like those described at p. 76.
The prison of Marie Antoinette, now the sacristy of the chapel,
has been preserved. It is a low flat-vaulted chamber with
plain groins. It contains three paintings, by Simon, Pajou,
and Drolling, representing scenes connected with the latter
days of that Queen’s life. In one, the Queen is in the Temple
(see p. 253) bidding ‘adieu to Madame Elisabeth and the
Duchesse d’Angouléme ; behind them is Simon, the notorious
cobbler, who by his ill-treatment caused the death of Louis"
XVIL. - Another painting represents the Queen alone in prison,
and in the third she is taking the sacrament (1) previous to her
execution, Her crucifix is still shown here. A black tma-»le
shab in the wall, flanked by inverted torches, bears a suitable
inseription (2). In this same prison Princess Elizabeth, and
also Robespierre, were confined. 'The window looks into the
yard of the female prisoners ; it is adorned with plain stained

(1) M. de Lamartine, in his Histoire des Girondins, says that
she refused the sacrament from a priestsworn to the Republie,
no other being allowed her; but it was the Abbé Mangin who
admipisiered the sacrament to her, having introduced himself
in{p her prison under the disguise of a gendarme.

{(2) The following is the inscription above alluded to, said to
have been written by Louis XVIII, :— ) '

D.0.M, Hoc in loco Maria Antonia Josepha Joanna Austriaca,
Ludovici XV1. vidua, conjuge trucidato, liberis ereptis, in carce~
rem conjecta, per dies LXXVI. erumnis luctu etsqualore adfecta,
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glasg, part of which is arringed in & circle of about twelve
itiches diameter, showitig the dimensions of the window at
the time Marie Antoinette occupied the cell. The Chapel is
simple; and elliptically arched; above, opposite the altar,.
is a heavily grated gallery for the women, the men sit-
ting below. It was in this chamber the Girondins held their
last banquet before their execution. Prisoners are taken to a
room apart to confer with their counsel. The room in which
the present Emperor of the French was confined, after the affair
of Boulogne, cannot be visited, as it is occupied by the famil
of one of the chief functionaries of tlie prison (1). - A darl

e leads to a room on the ground floor of the Tour
& Argent, where St. Louis is said to have kept his treasure.
1t is a lofty chamber with a ribbed vault. From one of the
windows is seen an arched staircase leading to the Seine, and
closed by a heavy grated door. The vaulted passage commu-
nicating with it is said to have been formerly used to convey
to the Seine the dead bodies of the victims of the celebrated
oubliettes of the palace (2).

The new buildings of the Prefecture of Police adjoining the
Conciergerie are sufficiently advanced to give an idea of the
general plan. The principal entrance, facing the west, con-
sists of a portico of ten columns, still masked by the present
temporary offices, and flanked by wings looking on both the
Quays. The colonnade is connected by a central body with
the Palais de Justice. That portion of the new buildings
which is already fnished, contains the prison of the Dépdt
Judiciasre, formerly called Souriciéres, and now constructed
on the cellular system like the prison of Mazas (see p. 75).
The edifice forms a quadrangle enclosing a vast coart glazed
over, and divided into separate compartments, each of which
is oceupied by a single prisoner for one hour. Greeo, Impe-
ratori, Trabucco, and Scaglioni were confined here in 1864

sed propria virtute innixa ut in solio, ita et ir vinculis majorem
fortuna se prazbuit. A scelestissimis denique hominibus capite
damnata, morte jam imminente, ®mternum pietatis, fortitndinis,
oniniamque virtutum monumentum hic scripsit, die XVI. Octo-
bris, MDCCXCHI. Restituto tandem regno, earcer im sacrarium
conversus dicatus est. A.D. MDCCCXVI., Ludoviei XVI1l. regnan~
tis anno XXII. Comite de Cazes a securitate publica Regis minis-
tro, prefecto mdilibwsgue curantibus, Quisquis hic ades, adora,
admirare, precare.”.

i) In one of the old rooms there was a ring in the celling,
from which an fron cage is said to have hung, containing the
remains of Ravalllac. Louvel, who stabbed the Duec de Berri,
wad confined iw eme of the old cells. .

(8) This pris¢r hss seversd times been the theatrs of dreadful
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B;evious to their trial for conspiracy against the Emperor's
. The prison communicates with the Palais de Justice by
a subterranean passage, through which the prisoners are con-.
ducted for trial or examination. In the second court of the
Palais de Justice we find the

_ SmNTE CHAPELLE, erected in 1245—8, by the architect
Pierre de Montreuil, for the reception of the relics (including
the crown of thorns and a piece of the true cross), bought of
Baldwin, Emperor of Constantinogle, by St. Louis.

Euxterior.—The front of this splendid building consists of an
under-croft porch of three Gothic arches, intersected by
buttresses, two of which end laterally in two engaged spired
towers, connected on the outside by a gallery and parapet
crowning the upper portico. Between the towers is a crocketed
gable, surmounting a splendid rose-window constructed by
Charles VIII. The spires are octagonal, and encircled ‘with
a crown of thorns at half their height. The upper windows
are surmounted by crocketed canopies, connected by an
open-worked parapet crowning the whole, on which we see
eigth statues of angels, cast in lead, by Geoffroy Dechaune.
The height of the edifice is 139 feet; its length 118 feet,
and breadth 55 feet. The roof is steep and surmounted
by a lofty spire, 108 feet in height, richly crocketed and
gilt, and adorned at its base with the statues of the 12
apostles, cast in zine. It was erected in 1853, 1o replace ano-
ther 100 feet high, burned down in 1630. .
Interior.— The visitor for the present enters the uppe

chapel by the winding staircase of one of the towers. It
consists of a nave and semi-circular choir, comprising a space
of 108 feet by 34 ; the former has four windows on each
_side, the latter seven all around and lancet-arched. They are
separated by clusters of three detached columns, with bases and

massacres; the most recent was on the 2d and 3d of September,
1792, when 239 persons were inhumanlty murdered. Those who
can obtain access to the Bibliothéque de la Uonciergerie by an in-
troduction to the librarian, will there see the book of the écrous,
or regisler of the prisoners confined in the Conciergerie from the
time of its foundation. Itcontains the names of Ravaillae, Char-
lotte Corday, Robespierre, the presentEmperor, etc. Here also is
the vellum-bound folio whieh lay open on Maillard's desk, where
the names of the intended victims were inseribed. Its pages are
stained with blood, imprinted by the fingers of the ruffians who,
after having despatched one victim, would turn over its leaves to
see who was to be murdered next. In a drawer are contained
the receipts for 24 francs, the fee paid for every murder, Ano-
ther drawer contains letéres de cachet. The mask of Carfouche,
and a listof his 500 associates, are also preserved here.
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capitals ; the whole is gorgeously painted and gilt in lozenges,
. dirmonds, &¢., with fleurs de l;; interspersed. The base;li“:t
is adorned with elliptical arches from pier to pier ; the quatre-
foils of the tracing are filled with old frescoes in wax, revived,
representing the deaths of various martyrs ; under the third-
window of the nave two of the arches on each side-recede
into an ambry adorned in continuity with the’ rest. Close
to that on the right is a smal door giving access to a cham-
ber, called Oratoire de Louts 1X., where that monarch used
to retire in order to hear mass from a small window looking
into the nave. At the extremity of the choir is a low vaulted
square chapel, the roof of which is supported by seven arches
resting on slender columns; in the front spandrils are two
angels. Above it is a Gothic canopy for a statue. A
screen of three trifoliate arches, resting on low columns,
with perforated spandrils, and richly gilt, connects this chapel
on either side with the main basement. Two beautiful winding’
staircases of wood, richly gilt, give .access to the roof of the
small chapel ; that to the right is an exact copy of the left-
hand one, which is of the 13th century, and was preserved from
destruction by the care of M. Lenoir. The statues of the
Apostles, modelled with great precision after some of
the original ones which were discovered on the Mont Valé-
rien, during the construction of the fort, stand on brackets in
front of the piers. All the windows are filled with beau-
tiful stained glass of 1248, which escaped destruction during
the revolutions, (1) Some portions, which were missing, have
been successfully supplied, according to the cartoons designed
by Steinheil. That of the great rose-window is splendid ;
under it a gallery, fronted with a Gothic balustrade, rests upon
pointed arches, the tympans of which are charged with quaint

(1) The subjects therein represented in various compartments
are, beginning from the left on entering, 18t window : the Crea-
tion of the World, the Fall, the History of the Patriarchs; 2d.
and 3d. the History of Moses ; 4th. Scenes from the Books of Jo-
shua, Judges, and Ruth; 3th, the Histories of Gideon, Jephtha,
and Samson ; 6th. the Prophecies of Isaiah—the Tree of Jesse,
comprising the Genealogy of the Kings of Judah; 7th. the Histo-
ries of John the Evaugelist, the Virgin. and the Infancy of Jesus 3
8th. the Divine Missiou of Jesus, his Passion, Resurrection, and
Ascension ; 9th. the Legend of St.John the Baplist, the Prophecies
ofDaniel ; 10ih. the Visions and Prophecies of Ezekiel ; 44th. the
Legends, Prophecies, and Lamentations of Jeremiah, the History
of Tobiah ; 42th. the History of Judith; 13th. Various other sub-
jects taken from the Old Testament ; 14th. the History of Saul
and David ; 18th. the History of St. Louis, and the Translation of
the Crown of Thorns.

20
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devices of a religious charaster. The visitor, on descending ene
of the winding staircases, enters the undeveroft chapel, once a
perdchial church, and still in.a very dilapidated state, yet
presenting uncommeon architectural details. - Detached columns
sipport the ribs of the vault, leaving spaee behind them to form
two very narrow aisles. In some of the spandrils bas-re-
lisfs of the fime are still visible. During the demolitions
a passage was discovered here, leading from the ehczfel to
the charter-room, and ceeval with the rest. Some coloured
soulptare of later date is still visible in it, and this passage will
be restored, to harmonise with the rest of the building. The
floor of the undercroft is rich in tombstones. A well-endowed
chrapter and prelacy was founded here by St.Louis, and became
rémarkable afterwards for its litigious disposition, so admirably
sativized by Boileau in hisimmortal Lutrin. That poet was him-
self buried in the lower chapel, where his tombstone is still to
ber seen (see p. 358.) The Sainte Chapelle with its relics cost
St. Louis a sum equal to 2,800,000 fr., and its restoration has
cost t;164,718fr. In 1789 it was converted into the depot
of the archives of the Courts of Justice, not, however, until
the internal docorati?lns pl:::s bofth ghal?:}lsdxl::; bee;m;yg:
During the repairs old plans of the building as origi
signed were found (1). Architect, M. Boeswilwald. Admittance

ily from 10 to 4 with ticket from M. le Ministre de la
Maison de ' Empereur et des Beauw Arts.

posite to the Sainte Chme}!e, is the Hdtel du Trésorier,

afterwards called the Cour des tes, a handsome build-
ing of the time of Louis XV., which has been much enlarged,
and is now the residence of the Prefect of Police. (2)

On leaving this court, we find to our left the _ ,

PoNT AU CHANGE.—Upon this spot stood the Grand Pont,
a wooden bridge, originally the only communication between
the He de la Cité and the northern bank of the Sc*ne. In
1141, Louis VII. fixed the residence of money-changers here,
and hence its name. Several times destroyed and rebuilt, it
was burnt down in 1621, and reconstructed in 1647 of stone,

ith houses on each side, demolished in 1788. It has now

; rebuiltof three elliptical arches, to bring it in a line ‘with
the Boulevard de Sébastopol, and black marble slabs record
its reconstruction under Napoleon HI. (1859-1880.)

The new building opgosite the Palais de Justice is nearly
ready to receive the Tribunal of Commerce (see p. 66) and the
. #0) In 1842, while prosecuting the restoration of this church.
& Mdnian hear? enclosed in a coffer was found under the aitar,
wirdeh seme antiquarians assert to bhe the heart of St. Lois.

(3) The bureaux of the Cour des Comptes ape now Quai &'Cresy.
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Comseils des Prud’hommes (see p. 68). It is of Corinthian
architecture, profusely sculptured, and surmounted by a
dome. The ground it occupies is not without historical in-
terest ; for the Qua¢ auw Fleurs upon which it has en-
croached, and where flowers and shrubs are sold on Wednes-
days and Saturdays, was, according to Gregory of Tours, the
site of the Carcer Glaucint under the Roman Empire. lHere
afterwards stood the church of St. Barthelémi, the facade of
which has now been adapted to the front of Notre Dame des
Blancs-Manteaux (see p. 271). All the houses between the
Quai du Marché Neuf and the ruc de Constantine have been
pulled down to make room for a monumental caserne. This
ground, with the rue de la Barilleric (now the Boulevard), the
rue de la Vieille Draperie, and the rue aux Feves, was granted
by Dagobert to his goldsmith and minister St. Eloi, and was
henee called La Ceinture de St. Eloi. St. Marcel was buried
in one of the strects which intersected this ground, and was
called the rue de la Calandre. This was considered one of the
finest streets of old Paris; but an idea may be formed of this
now extinct thoroughfare, by visiting the still remaining rues
de la Licorne, Cocatrix, des Trois Caneltes, or de Glatigny.
The visitor will then own that Paris has lost nothing by the de-
molition of the rue de la Calandre. The legends connected
with this quarter of Paris are innumerable.

The Boulevard is continued to the Left Bank across the

PoNT ST. MICHEL, so called as early as 1424, from a
neighbouring church. Having fallen downin 1616, it was re-
builtin stone, with houses on the sides. These were takendown
in1804,and it has now beeh rebuilt of 3 arches,in orderto bring
itin aline with the Boulevard. (Seep. 389.) Its present dimen-
sions are 55 metresby 30. The costof re-construction amounted
101,800,000 fr. It was here the insurgents of June 1848 formed
their most scientific barricade, composed of a parapet of planks
curiously interwoven, so as to offer the advantage of loopholes
and a cross-fire. It was demolished by cannon on the 24th.

East of this, is the PETiT PONT, now reconstructed of one
single arch. (1) A bridge, the only communication between
the e de la Gité and the southern bank of the Seine, existed
at this spot before the Roman conquest. It was carried away,
by inundations or ice, thirteen times between the 13th and
17th centuries, and rebuilt of wood, with houses on it, in 1659.
In 1718 it was burned down, but soon after rebuilt of stone.

(1) This bridge was defended by a fort called the Petit Chatelet
which was destroyed by the inundation of 1296. 1t was rebuilt
in 1889, by Hugues Aubriot, prévét of Paris, who also built the
Bagtille, It afterwards became a prison for debtors. This fort
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From the rue Neuve Notre Dame, the visitor will entér the

Parvis DE NOTRE DAME, a spacious area, which was buill
on till 1196, when Maurice de Sully; 68th bishop of Paris,
pulled down the houses, and formed a suitable approach to the
Cathedral. No. 2, place’du Parvis, once a foundling hospi-
tal, is now the Bureau ceniral d’admission dans les Hopi-
taux (see p. 137). Opposite to this is the

HoTEL DiEu.—This is the most ancient hospital in Paris, its
foundation being attributed to St. Landry, bishop of Paris, in
660, under Childeric II. It was at first an asylum for the
poor, and it was not until the 13th centur{ that patients
were admitted. Philip Augustus is the first king known to
have been a benefactor to it, and by him it was styled Mas-
son de Diew. St. Louis enlarged the hospital, exempted it
from taxes and duties, and assigned an annual -revenue to it.
In 1602 Ienry IV. caused two wards to be added. Louis XIII.,
Louis XIV., Louis XV., and Louis XVI., were considerable be-
nefactors to this establishment, and several private individuals
have contributed to its enlargement and improvement by do-
nations and legacies. In 1789 it was called Hospice d’Hu-
manité. The present Doric entrance to the building was erected
in 1804, after the designs of Clavereau. In the first hall on
entering from the vestibule, and to the right, is a marble
statue by Bosio, of the celebrated philanthropist Monsieur
de Monthyon, who died in 1820, and was a great bene-
factor to the hospitals of Paris. Opposite this statue is one of
St. Vincent de Paule. On the walls are portraits of Bichat,
Derault, Moreau, Dupuytren, Boudon, Méry, Desault, and Thi-
bault. There is besides an elegant marble monument to De-
sault and Bichat. Crossing the Seine by an inner passage,
we reach a hall containing six-inscriptions on marble comme-
morating the benefactors of the establishment, and statues of
Henry IV., St. Landry, and St. Louis. In the adjoining cou.t
is a venerable and interesting chapel, of the 6th century, since
it is mentioned by Gregory of Tours, who lodged for some
time in the buildings annexed to it, and once known as the
church of St. Julien le Pauvre ; it has an entrance by the street
of that name. It consists of a nave and aisles, with a choir

was considered as the real gate of Paris under St. Louis, just as
the Grand Chitelet (see p. 262) was the entrance of Paris on
the northern side. In a tariff for the toll to be paid at the Petit
Pont, fixed by St. Louis, it is ordained that a monkey for sale
shall pay 4 deniers toll ; butif it belong to a joculateur, or jung-
ler, the latter may save the amount by making the monkey
dance before the toll-taker. Hence the origin of the proverb:
payer en monnaie de singe. A ballad-singer was also allowed to
sing o song instead of toll, .

a e —
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elegantly groined and ribbed. The aisles are terminated by
chapels. It was pillaged by the Normans in the ninth cen-
tury, and at a later period became the property of the Abbey
of Longpont, which derived a good revenue from its well,
supposed to be miraculous. The best paintings herc are .
Christ exhorting the Jews to give to Ceesar what is Caesar’s ;¢the
Raising of Lazarus, by Lelay ; the Resurrection of Christ ; the
Judgment of Solomon, and the Flagellation. Admission to the
hospital on Thursdays and Sundays, ffom 1 to 3 ; strangers
with passports, daily, on application, at the bureau (seep. 140.)

At the eastern extremity of the Hdtel Dieu, is the

PoNT AU DOUBLE, built in 1634.—A double (twoliards) was
paid as toll on it till 1789, whence its name. It has now been
rebuilt of one arch. North of this, is the stupendous fabric of

The CATHEDRAL CHURGH OF NOTRE DAME.—The precise
dates of this splendid edifice have never been accurately fixed.
It appears certain that a temple existed on this spot in the
time of the Romans, the foundations being discovered in 1711,
when nine large stones were found : one a votive altar raised
by the Naute Parisiaci, to Jove, and another bearing the
effigy of the Gallic deity Hesus. They have often heen de-
scribed, and are now at the Palais des Thermes (sce p.
388.) On the site of this temple a church dedicated to St.
Stephen was erected about 365, in the time of Valentinian I.
This was rebuilt by Childebert, about 522, and is spoken of
by Fortunatus; bishop of Poitiers, who says that it contained
thirty columns, ¢“ ter decem ornata columnis.”. (1) Ro-
bert, son of Hugh Capet, undertook the reconstruction of this
church, which was called Notre Dame, from one of its cha-
pels which Childebert had dedicated to the Virgin. The first
stone was laid by Pope Alexander I11., whohad taken refuge in
France, while Maurice de Saliac was bishop of the diocese. The
high altar was consecrated in 1182 by Henry, legate of the Holy
See; and in 1185, Heraclius, Patriarch of Jerusalem, who had
come to Paris to preach the third crusade, officiated in the
church for the first time. The west front was finished by
Bishop Maurice de Sully in 1223, during the reign of Philip
Augustus; and the southern transept with the portal in 1257,
during the reign of St. Louis, according to the following in-
scription renewed on the wall of that part of the edifice : —

Anno Domini MCCLVII. Mense Februario idus sccundo
Hoe fuit inceptum Christi genitricis honore.

. Kallensi Lathomo vivente lohanne magistro.

The architect’s name was Maistre Jehan de Chelles. The north

(1) See Duchesne, tome 1, p. 464. The church was consecrated
May 31, 1864, after undergoing many improvements.
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ern transept and portal, as also the canopies surmounting e
lateral windows, were erected in 1312, by Philippe le Bel, with
part of the proceeds of the confiscated estates of the Templars.
The Porte Rouge, on the northern side, was erected in 1407
by Jean Sans-Peur, Duke of Burgundy, the assassin of ‘the
Duke ofOrlcans, as an expiation for his erime. The internal works
of the choir were begun by order of Louis XIV., in 1699, and
finished in 1714. The pavement of Notre Dame was so mueh
below the level of the Parvis, in 1748, that a flight of 13 steps
led to it. In that year the ground was lowered as at present.
Exterior.—This edifice is a regular cruciform church,
having an octagonal castern end. At the western end are
two lofty square towers, which" were intended to support
spircs. Bchind them there is now a new spire surmounted
by a gilt cross and just erected in place of one of the 13th
century, taken down in 1797. Its heightis 135 feet from the
roof, and 280 from the floor of the church. The lead with
which it is coated weighs 300 tons. It is adorned with
several slatues. The dimensions of this church were en-
graved on a brass tablet, in old French verse, and fixed
against one of the pillars; thecy were stated to he -as
follows :—length 390 feet, width at transepts 144 ft., height
of vaulting 102 ft., height of western towers 204 ft., width
of western front 128 ft. The length of the nave is 225 ft.,
width 39 ft.; the roof is 356 feet in length, formed of chesnut
timber, and rising 30 feet above the vaulting. The diameters
of the circular windows are 36 feet. The foundations are
laid 18 feet below the soil, on a hard stratum of gravel.
The general style is of the pure peinted architecture, with vast
flying bultresses fronted by crocketed pinnacles ; those parts
built in the 1%th century being closely copied from what pre-
viously existed. The weslern front is at once the finest and
most remarkable feature. Three ample portals lead into ine
nave and aisles. They each form a series of retiring arches,
with angels, saints, &ec. in the intermediate mouldings. The
portals are bisccted by square pillars (1); the tympans of their
ogives are richly-sculptured. The same style exists also in
the portals of the tramsepts. * The subjects of the sculp-
tures which adorn these portals are no where treated in
aform so attractive as in Victor Hugo’s Notre Dame de Pa-
(1) That of the central one was removed on Jan. 1st, 1852, on
ihe occasion of the thanksgivings for the renewal of the Presi-
dent’s powers, but has since been replaced. In a cavily within
the pillar was found a bronze plate, containing an inscription
to the effect, that the first stone of the new entrance was laid in
1771; and also a medal in copper, with the effigy of Louis XV.,
and the inscription * Ludovicus XV., Rex Christianissimus.”
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ris. The dgive of the Portasl du Milieu represenis the Last
Judgment, in three pans, vit:—1. the angels sounding the
last trump, the tombs opening, and the dead rising; 2. the
separation of the righteous from the wicked; 3. the Sa-
viour on his throne, worshipped by the Virgin and St. Jehn
the Evangelist, and accompanied by angels bearing emblems
of the crucifixion. Among the sculptures of the arch may be
remarked figures of Moses and Aaron; the Saviour treading
beneath his feet the wicked, whom Satan is dragging to hell ;
the rider on the red horse at the opening of the second seal ;
the blessedness of the saints, &c. The sides of this entrance
have 24 bas-reliefs, representing 12 virtues, with their
opposite vices. Beyond these are four other bas-reliefs : the
offering of Abraham ; the departure of Abraham for Canaan ;
Job beholding the destruction of his flocks and herds by a tor-
rent ; and Job reproved by his wife. The statues of the 12

-apostles, which. filled the niches of this portal and the
southern one, and were destroyed at the revolution in
1793, have been replaced by new ones, copied from the origi-
nal drawings; the patriarchs and kings of the Old Testament,
that adorned the other portal, will also be replaced. The
pillar of the Poriail Ste. Anne,-on the right, is omma-
mented with a statue of St. Marcel treading beneath his feet a
dragon, which had disinterred a woman to devour her. - In the
tympan above the door are several compartments, in which are
sculptured,—Joseph putting away Mary ; Joseph brought back
by an angel ; Joseph taking the Virgin to his home; the Re-
velation of the birth of John the Baptist; the Annunciation ; the
Visitation ; the Nativity ; the Angel appearing to the Shepherds ;
Herod holding his Council : the Wise Men on their way o
Bethlehem ; theOffering of the Wise Mcn ; and the Presentation
in the Temple. Above these are figures of the Virgin and Child
accompanied by angels, Solomon praying, and St. Marcel. On
the pillar between the two doors of the Portail de la Vierge, on
the left, is a statue of the Virgin and Child. The tympan is
in three parts, namely,—figures of six prophets, the Death of
the Virgin, and the Crowning of the Virgin. Thearch above
is adorned with figures of an%els, and saints. Above and
beyond the niches are various bas-reliefs, representing subjects
taken from church history. The most interesting bas-reliefs
of this entrance are the 12 signs of the zodiac, and the agri-
cultural lahours of the 12 months of the year, on the door-posts.
The sixth sign, Virgo, is represented by a sculptor forming a
statue, supposed to be that of the Virgin. On the right side of
this pillar are sculptured the age of man in six stages, from
youth to decrepitude; on the left, the different sessgns
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of the year, in six bas-reliefs. The two lateral doors are
ornamented with much admired iron-work, excuted by Bis-
cornette about 1580. The buttresses on each side of the doors
have each aniche, in which were statues of Religion, Faith, St.
Denis, and St. Stephen. Immediately above the three doors
is a gallery of small pillars supporting trefoils, called Galerie
des Rois, which formerly contained 28 statues of the kings of
France, from Childebert 1. to Philip II. All these, executed
in the 13th century, were destroyed in 1793, but 20 of them
have now been replaced. Above will be seen the Galerie de
la Vierge, now, as it formerly was, decorated with a co-
lossal statue of the Virgin between two angels holding chan-
deliers ; right and left are figures of Adam and Eve. Above
this gallery is the large rose-window between the towers, and
in each of the latter are pointed arches, over which runs a
lofty gallery of slender shafts, called the Galerie des Colonnes,
and continued round the sides ; above rises the last division of
the towers, each side occupied with coupled windows, and
rich buttresses at the angles crowned by an open-worked battle-
ment of quatrefoils ; they are ascended by a staircase of 389 stegs
from the rue du Cloitre. (1) The southern side of the
church is plainer than the northern, having been partly
blocked up by the archiepiscopal palace. = The portal
of the southern transept, called Portail St. Marcel, is
pinnacled and ornamented with bas-reliefs. Those in the
tympan of the arch represent St. Stephen: 1, instructing the
Jews ; 2, answering the Jews’ arguments; 3, insulted by
the Jews; 4, his lapidation; and 5, his burial. Above
is a figure of Christ pronouncing his benediction ; two
angels at his sides are in the attitude of adoration; the
arches are ornamented with small figures of angels, prophets,
patriarchs, bishops, &c. Above the porch is the great rc ,e-
window, and over it a smaller one; the gable, flanked by two

(1) The towers of Notre Dame afford one of the finest views of
Paris that can be imagined. A spire, above (he transept, was
pulled down in 1792, for the lead, and six bells were melted.
The cathedral formerly possessed a fine peal of bells, of which
only one remains in the southern tower; it was baptized Em-
manuel Louise-Thérése,in 1632, in the presence of Louis XIV.,and
his queen Thérése. It is called 1he bourdon, weighs 32,000 Ib.,
and the clapper 976 1b. The other bell, named Marie, weighing
25,000 1b., was broken and melted down in 1792, as were eight
bells of the northern tower. In the southern fower there are
now four new bells for the clock, weighing respectively 2,000
kil., 4,838 kil., 925 kil., and 737 kil. There is also another bell
he;le, brought from Sebastopol. The mechanism of the clock is
eurious.
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turrets, supports a statue of St. Stephen. On the sides of the
entrance are eight bas-reliefs, taken fromthe saint’s life. The
fronts of the lateral canopies contain bas-reliefs representing
St. Martin sharing his mantle with a mendicant; and Christ,
with two angels, carrying the soul of St. Stephen to heaven.
In niches are two large statues of Moses and Aaron. Adjoin-
ing this is the new Sacristy of the church, communicating by
a short passage with one of the chapels of the choir. It is of
recent construction, and its Gothic design is in keeping with
that of the church. On the central pillar of the grand nor-
thern porch, Portail Septentrional, is a statue of the Virgin
crushing the dragon. In the tympan above are the Nativity,
the Adoration of the Wise Men, the Presentation in the Terrnle,
the Massacre of the Innocents, the Flight into Egypt, and five
scenes of the Deliverance of Demoniacs. Above sits a monarch
presenting a sealed volume to suppliants kneeling. The arches
are ornamented like the others. The statues which filled
the niches were destroyed in 1793. The Poite Rouge is
surmounted by a triangular canopy. In the tympan of
the arch, are Jesus Christ and the Virgin crowned by
an angel; on the right and left, Jean Sans Peur, Duke of
Burgundy, and Margaret of Bavaria, his duchess, kneeling.
In the arches are groups of the miracles of St. Marcel. Be-
tween the Porte Rouge and the eastern extremity of the church
are seven bas-reliefs, representing : the death of the Virgin
the funeral of the Virgin ; the Assumption ; Christ surrounded
by angels ; Christ and the Virgin on a threne; the Virgin at
the feet of Christ in agony ; and a woman about to sell herself
to the Devil, delivered by the Virgin.

Interior.—It consists of a nave and choir withdouble aisles
and lateral chapels. The pillars of the nave are four feet in
diameter, and support pointed arches resting upon enriched
capitals. The pillars of the aisles are alternately simply
circular and clustered with 12 slender columns each. The
triforium presents tri-composed windows crowned with
ogives, the tympans of which are (on the southern side
only) perforated by a single circular aperture. The cle-
restory, which is the same throughout nave and choir,
consists of a series of pointed double windows. The vaulting
is hexapartite throughout ; its stone work is only three or
four inches thick. Underneath the rose-windows of the
transepts are light galleries of very slender shafts supporting
pointed trifoliate arches, with open spandrils. The chapels
are plain throughout. The rose-windows are elaborate and
exceedingly beautiful ; thoifv still preserve their stained glass of
the 13th century, being all that remains of it in the cathedrals
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The walls of the tr are adorned with ogive tracery. {1)
The organ is renm&ne; it is 45 feet in height, 38 in
breadth, and contains 3484 pipes. - The high altar was
down, at the revolution of 1789, but under the empire it was
re-erected, and such of the works of art as could be colleeted
were restored. The lateral chapels of Notre Dame were
formerly remarkable for their splendour, the walls being
covered with marble, .or finely-carved wainscoting, and
containing sumptuous tombs belonging to noble families.
These were stripped of their riches in 1793 ; many of them,
however, have been repaired. The church having but re-
cently been entirely reopened after the extensive repairs it has
undergone, none of the altars and paintings which adorned the
chapels have as yet been restored to their places, and the
only ornaments visible at present are the key-stones of the
arches, which are painted in ihe Byzantine style. (2)
Choir.—The visitor will, in the right aisle, find a person who
will admit him to the Sacristy on taking a ticket, price 50 c. R
consists of a spacious and lofty hall, With three windows in the
ointed style, decorated with the portraits of 24 archbishops of
Faris, from St. Landry, who lived in the time of Charlemagne,
to Archbishop Affre, who fell in the insurrection of June 1848
and is represented as on his death-bed (see p. 281.) The
ribs of the ceiling spring from the canopies of niches contain-
ing statues of saints and angels. Well-designed ambries are
sunk into the wall, and the furniture of the room consists of
oaken presses containing the precious church utensils and vest-
ments for which this cathedral is celebrated. Here will he
seen croziers, mitres, and crosses, sparkling with precious

(1) Immense vanlis, extending {he cntire length of the nave,
were formed in 1666 and 1714, for the interment of the arch-
Lishops, canons, etc., of the cathedral, They were profarad
during the Reign of Terror; the bodies, including the entrails
of Louis XIlI. and Louis XIV., were laken out and cast into the
sewers,and the leaden coffins melled down into bullets. During
the present repairs othervaults have been discovered, containing
various fombs and coffins, with several curious relies, besides the
body of Isahella of Hainault, mother of Louis VIII. (1189.)

(2) Under each {ower may be seen a large circular aperture in
the vaulting, through which the ropes passed from fhe belfries
above. On the wall of the morthern fower, in the aisle, we see
o bag-rclief of 4464, forming part of the tomDb of Etienne
Yver, removed from the chapel of St. Nicholas. The sculpture
represents the soul ascending from the grave to the celestial re-
gions, while the body, which is seen beneath, is heing consumed
by worms. At the seecond pillar of the nave there was a eo-
1ossal statue of St. Christopher, erected by Antoine des Besars,
in 4413 ; it was removed in 4788, o
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stones ; the robes worn by Pius VII. at the coronation of Na-
poleon I. (1); sevéral series of most gorieous robes, profu
embroidered in gold and silver ; the mask of Archbishop Affre,
taken 24 hours after his death, the ball with which he was
struck and the two vertebre that received it. -Among the
church-utensils, a splendid ostensory will be remarked, which
was used at the baptism of the Duke of Bordeaux. Itis studded
with precious stones producing a most dazzling effect. There
isalso a pyx presented to the church by St. Louis, a remark-
able specimen of the taste and workmanship of the 13th cen-
tury. There are also one of the 10th, and another of the 11th
centuries. A statue of the Virgin and Child, executed in silver,
and of the size of life, stands on one of the presses ; it was
given 1o the church by Charles X. Opposite this stands the
bust of Archhishop Affre, and full-length portraits of Mgr. de
Quelen, the predecessor of Archbishop Affre, by Perdreau, and
of Archbishop Sibour, his successor, who was murdered at the
porch of St. Etienne du Mont (see p. 408), by Cqurt, complete
the series of curiosities preserved here. On leaving this
room a short passage to the right opens into the Salle du Con-
seil, a room not so lofty as the former, lit by four ogive
windows. The only furniture it contains is a series of oaken
seats, occupied on council-days by the archbishop and his
canons, and two paintings, one a full-length portrait of Arch-
bishop Afire, and the other representing the death of that pre-
late on the barricade of the Faubourg St. Antoine, both by
Lafon. This sacristy has cost one million of francs, and was
inaugurated in April, 1854.

On leaving the Sacristy, the visitor will find to his left, in
the third chapel of the choir, a splendid mooumert erected to
the memory of Mgr. Affre. The figure of the prelate, exe-
cuted in white marble by Dehay, is reclining on the barricade
where he received his death-wound ; his hand still holds aloft
the olive-branch, the emblem of peace, and his last words :
*“ Puisse mon sang étre le dernier versé I” are written above.
The countenance bears the expression of exquisite pain mingled

(1) At the sacking of St. Germain I’Auxerrois and the arch-
bishop’s palace, in 1831, the populace broke into the saeristy of
Notre Dame, and, headed by oflicers of the National Guards, de-
stroyed every thing that came within their reach. The damage
thus occasioned was immense ; the coronation robes of Napo-
leon, and the splendid dresses he presented to the bishops and
the chapter on thie occasion of that ceremony, were torn up for
the saXe of their gold embroidery. They have, however, since
been repaired. A celebrated artist who was making a most ela~
borate picture of the interior of Notre Dame, having left it on the
casel in the vestry, it was cut into a thousand pieces. )
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with resignation, admirably conceived by the artist. The
basement of the monument is enriched with a haut-relief, re-
presenting the Archbishop going towards the barricade, and
preceded by a young man bearing an olive-branch. National
guards and soldiers are in the act of expressing their gratitude
for his noble endeavour to stop the effusion of blood.

The fifth chapel, next to the sacristy, is that of St. Géraud,
Baron d’Aurillac, remarkable for having been the place where
the young Dauphin, son of Louis XVI., was buried in 1795. (1)
It now contains a marble slab recording the death of Cardinal
Garibaldi, who died here in 1853. The sixth chapel, that of
the Count d’Harcourt contains a splendid monument after the
designs of Pigalle, to the memory of that nobleman, who died
in 1769. His figure is seen in a reclining posture, half con-
cealed by the coffin in which he is to be enclosed. The lid of
the coffin is held by a weeping genius, while at the other'end
Death shows that his hours are numbered. Opposite this
monument there stands a fine colossal statue of white marble,
.of the Virgin in a sitting posture, holding the Saviour on her
knees. The windows of the 7th chapel represent, in stained
glass, a variety of Scripture and legendary subjects in nu-
merous compartments. In the 8th, an old fresco, representing
the Adoration of the Virgin and Child, has been restored.
In the ninth chapel we see a splendid monument, by Deseine,
to the memory of Cardinal de Belloy, Archbishop of Paris,
who died in 1806 in his 99th year. It represents the Pre-
late seated in a chair on the basement, bestowing alms on a
poor mother and her daughter; his left hand rests on the
Bible. The Cardinal’s head is remarkable for its expression
and resemblance. The 10th chapel contains a sarcophagus of
black marble with slabs commemorating Cardinal de Noailles,
Archbishop of Paris, who died in 1729. In the el senth
chapel there is another monument, representing Leclerc de
Juigné, Archbishop of Paris, who died in 1811. Heisina
kneeling posture, in the attitude of prayer. The figure, re-
markable for its excution, is executed in white marble in haut-
relief, by Cartelier. The other chapels are still bare,

Chancel.—This is separated from the aisle by a richly-gilt
iron railing of elegant design. The first object that strikes the
eye on entering this part of the choir is the carved work of the
~ stalls, in oak. They are sculptured and decorated with bas-
reliefs of the principal events in the life of the Virgin, and
other sacred subjects, executed by Duboulon, after the designs
of René Carpentier, a pupil of Girardon. The stalls are ter-

(1 Other accounts assign the Church of St. Marguerite.
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ntinated by two thrones of great beauty, surmounted by
canopies, and adorned with angels holding emblems df religion.
At the coronation of Napoleon I., the Pope occupied that to
the right, Cardinal de Belloy that to the left. The sanctuary and
high al.ar are each approached by flights of steps formed of
Languedoc marble ; over the altar is a marble group by Cous-
tou, of fine design and execution, representing the Descent from
the Cross. This beautiful work is called ‘“The Vow of
Louis XIII.” Two statues, one of that monarch, the other of
Louis XIV., have been now replaced here. It wag supposed
that they had been destroyed during the sacking of the
Archbishop’s palace in 1831, but they were fortunately
saved and conveyed to Versailles. During the reign of Terror
they had been concealed and were restored in 1816. At the
marriage of the present Emperor (Jan. 1853), the Imperial
couple knelt before the railing of the choir. Upon the exterior
of the wall that encloses the chancel are 23 curious and valuable
sculptured compartments inalto-rilievo, begun by Maistre Jehan
Roucx, and finished by Maistre Jehan Le Boutelier in 1352.
They represent various passages in the life of Christ. (1)
The figures were originally coloured to represent nature.

‘There are several excellent works upon Notre Dame, which
will amply repay examination (2). North of the cathedral
were the cloister and college of the canons, which were de-
stroyed in 1793. Architect, Viollet-le-Duc.

On the southern side of Notre Dame stood the ARCHBISHOP’S
PALACE, crected by Bishop Maurice de Sully, in 1161, but

(1) Beginning on the left: 1. The Visitation. 2. The Adoration
of the Shepherds. 3. The Nalivity. 4. The Adoration of ‘ the
wise men.” 5. The Massacre of the Innocents. 6. The Flight into
Egypt. 7. The Presentation in the Temple. 8. Christ in the
midst of the Doctors. 9. The Baptism of Christ. 40. The Marriage
of Cana in Galilee. 44. The Entry of Christ into Jerusalem. 42,
The Last Supper. 13. Christ washing the feet of his Disciples.
14, Christ on the Mount of Olives. (The Crucifixion, the Entomb-
ment, the Resurreclion, and the Ascension of Christ, were de-
stroyed when alterations were made in the arches of the choir
next the high altar.) 45. Christ and Mary Magdalen. 16. The
Holy Women. 47. Christ appearing to the Apostles. 48, Christ
and the two Disciples on their way to Emmaus. 49. Christ at
table with the Disciples, breaking the Bread. 20. Christ again
appearing to the Disciples. 2{. The Incredulity of St. Thomas. 22.
The miraculous draught of fishes. 23. The Mission of the Apostles,
24. Christ giving the Apostles his benediction before his Ascension.

(2) The principal are Gilbert, * Histoire de Notre Dame,” 4
vol. 4to.; Felibien et Lobineaun, * Histoire de Paris,” 2 vols.
folio; ‘“ History of Paris,” 3 vols., Galignani; also Victor Hugo's
. Notre Dame,” and Michelet’s * Histoire de France,” vol. 2.
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rebuilt by Cardinal de Noailles in 1697.—The Constituent

held their sittings there in 1789. It was afterwards
inhabited by the chief surgeon of the Hétel Dieu, and the cha-
pel converted into an amphitheatre of anatomy. In 1802 it
was restored to the clergy. The palace was a handsome re-
sidence, worthy of the see, and, with its gardens, occupied
the southern extremity of the island. The apariments were
splendid, and the furniture, partly antique, was valuable.

e library was rich in MSS. of the middle ages, and con-
tained many literary curiosities. But on Feb. 13, 1831, the
populace, having sacked the church of St. Germain1’Auxerrois,
proceeded to the archbishop’s palace; and on that night and
the following day every thing it contained was either broken,
burnt, or thrown into the river. The palace had to be pulled
down, and its site is now occupied by a promenade, adorned
inthe centre with a small Gothic fountain called '

FontAaInE NoTRE DAME, erected in 1845. Its height is 60
feet, and its style is Gothic. Two hexagonal basins, the
largest of which is 33 feet in diameter, receive the water
from the mouths of three tricephalous monsters (personating
heresy in eertainly no very flattering manger) crushed by
archangels that occupy the blunt angles e basement.
Above these stands the Virgin Mary with the infant, under a
crocketted eanopy. The sculptors were MM, Merlieux and
Pommateau. :

The new low building of Doric design, standing at the ex-
treme point of the island, and consisting of a central body and
two wings, is the MorGUE, for which see page 73.

Close by, leading to the southern bank of the river, is the

PoNT DE L’ARCHEVECHE.—Builtin 1827. It consistsof three
arches, from 18 to 20 yards in span.. We now approach the

ILe Saint Louis, originally called Ile aux Vaches.—
Heary IV. conceived the project of erecting houses on this
spot; but the execution of it was reserved for Louis XIII.
It was recently connected with the Ile de la Cité by two sus-
pensien bridges close to each other. These have now been
suppressed ; one of them, the Pont St. Lours, has been
reconstructed of a single iron arch a few yards further off
80 a3 to afford a direct communication with a new street cut
across the island, in astraight line with the rue Louis Philippe,
with which it is connected by a stone bridge of three arches,
juet finished, which has received the name of the old-sus-
E:uion—bridge, viz., PONT Louis PriLipPE. Part of the old

idge was burnt down in February, 1848, and then rebuilt
m the name of Pont de la R . On entering the
ifland, we find at No. 6, the
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BistiotatouE PoLoNiise.—This library, founded by the
Polish Literary Society, (see p. 108,) under the patromage of
Prince Czartoryski, and other distinguished refugees, eounts

wards of 50,000 volumes, comprising not only all the
classi_3, and most of the standard works in all the languages
of Europe, but a vast and precious collection of manuscript
and other documents relating to the history of Poland and
Russid. It occupies several rooms, and is receiving daily
additions ; it already possesses many rare works, some of
which even are not to be found in the other libraries of Paris,
Open daily from tt to 3, holidays excepted.

Nearly opposite to this stands the

PoNT BE LA TOURNELLE, so called from the old tower etected
by Philip Augustus, that formerly stood on the opposite bank

the river, reaching to the Quai St. Bernard. It was built
by Marie in 1620, was twice carried away, and rebuilt about
1656. It consists of six semicircular arches, and is 380 feet
by 42, having been widened by cast-iron arches inserted be-
tween the piers; the parapet is also of cast iron.

East of this is the suspension-bridge called

PoNT DE CONSTANTIRE, connecting the Quai de Bethune with
the southern bank. It was constructed in 1837.

At the foot of the Quai de Bethune are the Ecole de Natation
de U'Hétel Lambert, for ladies, and the Ecole Petit, a swim-
ming-school for gentlemen.

At No. 2, in the rue St. Louis en I'lle, is the

HOTEL LaMBERT, built by Levau, about 1640.—The court
is small; a magnificent staircase, with a scroll-work balus-
trade, leads from a poriico to the state apartments, which re-
tain the gilding, painted panels, and ceilings, as originally
executed, and produce a splendid effect. The ceilings in these
rooms and in the long gallery are by Lesueur, Lebrun, and
Levau, executed with a degree of elaborate finish rarely to be
met with. The hotel is rich in two historical souvenirs : Vol-
taire lived in it when he formed the plan of the Henriade ; and
i the gallery above-mentioned, Napoleon in 1815 held a last
conference with his minister, M. de Montalivet, when he found
that all was lost. This splendid hotel, once the residence of
a wealthy président du Parlement of the 17th century, and
afterwards used as a storehouse for the garrison of Paris, be-
longs to the Princess Czartoryska, whose judicious taste has re-
stored it to all its former splendour.

Further down, in the same street, is the church of

8r. Louts EN L’ILE,—erected in 1664 on the site of a
smal} chapel, built in 1606 by Levau, Leduc and Doucet. It
bas & bofty polygonal spire (erected in 4765, according to an
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ingcription on the tower), in open stone-work. The interior i8
of Corinthian design, and slightly cruciform, with an aisle run-
ning round the nave and choir. The sculptures, which consist
of scroll-work in the cupola andits pendentives, were executed
by J. B. Champagne, nephew of the celebrated painter of the
same name. In the first chapel, to the right on entering, is
an altar-piece representing Christ at Emmaus, by Coypel; a
Holy Family, by Perrin, and another of older date; an As-
sumption, by Peyron, and St. Louis receiving the Sacrament,
by Johannot. 2d chapel: Jesus offering his heart. 3d. South-
ern transept: a Virgin in plaster, by Ladatte. 4th. Christ
appearing to Mary Magdalene ; St. John the Baptist. 5th.
St. Vincent de Paule exhorting the sisters of charity, by
Hallé. o6th. Jesus disputing in the Temple, and Christ
calling little children unto him. Behind the choir are
three chapels painted in fresco, and euriched with modern
stained windows. The first, closed by an oaken screen with
bas-relief carvings of six aposlles, is painted by Norblin,
with figures of Prudence and Fortitude on the lateral walls.
The second, occupying the central arch, is the chapel ot St.
Louis, and contains four frescoes by Jollivet: 1, St. Louis
receiving.the cross from Pope Innocent 1V. ; 2, the same, in
prison, encouraging his brothers; 3, Delivering his authority
into the hands of the Abbot of St. Denis, to govern the
kingdom in his absence ; 4, his Death. The third chapel is
closed with a screen like the first, with the remaining six
apostles in bas-relief ; on the lateral walls, Temperance and
Justice, by Norblin. 1oth. St. Francois de Sale, by Hallé.
11th. An Assumption, and the Virgin weeping over the instru-
ments of the Passion, by Lehmann. 12th. St. Peter preach-
ing, by Ducornet. 13th. Northern transept: Ste. Geneviéve,
in plaster by Ladatte. 14th. St. Louis Gonzaga, by Bodem,
and St. Louis of France offering the crown of thor: ,. 15th.
a Deliverance from Purgalory. The organ is above the en-
trance ; behind itis a painting of St. Louis relieving the plague-
stricken Crusaders. Below is a St. John the Baptist in plaster,
by Guichard. On either side of the high altar are statues
of St. Peter and St. Paul, by Bra, and two frescoes: Moses
and Jeremiah. The University of Paris formerly used to
visit this church in procession on festivals.
The northern quay of the Ile St. Louis leads to the

PoNT MARIE.—It was built by Marie, superintendent of the
bridges in France, in 1635. Two arches were carried away
by a flood, in 1638, with 22 out of 50 houses on it. There-
maining houses were removed.a short time before the revolu-
tion of 1789, It has 5 arches, andis 78 feet broad and 300 long.
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At No. 11, Quai Napoléon, is a house, on the site of one
believed to have been that inhabited by Héloise and Abelard.
The door bears the monogram and portraits of those two un-
fortunate lovers. The corner-house, 1, rue Basse des Ursins,
was inhabited hy the Canon Fulbert. Further on, is the

PONT D’ARCOLE, formerly a small suspension bridge, and
now rebuilt of a single iron arch of 262 feet span and 65 in
breadth. It cost 1,150,000 fr. (1) <

Continuing along the Quay, we arrive at the

PonT NOTRE DAME, the oldest in Paris, built in 1499 by Jean
Joconde, on the site of one dating from 1414, was recon-
structed in 1855 at an expense of 1,200,000 francs. It has
five arches, and is 362 feet by 50. In 1660, it was orna~
mented with statues and medallions of the kings of France;
houses also stood on it, which were pulled down in 1786.

TWELFIE WALX,

This comprises parts of the 7th and 15th arrondissements.

The PoNT RovaL, designed by G. and J. H. Mansard,
and built in 1684 by an Italian Dominican friar named
Frére Romain, leads from the Tuileries to the Quai d’Orsay.
1t consists of five semicircular arches, and is 432 feet in length
by 52 in breadth. This part of the river was formerly crossed
by a ferry (bac), whence the rue du Bac derives its name.
Upon the piers at each end are scales, commencing from the
low water mark of 1719, (2) and divided into metres and de-
cimétres, to show the height of the river. This bridge com-
mands a fine view of Paris, both up and down the Seine.
Close to it is moored the Frégate Ecole, a model frigate, now
fitted up for sea-water baths.  Turning to the right, we see the

CAIsSE -DES DEPOTS ET CONSIGNATIONS, removed in 1858,
to the present magnificent mansion, which formerly bore the
name of Hétel de Lespine, or de Praslin. It was built in
1721, by Bruaut, for the Marshal Duc de Belle-Isle, the grand-
son of the celebraled Fouquet. Its principal entrance is at
56, rue de Lille. Over the door-way are the dates 1721-1858,

(1) In 1830 a young man, named Arcole, headed the people in
their attack upon this bridge (defended by the Royal Guards)
and was killed. This act of courage, similar to that displayed at
Arcola by Napoleon, gave the bridge it§ present name,

(2) The highest waters known were in 1733'and 1740 ; in the
latter year they attained 8 metres 20 centimetres. They reached
the second stories of the houses on the Quai St. Bernard. The
Bibliothéque Impériale preserves a volume that floated into a
window of a 2d story on that quay. 1It'is entitléd, Antiquités,
fondations, singularités des villes, chdteauz, et royaumes, 1605,

1
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The offices of the Caisse des Retraites, and of the Dotaiion
de I'Armée, are also here, (see p. 63n.) Next to it are large
barracks for cavalry, formerly the Hotel des Gardes-du-Corps,
built by Napoleon, and heyond these the

PaLATS DU QuAl P’ORsAY.—This magrificent edifice, begun
under Napoleon 1., continued in 1830, when Charles X. in-
tended it for the exhibition of French manufactures, and com-
pleted by M. Lecorday, under Louis Philippe, comprises a
vast central court, and two lateral oncs. Towards the river
the front presents a line of windows, formed by 19 arches
separated by engaged Tuscan, lonic, and Corinthian columns.
The lower story is flanked at both ends with balustraded
gardens. The front facing the rue de Lille contains the
chief entrances to the Consedl d’istat and the Cour des
Comptes. Other entrances open into the rues Bellechasse
and DPoitiers. The central court is surrounded by a double
series of arcades with Doric and Jonic pilasters ; the lower
frieze is inlaid with various-coloured marbles. Of the stair-
cases in this building the most remarkable is that entered
from a vestibule in the western wing. The ceiling of
this staircase is richly decorated, but the walls indifferently
painted by M. Chasseriau. Those of the first flight are en
grisaslle, representing Silence, Meditation, and Study.
The first landing-place is only remarkable for two old in-
seriptions, relating 1o the first institution of the Cour des
Comptes. The walls of the second flight represent seve-
rally Captives taken in war, and Order providing means of
defence. The front wall of the second landing-place has alle-
gorical figures of Force and Order ; its lateral walls represent
Justice and Order repressing abuses, and Commerce pro-
moting the intercourse of nations. The walls of the third and
jast flight represent Peace protecting Agriculture and 1l 3 Arts.
This staircasc opens into the galieries of the first story, com-
municating with the Hall of Audience for the Courl of Ac-
counts, which has a most elahorate ceiling of timber-work, and
portraits of Barbé-Marbois, Pasquier, 1.’I16pital, and Nicolai,
four of the most eminent Presidents of the Court.  On the wall
opposite the windows are two paintings by Alaux, one repre-
senting St. Louis with Justice and Wisdom ; the other, Napo-
leon I. with Warand Art. In the cciling are three compart-
ments, painted by Bézard, with Wealth, Justice, and Labour.
There is also a beautiful chimney-picce of while marble, with
two caryatides supporting a clock. The ground-floor, facing
the river, is appropriated to the sittings of the Council of
State, and is visible o strangers. The visitor is first in-
troduced into the Salle des Pas Perdus, an elegant square
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apartment, in which four rich Doric columns, with spiral
flutes and cablings, sustain a balustrade opening into a ves-
tibule of the upper story, lit by a skylizht. The coves of
this vestibule are painted by Gendron in twelve compart-
ments, the central ones representing Dawn, Morning, Noon,
and Evening, and the others, Childhood, Youth, Manhood,
and Old Age. A door to the left opens laterally into the
vestiaire, where the Councillors of Stale put on their
uniforms, richly embroidered with gold.  The first saloon is
the Salle du Cemité du Commerce, which contains a fine
view of the Port of Marseilles, by Isabey. Next comes the
Salle du Comité de Législation, of the Corinthian order,
remarkable for an claborate ceiling, with tie and cross beams
supported by gilt caryatides. Two large paintings, opposite
the windows, represent, the first, Justinian, and the other
Moses, by Marigny. On each side of the entrance are two
more, the one, Solon dictating his laws, by Dom. Papety ;
the other Numa and Egeria, by Murat. An antechamber
leads hence to the Salle des Séances Administratives, a
saloon of extraordinary splendor, decorated with 20 Corin-
thian columns of white marble, formerly intended for the
palace of the King of Rome on the Trocadero (sec p. 190.)
This hall has portraits of Richelicu, Colbert, d’Agues-
seau, Suger, Turgot, Cambacéres, Sully, I’Hopital, Portalis,
and Vauban, by the best living masters. The coved
ceiling is richly gilt in compartments, and contains five
paintings of Commerce, Agriculture, the Charter of 1830,
Justice, and Truth, in large medallions. Opposite the central
window is Napoleon I. as a legislator, painted by Flandrin.
In the tympans of the arches intersecting the coves are
13 medallions, with portraits of Mathicu Dumas, Fourcroy,
Boulay de 1a Meurthe, St. Jean d’Angely, Fermon, Bigot de
Préameneu, Cuvier, Jaubert, Treilhard, Dessoles, Merlin,
Louis, and Mounier. The Salle du Comité de I'Intcricur, re-
markable for four Corinthian columns of granite, gives access to
the Salle du Comité des Grdcees, in which is a painting by
Gassies, representing the arrest of President Brisson in the
lime of the League. Hence the visitor proceeds through anether
Salle des Pas Perdus, similar to the former, the coves of which,
gz}ir_lted by Gendron, represent, in medallions, Law, Equity,

igilance, and Strength. On the lateral walls of the gallery
are two frescoes, representing Vintage and Harvest, which are
best viewed from the upper story. Next follows the Salle du

ontentieux, of Doric archilecture, in which are portraits of
Count Simeon, and Gen. Allain, by Lemaire, over the doors;
also President Mathieu Molé pacifying the Parisian people, and
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President Harlay attacked at Blois, both by Thomas. The
third painting, by Delaroche, represents President Duranti of
Toulouse assassinated in a convent where he had fled for
safety. The coves of the ceiling at the extremities have been
painted by M. Benedict Masson. The subjects are, at one
end, Time between figures of Study and Eloguence, Human
Progress promoted by Navigation, and Genius uncovering the
Sphynx. At the other, Truth, Justice, the Laws, War, and
Peace. This suite ends with a Salle d’ Attente, adorned with
a picture of Justice. This edifice cost 11,340,000fr. For
permission to view the interior apply at the porter’s lodge be-
tween 9 and 12 daily. A fee is expected.

Immediately west of this palace, in the rue de Lille, is the

HOTEL DE LA LEGION D’HONNEUR.—This edifice was built in
1786, after the desigus of- Rousseau, for the Prince de Salm,
whose name it bore. (1) The entrance presents a triumphal arch
flanked by double rows of Ionic columns on either side. The
attics of the lateral pavilions are adorned with bas-reliefs. A
peristyle, ornamented with lonic columns and busts extends
along the sides of the court to the principal front, which is
decorated with six Corinthian columns. On the front is the
inscription—HONNEUR ET PATRIE. Above are two colossal
eagles. In the centre of the front towards the Quai
d’Orsay is a circular projection with columns, which sup-
ports a balustrade crowned by six statues. The in-
terior is rich, and the principal saloon, a rotunda 40
feet in diameter, looks on the river. It is inhabited by the
Grand Chancellor of the Order (see page 61).

Westward along the Quai d’Orsay, which overlooks one
of the finest wharfs of the city, stands the

PoNT DE LA CONCORDE.—This bridge was built in 1787-90,
by Perronnet, at a cost of 1,200,000 livres. Part of the stone
employed was . obtained from.the demolition of the Bastille.
It consists of five elliptical arches; the total length of the
bridge is 461 feet, its breadth is 61 fect. The parapet is formed
by a balustrade, divided by plinths, on which were marble
statues, now removed to Versailles. One of the piers bears
a vertical scale of 29% feet. (2) Opposite is the

PALACE OF THE LEGISLATIVE Bopy, formerly PALA1s BOUR-
BON.—Begun in 1722, by Girardini, for Louise Frangoise,
Duchess-dowager of Bourbon, and continued hy Mansard. The

(1) The Prince de Salm having been beheaded in 1792, his
hotel was disposed of by lottery, and a hair-dresser won iL.-In
1808 the hotel was devoted fo its present purposé. '

- (2) This bridge was originally called Pont Louis XV1., from the
$place” opposite ; in 1793.it was named Pont de la Révolution,
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Prince de Condé enlarged it, at a cost of 20 millions of francs,
but it was not terminated when the revolution broke out in
1789. It was one of the first mansions plundered, and re-
mair-d unoccupied till 1795, when the Council of Five Hun-
dred held its sittings in the pavilion opposite the bridge, the
rest being appropriated as a residence for the president. [t
was afterwards occupied by the Corps Législatif. In 1814
the palace was restored to the Prince de Condé, a part only
being reserved for the Chamber of Deputies. In 1829 it was
purchased for 5,500,000 francs. On the melancholy death of
the Duke de Bourbon, in 1830 (1), this palace devolved by
will to the Duke d’Aumale ; and that part used by the Duke
de Bourbon was leased to the Chamber of Deputies for their
president ; but eventually the whole was bought for the use of
the Chamber, to which the National Assembly succeeded in
1848.

Euxterior.—An iron railing with two gates gives access to
the edifice from the bridge, the facade of which, built in 1804,
by Poyet, consists of 12 Corinthian columns, resting on a hroad
flight of 29 steps, and supporting a triangular pediment
measuring 95 feet at the base by 17 feet altitude. An allego-
rical bas-relief by M. Cortot adorns the tympan; it represents
France standing on a tribune, holding the Constitution in her
right hand. The figure of France is 14 feethigh. At her sides
are Force and Justice; to the left is a group of figures personi-
fying Navigation, the Navy, the Army, Manufactures, Peace,
and Eloquence; on the right, are Commerce, Agriculture, the
Arts, and the rivers Seine and Marne. On the west of the
portico is a bas-relief by Rude, on the east one by Pradier.
At the foot of the steps there are colossal statues of Justice and
Prudence, 18 feet high; and in front are figures of Sully,
Colbert, I’Hopital and d’Aguesseau. On the side of the Place
Bourbon a lofty gateway, connected by Corinthian porticos
with two lateral pavilions, leads into the principal court (2).
The iron railings between the columns were fixed after the

then Pont de la Concorde in 1800. At the Restoration it resumed
ita original name, which was again changed in 1850.

(1) The duke was found, on Aug. 27, 1830, suspended by his
craval from the bolt of a window of his bed-room, at the Chéteau
de St. Leu, and from his age, 74, and his weak state of health,
it was considered improbable that he could have accomplished
his own destruction.

(2) Here an uncouth temporary huilding was erected by the
Provisional Government of 1848 for the Constituent Assembly.
It was built in 45 days; over the entrance were figures of
Liberty, Equality, and Fraternity. Over the President’s chair
were the words : République Frangaiss,— Liberté, Egalité, Frae



326 TWELFTH WALK.

atiempt of May 15, 1848, by way of precaution against similar
coups de main. (1) The building has several courts: the
principal one is adorned with two white marble statues, by
Guayrard. The one to the right represents France holding
the national flag, and depositing the ticket of universal suffrage
in an urn; that to the left represents Sirength spreading abun-
dance around her, while her right hand rests on Justice. Both
figures are scated. The buildings contain a post and telegraph-
office, those of the questure, and habitations for the officials.

“Interior.—The visitor is introduced by a side door on the
west of the portico, into the Sulle des Quatre Colonnes, of
Corinthian architecture, with niches and statues, which leads
to the Salle de la Paix, ornamented with a Laocoon, a Vir-
ginius, and a statue of Minerva in bronze. The ceiling is
painted by M. Horace Vernet. The flat rectangular soffit in
the centre contains in three compartments allegorical figures
of Agricullure, Steam-navigation, and Terrestrial Steam-loco-
motion. The coves surrounding this central portion, painted
in Louis Philippe’s time, represent the balustrades that run
along the roof of the Palais Bourbon ; here are seen, crowding
to witness the ceremony of opening the Chambers by the
King, ambassadors, members of the Cowr Royale, Peers, and
the members of the University ; the royal cortége is not visible,
but its presence may be guessed from the attitudes of the
spectators. The above is painted in four compartments,
separated by allegorical figures of Science, Manufactures, the
Tine Arts, and Agriculture.

From this hall a passage leads to the Salle dw Tréne,
ternité. Tt was taken down in 1854, The Cons{iluent Assemhly
of 1848 consisted of 900 members.

(1) Under the prefext of ¢ petitioning” the Constituen| Assem-
bly (which had met for the first time on May 4, 1848) ir. favour
of Poland, the socialist parly got up a procession on the 15th of
the same month, and marched, to the number of aboul 80,000,
10 the Palais Bourbon, headed by banners, and cerying, ¢ Vive la
Pologne, Vive la Républigue, Vive Louis Blan¢!” The gates were
closed, but the porlico was soon scaled, and an immense
mulfitude inundated the hall of the Nalional Assembly. Notwith-
standing (heir astonishment,. the represenfalives remained
seated, maintaining a dignilled silence, while the president was
driven from his chair, and a mullitnde of deinagogues addressed
the Assembly in the midst of an indescribable uproar, summon-
ing il 1o vole the re-constitulion of Poland cither by negoliation
or the force of arms. Blanqui, Barbes, and Raspail were
the only orators listened to. At length, after the uproar
had lasted full three hours, Huber mounied on the presi-
dent's table, and declared in a stentorian voice that the Assembly
was dissolved, and a provisional goverfiment established. The
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pninted by Delacroix, with figures of the Rhine,; Rhone, Seine,
Garonne, Saone (4rer), and Loire, the Ocean, and the Medi~
tecranean. .

Nuat comes the Salle Casimir Périer, or vestibule of the
principal entrance. There are here statues of Périer, by
Duret ; Bailly on his way {o execution, and Mirabeau,
hoth by Jaley; and Foy, by Desprez. Over the entrance
and the opposite door are fine bas-reliefs by Triqueti. Ade
joining it is the Salle des Distributions, where the De-
puties receive the reports of committees, motions of the
Chamber, &c. The ceiling of this saloon, picrced with a
skylight, is painted in grisaille by Abel de Pujol, and
represents in different compartmenls the Salic Law, the
Capitulaires of Charlemagne, the Edict of Nantes, and the
Charter of 1830, in allegorical figurcs. We are next con-
ducted to the Antechamber of the Library, containing
slatues of Cicero and Demosthenes, and paintings of Mazeppa,
by Horace Vernet, Philip Augustus ordering the completion
of the Old Louvre, by Mauzaisse ; the Square of St. Mark, b
Joyant; and Dagobert, by Gué. We now enler the Salle
des Conférences, painted by Heim ; on one side is represented
Louis le Gros, attended by his Minister, the Abbé Suger,
and the Seigneurs de Garlande, presiding at an assembly of
bishops, counts, and barons, occupied in drawing up the or-
dinances for the enfranchisement of the Commons in 1136 3
on the other is Louis XII., presiding at one of the first sit-
tings of the Cour des Comptes. In the latter the artist has
availed himself of a miniature of that time, which enabled him
fo represent the scene with great fidelity. At the extremities
of the salle are medallions, one representing Charlemagne,
surrounded by the princes and nobles of France, causing to be
read to the people his *“Capitulaires,” which served as the
basis of French legislation. The other represents the people

representatives were (hen driven oul of the hall, and insulted
wilh the most opprobrious epithels, while the iniruders, seizing
pens and paper, began wriling lists of the names of those whom
they deemed worthy of forming a provisional government. But
afler 2 while piquets of National and Mobile Guards arrived and
cleaved the hall at the point of the bayonel. Another party of
insurgents had meanwhile (aken pussession of the Hdtel de Ville,
and decreed a provisional government, composed of Barbés,
Lezh'u-llollin, Louis Blane, Alber!, Thoré, Blanqui, Cabet, Ras-
pail, Flocon, Leroux, Caussiditre. But by this {ime upwards of
100,000 men of National Guards were under arms; the National
Assembly was ve-instated that very evening in its hall, and de-
lared ifself en permanence. The ringleaders were arrested the
fame day, and precautions taken against future attempts,
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applauding St. Louis for the public regulations he instituted
previous to his departure for Africa. Other medallions in
grisaille contain portraits of Suger, I'Hopital, Sully, Colbert,
Montesquieu, &c.; the remaining figures are allegorical of
Justice, Agriculture, etc. In escutcheons are ‘‘ Code Napo-
léon” and ¢‘Charte de 1830.” This Saloon also contains a
fine statue of Henry IV., some flags taken from the Austrians
during the Empire, and paintings of the Siege of Calais, by
Scheffer ; President Molé, by Vincent, and Philip IV. opening
the States General, by Vinchon. There is a beautiful chimney-
piece in white marble ornamented with figures of Fame and
History, by Moine.

The Legislative Hall, formerly the Chamber of Deputies, (1)
is entered by a side door in the above-mentioned passage. It
is a semicircular hall, ornamented with 24 columns of single
blocks of white marble of the Ionic order, having capitals of
gilt bronze. The president’s chair is situated in the centre of
the axis of the semicircle, around which rise in gradation 500

(1) It was in this hall the Duchess of Orlcans made her ap-
pearance with her two sons, the Count of Paris and the Duke of
Chartres, on Feb. 24, 1848, having traversed on foot the space
which separates the Chamber from the Tuileries, while Louis
Philippe was hastening from Paris in the dircetion of St. Cloud.
She entered the Chamber at half past 1 r.M., and took her seat
on an arm-chair which had been provided for her, in the small
circular space bhefore the tribune, while her sons sat on chairs
on each side of her. M. Dupin addressed the Chamber, announc-
ing the abdication of Louis Philippe, and moving that the depu-
ties should proclaim the Count of Paris King of the French,
under the regency of the Duchess of Orleans. M. Marie, M. La-
martine, M. Arago, and other deputies here rose to oppose the
motion ; but M. Sauzet, the president, atiempted to stop th« n by
declaring the Count of Paris duly proclaimed. M. de Lamartine
however moved that the discussion should be continued without
the presence of any members of the royal family, Uere a suddcn
tumult was heard outside ; iwo persons hastily snatched up the
young princes in their arms, and, followed by the Duchess, tried
to reach first the door to the left,*and next the central one ; but
the passage was crowded with people from without. The Duchess
and her children resumed their seats, while some of the strangers
penetrated into the hemicycle, notwithstanding the entreaties of
the president to allow the members of the Royal family to leave
the place. Again the Duchess attempted to depart by the central
door, preceded by the Dukes of Nemours and Montpensier, and
again she was stopped, and obliged to sit down with her sons on
the uppermost bench of the right centre. The crowd of intruders
increased. MM. Marie and Crémieux spoke successively, deny-
ing the power of the Chamber to change the law of the regency
which entrusted that important charge to the buke of Nemours,
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seats, (1) to the height of the basement which supports the
columns. The whole is fitted up in crimson velvet and gold. (2)
The stylobate behind the president’s chair is ornamented with
a fiue bas-relief, by Coutant, representing France distributing
rewards to the Arts and Manufactures. In the intercolumnia-
tions are placed statues of Order and Liberty, by Pradier ; and
above the entablature arc statues by Allier, Foyatier, Du-
mont, and Després, of Reason, Justice, Prudence, and Elo-
quence. The president’s desk is adorned with a beautiful bas-
relief, by Lemot, representing Fame and History, standing
before a double plinth adorned with the head of Janus in a
medallion. (3) A spacious Ionic gallery, capable of contain-
ing 600 persons, runs round the semicircular part of the Cham-
ber ; tribunes arc reserved for the Imperial Family, the corps
diplomatique, and officers of state. (4) The semi-cupola of
the hall is ornamented with arabesques, by Fragonard.
Each deputy bas a desk to himself ; the Minister of State,
the President of the Council of State, and those councillors
who are appointed in conjunction with the two former, o
defend the policy of the Government, have their scats facing
the Chamber and in front of the president’s desk (5).

The Library of the Legislative Body consisls of about
65,000 volumes. This collection, which, besides comprising

and concluded by proposing the nomination of a provisional
government. This was strenuously opposed by M. Odilon Barrot,
and the Duchess of Orleans herself attempted to speak, but
was hushed by her friends. A crowd of armed men now
rushed in; M. Ledru-Rollin ascended the tribune, declared
that Louis Philippe having abdicated his authority had ceased
to be King, and could not transmit the erown without an ap-
peal to the people. Great confusion ensued, and lasted about
ihree hours, during which the Duchess succeeded in making
her escape. She retired to the Hotel des Invalides, and quitted
Paris the next morning.

(1) There were 459 Depulies under Louis Philippe; the pre~
sent number is 283 since January 1863.

(2) Over the presidenl’s chair there was a large painting, by
Court, representing Louis Philippe swearing to the Charter in
the Chamber of Deputies on the 9th of Angust, 1830.

(3) Under Louis Philippe this bas-relief decorated the tribune,
now removed.

(4) Twenly places are reserved for the public, and sixty more
for persons with tickets from the Queslure, a deputy, or an
ambassador, ’

(5) Under Louis Philippe onc half of the lower bench of the
deputies was reserved for the Ministers. At the opening and
close of the Session a throne occupied the place of the chair
and tribune,
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all the documents relative to the legislature of France, con-
tains a series of historical works, some of great rarity, is cele-
brated for possessing the original MSS. of the Nouvelle Hé-
loise, and the Confessions, of Rousseau. It is enriched by
the complete series of English Parliamentary Reports, Papers,
&c., as a periodical interchange of papers takes place between
the Parliaments of France and England. The Library is a
handsome long gallery, with a richly-vaulted ceiling, painted
by E. Delacroix, with subjects of ancient history. For ad-
mission, apply to the secretary. The palace may be visited
daily between 9 a.m. and 5 p.m. A fee is expected.

South of the Palais Bourbon is the ‘“ Place” of the same
name. In the centre is a marble statue by Feucheres, repre-
senling Law, seated on the chair of Justice, her right hand
holding a sceptre with the Eagle, and her left resting on the
Code. On the pedestal is the fllowing incription :—

Legis hane effigiem,. feliciter imperante Napoleone 11l., imperii domusq.
Imperatoriz Minister ponendom curavit, anno MDCCCLY.

The other sides of the pedestal are charged with devices in
has-relief, allegorical of Justice and Wisdom, and with the
imperial cagle. From June 1848 to December 1851, this spot
was occupied by a colossal statue of the Republic in plaster.
THE PALACE OF THE PRESIDENT OF THE LEGISLATIVE Boby.
is al No. 128, rue de I'Université. An elegant galeway,
surmounted by groups of children, gives access to an avenue
leading to this palace, formerly called the Hoétel Lassay. It
is in the style of the Renaissance. Adjoining this is the
HoTeL oF THE MINISTER OF FOREIGN AFFAIRs, the first
stone ‘of which was laid in 1845, by M. Guizot, and which
has cost 5 millions of francs. The principal front is on the
Quai d'Orsay, and consists of two pavilions connccted by
an intermediate body of the Doric and Ionic orders. fhe
whole facade is profusely sculptured. The western pa-
vilion is connected with a plainer building, which reaches
to the rue de I'Université, containing the offices of the minis-
iry. An clegant iron railing with two gateways encloses a
spacious court with flower-beds in front of the edifice.
Proceeding westward, the visitor will find the
PoNT DES INVALIDES, a stone bridge with four arches of 100
feet span, replacing a suspension-bridge openedin 1829, It has
cost 800,000 fr. The balustrades are of cast-iron, and the foot
of the central pier is decorated with two statues ; “that towards
the Pont de lf Concorde representing Navigation, and that on
the contrary side, Peace. Opposite is the new Avenue de la
Tour Maubourg. The fine hotel at the corner belongs to M.
de Montesquieu. Further on, at No. 63, is the
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MANUFACTURE IMPERIALE DES TABACS.—The French go-
vernment having the monopoly of tobacco and snuff for a
term of years fixed by law, this, the central establishment
for the preparation of those articles, is organized on an ex-
tensive scale, and has besides a branch at Charenton. A
court, enclosed by the smithy and warchouses, leads to the
rooms where the tobacco is undone by women, who are paid
at the rate of 3ir. 6 c. per 100 kilos., laid out in heaps, and
moistened with salt water, after which it is left to ferment
at a temperature of about 160 Fahr. Further on, the leaves
so preparcd during 24 hours are stripped of their stalks,
and the blades separated from their spines. This hard stuff
is partly used for soldicrs’ tobacco ({abuc de cantine), and
partly manufactured into paper for cigareites. A steam-
engine by Farcot, of 200 horse power, communicates
motion to a varicty of machinery above. A long
gallery on the second . story displays a row of ten-chop-
ping-machines, fed from behind by men who shovel the pre-
parved tobacco-leaves into oscillating funnels, through which
they descend to the chopper in a highly compressed state. The
produce is tobacco ready for smoking. The next room con-
tains 39 snuff-mills, fed from above through canvas gullets; a
main horizontal shaft, a foot in diameter, turns as many ec-
centrics as there are mills, communicating by straps with
levers that give the perpendicular niill-shafts an alternate cir-
cular motion,  The produce falls upen a broad canvas strap
moving horizontally upon rollers, and is thus carried to four
sicves; the snuff is sifted, and falls into troughs below; the
coarser snuff is rejected, and transported by the former process
1o a pit, from whence a bucket-engine carrics it to the third
story. llere it relurns to the mills below by means of a
long Archimedes’ screw.  In the next room on this story is a
machine for cutting labels; and on descending, other rooms
are seen, where cigars are manufacturcd by women, who are
paid at the rate of 1fr. 25 ¢. per 250 cigars, or a kilo. Next
is the drying-room, where tobacco ready cut is exposed in
large troughs to the action of a gentle heat. Two rooms for
pig-tail come next, where it is spun like hemp, from the de-
licate quill-diameter patronized by the Parisian habitué of the
Closerie des Lilas, 1o the thick rope that forms the solace of
the lavre marin. None bul the best quality is employed in
this branch. ~ The visitor will admire the cclerity with ‘which
the men in the parcel-room weigh the tobacco, pack and label
it. They earn 4 fr. 40 c..per 1600 parcels; 700 parcels weigh
150 kilos, and will fill a cask. The number of persons em-
ployed here is 1,900, viz,, 1,500 females, and 400 men and
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boys. A man willearnfrom 3 fr. to 4 fr. a-day ; a woinan, if
clever, may earn 2 fr. 50 c. per day. There are 14 manufac-
tories in France all depending from this, the central one.
The net annual profit on the tobacco monopoly is about
175,000,000fr. There are ahout 500 licensed tobacconists in
Paris. Admission on Thursdays from 10 to 12, and 2 to 3.

Adjoining is the Pompe d feu du Gros Caillou, established
by Messrs. Perrier in 1786, for supplying houses on the left
bank with water. There are also baths on the premises.

Opposite the Pont de I'Alma (see p. 188) at the corner of
the new Avenue du Champs de Mars, we see the

IMPERIAL STABLES, a new edifice, comprising four courts
and a garden, with a riding-school fronting the principal
court. The stables are situated right and left, flanking the
riding-school, and may contain 300 horses, forming three
categories, viz., post, carriage, and saddle-horses. The stalls
are of oak, cach being provided with an iron rack and stone
manger. One of the secondary courts contains the coach-
houses for common, State, and historical carriages, including
among the latter those used at the coronations of Napoleon I.
and Charles X. In the adjoining court there is the infirmary,
and the rest of the buildings comprise 130 apartments, large
and small, for the Imperial equerries, grooms, and coachmen.
To visit this establishment, apply to M. (e Premier Ecuyer
de S. M. I Empereur, at the Tuileries.

At No. 73 is the Magazine of Military Accoutrements, and
at No. 103 the GARDE MEUBLE DE LA COURONNE, where the
furniture of the Imperial palaces is kept. It communicales
through the court with the ATELIERS DE SCULPTURE, Where
artists commissioned by Government execute their works,
Neither of these establishments is visible (1).

At No. 160, rue de I'Université, is the Pharmacie Centrale
des Hopitaux Militaires. At No. 188, rue St. Dominique,
we find a military hospital, founded by the Maréchal de Biron
in 1765, and conlaining 1,050 beds. Opposite stands the
Fontaine de Mars, erected in 1813. It has a bas-relief,
representing Hygeia offering drink to an exhausted soldier.
Continuing to the left, we reach the church of

St. PIERRE DU GROS CAILLOU,—in the Tuscan style,

(1) The ground on which this building stands was once
an island called lle des Cygnes ; it formerly bore the name of Ils
Marquerelle. 1n the massacre of St. Bartholomew’s day the dead
hodies of 1,200 persons, being considercd unworthy of Christian
burial, were cast into the Seine, but they collected at the lle
Marquerelle, and by putrefaction caused such an infection that
they had fo be interred on the island.
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erected in 1822 after the designs of M. Godde, The interior
is 160 feet in length by 70 in breadth; and contains a nave
with twe aisles, having chapels at each end, and a semicir-
cular recess for the high altar. Thefrieze, painted in frescoby
La Riviere, represents Christ delivering the keys of Heaven to
St. Peter. Below this are a Holy Family, Christ at Emmaus,
by Janet Lange, and an Angel rescuing St. Peter from prison,
by Gaillot. There are also: Christ preaching, Danicl among
the Lions, and the Baptism of Christ, by Desgoffe.

Opposite is the [10SPICE LEPRINCE (see p. 120).

The rue St. Dominique terminates at the

CHAMP DE Mars—an immense oblong space between the
Ecole Militaire and the Seine, of 3084 feet by 2290. It has
four rows of trees on each side, and slopes gently towards
the centre. It was formerly bordered east and west Ky ditches
and embankments, which were formed, in the year 1790,
by the population of Paris, of both sexes and all ranks, for
the celebrated Féte de la Fédération, which took place on the
14th of July, when an altar, called I’ Autel de lu Patrie, was
erected in the centre, and Louis XVI., seated in a superb am-
phitheatre in front of the Ecole Militaire, took his oath to
the new constitution. More than 60,000 persons were
constantly at work till the cmbankments were completed.
Here Napoleon held the famous Champ de Mai, before the
battle of Waterloo ; and here too, in 1830, Louis Philippe dis-
tributed their colours to the National Guards. On the night
of the 14th Junc, 1837, during the rejoicings for the mar-
riage of the Duke of Orleans, 24 persons were suffo-
cated or trodden to death by the pressure of the crowd pass-
ing through the gates. On May 10th, 1852, Louis Napoleon
distributed to the army the Eagles which were to replace the
Gallic Cock. This ground is used for reviews and manceuvres.

At the southern extremity of the Champ de Mars is the

EcoLE MiLITAIRE.—Louis XV., by an edict of 1751, founded
this school for the gratuitous education of 500 sons of poor
noblemen, preference being given to those who had lost their
falhers in the field. A certain number of boarders were also
admissible into the school, on paying 2000 livres. It was
commenced in 1752, after the designs of Gabriel. The prin-
cipal entrance is towards the place-de Fontenoy, and opens
into two cdiirfs, separated from each othier by a railing. The
first, 420 feet square, is bordered right and left by barracks ;
the second, a square of 270 feet, is flanked by two open
Dorie galleries ending in the lateral pavilions of the front,
Which are connected with the central pavilion by interme-
diate wings, two stories high, of Dori¢ and Ionic architecture.
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The central pavilion is Corinthian, with a pediment sur-
mounted by a quadrangular dome. A statue of Louis
XV., by Lemoine, which stood in the inner court, was broken
to pieces in 1789. The front toward the Champ de Mars, is
composed of a projecting Corinthian colonnade crowned with
a sculptured pediment and attic. The main building is
flanked by two pavilions of Ionic design, and Cavalry and
Artillery barracks, surmounted by genii supporting the im-
perial escutcheon. In frontof the domeis aclock by Lepaute,
ornamented with figures of Time and Astronomy. On the first
floor is the Salle du Conseil, adorned with military emblems
and pictures. The chapel was formerly most magnificent, but
the valuable paintings which it ‘once possessed were de-
stroyed in 1789. At present it has been restorcd to its
former use. The Duke de Choiseul ordered Lalande to esta-
blish an observatory here in 1768, It was suppressed shordly
afterwards, re-established in 1788, and soon after delinitively
suppre§sed. The military school was closed in 1788. During
the revolution of 1789, the Ecole Militaire was transformed
into barracks for cavalry ; Napoleon aflerwards made it his
headquarters. 1t now forms barracks for about 6,000 men,
infantry, cavalry, and artillery, and occupies a space of 1408
feet by 797. For permission to view the interior, rare{lir
granted, apply to M. le Commandant cn Chef de la Garde
Impériale, a UKcole Militaire. Additional cavalry bar-
racks have Dbeen erected opposite, on the Place de Fontenoy.
At No. 26, in the avenue de Saxe, there is a Convent of
Carmelite nuns, with a handsome Gothic chapel ; and further
on, in the centre of the circular Place de Breleuil, is the
ARTESIAN WELL OF GRENELLE.—Commenced in 1834, by
M. Mulot, engineer, in the court of the Abattoir, and c.m-
pleted on the 26th of February, 1841, when the water burst
out with inconceivable force, the boring instrument having,
after immense difficulties, penetrated to the depth of 1800
feet. The temperaturc of the water was 28°¢ centigrade, or
82.4 Fahrenheit. The whole depth islined with galvanized iron,
and the water rises to an altitude of 112 feet, yielding 170,940
gallons in 24 hours (1), which may be conveyed to the upper-
most story of any house in Paris. The pipe is 21 inches in
diameter at the surface, and 7 at bottom. Since September,
1858 the water has been horizontally conveyed to the centre
of the Place de Breteuil, where the present open-worked

(1) It used to yield 198,000 gallons; but since the Artesian
well at Passy has been bored (see p. t91,) it has lost 27,060
gallons, showing ihat the supply of both wells is derived from
thre same subterranean sheet of water. )
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tower of bronzed cast-iron, 42 metres in height, and of ele-
gant design, encloses the ascension and distribution pipes,
which are all encased in a main cylinder. A winding stair-
case, visible from without, leads to the top, where a small
basin receives the waters conveyed by the two ascension pipes,
whence they descend into the distribution pipe. There is a
fourth pipe also contained in the main cylinder, to discharge
the water in case of repairs, there being space sufficient for a
man to get in between the pipes. The structure rests on a
circular basement of masonry, 14 metres in diameter, and 2%
metres in altitude. A balustrade of cast iron runs all round
the base, and three more round the shaft and capital, which
is crowned with a small cupola. The whole produces a very
pleasing effect. The weight of the cast-iron employed is
100,000 kilogrammes. Engineer, M. Delaperche. To view
the interior, and mount to the top, apply in person to the
Bureaux des Eaux, al the Hotel de Ville, for a ticket, and then
call at No. 74, Avenue de Breteuil. The exact spot where the
well was bored lies within the court of the

ABATTOIR DE GRENELLE, close by (see p. 276).

In the rue Duroc, a church is being built, under the
name of St. Francois Xavier, and extending from the Avenue
de Breteuil lo the Boulevard des Invalides, where the chief
entrance will be. It is to contain 23 chapels, and occupy a
space of 100 metres by 35. Architcct, M. Baltard. At the
opposite corner of the Boulevard des Invalides, No. 56, is the

INSTITUTION IMPERIALE DES JEUNES AVEUGLES.—This esta-
blishment originated in the benevolent exertions of M. Valentin
Hauy, who, being himself blind, in 1784 opened a school for
blind children. In 1791 it was created a royal inslitutionby
Louis XVI. 1t occupied the buildings of the Séminaire St.
Firmin, in the rue St. Victor, bul was removed in 1843 to the
present splendid building, erected by the architect Philippon,
at a cost of 1,850,000 fr., and covering a space of 3,000
square metres. JIn the centre of the court stands a marble
statue of the founder in the attitude of teaching a blind youth,
executed by Badion de la Tronchere. In the bas-relief which
adorns the pediment over the entrance, by Jouffroy, Religion
is represented encouraging Hauy and a blind femalein their
efforts to instruct their pupils. The building has distinct
apartments for the males and feinales.  The visitor is first
conducted to the right wing, occupied by the boys, and
Witnesses successively their ability in brush-making, joinery,
turning, weaving, and basket-making, which is considered the
bes\ employment for them, except music, for which they havc
a peculiar aptitude, and which is here cultivated with the
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utmost care. On ascending the first story, he is introduced
to the school and music rooms, and next to the chapel, which
occupies the centre; it is of the Ionic and Cerinthian orders
combined, and consists of a nave and two aisles, with a gal-
lery above, and a semicircular choir, painted by Lehmann :
the subject is Christ affording consolation to the blind. On the
second floor are the dormitories, four for boys, and two for
girls, besides a supplementary one in case of necessity.
Dressing-rooms with tanks for water are contiguous to them.
Here also are the rooms of the Sceurs de Ste. Marie, that
attend in the infirmaries, which are two in number, one for
each sex. A repetition of nearly the same rooms occurs on
the side of the girls, arranged for occupations proper to their
sex. The refectories are furnished with long marble tables,
besides a long marble washing-basin with spouts, against the
wall, and occupy the ground-floor, together. with the kitchens,
baths, &c. Al the professors are blind, and the establishment
requires hardly any aid of mechanics from without, nearly
every thing being manufactured by the inmates. Water is
supplied from the artesian well at Grenelle. The building is
heated by means of hot-water pipes, and lit with alcohol
mixed with a combustible liquid extracted from wood. A
gymnastic apparatus is constructed in the garden, and the in-
terior arrangements are admirably adapted for the health and
comfort of the pupils. The children, if received gratuitously,
must not be under 9 nor above 14 years of age, and are re-
quired to produce certificates of their birth, freedom from con-
tagious disease and idiotcy, as well as of their parents’ good
conduct and indigence. For boarders no age is fixed. Among
the elder pupils there are some excellent pianists and per-
formers on themost difficultinstruments. They have ~ print-
ing-office for ‘the publication of books in relief, so that the
child, by merely moving its fingers along the lines, can read
with tolerable ease. The printers and compositors are all -
blind. Every pupil besides has books written by himself
under dictation, by a process of pricking the paper which
produces conventional letlers in relief on the paper. This
system, also used in print, was invented by M. Louis Braille,
a professor of the establishment, - born blind, who died in
1852, and whose bust may be seen in the vestibule.- Some
pupils excel in mathematics, and by the methods described can
put_on paper very intricate calculations. In the Salle des
Ventes- visitors will find a variety of- articles for purchase,
- made by the inmates, some of them. beautifully executed. At
i gl‘-)esent there are about 250 pupils; including 75 females. The
vernment has allotted 160 purses of 800 fr. each for the
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education of as many indigent pupils of either sex, and se-
veral benevolent individuals have endowed the establishment
in a similar way. On the last Saturday of every month
there is an examination of the pupils, at which strangers are
admitted with tickets, for which a written application mustbe
made to the director ; and four or five times a year there are
public concerts held in the chapel. For admittance, apply to
the Director and chief-instructor, M. Boué de Verdier. Wed~
nesdays from 13 to 5 (1).

At No. 151, rue de Sevres, we find the

HoriTAL DE MADAME NECKER, a building which was a con-
vent of Benedictine nuns until 1775. In 1779, at the sug-
gestion of the wife of the celebrated M. Necker, Louis XVI. as-
signed funds to convert it into an hospital. The chapel pos-
sesses two tine statues of Aaron and Melchizedek, in marble,
purchased for 1,200 fr. from an individual who discovered
them when digging the foundations of a house. This hospital
is visible on Thursdays and Saturdays from 1 to 3 (see p. 140).

Next door to this hospital, at No. 149, is the

HopiTAL DES ENFANS MALADES.—On this spot existed a cha-
rity-school, called Maison de I'Enfant Jésus, which was pur-
chased, in 1732, by Languet de Gergy, rector of St. Sulpice,
and opened for the reception of poor girls and sick women of
his parish. It was afterwards converted into a school for the
daughters of poor noblemen, and in 1802 was formed into an
hospital for sick children. Strangers are admitled on Thurs-
days and Sundays, from 1 to 3 (see p. 142.)

THIRTEENTH WALX.

This lies entirely within the 7th arrondissement. We may
commence it with the

PLACE VAUBAN, a semicircular space, fronted by the

EGLISE pES INVALIDES,—This majestic structure was built by
the architect Mansard, and finished in 1706. A square mass,
138 feet in length, forms the body of the church. It is
divided into two stories, and in the centre of each front is a
projecting mass, with a pediment restingon compositecolumns.
The southern and principal front is composed of two rows of
columns, the lower of the Doric order, the upper of the Co-
rinthian.  Niches on each side contain stalues of St.
Louis and Charlemagne, and allegorical figures are also

(1) The number of blind in all France is stated to be about
39,000, hesides 75,000 blind of one eye.
22
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laced in front of the pilasters of the upper story. Above
this, resting on a circular stylobate, rises the drum, which is
outwardly surrounded by 40 coupled composite columns; and
at the points corresponding to the angles of the lower stories
are eight projecting buttresses, finished with engaged columns.
An attic crowned with a balustrade, and adorned with arched
windows, surmounts the drum, from within which springs the
dome; its surface is divided by 12 gilt ribs inlo as many
compartments, each occupied by projecting devices of trophies,
arms, &c., also gil. From the summit of the dome rises a
lantern, with a gilt spire, globe, and cross. The total height
to the top of the cross is 323 feet.

On Moundays and Thursdays from 12 to 3, the public are
admitted to visit the

Interior.—The interior is circular, with branches of a Greek
cross extending in the direction of the four cardinal points,
forming the nave and transepts, between which are four
circular chapels, each having threc lofty arched entrances,
one of which faces the centre of the church, now occupied
by a circular parapet surrounding the crypt which con-
tains the tomb of Napolcon I, Above this rises the dome,
regting on four main arches, in the pendentives of which are
l}ainl.ings of the four Evangelists, by Delafosse and Lebrun.

he attic over the pendentives is adorned with 12 medallions,
containing portraits, in bas-rclief, by Bosio, Tannay, Rux-
thict, and Cartelier, of Clovis, Dagobert, Pepin-le-Bref, Charle-
magne, Louis-le-Debonnaire, Charles-le-Chauve, Philip Augus-
tus, St. Louis, Louis XI1., Henry 1V., Louis XIII., and Louis
XIV. (1) The attic is surmounted with a drum, pierced with
12 arched windows,, from the entablature of which springs
the first cupola, painted by Jouvenet, in 12 compar nents, 28
feet in height by 11 in breadth at botiom, and 8 at tep, re-
presenting the Apostles.  The cupola ends in a cireular cor-
nice 54 feet in diameter, through which we see {he second cu-
pola, painted by Delafosse : St. Louis presenting his sword to
desus surrounded by angels. This picture is 50 feet in dia
meter, and contains upwards of 30 colossal figures. 'The
ceiling over the high altar is painted by No¢l Coypel, and
represents the Assumption of the Virgin, and the Trinity, sur-
rounded by angels. Those playing on rausical instruments,
which adorn the inlrados of the windows, are, to the right,
by Bon Boullongne; to the left, by Louis Boullongne. —

(1) Atthe revolution of 1789 these portraits were transformed
into those of Greeian and Roman philosopliers, with Voltairve and
Rousseau among them. Upon restoring them, Pepin 1s Bref was
substituted for Childebert.
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Chapels and Transepts.—Over the -entrances to the chapels
are bas-reliefs, representing events in the life of St. Louis.
Th- chapel of St. Augustin, to the right on entering, is painted
by Louis Boullongne, with scenes from the life of that saint.
The bas-reliefs are by Flamant and Laprerie. In the centre
of the chapel stands the tomb of King Joseph of Spain, the
cldest brother of Napoleon 1., and whose mortal remains
were transferred hither in March, 1864. 1t consists of a sar-
cophagus of black marble with white veins, resting on a
tasteful but simple basement.  In the adjoining transept is a
monument to Vauban, consisting of a sarcophagus of black
marble, on which the figure of Vauban reclines ; behind it
is an obelisk hearing his arms and surrounded by trophies.
Two statucs, representing Genius and Prudence, by Etex,
stand beside the hero. Next follows the chapel of St. Am-
brose, painted by Bon Boullongne, in six compartments, repre-
senling as many passages in the life of that saint. The cupola
represents his apotheosis. The chapel opposite is enriched
with bas-rcliefs and sculptures by Le Cointe and Palticr; its
cupola, painted in six compartments by Michel Corneille,
represents passages of the life of St. Gregory. Next follows
the western transept, with a monument to Turenne, brought
here from St. Denis, composed by Lebrun and executed by
Tuby. The marshal is represented expiring in the arms of
Immortality. At the feet of the hero is the affrighted cagle
of the German Empire ; an obelisk rises behind.  The
last chapel, dedicated to St. Jerome, has paintings by, Bon
Boullongne, of various incidents in the life of that saint.  The
sculptures are by Nicolas Coustou. Here we find 16 the left
the tomb of King Jérome, a black marble sarcophagus resting
on clawed fect of gilt bronze, and surmounted by a statue of
the King, by Guillaume, partially cnveloped in an ample
cloak, his right hand resting on his marshal’s baton. At the
corners are two eagles supporting a laurel wreath, all of gilt
bronze. Next comes an altar, hehind which we see a small
sarcophagus containing the heart of the Quecen of Westphalia ;
and to the right a monument in the same style as that of the
King, and covering the mortal remains of the young Prince
dérome.—The ITigh Altar.—It is ascended by ten steps of
white marble ; the altar-table is of black marble, surmounted
by four spiral columns of the same material, black and white,
supporting a canopy, all profusely gilt. Winding staircases
on either side of the high altar descend to the iron railing
communicating with the old church, opposite which is the
entrance to the crypt containing the

Tomb of Napoleon I.~This entrance is flanked hv twa
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sarcophagi resting upon plinths, and surmounted by two Co-
rinthian columns crowned with segmental pediments; one
is dedicated to Marshal Duroc, the other to Marshal Ber-
trand, the Emperor’s friends during his adversity. A bronze
door gives access to the crypt; over it, on a black marble
slab, are the following words, quoted from the Emperor’s will :

“Je désire que mes cendres reposent sur les bords de la
Seine, au milieu de ce peuple Franc¢ais que j’ai tant aimé.”
Two colossal bronze caryatides, by Duret,at the entrance, hold
the globe, sceptre, and imperial crown. A gloomy gallery,
running under the high altar, now leads to. the crypt, dimly
lighted by funereal lamps of bronze, and adorned with bas-
reliefs, designed by Simart, and executed by Lanno, Petit,
and Ottin, representing : 1. The Termination of Civil War ; 2.
the Concordat ; 3. the Reform of the Administration; 4. the
Council of State; 5. the Code ; 6. the University ; 7. the Court
of Accounts; 8. the Encouragement of Trade and Commerce;
9. Public Works; 10. the Legion of Honour ; all due to the
energy of the late Emperor. The pavement of the crypt is de-
corated with a crown of laurels in mosaic, within which, on a
black circle, are inscribed the names of the following victories:
Rivoli, Pyramids, Marengo, Austerlitz, Iena, Friedland, Wag-
ram, and Moskowa. Twelve colossal statues, by Pradier, re-
presenting as many victories, stand against the pilasters, facing
the tomb, which consists of an immense monolith of porphyry,
weighing 135,000 Ibs., and brought from Lake Onegain Finland
at a cost of 140,000fr. Its exquisite polish has been effected by
a powerful steam-engine. It covers the sarcophagus, also of a
single block, 12 fect long and 6 in breadth, resting upon two
plinths, which stand on a block of green granite, brought from
the Vosges. The total heightis 13 4 feet. In the gallerv which
encircles the crypt is a recess, called the Chapelle nrdente,
containing the sword the Emperor wore at Austerlitz, the in-
signia he used to wear on state occasions, the crown of gold
voted by the town of Cherbourg, and the colours taken in
different battles. At the furthest end of the recess is the
statue of the Emperor in his imperial robes, due to the chisel
of Simart. This reliquaire is closed with gilt doors. The
crypt is only visible from the circular parapet above. The
marble of this monument has cost 2,000,000fr., and the whole
expense amounts to 9,000,000 fr. (1)

In a vault beneath the pavement of the dome are deposited

(1) The mortal remains of Napoleon 1. were solemnly trans-
ferred to the sarcophagus on the 2d of April, 1861. A medal
commemorative of the event, and offered by the living remnants
of the Grande Armde, was enclosed with the coffin.
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the bodies of Marshal Mortier and the other 14 victims of
‘Fieschi’s attempt (see p. 253).

The small green esplanade in front of the southern porch was
formeriy bounded by a fossé, over which a drawbridge served
as an entrance for the king whenever he visited the church.

The stranger should now follow the Boulevard, which
leads northward lo the

HOTEL DES INVALIDES.—In 1596, under the reign of Henry
V., an asylum for invalids was formed in an old convent in
the Faubourg St. Marcel. This institution was removed to
Bicétre, by Louis XIII. In 1670, during the administration
of Louvois, Louis XIV., by whose wars the number of invalids
was greatly increased, laid the foundations of the present
edifice ; the main building, as well as the first church, were
finished about 1706, by Bruant. The second church, de-
scribed above, was destined for the ceclebration of festivals
and military anniversaries. The whole edifice now covers
28 acres of ground, enclosing 15 courts. In 1789 it took
the name of Temple de I’ Humanité ; and during the turbulence
of that period was always respected. Under Napolcon it was
called Temple de Mars, and the number of its inmates was
frightfully increased. In 1815 it resumed its original title.
This magnificent institution is under the direction of the Mi-
nister of War. The staff of the establishment comprises :
a marshal of France, a gencral of division, governor ; a ge-
neral of brigade, commander; a colonel, major; eight cap-
jains, adjutants. There is an administrative council com-
pesed of 13 members, including three senators and the
commander. There are also one curé, {two chaplains, one
chief physician, one chief apothecary and 10 assistants;
26 Sisters of Charity, and 260 servants of all kinds. The
Hotel is divided into 14 divisions, each of which has a
chief of division, an adjutant and sub-adjutant. The gover-
nor has 40,000 fr. per annum; the general-commandant,
15,000 fr.; the intendant, 12,000 fr., and the colonel-major,
7000 fr. All soldiers who are actually disabled by their
wounds, or who have served 30 years, and obtained a pen-
sion, are entitled to the privileges of this institution. The
whole of the invalids, amounting at the present moment to
2000, officers included, are boarded, lodged, clothed, &ec.
The table-service of the officers is of plate, the gift of Maria
Louisa. For meals, the inmates of the Hotel are divided into
three parties ; the hours of the first are 9 a.m. and 4 p.m.;
those of the second 10 and 5, and those of the third, con-
sisting of the employés, half past 10 and half past 5. The
soldiers have for breakfast, soup, beef, and a dish of vege-
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tables; for dinner, meat or eggs, and vegetables ; cheese, on
Fridays. At cach repast about a quarter of a pound of meat
is served to each man, who also receives a litre of wine
and 1% pound of white bread daily; the wine and brcad are
of the same quality for all ranks of officers and men, but the
officers have an extra dish allowed. Each man has his bed,
straw and wool mattresses, and bolster, with a press for his
clothes. Strangers are strongly recommended to visitthe Invalides
atmeal-time, to witness the greal order, cleanliness, and comfort
that prevail.  In the distribution of meat, wine, and clothing,
if any person does not consume his allowance, he may receive
an equivalent in money ; and persons deprived of legs are al-
lowed money instead of shoes. The pay of the invalids for
minor expenses is according to the following scale per month :
—private soldier, 3 fr.; corporal, 4fr. 20 c.; lieutenant,
without special dulies, and sergeant, 5 fr. 10 c.; sergeant-
major, 6 [r.; caplain, without special dutics, 6 fr.; adjutant,
7 fr. 20 ¢. ; sous-licutenant, 10 fr. 50 c¢.; acting lieutenant,
12 fr. 5 caplain, 15 fr.; chef-de-bataillon, 21 fr.; lieulenant-
colonel, 24 fr. ; colonel, 30 fr. The hotel will hold 5,000 in-
valids. They all wear the same uniform; their only duty,
conformably with their own request, is o mount guard in the
hotel.  The number of officers is aboul 170.

Exterior.—The Hotel has a wide terrace in front, laid out
as a garden, and armed with a quantity of large guns taken
in battle, some of which are worth inspection. (1)

The front of the hotel is 612 feet in length; it is divided inlo
four stories, and presents three pavilions. The central one

(1) The following is an exaet list of them : — Cannon : Austrian,
one  sg-pounder, and one 27; Prussian, cigh( 24; Dutch, two
24 3 Wirlemberg, one of 12 ; Venetian, one of 32. Lona how-
itsers . iwo Russian of 0.20. Mortars: {wo Algerine of 0.33,
There are also disposed on the right and left 20 guns, viz., 16
Algerian 24-pounders; 1+ Chinese, 0.456 ; 4 Cochin-Chinese,
0.180; and 2 French, 12. The Austrian 4s-pounder was east
at Vienna in 4681, On ifs chase is an eagle, with oulstretched
wings, pouncing on a dolphin, darting its beak info the head
and its talons into the sides, and bearing the motio, ¢ Conquer
or die.”  The 27-pounder was east in 1580 ; il has also a bird on
the chase, with the following molto in German : ** As soon as
my song resounds in the air, walls will fall to the carth before
me.” The eight Prussian guns were cast ab Berlin in 1708, by
order of Frederick 1, and were laken al Austerlitz. Each gun
was dedicaled 1o one of 1he Electors, whose likeness, in relief,
is on the chase. The two Dutch 24-pounders were taken in 1he
citadel of Antwerp in 1832, The Venetian 32-pounders bears the
arms of the Republic, and the Lion of St. Mark holding the
Golden Book. The two Russian howilzers came from Sebastopol.
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is decorated with Ionic pilasters, supporting an arch, on the
tympan of which is a bas-relicf of Louis XIV. on horseback,
sculptured by Coustou, jun., and restored in 1816 by Car-
telier. On the pedestal is this inseription : —

Ludovicus Magnus, militibus regali munificentia in per-
petuum providens, has edes posuit An. M.DC.LXXV,
Statues of Mars and Minerva in bronze, by Couslou, jun.,
adorn the entrance. The triangular pediments of the exireme
pavilions are adorned with military trophies, resling upon
attics.  Their roofs are crowned by square terraces surrounded
with balustrades. The four bronze figures at the corners of
these pavilions, represenling vanquished nations, by Desjar-
dins, formerly adorned the statue of Louis XIV. in the Place
des Victoires 3 they are 12 feet high, and were placed here in
1800. The dormar-windows of this front are very remark-
able, being in the shape of mililary trophies, cach consisting
of a cairass, surmounted by a hetmet. The principal front has
two Jateral gateways, and a central one leading into the Cour
’Honneur, which is 315 feet long, 192 fect broad, and is
entered by a spacious and elegant vestibule. It is surrounded
by four piles of building, with central projections, pavilions
at the angles, and two ranges of arcades.  The central pro-
jection of the southern side, bearing in front a statue of Na-
poleon 1., is an Tonie and Corinthian colonnade, with statues
of Time and Study in the pediment, and crowned by a cam-
panile.  The wings right and left are occupied by the go-

vernor and his staff.

Library.—The library, founded by Napolcon, contains about
30.000 volumes on theology, jurisprudence, belles-lettres, and
slrategy, and possesses manuscripts of Sully and Colbert, a fine
picture of Napoleon T. ascending Mont St. Bernard, copied from
bavid, another of Napolcon 1Il., by Laugicr, and a model of
the -Hotel itself. Next to the latler are two gilt candlesticks
which belonged to Marshal Turenne, the canmon-ball (weighing
31b.) by which he was killed, and a small equestrian statue of
that hero executed in gold and silver.  In {front of one of the
windows is a fine model of theColonne Vendome.  The library
is open from 9to 3, except on Sundays and festivals,  Books
cannot be consulted without a permission from the bureau.

Council-Chamber.—This is in the passage west of the li-
brary on the same floor. The Sa/le &’ Atlenfe contains a nu-
merous collection of muniature drawings of all the flags and
banners taken in war from the time of Henry 1V. to the present,
hesides the hbanners of many towns of France. Here also we
see a chalk drawing, in medallions, of various subjects re-
Jating to the captivity of St. Helena, with leaves and other
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guides for a small {ce, and a trifle will be expected by those
who show the Council-Chamber, Kitchen, and Refectories.

In front of this Hotel, and extending to the Seine, lies the

Esplanade des Invalides, consisting of six squares, planted
with trees in 1750 and 1818 ; it measures 1440 feet by 780,
and reaches to the Quai d’Orsay. In the circular space situ-
ated at one third of the central avenue, there stood a foun-
tain, ornamented with the celcbrated bronze lion brought
from the Piezza San Marco, at Venice, but restored in 1815.

At No. 127, rue de Grenelle, is the Hétel du Chdtelet, a
splendid specimen of the grandeur of the days of Louis XIV.
It is inbabited by the Archbishop of Paris. Nearly oppo-
sile is the

Ecole d’Elat Major (sce p. 99.)  On the site of the ad-
joining cavalry barracks stood the Eglise Ste. Valere. The
ground afterwards belonged to the Davoust family, and then
to Mr.lope. At No. 77, rue de Varennes, is the Hétel de
Biron, now occupied by the Dames du Sacré Caur.

At No. 69, rue de Babylone is the chapel of the Oriental
Society for the union of all the Christians of the East. At No.
49 are infantry barracks famous for the attack they sustained
in the revolution of 1830. Near this, at No. 12, rue Mon-
sieur, is the Armenian College; and at No. 27, rue Oudinot,
the establishment of the Fréres des Ecoles Chrétiennes.

Passing into the rue de Scvres, we find, at No. 86, the
Convent of Socurs de la Congrégation de Notre Dame, com-
monly called the Couvent des Oiseaux, and at No. 95 the

CouvENT DES LAzARISTES, where the visitor will perceive
one of the most tastefully decorated chapelsin Paris. It con-
sists of anave and two aisles, separated by Doric columns,
with galleries above. The ceiling is clegantly painted and
gilt, in compartments, in the Haliun style; the windows
display, in stained glass, passages from the life of St. Vin-
cent de Paul. A winding staircase 1o the left, outside the
chapel, gives access to the galleries, where, besides the con-
fessionals, we sce a series of well-executed paintings by
Father Francis, one of the brethren. The subjects are—The
Presentation, Annunciation, and Visitation; the Adoration of
the Magi, Christ dispuling in the Temple, and the Sermon on
the Mount. Nearly opposite, is the

FonTAINE EGYPTIENNE.—Constructed in 1806. It consists
of the slatue of an Lgyptian pouring water from iwo vases
into a semicircular basin. Close by is the

HosriCE DES INCURABLES (FEMMES), 42, rue de Sevres,—This
house, originally called Hdpital des Incurables, was founded
in 1634, by Cardinal de la Rochefoucault. A spacious court
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leads to the chapol, the front of which has a gable surmounted
by an iron belfry, and is deserving of attention. Two niches
with statues of Religion and Faith flank the entrance. The
intucior is cruciform, without aisles. In the nave we see
some good pictures : an Annunciation, the Virgin and Child,
the Visitation, a Holy Family, and an Adoration of lhe
Shepherds, on wood, dated 1404. In the left transepl an
Ecce Homo, an old puinllug of the Adoration of the Magi, and
a long list of the hencefaclors to the establishment.  The most
remarkable pictures in the right transept arc two of the
Flemish school, one representing the Saviour holding a
skein of thread, which his mother is winding into a hall ;
while in the other he holds a board steady, which Joseph isin
the act of sawing. In the same lransept is also a handsome
marble monument to the founder,representing him kneeling on
a sarcophagus, andan Angel holding his train. The infirmaries
consist of long galleries partitioned into separate rooms, one
for cach p.ttlull maodestly but sufficiently furnished, and which
gives them the appearance of streets. Visitors sucet with po-
lite atlention, and are admitted from 12 (o 4, ( sec p. 122.)

The rue de Sevres and rue du Bae mecet on the site formerly
oceupied by the Ceinetery of SL. Sulpice. In the rue du Bac,
al No. 140, is the Hdtel Chalillon, built by a pupil of Man-
sard, and now occupied by the Congrégation, or convent, des
Seeurs de St. Vincent de Paule.  Norlh of this stands

St. FRANGOIS XAVIER, or, EGLISE DES Missions ETRAN-
GERES, sccond chapel of case to St. Thomas d’Aquin, 128,
rue du Bac.—A nussionary seminary was founded at this
spot in the 17th century, by Bernard de Ste. Thérese, Bishop
of Babylon. The church was begun in 1683, after the designs
of Dubuisson. 1t consists of iwo parts, one on the ground-
floor, and the other above. The lower church is perfectly
plain, and service is performed in il only on Sundays. The
upper ouc is lonic, Over the altar is the Adoration of the
Magi, by Couder; in the left transept, Sl. Louis washing
the feet of the poor, by Bon Boullongne; and opposite, the
Apotheosis of St. Francis Xavier ; on the north side of the
choir is a good painting, hy Luca Giordano, of Christ driving
the moncy-changers from the Temple. In the right transept,
used as a chapel of the Virgin, is a Iloly Family. The altar
is of white marble, and has three fine bas-reliefs of Hope,
Faith, and Charity. There is a Chinese bhell here, weighing
700 kilogrammes, takenat Canton in 1858 by Admiral Rigault
de Genouilly. Tt has no clapper, the sound béing produced by
a wooden hammer. In thisseminary youngmen are instracted
in the sciences and languages necessary for missionaries in the
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East; among its members was the virtuous Abbé Edgeworth,
who attended Louis XVI. in his last moments on the scaffold.

In the rue de Varenneés, at No. 53, is the Hétel Monaco,
formerly belonging to Princess Adelaide, now sold to the
Duke de Galliera. It was construeted by Brongniart, and
stands in a finc garden, with a long avenue reaching quite to
the rue de Babylone. Gen. Cavaignac resided in it while he held
the office of Chief of the Exccutive Power in 1848, and
M. Baroche, President of the Council of State, in 1853. No.
69, in the rue de Varennes, is the Hétel d’Orsay, purchased
and embellished by Count Duchatel. ,

In the ruc de Grenelle, at No. 103, there are still some
offices of the Minister of the Interior.

At No. 110, is the Hotel of the Minister of Public Instruc-
tion, and at No. 116, the Hétel Forbin Janson, remarkable
for ils clegant entrance, and now the Mairie of the 7th
arrondissement. Near this, at No. 106, rue de Grenelle, is
the ancient convent of Pentémont, now used as barracks for
cavalry. Only a part of the old buildings still exists. The
church, devoled to the Protestant service, fronts the street,
and is surmounted by a well-proportioned dome. It is cruci-
form, and ornamented with Ionic pilasters.  This street con-
tains some hotels of the most ancient nobility of France.

The streets east and west of the rue Bellechasse occupy the
ground formerly known under the name of the Pré aux
Clercs, celebrated for the endless petly disputes it gave rise to
between the University and the Abbey of St. Germain-des-
Prés.  The University claiming jurisdiction over this ground,
the students used to repair thither for their diversion, and it
consequently soon became a constant scene of debauchery,
duelling, and confusion, to the great scandal of the reverend
fathers and peaceful bourgeois of St. Germain, who had of. :n
to defend the inviolahility of their homes with arms in their
hands. (1) On the Place Bellechasse, formerly a dependency
of the Convent of the Augustins du St. Sépulchre, we see,

(1) In 1278, Gérard de Moret, abbot of St. Germain-des-Prés,
caused some walls fo be erected on the road to the Pré aux
Cleres, as a protection against the students; but the latter
pulled them down, alleging that they encroached upon the
road. The abbot, however, caused the alarm-bell to be rung,
and the domestics and subjects of the abbey fell upon the stu-
dents, the abhot and monks cheering their adherents all the
while with cries of Tue! Tue! Many students were taken pri-
soners, and others either mortally wounded or maimed. The
University threatened to close her doors unless immediate satis-
faction were granted for this outrage; whereupon the abbot, his
monks, and their provost, were condemned to various penalties,
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fronted by an elegant square planted with trces, and com-
prising 1,738 square metres, the church of

STE. CLOTILDE, chapel of ease to St. Thomasd’Aquin. This
church, commenced in 1846, after the designs of M. Gau, is con-
structed in the pointed style, 96 metres in length by 38 in
breadth ; the height of the nave is 26 métres. The front con-
sists of three entrances, separated by buttresses and sur-
mounted by two galleries and a wheel-window, crowned by a
gable between two spired steeples, 69 metres-in height. The
gable is surmounted by a statue of St. Clotilda; four statues of
saints occupy the niches fronting the buttresses, and twenty-
eight more adorn the three enirances, the pointed receding
arches of which are profusely sculptured with wreaths of taste-
ful design. They are approached by a flight of steps extending
along the whole breadth, and give access to a spagious pro-
pyleeum. Three bas reliefs adorn the ogives of the inner
doors, the central one representing the Crucifixion, by Tous-
saint, that to the left, the Baptism of Clovis, and that to the
right, the Martyrdom of St. Valeria, both by Oudiné. The
buttresses arc pinnacled ; the roof is all iron.

Interior.—The church is cruciform, and consists of a nave
and two aisles ; there is a chapel on each side on entering,
and there are five more around the apsis of the choir. The
windows of the chapels arc single; those of the nave and
aisles, double; the transepts receive light from large wheel-
windows, below which there is a double window, flanked by
single ones. The chief feature of “interest is the cxcellent
stained glass in the windows, after the designs of Galimard,
Amaury-Duval, " and Jourdy. (1) The baptismal chapel to
the left on entering, contains frescoes by Delaborde, repre-
senting the Baptism of Christ and that of St. Agnes ; St. Remy,
and lastly, St. Francis Xavier baptizing the Indians. The
chapel opposite, in the right-hand aisle, has the following

(1) The subjects are, left aisle on entering: 1. St. John the
Baptist. 2. St. Denis, St. Cecilia. 3. St. Helena, St. Hilarius. 4.
St. Prosper, St. Camilla. 3. St. Germain, St. Geneviéve. 6. St.
Rodegunda, St. Gregory.—Opposite aisle from the transept: 7. St.
Monegunda, St. Médard. 8. St. Pulcheria, St. Leo. 9. St. Ursula,
St. Donatianus. to. St. Paul, St. Christina. 44. S{. Victor, St.
Agatha. 12. The Saviour.—Transepts, lateral windows : the Evan-
gelists and Twelve Prophels—Front windows, to the left: Christ
and the Virgin; opposite, Christ and Moses.—Chapels of the choir :
1. Six medallions with Passages from the Life of St Louis of
France. 2. Nine medallions with Scenes from the Old and New
Testament. 8. The Lady Chapel : the Life of the Virgin in fifteen
medallions. 4, The Life of St. Joseph, in nine medallions. 5.
8ix medallions with Passages from the Life of St, Remy.
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subjects by the same artist: Christ declaring himself the Good
Shepherd, Jesus and Mary Magdalen, the Holy Women on
their way to anoint the body of Christ, the Entombment.
Above : Hope and Piety. The piers of the choir are connected
by dwarf walls, cariched towards the aisles with bas-reliefs,
represeniing, in the left aisle : 1. The Marriage of Clovis ; 2.
Clodomir is cured ; 3. The Baptism of Clovis; 4. Death of
Ste. Clotilde. 1In the right aisle : 1. St. Valeria converted;
2. Condemmned to Death ; 3. Her execution ; 4. She is seen
carrying her head to St. Martial.  Of the five chapels of the
choir, the first in the right aisle, painted in fresco by Pils,
represents passages from the life of St. Rémi, viz., his Con-
secration, the Baptlism of Clovis, Sl. Rémi organizing mis-
sions, and his apotheosis. The next, by Bezard. displays
passages. in the life of SL. Joseph, in six compartments ; the
third, in 12 compartments, by Lenepveu; to the left, passages
in the life of the Virgin ; to the right, passages from the Life
of Jesus; the 4th. by Brissot, passazes from the life of St.
Helena; also Christ carrying his cross, the erucifixion, and
figures of Constantine and St. Sylvester. The last chapel
in the left aisle, painted by Lacmlein, has, 1. St. Louis
receiving the crown; 2. Discoursing under his favourite tree ;
3. Carrying the crown of thorns, and 4. Tending the sick.
The organ-loft is over the entrance.  This church which has
cost 8,000,000 fr., was inaugurated in 1857, and has received
a set of bells forming a complete oclave, so that the peals rung
from the belfries of Ste. Clotilde are the most musical in Paris.

At Nos. 82 and 86 is the War-Office, formerly a convent of
the Filles de St. Joseph. The buildings take up a considerable
portion of the rue St. Dominique, and extend northward to the
rue de I'Université, where, at No. 71, is the

DEroT DE LA GUERRE.—This office is subdivided into .our
sections, viz. :—1. That of the map of France, with 83
draughtsmen and engravers; 2. that of topographical opera-
tions ; 3. that of historical labours, comprising the classitica-
tion of the Archives, the service of the Library, &e., and
lastly that of military slalistics and regimental affairs, The
dépot contains a valuable library, of upwards of 20,000
volumes, and celebrated for the following treasures : the com-
plete correspondence of the Ministers of War, from the reign
of Louis XIIT. to 1814 ; the autograph letters of Louis XIV. to
Philip V., his grandson, King of Spain ; the military memoirs
relative to the wars of the Spanish succession ; the correspond-
ence of Napoleon 1., [illing 300 drawers; a book bound in
green morocco, with the title ‘ Napoleon Bonaparte,” and
containing his certificates of baptism and nobility, all the
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orders transmitted to him during his military service, &ec.;
autograph letters of Condé, Jourdan, Hoche, Masséna, Ney,
&c., and the manuscripts of Vauban, Folard, Guibert, Bourcet,
an+! other eminent military men. It also possesses a series of
exact surveys of the battles of Napoleon, and many important
documents, which are being published under the title of Mé-
morial du Dépdt de la Guerre. To visit this library apply to
M. le Directeur du Dépét de la Guerre, 82, rue St. Dominique.

The rue St. Dominique, which in 1542 hore the name of
Chemin des Vaches, and afterwards that of Chemin de la Jus-
tice, is celebrated for its noble residences; for example, the
Hotel of the Duchess Dowager of Orleans, No. 62, formerly
inhabited by the Arch-chancellor of the Empire, Cambacéres,
and now occupied by the Ministry of Public Works; the Hd-
tel de Grammont, No. 113 ; and the Hdtel de Périgord, No.
115, now the property of Prince Demidoff.

FOURTEENTH WALX.

This comprises the rest of the 7th, and part of the 6th ar-
rondissements. In the Place St. Thomas d’Aquin is the
church of

St. THoMAS D’AQUIN,—designed by Pierre Bullet, and built
in 1683 for a convent of Jac«ﬁﬁns, founded by Cardinal Ri-
chelicu.  The front, rebuilt in 1787, by Brother Claude,
one of the monks, is decorated with two ranges of Doric and
Ionic columns, surmounted by a pediment, centaining a
bas-relief representing Religion. This church is 132 feet in
length, and 72 feet in height. The interior is Corinthian and
cruciform, with single aisles, and has the following frescoes by
Blondel, viz.—In the capola over the interscction of the nave
and transept : four compartments, containing the four Evan-
gelists, Christ holding the Gospel, and the Virgin adored by
angels. In the pendentives: St. Thomas d’Aquin, St. Fran-
¢ois de Sales, St. Vincent de Paule, and St. Dominic. Left
transept, over the altar: the Marriage of the Virgin. Right
transept : Simcon blessing Jesus.  Over the lateral arches of the
transepts : Faith, Hope, Charity, and Divine Justice. On the
ceilings of the transepts : medallions with Angels carrying the
instruments of the Passion. On the walls of the choir : St.
Peter and St. Paul ; its semi-cupola is richly gilt. Flanking
the altars of the transepts: medallions with figures of the Vir-
gin and St. Vincent de Paule. Behind the high altar is a cha-
pel to St. Louis, with a picture of that saint; the ceiling, by
Lewmaine, represents the Ascension ; the frescoes on the walls
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represent the Bearing of the Ark. Over the doors leading
to- this chapel are pictures of St. Catherine of the Wheel, and
St. Louis praying. The other pictures in this church are, in
the left aisle : the Prodigal Son, by Roehn ; the Conversion of
St. Paul, by La Hire; and St. Thomas d’Aquin stilling a storm
at sea, by Scheffer. In the right hand aisle : Magdalen at the
Calvary ; Paul before Festus, by Vouet, painted in 1639; a
Descent from the Cross, by Guillemot, and a Holy Family of
the Flemish School. Thechurch is celebrated for its preachers,
and fashionable congregations.

Adjoining to this church, 3, Place St. Thomas d’Aquin, is the

MuskE D’ARTILLERIE.—This highly interesting and curious
museum, a visit to which should not be omitted, established
in the ancient convent of the Feuillans in 1794, was removed
to this convent of the Jacobins in 1797, and was originally
formed of arms from the Garde-Meuble de la Couronne, the Cha~
teau de Chantilly, the Chateau de Sedan, the Bastille, and
other armories. During the wars of the first Napoleon the
museum was greatly increased Dy spoils from the enemy, but
in 1814 was much diminished by the removal of arms claimed
by the allies; in 1815, the Prussians alone carrying off 580
chests. (1) In the passage leading to the rooms of the ground-
floor there are guns of various calibres, from the roughest con-
trivances in the infancy of the invention to the most elegant
forms of later days. Among them are several mortars of
hammered iron left by the English before Meaux in 1422,
Turkish pieces with Arabic inscriptions, four pieces taken
from St. Juan d'Ulloa in 1838, Russian guns, taken at Sebas-
topol and Bomarsund, some Austrian guns taken at Solferino,
and some guns of peculiar make manufactured by way of
experiment. An immense chain is suspended along the walls,
590 fect in length, and weighing 7,896 pours, called
the Chaine du Danube, from having been used by the
Turks for a pontoon bridge over that river, at the siege of
Vienna, in 1683. All round the adjoining court Russian cast-
iron coast-and-siege ordvance arc seen placed upright-against
the wall. On entering the vestibule on the ground floor,
we find ficld-picces, howitzers, culverins, and falconets.
Two pieces of large calibre, with Arabic inscriptions, flank
the inner door. Next is the Salle des Modéles, with models
in the proportion of 1 to 6, of cannon, gun-carriages, ammu-
nition-waggons, &c. Prussian, Dutch, Norwegian, and other
fire-arms are arranged in racks against the walls. There are
also here some Russian muskets taken at Bomarsund. Ja-
panese and Mongolian armour, arms which belonged to the

(1) The visitor can have an excellent catalogue for 1 franc.
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Emperor of China, his war-saddle taken at Pekin in 1860,
his military dress, his rich poniard, and other Chinese wea-
pons. On ascending the staircase, we see three plaster casts
of antique reliefs, found in the vicinity of the Rhine, one of
which represents a Roman soldicr armed at all points. We
now enter the Salle des Armures, of Doric design. The
ceiling is painted in grisaille, with arms and attributes of
war. Itis lit by semi-circular windows; the walls are hung
with trophies of helmets, coats of mail, shields, &c., and de-
corated with inscriptions commemorating the Grand Masters
of artillery and other high officers of the French army from
the remotest periods. Fronting the door there are seven glass
stands, containing specimens of Greek, Roman, Celtic and
Merovingian weapons, a Roman crown, helmets, iron-

ts, ete. The remainder of the central portion of the floor
18 occupied by figures, chiefly on horse-back, in full armour.
Complete coals of armour are also arranged on blocks along
the ﬁneral walls, most of them with escutcheons painted on
the plinths ; the walls of the extremities are decorated
with trophies formed of arms of all kinds of rich and costly
execution; the shields especially will attract attention. The
helmet marked No. 281, once belonged to Bajazet II., son of
the conqueror of Constantinople. There are also other histo-
rical relics: against the wall to the right on entering, we find
No. 135, the armour worn by Henry, Duke of Guise, sur-
named Le Balafré, killed at Blois in 1588 (the helmet alone
weighs 10 1bs.) ; No. 134, belonged to the Duke of May-
enne, chief of the League (1611); and No. 119, was worn by
Frederic V, Elector Palatine and King of Bohemia (1632).
No. 165, belonged to the Constable Anne de Montmorency
(1567), and No. 178 to Robert IV de la Marck, Marshal of
France (1556). Among the equestrian figures, No. 162 was
owned by the Bastard Antoine de Bourgogne, son of Philippe-
le-Bon. Here also in a gilt frame, surmounted by an eagle,
is the flag of the old Garde Impériale. In the other galleries,
which are numbered 1, 2, 3, and 4, small arms, ancient and
modern, are arranged in racks, the most curious and costly
objects being in glass presses. Some of the arms taken from
the Moors in 1859 by Gen. de Martimprey, as also those
taken in the Chinese war of 1860, are placed here. Along the
sides, next the windows, are rows of tables, presenting models of
cannon, machines, &c. We may notice, in gallery No. 1, the
inlaid carbines, cross-bows, and stirrups, such as Nos. 1416,
1606, 1552 and 2380 ; in gallery No. 2, the rich fire-arms of
the 16th-18th centuries; No. 3, the Roman sword blades, con-
tained in glass stands, and in gallery No. 4, the halberts, fal-

28
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chions and partizans, and the weapons of African and other
savages., Strangers are admitted on Thursdays from 12 to 4.
A military library of 6,000 volumes is attached to this mu--
seum, but is not public.

Opposite the Place St. Thomas d’Aquin, at 31, rue St. Do-
minique, is the noble mansion of the Duc de Luynes. At
No. 84, rac de Grenelle, are the new premises of the Sociétds
Impériales d [lorticulture et &’ Aqriculture (see p. 106). Flower
and agricultural shows are held here twice a year. At No.
57 in the rue de Grenelle is the )

FONTAINE DE GRENELLE, onc of the finest'in Paris.—Bou-
chardon executed the designs, figures, bas-reliefs, and some of
the ornaments, Tt was begun in 1739, and finished in 1745,
The building is of a concave semi-clliptical form, 90 feet in
length by 36 in elevation. In the centre is a pavilion, resting
on a basement, with plain rustics, supporting two couples
of Ionic columns crowned with a pediment. In front is a
group in white marble, representing the City of Paris sitting
on a prow, between the Seine and the Marne. Between the
columns is the following inscription, by Cardinal Fleury :—

Dum Ludovicus XV., populi amor et parens optimus, publice
franquillitatis asserfor, Gallici imperii finibus innocue propa-
gatis; pace Germanos Russosque inter et Oftomanos feliciter
conciliata ; gloriose simul et pacifice regnabal ; foutem hune e¢i-
viam utilitati, urbisque ornamenfo, conscerarunt Prefeclus et
Adiles, Anno Domini M.DCC.XXX.IX.

The wings have Doric pilasters, between which are four sta-
tues and as inany bas-reliefs, representing the four scasons,
besides Lwo escutcheons containing the arms of the city.

Entering the rue de Sevres by the rue de la Chaise, we find
the ABBAYE AUX Bous, first chapel of case lo St. Thomas
d’Aquin, 16, rue de Sévres. Contiguous was a convent,
bought in 1719 by the Religieuses de Notre Dame aux Bois.

Facing this is the Maison du Noviciat des Religicuses Hos-
pitaliéres de St. Thomas de Villeneuve, 27, rue de Sévres,
and farther on, in the courtyard of No. 35, we find the

EcLisE pE JEsus, belonging to the Jesuits. Though it con-

. tains no works of art worlh mentioning, the grandeur of its
Gothic interior, consisting of a nave and two aisles with
clustered columns, is deserving of notice.

‘The Croiv-Rouge is a spot where six streels meet, and at
No. 39, in the rue des Saints Peres, is the

ACADEMIE DE MEpEciNg, formerly at No. 12, rue de Poitiers,
where the meetings of the royalist members of the Constituent
Assembly of 1848 used to be held. Its entrance, erected in
1784, consists of a noble arch supported by two engaged
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Doric columns on each side. Above is a statue of Esculapius,
and within, there is a statue of Baron Larrey (see p. 143.)
This building was formerly anncxed to the

HopriTAL DE LA CHARITE, 45, ruc Jacob.—Founded ir (613,
by Marie de Médicis, for the Fréres de la Charité, who were
all surgeons or apothecaries, besides ministering lo the spiri-
tual wants of the sick. The huilding has a handsome {ront,
with a spacious Doric entrance and vestibule (sce p. 140).
Strangers are admitted on Sundays and Thursdays from 1
to 4. A portion of this hospital has now been rebuilt in the
rue des Saints Dieres. The chapel, the first stoue of which
was laid in 1613 by Queen Marguerite, the wife of Henry 1V.,
has been demolished, and is to be replaced by another. The
name of the above-mentioned strect is a corruption of Cing-
Péres, the monks of the Charil¢ who first assumed the dutics
of the hospital being five.

The rue Bonaparle, on the right, leads to

SAINT GERMAIN DES PrES.—This church is amonument of the
highest interest to the antiquarian, it having been the abbey-
church of one of the largest andmostancient monasiiv establish-
ments of Paris. Childebert 1., son of Clovis, on the sugzeestion
of St. Germain, Bishop of DParis, founded a monastery
about 551, though the Pragmaticin, which is still preserved
among the Archives of the State, dates from561. He dedicated
the church to the Holy Cross, St. Stephen, and St. Vincent ; the
relics of the latter saint were brought by him from Spain, and
given to the monastery, together with the treasure which he had
taken trom Amalaric, at Toledo, and a picce of the true cross.
This foundation was cndowed wilth many cstales, and among
others with the fief of Issy, extending over the whole of the
southern bank of the Seine, from the Pelit Pont in Paris to the
village of Sevres. Throughout this domain the community pos-
sessed full jurisdiction, which they retained till 1674 ; and the
prison of the Abbaye long remained as a monument of their im-
portance. The church, dedicated in 557, was celebrated for its
decorations, and was called ¢¢ The Golden Basilica.” 1In 861,
the Normans nearly destroyed the monastery, and burnt the
church, of which only part of the lower walls of the western
tower are supposed to remain. The tomb of Childebert was
afterwards carefully restored by the monks. In 990, the
Abbot Morardus, 26th in succession, conmmenced rebuild ng
the church, which was consccrated by Pope Alexander HI.,
in 1163, under the abbot llugues . In 1653-6, the tomb of
Childebert was placed in the middle of the church. The chapel
of theVirgin was begun about the middle of the 13thcentury, by
Pierre de Montreuil, and was one of the most exquisite pieces
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ofarchitecture of the middle ages. In 1369, the abbey Was
fortified against the English by Charles V.; and, in the
time of Henry IV., it still resembled a fortress (1) encom-
passed by a moat. To the west, where part of the
Faubourg St. Germain now stands, was the Pré aux Clercs
(see p. 348). From 1503, the abbots were appointed by
the crown; and among other distinguished men who attained
this honour was Casimir, King of Poland, who died in 1672.
In 1644, this celebrated community was incorporated with
the celebrated Benedictines of St. Maur. Mabillon, Mont-
faucon, Achéry, Ruinart, &c., were all of this abbey. It
was suppressed in 1789, and the buildings became a salt-
petre-manufactory. An explosion taking placein 1794, the
refectory and library were destroyed, and the church much
damaged. Under Charles X., the restoration of it was com-
menced by M. Godde, and completed in 1836. The square
buttressed tower with double-arched mullioned windows,
which flanks the entrance, dates from 990, the time of
the Abbot Morardus; it was formerly topped with a
stone spire, which has been replaced by a wooden one of
an octagonal form, with four smaller ones at the corners.
There were two turrets besides, flanking the choir, but
which were removedin 1820. The western porch is pointed ;
in the ogive is an old bas-relief representing the Last Supper,
and over this the figure of Christ. The figures that once adorned
the western front may be found in Montfancon’s Antiquities.

Interior.—The interior is cruciform, with a circular choir
al the east end ; the nave is flanked with plain aisles without
chapels, except onc in the right hand aisle, but the choir is
surrounded by them. All this part is also of the time of the
Abbot Morardus ; the choir is the work of Abbot Iugues 1II.
All the capitals of the pillars forming the piers wi'l be par-
ticularly remarked for the devices of which they are com-
posed ; many of those in the nave are restorations of the old
ones, copied with the most scrupulous fidelity, and now
magnificently gilt and decorated ; the ceiling is painted in
cobalt, interspersed with stars, and the foliated capitals of
the lofty engaged columns whichfront the piers are likewisegilt.
The whole church has been decorated with fresco-paintings
byM.Flandrin. Over the arches of the choir we see the twelve
Apostles in fresco, and around the apsis are the Angel, Lion,
Ox, and Eagle, emblems of the Evangelists; over the cen-
tral arch is the Lamb. The wall at the entrance of the choir

(1) In May, 1834, one of the loopholed ldwers of the abbey
was discovered at No. 17, rue St. Benoit, transformed into the
well-hole of a staircase,
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to the right is painted in three compartments ; the tympan of
the upper ogive representing the Abbot Morardus, three of his
immediate successors, and King Robert. The lower ogive
sraces are adorned with the figures of Fortitude, Justice,
Chastity, and Truth; and the field below _represents Christ
bearing the Cross. A similar arrangement is in the opposite
wall, where the upper ogive represents St. Droctovieus and
St. Germain on one side, ‘and King Childebert and his Queen,
Hudrogole, on the other, offering the church 1o St. Germain. The
lower ogives display the figures of the other cardinal virtues,
Faith, Hope, Charity, and Humility. The ficld below re-
presents Christ making his entrance into Jerusalem. Figures
of archangels adorn the ceiling of the cross, while the frieze
of the nave is charged with a series of “biblical subjects
worthy of the distinguished artist to whom they are due (1).
The stalls of the ch(m' are profusely carved. The right hand
aisle contains the Martyrdom of St. Vincent, lpy Cazes
(1784), and the afore-mentioned chapel, surmounted by a cu-
pola and drum, the ceiling of which is boldly painted with the
apotheosis of a saint. Over the confessional is a Mater Dolo-
rosa, by Varcollier. The adjoining transepl, which is the
chapel of Ste. Marguerile, contains a handsome marble tomb
of one of the Castellan family. In the first chapel of the
choir therc is a painting of the Archangel crushing the
Dragon. In the same chapel is a tomb of James Duke of Doug-
las, who died in 1645. His figure in marble is reclining on
a sarcophagus. In the 2d chapel, black marble slabs
mark the remains of Mabillon, Descartes, and Montfaucon.
(1) The following are the subjects of these fine mural paint-
ings, so arranged that above the spandrils of eacharchthere are
two compariments, one relating to the Old Testament, the other
10 a parallel passage of the New. Beginning from the vight on
entering, the space over the first arch is provisionally closed.
Over the second we see the Confusion of Tongues at Babel, and
Jesus delivering the Keys to Peter.  3rd. Jonah delivered from
the large fish, and The Resurrection. 4th. The Sacrifice of
Isaac, and the Crucifixion. 5ih. Joseph sold by his brothers,
and the Kiss of Judas. Turning to the opposite side of the nave,
and moving towards the entrance, we sce over the first arch
next to the transept Melchisedech offering the sacritice of bread
and wine, and blessing Abraham, and the Institution of the
Lord's Supper. 2nd. The Egyplians drowned in the Red Sea,
and the Baptism of Christ. 3rd. Balaam’s burnt-offering, and
the Adoration of the Magi. 4th. Adam and Eve terrified at the
Voice of {he Lord, and the Birth of Jesus. 5th. Moses before the
burning bush, and the Annunciation. In the arched compart-
ments ahove these paintings are various personages of the Old
Testament, such as David and the Prophets, Moses, Judith, &c,
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Here there i8 an excellent picture by an unknown master, re-
presenting the vision of St. Catherine of Siena, in which she
saw the Holy Family, and shook the hand of the infant Saviour.
The Lady Chapelis circular, and has two finely painted grisailles
on canvas, thefirst attempts of thelate Abel de Pujol: the Adora-
tion of the Magi and the Presentation in the Temple. Nextis a
Malter Dolorosa, in plaster, with four angels on brackels, kneel-
ing. In the chapel of St. Vincent de Paule is the statue of that
saint; in that of St. Paul is a monument to Boileau, whose
heart was transferred here in 1819 from his tomb, which
exists in the undercroft of the Sainte Chapelle (see p. 306).
In the adjoining one is Joseph leading Christ, by Delarue, and
a marble monument to another of the Douglas family, Earl of
Douglas and Angus, who died in 1611. The following tran-
sepd contains the tomb of Casimir, King of Poland, who ab-
dicated his crown in 1668, and died abbot of the monastery
in 1672 ; the king is on his kuces, offering up his crown to
heaven, and in front of the tomb is a fine bas-relief of one of
his battles. lere is also a painting of Simeon kissing the
Saviour, probably by a pupil of Rubens. The paint-
ings in the left aisle of the nave arc: the Death of Sap-
phira, by Leclerc (17 18); St. Germain distributing the presents
of Childebert to the poor, by Steuben ; the Entrance of Christ
into Jerusalem ; the Baptism of the Eunuch, by Bertin (1718);
and the Raising of Lazarus, by Verdier (1677). The pulpit,
of while marble, is of clegant design ; it is flanked by two
stalues in bronze, by Jacquot, one allegorical of the Mosaic
law, the other of Christianity. The front is adorned with bas-
reliefs in bronze, the central one representing the Sermon on
the Mount. For a more complete history of the abbey, see
the [fistory of Paris. (1) The church is 200 feet in length,
65 fect in breadth, and 60 fect in height.

Turning to the left, on leaving this most interesting church,
the rue Bonaparte will lead the visitor to the rue Ste. Mar-
guerite, but lately the site of the Abbaye (see p. 78), which
stood in front of the rue de I’Ecole de Médecine,

The rac de PEchandée leads to the rue de Seine ; and the
small Passage du Pont Neuf, one of the first established in
Pans, to the rue Guénégaud, and the Quai Conti, now con-
siderably widened. The stranger will be reminded by these
names that he is on a spol immortalised by Sterne.

No. 5 on this quay bears an inscription stating that Na-
poleon 1., then an officer of artillery, on leaving Brienne,
lived in that house on the 5th story. On this quay is the

(1) HISTORY OF PAR1S, 3 vols. svo. There is also a history of
the abbey by Bouillard, one of the Benedictines of the society.
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-HOTEL DES MONNAIES.—A mint existed in Paris under the
second race of kings, in the royal palace of the lle de la Cité,
It was afterwards established in the rue de la Monnaie, and
r-moved in 1775 to the present building, erected on the site of
the Hotel de Conti, after the designs of Antoine.  The principal
front is 360 feet in length, and 78 high. It has three storiess
In the centre a projecting mass with five arcades on the ground
floor supports six lonic columns, crowned with an entabla-
ture and an attic, ornamented with festoons ang six statues,
of Law, Prudence, Power, Trade, Abundance, and Peace.
The front towards the rue Guénégaud is 348 feet in length.
Two pavilions risc at its extremitics, and a third in the centre
surmounted by a square cupela. On the atlic stand four
slatues, representing Fire, Air, Earth, and Water, with slabs
bearing appropriate distiches. The intermediale buildings
have only two storics.  The ground plan includes eight courts,
of which the central one is the most spacious. 1t has two
pavilions facing each other, cach bearing a pediment; the
southern one has four Doric pillars, in front of which are busts
of lenry 1I., Louis XIII., Louis XIV., and Louis XV. The
central arcade of the principal front leads into a vestibule,
adorned with 24 fluted Doric columns.  On the right is
an lonic staircase, with a bust of Antoine, the architect.
We next enter a magnilicent saloon, called the Musée
Monélaire, adorned with 20 Corinthian columns in stucco,

. supporting a gallery.  On the mantel-piece is a bust of
. the present Empress. . This room conlains an immense
3 eollection of the coins of France and other countries, chro-
. nologically classificd, besides the medals struck on various
* public occasions, such as marriages, viclories, cle.  They
i+ are contained in 5 rvows of slands on each side, besides
i others in the embrasuees of the windows. The slands to the
i left on entering contain medals only ; these to the right,
¢ coins. The scriesof the former commences at the stand in the
¢ embrasure of the first window {to the left, procecds regularly
: to the third, thence to the stand immediately opposite, and
. ends with that nearest to the entrance. The oldest authentic
: medal here is one of Charlemagne, an invaluable relic of ex-
: cellent execution; the earlicst medal of which the original die
¢ exists is one of Charles VII. (1461). Medals of Boccaccio,
¥ Louis XII., Henry VIIL., Francis I., Loyola, Mary Queen of
Scots, Sixtus V., Cardinal Richelicu (a superb medal by Varin,
£ 1630; for which his life was spared), Cardinal Mazarin, &e.,
¢ will successively meel the visitor’s eye, until, gradually des-

2 cending to the present period, he will find medals commemo-
jirating all the stirring events of the last few years: the pro-
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clamation of the republic of 1848 ; the days of June, Cavaig~
nac’s administration; the visit of the French Natlional Guards
to London in October 1848; the 2d of December 1851, the
Proclamation of the Empire ; the visit of the Queen of Eng-
land in August 1855 ; the taking of Bomarsund and of Se-
bastopol, the marriage of Prince Napoleon with Princess Clo-
tilde, &c., besides an immense number of medals with por-
traitsof the princes or leading personages of all countries, such
as Queen Isabella of Spain, Victor Emmanuel of Italy, Narvaez,
Kossuth, etc. Themedals struck in commemoration of the Great
Exhibition are all in the stands of the right-band windows, toge-
ther with a collection of French coppermoney before the re-coin-
age ; smaller stands before the piers of the windows contain
private medals or counters (1), and Japanese, East Indian,
and Chinese coins ; the oldest of the latter is dated 1700 years
before Christ. We now come to the five rows of slands to
the right on entering, which contain the coins. Many of
the places are now empty, owing to the transfer of upwards
of 6000 coins to the Imperial Library ; nevertheless, many
of them have been replaced by duplicates. The most interest-
ing of the English coins is a silver penny of William the Con-
queror (1066) ; ‘of the Spanish, one of King Tuica (date 638.)
There are, besidesthe African cowrie, Mexican, Bolivian, Greek,
Turkish money, etc. The fifth row from the entrance contains
the wholeseries of French coins, from thetime of the Gaulsdown
to the present time. Four large glass presses flanking the cn-
trance and the chimney-piece opposite contain an interesting
collection of standard weights and measures, implements for
engraving, stamping, etc., and chemical subslances used
for the purposes of fining. In adjoining rooms are several
models of the furnaces, instruments, &c., used in coining and
assaying money, and other stands containing a namismatic
gallery of the Kings of France, of modern workmanship. The
last room of this series is called the Salle Napoléon; here
are arranged nearly all the dies of medals struck under the
Consulate and the Empire; here is also a splendid colossal
marble bust of Napoleon 1., executed for Fouché by Canova in
1806, a model in bronze of the mask taken from the Emperor’s
face at St. Helena 20 hours after his death, and a bust of the
present Emperor, by Barre; a model of the pillar of the
Place Vendome in bronze, peculiarly interesting, as display-
ing the statue of Napoleon which adorned the column before

(1) The coinage of medals and counters is a privilege of the
mint of Paris. The net profit under this head amounts to about
26,000 fr. Upwards of 100,000 medals and counters were coined
last year, besides 212,000 medals of saints.
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the Restoration, in his imperial robes. It was executed by
Brenet, in the proportion of 1 to 24, and cost 6000 fr. A
glass case contains a representation in wax of the bas-reliefs
with which its shaft is encircled. Onatable, under a glass case,
is a closed casket, containing a collection of all the coins struck
with the effigy of Napoleon I. in the kingdom of Italy, given
to the Musée by the present Emperor when he was President.
Returning to the first hall, a door opposite the entrance to the
right leads to the staircasc of the Gallery. = Here, before as-
cending, we may remark the Chinese coins arranged in aglass
stand. In the first room above, we find a series of seals of
State, from King Dagobert down to the second Republic ; also
the scals of the five great vassals or feoffees of the Crown.
The gallery of the large saloon contains private dies, among
which we find the heads of Madame de Genlis, Lord Byron,
and many other distinguished personages ; and in the follow-
ing gallerics aud rooms are the dies of historical medals, with
the busts of Diane de Poitiers, Henry 1V., Marie Thércse of
Austria, Louis XIV., etc. In the last room, a glass stand con-
tains prize medals, another opposite, Masonic counters, and
the presses contain dics of the Restoration, the time of Louis
Philippe, and the present reign. One of the presses is partly
filled with specimens of mineralogy, and metals in their re-
fined state. A very copious and learned catalogue is published
of the whole, with detailed descriptions of the medals, priceonly
3 francs. Medals of which the diesareretained aresold to visitors
for the benefit of the establishment at a trifling cost ; but of the
coins of which only one specimen cxists, or of whichthe dies are
lost, casts exactly resembling the originals are exhibited in the
cases of the museum, the originalsbeingcarefully preserved but
not shown to the public. In this Hotel are performedall the ope-
rations of coining, besides the assaying and stamping of the gold
and silver for jewellers, &c., who are obliged by law to have
every article stamped beforc it can be sold. It is also the
seat of the general administration of the coinage of the State.

The Laboratory of the Mint is entered from the court to
theleft. In the first room are two stecam-engines of 32 horse-
power, by which all the machinery of the establishment is
worked. A door to the left leads hence to the furnace-room,
with six furnaces containing from 800 1o 1200 kilogrammes of
silver each. The bars cast here in iron moulds are afterwards
taken to the grand atelier, a lofty hall, where 16 rollers are
in constant motion, flattening the bars to the required thick-
ness, according to the coin they are intended for. After this
process, the bars, which have acquired greater length and
compactness by successive rolling, are taken to another furnace~
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room adjoining to the first, where they are exposed to a red
heat, to render them more malleable. Thence they pass into
the hands of the cutters, who are accommodated in a gallery
running all round the top of the grand atelier. Here round
pieces of the required size are cut out of the bars by machinery,
and what remains of the bars is taken back to the melting-
furnaces. The pieces are now weighed; if too light, they are
sent down to be melted; if too heavy, they are reduced by
a sort of plane. This machine is 80 constructed as to throw
aside the piece as soon asit has undergone the process of plan-
ing, so that il only requires fceding. “When the pieces prove
of the standard weight, they are taken to a room communicat-
ing with the gallery, where, after being exposed to a red
heat, they are cleansed in a mixture of water and sulphuric
acid. They are now reduced fo the exact diameter required,
by the action of a machine which at the same time gives a
slight clevation to the rim. The floors of the grand atelier
and of the gallery are latticed, so that a piece falling down
camnot roll away or stick to the shoes of a person trcading
upon it.  Gold is worked in another room adjoining the engine-
room; visitors are not allowed to enter, on account of the
small particles of gold with which the floor is strewed, and
which are carefully swept up; but the process is the same as
that described above. The coining-machines are ina hall op-
posite the principal cnirance in the first court. There are
eleven of these machines, viz. onc for gold, 6 for five-franc
pieces, 2 for two-franc picces, and 2 for small coin. When
they areall worked at once, they produce 1,500,000 fr. perday.
They are the invention of M. Thonnelicr, and well deserve
inspection. Each strikes ofl 70 pieces per minute (see p. 14).

‘The museum is open to the public on Tuesdays and Fridays
from 12 to 3. To visit the laboratory and ateliers, visivule on
Fridays from 12 Lo 3, apply for a special ticket to M. le Pré-
sident de la Commission des Monnaics et Médailles, Hotel
des Monnaies. To the west stands

The Parars pE v’InstiTuT.—This edifice, originally built
under the provisions of Cardinal Mazarin’s will, for the Col-
lége des Quatre Nations, to which natives of Roussillon,
Pignerol, Alsace, and Flanders, were alone admissible,
was commenced in 1661, after the designs of Levau, and
now conlains two distinct cstablmhmonts, the szlwtheque
Muzarine, and the Institut de France. The front forms the
concave segment of a circle, terminated at the extremities by
projecting pavnhons, with open arcades in the basements. In
the centre is the front of the church (now the hall where the
public meetings are held), composed of four Corinthian co-
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lumns surmounted by a pediment. Above the front rises an
attic, surmounted by a dome. The first court is octagonal and
has two Corinthian pavilions. The eastern one contains the

Bibliothéque Mazarine, — Cardinal Mazarin possessed a
library, formed by the celebrated Gabriel Naudé, who col-
Jected the most scarce and curious books in France and foreign
countries. It consisted of 40,000 volumes, which, in 1652,
were sold by a decree of the Parlement de Paris. To repair
this loss, Naudé, aided by Lapoteric, bought up for the Cardinal
a great number of the works which had fallen into the hands of
bookscllers and private individuals. This second library Maza-
rin bequeathed to his College, together with 2,000,000 livres
for the building, and a yearly revenue of 45,000 livres. The
library was subsequently enriched with those of Descordes,
and of Naudé, the latter of whom died in 1655, and thus the
present Bibliothéque Mazarine was formed. The manuscripts
were removed {c the royal library, but others have since heen
bought. Thecolicetion now amounts to about 120,000 printed
volumes, and 50,000 manuscripts. The library consists of an
octagonal ante-room, and a large gallery with two branches
turning at right angles, 190 feet by 24. Thebook-cases are
richly carved, and fronted with Corinthian columns support-
ing a gallery. The principal room, wherestudents are accom-
modated, occupies the site of the celebrated Tour de Nesle. (1)
It is adorned with many good marble and bronze busts, some
of which are antique. The visitor will remark those of
Mazarin and Racine, and the inkstand of the great Condé. 1t
possesses also a very fine terrestrial globe of copper, executed
for the Dauphin by the brothers Bergwin, under the direction
of Louis XVI.; the latter is even said to have worked at it
himself. It now bears the impression of a bullet with which
it was strack from the Louvre, defended by the Swiss guards,
during the revolution of 1830. There is also a curious col-
lection of models of Pelasgic monuments of ancient Greece,
comprising the Cyclopean walls of Mycene, &c. Specimens of
old printing and binding are also ¢xhibited in a glass stand,
execuled by the late M. Petit Radel. The library is open to
the public daily, except Sundays and festivals, from 10 to 3.

The Institut.—The western pavilion in the first court leads
to the Grand Hall, for the public sittings of this cclebrated
body. The hall is fitted up wilh henches forming a semi-
circle, in front of which are the seats and bureaux of the presi-
dent, secretarics, &c. It is adorned with marble statues of
Bossuet, Descartes, Fénelon, and Sully. The second court

(1) In 1842 and 1850, parts of the foundations of the Tour de
Nesle were discovered.
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contains the private buildings pertaining to the Institut. A
door to the left gives access to a double staircase leading to
the secretaries’ office on the first floor, and to the library and
hall for the weekly sittings, on the second. The Bibliothéque
de I'Institut, to which admission is only obtained through
introduction by a member, contains about 60,000 volumes,
including a large number of valuable oriental works, com-
plete series of the transactions of ncarlyall the learned societies
of the world, and numerous works on history and archeology.
The library is adorned with the celebrated marble statue of
Voltaire, by Pigalle. A vestibule, containing the busts of
some of the most dislinguished members of the Institute in
former days, separates the library from the Salle des Séances,
which is preceded by a waiting-room, of Ionic design. The
president’s chair occupies the centre of the Salle, which is
lit by five windows, and adorned with marble statues of
Racine, Corneille, Molicre, La Fontaine, Puget, and Poussin,
- in niches, and busts of Gros, Cuvier, Visconti, and La Place,
on brackets. On the walls are the portraits of David, Buffon,
Montesquieu, Grétry, Coulomb, d’Alembert, J. Goujon, La-
voisier, Lagrange, Audran, Voltaire, Turgot, Fénélon, Boileau,
Ph. Delorme, Barthélémy, Rousseau, and Fermat. The frieze
below these portraits bears the names of poets and other ce-
lebrated men. Continuous tables, with chairs for the mem-
bers, occupy the floor on both sides of the president’s chair,
opposite which there stands another table for strangers, who have
previously inscribed their names at the secretaries’ office, for
the purpose of reading extracts from original and unpublished
essays on various subjects. Along the walls there are benches
for the public, those in the centre being reserved for reporters.
For information respecting the Institute, its Academies and the
days of their meetings, see p. 90. On public occasions the
members of the Instilute wear a costume of black, embroi-
dered with olive leaves in green silk. To obtain tickets of
admission to the annual meetings apply at the office of the
Secretary of the Institute, at least one month beforehand.
The lickets are for one person. Opposite is the
PonT pES ARTs.—This bridge, for foot-passengers only,
takes its name from the Louvre, once called Palais des Arts.
It is composed of 8 arches of wrought iron, with a wooden
platform. Each of the first 7 arches is 56 feet, the 8th 84,
the length of the bridge is 488, and the breadth 30. It was
finished, in 1804, at a cost of 900,000fr.
The stranger now emiers the Quai Malaquais, called in 1631
after Queen Marguerite, the first consort of Henry IV., the
palace of that princess-being then at the corner of the rue de
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Seine. Here the visitorwill be struck with alarge new building
of monumental design, containing the exhibition rooms of the

Parals ANp EcoLE pEs BEAUX ARTs.—This school, reorga-
nised by an Imperial decree of Nov. 13th, 1863, iz now ad-
ministered by a Director appointed for five years, and a Su-
perior Council of Instruction composed of the Superintendent
of Fine Arts, two painters, two sculptors, two architects, one
engraver, and five other members. Eight professors respec-
tively teach the history of art and esthetics, anatomy, per-
spective, mathematics, descriptive geometry, the natural
sciences, practical architecture, and archaology. There are
three class-rooms for painting, three for sculpture, three for
architecture, onc for plate-engraving, and one for engraving
medals, all superintended by eleven professors. Pupils are
admitted between the ages of 15 and 25. An annual compe-
tition takes place for the Grand Prix de Rome, the successful
candidates, who need not be pupils of the school, but must be
French subjects, and not older than 25, being sent to Rome
and maintained there at the expense of the Government for
four years (engravers only for three). They are bound to
stay at Rome two years; the rest of the time they may
employ in travelling for their instruction. Only one prize is
awarded for each section; and an exhibition of the works
of the students here, as well as of those sent by the stu-
dents al Rome, takes place every year in September. (See
page 100.) This establishment was first called Musée des
Monuments Francais, being chiefly composed of monuments
of the middle ages, saved by M. Alexandre Lenoir from the fury
of the first revolution. Most of these were restored to the
churches by the Restoration, when the present building was
commenced in 1820 by M. Duban, at a cost of 3,515,907fr.
It now contains many valuable monuments of ancient and
- modern art, and has lately received a considerable collection
of plaster casts of statucs and bas-reliefs discovered in Greece
by M. Charles Lenormant.

The new building above alluded to contains, as the inscrip-
tion on its front denotes, the exhibition rooms of the Ecole,
Externally its designis elegant. Marble slabs in the wall bear
the words Peinture, Sculpture, Architecture. The entrance
hall is specially set apart for the works sent by the students
at Rome. From this, a double-branched staircase, fronted by
two marble Corinthian columns, leads to the exhibition room
of the prize works exccuted by the pupils in Paris. It
occupies the whole length of the building. Its extremities
are curved, and the walls are adorned with the names of the
great artists of ancient and modern times. The first landing-
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place in front of the entrance ushers us into the great hall, a
splendid saloon rising to theroof of the edifice, and lighted by
a spacious skylight, supported by the two lateral inclined
planes which form part of the ceiling, and are decorated with
12 large frescoes, by Sigalon and Boucotran, representing
severally the Persian, Cumean, Erythrzan, Libyan, and
Delphic Sibyls, and the prophets Daniel, Isaiah, Zachariah,
Jonah, Joel, Ezekiel, and Jeremiah. = Fronting the semicular
recess at the further end of the room, a balcony opens into
it from the landing-place of the first floor, whence a good
view may be obtained of the whole.

In the rue Bonaparie we find the principal entrance to the
Palais des Beaux Arts, which we will now describe.

Courts.—There are two courls in front of the palace, se-
parated by a dwarf wall and open iron-work. The first is
entered through a gateway adorned with busts of Poussin gnd
Pujet. The court is flanked by two buildings of Ionic design ;
the northern one contains the offices of the Director and two
amphitheatres for students ; the southern one, which masks
part of the ancient buildings of the convent des Petits Au-
gustins, displays in ils intercolumniations the sculptured or-
naments of a door, and other interesting fragments of the
Hoétel de la Trémouille, or Maison de la Couronne d'Or, a
splendid specimen of the architecture of the 14th century, and
purchased in 1363 by the Duke of Orleans, brother to King
John. On the same wall there is a copy in mosaic of
Raphael’s picturc of God Dblessing the World, executed by
MM. Balze. Adjoining the porter’s lodge is the

Sixtine Chapel.—The front is formed of the portal of the
Chdteau d’Anet, built gn 1548 for Diana of Poitiers, by
Henry II. It has three ranges of coupled columus of the Do-
ric, Ionic, and Corinthian orders, and is adorned with bas-re-
liefs and statucs, the finest of which is a Cupid in the act of
stringing his bow. Over the top arch is this inscription :

Braes®o hee statuit pergrata Diana marito
Ul diuturna sui sinl monumenta viri.

The interior consists of a single nave, with an arched roof
strengthened with elegant tic-beams and king-posts. The
wainscoting which covers the walls at the entrance is the
same that adorned the chateau d’Anet. A screen, consisling
of an entablature supported by four columns of red marble, and
pilasters of the Corinthian order, separates the entrance from the
nave. At the cnd is a splendid copy of Michael Angelo’s Last
Judgment, by Sigalon, on canvas, occupying the whole wall. In
a side chapel to the left, are casts of the Moses of Michael An-
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gelo, and two tombs, by the same, one of which is the Tomb
of the Medici; and also a fine cast of the bronze gates, by
Ghiberti, of the Baptistery at Florence. The nave is now
used as a repository for plaster casts. The 12 pendentives here
are copies from Michacl Angelo’s frescos in the Sixtine Chapel
at Rome.

Returning to the court, the visiter will observe in the
centre a Corinthian colamn of red marble, on the top-of
which is the figure of an angel in bronze, one of several
saved from a group, pillaged by the mob from the tomb
of Cardinal Mazarin. Immediately behind it is the beau-
tiful front of a chatean erccted at Gaillon in 1500 by
Cardinal d’Amboise, and transported thence by M. Le-
noir. Its western surface is studded with brackets sup-
porting antique statues, and medallions. The second court
18 semi-elliptical, and fronted by the palace, 240 feet in length
by 60 in height, consisting of two lateral pavilions connected
by a central Corinthian facade, picrced with 11 arched win-
dows, and surmounted by an attic. The pavilions have plain
Corinthian pilasters with square-headed niches.  In front, on
either side of the entrance, are pedestals with ten marble sta-
tues, the work of as many Irench artists studying at Rome.
The court is flanked by two arched screens, the one to the
left florid Saxon, with three arches; the opposite one
with four; the two central oncs supported by a colossal pen-
dant keystone, the whole in the style of the time of Francis 1.
Beyond this, in a garden, is a fountain, surmounted by four
figures sculptured by Paolo Poncio. Underneath is an escut-
cheon by Jean Goujon, and two scated figures by Germain
Pilon. On the walls of the court, forming the curves, are spe-
cimens of old architectural and sculptural fragments, of which
the following merit attention : a bas-relief of 1440; marble
medallions with the heads of Titus, Vespasian, Claudius, and
Galba; two antique lions, and a shield of metal walled in,
and embossed with mythological subjects. Opposite the en-
trance to the palace are two Discoboli, copied in marble from
the antique. In the court is a curious monolith basin of the
13th century, brought from the Abbey of St. Denis, 12 feet
in diameter, and ornamented with quaint heads of Ceres,
Bacchus, Pan, Neptune, Avarice, and various animals.

Interior.—In the spacious Corinthian vestibule are stair-
cases right and left leading to the upper storics. Next is
a rectangular court, where the visitor will read in gilt letters :

Inceptum a Ludovice XVIII,
Ludovicus Philippus peregit monumentum anno MDCCCXXXVIll.
Underneath are medallions with the portrails of Leo X. and
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Francis 1., the restorers of the arts; and facing them are corre-
sponding likenesses of Pericles and Augustus. Round the walls
are engraved the namesof famous artists of all countries, such as
Michael Angelo, Ini%o Jones, &c. On the walls to theright and
left are fragments of antique tombs, &c., also a curious bas-
relief, representing a sacrifice. There are also statucs of Cupid
and Psyche, by Cavelier; the Venus Pudica, by Vilain; and,
in the centre, Mars in repose, by Godde. On the opposite
side is the entrance to what is properly the Ecole des
Beauwn-Arts. The galleries on the ground floor contain
casts and copies of architecture from the antique, separaled
into three divisions; one for Grecian, the second for Roman;
and the third for the arts of Europe in general during the
middle ages. The amphitheatre for the distribution of
prizes, &c., on the western side of the inner court, is semi-
circular, and, besides richly gilt compartments in the cupola,
contains one of the finest productions of modern art, by Dela-
roche, representing groups of the most celebrated artists of
every age and country, assembled and presided by Zeuxis,
Phidias, and Apelles, for the purpose of awarding prizes lo
successful competitors. It contains 75 figures, of which 70
are those of artists. One of the female figures, arrayed in a
green mantle, is the portrait of the gifted author’s wife. (1)
From the ample amphitheatre the visitor is conducted to the
Salle Louis X‘; V, containing the first part of a series of por-
traits of the most eminent members of the Academy, amongst
whom arc Vanloo, Servandoni, Lemoine, &c. Here also we
see part of a remarkable collection of models of roofing, and
also of Egyptian, Grecian, and Roman art, executed in cork
or rlaster in the proportion of 1 to 100. The rest-of the
collection is not visible at present. The two angels on the
chimney-piece are by Germain Pilon. A gallery, filled with
busts, leads hence to the Salle du Consei%, where the series
of portraits is continued; it. contains besides 8 chandeliers of
wood, carved and gilt, oncethe property of the old church (now
demolished) of Ste. Geneviéve; also two candelabra modelled
upon originals found at Pompeii, and marble busts of academi-
cians. Passing through a corridor, painted with copies of
arabesques from the Vatican, we enter the Gallery of Prizes,
divided into three parts by two partitions with Doric pilasters,
and lit by seven arched windows. The walls are adorned with
the pictures that have gained the grand prizes. Here may be

(1) He is said to have occupied three years and a half in exe-
cuting this work, and to have received 80,000 fr. for it. It was
considerably injured by a fire which broke out in the amphithea-
tre in 1855, but has since been successfully restored.
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seen the prize-works of the most eminent artists, such as Fra-
gonard, David, Ingres, Heim, Hesse, Pujol, &c. The collec-
tion begins with a painting by Natoire, of the year 1721.
The Library, a room lit by 11 windows, is not shown to
vigitors. Admission on application at the porter’s, from 10
to 4. A fee is expected.

In the rue des Marais, not far from this palace, No. 21,
is the house where Racine died, in 1699, and Adrienne
Lecouvreur, in 1730. At No. 24, rue des Saints Péres, is the

EcoLE pES PONTS ET CHAUSSEES, established in 1747, and
enlarged in 1784. It possesses a rich collection of plans,
maps, and models, relative to civil engineering, as also a good
library. The present building, consisting of a Doric entrance
between two lateral pavilions, dates from 1845. Strangers
are not generally admitted, but a special order may, though
with difficulty, be obtained for the purpose, on applying b
letter, post-paid, to M. le Secrétaire du Conseil Général (%
VEcole des Ponts ct Chausseées, at the School (see p. 99).

The stranger, entering the Quai Vollaire, will find the

PoNT DU CARROUSEL, or DES SAINTS PERES, a most elegant
bridge of three iron arches, of 47 metres span, resting on stone
piers. It was built by M. Polonceau, in 1834. The arches,
consisting of five ribs between each couple of piers, connected
with the upper bars by decreasing circular hoops,areformed of
hollow pieces containingwood and pitch. It cost 1,030,0001r.
It extremities are adorned with four seated statues of stone on
pedestals, by Petitot, representing, on the side towards the
Tuileries, Industry and Abundance; on the other, the Seine
and Paris.

At No. 1, rue de Beaune, on this quay, is the hotel in
which Voltaire resided for some time previous to his death,
and where he died. His nephew, M. de Villette, kept his
apartment -closed afterwards, as did also Mme. de Montmo-
rency, the next proprietor of the house, so that it remained
anopened for forty-seven years. On this quay are numerous
* shops of dealers-in prints, articles of vertu, and second-
hand books.

FIFTEENTE WALK.

This comprises the 6th and f4th arrondissements. The
MARCHE ST. GERMAIN, builf in the year 1811, by Blondel,
‘on the spol Where the Foire St. Germasn used to be held,
is a parallelogram, 276 _feel in. length, by.225 in.breadth,
1t contains: nearly four hundred stalls, -
: : 7}
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Not far from this is the church of

Sr. Surpice,—a splendid structure, designed by Levau, and
begun in 1655, when the first stone was laid by Anne of Aus-
tria, but not finished until 1742, when funds were raised hy
the reclor, Languet de Gergy, for the purpose, by means of
a lotlery. Servandoni finished the magnifigent front in 1745;
the two steeples were raised by Maclauren, in 1749 ; the nor-
thern onc was altered and finished by Chalgrin,in 1777.

Exterior.—The portico is composed of a double range of
Doric columns, 40 feet in height, and is approached by a flight
of steps which are intersected by the plinths of each couple.
It supports a gallery and colonnade of the Ionic order, front-
ing an arched gallery, with columns 38 feel in height; above
was a pediment, destroyed by lightning in 1779, and now
replaced by a balustrade. Under the porlico are three en-
trances, with niches between, and seven alti-rilievi above,
illustrative of the cardinal virtues. The principal entrance
is flanked with statues of Sts. Peter and Paul, by Emile
Thomas. The ceiling is in compartments, exquisifely sculp-
tured.  The summit of the northern tower is 210 feet high.
The towers consist of four stories each, but are not perfectly
symmetrical. The southern one, distinguished by two
rows of columns of the Doric and lonic orders, is ornamented
with statues of St. John and St. Joseph; that of the north
presents the Composite and Corinthian orders, with statues of
St. Peter and St. Paul. 1t has three bells, of 12,500, 8,500,
and 1,800 Ibs. respectively. The back of the churchis ellip-
tical, with an overhanging semicircular turret; slender turrets,
conlaining winding stairs, flank the body of the choir. The
plan of the building is cruciform; its total length 432, its
breadth 174, and its height 99 feet.

Interior.—Aisles surround both nave and choi , and cha-
pels correspond to each arcade. The pilasters are Corinthian ;
the vaulted roof of the choir is elaborately ornamented with
scroll-work. At the entrance of the nave are two shells of the
largest tridachna gigas known, resting upon curious rock-
work in marble, exccuted by Pigalle; they were given to
Francis 1. by the Republic of Venice. The pulpit is orna-
mented with figures of Faith, Hope, and Charity. The organ-
gallery rests on twelve Composite columns. The organ, by
Clicquot, is richly carved, presenting seventeen figures playing
on musical instruments or supporting cornucopice, amf is the
finest in exterior of any in Paris. The principal figure
is King David. On the pavement of the transept is a
meridian line traced -by Lemonnier in 1743, and continued
along an obelisk of white marble, in the northern transept.
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The rays of the sun, passing through an aperture in a metal
plate. in the window of the southern’ transept, forin upon
the pavement a luminous circle, about 103 inches in dia-
meter, which moves across the line, and al noon is bisccted
by it. The ceiling of the cross contains four good paint-
ings of sainls in medallions; and undernealh, at the
entrance of the choir, slands the bigh altar, decorated with
a profusion of splendidly-gilt ornaments, and separated from
the nave by a balustrade of bronze and marble. It has a
bas-relief in bronze: Christ preaching in the Temple, Lhe
work of M. Choiselin. The candelabra are of exquisile
workmanship. The following is a description of the chapels,
beginning from the right on entering.—1st chapel, painted by
Delacroix: In the cupola: the Archangel crushing the Evil
One; on the walls, Balthazar driven from the temple by
angels ; Jacob wrestling with the Angel.—2d, painted in
fresco by Heim, with the Consolation in Death, the Efficacy of
prayers for the Dead, and the Father, Son, and Virgin Mary,
in the ceiling.—3d. St. Roch praying for the cessation of the
pestilence; his Death, his Apotheosis, on the ceiling  In Lhe
spandrils of the arches are the personifications of the cilies of
Rome, Piacenza, Cesena, and Acquapendente, all admirable
frescoes, by Abel de Pujol.—41h, painted in fresco by Vinchon,
with passages of the life of St. Maurice. In the ceiling are
angels bearing the crowns of martyrdom, and in the penden-
tives, figures of Religion, Forlitude, Hope, and Charity. On
the altar is a marble statue of St. Maurice.—5th. A marble
monument to Languet de Gergy. The prelate is seen kneeling
on a sarcophagus, whilst an angel chases death from his side.
The stained glass in the window of this chapel represents the
Eucharist. In the transept : St. Gregory and the miraculous
rag. (1) DBeyond the transept is, 6th. The sacristy, fifted
up with richly-carved wainscoling.—7th. St. Denis preach-
ing, and his martyrdom, by Jobbé-Duval.—8th and 9th.
(provisionally closed.)—10th. The Virgin learning lo read;
St. Peter healing the lame man, by Palliere.—( (th. The
Lady Chapel, behind the choir, which is entirely en-
crusted with marble and adorned with the most gorgeous
sculpture and gilding. The altar is Corinthian; the marble
slatue of the Virgin with the Infant, the work of Pigalle, stands
in a recess lighted from above. The chapel has a double dome,

(1) Ambassadors having been sent to him with a request to
send their master some relic, he gave them an old rag. The
ambassadors. looking rather blank at this odd presen!, le slit
the rag with a knife, when lo, drops of hlood issued from the’
rent. The ambassadors, of course, went away quite delighted.
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the upper one painted in fresco by Lemoine, representing the
Ascension of Christ. On the walls are four paintings, the An-
nunciation, Visitation, Birth of the Saviour, and Presentation in
the Temple, by Vanloo.—12th. St. Louis praying, by Drolling;
St. Fiacre refusing the crown of Scotland, by Dejuinne.—13th.
(provisionally closed.)—14th. St. Charles Borromeo relieving
the plague-stricken at Milan, by Granger; the Marriage of the
Virgin, by A. Pereda (1640).—15th. St. John the Evangelist
carried in triumph by his followers, and his martyrdom, by
Glaize.—16th. The baptismal chapel. In the left transept
we see Jesus with the woman of Samaria, the death of Sap-
phira, by Picot ; Joseph conducting Christ, by Rémond ;
and Jesus raising Jairus’s daughter. The 17th chapel has some
rich carving, by Brun.—i18th. St. Vincent de Paule ha-
ranguing the sisters of Charity in favour of foundlings;
the same assisting Louis XIII. in his last moments; frescoes,
by Guillemot. There is also a splendid marble group of St.
Vincent de Paule with foundlings, by Cabuchot. In the ceiling
is the Apotheosis of that saint.—19th. The Conversion of St.
Paul, and his announcement of the Resurrection before the
Areopagus; 1wo frescoes painied by Drolling. The ceiling re-
presents the apotheosis of the saint.—21st. Si. Francis de
Sales preaching, and the same instituting the Order of  the
Visitation ; his apotheosis in the cciling ; all by Hesse.—22d.
St. Xavier reviving a corpse in the presence of idolatrous
savages; his burial and apotheosis, by Lafon. On the piers of
the choir and transepls are statues of the twelve apostles, on
brackets; and, on cach side of the choir, the angels of Sacred
Eloquence and® Martyrdom, by Desheeufs and Drotz. Old
and modern stained glass of great merit adorns the windows
of this church. The upper gallery is worth visiting. (1)
Fronting this church is the :

FoNTAINE DE ST. SuLpick.—The Place St. Sulpice, first pro-
jected by Servandoni, was formed in 1754 at the peace of
‘Amiens, the fountain which is now in the Marché St. Germain
was placed there by order of Napoleon. The present fountain,
by Visconti, consists of three concentric octagonal basins in-
tersected by sculptured plinths. From the centre of the upper-
most rises a quadrangular body, flanked with fluted Corinthian
pilasters, between which are circular niches filled with the
statues of Fénelon, Bossuet, Fléchier, and Massillon. The
water issues from four vasesinto the uppermost basin, and
four recumbent lions grace the intermediate one.

Aflower-market isheld on this place Tuesdays and Saturdays.

(1) A calorifere exploded in this.church Jan. 8th, 1858, kidling
three persons and severely wounding five more. -
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On the southern side stands the Séminaire de St. Sulpice,
a large plain building, erected in 1820, which contains atheo-
Jogical library of 20,000 vols. (See p. 113.)

West of the fountain, is the Mairie of the 6th arron-
dissement. ‘The ground floor is Doric; the upper slory Corin-
thian, surmounted by asmall campanile and clock.

In the rue Garancicre, No. 8, is a fine hotel, formerly be-
longing to the Duchess of Savoy. The front is adorned with
a range of Ionic pilasters, with boldly-projecting rams’ heads,
instead of volutes. In the same strect is a fountain, erected
in 1715, by Anne of Bavaria, widow of the Prince of Condé.

Opposite this street stands the

PETIT LUXEMBOURG.—This hotel, which is a dependency of
the palace of the Luxembourg (sce p. 374,) was commenced
about 1629 by Richelieu, who resided in it while the Palais
Royal was building. His niece, the Duchess d’Aiguillon, to
whom he afterwards presented it, left it to Ilenry-Jules de
Bourbon Condé, after whose death Aune of Bavaria, his
widow, occupied and repaired it. Under the Directory, four
of the directors inhabited it, the fifth living in the Luxem-
bourg. Bonaparte resided here six months, beforc he romoved
to the Tuileries. It was afterwards the residence of the Chan-
cellor of France, asPresident of the Chamber of Peers. In 1848
the Tribunal des Conflits used to hold ils sittings in this pa-
Jace, and it is now the residence of the president of the Se-
nate. At the western end is a chapel, built by Mr. Gisors on
the site of one belonging to the ancient cloister of the I%élles
du Calvaire, the ruins of which were brought to light in 1848
by the demolition of a small prison attached to this hotel, for
prisoners under trial by the Court of Peers. (1) The present
chapel (inaugurated Dec. 5th, 1855) is in the style of
the 15th century, with a square tower facing the rue de
Vaugirard, and a pedimented front and niches facing the
garden of the Luxembourg. A cloister extends from it, en-
closing a square.

Turning to the left inté the rue de Vaugirard, we find, at
the corner of the rue de Condé, the site of a house once in-
habited by the poet Clément Marot. Further on is the Théatre
de P0déon (see Theatres). Returning a few steps, and turn-
ing into the rue de Tournon, we perceive the old hotel of
Concino Concini, Marshal d’Ancre, now converted into bar-
racks. When pillaged by the populace in 1617, upwards of
600,000fr. worth of jewels fell into their hands. Louis XIII.

(1) The ministers of Charles X., and afterwards Lecomte and
Henry, who attempted the life of Louis Philippe, were confined
1n this prison.
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lived in it for some time. But the chief point of interest
here is the

PALACE oF THE LUXEMBOURG. (1)—Upon the site of this.
palacc Robert de Harlay de Sancy erccted a large house, sur-
rounded by gardens, in the wlh century. This mansion was
purchased and enlarged, in 1583, by the Duke d’Epinay-
Lwvembourrs Marie de Mdédicis bong.hl it for 90,000 fr.
in 1619, when the present palace was built, by h(queq Des-
Drosses, upon the model of the Pitti pala(-e at ¥Florence. 1t

was then called by her name.  On being bequeathed to
Gaston de France, Duke of Orleans, her secon(] son, it as-
sumed the name of Palais d’Orléans 1t was afterwards ceded,
for 500,000 livres, to. Anne Marie Louise d’Orléans, Duchess
de Montpensier; and in 1672 to Elisabeth d’Orléans, Duchess
de Guise and d’Alencon, who, in 1694, sold it to Louis
XIV. Afterwards it was inhabited by the Duchess of Bruns-
wick, and by Madame @’Orléans, queen-dowager of Spain,
on whose death Louis XVI. gave it to his brother,
afterwards Louis  XVIIL, who occupied it till he left
France, in June 1791. Durlng the first years of the first
revolution it was converted into a prison. In 1795 the
sittings of the Directory were held there, and it was then called
Palais du Directoire. When Bonaparte came into power, it
was al (irst devoted to the sittings of the consuls, and received
the name of Palais du Consulat, and, shortly after, that of
Palais du Sénat Conservateur. This senate held its sittings
there Ll its dissolution in 1814, when the Chamber of Peers
was created.  In March and April 1848 Louis Blanc held
his socialist mecetings of workmen there. In the subsequent
month of May, the Executive Commission occupied it during
its ephemeral existence. DPrivale authorised societies were
aflerwards permitied occasionally to hold extraordinary publie
sittmgs in the late Chamber of Peers, and since 185 it has
resumed its old destination and name of Palais du Sénat. (2)

Exterior.—The edifice is remarkable for the beauly of its
proportions. and its solidity. The court forms a parallelo-
gram of 360 feet, by 300. The front towards tho rue de
Vaugirard consists of two large pavilions, connceted toge-
ther by terraces, in the centre of which rises a cupola, sur-
rounded with statues. This fronl is connected with the prin-

(1) For a more defailed account, and interesting ancedotes
conneeted with this palace, sce istory of PARIS, 3 vols. 8vo.,
published hy Messrs. Galignani and Co.

{2} Al the close of the session of 1847 the number of peers was
305, The present number of Senators is 150, exclusive of the
Princes of the Blood, Cardinals, and Archbishops.
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cipal pile of building, by two arcaded corridors. Four large
square pavilions terminate the angles of the main building,
which consists of a raised ground-floor, an upper story, and
.itic. A new building entirely screens the lower and partiall
theupper portion of the back of the original edifice.  The clocl
pavilion is ornamented with allegorical figures, 8 feet high, of
Eloquence, Justice, Wisdom, Prudence, War, andPeace, by Pra-
dier. The clock (by Lepaute), is surmounted by twoGenii, and a
figure of Fame in bas-relief. Thelower story is decoraled with
bossaged Tuscan pilasters, the sccond with Doric, and the
third with Tonic pilasters. The grand staircase is lonic.

Interior.—On entering the apartments now occupied by
the Senate, the first room, called Salle des Gardes, is adorned
with statues of Aristides, Cincinnatus, Cicero, Leonidas, Solon,
by Roland, and Dericles, by Masson. Next follows the
Salle d’Attente, where a pedestal, formerly adorned with
the statue of the late Duke of Orleans, now bears the
statue of Julius Cewsar, of bronze and marhle, brought here
from the Louvre. The ceiling, by Jadin, represenls Aurora.
There are, besides, statues of Iope and Perseus, Achilles and
Briscis, by Pollet, and busts of Lally Tollendal, Siméon, and
Cuvier. The walls of the adjoining Salon de I Empereur are
decorated with paintings representing : Charles 1X. receiving
the keys.of Paris from I'Hopital, who refuses his consent to
the massacre of St. Bartholomew, by Caminade; St. Louis, by
Tlandrin; the Duke of Guise (Le Balafré) proposing the League
to Harlay, by Vinchon; Louis XIII. and Richelieu, by Ca-
banel, and Charlemagne dictating the Capitularies, by Bou-
chot. Here is also a full-length statue of the Emperor, in
white marble, by Jaley. The ceiling, by Decaisne, repre-
sents Union, Force, and Abundance ; and, in a small medal-
lion, a portrait of the Duc de Reichstadt. Next follows the
tasteful and magnificent

Salle du Tréne, an immense ball, formed out of the old
salle of that name, the old Salle du Sénat, and the Salle des
Conférences. This splendid saloon is gorgeously gilt and
sculptured ; the three ceilings belonging to the old Salles ahove
mentioned, are now amalgamaled into one, terminating in
hemicycles, with a cupola in the centre, and charged with
twooctagonal compartmentsand eight medallions. The throne,
occupying the central wall to the right, where the old Salle du
Sénat was, is decorated with an unsparing hand ; il consisisof
a canopy supported by six caryatides, standing on a platform
ascended by four steps, the whole profusely carved and gilt.
To follow the order in which the visitor is conducted, we
shall first describe the paintings at the end nearest the en-



376 FIFTEENTH WALK.

trance, viz. Napoleon 1. elected Emperor, by Signol; the
signing of the Concordat, by Hesse; the forty flags taken
at Austerlitz displayed before Napoleon I., by Phélippoteaux ;
Napoleon I. at the Invalides, by Couderc. The subject of the
hemicycle at the end, represents the history of French civili-
zation, from the defeat of Attila by Aetius, down to the se-
cond race of kings. Both this and the opposite hemicycle,
which continues the same subject down to Louis XIV., are
by Lehmann. The octagons and medallions, painted by
Brune, represent Pacific and Warlike France; manufactures,
electricity, &c. The central compartment represents the
Corps Legislatif. The ceiling of the central cupola, by
Alaux, represents the triumph of universal suffrage: the
number 7,500,000 on the urn expresses the votes given to
the present Emperor. At the corners of this part of the
saloon are four marble statues by Duret. A door to the right
will lead the visitor into the elegant Galerie des Bustes, which
runs parallel lo the Salle du Trdne, and is filled with busts
of the great generals and statesmen of the first Empire, such
as Jourdan, Macdonald, the Cardinal de Belloy, etc. The ceil-
ing is by Vauchelet. We now enter the

Salle du Sénat, destroyed by fire October 28, 1859, but
now restored to its former state . 1). The hall is semicircular,
ninety-two feet in diameter, and covered by an hemispherical
vault, painted by Abel de Pujol, in compartments, containing
allegories of Law, Justice, Wisdom, and Patriotism. The
ceiling is supported by eighteen Composite columns. In a
semicircular recess are the seats of the President and Secre-
taries, approached by steps.  Eight composite columns sup-
port the cupola of this recess, and, between them, on plinths,
are the statues of Turgot, d’Aguesseau, L’Hopital, Colbert,
Mathieu Molé, Malesherbes, and Portalis. In fron. of the
galleries are busts of Marshals Masséna, Lannes, Gouvion St.
Cyr, and Mortier. On each side of the recess are large pic-
tures representing Louis XI. with the Dauphin receiving the
Deputies of Paris, and Philippe de Valois congratulated by
the Peers on the reforms he had introduced, both by Blondel.
At the corners of the Salle, in elevated niches, are the statues
of Charlemagne and St. Louis, in a sitting posture. The
desks of the stenographers stand near the seats of the senators,
who gre at present 165 in number.  Prince Napoleon’s seat
is the first of the boltom row near the entrance 1o the right;
next follow those of the Cardinals and Marshals. Opposite,
and in a row in front of the President’s chair, there are seven

(1) The fire fortunately did not extend to the archives, the
library, or the Salle du Trdne, all of which were in denger.
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seats for the Minister of State, the President of the Council
of State, and the Councillors appointed to support the mea-
sures proposed by Government. The sittings of the Senate
are not public. .

We now re-enter the Galerie des Bustes at the other end,
similar to that already seen, and thence pass to the other ex-
tremity of the Salle du Trone. The central compartment of
the ceiling on this side, by Brune, represents the completion
of the Louvre. The other paintings on this side are: the
Return of the Pope to Rome in 1849, by Benouville; Na-
poleon III. visiting the works of the New Louvre, by Gosse ;
the Distribution of the Eagles in the Champ de Mars in 1852,
by Pils; the Senate proclaiming the Empire, by Couderc.

Adjoining the Salle du Trone there is on this side, to the
right, the Cabinet de I’Empereur, a room of simple design.
The paintings here represent- Napoleon III. returning from
St. Cloud, by Couderc, and the Marriage of the present
Empress, by Fleury ; Napoleon I. signing the Peace of Cam-~
poformio, by Brisset; and the 18th Brumaire, by Vinchon.
On the mantelpiece is a bust of the present Emperor in
porcelain, by Gille. In the adjoining Salle des Cent Gardes
there is a marble statue of Jeanne Hachette, by Bonassieux (1).
On descending to the ground floor by the Escalier privé de
U’Empercur, we find to our right the

Chambres de Marie de Médicis, originally three rooms, the
first of which was used by that princess as a chapel, but has
now been partitioned off to make a porter’s lodge. The first
room we enter now was the Salle d’attente, now containing
nothing but the present Emperor’s bust. Adjoining is the
Chambre & coucher de Marie de Médicis, a splendid
apartment, decorated in the sumptuous style of her time.
The arm-chairs now in this chamber were used at the.corona-~
tion of Napoleon. The panels are all richly gilt and painted in
compartments, four by Philippe de Champagne, and four by
Nicholas Poussin. The centre of the ceiling represents Marie
de Médicis, by Rubens, and eight square compartments which
it contains are by Philippe de Champagne. Those to the right
are family-portraits of the house of Médicis; those o the left, of

(4) The visilor may here endeavour to obtain access {o the
Library, which is not open to the public. 1tis a splendid gal-
lery extending the whole length of the garden front, and con-
tains 40,000 volumes, including the journals and reports of the
House of Lords. 1In the centre of the gallery is a hemicycle and
cupola painted by Delacroix, represeniing, the Elysium of great
men as we find it described by Dante. The poet is conducted
by Virgil, who presents him {o Homer, Horace, elc, Aroundthe
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that of Henry IV. There are also four paintings by Rubens in
this room. The scroll-work on the walls is exceedingly delicate
and beautiful. The furniture of the period has - been
repaired, and placed here; it is gold and crimson velvet.
Al the revolution of 1789 the panelling and paintings were
taken down and concealed, but were replaced in 1817. In
the case of marriages of senators or their daughters, the
parties meet in these rooms to sign the contract. Returning
to the vestibule, we now enter the

Chapel of the Palace.—A parallelogram 69 feet by 20, of
rich Doric design, and receiving light from the court through
four windows. The vaullis divided into compartments deco-
rated and gilt in the richest style.  The circular compartments
representing the four Evangelists, and the cight medallions
representing angels, each holding an instrument of the Passion,
are by Vauchelet. Opposile the windows are four large
paintings by Gigoux, representing the apostle Philip, St. Louis
pardoning traitors, St. Louis in Palestine, and the Marriage of
the Virgin; and behind the high altar is an immense fresco
by Abel de Pujol, represenling the Throne of God (Rev. iv.),
Behind the altar, fronting the back entrance, we see an Adora-
tion of the Shepherds, by Simon White, an-American artist,
In a niche in the wall opposite the altar is an admirable group
of an Angel and two children, by Jaley; and the holy water
basins are allached to richly sculplured marble pedestals, sur-
mounted by angels.  Private mass is performed here daily.

Gallery of Modern Art.—In the buildings on the eastern
side of the courts is the gallery for paintings, formed by order
of Marie de Mddicis, and at first composed_ of twenty-four large
pictures, by Rubens, representing the allegorical history of
that queen. It was afterwards increased by several pictures
cupola are Alexander, Achilles, Pyrrhus, Hannibal, Cucsar,
Marcus Aurclius, Sorrales, Plato, Orphens, Hesiod, and Sappho.
The five compartmen{s of the ceiling to the left of the cupola,
by Riesner, repreaent the Gospel, Law, History, Philosophy, and
Poetry 3 those to the right, by Roqueplan, represent Industry,
Military Genius, Eloquence, Polilical Scicnee, and Mathematics,
Al the exfremities of the library are statues of Montesquieu, by
Nanteuil, and Etieune Pasquier, hy Foyatier. Inciveular niches
are four allegorical statues by Simart and Deshoeufs, repre-
senting Musie, Fhilosophy, History, and Sciences 5 also busts of
Rarbé Marbois, Fonlanes. Cuvier, the Dukes of Albufera, de la
Rochefoucaull, and Richelicu ; Marshals Macdonald, Maison, and
Jourdain; Marquis de la Place, Lally Tollendal, and the Chan-
cetlor d’Ambray. The adjoining reading-room was decorated
by Messrs. Boulanger, Scheffer, and Picot. There are two alle~
gorical stalues by M. Jouffroy, and one of Gouvion St. Cyr,
M. Seurrve.
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which belonged to the queen-dowager of Spain, and by others
from the king’s cabinet. The gallery was long neglected, and
about the ycar 1780 the paintings‘were removed to form the
museum of the Louvre. The pictures were brought back
when the victories of Napoleon Lad filled the Louvre with the
finest works of art in Europe, but were again removed there
in 1815. The public are admitted to the gallery by a glass
door within the railing of the garden at the north- eastern end.
The first suite consists of a long gallery with a room at each
extremity, and contains the choicest works of Eugine Dela-
croix, Rosa Bonheur, Couture, C. L. Muller, Cogniet, Court,
&ec. Changes are conlinually taking place in the arrangement
of this gallery, in consequence of the rule which orders the
works of cach artist, on his deeease, to be removed to the
Louvre. The ceiling of the Long Gallery is painted by Jordaens
in i2 compartments, representing the signs of the zodiac; the
Rising of Aurora, in the centre, is by Callet.  The room at
the further end is enriched with Duret’s well-known statues
of Neapolitan villagers, in bronze. Returning to the Long
Gallery, a side door opposite the entrance leads through a
covered passage on the terrace to a rotunda, containing various
groups and statues, both marble and bronze, by some of the
best modern- sculptors. Beyond this there are five rooms,
one of which, to the right on entering, exclusively contains
paintings by M. Ingres, and his cartoons of the subjects which
decorate the windows of the chapels of Dreux and St. Ferdi-
nand. In the entrance-room therc is a fine marble bust of
Father Ventura by Oliva, and in the first room to the left a
painting of the Batile of the Alina by Lami. The other pic-
tures are described in the Catalogue, sold on the spot. From
the last of the suite a fine view is oblained of the grand staircase
of the palace.

The Gallery of Paintings is open to the public on Sundays,
and on allother days, except Mondays, from 12to4. The aparl-
ments and chapel are visible daily.

Garden .—The garden was first planted by Desbrosses, at
the time of the crection of the palace. In 1792, the finest
trees were cut down, with the intention of building cafés, ball-
rooms, &c., and establishing a fair, but the ground thus
cleared remained waste till 1801. Sincc then great improve-
ments have been made in this garden. Its general plan
consists of a central part, composed of an octagonal basin
sarrounded with grass-plots, skirted hy flower-heds, and
flanked right and left with clevated balustraded terraces shaded
with fine chestnut groves. Spacious flights of stairs descend
from the terraces into the central part, which is decorated with
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numerous marble statues, chiefly copies from the antique,
such as the Diana Venatrix and the Athlete. Facing the
palace is Archidamus, by Lemaire, and around the semi-
circular paths, right and left, we sec Hippomenes, by Ottin ;
Vulcan, by Bridan (1771) ; the Seasons, Minerva, etc. The
chestnut groves above mentioned are skirted with the fol-
lowing statues, beginning from the east :—1. Bathilde, wife of
ClovisIl., by Thérasse ; 2. Bertrada, wifeof Pepin le Bref, by
Oudiné ; 3. Queen Hudrogote, by Elshoect ; 4. Ste. Genevicve,
by Mercier; 5. Marie Stuart, by Maindron; 6. Jeanne d’Albret,
by Briau; 7. Clémence Isaure, by Préault; 8. Mlle. de Mont-
pensier, by Demesma{; ‘9. Louise de Savoie, by Clésinger;
10. Jeanne d’Arc, by Rude. On the opposite terrace, begin-
ning from the south, are the following : 11. Laure de Noves,
by Ottin; 12. Maric de Médicis, by Caillouette; 13. Mar-
guerite de Valois, by Lescorné; 14. Valeniine de Milan, by
Huguenin; 15. Anne de Beaujeu, by Gatteaux; 16. Blanche
de Castille, by Dumont; 17. Anne d’Autriche, by Ramus;
18. Anne de Bretagne, by Debay; 19. Marguerite de Pro-
vence, by Husson; 20. Queen Clotilde. by Klagmann. The
eastern side of the garden has becn encroached upon by the
Boulevard de Sébastopol and the ruc de Médicis. Its chief
ornament now is a fountain built by Catherine de Medicis,
after the designs of Desbrosses ; its niche is adorned with a
group representing Polyphemus discovering Acis and Galatea.
On the side facing the street, there is a bas-relief, by Valois,
representing Jupiter and Leda. In the adjoining grass-plot
stands a beautiful marble group, by Garrand, of Cain and his
family after the death of Abel. From the central part of the
garden a wide avenue extends to the Boulevard de Mont Par-
nasse. On the opposite side is the Pépiniére du Luxen.”’ ourg, an
immense nursery-ground, laid out in pretty walks, where the
stranger will find a marble statue of Lesueur, by Husson. The
western grove of chestnut trees, adjoining, is interspersed with
cafés and kiosks, where the daily papers may be read; and
further north is a large orangery, surrounded by walks,
shrubberies, and flower-beds, bordering on the Petit Luxem-
bourg (see p. 373.) In this orangery M. Rivier, the head
gardener, gives gratuitous lectures on pruning and grafting.
There is alsoa collection of about 500 different kinds of vine,
brought from foreign countries ; likewise a model apiary,
lectures being given here annually by M. Hamet on the rearing
of bees. Nine gates afford access to this beautiful garden, which
has a handsome railing on the side of the rue de Vaugirard.
The garden is 919 metres long by 570 in breadth. The area is
340,064 square metres. It is open from daybreak to dusk.
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_Close by the western gate of the Luxembourg, in the rue de
Fleurus, is the small Thédtre du Luxembourg (see p. 471).

The rue de Madame leads to the rue de Vaugirard, where
we see to our left, at No. 70, the

CONVENT DES CARMELITES, now a convent of Dominicai
friats. M. Lacordaire, the celebrated preacher, belonged to this
brotherhood. Part of the ancient house, with the Chapel, is
still appropriated to religious purposes; the rest is occupied by
private tenants. The chapel, dedicated to St. Joseph, is cruci-
form and of the Tuscan order, without aisles. The foundation
stone was laid in 1613, by Marie de Médicis. The dome, painted
by Flamel, represents Elijah in his flaming car; the altar has
Corinthian pillars of black marble. The altar-piece represents
the Death of St. Joseph. Under the communion table is an
ancient alto-rilievo, in white marble, representing the Last
Supper. A bas-relief, in gilt bronze, representing the Circum-
cision. is under the altar table of the left transepl. . The
chapels are adorned with scroll-work and old paintings, and
the first to the left is decorated with a ceiling in fresco, repre-
senting St. Camillus. In the following one there are some old
paintings, illustrating scveral legends of saints, revived. It
was in this convent the massacres began in Paris, in September,
1792. Ilundreds of pricsts, imprisoned here, were murdered.
The heart of Archbishop Affre is also preserved in this convent
(see p.281). The well-known Eau de Mélisse and the Blanc
des Carmes are still sold here.

At No. 39, rue du Cherche-Midi, we see the Hétel de Tou-
louse, where courts-martial are held. The building opposite
is a military prison. .

Returning to the rue de Vaugirard, the visitor will find, at
No: 109, a new Communal School, both for children and
adults. The facadeis adorned with a fine bas-refief, by Millet,
representing Paris affording instruction to childhood.

Next door to this, at No. 111, there is an immense reser-
voir, which receives water from the basin of la Villelte and the
Artesian well of Grenelle, and supplies the faubourg St. Ger-
main. It contains 216,000 cubic feet of water.

On the Boulevard Montparnasse, -lo our left, so called from
its having been in the olden time a favourite place of resort of
the students of the University, who used there {o indulge
in reading verses, spouting Latin, and other academical
pastimes, is the |

WESTERN RAILWAY Terminus, a vast and elegant building,
facing the rue de Rennes, which is.to be continued to the
Seine. The terminus occupies 216,000 square metres. . The
front consists of two pavilions connected by-a portico of 7.
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arches, over which are seen the gables of the arrival and
departure sheds.

Nearly opposite this, No. 25, was the house of Marshal
Turenune. . .

In the rue de Rennes there stands a small Gothic chapel,
built of wood rendered incombustible by a chemical process.
It is soon to be rebuilt of slone.

Striking into the ruc Notre Dame des Champs, the visilor
will see, at No. 22, the Collige Stanislas (see p. 98,) and
further on, at No. 51, a splendid Gothic building, still in pro-
gress, intended for a new hospice. Continuingalong the same
street, he will reach the Boulevard de Schastopol, which
skirts the garden of the Luxembourg, and will lead him to
the Jardin Botanique de UEcole de Médecine, now in a
piteous state, but which will soon be again stocked with
medicinal plants. Open from May 1 to Aug. 31, from 6 to 10
A.M., and from 3 to 7 P.M., except on Sundays and Fétes.

Lower down in the rue d’Enfer, at No. 30, is the

EcoLE IMPERIALE DES MINES, and Mineralogical Museum.
~—This magnificent hotel, formerly ‘called Hdtel de Venddme,
was built in 1707, by a society of Carthusian monks, and
afterwards purchased by the Duchess of Vendome. The insti-
tution to which it is now appropriated was projected by Car-
dinal de Fleury, and commenced in 1783, but was not
definitively organized until 1816. Part of this vast building
has now been reconstructed, to make room for the Boule-
vard. Its front is plain, but tasteful ; a spacious court, en-
tered by a handsome railing, gives access to it. The professors
and directors of the school reside in the house. The entrance
room on the first floor contains a large skeleton of the Ichthyo-
saurus. To the right we find the staircase, the ceilings of
which are adorned with paintings by the late Abel de Pujol.
The first ceiling on the ground floor represents Wisdom hold-
ing out ker torch, while the Scicnces are listening to her
words. The walls are covered with landscapes illustrating
various geological formations, by Hugard. The ceiling above
is divided into threc compartments: the 1st represents France
seeking improvement through Geology and Steam; the 2nd,
Glory awarding crowns to the most distinguished men of
science of France, from Descartes down to Cuvier; the 3rd,
Mineralogy and Chemistry. We now enler 13 large rooms,
containing a magnificent collection of minerals of all countries,
including that of HHauy, removed hither from the Hotel des Mon-
naies. Beginning from the furthest room to the right on entering,
the minerals of France are arranged according to the depart-
ments in alphabetical order, in presses, while the stands con-
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tain minerals of all countries scientifically classified. In a
room adjoining to the first is a collection of the mineral pro-
ductions of the French colonies. A series of ground and po-
lished jaspers and agates are adjusted in the window panes of
the 7th roon, o show their transparency. A lateral room con-
tains some geological spccimens ; but the principal geological
collection, comprising that'of the Paris Basin formed by MM.
Cuvier and Brongniart, occupies six large rooms on the 2d
floor, accessible by a staircase in the 4th room to the right,
where a complete series of fossil bones, zoophytes, am-
monites, &c. will be found. Models in relief of Mount Etna,
by M. ﬁlie de Beaumont,- and of Mount Vesuvius, by M. Du-
frénoy, will attract particular attention. Therc are also
four rooms filled with models of the various machines
used in mining, smelting furnaces, specimens of timber,
optical instruments, a plan in relief of the valley of Cha-
mouny, and a model of the gallerics of tho coal-pits of La
Grande Croix, in the department of the Loire. The first floor
also contains an assay office, which is not public, and on the
ground floor are laboratories, lecture-rooms, the council-cham-
ber, and the library, which contains 6,000 volumes. About
250,000 specimens are’ contained in the museum, which is
open daily with passport, and to the public on Tuesdays,
Thursdays, and Saturdays, from 11 fo 3. The library is
open daily to students and strangers, on application. Gratuit-
ous public lectures are delivered here on geology and minera-
logy during five months of the year (see p.:99).

In the ruc Monsieur le Prince, at No. 22, is the house for-
merly helonging to Jean Goujon, with his bust flanked by two
figures in alto-rilievo, representing Painting and Sculpture.

In the rue Racine, is a reservoir supplied with water from the
basin de la Villette, for the quartier St. Jacques.

The adjoining portion of the Boulevard de Sébastopol, to
the right, cxtends over the classical ground of the old col-
leges, such as those of Narbonne and Bayeux, now swept
away. To the right is the

Lycge St. Louis.—A college was founded on this spot as
early as 1280, by Raoul d’Harcourt, canon of Notre Dame,
from whom it took the name of Collége d’Harcourt. The
principal mass of the present building was begun in 1814, and
the college opened in 1820 ; but the whole front facing the
Boulevard is now being rebuilt with a monumental facade (sce
P- 98). Nearly opposite is the

COLLEGE DE LA SORBONNE—Duilt on the Place of the same
name, where a celebrated school was founded by Robert Sor-
bon, in 1253, for a society of ecclesiastics, who might devote



384 FIPTEENTH WALK,

themselves exclusively to study and gratuitous teaching. The
‘fame of this institution, which became the head of the Uni-
versitz of Paris, and conferred such renown on the Gallican
church, is well known. The Collége du Plessis became
absorbed in it; and in 1629, Cardinal Richelieu, who had
graduated there, laid the firsL stone of the present build-
ings, to which considérable additions, comprising a surface
of 5,260 metres, are now being made, with a princ-
pal front in the rue des Ecoles, the first stone of which
‘was laid on the 14th of August, 1855. The total surface
occupied by the Sorbonne is now 12,000 metres. The old
buildings enclose a wide quadrangular court. For a list of the
lectures delivered here gratuitously, apply at the porter’s
lodge (see p. 94).—The library, now called Bibliothéque de
U’ Université de France, consists of 80,000 volumes, and is
open daily from 10 to 3, and in the evening from 7 {ill 10,
festivals excepted. Vacation from July 11 to Aug. 25.

The Church, begnn in 1635, after the designs of Lemercier,
'was finished in 1659. Towards the street is a pedimented
front of two stories with Corinthian columns below and Com-
gosite pilasters above. Between the latter is a clock flanked

y two colossal figures in bas-relief. Behind the pediment
Tises a magnificent dome, on a drum with buttresses adorned
‘with clustered Composite pilasters, bearing statues on their
entablature;-it is crowned with a balcony, lantern, and cross.
“Towards the court is a fine Corinthian portico of bold propor-
tions, with six columns in front, and four within, resting on a
flight of steps, aid supporting a triangular pediment. The in-
‘terior is cruciform, of the Corinthian order, with chapels.
‘The dome is painled in medallions and compartments with
:angels, emblems of religion, &c., and the pendentives with
‘Sts. Ambrose, Gregory, Jerome, and Augustin. The medal-
lions are by Philippe de Champagne. An oil paint™ig by M.
'Hesse, of Roberl Sorbon presenting his theological pupils to St.
‘Louis, deserves attention. Above the arches and in the stained
‘glass of spme.of the windows are the arms of Cardinal de Riche--
Tieu, and in lhe right transept is his celebrated tomb, the chef-d’-
«euvre of Girardon, executed in 1694, (1) and one of the finest
‘pieces of sculptire of the 17th century. The statue of the car-
'dinal, in a reclining posture, issustained by Religion holding the
ook which he composed in her defence. Near her are two

(1) During the revolution of 1789, the tomb of Cardinal Riche-
Tieu, like others, was desecrated, and his head paraded through
the streets on a pike. M. Arnmiez, father of the deputy under
Louis Philippe, got possession of it, and bequeathed it to his son,
‘who, however, was afterwards compelled to give it up.
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_genii, who support the arms of the Cardinal. At the opposite

extremity is a woman in tears, who represents Science deplor-
g the loss of her protector. The two figures of Science and
Religion are portraits of the Duchesses of Guyon and Fronsac,
nieces to the Cardinal. In the chapel to the right of the altar
-3 a monument, to the Duc de Richelieu, minister under Louis
XVIII., partly executed by the late M. Ramey, but, unfortu-
nately, the finishing of this monument fell toless skilful hands.
The Duke is represented in his dying moments, supported by
Religion. The best part of the monument is the plain marble
basement. In the windows of the transept are St. Louis and
St. Ursula in stained glass. Few buildings in Paris suffered
more during the revolution of 1789, than the church of the
Sorbonne. It was repaired by Napoleon I. After the Restora-
tion it wasused as a lecture-room of the School of Law ; but, in
1825, it was restored to divine worship. It is open daily
from 8 o 10 a.m. ; at a later hour the interior is shown by
the porter for a small fee.

Descending the rue de la Sorbonne, the visitor will enter
the new Rue des Ecoles, the ground of which was onece
occupied by a temple of Bacchus,.and, at a later period, by
the church of St. Benoit, suppressed in 1791, (1) Opposite
the rue de la Sorhonne is the

"HoTeL DE CLUNY, 14, rue des Mathurins, certainly one of
the finest remains of the ancient mansions of Paris of the 16th
century. It was begun, on‘part of the ruins of the Palais des
Thermes, by Jean de Bourbon, abbot of Cluny, ahout 1480;
after his death, his successor, Jacques d’Amboisc, continued it
in 1490, and it was finished in 1505. This most interesting
mansion was inhabited in 1515, by Mary, sister of Henry VIII.
of Englahd,” and widow of Louis XII., after the death of hér
husband. ° Her- bed-chamber ‘is :still -called -Chgmbre de la

. Reine Blanche, it being the -custom. of the Quegns of France
to -wear, white mourning.- In 1536, James'V. of-Scotland-
celebrated his, marriage here with Madeleine, -daughter of
Francis T.* In 1565 it served as a refuge to the- Cardinal de
Lorraine, the Duke of Guise his nephew, and the Duke-of Au-
male; in 1695 the Abbeéss of  Port'Royal @iid” her nans took
possession -of i¢3-from 1579 10- 1584 it belonged to-a'troop of
comedians; and ‘the Section of Marat eld its sittings-in it in
1793. At length,after having sueccessively passed through
. the hanids of a physician'and a bookseller;-it came into the pos-
session of M. du Sommerard, a learned gngd enthusiastic an-

(1) .The line of the Boulevard de Sébastopol on this side of the
river, entirely coincidgs with the old Roman road ‘which led
to' Orleans, then called Genabum, v . C

el BT il - gg
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tiquarian, who formed ‘here a valuable collection of objects of
art of the middle ages, which his heirs sold to Government in
1843 for 500,000 fr., the hotel included. Since then, it has
been formed into a national museum of antiquities (1). The
Gothic turrets and richly ornamented dormar windows are the
most striking features of this remarkable building. The turret
in the court, which contains a staircase, was used as an ob-
servatory by Delisle, Lalande, Bochart de¢ Saron, and De Mes-
sier. The escutclicon of Jacques d’Amboisé is visible above
the gate, apd the hotel has been completely insulated by the
demolition of the adjoining houses (2).

Interior.—The entrance to the museams is by the tower
om the right. The first room contains plaster-casts, rilievos,
mosaics, &c. In the second room, a colossal white marble
chimney-piece, with a basso-rilievo of Christ and the Sama-
ritan, and the two canopied stalls, marked 532 and 537, de-
serve attention. This and the next two rooms contain re-
markable specimens of stained glass, triptychs, carved furni-
tare of the 16th and 17th centuries, church ornaments and gar-
menis, &c. In the 2d and 3rd room glass stands contain
Roman and Gallic antiquities found at Beauvais, as also some
of those flint hatchets and arrow-heads dug up at St. Acheul,
Abbeville, and considered by many geologisls as sufficient
svidenoe of the existence of man many ages before the histo-
rical times. The stands in the 4th room display various em-
broidered stuffs of the 15th and 16th cenluries. In the 5th
room there is some fine Beauvais tapestry, and a stall from the
ohurch of Angerolles, elaborately carved, of the 15th cen-
tury. A passage, in which the visilor will remark some
purious carvings and embroidery, and fragments of mural

aintings of the 9th céntury, leads to the Ancienne Salle des
ghmm, a lofty hall, built on the foundations of an old one,
which threatened ruin. Here are exposed to vie ten speci-
amens of beautiful Flemish tapestry, seven of ‘which illustratc
the history of David antl Bathsheba. The variéus biblical

represented in them are dressed in the costume of
m These -valuable relics were once the property of
the marquises of Spinola, of Genoa. In the centre of this
reom is & pedlestal with a marble group of the three Falcs;
also a Neapolitan car of the 17th century, and a sedan-chair
of the time of Louis XV., both elegantly decorated ; in the

" (§) See an essay by M. du Sommerard, on the Holel de Cluny.
‘shall frequently refer in our description to the catalogue,

#e D¢ had on the spot.

,‘Mo Dnew streat thus formed lies on the site of one of old
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corners there are glass presses filled with ecclesiastical attire
of various periods, and behind the pedestal, a stand, with the
remains of the crozier and vestments of a bishop of the 12th
century. Returning to the passage, a wooden staircase,
bearing the arms and initials of Henry IV., and transported
hither from the Palais de Justice, leads to the second story
of the Hotel ; the entrance-room of which has a balcony
opening into the hall described above, and contains, besides
various weapons, suits of armour and scveral carved chests of
curious workmanship. This room gives access to two different
suites; that to the right consists of three rooms, containing va-
luable Flemish tapestry and old furniture, ancicut crockery,
terra-cotta, enamels, pieces of Luca della Robbia and Bernard
de Palissy, and old glass. Returning to the entrance-room, the
firat room of the front suite contains, No. 541, an ancient bed,
profusely carved, said to have belonged to Francis 1., when
Duke of Valois. In-the stands we see some valuable MSS.,
musical instruments, caskets, and tapestry. In the 2d room,
named after M. du Sommerard, we find some beautiful ivory
triptychs, a chessboard of rock-crystal, etc..; also several
splendid ebomy presses among which is one, No. 594, sent
from Spain by Admiral Nelsen to a cabinet-maker, named
Faivret, at Paris, to be repaired. ‘In the 3d room, a series of
minute statues of the kings of France, claim particular attention.
The glass-stands contain valuable old jewelry and small articles
of apparel. lu the 4th room the stranger will see an altar-
screen of pure gold, a gift of Henry II., Emperor of Ger-
many, to the cathedral of Basle. In a corner stands a trip-
tych, brought hither from the church of Bomarsund. The
faces of the figures it contains are painted, and appear through
apertures eut in thin gilt brass leaves, which cover the restof the
surface. In the centre is a glass-stand, containing curious
ostensories, embossed dishes, a night-cap formerly worn by
Charles V., and eight crowns of gold, richly ornamented with
sapphires and pearls, which were found at La Fuente de Guar-
razar, near Toledo, the capital of the Gothic kings of Spain.
One bears the name of King Recesvinthus (A.p. 849—672).
Another bears a striking resemblance to-the crown of Queen
Theodelinda, preserved at Monza. The six others, being
smaller, appear to have belonged to the king’s children.
The 5th amf last room, recently opened, contains about 400
specimens of old Rouen pottery of the last century, purchased
of M. Lewel, a distinguished sculptor. The superior execu-
tion and fantastic but tasteful shapes of many of the speci-
mous preserved “here will attract- attention. Returning to
the first room of this suite, we find, on the right hand, the
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Chambre de la Retrie Blanche, alluded to above, containing
‘valuable pictures and bas-teliefs, among which we may men-
‘tion No. 759, by Primaticclo, representing Love and Diane de
‘Poitiers as Venus, and No. 722, Mary Magdalen at Marseilles,
‘painted by king René of Provence. Nos, 2824.and 2825 are
‘two Italian spinets of the 16th century. This room leads
to the chapel, an extraordinary monument. The ceil-
‘ing is supported in the middle by an octagonal pillar, and
‘is loaded with tracery. The chapel receives light from
two single pointed windows flanking a recess, in which
are three double windows with tracery. Here are sacred
rutensils, crosses, &c., a remarkable reading-desk, a baptis-
‘mal fount of the 15th.century, and an altar-piece, carved in
‘thrée compartments, representing Abraham and Melchisedek,
‘the mass of St. Gregory, and the Last Supper. From the
<hapel a winding staircase of singular workmanship descends
into an open vestibule, comunicatin® with the garden and
«ourt leading to the
PaLais pEs THERMES, once the residence of the Roman
gowernor of Gaul, as well as of the kings of the first and
rsecond races. It wasin this palace Julian had fixed his re-
‘Sitlence when he was Xroclaimed emperor by his troops in
360. (1) It is mentioned by Ammianus Marcellinus, and by
‘Gregory of Tours. A deed of 1138 styles it by the name
‘it still bears (2.) The only perfect part of this palace
remaining is'a vast hall, with a vaulted ceiling. It was
‘formerly the frigidarium, or chamber for cold baths. Its
«dimensions are : length 65 feet, breadth 45, and altitude 54.
In alarge rectangular recess to the right on entering is the pis-
«<cina or cistern, 32 feet long by 18 in breadth; its bottom
s apout % feetlower than the present floor of the frigidarium.
(1) During the late demalitions in the rue’ des Mathurins, a
Roman altar was digcovered, from which it @ppears that this
" -palace was buill by Constantius, and not by Julian as had been
«erroncously supposed. The inscription on the altar was as fol-
Jows : Hoc quod .erexit atrium virtus Constantit, D."Solis ornav.
walt, R.virtus Juliani Cesaris. . P -,
2) It was bounded fowards the east by-a Roman road, now
" the rue St. Jacques, which, at the.river side, was guarded by a
strong tower, The garden -of- the-palace exiended on the west
*. asfar‘as the Abbey of St. Germain des.Prés, which was built at
‘the south-west corner of the enclosure, and a straight line, run-
‘ning from the abbey tothe river; determined the westernboun-
“dgry of the garden, .also terminated by a tower. Where the
: xlnthenn'nbw stands, there was an amphitheatré. Anaqueduct
-Rungls; two leaéueu beyopd Arcueil (see p. 495), has been
#raced -under the Palais des Thermes.. It funs from north to
#oith, and is 2 feet wide by § % in depth. - o
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In the wall opposite to the piscina are three miches with.re~
mains of water-pipes, formerly communicating with a. sub-—
terranean conduit, partly discovered in 1857, for carrying off’
t'.c waste water to theriver. The masonry of this hall is com-
posed of alternate rows of squared stones and bricks, covered in.
some places with a coat of stuccofour or five inches thich. The
thickness of the walls is surprising. Fromthishall a small roem,.
giving access to the cellars (which cannot be visited witheut,
a guide, who receives a small fee), leads to the tepidarium,.
or chamber for warm baths, now entirely divested of its vaulted:
roof. Here the nichesin which the bathing-tubs were placed,
are still visible; at the furthest end, next to a flight of steps
leading to the rue de la Harpe is the hypocaustum, a low
vaulted chamber which contained the apparatus for warming
water. This interesting monument of antiquity had long
been used as a workshop, and, after passing through various
hands, was purchased by the municipality of Paris, and an
opening made to connect it with the Hotel de Cluny. The still
existing hall is now filled with the relics. of Roman sculpture
dug up in Paris. It is roofed over in the Roman style ; the
ruins have been repaired, and are now surrounded with am
elegant railing, enclosing gardens 5000 square metres in sup-
face, fronting the Boulevard de Sebastopol, and the Boulevardi
St. Germain (see p. 393.) The northern garden, much
larger than the other, is decorated with various fragments
of old sculpture; such as the Evangelical emblems, the bull,
eagle, lion, and angel which formerly stood on the Tower of
St. Jacques de la Boucherie (see p. 242); the portal of the old
convent of St. Benoist, which gives access to the garden from
the hotel, and other objects of great interest to the antiquary.
Here is also the cross taken from the church of St. Viadimir,
at Sebastopol, sent by Marshal Pélissier.

The Musée des Thermes et de U'Hétel de Cluny, is opem
daily, Mondays excepted, from 11 to 4 )% p.m.; on Sundays
without, and on other days with tickets, for which apply to
Monsieur le Directeur du Musée des Thermes. '

M. Delalain’s premises, opposite, occupythe site of a house
formerly inbabited by Marshal de Catinat.

Proceeding northward along the Boulevard, we find, oppo-
site the Pont St. Michel (see p. 307), the beautiful

FoNTAINE ST. MicHEL.—This splendid monument, inau-
gurated Aug: 15th, 1860, was designed by M. Davioud, archi~
tect. Under a niche, in the centre of a rich Corinthian facade,
we see a bronze group, by Duret, of the Archangel crushing
the Demon. From the rock forming the basefnent, a sheet of
water gushes into five basing of different forms, the lowermost



3%0 PIFIRENTH WALK.

beipg semicirenlar, and niearly on a level with the grotmd.
These basins are flanked by two dragons spouting water into the
semicircular basin. The four columns which adorn the monu
ment are of red Languedoc marble, their bases and capitals of
white marble, and the basins and body of the edifice of St. Yilie
stone (Dep. of the Jura).  The entablature, richly sculptured
with Chimeras and other devices, is crowned with four bronze
statues of Prudence, Force, Justice, and Temperance, by MM.
Barre, Guillaume, Elias Robert and Guméry. Under the seg-
mental pediment, flanked by two eagles executed in lead, is
the following inseription : - .
FONTAINE SAINT-MICHEL.

S0US LE REGNE DE NAPOLEON 111, EMPEREUR DES FRANCAIS, CE MONU-]
MENT A ETE ELEVE PAR LA VILLE DE PARIS, L'AN MDCCCLX.

The attic is adorned with the monogram of St. Michael en-
circled with the collar of the order of that name. The whole
monument is 78 feet in height, and 45 in breadth; the group
of the Archangel is 163 feet, and the height of the columns
19. The four statues of the attic are 9 feet each. * The supply
of water is 23 litres(5 gallons) per second (1).

In the rue Hautefeuille, west of the Boulevard de Sébas-
topol, Nos. 5, 9, and 21 are remarkable for their old tur-
rets. At No. 30 was a convent of Praeinonstratensian monks.

In the rue de 'Ecole de Médecine, No. 5, is the Ecole Im-
périale Gratuite de Dessin, founded, in 1767, by M. Bachelier.
The court is in the Ionic style, and over the arched gateway
are caryatides in bas-relief (see p. 100). At No. 15, is the

Muske DupuYTREN.—This impottant pathological eollection
is due to the public-spirited and celebrated surgeon whose name
it bears. Dupuytren left 200,000 fr. for the establishment of &
professorship of pathological anatomy. At the suggestion of
M. Orfila, dean of the faculty, the council of the uuiversity
then granted a sum towards founding a museum of morbid
anatomy. The refectory of the ancient convent of the Corde-
liers was purchased and arranged for the purpose. The front
is Gothic, with an engaged octagonal turret flanking the gable.
In the vestibule is a bust of Dupuyliren, and in the centre of
the hall is a marble bust of Paré, by David. Admttance is

(i) At the corner of the rue de la Harpe, opposite the bridge,
there was formerly a fountain surmounted by an ill-formed
head, and built in commemoration of the treachery of Pé-
rinet le Clere, the son of one of the échevins de Paris, who
opened the gate of St, Germain, afterwards Porte de Buci (which
stood at the western end of the rue St. André des Arts), to the
forces of the Bowrguignons in 1418, in consequence of which the

Count of Armagnac was slain, and King Charles VI. unhappily
311 tuto the hands of the aggressors. .
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obtained by a small fee to the porter. The unprofessional vi-
sitor must expect to see many disgusting objects. For
particulars see p. 135.

fo the west in the same street is the

EcoLE bE MEDECINE, the seat of ihe Faculty of Medicine, in
the Academy of Paris.—Medical schools were first established
in Parisin 1469 ; and, in 1472-7, buildings for that purpose
were erected in the rue de la Bucherie. In 1618, an amphi-
theatre for anatomical demonstrations was built ; but, in 1776,
the faculty removed to an edifice in the tue St. Jean de Beau-
vais, formerly occupicd by the Faculty of Law. The first
stone of the present building, designed by Gondouin, was
laid by Louis XV., in 1769, on the site of the ancient Col-
Iége de Bourgogne; it was inaugurated in 1776, and is a speci«
men of elegant archilecture. The front towards the street is
198 feet in length ; the lateral wings are connected by a por-
tico formed of a double range of coupled Ionic columns, inter-
rupted by an arched entrance leading into a rectangular court,
and surmounted by a bas-relief representing Louis XV ., accom=
panied by Wisdom and Beneficence, granting privileges to the
School of Surgery, and the Genius of the Arts presenting to
the king a plan of the building. The courtis 66 feet by 96,
and is adorned with a bronze statue of Bichat, inaugurated in
1858. Al the bottom is a portico of six Corinthian columns,
surmounted by a pediment. The bas-relief of the tympanum
represents Theory and Practice joining hands on an altar.
The inner frieze of this' portico bears medallions with
the poriraits in bas-relief of Pitard de la Peyronnie,
Paré, Maréchal, and Petit. The semi-circular amphi-
thedtre, to which this portico leads, will contain 1,400
students. It is lithy a skiy;light, and contains a painting,
by Matout, representing Ambroise Paré practising for the first
time the ligature of an artery” after amputation. For a list
of the lectures delivered here, all of which are gratuitous,
see page 133 n. The external portico leads to the grand
staircase on the left. Beside it, is a plaster statue of Breschet
counting the pulsations of a youth, by David d’Angers. On
ascending the staircase, a door to the left leads to the Library,
a large room, with a circular skylight, containing 30,000 vo-
lumes, and open daily, Sundays and Thursdays excepted, to
students from (1 to 4, and to strangers by permission to-be
oblained at the Durcau. A door opposite to the staircase
leads to the Muscum of Comparative Anatomy, highly interest-
ing lo the professional visitor. The firstis a rectangular saloon
with an arched ceiling, 1it by skylights, and occupying the
whole length of the attic over the portico. A gallery running
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round it is ascended by a winding staircase in the centre. The
middle of the room is occupied by two rectangular railings,
containing skeletons of the larger amnimals, such as lions, la-
mas, &c. Beginning from the right below, is the anatomy
of the nervous system, in a great measure due to the practised
hand of M. Denonvilliers. A detailed exposition of the 5th pair
of nerves in the human head is truly astonishing for its exe-
cution. Next comes the muscular system of mamunifera, the
osteology of reptiles and birds ; a valuable series of phrenolo-
gical specimens, mostly consisting of the heads of criminals,
- among which, that of Fieschi, in a case next to the clock, dis-
playing the fracture he received from his own infernal ma-
chine. The osteology of the human skull is ingeniously exposed
by a combination of springs holding asunder the sutures, which
may be reconjoined at will. Dr.Dumoutier’s valuable phreno-
logical collection is now arranged here. Next is a series of
angiological specimens, injected. The general classification is
according to the system of Mandl. In the gallery above is a
series of embryology, &c. The eye, the organs of tasle and
smell, follow in succession. Here we find, in two gilt frames,
the dissection of the acoustic organ of the smaller mam-
-malia, due to the patience of the domor, Mr. Hyrtl, of
Vienna. Next come the digestive organs, exemplified in
the abdomens of various animals. The specimens of the lym-
phatic syslem are injected with mercury. The circulation of
the blood is exposed in specimens of various animals, and
great attention bas been paid to the study of the anatomy of
the human body by regions. Among the skeletons of nsects,
that of the Scarabeus Melolontha, consisting of 77 pieces, is
remarkable. A marble statue of Cuvier stands at the end of
the room. The greatest praise is due o (he late M. Orfila
for his exertions in forming and enriching this museum, which
is continued in the second room. In the third room, among
various specimens of natural history, will be scen, under a glass
bell, the model in wax of the dwarf Bébé, 20 inches high,
born in the Vosges, and attached to the service of Stanislas,
King of Poland; he died in 1764, aged nearly 25 years. Here
are also the organs of hearing, as magnified through a micro-
scope, and a collection of substances belonging to the ma-
teria medica, and mineralogy. In the fourth is a collection
of anatamical and surgical .instruments, filling 6 presses,
among which, in one next to the window, is the case of
instruments used for the autopsy of Napoleon, and a cabinet
of instruments of natural philosophy. This museum is not
open to the public, but-students are admitted daily, Sundays
and Thursdays excepted, between 11 and 4, on applying atthe



HOPITAL CLINIQUE. 393

Secretary’s office. Casual visitors are only admitted after 4
p. m. Afee is expected. The rest of the building conthinsrooms
for demonstration, a council-chamber, &c. (see p. 132.)
rhe library and museum are closed from Aug. 15 lo Nov. 15.

Opposite is the . - ’

HoriTAL CLINIQUE DE LA FACULTE DE MEDECINE, a handsome
building, founded on thesite of the cloister of the Cordeliers, and
containing about 120 beds. The hospital forms a square, with
a garden in the centre. The public is admitted on Thursdays
and Fridays, from 11 to 12 (secp. 1492).

At No. 20, ruc de I'cole de Médecine, in a back room,

" Charlotte Corday stabbed Marat, while in a bath, on the 13th
July, 1793. Turrgls will be observed at the corner of the
rue Larrey, and 22; rue de I'Ecole de Médecine. The latter
street leads into the rue de I’Ancienng Comédie, so called from
the Théitre Francais having been formerly located in it. The
theatre was about midway, opposite lo the Café I'rocope, which
was the resort of Voltaire and all the literary and dramatic
celebrities of that day.

At the corner of rue Mignon, the visitor will remark the
sculptured front of the ancient Collége Mignon, founded in
1343 by Jean Mignon, Archdeacon of Blois. It became na-
Lional property in 1790, and was occupied by the Archives of
the Royal Treasury in 1820. 1t is now a printing office.

Theruede I'Eperon and rue des Grands Augustins Tead to the

MARCHE DES AUGUSTINS, or A LA VOLAILLE, Quai des Au-
gustins.—This market for poultry, also called La Vallée, was
erected in 1810, upon the site of the church of the convent of
the Grands Auguslins, The length is 190 fect, and the breadth
141. The market days are Mondays, Fridays, and Saturdays ;
but since the opening of the new llalles (sec p. 243), none but
wholesale. dealings take place here.

 SIXTEENTE WALK.

This lies entirely within the 5th arrondissement. We
may commence it with the -

BouLEVARD ST, GERMAIN,—another of the great thorough-
fares cut through some of the worst quarters of Paris. It
extends from the Quai de la Tournelle to the ‘Boulevard de
Sébastopol (left bank), and is to be continued to the Fau-
bourg St. Germain, .

The Quai de la Tournelle owes its name to a large square
tower, which was situated near the bridge of that name, and
defended the passage of the river by means of a chain drawn
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acros¢ during the night, and fixed on the opposite bank
of the Ile-St. Louis to a similar tower. The Tournelle
was reconstructed by Henry IL in 1554, In 1632, St.
Vincent de Paule obtained permission from the King to
have the galley-slaves transported thither from the un-
healthy vaults-of the Conciergerie. It was used as a prison
until 1790, when it was demolished. The Porie St. Bernard,
connected with the enclosure built by Philip Augustus, stood
in close contact with the Tournclle. It was reconstructed
in 1606, and demolished in 1787.

Entering the Boulevard, we arrive at the rue du Cardinal
Lemoine, so called from a college of that name, founded in
1300, and_ the buildings of which are stild visible at No. 76,
rue St. Victor, which'we find to our left. The half-demolished
building which we sec at-the corner of the two above-men-
tioned streets is all that remains of the S¢minaire St. Firmin,
once inhabited by Calvin. It was suppressed in 1790, and
served as a prison during the reign of terror. A dreadful
massacre took place in it in the days of September, when
ninety-one priests were murdered. (1)

The barracks of fire-men, which we see at No. 24, rue de
Poissy, once formed part of the great convent of Bernardins,
built in 1244 by Stephen Lexington, Abbot of Clairvaux, to
enable his monks to study at the University of Paris. In 1320
the convent.was ceded to the Cistertians, in consequence of
which Benedict- XII., himself of that order, added a church to
that convent (2), on the site of which now slands the

ALLE AUX VEAUX, on the opposite side of the Boulevard.
Cows and calves are sold here on Tuesdays and Fridays ; the
stables are undetground. On other days it is a great mart
for rags and old iron.

In the rue de Pontoise, opposite this, we find, at No. 19,
the Fourriire, or pound, of the Prefecture of Police, for ve-
hicles, horses, and dogs (3.) Further on is a primary school,

(1) The following is the copy of a document referring to the
above :—*‘ The treasurer of {he commune is {0 pay to Gilbert
Petit 48 livres for the time employed by himself and three com-
rades in the .despatch of the priests. of Si. Firmin during two
days.—4th September, year 1V, of Liberty, and 1st of Equality,
pursuant to the requisition made to us by the section of Sans-
Culottes who set them to work.—Signed, Nicout, Jérdme Lamark,
commissioners.” At the back is the receipt, signed * G. Petit,
his Mark, X.” Most of the individuals employed did not know
how to write.

(s; 1t was declared national property in 1790.
l(ismbé)” are kept here for a week, and then killed, unless
claimed.
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with a haut-relief, representing Paris ukmg childhood under
its protection, and at No. 30 is the Seminaire de St. Nicholas
du Chardonnet, an establishment connected with the church of

St. NicoLAs pu CHARDONNET—a church built on the site of
a chapel erected in 1230 by Guillaume d’Auvergne ; its re-
construction was begun in 1656, and finished in 1709.
During the first revolution it was sold.as national property ;
but the purchaser not having paid the price, it returned to the
government, and was afterwards restored to public worship.
This church has no principal front, and has a mean-locking
entrance, masked by houses, in the rue St. Victor ; the west-
ern front consists of two stories, the lower Iouic, bearing a
triangular pediment, the upper Composite. The interior
is cruciform, with single aisles and a semicircular choir;
its pilasters are Corinthian, remarkable for the anomalous
absence of caulicles. The vaulting is semicircular, and
the windows. have circular arches. There i an unusual
number of good paintings to be found in this church;
they are as follows: 1st chapel, to the right on enter-
ing, the Baptism of Christ, hy Corot, and Christ healing
the Blind. 2d, Dream of St. Joseph, and the Annunciation.
3d, St. Nicholas receiving extreme unction, and the Mar-
tyrdom of St. Thecla. 4th, a Descent from the Cross, and a
Resurrection, both by Lebours. In the following transept is
the Communion chapel ; the altar piece is Christ with the two
Disciples at Emmaus, by Saurin ; and on either side, St. Paul
preaching, and St. Justin refusing to sacrifice to the Gods, both
hy Noel Coypel. Here is also a good old Ecce Homo. 5th,
Paul before Festus,and St. Charles Borromeo administering the
Eucharist to the plague-stricken at Milan, by Lebrun. 6th,
a fine portrait of St. Francis de Sales in a medallion sur-
mounting a handsome marble tomb, by Anguier and Girardon,
in memory of Jérome Bignon ; it bears the bust of the
latter, and is flanked by statues of Justice and Truth. On the
basement is St. Jerome striking his breast with a stone. 7th,
the Marriage of ‘the Virgin. 8th, the Apotheosis of St. The-
resa. 9th, the Apotheosis of Ste. Geneviéve, by Maison. . 10th,
(provisionally closed). 11th, St.Louis Gonzaga saying mass,
by Rochat; the Martyrdom of St. Clair. 12th, St. Charles
Borromeo praying. The ceiling is by Lebrun, and facing
the aisle is the monument to that artist, and another to
his mother. The former consists of a pyramid surmounted
by his bust, by Coysevox; at the base are two statues, Re-
ligion and the Fine Arts deploring his death. The latter, exe-
cuted by Tubi and Cottignon, after designs of Lebrun, re-
presents the deceased issuing from her tomb at the sound of
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the last trumpet; the angel is particularly admired. 13th,
The adoration of the Virgin and Child, by Bouterweck. 14th,
St. Bernard performing mass, by Lesueur. {5th, the palsied
man healed, by Sacquespée (1675). 16th, Western transept :
Christ raising the daughter of Jairus, by Vignaud. 17th, the
Good Samaritan. 18th, the Deliverance from Purgatory, and
a Mater Dolorosa. 191h, St. Catherine of the wheel, by Mar-
quet ; and the Baptism of Christ. Facing the right aisle is ‘the
Agony of Christ, by Destouches; and facing the left aisle, the
Martyrdom of St. Sebastian, by Dupuy. The organis hand-
some, adorned with statues and caryatides, and the choir is
richly decorated with marble. The remains of the poet- San-
teuil were removed to this church in 1818. (1) .

Crossing the Boulevard by the rue des Bernardins, we shall
find on the Quay, to our right, at No. 55, the

Hoétel de Nesmond, abuilding of the time of Henry 1V., and
close to it, at 47, the Pharmacie Centrale, formerly the Cou-~
vent des Miramiones, wherc the drugs and chemical pre- -
parations for the hospitals of Paris are kept and distributed.
Here are alsolarga ponds for experiments on the breeding of
leeches. Returning to the Boulevard, we find to our left ihe

MARCHE DES CARMES, or' DE LA PLACE MAUBERT, built in
1818, upon the site of the convent des Carmes.

The Place Maubert, opposite this market, was one of the
great strongholds of the insurgents of June.

The adjoining rue des Carmes contained -several old col-
leges, viz., those of St. Jean de Beawvais, de Presle (2),
des Lombards, and de Lizicur. The demolitions effected here
have brought the Gothic chapel of the College de Dormans-
Beauvais into view, the first stone of which was laid by
Charles V.'; it is to be restored to worship.

Entering the rue Galande, we find to our right the rue de
I'llotel Colbert. No. 20 is erroncously believed to have be-
longed to that statesman. The court contains some bas-reliefs
of the time and style of Jean Goujon.

At No. 13, in the adjoining rue de la Bucherie, is a small
building with a dome, formerly the School of Medicine.

The rue du Fouarre was once the most important street of
this. quarter, known by the name of the ¢ Quartier Latin.”
It contained several schools, - where public disputations were
held, and is supposed to have derived its name from straw

(1) He died at Dijon, in 4697, from having drunk a glass of
wine into which the Duc de Bourben, had, by way of a joke,
emptied the contents of his snuff~box.
mg)é P;ater Ramus was . assassinated there during the St. Bar-

141189 .
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spread on the ground for the scholars to seat themselves on;
The works of Dante, Petrarch, and Rabelais ¢ontain frequent
allusions to this street. Tn 1368 the statutes of the Collége
de Justice ordained that any bursar of 6 years’ standing, who
should have proved unable to sustain an argumentation in this
street, should be excluded from the college. In the same year
gates were placed at the extremities of this street.
The rue St. Sévérin leads to the church of
St. SEVERIN.—From an early period there existed here an
oratory and cells, where St. Severin, Bishop of Agaune, who
died in 530, conferred the monastic habit upon St. Cloud. In
the ninth century the Normans destroyed the monastery.
The present edifice dates from 1210. Its style is pointed, and
its pinnacled front, adorned with various tracery, deserves
attention. The tympanum of the porch bears a modern bas-
relief by Ramus, representing the Virgin and Saviour between
two angels in the act of adoration. Over the second entrance,
facing the rue St. Severin there is a fine bas-relief by Maillet,
representing St. Martin sharing his cloak with a mendicant.
The interior consists of a nave and choir, with double aisles.
A singular column with spiral cablings at the crown of the apsis
is worthy of notice. The mouldings, of the date 1347, as well
as the key-stones of the vaults, and the capitals are quaintly
enriched. Some fine stained glass remains in the choir, and
in the sacristy. The works of art in this church are as follows,
beginning from the aisle to the right:—1st chapel, for bap-
tisms, St. John the Baptist preaching, and the Saviour baptised,
frescoes, by Flandrin, jun.; 2d, Scenes from the lifc of the
Virgin, by Signol ; 3d, the Marriage of the Virgin and the
Flight into Egypt, by the same ; 4th, in the ogives, the Calling
of Andrew and Peter, and the Martyrdom of St. Andrew ; be-
low, Péter preaching, and the Imprisonment of thie Apostles at
Jerasalem. Fronting the arch, St.John the Baptist preach-
ing, all frescocs, by Schnetz. 5th, Sts. Peter and Paul in the
Mamertine prison; the -Conversion of Paul; Peter denying
‘Christ; Peter receiving the keys of paradise; all frescoes by
*Biennourry-; 6th, in“the ogivts, Jesus ‘and Mary Magdalehe
(St. John xx. 17), and'the Penjtent Magdalege. Bclow, Jesus
. at Cana, and Jesus rebuking Martha, frescoes by Muraf. 7th,
.in the ogives, the Calling of James and John, St. Jehn-writing
-the Apocalypse under- the inspiration of Ifeaven’;-bélow, his
Martyrdom _in a cauldron of boilipg oil, according fo a re-
-ceived legend; the Last Supper, .all frescoes by Flandrin.. 8th,
Ste. Genevieve distributing food to ‘the Parisians; tlie same
_* saint taking the veil, and St.’ Gérmain visiting the wounded
* on the field of battle, by Hesse.- 9th and 10th, -a double-
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chapel : St. Severin visiting Clodovech on his sick-bed; St.
Severin. receiving St. Cloud in his retreat, and, giving him the
monastic habit ; frescoes by Cornu. 11th, the Lady Cha-
&; it contains a beautiful marble statue of the Virgin and

ild, by Bridan, and a paintingof the same, by Bellet. 12th,
The Sermon on the Mount ; below, the Virgin and Child, by
YVon Holtorp. 14th, to the left, Belzunce, Bishop of Mar-
seilles, ing a vow for the cessation of the pestilence
which raged in that city in 1720 ; and, to the right, St. Je-
rome taking the Sacrament, both frescoes by Gérome. 15th,
8t. Louis carrying the Crown of Thorns in procession, and
his Death, by Leloir. 16th, the Life and Death of St.Charles
Borromeo, in four compartments, by Jobbé-Duval. 18th, Life
of St. Francis of Assisi, 4 frescoes, by Stenheil. The other
chapels are provisionally closed.

Proceeding up the rue St. Jacques, we arrive at the

CoLLEGE IMPERIAL DE FRANCE, founded in 1529, by Fran-
cis 1., at the solicitation of Parvi, his preacher, and the cele-
brated Budseus. Professorships have since been founded in it by
most of the subsequent sovereigns, and, previous to the middle of
the 16th century, 400 or 500 students regularly attended the
lectures of this college. The wars and contagious disorders
that afflicted Paris at the close of that century drove away the
scholars and professors; but Henry IV. formed the project of
erecting a new college, and had those of Tregujer, Léon, and
Cambrai, pulled down to make room for it. This intention,
frustrated by his death, was partially carried into execution by
Louis X1II.; it was again suspended till 1774, when the college
was entirely rebuilt by in. The buildings, of simple
but elegant design, enclose thrce courts, the principal of
which, facing the rue des Ecoles, is entered by a rusticated
arch surmounted by a sculptured pediment and flanked with
railings. (1) The left wing contains laboratories for chemistry,
end lecture-rooms. The right wing gives aceess through a ves-
tibule decorated with busts of Rémusat, Vauquelin, Ampére,
Sscy, Daunou, Portal, Andrieux, and Jouffroy, to the second
court, separated from the third by a portico of coupled Doric
columns. The Jatier court opens.by a railing into the rue St.
Jacques, oyer the entrance of which are two busts, representing
Science and Literature, their different branches being inscribed
in wreaths below. There are eight lecture-rooms ; that for
physics has two oil-paintings, the first, by Lethiers, re-

(1) The insurgents of June, 4848, had erected formidable bar-
icades :‘: %arl:hw w M, ,lei?t, {he r»r{:sentative, vasf
hare 8 y while atlempling to scale one o
Ahom af tbobe:ﬁu sompany of the line. :
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presents Francis I. signing the order for the establish-
ment of the college; the other, by Thevenin, represents
Henry IV. endowing the professorships. In the oriental lec-
ture-ropm is a valuable painting, by Camus, of the Death of
Jacques Delille. In the upper stories are cabinets of minera-
logy and natural philosophy, and a library. A prospectus of
the numerous lectures delivered here may be had at the col-
lege (see p. 96). The visitor should ask to see the aqua-
riums established by M. Coste for his experiments in pisci-
cullure. They are situated ina wooden building in the garden,
and consist of large stone reservoirs divided into compart-
ments, where the young fish are confined according to their
ages. For hatching the spawn, there are a series of small
troughs, not more than 12 inches long, by 4 in breadth, so ar-
ranged that the water of the first descends into the second, and
80 on, running continuously over the spawn, which is laid on
grates made of glass tubes fitting into the troughs. The
spawn, being fecundated in October or November, is hatched
in February. The young fish remain about six weeks with-
out taking solid food, after which they are fed with meat,
liver, heart, ctc. Trout and salmon are the only fish reared
herc. 1ybrids of these two kinds have been successfully ob-
tained. (1) A few faggots with oysters attached to them
will give an idea of the method adopted by M. Coste along the
coasts of France for establishing new oyster beds.

Nearly opposite the College de France, a little to the east,
stood La Tour Bichat, or de St. Jean de Latran, which, with
the adjoining ground, called Cour de la Vacherie, belonged
to the Knights Hospitallers of St. John of Jerusalem, afterwards
Kuights of Malta, first established in Paris in 1171. This
place enjoyed the privilege of sanctuary, (2)

* At No. 115, rue St. Jacques, was the

CorLLEGE DurLessis—founded by Geoffroy Duplessis, se-
cretary of Philippe le Long, in 1322, under the pontificate
of John XXII. Cardinal Richelieu took this colloge under his
special protection, on account of the name it bore, and re-
built it. In 1808, jt was occupied by the ficole Normale

(1) The fecundated spawn of salinon and trout has been &ent
from this establishment as far as Warsaw and Naples 10 he
hatched there, The fish in the lakes of ihe Bois de Boulogne
and in the ponds of St. Cloud, Villeneuve I’Etang, etc. werc
all hatched in Paris at the Collége de France, which is in
constant correspondence with the great piseicultural establish-
ment at Huningen. o

{2) The demolitions brought a large number of parchments
to light, most of them of the 43th and 14th centuries, These
were carefully collected and deposited at the Hotel de Ville.
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(see p. 423), and in 1848 by the Ecole &’ Administration,
which was soon after suppressed. The building has recently
beeh demolished in order to make room for the erection of
an elegant edifice which will gradually replace the dingy-
looking

LycEE Louts LE GRAND.—The largest and most important
Imperial lyceum of Paris. It was formerly the Collége de
Glermont, Tounded in 1560, by Guillaume Duprat, bishop of
Clermont. The first stone of the chapel waslaid by HenryIlI.,
in 1582. The Jésuits bought it in 1563, but being expelled
from France in 1594, were obligéd to abandon it, and though
recalled in 1604, were not allowed to reopen it till 1618,
when they rebuilt it, after the designs of Augustin -Guillain,
and named it after Louis XIV. The Jesuits being driven a
second time from France in 1763, the membhers of.the €ollége
de Lisieux removed into this building. In 1792 this college,
organised under a new form, received the name of Collége de
UEgalité; in 1800, that of Prytande_Francais; in 1804, that
of Lycée Impé-rz’al; in 1814, it resumed its former name of
Collége Louis le Grand. In 1848 it was called Lycée Des-
cartes. It contains a large library (sce p. 98). .

The stranger may now turn into the rucSoufflol, when he
will sce before him the stately pile of . )

The PaNTHEON, Which, by a decree of Dee. 6th, 1851, has
résumed its former name of church of Ste: Genevicve. (1)
Clovis, at the solicitation of his queen and Ste. Genevicve,
built a church to the apostles Peter and Paul ncar his palace.
To the church a religious communily was afterwards attached,
and the house became a célebrated abbey. Ste. Genevicve was
buried, in 512, in this church, which was thencefoiward dedi-
cated to-her, and she hecame the patron saint of P:~s! The
church having fallen-into ruins, Loujs XV. was. induced by -
Mme. -de Ponipddour to erect-ope _near- it -apon a’magnifi-
eent scale, after the. designs of - Soufflet, ‘and;- on-the ¢th of’
Sept., 1764, laid the first stone. The cost of the building

" was -defrayed by alotiery:’. At the 'corhérs, in front.of the
railing which surfounds’ the whole edifice, are two magnificent
<andelabra of casf iron. : The .portiéo, -to Which' g:flight. of 11

- steps, occupying the-wirole breadth of the: front; gives-agcess,

“presents a fronf of ‘6 flutéd -Corinthian’ cflumns, & féet in’
eight by in Qismete¥, which, together wih 16 inténal ones,

~"8upport a triangilAr. pedimept,, 129 feét,jn bréadth, by 22 in

* height. “The,pediment contains-a large composition 4n. relief, .

by David, representing Fraiice; surrounded by, and.dispensing
lai(x:l The chapler of this.church consists of a dean and six chap-

1alns. : . . S

P



THE PANTHEON: 401

honpurs to, some of the great men that have illusirated her:
On her right hand are Fénelon, Malesherbes, Mirabeau, Vol-
taire, Rousseau, Lafayette, Carnot, Monge, Manuel, and David,
the painter. On her left are figures representing soldiers of
the republican or imperial armies, with Napoleon in front.
At the feet of France are seated History and Liberty, inscribing
the names of great men, and weaving crowns to reward them.
In the extreme corners of the pediment are figures of youths
studying to emulate the virtues of their predecessors. The
figure of France is 15 feet in height. On the frieze beneath it
is the inscription, in gold letters—

AUX GRANDS HOMMES LA PATRIE RECONNAISSANTE.

Under the peristyle there are bas-reliefs, representing Genius,
Science, Art, Legislation, and Patriotism ; also a marble
group, by Maindron, representing Ste. Genevieve disarming
the anger of Attila. The plan of the edifice approximates to
a Greek cross, 302 feet in length by 255 transverse; each limb
of the cross terminates in a pediment. The two lateral fronts
have also secondary entrances with bronze gates approached
by steps. A low Corinthian gallery, behind the church,
harmonizes badly with the unquestionable grandeur of the
general design. From the centre of the cross springs a lofty
circular drum, surrounded by a peristyle of 32 Corinthian
columns resting on a stylobate. Above rises a majestic dome,
terminating in a lantern, surrounded by a gallery and balus-
trade. The height from the pavement to the top of the dome,
is 268 feet, and the number of steps up to the gallery is 475.
The number of columns in the interior is 130; in and about
the entire edifice, 258. " The breadth of each limb is 105 feet.
The construction of three independent stone cupolas one within
the other, is a curious feature of this edifice. A Corinthian
colonnade, supporting a gallery, runs all along the walls of
the interior. The vaulted ceilings are richly sculptured, and
are 80 feet from the pavement. The dome, 66 feet in diameter
at the gallery, rests upon solid piles of masonry. On these
piers are bronze tablets, now concealed behind the new wains-
coting, engraved with the names of those who fell in the
revolution of 1830, in gold letters. The painting of the
dome is by Gros, who received 100,000 francs for its execu-
tion, and was created abaron by Charles X. It is a fine compo-
sition, extending over a superficies of 3,721 square feet. (1)

- During therevolutionof 1789 the walls wereornamented with
bas-reliefs relating to philosophical subjects; in 1826, these

() Upon the lower part are four groups, connected by figures
of angel andother emblems, each of which represents amonarch

268



402 SIXTRENTH WALK.

were ‘by attributes of Catholic worship. Eight
- of the freacoes of Michael Angelo and Raphael in the Vatican at
Rome, by M. Balze, adorn the nave and tramsepts. The
pavement of the church is stone and marble; under the dome
it is entirely of marble, with a fine circular mosaic, the cxact
mﬂn (33 feet) of the upper dome. There are three allars inthe

oir and transepis, all richly gilt and sculptured, with cano-
pies supported by Corinthian columns ; the left altar has a
marble sfatue of the Virgin, by Demesmay ; oaken stalls for
the officiating clergy are placed on cither side of the choir.
In the niche behind the high altar are paintied the Saviour,
and Sts. Peter, Paul, Germain, and Genevicve. At each corner
of the transept, are gilt wreaths with theinitials N. Underneath
the church there is an immense series of vaults ; some of the
stones of which are 50 feet in length, the wholeundercroft
being constructed without any cement whatever. In the
yaults under the western nave, monuments and funeral urns
are arranged like the Roman tombsat Pompeii. In the cenire
are two concentric circular passages, where a loud echo
repeats the smallest sound. Within these vaulls are ce-
notaphs to the memory of Voltaire and Rousseau, (1) with a
fine marble statue of the former by Ilondon. Among the nota-
bilities buried here gre the illustrious mathematician, Lagrange ;
Bougainville, the circumnavigator; the Dutch admiral, De

of Prance, who, by the lustre of his reign or the influence of his
ags, formed an epoch in the history of the couniry.  Clovis,
Qharlemagna, St. Louis, and Louis XVIIl., are the monarchs so

gignated ; they render homage to Ste. Genevidve, who descends

wards them on slouds.  In the heavenly regions are seen Louis
XVI ; Marie Antoinetic, Louis XVII., and Madame Elizabeth. A
g;lory at the loftiest point indicates the presence of the Deily.
The pendentives are covered with paintings by Géra.d, repre-
senting Glery embracing Napoleon, France, Juslice, and Deall.

(1) On the tomb of Voltaire are the following inseriptions:
¢4 Aux minea de Voltaire. L’Assemblée Nationale a déerétd, le 30
Juin, 1701, qwil avait mérité les honneurs dus aux grands hommes.”
¢ patite, historien, philosophe, il agrandit Vesprit humain; il
Ini apprit qw'il devait Ctre libre,”—¢ 11 défendit Calas, Sirven,
de Ia Barre, et Monthailly.,”—¢1] combattit les athées et les fa-
natiques, inspira la tolérance, et réclama les droits de 'homme
eontre la servitude de la féodalité.” On the tomb of Rousscau is
the following : *“ Ici repose 'homme de la nature et de la véritd.”
On the opposite side a hand, holding a torch, is represented issuing
fram the tomb, menning that Rousscau casts light around him
aven afier death. The remaing of these celebrated writers were
secretly removed from the Pantheon duringthe Restoration; their
Sombs are shown at present, hut the clergy have caused them to
e separated from the others by partitions.
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Winter; Soufflot, the architect of the church; Marshal Lannes,
Duke de Montebello, &c. Mirabeau was interred here, with
great pomp, in 1791. The celebrated apotheoses of Voltaire
and Rousseau took place the same year. Marat was buried
here; but his remains, as weil as those of Mirabeau, wete
afterwards depantheonszed by order of the National Conven-
tion. (1) In one of the recesses is a model of the building
in plaster, in the proportion of 1 to 24, with sections, which
will give the visitor a clear-idea of the general construction.
This building has cost 30 millions of francs since its
foundation. The visitor is strongly recommended not only
to visit the vaults, but also to ascend the dome; which, being
the most elevated building in the capital, affords a magnificent
view. Strangers are readily admitted, but a small gratuity is
expected. (2) Facing this noble monument is the

EcoLE DE DroiT, erected by Soufflot in 1771. The entrance
is ornamented with four Ionic columns, crowned by a pedi-
ment, and the interior of the building possesses some commo-
dious lecture-rooms. The first establishment of regular schools
of law in France dates from 1384, and the re-organization of
the Faculty of Paris took placein 1762, by order of Louis XV.
For a list of the lectures delivered here, see page 95; the
hours, &c., may be learnt at the establishment. Here is also a
public library of 8,000 volumes, open daily from 10 to 3.

The Mairie and Justice de Paix of the 5th arrondissement op-
posite, is constructed after the same design, and forms, with the
Eeolede Droit, a circular arc in front of the Pantheon. In oneof
its rooms is abust of M. Simonin, clockmaker, who bequeathed
315,000 francs to found 33 beds at the Hopital des Incurables,
and in the great hall there is another of the late Madame
Rendu, or Sceur Rosalie, distinguished for her charity.

The northern side of the Place is occupied by two new build-
ings. The first and western one is the handsome front of the
Collége Ste. Barbe, (see p. 98,) which stretches to the rue de
Reims behind, of which it occupies a whole side. This college,
founded in 1730, by Jean Hubert, was on the point of being
dissolved in 1798 for want of funds, when some of its former
pupils joined in partnership to.support it. Their- efforts suc-
oeeded ; and having annexed to it the buildings of the Collége

(1) The body of Marat, after being taken from the Pantheon,
was thrown into a common sewer in the rue Montmartre, close
to where the Passage du Saumon now stands.

(2) The Place Cambrai, the Place -du Pantheon, the rue Soufflot,
and the rue St.Jacques were the most formidable strongholds of
the insurgents of June 4848 on this side of the river. The Pan-
m was filled with insurgenis, and was their head-quarters
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des Chollets, founded in 1283, and part of the ecclesiastical
Collége de Montaigu, founded in 1314, the new buildings
were commenced in 1841. The edifice east of it is the

- BIBLIOTHEQUE STE. GENEVIEVE, presenting a front of 19
arched windows, erected on the site of the remaining buildings
of the Collége de Montaigu.—When Cardinal de la Rochefoucauld
established in the Abbey of Ste. Geneviéve, 1624, the regular
canons of St. Vincent de Senlis, the community had no library.
Shortly after the Fathers Fronteau and Lallemant formed a col-
lection of about 10,000 volumes, which was afterwards aug-
mented by Father Dumoulinet, who purchased several collec-
tions, including that of the learned Pierese. In 1710, Letellier,
archbishop of Reims, bequeathed his valuable collection to the
abbey. The walls of the new edifice, opened in February, 1851,
are exlernally covered with the names of celebrated writers of
all nations and periods. The monogram SG. is engraved on
discs along the walls, and inside the building. The entrance
is by a vestibule; the ceiling of which rests upon iron arches
supported by Doric pilasters, and adorned with'busts of St. Ber-
nard, Montaigne, Pascal, Moliére, La Fontaine, Bossuet, Massil-
lon, Voltaire, Buffon, Laplace, Cuvier, Mirabeau, J. J. Rousseau,
Montesquieu, Fénélon, Racine, Corneille, Poussin, Descartes,
and L’Hopital. The ground-floor to the left of. the vesti-
bule is divided into 7 long galleries fitted up with book-
oases; that on the opposite side contains, besides two ante-
chambers, four large rooms, one of which, fitted up with
transverse bookcases, contains, besides some printed works,
upwards of 6,500 MSS. In the first ante-room we see the
model of a vessel sent to India under Admiral Letellier in
1767 ; a bust of Cardinal de la Rochefoucault, the founder of
the library, and a map of the moon, two metrés in diameter,
designed by Lahire in 1686, with his own hand. In the
following'room there is a series of portraits in pastel of the
Kings of France, a bronze bust of the father of Philippe Ega-
lité, and a large table in Florentine mosaic. After the reading-
room of the manuscript department,.we enter a parallel suite,
ia which we see a model of the city of Rome, beautifully exe-
cuted, and of very large dimensions ; a collection of Indian
arms brought over by the vesscl above mentioned; then the
mask of Henry 1V., taken in plaster in 1790, when the royal
tombs at St. Denis were broken open by the mob. Only
four of these casts were taken, as the body aflerwards became
undistinguishable ; but the visitor will remark that death had
produced but little change in the general features of that good
monarch. Next follows, in a glass case, the skull of Car-
touche. The other objects of interest in this room are a ge-
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nealogical tree illustrating the descent of Jesus from David,
and a planetary clock, which belonged to the Cardinal de
Lorraine. The following anteroom coritains a stuffed croco-
dile, and a few snakes and tortoises, brought over by Admiral
Letellier’s vessel. Returning to the grand vestibule, we as-
cend the double-branched staircase, furnished with stuffed
seats for the convenience of students who may wish to ex-
change a few, words with a friend. Opposite the landing-
place we see a copy, by Balze, of the School of Athens, the
original of which, painted by Raphael, exists in the Vatican
at Rome. Flanking it are two medallions in fresco repre-
senting Poetry and Theology, ‘and opposite these, two others,
with Philosophy and Justice, all by Balze. The ceiling of the
staircaseis painted inultra-marine and interspersed with stars.
The public reading-hall for printed works is entered
here by two side doors, between which, facing the chief
librarian’s desk, we perceive a beautiful specimen - of
Gobelins tapestry, representing ‘‘ Study surprised by Niglit,”
executed after a painting by Balze, slightly re-touched by
M. Ingres. It is an allusion to the evening sitlings, an
advantage almost exclusively helonging to this library. The
visitor will he struck with admiration at the happy effect of
the application of iron to architectural purposes in this vast
saloon, which occupies the whole extent of the edifice. It1is
bisccted lengthwise by a line of stone pedestals sustaining a
series of graceful iron columns, on the slender forms of which
rest light perforated arches of the same mctal, supporting the
double-arched roof of the edifice. Bookeases are fitted up be-
tween the pedeslals, and others line the walls all round up
to the window sills. Winding staircases in the corners com-
municate with the rooms below. The hall is 300 feet long by
60 in breadth ; its height to the roof is 30 feet. Four long
tables for students occupy nearly the whole length of the two
aisles ; and in the evening, when lighted up with gas, the
appearance is strikingly beautiful. At that time there gene-
rally is such a number of students, that many are obliged to
wait in the vestibule until a chair i1s left vacant, a numbered
ticket being given them in the order of their arrival. Ladies
are not admitted in the. evening.  This library - possesses
210,000 printed volumes, and the catalogue fills 32 folios.
The reading-rooms are open daily from 10 to 3, and from 6
to 10 in the evening, except on Sundays and holidays. The
building has cost 1,775,000 fr.

Immediately behind the Pantheon is the church of

St. ETIENNE DU MoNT—originally a chapel for the vassals
of the abbey of Ste. Geneviéve. The abbot was so jealous of
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the interfarence of the Bishop of Paris, that the entrance to
this church still continued to be through that of Ste. Gene-
yieve, and remained so till the {7th century. The date of
the building is said to be 1121. It was enlarged in 1222,
and the curious square tower and circular turret are pro-
bably of that date; these have been repaired by M. Godde.
The ehurch wasmuch enlarged in 1491, and the choirincreased
in length in 1517. In 1537, both choir and nave were nearly
rebuilt, and, in 1605, some adjoining charniers, now used
for the calechumens’ rooms, were added. The first stone of
the portal was laidin 1610 by Queen Marguerite de Valois,
and a tablet over the church-door remained till the revolution
of 1789, bearing an inscription to that effect. In 1624 the
upper story of the tower was built; the church was finally de-
dicated, and a new high altar raised, in 1626. The oldest
portions of the existing edifice are the lower stories of the tower
and the northern aisle of the choir, which are not later than
1491. The other parts are nearly all of the date 1537,
except the western front, which is a most singular mixture of
the Italian and Gothic. Four engaged composite columns,
having their flutes intersected by carved bossages, support a
rich triangular pediment adorned with modillions. The second
story bears a circular interrupted pediment; and, lastly, the
attic is gabled, and graced with a round window, and an el-
liptical one above it, with tracery. Thesteeple tower issquare,
and flanked at one of its angles by a lofty slender circular tur-
ret. The lateral and posterior parts of the church present a
curious medley of flying buttresses, gurgoyles, turrets, and
spires, some of them of no mean workmanship. The
church is cruciform. The eastern end is octagenal, and an
aisle, with chapels in each arcade, goes round the whole. The
ﬁrincipal architectural peculiarity of the interior is tl : great

eight of the aisle, which is on a level with the imposts sup-
porting the vaulting-ribs of the nave and choir. Lofty at-
tached columns with Doric capitals front the piers of the nave
and choir, and in the tympans of the lateral arches, over the
circular ones springing from the central columns, there are
small clerestory windews. Those of the aisles are lofty, some
being filled with good stained glass, said to be by Pinaigrier,
The tracery of the windows of the left aigle of the choir is
peculiarly good. From the_ middle of each column, all round
the church, excepting at the transepts, segmental arches are
thrown from one to the other, supporting a very narrow gal-
lery and balustrade, which encircles the columns on the side
of the aisles. The arches of the‘choir are pointed. The choir
is separated from the nave by a magnigg;nt and elaborate
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screen, consisting of a low elliptical arch, formerly divided b
mullions and tracery ; two spiral staircases, of exquisite baaut;
and lightness, wind round the pillars at the entrancc, and two
{inely-wrought door-ways, crowned with figures, separate the
aisles. The parapets of the staircases are particularly rematk:
able for their rich perforated tracery. The vaulting of the
cross is ornamented with a pendant key-stone 12 feet deep,
most elaborately sculptured. The works of art in this church
are as follows :—1st chapel to the right on entering: Flanking
the altar, a Holy Family, and a Flight into Egypt, both in
bas-relief ; a marble statue of St. John the Faptist, and two
frescocs ; the Baptism of Christ, and St. John the Baptist
preaching. 2d, Christ disputing in the Temple; the Pesti-
lence of Paris, after Boullanger. 3rd, the Martyrdom of 8t,
John; here marble slabs display a list of the celebrated per-
sonages buried in the parish, such as Lemaistre de Sacy,
Racine, &c. 4th, a curious composition in stained glass in
the window (1), and Paul and Silas before the Magistrates of
Philippi, by Delaval. 5th, an Adoration of the Shepherds,
by De Santerre; St. Peter, by Jouvenet; a remarkable
Entombment of Christ in stone, surrounded by the Virgin
and six other statues of the size of life. 6th, an Adoration 3
Christ descending to hell. In this and some of the following
chapels will he remarked the sacred subjects on glass in the
windows, with quaint mottos in old French verse. 7th, St.
Charles Borromeo, by Varin (1627), St. Louis praying. 8th,
St. Bernard praying, and the Jews collecting manna, by
Subeyras.  In the wall, between this chapel and the
9th, there is St. Stephen preaching, by Abel de Pujol.
9th and 1oth. Under a vaulted ceiling connecting these two
chapels is a tomb, supposed, from an inscription near
it, to be the original depositery of the body of Ste. Genevieve,
but which from its mouldings must be of the. 13th century.
The walls are hung with a vast number of votive images, &¢.
The second of these chapels has beautiful decorations, and a Go-
thic altar, gilt and painted in the most gorgeous Byzantine
style, and adorned with the statues of Ste. Geneviéve, St., Ger-
main, and Ste. Clotilda, hesides nine statues of saints in alto-ri-
lievo around the altar-table. Near this chapel,in the aisle, are
two fine pictures, by Largillicre and Detroy (1696); one re-
presents the Genius of France with the Parlement interceding
with Ste. Genevieve for the cessation of a famine which then

(4) The subject of this quaint compositionis: ‘‘Many are called,
but few are chosen.” To the right a few chosen approgeh the
Lord’s Supper; to the left, all follow worldly pursuits: one buys
a house, another a bullock, and a third marries.
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raged ; the other represents the Prévot des Marchands and the
city officers in full costume, with a great number of spectators,
among whom are Largilliere himself and the poet Santeuil,
praying to Ste. Genevieve. They are said to be both votive
pictures, offered by the City of Paris. 11th, an Epitaph
on Racine, written by Boileau, and another on Pascal ; Sta-
tues of Chatity,si)gr Laitié, and of Hope, by Brupe. 12th,
(provisionally closed). 13th, a Crucifixion, with Louis XIII.
and St. ‘Louis introduced at the foot of the cross; a Holy
Family by Coypel. 14th, a curious. picture of the Virgin
and Child, of the 17th century. 15th. -St. Augustine crowned
with thorns ; 16th, a series of curious frescoes, in 12 com-
partments, lately discovered and restored. They are appa-
rently of the 16th century, and illustrate a legend of the
martyrdom of a Roman legion converted to Christianity ;
17th, the Lapidation of St. Stephen ; 18th, a crucifixion, by
Porbus ; a Nativity, by Lenain; 19th, the Death of St. Louis ;
20th, *“ Give to Casar what is Ceesar’s ;” 21st, the Adoration
of the Magi; St. John the Evangelist. - The pulpit, by
Lestoccard, - after designs executed by Lahire, is supported
by a figure of Samson, and ornamented with heautifully-
carved statuettes. On the 3d of January, the festival of Ste.
Genevieve, and 8 following days, pilgrimages are made to this
church, and it is celebrated in Paris for the ceremonies that
takeplaceinit. (1) Paseal, Tournefort the botanist, Lesueur the
ainter, P. Perrault, Lemaitre, Racine, Rollin, and the Abbé
ge Sacy, were interréd here. This church, from the rich effect
produced by its singular architecture, its pictures, and its
other ornaments, is one of the most interesting of the capital,
and is now being enlarged and repaired ata cosl of 2,000,000
francs. The interior is a favourite subject with French artists.
The Lvcée NapoLtoN is established in part of the church
and other buildings of the abbey of Ste. Genevieve, founded
in the year 508 by Clovis and his queen Clotilde. The former
was buried here in 511. Up to the time of the revolution of
1789 the tomb of this king existed in the church of St. Gene-
vieve, but was evidently of more recent. construction. This
tomb was transported n 1816 to the abbey of St. Denis.
The first church of Ste. Genevieve was burnt by the Danes
in 857. Under the reign of Louis VII. the abbey was re-or-

(1) 1t was on the occasion of this festival, on the 3d of January
1857, that Mgr. Denis Sibour, Archbishop of Paris, was assassi-
nated, opposite to the principal entrance, by a priest named Ver-
ger, in the presence of an immense crowd. Although great efforts
were made at the trial to prove the inbanity of the culprit, Verger
was condemned and executed on the 3oth of the samo month.
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ganized ; (1) in 1177, the abbey was repaired and enlarged and
a school established in it. The church occupied the site of the
rue Clovis. Little remains now of the old abbey except the
western wing and a tower enclosed by the modern building of
the lyceum. The former is of the 14th century, the upper
part of the tower is of the 15th, and the side towards the rue
Clovis (so called because the lower portion of the tower is said
to have been built in his reign) was crected as late as 18254
The apartments still existing contain several objects.ef curio~
sity, such as a scries of portraits of the sovereigns of France,
from Philippe le Hardi to Louis XV., and also one of Mary
Queen of Scots.  This lyceum, which is receiving considerable
additions, was called Collége de Uenri IV. in 1814, but has
now resumed the name it received in 1802. The sons of Lomis
Philippe were educaled at this college (see p:98). In the
first court is a bust of Casimir Delavigne.

At the opposite end of the rue Clovis, No. 33, rue des
Fossés SL. Victor, now a hoarding-school conducted by M.
Chevalier, was formerly the ’

CoLLEGE DES Ecossats.—This seminary, first situated in rue
des Amandiers, was established in the present building in 1665.
It was originally founded by David, bishop of Moray in
Scotland, in 1325; and again by James Beatoun, or de Bé-
thune, Archbishop of Glasgow, in 1603. A marble slab, on
the chapel door, - records these facts, in a Latin inscription,
surmounted by the armorial bearings of the two founders. The
college was rebuill by Robert Barclay in 1665. This and the
twp other British colleges were suppressed’ at the revolution of
1789, and their property sequestrated. The government of Na-
poleon embodied all the British colleges of Paris in one esta-
blishment, under the authority of the Minister of the Interior,
and gave them the Irish college, rue des Irlandais. Over the
door was inscribed, Chef-liew des Colléges Britanniques.
Upon the Restoration, the former president of the colleges,
and the other English €atholic clergy, claimed their property.
That of the Irish college was restored without difficulty, but
that of the Scotch and English was left in the hands of an ad-

(1) The cause which led to this measure was a quarrel about a
carpet which the canons had caused to be spread before the door
of 4he abbey for the convenience of Pope Eugene 1I1., who had
come to Paris in 4145, having been driven away from Rome. The
familiars of the Pope claimed the carpet as their own, on the
ground that the Pope had sat upon it. The servants of the abbey
would not allow the claim ; high words ensued, followed by blows,
and the carpel was torn to pieces in the fray. In consequence of
this scandalons occurrence, a new abbot was named, and 12 new
canons (ransferred to this abbey from that of St. Victor.
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ministrator appointed by government, and still remains under
the eontrol of the Minister of Public Instruction for the purpose
of defraying the expenses of clerical education of young men
chosen by the Catholic bishops of Scotland and England. The
present administrator is M. I’abbé Caire. Its chapel, which was
erected in 1672, and dedicated to St. Andrew, was repaired by
M. Delavigne, the predecessor of M. Chevalier. It is on
the first floor, and in the Ionic style; part of thenave has been
separated from the rest of the chapel by a partition, thus form-
ing a vestibule. Here the visitor will see the monument of the
unfortunate James II., erected to his memory by his faithful
friend and the constant companion of his exile, James Duke of
Perth, governor of his son, called James III., the Pretender.
This monument, consisting of a black marble sarcophagus rest-
ing on a basement, and surmounted by a pyramid of white
marble, was executed by Louis Garnier, in 1703, and bears a
long Latin inscription. On the top of the monument was
formerly an urn of bronze gilt, containing the brain of the
King, who died at St. Germain en Laye, Sept. 18, 1701.
When the Irish college was made the chef-lieu of the British
colleges, this monument was transported there, where it re-
mained some years; but is now restored to its original place.
Under. the arch adjoining it is a slab, over the heart of the
Queen, another over the entrails of Louisa Maria, second
daughter of the king; and on one side, another over the heart
of Mary Gordon, of Huntly, Duchess of Perth. In the second
portion of the chapel is the altar of oak, of Corinthian archi-
tecture, and richly, carved. The altar-piece represents the
martyrdom of St. Andrew. The monogram SA is frequently
repeated among the sculpture of the chapel. In the study of
the director of the Institution is a full-length portrait o™ the.
Pretender, in armour. Monumental tablets and inscriptions
exist here in memory of James Drummond, Duke of Perth,
who died in 1720, and of the next Duke of the same name,
who died in 1726; of John Caryl, Baron Dunford; Frances
Jennings, Duchess of Tyrconnel; Sir Patrick Monteith, of
Salmonet; Sir Marian 0’Conoly; Dr. Andrew Hay; Dr. Lewis
Innes, confessor to James II.; and Dr. Robert Barclay. The
valuable manuscripts of James II., which, as mentioned in the
inscription on his monument, were preserved here, disappeared
during the revolution of 1789, but the Library still exists.

Returning by the rue Clovis, a few steps to the rightin the
rue Descartes lead us to the

EcoLE PoLYTECHNIQUE, rue Descartes, established in 1795
in the buildings of the Collége de Navarre, founded in 1304 by
Philippe le Bel and Joan of Navarre. A fine hall and chapel
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of the 14th cerrtury belonging to the old eollege still remain,
The front entrance facing the rue Descartes is ornamented with
bas-reliefs representing implements and machines of war and
K;ace, with five medallions on the attic, of Legrand, Laplace,

onge, Bertholet, and Fourcroy, (see p. 99.) The building
with its enlargements has cost 2,000,000 fr.

On the small square in front of this edifice is the new
FoxTAINE STE. GENEVIEVE, replacing one erected in 1625.

In the rue de PEcole Polytechnique, opposite, at No. 6,
there stood. the chapel of the Collége des Grassins, founded in
1569 by Pierre Grassin d’Ablon, for poor scholars in divini:z.
In thé rue de la Montagne Ste. Geneviéve, at No. 37, was the
Collége de la- Marche.  Nearly (;Pposite to it are the remains
of the Collége or Séminaire des Trente-Trois, so called from
the number of scholars it contained, 33 having been the age
of our Saviour.

SEVENTEENTE WALX.

This comprises another portion of the 5th arrondissement,
We may commence it with- the

MANUFACTURE IMPERIALE DES GOBELINS (TAPESTRY AND CAR-
PET MANUFACTORY), rue Mouffetard.—From the t4th centu
dyers of wool have been established in the Faubourg St. Marcel,
upon the Biévre, the water of thatstreambeing favourable tothe
process of dyeing. One of them, Jean Gobelin, who lived in
1450, acquired considerable property in the neighbourhood. His
descendants continued his trade with suecess, and, having be-
come extremely rich, discontinued business, and eventually
filled various offices in the state. To them succeeded Messrs.
Canaye, who, not confining themselves to dyeing wool, worked
tapestry for hiangings, a manufacture untilthat period confined
to Flanders. About 1855 they were succeeded by a Dutch-
man named Gluck, bringing with him a workman named Jean
Liansen, who excelled in the art. The establishment prospering,
Louis XIV., at the suggestion of Colbert, determined to erect it
into a royal manufactory. The houses and gardens of the ese
tablishment were purchased in 1662. Skilful artists were at-
tached to the manufactory, and, in 1667, the celebrated Le-
brun was appointed director. (1) Here is also the celebrated
carpet-manufactory, which was made a royal establishment in
1604, by Marie de Médicis, in favour of Pierre Dupont, who
invented the procéss for finishing the carpets, and who was
placed at its head with the title of director. The workshops,

(1) Lebrun painted his famous battles of Alexander the Great
as patterns for this nnufactory.
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originally placed in the Louvre, were transferred, in 1615, to
a soap-manufactory at Chaillot, and the establishment hence
derived the name of La Savonnerie. In 1826 it was annexed
to ‘the Gobelins. The visitor will pass through five rooms
filled with specimens of rich tapestry and carpets of the reigns
of Francis 1., Louis XIV., and Louis XV., besides. se-
veral modern specimens, mostly executed at this establish-
ment. Among these he will see copics of the Emperor and
Empress’s full-length portraits by Winterhalter, both executed
in about 4 years; No. 93, the Transfiguration, by Raphael (6
years), Juno, Ceres, and Venus, by the same master (4 yéars),
the portrait of Louis XVI., by Callet (1 year), &c. Next
follow the work-rooms for tapestry and carpets, six in
number, containing 25 looms. The work is called the
haute-lisse, from the warp being placed vertical, in contra-
distinction to the basse-lisse, done at Beauvais, where the
warp is horizontal. In the tapestry-work, which is called
tissu, the workman stands at the back of the canvas on which
he is employed, with the model behind him, to which he oc-
casionally refers, in order to adjust the colour of his woollen
or silken thread to that part of the picture he is copying. The
object of the process béing to present as smooth and delicate a
surface as possible, all cuttings and fastenings are performed at
the back. Hence the necessity of his working on the wrongside.
The carpet-work is called velours; here the workman stands
on the right side, with the model over his head, at a proper
distance from his eyes. As a woolly surface is required, the
workman, in weaving, cuts on the right side of the piece.
The carpels manufactured here are considered far superior io
the Dersian for the evenness of their surface, the fineness and
the strength of their texture. The colours and designs are per-
fect. Some of the carpets take as long as 5 to 10 yearr to be
made, and cost from 60,000 to 150,000 fr., and even at these
high prices the workmen are very inadequately paid. None
are sold. The largest carpet ever made is probably that ma-
nufactured at La Savonnerie, for the gallery of the Louvre :
it consists of 72 pieces, forming altogether a length of more
than 1300 feet. In one of the rooms will be seen several
presses, filled with specimens of colours for dyeing, and also
of wool ready died. About 120 workmen are employed in the
establishment; they earn from 1500 to- 3,000 fr. a-year, and
receive pensions of from 600 to 1000 fr. when disabled by
age or infirmity. The productions of this manufactory, which
belongs to government, are chiefly destined for the palaces
of the State. Connected with the manufactory is an es-
tablishment for dyeing wool, directed by able chemists,
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where an infinite variety of shades, mang' unknown in
the trade, are produced. There is also a school of design;
aud an annual course of lectures on chemistry, as applicable
to dyeing, is given here from October to January. The
closeness with which the painter’s art can be here imitated
will excite the visitor’s astopishment. - A catalogue may be had
at the lodge for 1 franc. Admission, on Wednesdays and
Saturdays, from 2 to 4 in summer, and from 1 to 3 in wmter,
with tickets to be obtained from the Director.

Continuing northwards along the ruc Mouffetard, the rues
Valence and Pascal would lead us to the Hipifa! LOURCINE
(see p. 141) ; but as strangers are not admitted there, and it
is otherwise unmterestmg (1), the visitor had better turn
to the right, and visit the church of

ST. MEDARD.—This was, as early as the 12th century, the
parish church of the village of St. Médard, dependent on the
abbey of Ste. Genevitve. The front consists of a gable with
buttresses; the nave and aisles are of the end of the 1 5thcentury;
the choir and its arcades are of 1561 and 1586. The square
tower, supporting a spire, is probably as old as the nave. In
1685 and 1784 the deformities of iis choir and chapels were
atdded. Most of the key-stones hear bas-reliefs, and the
groinings, with their ribs and pendant bosses, are exceedingly
graceful. In many of the windows valuable specimens of old
stained glass will be remarked. Inthe first chapelin the right
hand aisle, on the panel of the altar, a valuable old painting
on wood will attract attention: it repments the Descent from
the Cross. The 2d is the Chapel of St. Fiacre, painted in fresco
by Leuillier ; to the left, St. Fiacre is represented prcachmg
and opposne, affording "relief to the poor on a winter’s day.
The figures of Charity-amd Humility are on each side of the
window. Next is a plaster Descent from the Cross, not with-
out merit, and in the Chapel of the Crucifixion a Dead Christ,
and several small paintings of some value, among which may
be mentioned the Virgin and ‘Saviour, St. Francis de Sales, and
St. Vincent de Paule. A very good Annunciation is in the
following one. The 7th chapel, behind the choir, is dedi-
cated to- the Virgin, and is remarkable for the Mamage of the
Virgin, by Caminade, and the ceremony of the Rosiéres, insti-
tuted by St. Médard, by Dupré. There are also two plaster
statues; the one is St. Joseph, by Jacquot,'the other St. Phi-

{1) This hospital was inaugurated in 1836, a8 an addition to
the Hopital du Midi. The buildings which it occupies were for-
merly the conven! of the Cordeliéres, founded by Marguerite de
Provence, sister 10 St. Louis, about 1284. 1In 1590, the troops of
Henry 1V. pillaged the building and destroyed a large part of it,
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loméne, by Dubois. The 8th chapel has a fine picture of Ste.
Genevieve, by Watteau. In the 9th is a picture of the Flemish
school, representing the Virgin learning to read under the tui-
tion of St. Anne, her mother. In the 10th is some old
stained glass representing Ste. Anne, the Virgin, and the
Saviour. In the 11th, we see St. Vincent de Paule an-
nouncing the gospel to the poor, by Fuller. .In the 12th, a
new painting by Boulanger, St. Denis causing an idol to
fall by miracle, and in the 13th, the Baptism of
Christ.  There are two organs: the larger is over the
entrance; the other in the right aisle. Over the canopied
seat in the nave are the four.evangelists, painted on can-
vass.—Some curious historical events are connected with this
church. In 1561, an attack was made on it by some Cal-
vinists, after hearing a sermon in a neighbouring house. Se-
veral of the congregation in the church were killed, and much
damage doué, In 1727, the Abbé Piris was buried in the
cemetery, and in 1730 the Convulsionists commenced their
exhibitions here (1). The advocate Patru, the French Quinti-
lian, and Nicole, the moralist, were buried here, The rue
Mouffetard here croases the small stream of the Biévre (see
p. 26).. Its muddy and unwholesome waters are of great
value to the numerous tanners and dyers, established along
i%s course from time immemorial.

‘At the corner of the rue de I’Arbaléte, the visitor would .
find to his right the poor and dingy-looking MARCHE DES
ParnriarcHes. Turning into the same street to the left, we see
at No. 9 the Botanical Garden of the ’

EcOLE DE PHARMACIE.—~The establishment itself is at No.
21, and occupies the site of an ancient convent, called
Hopital de Lourcine. The first botanical garden in France
was formed in the grounds of this comvent in 1-30,
on the model of that of Padua. There is a cabinet of speci-
mens of all kinds of drugs, with a select mineralogical collection,
well worthy of inspection; also a small but select library,
open daily to the puﬁficc from 10 to 3. Underneath is the hall

(1) The Convulsionists were a set of fanatics of the Jansenist
party, who, after the death of the Abhé Pris, celebrated for his
resistance to the Bull Unigenitus, and for his charity,.used to
frequent his tomh, where they feigned convulsions which were
attributed to miraculous agency. This superstition spread with
such rapidity, that the Government was at length, in 4732,
obliged to interfere, and order the cemetery to be closed. This
maasure called forth the following epigram, which was found
inecribed on the gate.

De par le rof, défense & Dien
Pa faire mairscle o3 oo teu.
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of meeting, tontaining some interesting portraits of French phy'
sicians, Itis visible every day except Sunday (see p. 136).

Continuing in the same direction, we find at No. 15, rue
des Capucins, the B

HoeitTaL pu Mipi.—This building was ereclted by the Ca-
puchin friars, and occupicd as a monastery till 1784 ; it was
then converted into an hospital for nurses and new-born infants
affected with syphilitic complaints. In 1792 adults of both
sexes were admitted,- but subsequently the sexes were sepa-
rated, and females were sent to another hospital, the Lourcine
(see p. 141). To visit the hospital, apply to the Director.
In the street opposite, the visitor will find the .

MAISON D’ACCOUCHEMENT, 5, rue du Port Royal (see p. 136.)

In the rue du Faubourg St. Jacques, at No. 47, is the

HopitaL CocuiN, founded by M. Cochin, the benevolent
rector of St. Jacques du Haut Pas, in 1780, It wasintended
for his own parishioners; but patients, .of the same classes as
those of the lotel Dieu, are now received from all parts of
the capital (see p. 141.) The bhuilding is Doric, and consists
of a main body with three pavilions. AtNo. 57 in the rue
du Faubourg St. Jacques is the convent of the Dames de St.
Joseph, and at No. 71, a convent of Capuchins.

The rue Méchain leads. to the rue de la Santé, where, at
No. 29, we find a convent of the Dames Augustines du Sacré
Cosur, crected at-a cost of two millions of francs. Besides a
boarding-school for young ladies, this convent also has accom-
modation for female invalids, who are. attended here as ina
Maison de Santé. Nearly opposite, a néw prison is in course
of construction to replace the Madelonnettes (see p. 76). This
edifice covers a space of 25,000 square metres, and is partly
arrangod on the cellular system for prisoners under trial, and
partly on the old system for persons condemned to imprison-
ment for a lerm not exceeding one year. It is calculated to
contain 500 prisoners of each category, and its estimated cost
is upwards of six millions of francs.

Returning to the rue -du Faubourg St. Jacques, the rme
Cassini, to our right, brings us to the -

OBSERVATOIRE, adjoining the- rue d’Enfer.—Upon the esta-
blishment of ‘the Academy of Sciences in the reign of Louis
XIV., Claude Perrault was charged by Colbert to prepare a
design for this edifice, which was begun in 1667, and finished
in 1672. When the building was already far advanced, John
Daminic Cas§ini, the astronomer, whom Colbert had sent for
from Bologna, came to Paris. He found the structure so ill
adapted to its purpose, that, at his suggestion, several altera-
tions were made, which, however, did not render it suitable
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for taking accurate observations. The principal pile forms a
parallelogram of 90 feet by 82, to which have been added on
the south two lateral octagonal towers. In the north front
is a projection of 24 feet, from which the building is en-
tered. The platform on the top is 85 feet from the ground.
The whole building is of stone, neither wood nor iron
having been used. The principal part of this edifice being
found useless, a low building has been erected on the
east, in which nearly all the observations ar¢ made. This
i8 80 placed that two sides are parallel, and two perpen-
dicuiar, to a meridian line traced on the floor of a room on
the second story, from which French astronomers count
their longitude; its direction is marked by an ebelisk at Mont-
martre, distant ncarly three English miles and a half from the
Observatory. On this line, between Dunkirk and Barcelona,
the observations were made for determining the length of the
arc of the terrestrial meridian between the equator and pole,
now fixed at 5,130,740 toises. (1) The line of the southern
front is taken as the latitude of Paris. This observatory is the
«centre from whence have diverged the several trigonometrical
calculations for forming the map of France, known as la Carte
de Cassini, or de I'Observatoire, in 182 sheets. Underneath
the huilding are some subterranean chambers, now no longe
uwsed, which were originally constructed for making astrono-
amieal observations, by means of openings through the roof of
Rhe edifice, for experiments on gravitation, &¢. On the first
#loor ix a telescope 22 feet inlength, and 22 inches in diameler,
mot now used ; there.is also an achromatic telescope of large
dimensions. Here also we see a‘-marble statue of Cassini, who
died in 1712, aged 87, and another very finc one of Laplace,
the celebrated astronomer, by Garraud. The collection of
modern telescopes and astronomical instruments of 'l kinds
attached to this institution is ¢xceedingly good. On the
second floor is a spacious room, containing globes, various
wmagnetic instruments, the meridian line upon’ the floor, a
mural quadrant, &c. On the floor of another room is a map
of the world, engraved by Chazelles and Sedileau, and on
ihe roof there is an anemometer, which indicates the direction
of the wind, on a dial-pJate in one of the rooms. There are
also two rain-gauges, for ascertaining the quantity of rain
which falls at Paris during the year. The eastern tower is co-
vered with an immense rotatory cupola of copper, by means
of which the observer may point the great equatorial it con-
tains to any part of the heavens under shelter. Smaller

(1) The ten-millionth part of this length has been adoptced for
4he métre, or standard linear measure in France.
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ones of similar construction cover two little turrets on the
roof, and a telescope of the largest dimensions has now been
set up in the western tower. The number of steps leading
«0 the roof is 162. A well-selected library of 45,000 volumes,
for the use of the professors and observers, is attached to the
establishment. The building on the east is entered from the

oArst floor of the principal structure, and contains various
instruments. The roof of this small building, and of the
cupola of the upper platform, opens in various parts, by means
of simplemechanical arrangements. The Bureau des Longitudes
holds its sittings here (see p. 92.) The Observatory is sur-
rounded by a terrace, according to the original plan of Perrault,
and the outer court enclosed by railings and pavilions. In one
of the wings added to the main building is an amphitheatre for
800 persons, where the celebrated Arago used to give his
popular lectures on astronomy every year. This establish-
ment is visible once a month, upon application in writing to
M. le Directeur de I'Observatoire. A wide avenue, planted
with trecs, leads straight from the Observatoire to the garden
of the Luxembourg.

Next door to the Observatory, there is a reservoir for
water, deserving of a visit from the antiquarian. The stranger
on descending a few steps will see four vaulted chambers with
reservoirs receiving water from Arcueil. Part of the vaulting
is of Roman construction ; the more modern parts and the chief
conduit date from Marie de Médicis, who laid the first stone
with great ceremony in 1624. The laygest chamber of this
reservoir has 78 arches; it is 31 metres by 30, and contains
1395 cubic metres of water (307,034 gallons). In the English
court may be seen some fragments of water-pipes of Roman
construction. A small fee 18 expected by the person who
shows this place.

Turning to the left into the rue d’Enfer, we see, at
No. 74, the

HospicE pes ENFANs AssisTés, or Orphan and Found-
ling Asylum, founded by -St. Vincent de Paule in 1638.
In 1667, on a decree of the Parlement, the' managers
erecled the Hospice des Orphelins in the Faubourg St. An-
toine, and placed the Enfants Trouvés at the corner of the
Parvis Notre Dame. At therevolution of 1789, the latter were
removed to their present house, formerly the Convent of the
Prétres de 'Oratoire. At the same time the ancient abbey of
Port Roya!, now a lying-in hospital, was appropriated to the
same purposes (see p. 120). The buildings are plain, but airy
and comfortable. There is a statue of St. Vincent de Paule,
by Stouf, in the court. A little beyond is the

27
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INFIRMERIE DE MARIE TugRrEsg, 116, rue d’Enfer, for an
account of which, see page 123. .

Returning northwards, we perceive, facing the Boulevard
Montparnasse, and elose to the gardens of the Closerie des Lilas
(see p. 481), the statue of the unfortanate Marshal Ney, erected
on the spot where he was shot, and inaugurated with great so-
lemnity on the 7th of December, 1853, the anniversary of his
execution, in the presence of Prince Napoleon and the high func-
tionaries of State. It stands on a pedestal of white marble,
richly sculﬁtured by Gisors. On the faces of the pedestals are
engra%n the names of -the battles at which ‘the hero distin-
guished himself. The artist, M. Rude, has represented the
i{ustrious marshal in an attitude of command, animating his
followers to advance; but the open mouth, which in this case
completely distorts the features, is an unfortunate circumstance.

Striking into the rue du Val de Grace, further on, No. 65,
rue d’Enfer, next to the corper to our left, is the Couvent des
Dames Carmélites, where Mdlle. de la Vallicre, the heautiful
mistress of Louis XIV., took the veil in 1675, as Sceur Louisede
la Miséricorde,and wassoon joined by Madame deMontespan.
In the chapel is scen a fine marble monument of Cardinal
Berulle, founder of the convent. He is represented kneeling on
a pedestal adorned with bas-reliefs. In a recess to the left
there is another valuaple bas-relief in marble, by Barrois, "re-
presenting a Descent from the Cross. The best paintings are :
a Virgin and Child, St. Joseph and Jesus, Christ bearing the
Lamb, by Guét, and an Annunciation, by Mueller. This chapel,
said to have bgen founded by Robert, the son of Hugh Capet,
has now been decorated in the Byzantine style.

At the opposite end of the rae du Val de Grace stands the

. HoPITAL MILITAIRE DU VAL DE GRACE, 277, rue St. Jacques.
This hospital, established by Napoleon I. in the buildings of
a convept of Benedictine nuns, is one of the mostimportant in
Paris. Attached to it isa military school of medicin: and sur-

A quadrangular court is entered by a railing facing the
street ; the sides are adorned with ten triangular pediments sup-
rted by columns of irregular Doric design. To the leftis the
ronze statue of Baron Larrey, the celebrated surgeom, on a
pedestal of white marble, adorned with four bas-reliefs of the
same metal, representing the battles of la Beresina, the Pyra-
mids, Austerlitz, and Sommo Sierra, where Larrey distinguished
himself. The statue, which is 9 feet high, represents Larre
resting against a howitzer, on which are placed some of his
works. In his right hand he holds Napoleon’s will opened at -
the words : “ 1leave 100,000 fr. to the Surgeon-in-chief Larrey,
the most virtuous man I know.” This monument is by David
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&’Angers. In the second court there is a fine statue of the
celebrated surgeon Broussais, who is interred here. The
chief object of historical interest here is

Thé Church of Val de Grace, in front of the principal
court, and founded by Anne of Austria, the consort of Louis
XIII. Having been married 22 years without issue, she made
a vow that she would build a church at Val de Grace, if her
desire to give .an heir to the throne should be realised. At
length, on Sept. 6, 1638, she gave birth to a prince, afterwards
Louis XIV. After the death of Louis XIII. the queen prepared
to fulfil her vow. In 1624 she laid the first stone of the con-
vent, contributing one-half of the expense, and caused the
Benedictine nuns of Val Profond, near Bievre le Chatel; thrge
leagues from Paris, to be transferred hither. On April 1, 1645,
Louis XIV. laid the first stone of the church with great pomp.
The architects were successively the elder Mansard, who fur-
nished the designs, Lemercier, Le Muel and Leduc. Ma-
demoiselle de la Valliere retired to this convent, previous to
her taking the vows, this convent being then the fashionable
retreat for members of the nobility of France. During the re-
volution of 1789 the church was converted inlo a depot for
the matériel of military hospitals, and thus escaped the fury
of the populace. In 1826, it was repaired, and restored to
divine worship. It is an edifice of magnificent design,
with a dome resting on a lofty drum, strengthened around
by buttresses, adorned with Composite pilasters, and
prerced with sixteen windows; four campaniles, or small
bell-turrets, stand out from the gallery on which the
dome rests. The front is ornamented with a portico of Co-
rinthian columns supporling a pediment; above is a range of
Composite engaged columns bearing a second pediment.  The
entrance is approached by a flight of large and wide steps.
The plan of the church is that of a Latin cross; in the nave
the public used to attend service, and in the other parts were
chapels for the nuns of the convent and for the ladics of the
Court. The intersection of the cross is circular, four lofty
arches’open into the transepts. The nave is flanked by chapels
communicating with each other, new - devoid of altars, excep-
one in the apsis, where the altar-piece is an Ascension. The
decorations of this, as well as the other parts of the church,
are Corinthian; the sculptures are by Anguier. In the spandrils
of the arches of the nave are large figures in alto-rilievo, re-
presenting the Christian Virtues, and the vaulting of the ceiling
presents rich compartments, filled with figuresof saintsand scroll
work. The pendentives of the lower dome contain circular
compartments, in which are fine alta-rilievi of the four evan-
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gelists. The vault of the dome is admirably painted on stone
by Mignard, and has been reputed as one of the finest frescoes
in France. Around the frieze below the gallery is the follow-
ing inscription : A. MDCL. Anna Austrie D. G. Franco-
rum Regina Regnique rectrix, cui subjecit Deus omnes hostes
ut conderet Domum in nomine suo. The high altar is sur-
mounted by a magnificent canopy, supported by six fluted
spiral columns of grey marble, with bases, capitals, and foliage
of bronze gilt. Four angels placed on the entablature of the
columns hold censers, and from palm-branches are suspended
other angels, with scrolls bearing inscriptions. The whole is
terminated by a globe and cross. In front of the altar, and
i the intersection of the cross, the letters A. L. (Anne-
Louis) are inlaid in the pavement, which here, as well as
throughout the whole of the edifice, is formed of rich marbles.
The chapels for the nuns are separated from the rest of the
building by iron gratings, and in that behind the altar,
which 1s a beautiful piece of architecture, a crimson curtain
screened the superiors of the convent from the view of the
congregation. In one of these chapels, formerly the oratory
of Anne d’Autriche, whose bust is seen on the ceiling held by
an Angel, are frescoes representing views from Spain. In the
northern chapel of the cross is the entrance to a vault where
the remains of the abbesscs were deposited, on marble shelves.
Here also is shown a cabinet, where the hearts of the Bourbon
family were preserved encased in silver, a custom originating
from the foundress having bequeathed her heart to this church.
The remains of Queen Henrietta, wife of Charles I. of England,
were placed here.  During the revolution all these silver
hearts were carried off, except one, discovered afterwards, and
now visible to strangers; the prince or princess to whom it
belonged is unknown. The heart of Baron Larrey is also pre-
served here in a casket. Adjoining this chapel .here is a
small door, which conceals the confessional used by Mlle. de
Ia Vallicre ; it consists of a grated window, through which
she spoke to the priest, and is accessible from a passage be-
hind, from which the building she occupied at that time may
be seen. The nuns were buried underneath the nave, in
a vault, the entrance of which is near the western door.
The church is open every day, belween 12 and 2, and the
vaults, &c., are shown by amilitary attendant. .

Further northward, at No. 254, Is the

INSTITUTION IMPERIALE DES Sourps MueTs.—For this insti-
tution France is indebted to the celebrated Abbé de 'Epée, who,
without patronage, and with a fortune not exceeding £500 a-
year, undertook to maintain and bring up at his own expense
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more than 40 deaf and dumb pupils, whom he instructed to
read and write, to comprehend all the difficulties of grammar,
and to reduce the most abstract metaphysical ideas to writing.
The Abbé de I'Epée was first brought into notice by the Em-
peror Joseph II. on his 'visit io the French capital in 1777. His
sister, Queen Marie Antoinette, soon after visited the school,
and the institution was ordered to be transferred by Govern-
ment to a convent of Celestins, which had heen suppressed.
This, however, was not carried into effect till 1785. The Abbé
de Epée, dying in 1790, was succeeded by the Abbé Sicard,
who improved the system of instruction. During the revolu-
tion of 1789 this institution was transferred to the buildings
of the Séminaire de St. Magloire, rue St. Jacques, where it still
continues. In the first court there is a tree planted in 1606,
under Henry IV.  The number of gratuitous pupils is 80 ; be-
sides 10 admitted to half-pensions, and 10 to three-quarter pen-
sions. At present there are 120 male and 7 5 female pupils. The
number of hoarders is unlimited. To be admitted gratuitously
into the institution, the child must be full 7 years old, and not
exceed 15, and must present a certificate from the authorities
of his or her parish, of age, baptism, vaccination, being really
deaf and dumb, and without the means of paying for educa-
tion. The boys and girls are in separate schools, where they
remain six years, and are taught reading, writing, arithmetic,
drawing, engraving, or some trade. The terms for boarders
are 1,000 fr. a-year, hesides 300 fr. paid on enlering. From
90,000 {r. to 100,000 fr. are annually devoted by government
to the support of this institution. The Salle des Exercices is
Doric, and adorned with the busts of the Abbés de I'EEpée and
Sicard, and that of the Emperor, with a fine picture of de’Epée,
by the donor, M. Camus. It represents the Abbé de 'Epée em-
bracing the young Count de Toulouse, at the moment when the
latter, who was deaf and dumb and had been educated out of cha-
rity by the Abbé, recognizes the house of his relative, who had
wilfully abandoned him. The refectories, dormitories, &c.,
are large and airy, and arranged as in the institution des Jeu-
nes Aveugles (see p. 335). A garden is annexed to the esta-
blishment. The chapel is Doric; behind the altar is a re-
markable oil-painting by Vernet, of Christ healing a deaf
shepherd, and to the left is a picture of good execution by
Peyson, a deaf and dumb artist, representing the Abbé de 'Epée
on his deathbed. The figure seated next to the death-bed is the
Abbé Sicard, and the young man in front represents one Antoine
Duhois, who died in 1850, aged 93, having lived continually
here, in virtueof the will of the Abbé de I’Epée whose pupil he
was. The trades taught here are shoemaking, tailoring, turn-
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ing, joinery, and lithography, But the visitor wall be more
particularly interested by the method by which the pupils
are taught not only to speak, bul also to understand what is
said. The professor takes one pupil at a time, while the
others auong to what he dees. He first pronounces each
vowel, clearly expressing by the motion of his mouth the me-
chanism by which it is produced. The pupil endeavours to
imitate him, and at length pronounces it. e is then shown
the letter Lo which it corresponds.  Uccasionally the professor
puts his fingers into the pupil’s mouth, to shape it into the
proper form for pronunciation. In a higher class, the pro-
fessor speaks-slowly, so that the pupil may catch the form of
his mouth at each syllable. Thus a guestion, at the choice of
the visitor, is asked, understood, and answered in words,
which are generally much belter articulated than might be
expected.  Admission on Saturdays, from 2 to 5, with
tickets. (1).

Close to this establishment is the church of

St. JacQues ‘vu Haut-Pas, 252, rue St-Jacques.—On this
site a chapel, dependent on the hospital du Haut Pas, existed
in the 14th century. The present structure was begun in
1630, the first stone being laid by Gaston of Orleans, brother
of Louis XIII.  When the choir was huilt, the works were sus-
pended, but were resumed in 167 5,.by the munificence of Anne
de Bourbon, Duchesse de Longueville, and terminated in 1684.
The architecture o